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Preface

For more than two centuries there have been rumors and allegations that Thomas Jef-
ferson had a long-term sexual relationship with an enslaved woman named Sally Hem-
ings. They originated from the pen of a disreputable journalist named James Thomson
Callender in October 1802 and were picked up by Federalist editors and abolitionists in
the United States and abroad. Most serious Jefferson scholars and many of Jefferson’s po-
litical enemies dismissed them, in part because the notorious Callender lacked credibil-
ity and in part because the charge seemed so out of character for Jefferson. But the story
resurfaced with the 1974 publication of Fawn Brodie’s Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate Bi-
ography and became more believable in the 1997 book by Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas
Jefferson and Sally Hemings.

Perhaps the most decisive development in the case was the publication in the presti-
gious British science journal Nature in November 1998 of results of a DNA study linking
Sally Hemings’ youngest son to a Jefferson father. In January 2000 the Thomas Jefferson
Memorial Foundation — owner of Jefferson’s home at Monticello and long a protector
of the former president’s reputation — issued its own report concluding that President
Jefferson fathered at least one and perhaps all of Sally Hemings’ children.

Still, not everyone was convinced, and a group of doubters came together and estab-
lished the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society. Their first act was to seek a blue-ribbon re-
examination of all of the evidence for and against Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of one or
more of Sally Hemings’ children. They approached a diverse group of senior scholars
with a simple request: carefully examine all of the evidence, draw your own conclusions,
and issue a public report. The Heritage Society played no role in the actual investigation,
and no member of the Scholars Commission was compensated in any way for his or her
efforts in this process. This volume is the final product of that “Scholars Commission” in-
quiry.

After a year-long investigation involving individual research and group meetings in a
hotel near Dulles Airport outside of Washington, D.C., summary majority and minority
reports were drafted and approved by group members. In addition, members of the Com-
mission were invited to express their personal views with individual statements concur-
ring or dissenting from the majority report. In the pages that follow, the official Majority
Report — adhered to by twelve of the thirteen members of the Commission — appears
first, followed by the Minority Report. It should be emphasized that the statements of
individual views that follow the official summary report are attributable only to the mem-
bers whose names appear at the front of each such statement.

In an effort to provide some historical context to the reception given the report and
relevant subsequent developments, the editor has attached a Postscript at the end of the
volume. The views expressed therein are his alone, and the Postscript is not a part of the

xiii
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official Report of the Scholars Commission. Members of the Scholars Commission are listed
with their academic institutions for purposes of identification only, and the views ex-
pressed herein are those of the individuals involved and should not be attributed to any
university, organization, or other entity.

Copies of the majority and minority reports and supplemental statements of individ-
ual views were distributed at the National Press Club in Washington, D.C., on April 12,
2001. Members were then given additional time to expand and revise their individual
statements, with the expectation that a book version of the Scholars Commission Report
would appear the following year. Regrettably, publication was delayed because the pro-
fessional duties of the chairman of the commission and editor of this volume involved the
study of international terrorism and other aspects of national security law. As might be
imagined, the demands on his time following the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks
left little time for extracurricular endeavors.

We are pleased finally to make this volume available. It does not pretend to be the final
answer to the controversy, but we hope it will be useful in assisting interested readers to
understand the relevant facts and issues and to identify points of disagreement between
experts.

Robert F. Turner
Charlottesville, Virginia
February 14, 2011

xiv PREFACE
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3

Scholars Commission on 
The Jefferson-Hemings Matter

Report
12 April 2001

Summary

The question of whether Thomas Jefferson fathered one or more children by his slave
Sally Hemings is an issue about which honorable people can and do disagree. After a
careful review of all of the evidence, the commission agrees unanimously that the alle-
gation is by no means proven; and we find it regrettable that public confusion about the
1998 DNA testing and other evidence has misled many people. With the exception of one
member, whose views are set forth both below and in his more detailed appended dissent,
our individual conclusions range from serious skepticism about the charge to a convic-
tion that it is almost certainly false.

In an effort to provide further clarification of our thinking about these issues, several
members have written statements of individual views, which are appended to this report.
They are the views of the scholars whose names appear thereon, and do not necessarily
reflect the opinions of other members of the group. Although academic or other affilia-
tions of members are listed for purposes of identification, nothing in this report is in-
tended to reflect the opinion of any college, university, foundation, or other entity with
which members of the group may currently or in the past have been associated.

Our dissenting member believes that there is not sufficient evidence to state conclu-
sively one way or the other whether Thomas Jefferson fathered any children by Sally Hem-
ings. Based upon the totality of the evidence that does exist, he finds the argument for
Jefferson’s paternity in the case of Eston Hemings somewhat more persuasive than the
case against. He regards the question of the paternity of Sally Hemings’ other children as
unsettled. 
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4 REPORT OF THE SCHOLARS COMMISSION

Report of the Scholars Commission 
on the Jefferson-Hemings Matter

Introduction

The release in November, 1998, of DNA evidence tying one of Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren to a Jefferson father, and the subsequent report by the Thomas Jefferson Memorial
Foundation, have led to a widespread perception both within the academic community
and among the public that science has conclusively proven that Thomas Jefferson had a
sexual relationship with one of his slaves that produced one or more children. About a
year ago, a number of Jefferson admirers formed the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society
(TJHS), and one of their first acts was to ask a group of Jefferson scholars to reexamine
the issue carefully and issue a public report. This report is the result of that inquiry.

Background to the Controversy

On September 1, 1802, the Richmond Recorder published an article alleging that Pres-
ident Thomas Jefferson had fathered several children by his slave Sally Hemings. Its au-
thor was James Thomson Callender, a journalist who had fled Scotland for alleged sedition
against the Crown and had briefly received financial support from Thomas Jefferson while
Callender was supporting the Republican cause by attacking the incumbent Federalists.
Callender was a talented writer with a proclivity for attacking those in power, and dur-
ing his brief decade in America he vehemently attacked, among others, the first five men
to serve as President of the United States. His skill with words exceeded his concern for
the truth, and many of his allegations proved patently false. As President Jefferson learned
more about the man’s character, he rejected Callender’s efforts to build a friendship and
discouraged him from moving to the Charlottesville area, rebuffs which clearly stung the
mercurial Callender. Callender’s attack on Jefferson was prompted in part by President Jef-
ferson’s refusal to name him to the position of Postmaster for Richmond, Virginia, and
was the fulfillment of a threat Callender had made to publish articles that would embar-
rass the President if the appointment was not forthcoming.

Callender had never visited Monticello, and he admitted that his charges were based
upon conversations with people in the Charlottesville area who had noted the existence
of light-skinned “mulatto” slaves on Jefferson’s mountain. The story was picked up by
the opposition Federalist press, but even some prominent Federalists dismissed it as un-
true, recalling some of the falsehoods Callender had written about their own party lead-
ers. Nevertheless, the story resurfaced from time to time over the decades and in 1873
was reinforced by allegations attributed to one of Sally Hemings’ children and another
former Monticello slave. Historians continued to discount it, but in 1974 Professor Fawn
Brodie published Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History, that gave the story new life and—
while not well received by many historians — was a commercial success.

The story achieved attention again in 1997, with the publication by the University
Press of Virginia of Professor Annette Gordon-Reed’s Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings. Then, on November 5, 1998, Nature magazine published the results of DNA tests
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REPORT OF THE SCHOLARS COMMISSION 5

that strongly suggested that Sally Hemings’ youngest son, Eston, had been fathered by
someone with the same Y chromosome as Thomas Jefferson. This was not the same kind
of precise “99.99 percent accurate” DNA testing that Americans learned of during the
1994 murder trial of O.J. Simpson, but rather was designed primarily to disprove pa-
ternity. The test could not distinguish between the offspring of male-line ancestors,
and thus pointed the finger at Thomas Jefferson no more than it did at any of the other
roughly two dozen known male descendants of Jefferson’s grandfather present in Vir-
ginia at the time. Because of the general nature of the test, although no DNA from
Thomas Jefferson was available, it was possible to use DNA extracted from the blood
of descendants of Jefferson’s paternal cousins. The resulting match did not prove
Thomas Jefferson fathered Eston Hemings, but it did place him within a group of ap-
proximately twenty-five known Virginia men believed to carry the Jefferson family Y
chromosome.

Nevertheless, the story was presented in much of the press as a conclusive confirma-
tion of Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of Eston and presumably other children born to Sally
Hemings as well. The issue seemed conclusively resolved in January, 2000, when the
Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation (TJMF) — the organization that maintains
Thomas Jefferson’s home at Monticello and has long been a champion of his legacy — is-
sued a research report concluding there was a “strong likelihood that Thomas Jefferson
and Sally Hemings had a relationship over time that led to the birth of one, and perhaps
all, of the known children of Sally Hemings.”

The Scholars Commission

Not everyone was convinced, however, and shortly after the TJMF report was released
a group of Jefferson admirers, led by a former President of the Jefferson family’s Monti-
cello Association (MA), decided to establish the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society (TJHS)
in order to promote public education and understanding about the man. Convinced that
Jefferson had not received a fair hearing, they decided to assemble a “blue ribbon com-
mission” of prominent scholars for the purpose of reexamining the entire issue. This re-
port is the result of that initiative.

The ground rules of our inquiry were simple: We were to have complete intellectual
freedom to pursue the truth, including authority to establish our own procedures, to add
new members, and to carry on our work independent of the influence of the TJHS or
any other group. To help assure our independence, a private citizen who favored the idea
of such an inquiry, but was not associated with the TJHS, generously contributed $20,000
to fund the work of the Scholars Commission — with the explicit understanding that she
was funding scholarly research and would have neither influence on the outcome nor ad-
vanced knowledge of our conclusions prior to the public release of our report. Those
funds have been used for travel, lodging, and publications costs. No member of the Schol-
ars Commission has received compensation of any kind for their work on this project,
and several have insisted on paying their own expenses to emphasize the independent na-
ture of their involvement.

The Scholars Commission includes some of the nation’s leading authorities on Thomas
Jefferson and his era. Several members have written one or more books about Jefferson,
and every member — even the lawyers in the group — holds a Ph.D. or other earned aca-
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demic doctorate. Most of the members have either chaired their departments or held
chaired professorships, and several serve or have served as “Eminent” or “Distinguished”
professors. While our membership has fluctuated slightly over the months, the thirteen
scholars who have persevered to the end come from prominent universities spread from
southern California to Maine and then south as far as Alabama. They are trained in such
diverse disciplines as history, political science, law, economics, and biochemistry. Most
of us have studied Thomas Jefferson and his era for at least two decades, and we have
held teaching or research appointments at Harvard, Yale, Stanford, Brown, Virginia,
North Carolina, Kentucky, Indiana, Bowdoin, and many other respected institutions of
higher learning.

We began this inquiry with diverse opinions on various aspects of the issue. Some
members of the commission were avid admirers of Thomas Jefferson, others were not.
At least one of us had for decades assumed the allegations of a Jefferson-Hemings rela-
tionship were true, many held serious doubts. But we each approached this inquiry as a
scholarly search for the truth. Our initial work was done individually, with extensive
communications by e-mail, letter, and telephone. After we had each had an opportunity
to review all of the basic evidence and to pursue additional avenues of research we felt
might prove fruitful, we gathered for approximately fifteen hours of face-to-face meet-
ings at a hotel near Dulles Airport. Not surprisingly, our views in the end are not iden-
tical; but we have all reached general agreement on the conclusions which follow (with
the exceptions noted). In addition, each of us was invited to submit additional views
without restriction on any aspect of the issue we wished. It should be emphasized that
the individual views which follow this report are only those of the members whose names
appear thereon and should not be attributed to the Scholars Commission as a whole.
Several of us have also elected to add our names to the individual views of other mem-
bers; however this reflects a general agreement with their analysis and conclusions only,
and responsibility for specific arguments and accuracy of facts belongs in each case to
the primary author.

Before turning to the substance of our inquiry and our conclusions, we would be re-
miss if we did not acknowledge the cooperation of both John Works and the Thomas Jef-
ferson Heritage Society, Daniel Jordan and Lucia Stanton of the Thomas Jefferson [formerly
Memorial] Foundation, and James J. Truscott of the Monticello Association. None of
these organizations has taken part formally in our deliberations, but all three have pro-
vided encouragement and have been fully responsive to any requests we have made of
them for information. All three organizations received advance copies of our draft report
as soon as it was completed earlier this month, and we are grateful for the feedback we
have received. None of them, obviously, is responsible for any of our views.

We are also grateful to Ms. Karyn Traut — the playwright spouse of one of our mem-
bers who researched this issue carefully for seven years more than a decade ago in prepa-
ration for writing Saturday’s Children, who joined us at our Dulles meeting — and to Dr.
Michael Moffitt of the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society who has handled our finances
and provided other administrative support.
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Assessing the Evidence

The Almost Total Absence of Information about Sally Hemings

This has been in many respects a very frustrating issue to investigate, because there is
so little information about Sally Hemings from which to work. One could probably write
everything that we really know about her on an index card. Excluding Jefferson’s various
listings of slaves he owned and distribution lists for blankets and other supplies (on which
she was treated like all of her relatives at Monticello), a few brief references from others
about Sally being “mighty near white” and “very handsome” or “decidedly good looking,”
and notations about spending money for clothes and a smallpox vaccination while Sally
was in Paris, Thomas Jefferson appears to have made reference to Sally Hemings in but
four of his tens of thousands of letters. There is no evidence that he ever wrote to her di-
rectly or received mail from her (nor that she could have read them had he written), and
the references that do exist consist of a note that “Maria’s maid” (which might not even
have been Sally) had a baby, two letters suggesting that “If Bet or Sally’s children” came
down with the measles they should be sent off the mountain, and finally a “d.o. Sally” no-
tation in the margin of a letter saying that Jefferson was sending the bedding of Sally’s older
brother James Hemings back to America.

Indeed, the only credible surviving descriptions of Sally Hemings’ talents or abilities
are found in two 1787 letters from the remarkable Abigail Adams, wife of U.S. Minister
to Great Britain John Adams, who kept the fourteen-year-old Sally and Jefferson’s daugh-
ter Polly for two weeks when they arrived from Virginia on the way to join Jefferson in
Paris. She described Sally as being “quite a child” and said that she “wants more care than
the child [Jefferson’s eight-year-old Polly], and is wholly incapable of looking properly after
her, without some superiour to direct her.” Based upon the surviving records, Sally Hem-
ings appears to have been a very minor figure in Thomas Jefferson’s life.

Assessing the Arguments

We began our inquiry by trying to identify all of the arguments and evidence in sup-
port of the proposition that Thomas Jefferson fathered one or more of Sally Hemings’
children. We then looked carefully at the facts surrounding each of these allegations, and
reached general conclusions on each. We then looked at evidence suggesting that Thomas
Jefferson was not the father of any of Sally’s children, and, after a careful review of the to-
tality of the known evidence, we drew our individual conclusions and took a vote.

The DNA Tests

We are in full accord that much of the public has been misled about the significance
of the DNA tests performed by Dr. Eugene Foster and his colleagues and first reported in
the journal Nature in November 1998. While the tests were professionally done by dis-
tinguished experts, they were never designed to prove, and in fact could not have proven,
that Thomas Jefferson was the father of any of Sally Hemings’ children. The tests merely
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1. Jefferson’s sister, Martha, married his best friend, Dabney Carr, and they had three sons. Two
of these, Peter and Samuel Carr, were alleged to have confessed to paternity of some of Sally’s chil-
dren, and were assumed by many to have been the father of all of her children.

establish a strong probability that Sally Hemings’ youngest son, Eston, was fathered by one
of the more than two dozen Jefferson men in Virginia at the time, seven of whom there
is documentary evidence to believe may well have been at Monticello when Eston was
conceived.

Dr. Foster has cooperated fully in our inquiry and has readily acknowledged that the DNA
tests do not suggest that Thomas Jefferson was Eston’s father as opposed to someone like
his younger brother Randolph or one of Randolph’s sons. Indeed, every knowledgeable
authority we have consulted, including other scientists who conducted the tests, has de-
nied that these tests could possibly have distinguished among the male members of the
Jefferson family in determining the paternity of Eston Hemings. These tests compared
nineteen markers on the Y chromosomes of fourteen individuals: five living male-line de-
scendants of two sons of Thomas Jefferson’s paternal uncle, who was assumed to have the
same Y chromosome as Jefferson’s father and thus of Jefferson himself; three male-line de-
scendants of three sons of the paternal grandfather of Peter and Samuel Carr;1 five male-
line descendants of two sons of Thomas Woodson; and one male-line descendant of Eston
Hemings. The results showed a match between the haplotypes of the Jefferson descen-
dants and the Eston Hemings descendant, but no other matches. In plain words, they
showed that a descendant of one of Sally Hemings’ children carries Jefferson genetic mark-
ers, not those of the Carr brothers, which effectively rules out the possible paternity of
Sally Hemings’ youngest child by any of the Carr brothers and points to some male Jefferson
as his likely father. As we discuss below, the circumstantial case against some of Thomas
Jefferson’s relatives appears significantly stronger than the case against him.

The most important results from the DNA testing may well have been the determina-
tion that Thomas Woodson, long thought by many to be the “Tom” referred to by James
Callender in 1802 as having been conceived by Sally Hemings in Paris and having a strong
physical resemblance to the President, could not have been the son of Thomas Jefferson.
Subsequent DNA testing of descendants of a third Woodson son confirmed the earlier
results. Most of us believe this goes far towards undermining any remaining credibility
of the original Callender allegations.

Madison Hemings’ 1873 Statement

Nearly half a century after Thomas Jefferson’s death a highly partisan newspaper edi-
tor in Pike County, Ohio, published an article alleged to be based upon an interview with
Sally Hemings’ second-youngest son, Madison. In the story, Madison is said to have
claimed that Thomas Jefferson fathered all of his mother’s children. This was followed
shortly thereafter by an interview attributed to Israel Jefferson, another former Monticello
slave, who corroborated Madison Hemings’ story. There is no record that Sally Hemings
or any of her other children ever alleged that Thomas Jefferson was their father.

There are many problems with Madison’s story. He alleged that Thomas Jefferson be-
came sexually involved with Sally Hemings in Paris, and when she refused to return to Vir-
ginia with him he promised to grant her special privileges and to free all of her children
when they reached the age of twenty-one. Madison could not personally have known this
information, and he provides no source for his alleged statements. Some sentences in his
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account pertain to aspects of Jefferson’s background that occurred long before Madison
was born and that had been mentioned in published biographies of Jefferson. Several un-
usual words can be traced directly back to the 1802 Callender attacks on Jefferson, in-
cluding the identical misspelling of a name.

Madison was also reported as saying that Dolley Madison was present at the time of
his birth, and numerous reliable documents strongly suggest that this statement is false.
Much of the information in the subsequent article attributed to Israel Jefferson is clearly
false, and indeed he alleges recalling events that occurred before he was born. Thomas Jef-
ferson’s detailed records do not support Israel’s claim to have held a position of great trust
at Monticello, and Israel’s allegation that his job included kindling Jefferson’s fire each
morning is expressly refuted by reliable sources published prior to his statement. On bal-
ance, the two alleged statements are clearly seriously flawed and do not outweigh the con-
tradictory eyewitness accounts of others that exist on many of these issues.

The Correlation Between Thomas Jefferson’s Visits to Monticello
and Sally Hemings’ Conceptions

Although Thomas Jefferson was absent from Monticello roughly half the time when
Sally Hemings was having children, he appears to have been there when most and per-
haps all of her children were conceived. (He was absent for most of the conception win-
dow for her son Beverly.) Several of us found this to be the most compelling evidence of
a sexual relationship between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, and thus it received
extensive consideration during our deliberations.

We believe that the simplest explanation for the long-known coincidence of Thomas
Jefferson’s return to Monticello and Sally Hemings’ pregnancies is that Monticello was
normally kept locked during Jefferson’s absence, and thus his return would prompt vis-
its to the mountain by numerous friends and relatives — including other candidates for
the paternity of Sally Hemings’ children such as the President’s brother, nephews and
cousins.

The Visitation-Conception Issue and the Monte Carlo Study

None of us was impressed by the “Monte Carlo” statistical study published in the
William & Mary Quarterly and appended to the Monticello report, which for inexplica-
ble reasons postulated both that there could only be a single father for all of Sally Hem-
ings’ children and that rival candidates to Thomas Jefferson would have had to arrive and
depart on the exact same days as did the President. The assumption of random behavior
by Jefferson’s friends and relatives also makes little sense to us, as they would certainly
have been far more likely to visit after he had returned from extended absences in Wash-
ington or elsewhere. Some of the data used in this study for the days Thomas Jefferson
was at Monticello during the weeks before and after the conception of Eston Hemings
were also inaccurate.

Our inquiry suggests not only that there is no serious evidence that Sally Hemings was
monogamous, but there is very credible eyewitness testimony that she was often sexually
involved with a man other than Thomas Jefferson. The Monte Carlo study and many
other arguments on this issue are premised on the assumption that one man must have
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fathered all of Sally Hemings’ children. There is reasonably credible evidence based upon
eyewitness testimony that Jefferson’s nephews Samuel and Peter Carr admitted paternity
of at least some of Sally Hemings’ children, and the DNA tests show only that they could
not have been the father of Eston. Even without considering Thomas Jefferson’s advanced
age (sixty-four) and health, if the question is changed from trying to place a single sus-
pect at Monticello nine months prior the birth of all of Sally’s children to simply trying
to identify the Jefferson men who were likely to have been in the Monticello area when
Eston Hemings was conceived, the statistical case for Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of
Eston, based upon DNA evidence alone, falls below fifteen percent.

The Allegation that Sally Hemings and Her Children Received
“Special Treatment” at Monticello

At first glance, one of the most powerful arguments in favor of Jefferson’s paternity is
the claim that Sally and her children received “special treatment” from Thomas Jefferson
at Monticello. This claim overlooks the fact that virtually all of the children and grand-
children of Betty Hemings (Sally’s mother) received special treatment at Monticello; and,
within that family, Sally and her children appear to have received less favorable treatment
than many. The widespread belief that Thomas Jefferson freed all of Sally’s children when
they reached the age of twenty-one is also simply not true.

Indeed, other than appearing upon various lists of Monticello slaves recording such things
as clothing and blanket distribution (where Sally was treated exactly like her siblings),
Sally and her children receive less frequent mention in Jefferson‘s records than most of her
siblings. Princeton University Press recently published two volumes totaling more than
1,400 pages of Jefferson’s Memorandum Books, containing thousands of entries docu-
menting his financial transactions and the like. Sally’s sons Madison and Eston share a sin-
gle listing, indicating that on December 11, 1824, they sold 100 cabbages to Thomas
Jefferson for two dollars — the same rate he paid other members of the Hemings family
at that time.

Except for a brief period in Paris, when Sally’s two dollars a month salary was far less
than her brother or any of Jefferson’s other servants were receiving, neither Sally Hem-
ings nor any of her children received either a salary or recorded gifts from Thomas Jef-
ferson — unlike many of her relatives. One of the clear reasons for Madison Hemings’
obvious bitterness in the 1873 story in the Pike County Republican was that his alleged
“father” (Thomas Jefferson) had never given him or his siblings any special attention —
in sharp contrast to the loving attention Jefferson displayed towards his grandchildren
by his daughters.

Even had Jefferson given special consideration to Sally’s children, this would not have
been proof that he was their father. First of all, by blood they were legally “white” (and,
along with Sally, appeared as free whites in the 1830 Albemarle County census following
Jefferson’s death), and they were also quite possibly Thomas Jefferson’s relatives. Sally
was alleged by some to be the half-sister of Jefferson’s wife Martha, and her children would
also have been President Jefferson’s nieces and nephews if their fathers had been either one
of the Carr brothers or a member of Randolph Jefferson’s family.

One of the greatest myths of this controversy is the allegation that Jefferson freed Sally
Hemings and all of her children in his will or when they reached the age of 21. In real-
ity, Sally’s first child to reach that age was Beverly Hemings, who finally ran away from
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Monticello at age twenty-four. Her only daughter to reach twenty-one ran away that year,
but reportedly returned and was later given money and put on a stage for Philadelphia
by Jefferson’s overseer at Thomas Jefferson’s request. We have no evidence of how old
Harriet was at the time, or why this was done, but she was probably well past her twenty-
first birthday; and the explanation for facilitating her departure may well have been Jef-
ferson’s well-documented human compassion rather than fulfillment of a promise allegedly
made in Paris to Sally Hemings.

It is true that Sally’s two youngest children, Madison and Eston, were freed in Jeffer-
son’s will. But according to the alleged “treaty” negotiated in Paris, Madison should have
been freed when he turned twenty-one, well before Jefferson even wrote his will. He was
twenty-two before he was actually given his freedom. More importantly, three other male
members of the Hemings family (most of the brothers and nephews of Sally Hemings re-
maining at Monticello when Jefferson died) were freed in that will, and each of them re-
ceived far more favorable treatment (including such things as money, tools, and homes
on Jefferson’s land) than did Sally’s sons — who received no additional benefits and were
required to work for Sally’s brother, John Hemings, for a year before receiving their free-
dom. Two of Betty Hemings’ sons were legally manumitted by Thomas Jefferson in the
1790s. Of her seven male descendants known to have been at Monticello at the time of
Jefferson’s death, all but two of them were freed in his will and a sixth (Sally’s brother
Peter) turned up as a free citizen of Albemarle county shortly after apparently being pur-
chased by a relative for one dollar. We don’t know why Sally’s nephew Wormley Hughes,
brother to Jefferson’s most trusted (and most rewarded in his will) slave, was not freed,
but he remained a trusted slave in the family of Jefferson’s daughter and was eventually
freed by her. Sally Hemings was not freed by Thomas Jefferson; and we are skeptical both
that Sally Hemings would not have bothered to demand her own eventual freedom while
negotiating the freedom of children she would not start having for more than five years,
and that Thomas Jefferson would have made no provision for her freedom had they re-
ally been lovers for decades. The freedom granted to Sally Hemings’ sons in Jefferson’s
will is consistent with his treatment of most other male descendants of Betty Hemings,
and might also be warranted by the fact that, once freed, they were probably legally white
under existing Virginia law.

The Physical Resemblance of Some of Sally Hemings’ Children 
to Thomas Jefferson

There are at least ten possible fathers for Sally Hemings’ children who could have passed
down genetic material that might produce children physically resembling Thomas Jef-
ferson and who are thought to have visited Monticello regularly during the years Sally
Hemings was having children. Historically, the most common suspects were Peter and
Samuel Carr, sons of Thomas Jefferson’s sister Martha and his best friend Dabney Carr.
Subsequent to the DNA tests, the most probable candidate for paternity of Eston Hem-
ings was likely Randolph Jefferson, Thomas Jefferson’s much younger brother, or per-
haps one of at least four of Randolph’s five sons. A little more than two weeks before Sally
is estimated to have conceived Eston, Thomas Jefferson wrote to Randolph and informed
him that his twin sister, Anna Scott Marks, had just arrived for a visit and that “we shall
be happy to see you also.” It is reasonable to assume that Randolph, a widower, would
have brought his five sons (four and perhaps five of whom were 17–27 years of age) for
the visit, and any of them could have also passed along Jefferson DNA that would have

turner 01 report auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:54 AM  Page 11



12 REPORT OF THE SCHOLARS COMMISSION

been consistent with Dr. Foster’s DNA study and could have produced children resem-
bling Thomas Jefferson.

The Original Accusations of James Thomson Callender

The 1802 allegations of a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship are highly unpersua-
sive. Callender was notorious for taking a small truth and multiplying it into a large false-
hood. In this case, his “truth” was the existence of several light-skinned slaves at Monticello.
This fact had been observed by European visitors as early as 1796, when Sally Hemings’
first known child was an infant; and Sally and her siblings were presumably the basis of
the stories. Callender was correct in noting that Sally had given birth to several light-
skinned children, but his primary focus was on a ten- to twelve-year-old boy named
“Tom,” who was said to bear a “striking resemblance” to President Jefferson. For nearly
two centuries, scholars who gave any credence at all to Callender’s allegations assumed that
“Tom” was Thomas Woodson, whose descendants have long asserted that this was the
case. We have reached no conclusions on whether Thomas Woodson was the son of Sally
Hemings. It would seem strange, if there was no “Tom” at Monticello fitting this de-
scription in 1802, that one of Jefferson’s defenders would not have made the point — and
at least one of them admitted there was such a child. There is no evidence of any other
“Tom” who might fit this description, nor is there any evidence other than Woodson fam-
ily oral history that Tom Woodson was ever at Monticello. The DNA tests have shown
conclusively that Thomas Woodson could not have been Thomas Jefferson’s child, but
did not address his possible biological relationship with Sally Hemings.

The Oral History of Sally Hemings’ Descendants

Part of the case for Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of Sally Hemings’ children is based upon
oral history passed through many generations of three families. While oral history can be
a useful, and is often a neglected, source of historical knowledge, in this case some of the
family traditions are in conflict both with the DNA evidence and with each other.

For example, the assertion in the Research Committee report of the Thomas Jefferson Memo-
rial Foundation that “The family history of Sally Hemings’s descendants, transmitted orally
over many generations, states that Hemings and Thomas Jefferson are their ancestors,” is
only partly accurate. In fact, these statements are believed to have been passed down by one
known line of Sally’s children, the descendants of Madison Hemings. Since we already know
that Madison is alleged to have made this claim in 1873, we need not rely on oral history
as authority. However, since Madison did not provide a source for his claim, it is difficult
to establish whether it is true or not; and the fact that he presumably told his children as well
as a newspaper editor obviously adds nothing to the credibility of his basic account.

Similarly, Thomas Woodson’s descendants passed down this history, but since the re-
cent DNA tests have ruled out Thomas Jefferson as Thomas Woodson’s father, this oral his-
tory would seem clearly to be in error. We express no view on whether Thomas Woodson
was Sally Hemings’ son, although some members of our group believe that is not an un-
reasonable conclusion. No descendants of Harriet or Beverly Hemings have been located.

Most interestingly, until they were persuaded by Professor Fawn Brodie in the mid-1970s
that Thomas Jefferson was their ancestor, the oral history of the descendants of Eston
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Hemings was that his father was not Thomas Jefferson but an “uncle” — or perhaps a
cousin. This would seem to be stronger evidence than most oral history, as it is essen-
tially an “admission against interest.” Presumably, because of Thomas Jefferson’s great
fame, most people would be honored to claim they were his descendants.

More importantly, this history is consistent with the theory that Thomas Jefferson’s
younger brother, Randolph, was Eston’s father. This is consistent with the DNA tests.
Thomas Jefferson’s last surviving uncle died three decades before Eston Hemings was
born, but brother Randolph was often referred to as “Uncle Randolph” because of his re-
lationship to Thomas Jefferson’s daughters, the eldest of whom was in general charge of
Monticello during the entire period that Eston Hemings would have remembered.

Other Arguments

We considered as well a number of arguments that have been raised by supporters of
the theory that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings. For example, they
quote several people who said they believed the story. But as we examined each of these,
we found them unpersuasive. Georgia Federalist Thomas Gibbons did allege in an 1802
letter that the story was “as correct as truth itself,” but there is no evidence he ever went
near Monticello (he admitted he had never seen any of Sally’s children) and he was a bit-
ter political enemy of the President’s. Among other things, Gibbons was one of the famous
“midnight judges” appointed by the outgoing President John Adams, and he was denied
his life-tenure job by Thomas Jefferson.

We discovered that another of these “sources,” Vermont schoolteacher Elijah P. Fletcher,
who claimed that while traveling through Charlottesville he encountered numerous peo-
ple who confirmed the truth of the story, had shared a stagecoach from Washington, D.C.,
to Charlottesville with one of Thomas Jefferson’s bitterest enemies, John Kelly, who gave
Fletcher the guided tour of Charlottesville that produced these anti-Jefferson remarks.
Kelly had owned the land on which Jefferson originally hoped to build the University of
Virginia; but when he learned the offer to purchase was indirectly for the benefit of
Thomas Jefferson he remarked “I will see him at the devil before he shall have it at any
price.” With Kelly as his tour guide, it is not surprising that Fletcher was exposed to many
critics of the President.

We felt that the advocates of Thomas Jefferson’s paternity have dealt too summarily
with a variety of pieces of evidence that warrant more serious consideration. For exam-
ple, the only eyewitness account pertaining to Sally Hemings’ sexual behavior was made
by Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon, who noted the rumors that Harriet Hemings was
Thomas Jefferson’s child and remarked: “She was not his daughter; she was ________’s
daughter. I know that. I have seen him come out of her mother’s room many a morning
when I went up to Monticello very early.” Bacon appears to be a credible witness, and
unlike both the Hemings and Jefferson descendants, does not have an obvious interest
in the outcome. But the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation report dismisses his
statement as having “problems of chronology” and moves on — without the slightest ev-
idence beyond her son’s assertion—to conclude that Sally must have been monogamous.

It is true that Harriet Hemings was conceived in 1800, and Bacon did not begin his ser-
vice as overseer until six years later (although he worked at least some at Monticello prior
to that). But if he saw another man repeatedly leaving Sally’s room in the early morning
hours, that strongly refutes the assumption that Sally Hemings was involved in a monog-
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amous sexual relationship with Thomas Jefferson; and if his observations occurred after
he became overseer they become tremendously more important in our search for the fa-
ther of Eston Hemings, who was conceived around August 1807. Indeed, Bacon’s state-
ment may be the single most important piece of evidence in the case, given the general
lack of reliable information.

We have as well a variety of surviving statements by, or attributed to, Jefferson’s de-
scendants, including his daughter Martha, grandson Thomas Jefferson Randolph, and
granddaughter Ellen Randolph Coolidge. Some of these statements seem credible, either
because the witness was writing in confidence to a loved one or because they included
“admissions against interest” that one would not normally expect to find in a “coverup.”
Several of them also reinforce each other on various points, suggesting that if the infor-
mation was not believed to be accurate there must have been a conspiracy to conceal the
truth. There are various accounts attributed to Thomas Jefferson Randolph, for example,
asserting that he claimed to have overheard Samuel and Peter Carr admitting paternity
for at least some of Sally’s children.

Ellen Randolph Coolidge’s letters seem particularly credible, in part because she seems
to have been willing to make public embarrassing family secrets (including the erratic
behavior of a father she dearly loved). We discovered that a key sentence in one of her most
important letters about this issue had been mistranscribed so as to reverse her clear mean-
ing in the appendix to one scholar’s book on this controversy, and the transcription error
has unfortunately clearly influenced the scholarship of others.

We also looked at the fact that certain types of evidence that one would normally expect
to find had this relationship existed do not appear to exist. Both in Paris and at Monticello,
Thomas Jefferson was surrounded by visitors, with as many as fifty unannounced guests
showing up at one time at his home. His children, grandchildren, and overseer allegedly
had regular access to his room day or night, and no one could have entered without being
subject to observation by others. And yet, throughout all the years with hundreds and hun-
dreds of visitors, there is not a single record of anyone ever observing the slightest hint of
behavior linking Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings romantically. No one reported see-
ing so much as a glance between them that suggested Callender may have been right.

Nor is there any clear evidence that Sally Hemings or any of her children ever alleged
that Thomas Jefferson was her lover or their father, save for the statement attributed to
an aging and clearly bitter Madison Hemings nearly five decades after Thomas Jefferson’s
death. Surely, if they believed the famous President to be their father, they would have found
it to their benefit to make this fact known to others before 1873.

Among the strongest arguments against Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of any of Sally’s
children are the things that one must accept as true to believe the story. Whatever one thinks
of Thomas Jefferson’s actual character, there can be little doubt that he was deeply concerned
about his reputation. Nowhere was this more clear than in his desire for the love and re-
spect of his daughters and other family members. While Jefferson presumably could have had
his pick of a large number of beautiful and talented women in Paris, and he wrote flirtatious
letters to several women after the death of his wife, it is not clear that any of these well-doc-
umented flirtations led to sexual “affairs.” Yet we are asked to believe that Jefferson would have
entrusted his reputation to the discretion of a fifteen- or sixteen-year-old child, who in the
judgment of the respected Abigail Adams required more “care” than Jefferson’s eight-year-
old daughter, and who was presumably in daily contact with his young daughters.

Had Thomas Jefferson had such a sexual relationship, we find it very difficult to be-
lieve that he would have selected as his companion the teenaged maid to his young daugh-
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ters. Many scholars who believe the allegations acknowledge that it would have been very
difficult to keep the relationship secret from his daughters. We share that view, and we
think it highly unlikely that Thomas Jefferson would have placed at risk the love and re-
spect of his young children in this manner. Further, a prominent scholar who now em-
braces the story of a Jefferson-Hemings sexual liaison — and who has also studied the
unpublished papers of Jefferson’s daughter Martha — concluded that she must have been
“in denial,” as there is no indication that she was intentionally covering up her father’s re-
lationship with Sally Hemings. We believe a simpler explanation is that she honestly did
not believe the relationship existed.

To accept the allegations, we must believe that Thomas Jefferson — whose deep love
and open displays of affection for his daughters and grandchildren was so evident — to-
tally rejected the sons born to him by a woman some would have us believe he dearly
loved. We must believe as well that, in his final days, as he prepared his will, he freed the
two sons he had always ignored — presumably knowing that freeing Sally’s remaining
children would be viewed by his critics as evidence of his guilt — yet made absolutely no
provision for Sally Hemings’ future.

Only a single one of Thomas Jefferson’s known friends, University of Virginia co-
founder John Hartwell Cocke, has been identified as believing the Callender allegations;
but General Cocke did not become close to Jefferson until long after all of Sally Hem-
ings’ children were born. Nor does he provide any hint that his belief was based upon
more than speculation and rumors. Other disparaging comments that he made about
Thomas Jefferson suggest that his feelings about his famous associate in the founding of
the University of Virginia may have been a bit cooler than believed by some, and indeed
may have been affected by a measure of jealousy. In contrast to this single voice (one can
not even characterize him as a “witness,” since his observations of Thomas Jefferson oc-
curred long after the events at issue occurred), the people who lived with Thomas Jef-
ferson and worked with him most closely uniformly rejected the allegations, as did many
of his most bitter political enemies.

And finally, to accept the allegation that Thomas Jefferson was the father of Eston
Hemings, we must accept the allegations of Jefferson’s personal enemies like scandal-
monger James Callender and Georgia Federalist Thomas Gibbons — neither of whom
had apparently ever even been to Monticello, and both of whom wrote about Sally Hem-
ings in the most racist and defamatory manner — over the family traditions of Eston
Hemings’ own descendants, who passed down the oral history that he was not Thomas
Jefferson’s child but rather the son of an “uncle.” (Could this have been “Uncle Ran-
dolph?”) Since this account is essentially an “admission against interest” (assuming that
most Americans would take pride in being descendants of the famous President), surely
it warrants more respect than this.

Other Candidates for the Paternity of Eston Hemings

If Thomas Jefferson was not the father of Eston Hemings, the obvious question
arises: “Who was?” Jefferson scholars for nearly two centuries have until very recently
dismissed the Callender allegations, and without a great deal of apparent thought sim-
ply accepted the various reports that Thomas Jefferson Randolph had overheard Peter
and Samuel Carr confessing to the paternity of Sally Hemings’ children. But the 1998
DNA tests clearly ruled out any member of the Carr family as a possible father of Eston
Hemings.
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Candidly, we don’t know who fathered Eston Hemings. The DNA tests narrowed the
possible fathers down to a group of about two dozen known Jefferson males in Virginia
at the time, and there is at least a theoretical possibility that there may have been illegit-
imate sons carrying the Jefferson Y chromosome among the slaves passed down from
Thomas Jefferson’s grandfather, through his father, to the President. But when we con-
sider things like the geographic location of many of these Jefferson men, the list of “most
likely suspects” narrows quickly to Thomas Jefferson and perhaps a half dozen of his rel-
atives. We know almost nothing about many of them.

Emphasizing again that we are not reaching a finding that Randolph Jefferson was
Eston’s father, it does appear that the circumstantial case that Eston Hemings was fa-
thered by the President’s younger brother is many times stronger than the case against
the President himself. Among the considerations which might point to Randolph are:

• In Memoirs of a Monticello Slave, former slave Isaac Jefferson asserts that when
Randolph Jefferson visited Monticello, he “used to come out among black peo-
ple, play the fiddle and dance half the night. . . .” In contrast, we have not a single
account of Thomas Jefferson spending his nights socializing with the slaves in
such a manner.

• As already noted, we have Jefferson’s letter inviting Randolph (and presumably
his sons as well) to come to Monticello shortly before Sally became pregnant with
Eston. It was common for such visits to last for weeks.

• Pearl Graham, who did original research among the Hemings descendants in the
1940s and believed the story that Thomas Jefferson fathered Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren, wrote in a 1958 letter to a leading Jefferson scholar at Princeton University
that a granddaughter of one of Sally Hemings’ children had told her that Ran-
dolph Jefferson “had colored children” of his own.

• Until Professor Fawn Brodie persuaded the descendants of Eston Hemings that
President Jefferson was his father, their family oral history had passed down that
Eston was fathered by “Thomas Jefferson’s uncle.” That is not possible, as both of
his paternal uncles died decades before Eston was conceived. But to Martha Jef-
ferson Randolph, who was generally in charge of Monticello during Eston Hem-
ings’ entire memory there, her father’s younger brother was “Uncle Randolph” —
and he was referred to as such in family letters.

• We don’t know exactly when Randolph’s first wife died, but we do know that he
remarried—to a very controlling woman—shortly after Eston Hemings was born.
About the same time, Thomas Jefferson retired from public office and spent the
rest of his life at Monticello, where he could presumably have had access to Sally
Hemings any night he wished. But Sally, although only in her mid-thirties, gave
birth to no known children after Eston was born in 1808. Even the Thomas Jef-
ferson Memorial Foundation report acknowledges that Sally’s childbearing years
may have corresponded to the years in which Randolph Jefferson was a widower.

Randolph Jefferson had at least four sons between the ages of seventeen and twenty-seven
when Eston was conceived, and if one accepts the data relied upon in the Monticello re-
port the number was five. One might expect the sex drives of young men in this age bracket
to be greater than that of the sixty-four-year-old President, and with their father’s reported
example there is no reason to assume they were under strong social pressure at home to
refrain from sexual relations with female slaves. Again, we have not the slightest bit of di-
rect evidence that any of them ever fathered a child by Sally Hemings; but that puts them
in essentially the same category as Thomas Jefferson as possible suspects.
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A review of Thomas Jefferson’s visitation patterns to Monticello does, indeed, show a
remarkable correlation between his arrivals and Sally Hemings’ pregnancies — some of
the time. Indeed, she seems to have become pregnant remarkably quickly (in less than a
month for three of her children) after he returned home; with the caveat, again, of some
of the time. But between the years of her first conception and the birth of her last child,
Thomas Jefferson came to Monticello more than twenty times, and Sally Hemings is be-
lieved to have become pregnant only about five or six times. Why did she become preg-
nant within days of his arrival on some occasions, and not become pregnant when on
other occasions he returned and stayed months at a time? Why, if the alleged relationship
began in Paris, did it take her more than five years to conceive a second child? Why did
Sally stop having children when Thomas Jefferson returned permanently to Monticello?

The answer to all of these questions is we don’t know; but it is not difficult to realize
that there may have been another variable in the equation. When Thomas Jefferson re-
turned home, his friends and relatives often came to Monticello to welcome him home;
and some of those times Sally Hemings very quickly became pregnant. (Recent scientific
studies strongly suggest that fecundity — a man’s ability to father a child within a given
period of time — decreases significantly as he ages.) Could the explanation for Sally get-
ting pregnant in a matter of days on some of Thomas Jefferson’s visits, and her not be-
coming pregnant on numerous other occasions when he remained at Monticello for many
months at a time, be that her lover was one of his relatives who did not make it to Mon-
ticello every time the President returned home? We don’t know, but it is among the sim-
pler explanations — and it has the further virtue of being consistent with the eyewitness
testimony of Edmund Bacon that while arriving for work early in the morning he often
saw a man who was not Thomas Jefferson leaving Sally Hemings’ room.

We were not tasked with the job of identifying the father(s) of Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren, and that has not been a primary focus of our inquiry. Our mandate was to exam-
ine the case against Thomas Jefferson. Trying to prove a negative is usually difficult. But
we have found most of the arguments used to point suspicion toward Thomas Jefferson
to be unpersuasive and often factually erroneous. Not a single member of our group,
after an investigation lasting roughly one year, finds the case against Thomas Jefferson to
be highly compelling, and the overwhelming majority of us believe it is very unlikely that
he fathered any children by Sally Hemings. Certainly, there were far more likely suspects,
including brother Randolph and his sons, for the paternity of Eston and perhaps other
Hemings children. The evidence that the Carr brothers might have fathered some of Sally’s
older children remains unchallenged by the DNA tests, and may be true. Given Edmund
Bacon’s eyewitness account, making an assumption that Sally Hemings could not have
had more than one father to her children makes no sense unless one is prepared to ex-
clude Thomas Jefferson as a possible father. We make no finding that Sally was not monog-
amous (with someone other than Thomas Jefferson), because the evidence is simply not
there to resolve that issue either way. Madison asserts that Sally’s mother had at least four
different fathers to her children, and the Bacon testimony makes it very illogical to assume
that Sally was both monogamous and sexually involved with Thomas Jefferson.

Conclusions

We do not pretend that this is the final word on the issue, and it is possible that future
developments in science or newly discovered evidence will warrant a reconsideration of our
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conclusions. We understand that DNA might be obtained from the grave of William Bev-
erly Hemings, son of Madison Hemings, which could provide new information of rele-
vance to this inquiry. If his Y chromosome did not match that of Eston Hemings and the
descendants of Field Jefferson, that would confirm that Sally Hemings could not have been
monogamous. A match with the Carr family would also be significant. A match with Eston
might strengthen the case for Sally’s monogamy, but would not conclusively establish even
which Jefferson male was the father of either child. Our thoughts here are further tempered
by our concerns about the ethical propriety of disturbing the remains of the dead in the
interest of historical curiosity. It may also prove useful to search for evidence concerning the
whereabouts of Sally Hemings over the years. This could prove decisive, but we are not op-
timistic about the existence of additional records of this nature at this point in history.

In the end, after roughly one year of examining the issues, we find the question of whether
Thomas Jefferson fathered one or more children by his slave Sally Hemings to be one about
which honorable people can and do disagree. However, it is our unanimous view that the
allegation is by no means proven; and we find it regrettable that public confusion about
the 1998 DNA testing and other evidence has misled many people into believing that the
issue is closed. With the exception of one member, whose views are set forth both below and
in the more detailed appended dissent, our individual conclusions range from serious skep-
ticism about the charge to a conviction that it is almost certainly untrue.

For the Majority

Lance Banning

Professor of History
University of Kentucky

Professor Banning formerly held the John Adams Chair in American History at the Uni-
versity of Groningen in the Netherlands and this fall will serve as Leverhulme Visiting
Professor at the University of Edinburgh. Two of his award-winning books (The Jeffersonian
Persuasion and Jefferson and Madison) were nominated for the Pulitzer Prize in History.

James Ceaser

Professor of Government and Foreign Affairs
University of Virginia

Professor Ceaser is the author of Reconstructing America and has taught at Harvard Uni-
versity, the University of Montesquieu, the University of Basel, and Marquette University.

Robert H.  Ferrell

Distinguished Professor of History, Emeritus
Indiana University

Professor Ferrell was educated and has also taught at Yale University. He is the author or
editor of more than forty books and was described as “the dean of American presiden-
tial historians” by the Chicago Sun-Times.

Charles R.  Kesler

Dengler-Dykema Distinguished Professor of Government
Claremont McKenna College

Professor Kesler is Director of the Henry Salvatori Center at Claremont McKenna Col-
lege and former chairman of its Department of Government. He has written exten-
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sively on the American founding and American political thought, and is co-editor of a
widely-used edition of The Federalist Papers. He is the editor of The Claremont Review
of Books.

Harvey C.  Mansfield

William R. Kenan, Jr. Professor of Government
Harvard University

Professor Mansfield has taught at Harvard for nearly four decades, chaired the Depart-
ment of Government for several years, and is the author or editor of a dozen books, sev-
eral of which address the era of the Founding Fathers. A former Guggenheim Fellow and
National Endowment for the Humanities Fellow, he served as President of the New Eng-
land Political Science Association and on the Council of the American Political Science
Association.

Alf J.  Mapp,  Jr.

Eminent Scholar, Emeritus and Louis I. Jaffe Professor of History, Emeritus
Old Dominion University

Professor Mapp is the author of Thomas Jefferson: A Strange Case of Mistaken Identity (a
Book-of-the-Month Club featured selection), Thomas Jefferson: Passionate Pilgrim, and
has authored or edited more than another dozen books. A reference source for Encyclo-
pedia Britannica and World Book, his numerous awards include Commonwealth of Vir-
ginia Cultural Laureate and a medal from the Republic of France’s Comite Francais du
Bicentenaire de l’Independence des Etats-Unis.

David N.  Mayer

Professor of Law and History
Capital University

Professor Mayer holds both a law degree and a Ph.D. in History, and is the author of The
Constitutional Thought of Thomas Jefferson and numerous book chapters and articles con-
cerning Thomas Jefferson. He earned his Ph.D. under the supervision of Professor Merrill
Peterson.

Forrest McDonald

Distinguished Research Professor of History, Emeritus
University of Alabama

Professor McDonald has also taught at Brown and was the James Pinckney Harrison Pro-
fessor of History at the College of William & Mary. A former Guggenheim Fellow, he is
the author of The Presidency of Thomas Jefferson and numerous other books, and his many
awards and prizes include Thomas Jefferson Lecturer with the National Endowment for
the Humanities.

Thomas Traut

Professor of Biochemistry & Biophysics
School of Medicine
University of North Carolina

Professor Traut is Director of Graduate Studies and a former Ford Foundation and Na-
tional Institute of Health Fellow. He is the author or coauthor of more than seventy pub-
lications, and shares his interest in Jefferson with his playwright wife, Karyn, who researched
the Jefferson-Hemings relationship for seven years in preparation for her play Saturday’s
Children.
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Robert F.  Turner (Chairman)

University of Virginia

Professor Turner holds both professional and academic doctorates from the University
of Virginia School of Law, and is a former Charles H. Stockton Professor of International
Law at the U.S. Naval War College and a Distinguished Lecturer at West Point. He has taught
both in Virginia’s Department of Government and Foreign Affairs and the Law School,
and is the author or editor of more than a dozen books. A former president of the con-
gressionally established U.S. Institute of Peace, he has had a strong professional interest
in Jefferson for nearly four decades.

Walter E.  Williams

John M. Olin Distinguished Professor of Economics
George Mason University

Professor Williams is Chairman of the Department of Economics at George Mason Uni-
versity and the author of six books. He is a nationally syndicated columnist.

Jean Yarbrough

Gary M. Pendy Professor of Social Sciences
Chair, Department of Government
Bowdoin College

Professor Yarbrough is a former National Endowment for the Humanities Bicentennial
Fellow. She has lectured at the International Center for Jefferson Studies, is a consultant
to the Jefferson Papers project, and serves on the editorial board of both the Review of Pol-
itics and Polity. Her numerous publications include American Virtues: Thomas Jefferson on
the Character of a Free People and “Race and the Moral Foundation of the American Re-
public: Another Look at the Declaration and the Notes on Virginia,” in the Journal of Pol-
itics.

Minority Report

With the report of the majority, I am in general agreement. I dissent only in believing
it somewhat more likely than not that Thomas Jefferson was the father of Eston Hemings.

I am particularly impressed by two pieces of evidence — the DNA tests showing that
Eston Hemings is very likely to have been a direct lineal male descendant of Thomas Jef-
ferson’s grandfather, and the fact that all of Sally Hemings’s known children were conceived
at a time when Thomas Jefferson was in the place where she almost certainly was as well.
This suggests the possibility that Thomas Jefferson fathered all of her known children,
but it does not prove that he fathered even one. What it does establish is a strong prob-
ability that her pregnancies during the period when she appears to have resided at Mon-
ticello were occasioned by his sojourns there.

It is, this fact notwithstanding, a mistake to jump to the conclusion that Jefferson must
have been the father of Sally Hemings’s children — for there were other events that nor-
mally coincided with his visits to Monticello, and among these one is pertinent to this
inquiry: the presence of visitors whose offspring are tolerably likely to have looked like
Thomas Jefferson — visitors such as Thomas Jefferson’s younger brother Randolph, Ran-
dolph’s four or five sons, and Peter and Samuel Carr, sons of his sister.
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As is made clear in the majority report, Randolph or any one of his sons could have
been the father of Eston Hemings, and there is reason to believe that Randolph and quite
possibly his entire family were at Monticello on the occasion of a visit by his twin sister at
the very time when Sally Hemings became pregnant with her son Eston. On the available
evidence, it is impossible to be certain which Jefferson fathered Eston Hemings. Randolph
Jefferson’s known pattern of behavior makes him a likely suspect, but Thomas Jefferson is
known to have been present and, in Randolph’s case, his presence is only a likelihood.

I am also impressed by the testimony of Thomas Jefferson’s grandchildren, by that of
Edmund Bacon, and by that of Madison Hemings. It is obvious that someone lied but it
is by no means clear who did so. I am not especially impressed by the argument that it
would have been out of character for Thomas Jefferson to have abused his position as a
slaveholder, for, in my judgment, in his public life he was a highly devious man. On the
available evidence, I think the case open. Only with regard to Eston Hemings do I think
it more likely than not that Thomas Jefferson was the father. I remain agnostic as to the
paternity of Sally Hemings’s other children.

There is, however, one thing that we do know, and it is damning enough. Despite the
distaste that he expressed for the propensity of slaveholders and their relatives to abuse
their power, Jefferson either engaged in such abuse himself or tolerated it on the part of
one or more members of his extended family. In his private, as in his public, life, there
was, for all his brilliance and sagacity, something dishonest, something self-serving and
self indulgent about the man.

For the Minority

Paul A.  Rahe

Charles O. Lee and Louise K. Lee Professor in Western Heritage
Hillsdale College

Professor Rahe was educated at Yale and Oxford, where he was a Rhodes Scholar. He
served as Chair of the University of Tulsa Department of History for several years, has also
taught at Yale and Cornell, and is the author of the highly acclaimed three-volume set, Re-
publics Ancient and Modern: Classical Republicanism and the American Revolution. He has
received numerous academic prizes and held fellowships from the National Endowment
for the Humanities, the Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, the Center
for the History of Freedom, and the Institute of Current World Affairs.
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1. Jefferson’s Farm Book indicates at various points that Sally was born in 1773. We don’t know
the date. She arrived in Paris around the middle of 1787, so there would seem to be about an equal
chance that she was thirteen years old as opposed to fourteen. See, e.g., Thomas Jefferson: The Gar-
den and Farm Books 244 (Robert C. Baron ed., 1987).

2. See Chapter Three.
3. Jefferson to Adams, July 9, 1819, in 15 Writings of Thomas Jefferson 206 (Mem. ed. 1904).
4. Lucia Stanton, Free Some Day 107 (2000).

Introduction

The Sally Hemings Scandal and
the Origins of the Scholars Commission

On September 1, 1802, one of the most disreputable scandal-mongers in the history
of American journalism, James Thomson Callender, published an article in the Rich-
mond, Virginia, Recorder alleging that, while Thomas Jefferson was America’s Minister to
France, he had begun a sexual relationship with a young1 slave girl named Sally Hem-
ings. Callender claimed that this affair had produced a ten- to twelve-year-old son named
“Tom” whose features bore a striking resemblance to those of the President.

Callender’s motive in writing the story is clear: He felt he had helped elect the third
President by his vehement attacks on Jefferson’s Federalist opponents, including George Wash-
ington, Alexander Hamilton, and especially President John Adams, whom Jefferson had
defeated in the election of 1800. Callender demanded compensation for his services in the
form of appointment as postmaster for Richmond. When Jefferson sent word the ap-
pointment was not going to happen, Callender responded that if the appointment were not
forthcoming he would turn his pen on the new President and publish articles that would
cause him great embarrassment. The Callender allegations, which will be discussed in
greater detail in Chapter Three, were written by an angry and unprincipled drunkard for
the purpose of fulfilling a blackmail threat. As Callender himself explained his behavior,
he was seeking to extract “ten thousand fold vengeance”2 against Thomas Jefferson.

In an (unrelated) 1819 letter to John Adams, Jefferson observed, “the proof of a neg-
ative can only be presumptive.”3 But few people who knew Thomas Jefferson well, even
among his bitterest political enemies, took the Callender charges seriously. Despite Cal-
lender’s gloating that he had destroyed the President’s reputation, Jefferson and his Re-
publican allies won decisively in the congressional elections of 1802 and Jefferson won
reelection two years later by a nearly twelve-to-one landslide. But Callender’s allegations
were reprinted widely by some Federalist editors, and anti-American writers in Great
Britain delighted in giving the story life across the Atlantic as well. Decades later, the story
was reborn within the abolitionist movement to illustrate the terrible evils of the insti-
tution of slavery.4 Miscegenation between master and slave was common enough on south-
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5. For a first-hand account of Federalist attitudes towards Jefferson, see Margaret Bayard Smith,
Reminiscences of President Jefferson, reprinted in Jefferson Reader 57–59 (Francis Coleman Rosen-
berger, ed. 1953). Ms. Smith was the daughter of Federalist Colonel John Bayard, and writes of be-
lieving that Jefferson was “a violent demagogue, coarse and vulgar in his manners, awkward and rude
in his appearance, for such had the public journals and private conversations of the federal party rep-
resented him to be.” Id. at 57. She writes of her subsequent shock after meeting Jefferson and “discovering
the stranger whose deportment was so dignified and gentlemanly, whose language was so refined,
whose voice was so gentle, whose countenance was so benignant, to be no other than Thomas Jefferson.”
Id. at 58.

6. This point does not appear to be in controversy between the factions in the current debate, and
it is readily admitted by some of the most ardent advocates of Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of Sally’s
children. See, e.g., Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 3 (1997); and
Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx 260, 365 (1996).

7. See, e.g., Michael Kammen, Jefferson: Farmer, Architect, Rebel, Statesman & Etc., Wash. Post,
7 July 1974 at D1 (“Mrs. Brodie does not so much humanize Jefferson as trivialize him. She is a his-
torical gossip, incapable of distinguishing between cause and effect.”). Historian Garry Wills charac-
terized Brodie’s scholarship as “sub-freshman absurdity,” adding: “Error on this scale, and in this
detail, does not come easily. There is a skill involved.” Garry Wills, Uncle Thomas’s Cabin, New York
Review of Books, Apr. 18, 1974 at 27.

8. Garry Wills, Uncle Thomas’s Cabin, New York Review of Books, Apr. 18, 1974 at 27.

ern plantations to make such a charge credible, especially to those Americans who had also
been led to believe that Thomas Jefferson was an atheistic tool of French radicals who
were plotting to destroy the new Constitution.5 But until the 1970s, prominent Jefferson
scholars who even bothered to take note of the story consistently rejected it as being with-
out foundation and totally inconsistent with Jefferson’s reputation.6

The modern rebirth of the story can be attributed in the first instance to Professor
Fawn Brodie, whose 1974 Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History was a commercial suc-
cess, despite being sharply criticized by scholars.7 Dr. Brodie relied heavily upon an 1873
newspaper article purporting to record the testimony of Sally’s son Madison Hemings, who
reportedly claimed that Thomas Jefferson was the father of all of his mother’s children and
had (as Callender had charged more than seventy years earlier) commenced the rela-
tionship in Paris. Given the absence of hard evidence of the relationship, Professor Brodie
sought to apply the tools of psychoanalysis to the issue by a careful study of Jefferson’s let-
ters and records.

The first evidence she finds of a Jefferson-Hemings romance was that, while traveling
through Europe in the spring of 1788, Jefferson used the term “mulatto” several times in
a journal to describe soil color — which Brodie saw as evidence that he was longing for
the arms of his mulatto mistress back in Paris. As will be discussed in Chapter Nine,
among the problems with this theory is that “mulatto” was an eighteenth-century term-
of-art used by geologists to describe soil color—a term Jefferson had also used during pre-
vious travels before Sally Hemings arrived in Paris. In a review of Brodie’s book, historian
Garry Wills observed that during his 1788 trip Jefferson used “red” or “reddish” nearly
five-times more frequently than he used “mulatto,” and wondered why Brodie did not in-
terpret this as a subliminal expression of his lust for his red-headed, nine-year-old daugh-
ter, Polly.8

Professor Brodie explained the absence of any significant references to Sally in Jefferson’s
letters and records by suggesting that someone probably destroyed the incriminating doc-
uments; or, alternatively, she saw it as proof that Jefferson was covering up his affair. She in-
terpreted ambiguous notes in Jefferson’s memorandum books about giving small sums to
“charity,” or leaving money in his dresser, as recording secret payments to Sally, despite the
fact that similar notations appeared in Jefferson’s records years before Sally arrived in Paris.
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9. Like so many myths, this one has an historical predicate. Although there was no “staircase” dur-
ing Jefferson’s lifetime, one was installed by Jefferson M. Levy after he became the owner of Monti-
cello in order to provide access to a bathtub he installed above the small (two-and-a-half-foot-wide)
alcove above Jefferson’s bed (which had been built and used by Jefferson as a clothes closet). This
staircase was later removed as part of an effort to restore the property to its original plan. See, e.g., Thomas
Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings
(Jan. 2000), Appendix H at 3 (hereinafter referred to as Monticello Report). This report is available on
line at: http://www.monticello.org/plantation/hemingscontro/hemings_report.html.

10. On this point, see the Individual Views of Professor Robert Ferrell, Distinguished Professor
of History, Emeritus, at Indiana University and widely regarded as among America’s foremost pres-
idential historians, beginning on page 281.

Almost all serious scholars remained highly skeptical, but the story was kept alive in
the public mind by a series of novels and Hollywood productions. For every reader who
waded through Dumas Malone’s masterful six-volume, Pulitzer Prize-winning series Jef-
ferson and His Time, a thousand or more learned about Jefferson on the silver screen or
their television sets. There, they viewed seemingly realistic video of the dashing Thomas
Jefferson waltzing the beautiful young slave girl across the ballrooms of Paris. The story
was titillating, and more and more visitors to Monticello began asking to see the “pic-
tures” of Sally or the nonexistent “secret staircase” or the “hidden chamber” above Jeffer-
son’s bed where they had been taught the illicit romance had been consummated.9 Many
assumed the story in the movies and novels had to be true, for how could a work of pure
fiction use the names of real people in such a scandalous way without being sued if the
charges were false?

Yet another development contributing to the credibility of the “Sally” story has been
the growth of investigative journalism during the past four decades and the resulting pub-
lic disclosure of numerous scandals involving sexual misconduct by elected leaders who
have often initially proclaimed their innocence. Scholars have entered the fray as well,
accusing Presidents throughout history of similar misconduct. Sometimes their case is
clear, but at other times they appear to have begun from a presumption of guilt, repeat-
ing partisan accusations or unsupported allegations as fact.10 When Americans see a pop-
ular elected political leader such as President William Jefferson Clinton impeached by the
House of Representatives for lying about sexual encounters with a woman thirty years
his junior, and senior legislators forced to resign over sexual misconduct, perhaps it is
not surprising that they are cynical when told Thomas Jefferson had absolute control over
a handsome young slave girl and remained a gentleman.

Professor Gordon-Reed and “Transcription Errors”

The verdict among historians on “Tom and Sally” really began to shift with the 1997
publication of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, written by Annette Gordon-Reed, at
the time an assistant professor at New York Law School (not to be confused with the more
prestigious New York University School of Law). After acknowledging some of Professor
Brodie’s shortcomings, Professor Gordon-Reed, an African-American, proceeded to draw
from Brodie’s work in producing a far more believable account of how Thomas Jefferson
could have had an affair with Sally Hemings.

As the final revisions are being made to my Individual Views in 2010, Professor Gor-
don-Reed has become perhaps the hottest property in the entire field of American his-
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11. Annette Gordon-Reed, The Hemingses of Monticello: An American Family (2008).
12. Mary L. Dudziak, Goluboff and Gordon-Reed win Guggenheim Fellowships, Legal History Blog,

April 9, 2009, available at http://legalhistoryblog.blogspot.com/2009/04/goluboff-and-gordon-reed-win-
guggenheim.html.

13. Neely Tucker, Add Washington Book Prize to the ‘Hemingses’ Haul, Wash. Post, May 29, 2009.
14. Annette Gordon-Reed Named Rutgers Board of Governors Professor of History, Rutgers Media

Relations Press Release, July 14, 2009, available at http://news.rugters.edu/medrel/news-re-
leases/2009/07/annette-gordon-reed-20090714.

15. Jacquelin Trescott, Obama honors winners of National Medal of the Arts, National Humanities
Medal, Wash. Post, Feb. 26, 2010.

16. Annette Gordon-Reed ’84 to join the Harvard faculty, Harvard Law School News & Events, April
30, 2010, available at http://www.law.harvard.edu/news/2010/04/30_annette.html.

17. Felicia R. Lee, MacArthur Foundation Honors 23, N.Y. Times, Sept. 28, 2010, available at
http://www.nytimes.com/2010/09/28/arts/28macarthur.html.

18. Marcia Coyle, An alternative short list for the high court, National Law Journal, May 18,
2009, available at: http://www.law.com/jsp/nlj/PubArticleNLJ.jsp?id=1202430756479&slreturn=
1&hbxlogin=1. (The story began: “Is New York Law School’s Annette Gordon-Reed, the Pulitzer Prize-
winning law professor/historian, on President Obama’s Supreme Court ‘short list?’”)

tory. Her latest book, The Hemingses of Monticello,11 has pretty much swept the field of
literary recognition in categories where she was eligible:

• On November 19, 2008, she won the National Book Award for non-fiction;

• On April 9, 2009, she received a Guggenheim Fellowship;12

• On April 20, 2009, she won the Pulitzer Prize for History;

• On May 28, 2009, she won the $50,000 George Washington Book Prize, awarded
annually for the “most important new book about America’s founding era”;13

• On July 14, 2009, she was named Rutgers Board of Governors Professor of His-
tory by the State University of New Jersey;14

• On July 18, 2009, she won the SHEAR Book Award from the Society of Histori-
ans of the Early American Republic;

• On September 10, 2009, she received an Anisfield-Wolf Book Award;

• On September 30, 2009, it was announced that she had won the 2009 Frederick
Douglass Book Prize given by the Gilder Lehrman Center for the Study of Slavery,
Resistance and Abolition, the Gilder Lehrman Institute of American History, and
Yale University. The prize was awarded at a dinner in New York in February 2010.

• On February 25, 2010, President Barack Obama honored Professor Gordon-Reed
with the National Humanities Medal – America’s “highest medal for achievement”
in her field.15

• On April 30, 2010, Harvard Law School announced that she would join the Har-
vard faculty in July as a Professor of Law, Professor of History, and as the Carol
K. Pforzheimer Professor at the Radcilffe Institute for Advanced Study;16 and

• On September 28, 2010, she received a five-year, unrestricted $500,000 fellowship
(widely known as a “genius grant”) from the John D. and Catherine T. MacArthur
Foundation.17

Indeed, her growing fame was such that the retirement of Supreme Court Justice John
Paul Stevens led the head of the American Civil Liberties Union to recommend Profes-
sor Gordon-Reed as a possible replacement.18
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19. The first person to my knowledge to discover material errors in the Gordon-Reed book was
Eyler Coates in 2000. The following year, he included the Coolidge letter with changes identified in
an appendix to The Jefferson-Hemings Myth 193–96 (Eyler Robert Coates, Sr., ed. 2001).

20. See pages 373–75.
21. History News Network provides a useful summary of “How the Ambrose Story Developed”

at: http://hnn.us/articles/504.html.
22. Mark Lewis, Plagiarism Controversy: Doris Kearns Goodwin And the Credibility Gap, Forbes,

Feb. 27, 2002, available at: http://www.forbes.com/2002/02/27/0227goodwin.html.
23. Robert F. Worth, Prize for Book Is Taken Back From Historian, N.Y. Times, Dec. 14, 2002,

available at http://www.nytimes.com/2002/12/14/business/media/14BOOK.html.
24. Id.

Interestingly, although serious problems involving altered historical documents in her
first book (Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings) were made public in our 2001 report and
have been identified elsewhere19 as well, the prestigious committees charged with evalu-
ating her work have apparently not found them troubling. This is all the more curious,
given the reaction in recent years to charges of apparently less serious misconduct by
other scholars.

As will be discussed in greater length in the Postscript to this volume,20 when it was re-
vealed in 2001 that Pulitzer Prize recipient Professor Joseph Ellis — at the time the pre-
eminent scholar in the paternity-belief camp— had fabricated aspects of his own personal
history (e.g., claiming to have served in combat in Vietnam when he spent his entire ac-
tive duty service in the Army as a history professor at West Point), he was suspended for
one year without pay, deprived indefinitely of his chaired professorship (it was restored
in 2005), and permanently banned from teaching a popular seminar on the Vietnam War.
Several prestigious lecture invitations were reportedly withdrawn as well.

Early the following year, historian Stephen Ambrose was widely criticized for what
turned out to be multiple acts of apparent plagiarism,21 and additional charges of pla-
giarism led Pulitzer Prize recipient Professor Doris Kearns Goodwin to take a “leave of ab-
sence” from the PBS News Hour with Jim Lehrer show and to resign from the Pulitzer
Prize Board at Columbia University. Unsold copies of the book in question were withdrawn.22

In 2005, the University of Georgia Press revoked the 2004 Flannery O’Connor Award
given to Professor Brad Vice when it was revealed he had drawn heavily upon and used
passages without citation from a previously published short story by another author, and
all remaining copies of his book were destroyed by his publisher.

Plagiarism, of course, is the use of another writer’s words without attribution — tak-
ing credit for another’s work. It is justly considered a serious offense, but it is not the
worst possible misconduct by an historian. For it does not normally mislead the reader
in a search for historical truth.

A far more serious offense was revealed in 2002, when an independent committee ap-
pointed by the Dean of Emory College to review accusations that Professor Michael A. Belle-
siles had fabricated historical records in preparing his Bancroft Prize-winning volume,
Arming America: The Origins of a National Gun Culture, concluded his “unprofessional
and misleading work” entered “the realm of falsification.”23 Professor Bellesiles resigned
his faculty position, and the Trustees of Columbia University voted to rescind the Ban-
croft Prize and requested that the accompanying $4,000 award be returned.24

In sharp contrast, Professor Gordon-Reed has apparently paid no price for what ap-
pear to be equally if not more serious transgressions against accepted standards of pro-
fessional behavior. Professor Bellesiles’ greatest offense appears to have been “making up”

turner 02 turner view 0 intro auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:54 AM  Page 31



32 INDIVIDUAL VIEWS OF ROBERT F. TURNER ET AL.

25. If the aged Madison Hemings confused his grandmother with his great-grandmother (whom
he knew), how credible are his rather bizarre assertions about events in Paris that occurred years be-
fore his birth? If, on the other hand, the error was injected by Pike County Republican editor Samuel
Wetmore — a strong critic of Thomas Jefferson — the accuracy of the rest of the article is similarly
brought into question. There is also at least some evidence that Professor Gordon-Reed’s transcrip-
tion of the Pike County Republican article was copied from Professor Fawn Brodie’s book, as both
versions transcribe the date of Madison Hemings’ marriage as “1834” rather than “1831” (which is
clear on the microfilm I examined). However, Professor Brodie transcribed Madison’s age at the time
of Jefferson’s death as “21,” while Professor Gordon-Reed correctly transcribes “21 1/2” — evidence
both that she can be a careful scholar and that she (or someone on her behalf) checked her work
against the original.

26. The Bluebook: A Uniform System of Citations (18th ed. 2005).

historical evidence, whereas Professor Gordon-Reed appears to have repeatedly and ma-
terially altered important but not at the time readily available historical documents to
make her case that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings more credible.
A few examples may illustrate the problem.

In Chapter Four we will discuss the already mentioned newspaper story that appeared
in the Pike County Republican in 1873 and was presented as the statement of an elderly
Madison Hemings— a son of Monticello slave Sally Hemings. When the Gordon-Reed vol-
ume was first published, copies of the original article were not easy to find (although a
transcription had appeared as an appendix to Fawn Brodie’s Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate
History). I ultimately paid a researcher in the area to visit the Ohio Historical Society and
make me a photocopy of the original article.

This newspaper article at first glance appears to be powerful evidence that Thomas
Jefferson fathered all of Sally Hemings’ children. But as will be discussed in greater detail
in Chapter Four, it has some rather serious credibility problems. Several important fac-
tual statements attributed to Madison Hemings are plainly wrong — and to at least some
extent they undermine the credibility of the article. Some were things that Madison Hem-
ings clearly knew about, so the errors might suggest either that this was not really the ac-
count of Madison Hemings or that his memory had deteriorated in his old age (he was
sixty-eight at the time) to the point that his entire statement might be suspect. For example,
although it is well known that Madison’s grandmother was Betty Hemings — the daugh-
ter of a white English ship captain and an African slave woman — the 1873 newspaper
article reports Madison as declaring: “My grandmother was a fullblooded African. . . .”

When Professor Fawn Brodie recognized this obvious error, she quite appropriately
corrected it in her transcription by inserting the word “[great-]” before “grandmother”
in brackets to disclose that she had altered the original document. But that served to em-
phasize the rather obvious factual error in the story, in the process casting doubt about
either the legitimacy of the entire story or Madison Hemings’ memory at the time — nei-
ther of which is helpful for the purpose of using the article as key evidence in this dispute.
So Professor Gordon-Reed merely altered the original in her transcript (see Figure 1 on
the next page) to read “My great-grandmother was a fullblooded African. . . .” Credibility
problem solved.25

One might like to be charitable and attribute such alterations to ignorance of funda-
mental rules of scholarly writing. But that is not easy, as Professor Gordon-Reed was a
member of the prestigious Harvard Law Review while a law student at Harvard. The stan-
dard reference on legal writing and citations is The Bluebook,26 which was originated
decades ago at Harvard by the editors of that same journal. Every law school with which
I am familiar makes certain that its students are fully versed in the requirements to iden-
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Figure 1.  Altering Historical Documents #1: Changing “Grandmother” to “Great-
Grandmother”*

In the 1873 Pike County Republican article reprinted in Professor Annette Gordon-
Reed’s 1997 book Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, Sally Hemings’ son Madison
is reported to have said that his “grandmother” was a “fullblooded African.” In real-
ity, it is well established that Sally’s mother Betty Hemings was the child of a white Eng-
lish ship captain and an African slave woman. If this was in fact what Madison said,
he presumably confused his grandmother with his great-grandmother, whom he also
knew — perhaps suggesting that his memory was faulty at the age of sixty-eight or
that these were not his words. The original is clear:

In her transcription, on page 245, Professor Gordon-Reed corrects the factual inac-
curacy by simply inserting “great-” before “grandmother” without the use of brack-
ets to disclose her alteration:

As a former member of the Harvard Law Review, Professor Gordon-Reed cannot
credibly claim to be unaware of this important requirement of scholarly writing. By
omitting the brackets, she has increased the credibility of her evidence. This is far from
the worst of her alterations.

* Passages reproduced in facsimile in this volume have been electronically scanned from the orig-
inals or photographs of the original documents.

27. See, e.g., The Chicago Manual of Style: The Essential Guide for Writers, Editors,
and Publishers 357–58 (15th ed. 2003).

tify alterations in documents, as in certain courtroom settings an intentional failure to do
so could lead to disbarment or other serious disciplinary action.

Like other major style manuals,27 The Bluebook is clear on the need to identify changes
in original texts, and lawyers are trained to be meticulous in such matters. The Bluebook
explains:

When a letter must be changed from upper to lower case, or vice versa, enclose
it in brackets. Substituted words or letters and other inserted material should
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28. The Bluebook 69 § 5.2.
29. One might argue that this error is understandable, since the events in question occurred years

before Madison’s birth. But virtually all of the relevant statements attributed to Madison in this story
fall in that same category.

30. The original (or more likely a copy made at the same time in her own handwriting) of this let-
ter is in the Coolidge Family Papers, Special Collections Department, University of Virginia Library,
Acc. No. 9090.

also be bracketed. . . . Significant mistakes in the original should be followed by
“[sic]” and otherwise left as they appear in the original. . . . 28

For those familiar with the Jefferson family, an arguably greater problem with the 1873
newspaper story attributed to Madison Hemings arises when Madison reportedly dis-
cusses his mother’s 1787 voyage to Europe with Jefferson’s youngest daughter Maria.29

The original article (see Figure 2 on the next page) states:

When Mr. Jefferson went to France Martha was a young woman grown, my
mother was about her age, and Maria was just budding into womanhood.

The problem here is that Maria (born as “Mary” and also known as “Polly”) Jefferson
was born on August 1, 1778. Thus, when Thomas Jefferson arrived in France in July
1784 with eleven-year-old eldest daughter Martha, Maria (who remained in Virginia
with relatives) was but five years old — hardly likely to have been “budding into wom-
anhood.”

How does Professor Gordon-Reed remedy this glaring factual inaccuracy in the story
attributed to Madison Hemings? She merely deletes a few words—well, a dozen words—
from the original and transcribes it as:

When Mr. Jefferson went to France Martha was just budding into womanhood.

Had she inserted an ellipsis ( . . . ) between “Martha” and “was,” the resulting alteration
would be technically correct but terribly misleading and dishonest. But that might have
flagged for readers that Professor Gordon-Reed had left something out of the sentence.
Whatever the explanation, as Figure 2 on the next page illustrates, Professor Gordon-Reed
has materially altered historical evidence in such a manner as to make her document
more credible. If intentional, that is a very serious violation of the rules of professional
writing, and as a former member of the Harvard Law Review she cannot credibly pre-
tend ignorance of the rules.

Sadly, this is hardly the only example of Professor Gordon-Reed’s apparent tampering
with evidence to strengthen her case. She includes in the book a transcription of an ob-
scure 1858 letter written by one of Thomas Jefferson’s granddaughters that clearly has
been materially altered to totally change the clear intent of the original. In the very legi-
ble original, Ellen Randolph Coolidge wrote:

He [Thomas Jefferson] lived, whenever he was at Monticello, and entirely for
the last seventeen years of his life, in the midst of these young people [eight
grandchildren when Madison was born], surrounded by them, his intercourse
with them of the freest and most affectionate kind. How comes it that his im-
moralities were never suspected by his own family — that his daughter and her
children rejected with horror and contempt the charges brought against him.
That my brother, then a young man certain to know all that was going on behind
the scenes, positively declares his indignant disbelief in the imputations and
solemnly affirms that he never saw or heard the smallest thing which could lead
him to suspect that his grandfather’s life was other than perfectly pure.30
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Figure 2. Altering Historical Documents #2:  A Five-Year-Old Girl “Budding into
Womanhood”

When Thomas Jefferson went to France in 1784, he was accompanied by his nearly
twelve-year-old daughter Martha but left five-year-old Maria with relatives in Virginia.
Sally Hemings was later chosen by those relatives to accompany Maria to Paris in
1787. In the 1873 Pike County Republican story (that is presented as the statement of
Sally’s son Madison), a serious factual error asserts that Maria was “just budding into
womanhood” at the age of five. Such errors do not enhance the credibility of the
document.

In her transcription of this document, Professor Gordon-Reed eliminates the
credibility problem by deleting a dozen words to make it appear (incorrectly) that Madi-
son was describing the almost twelve-year-old Martha rather than five-year-old Maria:

In fairness, Madison was here discussing events that occurred years before his
own birth. But that is the case with virtually all of the comments attributed to him
in this article of relevance to this inquiry. By materially altering her “evidence,” Pro-
fessor Gordon-Reed has misled her readers and violated a fundamental rule of eth-
ical scholarship.

31. The original Gordon-Reed transcription of this letter was still on the PBS Frontline “Jefferson’s
Blood” website in late 2009. See: http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/shows/jefferson/cron/
1858ellenlett.html (last checked August 25, 2009).

In Professor Gordon-Reed’s Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, however, the word “dis-
belief” in the final sentence above has been transcribed as “belief.” (See Figure 3 on the
next page)31 While it only involves the omission of three letters, it obviously at minimum
confuses the meaning of the sentence.

Even more troubling is a far more elaborate alteration to this important letter that oc-
curs just a few lines later. The original clearly reads:

No female domestic ever entered his chambers except at hours when he was
known not to be there and none could have entered without being exposed to
the public gaze.

Professor Gordon-Reed transcribes this sentence instead as:

No female domestic ever entered his chambers except at hours when he was
known not to be in the public gaze.

(See Figure 4 on page 37.)
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Figure 3. Altering Historical Documents #3:  Changing “Disbelief” to “Belief”

In a private addendum to an 1858 letter to her husband Joseph, Thomas Jefferson’s
granddaughter Ellen Randolph Coolidge explained why the allegations of a sexual
relationship between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings could not be true. She
noted in the process the indignant “disbelief” of her brother, Thomas Jefferson Ran-
dolph (who was especially close to the President at Monticello) in the story:

However, in her transcription of this important letter (the original of which is kept
safely secured with other valuable historical documents in a library at the Univer-
sity of Virginia), Professor Gordon-Reed transcribed the word “disbelief” as “belief.”

Courtesy Special Collections, University of Virginia Library.

32. As already noted, even minor corrections in punctuation or spelling are supposed to be indi-
cated in scholarly writings by the use of brackets, ellipses, or other standard markings. However, oc-
casional “errors” are not uncommon. (There will no doubt be several in this volume, despite efforts
to avoid them.) Attorney Richard Dixon pointed out to me that, in his 1966 edition of The Federal-
ist Papers, Professor Benjamin F. Wright observed that an 1864 edition edited by Alexander Hamil-
ton’s son included more than a thousand departures from the original texts. Wright adds, however,
that “[I]n no instance is the subject of an argument or interpretation changed” by the alterations. The
Federalist Papers 11 (Benjamin F. Wright ed., 1966). What is especially alarming about the Gor-
don-Reed alterations is that most of them involve changing factual assertions to make her evidence
more credible or her case stronger.

33. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings unnumbered page following pref-
ace.

By deleting ten words and adding another (none attributable to merely having “skipped
a line” or other carelessness), Professor Gordon-Reed has quite conveniently transformed
a sentence that strongly undermines her premise into a grammatically coherent piece of
evidence for her case.32 Without this alteration, including this letter in her book would make
no sense — as it otherwise does not support her position. With the alteration, Ellen ap-
pears to be admitting that Sally could have visited Jefferson’s chambers when he was not
“in the public gaze.”

Also troubling is Professor Gordon-Reed’s omission from both her analysis and her
genealogical chart of five of the most likely suspects for the paternity of some of Sally’s
children. Professor Gordon-Reed qualifies her genealogical chart of “The Jeffersons and
Randolphs” by adding “(Relevant Connections Only)”33 and she then omits potentially highly
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Figure 4. Altering Historical Documents #4:  Allowing Sally Hemings into Jeffer-
son’s Chambers When He Was Present

In the same 1858 letter discussed in Figure 3, Ellen Coolidge clearly asserts that Sally
Hemings was not allowed in Thomas Jefferson’s chambers when he was there:

By deleting ten words from the original and adding another, Professor Gordon-Reed’s
transcription suggests instead that Sally was only allowed to be with Jefferson in his
chambers “at hours when he was known not to be in the public gaze.”

This “mistake” (unlike those in Figures 1–3) was noted in the 2001 version of our re-
port and has been corrected in the latest edition of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings (below). The issue — particularly in the light of the other alterations to her
“evidence” — is whether such dramatic changes by an obviously able scholar can be
explained as mere “mistakes.”

Courtesy Special Collections, University of Virginia Library.

34. Id. at 285 (the index entries go from “Jefferson, Peter” to “Jefferson, Thomas,” with no men-
tion of Randolph). In addition, at least four of Randolph’s five sons were clearly old enough to have
fathered Eston. While the Monticello Report suggests that James Lilburne Jefferson, Randolph’s youngest
son, was born circa 1789 (and thus would have been seventeen or eighteen when Eston was conceived),
I have some doubts about whether he was this old, which will be addressed in Chapter Ten.

35. James A Bear, Jr., Jefferson at Monticello 275 (1967).
36. The full text of this volume is available at http://www.archive.org/stream/thomasjefferson

h00jeff/thomasjeffersonh00jeff_djvu.txt.

relevant people. Similarly, the index to her book does not even mention President Jef-
ferson’s younger brother Randolph or any of Randolph’s five sons.34 While one would
again wish to be charitable and assume that perhaps—like many scholars who have writ-
ten about Thomas Jefferson—she was simply unaware of these obscure relatives, her bib-
liography includes both a volume that provides a contemporary slave account of Randolph’s
habit of spending his evenings at Monticello playing his fiddle among the slaves and danc-
ing “half the night,”35 and Bernard Mayo’s Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother.36

The Mayo book documents Randolph’s apparent drinking problem and includes a letter
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37. Id. at 278.
38. See, e.g., Barbara Chase-Riboud, Sally Hemings (1992); and Barbara Chase-Riboud,

The President’s Daughter (1994).
39. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 158.
40. Id. at 162.
41. After admitting that “very little is known about” Sally (id. at 158), Professor Gordon-Reed

peppers her chapter on Sally with speculations about what “may have” or “might have” been true or
been thought or felt by various actors.

from Thomas Jefferson indicating that he expected to welcome Randolph (and, one might
assume, Randolph’s five sons) to Monticello about the time Sally Hemings became preg-
nant with Eston — her only child later shown by DNA tests to have probably been fa-
thered by a Jefferson.37

There is yet another problem with Professor Gordon-Reed’s book. Despite her im-
pressive legal training, she has written the brief for the wrong side — proceeding in the
manner of a defense lawyer. Like Professor Brodie and novelist Barbara Chase-Riboud,38

Professor Gordon-Reed’s approach is not to try to prove that Thomas Jefferson was the
father of any of Sally Hemings’ children, but merely to argue that it was possible that such
a relationship could have existed. Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings is replete with as-
sertions that Sally “might have been Thomas Jefferson’s lover,”39 that “Thomas Jefferson
and Sally Hemings could have been involved in a relationship,”40 and that this or that fac-
tual allegation “could have” or “might have” been true.41 And since, as will be discussed
in Chapter Two, we have almost no reliable information about Sally Hemings, this pos-
sibility is of course true. But such statements, even if technically accurate, are probative
of very little. (One might argue with similar logic that Sally “might” have been a wizard
at Newtonian mathematics and perhaps the actual inventor of the mold-board plough
for which Jefferson received so much acclaim — as disproving a negative is difficult.)

In the legal profession, these are the arguments of a defense brief; whereas, to win a pa-
ternity case against Thomas Jefferson, Professor Gordon-Reed would have to clear the
much higher hurdle of proof of the alleged facts by “clear and convincing evidence.” If she
were the defense counsel for Peter Carr or Randolph Jefferson, and wished merely to raise
sufficient doubt that her client was the father of one of Sally Hemings’ children, it could
be very effective to point out that Sally “might” have been seeing Thomas Jefferson or an-
other man at the time of conception. Noting that Sally was reported to be physically at-
tractive (motive), that she and Thomas Jefferson were living in reasonable proximity to
each other much of the time (opportunity), and that other circumstances showed that they
“could have” or “might have” had a relationship, a defense lawyer for another suspect
might well succeed in introducing enough doubt about the guilt of his or her client to avoid
an unfavorable verdict. But such arguments seldom even attempt to establish that the
other suspect is guilty, or even that he or she is more likely to be guilty than the accused
client. The goal of the defense lawyer is merely to convince the court that there is suffi-
cient uncertainty about the client’s guilt to avoid a finding of paternity.

All Professor Gordon-Reed attempts to do in Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings is to
demonstrate, given the almost total absence of reliable factual information, that Thomas
Jefferson and Sally Hemings could have had a relationship. But she doesn’t even allege
that the story of their romance is true, much less present clear and convincing evidence
to support it. To be sure, she has constructed what at times is a very clever and creative
argument; but it is an argument for the wrong brief.

For most Americans, scholars and public alike, by far the most convincing evidence that
Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings came after Professor Gordon-Reed
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42. Daniel P. Jordan, Statement on the Monticello Research Committee Report (Jan. 26, 2000),
in Monticello Report at 1.

had published her book. In November 1998 it was reported in the press that scientists
had used DNA tests to establish a genetic link between Thomas Jefferson and one of Sally’s
sons. In reality, as will be discussed in Chapter One, many of the press reports were fac-
tually wrong. The DNA tests had not linked any of Sally Hemings’ children with Thomas
Jefferson, whose DNA is not known to exist today. The tested DNA was extracted from
the blood of several modern descendants of some of Thomas Jefferson’s cousins. The sci-
entific tests, which were professionally done and unexceptional in their methodology,
supported two broad conclusions of relevance to our inquiry: 

• Thomas Woodson, long thought to have been the child allegedly conceived in
Paris and born to Sally Hemings in 1790 (even by many who were convinced that
his father was not Thomas Jefferson), whose existence was the central focus of
James Callender’s 1802 allegations about a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship,
could not have been the son of Thomas Jefferson; and

• Eston Hemings, the youngest son of Sally Hemings, almost certainly was fa-
thered by one of more than two dozen Jefferson men (including the sixty-four-
year-old President) who are known to have lived in Virginia at the time of Eston’s
conception.

A big part of the public misunderstanding of the DNA testing resulted from the fact that
the tests involved were quite different from the highly precise “DNA fingerprints” Amer-
icans learned about during the O.J. Simpson trial. Instead of trying to link two individ-
uals with 99.99 percent or greater reliability, the DNA tests performed in the
Jefferson-Hemings study were designed primarily to eliminate paternity suspects. In this
case, they showed that neither Peter nor Samuel Carr was the father of Eston Hemings
and that some male Jefferson probably was. To most people, including some historians
and the scientists who conducted the tests (who did not even know that Thomas Jeffer-
son had a brother and five nephews living a few miles from Monticello), Thomas Jeffer-
son was the only suspect once the Carr brothers had been eliminated. In fact, as will be
discussed in Chapter Ten, that is not true. But the common perception was that DNA
tests had proven Thomas Jefferson fathered Sally Hemings’ children, and that certainly re-
mained the “conventional wisdom” until the original version of this report was released
in April 2001.

Jefferson’s fate seemed further sealed in January 2000, when the respected Thomas Jef-
ferson Memorial Foundation, keeper of Monticello and long dedicated to promoting
scholarship and education about America’s third President, issued a staff report follow-
ing an investigation of the DNA evidence and other available information. In announc-
ing this report to the press, Foundation President Daniel Jordan said that there was “a
strong likelihood that Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings had a relationship over time
that led to the birth of one, and perhaps all, of the known children of Sally Hemings.”42

Feeding Frenzy

For a variety of reasons, for a brief period the Jefferson-Hemings controversy seemed
finally resolved. Scholars and commentators rushed forward to embrace the new conven-
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43. See page 31.
44. Both Sides with Jesse Jackson: Verdict Is Issued on Relationship Between Thomas Jefferson and

Sally Hemings (CNN television broadcast), Nov. 8, 1998.
45. Id.

tional wisdom, many of them proudly announcing they had always known Jefferson was
guilty. For example, on November 8, 1998, the late historian Stephen Ambrose (discussed
earlier in connection with a 2002 plagiarism charge43) appeared on the CNN program,
“Both Sides with Jesse Jackson,” and announced: “For my own part, I never doubted that
he had a liaison with Sally. Whether there were children out of it or not was, you know,
the hardest part, there’s no doubt about it. What the hell do you think slavery was?”44

Ambrose went on to say: “This man has given us more than anyone except Washing-
ton and here he is a hypocrite, a liar, a misogynist, which he denounced very vehemently.”
Perhaps a bit more of the exchange will capture the spirit of the program:

JACKSON: Do you think the same people who would want to impeach William
Jefferson Clinton would want to impeach Thomas Jefferson?

AMBROSE: We don’t have ex post facto impeachment in this country.

JACKSON: Why do you think so many historians have denied this Jefferson-Sally
Hemings relationship and why have they just denied it, lied about it, covered it up?

AMBROSE: Well, Jefferson was the first one to lie about it and the first one to
cover it up and they’ve taken their lead from him. . . . [E]verything about it stinks.
I think the worst thing, he didn’t educate his own children. This is Thomas Jef-
ferson. This is the founder of the University of Virginia. He did not teach his
own children how to read and write. And that’s, it seems to me . . . 

JACKSON: Which makes . . . [Jefferson] a dead-beat dad.

AMBROSE: That’s, you have a way with words and you picked it up there.
That’s right.

JACKSON: It’s in common parlance. Give us some historical perspective on how
this 200 year Jefferson-Hemings story, it just surfaced and just kept staying alive.
It just kind of wouldn’t go away.

AMBROSE: It wouldn’t go away because it was true. The first to break it was a
newspaperman named Callender, who was pretty disreputable. He would be
called an investigative reporter today. And he started making the charges when
Jefferson was living in the White House. And he continued to make ‘em and Jef-
ferson continued to deny them and at one point Jefferson tried to buy his si-
lence, tried to bribe him. Now, the Jefferson people deny that, but anybody else
looking at it, this was a straight out attempt to bribe Callender. . . . [O]ne of the
aspects that I’d like to comment on [in] this business is the use of Sally as a sex
slave is deplorable and we could use a lot worse words than that. . . . 

JACKSON:. . . . I suppose that would mean in the end it would be we’ll judge
William Jefferson Clinton by what he has been as a leader and not just by this pre-
sent crisis which is so current and on TV by day and by night.

AMBROSE: Yeah, that’s right.45

At times, the response seemed almost like a feeding frenzy, with the scholarly sharks cir-
cling the gravesite lusting after a piece of the fallen dead white male. Even Jefferson’s own
University of Virginia seemed anxious to embrace the new-found truth. Professor Ellis notes
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46. To his credit, in an accompanying footnote Professor Ellis added: “Unlike Professors Lewis
and Onuf, I am unpersuaded that previous scholars who rejected or doubted the liaison were covert
racists or blind defenders of Jefferson.” Joseph J. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA, 57 William & Mary Quar-
terly 136 (Jan. 2000).

47. Some would date the modern, more critical, trend in Jefferson scholarship to the 1963 pub-
lication of Professor Leonard W. Levy’s Jefferson and Civil Liberties: The Darker Side. But, despite his
criticism, Professor Levy was an admirer of Thomas Jefferson. For example, he wrote: “I would strongly
agree with anyone who contended that much of Jefferson was the best of his day and that the best of
Jefferson was often the best of America.” Professor Levy argues that Jefferson “cannot be held re-
sponsible for having been born a white man in eighteenth century Virginia.” Leonard W. Levy, Jef-
ferson and Civil Liberties viii–x (1989). As Professor Levy notes with obvious displeasure in the
Preface to the paperback edition of his book, his criticisms of Jefferson were not widely embraced by
his reviewers. Id. at xi–xxvi.

48. See, e.g., Ellis, American Sphinx 15 (acknowledging Merrill Peterson as being “the best Jef-
ferson biographer alive. . . .”). Malone, who died a decade before Professor Ellis’ book was published—
was widely recognized as the world’s preeminent Jefferson scholar even before publication of most of
his six-volume biography, which won the 1975 Pulitzer Prize for History based upon the volumes
published to that point. For example, in a 1956 introduction to a collection of letters between two nine-
teenth century historians, one scholar remarked that Henry S. Randall’s work “will probably remain
unsurpassed as a biography of the third president until the completion of Jefferson and His Time by
Dumas Malone.” George Green Shackelford (ed.), New Letters between Hugh Blair Grigsby and Henry
Stephens Randall, 1858–1861, Virginia Magazine of History and Biography, July 1956 at 327.

49. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA at 129–30.
50. My primary source for this alarming statement was Dr. Wallenborn, but another member of

the Monticello committee who did not want to be identified recalled it as well. Professor Onuf has more

that shortly after the DNA results were released, a “hastily convened scholarly confer-
ence” took place at the University of Virginia in May 1999. According to Professor Ellis,
the conference “made its major focus the complicity of the historical profession in re-
jecting the existence of the sexual relationship prior to the DNA findings, suggesting that
those who had found the circumstantial evidence unconvincing were harboring racist
prejudices that now required purging.”46

In fairness, the DNA evidence was but additional fuel for an assault on Jefferson that
began more than a decade earlier.47 In 1989, Dr. Peter S. Onuf was named the Thomas
Jefferson Memorial Foundation Professor of History at the University of Virginia, bring-
ing to the chair some very different perspectives than previous chair-holders Dumas Mal-
one and Merrill Peterson—each of whom was widely recognized as the world’s preeminent
Jefferson scholar of his era.48 But Professor Onuf matured in a more radical academic en-
vironment, and in 1993 he published an influential article in the prestigious William &
Mary Quarterly. Writing in the same journal seven years later, Professor Ellis gave this
account of the growing assault on Thomas Jefferson:

Matters became even worse soon after Onuf’s article appeared. In the volume [co-
edited by Onuf] on Jefferson’s legacy published to recognize the 250th anniversary
of his birth, Paul Finkelman declared in prosecutorial tones that Jefferson should
be banished from the American pantheon as a slave-owning racist. Michael Lind
and Connor Cruise O’Brien wrote books actually calling for the dismantling of the
Jefferson Memorial and the removal of his face from Mount Rushmore.49

The DNA evidence thus found a very receptive audience among many revisionist histo-
rians. Professor Onuf worked closely with the staff research committee that prepared the
Monticello Report (discussed below), and according to two individuals who served on the
committee, when asked whether he had “proof” for a factual assertion he had made about
Jefferson, Professor Onuf replied: “We don’t need proof. We are historians, we write his-
tory the way we want to.”50
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recently written: “If further evidence was needed to banish Jefferson from the national pantheon, the
recent confirmation of his relationship with his slave Sally Hemings provides it. . . .” Peter S. Onuf,
Jefferson’s Empire 3 (2000).

51. LuAnn Bishop, Untangling “Historical Jumble” About Jefferson No Easy Feat, Say Scholars: The
Portrait That Historians Have Traditionally Painted of Founding Father Thomas Jefferson is Long Over-
due for a Major Overhaul, Yale Bulletin & Calendar, Feb. 22–Mar. 1, 1999, vol. 27, no. 22.

52. This account was provided to me by a Monticello guide who values her or his job under an
assurance that I would not identify my source.

53. Two months after release of the Monticello Report, Dr. Wallenborn’s minority report was posted
on the Monticello website. See: http://www.monticello.org/plantation/minority_report.html.

54. I knew none of these people prior to being invited (along with some very distinguished local
Jefferson scholars) to attend a March 7, 2000, luncheon at the Boar’s Head Inn in Charlottesville to
discuss the Monticello Report. I had never set eyes on or spoken to Mr. Works until he telephoned me
after receiving our final report. With the exception of Dr. Michael Moffitt (who has been wonder-
fully helpful in managing the Scholars Commission’s financial account — making hotel reservations,
reimbursing members for air travel, assisting with mailings, and the like), I did not to my knowledge
personally meet with anyone in the group between that luncheon and the release of our report on
April 12, 2001.

Published accounts suggest that Professor Onuf takes seriously this freedom from the
constraints of historical facts. At a February 1999 forum on “Thomas Jefferson and Sally
Hemings: The Facts and Their Significance,” he reportedly asserted that the DNA revela-
tions provided a “wonderful opportunity for rethinking and reconstructing Jefferson,”
and alleged that the only slaves Jefferson ever freed “were Hemings’ children.” Professor
Onuf added that “Jefferson’s days as an icon” were “limited.”51

Even the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation, for decades perhaps the greatest cham-
pion of the legacy of America’s third President, seemed to get with the new program. It
formally changed its name to “Thomas Jefferson Foundation”—deleting “Memorial” from
its title—and subsequently a Monticello guide was reportedly chastised for being a bit too
enthusiastic in his praise of Jefferson during a house tour. The guide asserts that he or she
was cautioned that “we are not in the business of memorializing Thomas Jefferson any
longer.”52

The Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society

Still, not everyone was convinced. Several people with strong interests in Thomas
Jefferson looked beyond the headlines and realized that the public had been misled
about the nature of the DNA “proof.” One was a retired University of Virginia Med-
ical School Professor, Dr. White McKenzie Wallenborn, who as a Monticello guide had
been a part of the Monticello Research Committee and had resigned in protest when
he learned that his minority report had been concealed from others on the commit-
tee for eight months and was not released when the majority report was given to the
press.53

Several skeptics joined together to form the “Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society (TJHS),”
including lawyers, doctors, a consultant with a Ph.D. in environmental science, a retired
Library of Congress expert whose extensive database of Thomas Jefferson quotations is
featured on the University of Virginia website, an immigrant from Iran who became a
highly successful building contractor, a retired Air Force veteran with a strong interest in
genealogy, and some rather extraordinary54 “ordinary people” with the common bond of
a strong admiration for Thomas Jefferson and a sense that he had been “convicted” with-
out receiving a fair trial. They asked a Jefferson descendant named John Works—an attorney
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working at the time as a petroleum company executive in Romania, who had once served
as president of the Monticello Association (the family organization of descendants of
Thomas Jefferson that owns the small family graveyard at Monticello)—to serve as their
president.

One of the first decisions of the new TJHS was to establish a blue-ribbon panel of
Thomas Jefferson scholars to reexamine all of the evidence and issue a public report.
Thus was conceived the Scholars Commission on the Jefferson-Hemings Matter.

About the Scholars Commission

Between the spring of 2000 and April 2001, a number of American scholars who have
long had a professional interest in Thomas Jefferson and/or his era engaged in a reex-
amination of all of the available evidence and arguments concerning Thomas Jefferson’s
alleged paternity of one or more children by his slave Sally Hemings. While our membership
fluctuated slightly over the months, the thirteen scholars who persevered to the end come
from prominent universities spread from southern California to Maine and south to Al-
abama. They are trained in such diverse disciplines as history, political science, law, eco-
nomics, and biochemistry. Collectively, our professional careers span well over three
centuries and include teaching or research appointments at Harvard, Yale, Stanford,
Smith, Virginia, and many other respected institutions of higher learning. 

Most of the scholars have risen to national prominence in their field. Several hold or
have held such titles as “distinguished” or “eminent” professor, and most have held at
least one chaired professorship or have served as chairman of their department or its
graduate studies program. Every member of the group, even the lawyers, holds an acad-
emic doctorate, and among us we have authored or edited more than one hundred books,
many of them dealing specifically with Thomas Jefferson. 

None of this, of course, guarantees that we have reached the correct conclusions. We
invite readers to consider our conclusions and the supporting arguments on the merits,
to compare them to the conclusions of others, and to draw their own conclusions about
where the truth may lie.

After decades of study, it would be remarkable if there was a single member of the
Scholars Commission who did not enter the project with opinions both about Thomas
Jefferson and about the allegation that he was sexually involved with Sally Hemings. Most,
but not all, of us consider ourselves admirers of Thomas Jefferson; and most, but not all,
of us had over the years been skeptical about the Sally Hemings story prior to the release
of the DNA tests and the Monticello Report.

Our mission appeared at first to be a simple one. In the finest Jeffersonian tradition,
we were asked to “pursue the truth, wherever it might lead,” examining all of the known
evidence and any new evidence we could find, considering all of the arguments on both
sides of the issue, and then to issue a public report giving our best professional judg-
ments about the likelihood that Thomas Jefferson fathered one or more children by Sally
Hemings. We have done so to the best of our abilities. But it was not an easy task given
the paucity of reliable information and the passage of roughly two centuries of time.

There is a reason that my Individual Views are the most extensive. When we began
our inquiry, there were several existing summaries of what might be termed “the case
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55. Some may ask why Thomas Jefferson would need to be “defended” for having a sexual rela-
tionship with an African-American woman following the death of his wife; were that the issue I would
respond, “I hope they both found love and happiness” and continue my work on more serious mat-
ters. But, like many Americans, I have serious moral problems with the idea of a forty-five-year-old
man “seducing” (or permitting himself to be “seduced” by) a thirteen-to-fifteen-year-old child (who,
in this case, Abigail Adams tells us, lacked the maturity of Jefferson’s own eight-year-old daughter).
Far more importantly, while the common-law “age of consent” during Jefferson’s lifetime ranged from
ten to twelve, I find the concept of consent in the master-slave relationship very difficult to compre-
hend. In my view, if the relationship began in Paris as alleged, Thomas Jefferson was both a child
molester and a rapist. Neither role is easy for me to accept based upon my understanding of the man
following more than three decades of study.

against Thomas Jefferson.”55 Each of us began by carefully reading the Thomas Jefferson
Memorial Foundation Research Committee’s Report on Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings (a ten-page report supplemented by forty-three pages of appendices, also referred to
herein as the Monticello Report), and most of us also read at least substantial portions of
Professor Annette Gordon-Reed’s Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings. In an effort both
to identify the various major arguments in favor of Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of one
or more of Sally Hemings’ children and to identify arguments in Jefferson’s defense, with
the encouragement of other members of the Scholars Commission I agreed to prepare a
“working document” that would try to identify the arguments on both sides. In the end,
this came down to identifying six major arguments in favor of Jefferson’s paternity, cri-
tiquing each of them, and then looking at “evidence” acknowledged by Jefferson’s critics
which I felt they had dismissed too quickly and another series of relevant issues they had
largely ignored. The plan was that others in the group would then identify points I had
overlooked or omitted and provide their own critique of the arguments on both sides.
When we gathered at a hotel near Dulles Airport for three days of lengthy discussions in
December 2000, with the encouragement of others, I decided to use this “working doc-
ument” as the basis of my own Individual Views — at which time I added this introduc-
tion and a new chapter about how little we actually know about Sally Hemings. My final
Postscript was added years later to provide some additional thoughts and assess the ini-
tial impact of our efforts. Since 2001, I have also revised and made additions to these ear-
lier chapters to reflect new thoughts or available information. So if my views read like
the “counter-brief” to the arguments of revisionist scholars and the Monticello Report,
that is because they were originally prepared to serve precisely that purpose.

I want to emphasize that, while several of my colleagues have agreed to add their names
to this statement, and in preparing it I have benefited from the able counsel not only of
many members of the Scholars Commission but also from a number of other individuals
on both sides of the debate (some of whom are identified below), the words are mine and
responsibility for the specific arguments and the accuracy of facts is mine alone. It is impor-
tant to emphasize this point because I have continued to make additions and changes to
the manuscript even after others had agreed to “sign on” or “concur” in my earlier draft;
please do not assume that the scholars whose names appear alongside my own on the cover
page to these Individual Views have even read every sentence of the final version.

Yet another caveat is in order. While one year may seem like a lot of time for such an
inquiry, in fact most of us also have full-time jobs and we have had to do our work on
this issue as an “extracurricular activity” in addition to the work for which we get paid.
This document remains, in essence, a “working document” that I hope will assist others
in understanding how I reached my own conclusions in this inquiry. It does not pretend
to be the final word on the topic, and it leaves several issues unresolved. There is no
doubt in my mind that careful research by scholars in the future will produce informa-
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56. This is meant to exclude the 1873 Pike County Republican article alleging that Madison Hem-
ings made such a charge. There is a notation in an 1870 census record alleging that Madison was
Thomas Jefferson’s son, which could reasonably be interpreted as indicating that Madison made such
a claim, so perhaps it would be more accurate to say “sixty-nine” years.

tion relevant to this inquiry; however, in my judgment, the avenues that were not pur-
sued further were unlikely to produce evidence that would have changed my basic con-
clusions. 

To me, this is not as close a decision as it was for a few of my colleagues, and were I
on a jury in this matter, I would have no difficulty finding Thomas Jefferson “not guilty.”
That is certainly true were the advocates of his alleged paternity obligated to meet the
legal standard of establishing his guilt by “clear and convincing evidence” or even by “a
preponderance of the evidence”; but I would go so far as to say that my research in con-
nection with this project has persuaded me that he is “innocent beyond reasonable doubt.”
And perhaps I should add that, despite my long admiration for our third President, when
first approached about this inquiry I had assumed—on the basis of press reports on both
the DNA tests and the subsequent Monticello Report — that Thomas Jefferson’s paternity
of Eston Hemings had been scientifically established.

The first nine chapters of my Individual Views will examine the arguments that have
been raised to support the conclusion that Thomas Jefferson fathered one or more chil-
dren by Sally Hemings. Chapter Ten will then turn to a series of issues that I believe have
been too quickly glossed over by Jefferson’s critics, such as the eyewitness testimony of Thomas
Jefferson’s overseer that he often witnessed another man leaving Sally Hemings’ room
early in the morning while he was arriving at Monticello for work. 

Chapter Eleven will look at some of the “evidence” that has received little considera-
tion — in part because much of it apparently does not exist. That is to say, had a Jeffer-
son-Hemings romance gone on in Paris and at Monticello for decades as alleged, there
ought to be some direct evidence to support it. Someone should have seen or heard some-
thing and left a record. Like the dog that did not bark in Sherlock Holmes’ short story, Sil-
ver Blaze, some of the strongest evidence in this case may be the fact that not one of the
hundreds if not thousands of visitors who swarmed over Monticello while this relation-
ship was supposedly going on left a shred of evidence of having observed any sign of the
alleged affair. No one left a record of seeing a suggestive glance, a passing caress, or even
the President and Sally Hemings walking or talking together. For seventy years56 after the
scandal broke, neither Sally Hemings — who for nearly a decade after Thomas Jefferson’s
death lived as a free white woman in Charlottesville — nor any of her children left any
record of having asserted that her relationship with Thomas Jefferson went beyond that
of master-slave. With but two exceptions that will be discussed in Chapter Four, none of
the hundreds of slaves who lived at Monticello during this period left any record that they
believed the story. 

Then there is the issue of Thomas Jefferson’s extraordinary investment in his own rep-
utation, and his obvious devotion to his young daughters. Was he reckless enough to en-
trust his cherished reputation to the discretion of a child whom Abigail Adams had just
described as wanting more care than his eight-year-old daughter? As a widower and a
popular figure in Parisian diplomatic and social circles, where he could have had his pick
among numerous beautiful and talented women, would Thomas Jefferson have jeopar-
dized his daughters’ respect by seeking passion in the arms of their young servant girl? These
and other questions have in my view been given far too little consideration thus far in
this debate.
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57. Peter Onuf, Adair, The Intellectual Origins of Jeffersonian Democracy, 63 Wm. & Mary Q. 1035,
1038 (2001).

58. Douglass Adair, Fame and the Founding Fathers 181 (Trevor Colbourn ed., 1974).

Methodology,  Admissible Evidence,  and Burdens of Proof

Perhaps a few words should be said at this point about the methodology of this in-
quiry and such things as the quality of acceptable evidence and burdens of proof. When
the passage of centuries prevents us from examining witnesses, reliable documentary ev-
idence is scarce, and recorded statements attributed to various individuals are in conflict,
what are we to believe? Our task is to “search for the truth,” but just where do we find
that truth among the conflicting accounts and almost total lack of serious information about
one of the alleged key participants? 

Addressing the Jefferson-Hemings issues, the late historian Professor Douglass Adair—
former editor of the William & Mary Quarterly, who was recently acknowledged by re-
visionist historian Professor Peter Onuf as “one of the most important early American
historians of his generation”57 — once observed: “The professional historian is taught to
be extremely skeptical of any purported episode in a man’s career that completely con-
tradicts the whole tenor of his life and that requires belief in a total reversal of character.”58

Many of the most prominent “new believers” in the story that Thomas Jefferson fathered
children by Sally Hemings have acknowledged that such behavior would have been totally
out of character for him; and there is widespread agreement that journalist James Callender
had neither credibility nor actual knowledge of events at Monticello. I continue to be-
lieve that the allegations of a long-term “affair” must be established by credible evidence
before we can conclude the story is more likely than not the truth. Idle speculation and
“could-have-been” hypotheses, reinforced by triple-hearsay accounts from unknown
sources, are not sufficient.

On the other hand, it has been suggested that it is well established throughout the
United States that paternity cannot be established without “clear and convincing” proof
based upon evidence that would be admissible in court. That is, indeed, the legal stan-
dard; but we are not engaged in a legal dispute designed to affect the property or liberty
rights of individuals. One might argue that Thomas Jefferson’s reputation ought to be of
sufficient interest to society that nothing short of legally sufficient proof should be per-
mitted to tarnish it; but that ignores the realities of historical research. If we are in pur-
suit of the truth, we must be willing to consider not only “hearsay” evidence, but also
second- and third-degree hearsay.

While not controlling, legal rules of evidence are also not irrelevant to our inquiry.
There is a reason courts do not like to entertain hearsay accounts: experience over many
centuries has confirmed that such statements tend to be less reliable and thus less probative
of the truth than direct testimony of those who actually took part in a dispute or ob-
served it first-hand. Each time a story is retold to a new person, additional risks of either
intentional or inadvertent error enter the picture. 

In Chapter Four, we will examine a classic evidentiary problem. A story is written by
one man (an anti-Jefferson journalist), alleging to contain statements made by a second
man (Sally Hemings’ son Madison) about the truth of factual matters that occurred be-
fore Madison’s birth and for which he provides no explanation or “source” for his re-
ported beliefs. The issue is complicated further by the fact that Madison waited nearly
half a century after receiving his freedom to tell his story, and thus his recollections may
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59. Many of the statements by Jefferson’s descendants are, of course, subject to similar risks of
bias.

60. Not only do we have the eye-witness statement by Edmund Bacon that he frequently observed
another man leaving Sally’s room early in the morning, but two of the sources relied upon by advo-
cates of Jefferson’s paternity (Callender and Gibbons) specifically referred to Sally as being a “slut” or
a “prostitute.” Since there is no reason to believe that either “source” had any reliable information on
the matter, and both had clear motives to portray Sally Hemings in an unfavorable light, their state-
ments are entitled to very little weight. As will be discussed in Chapter Ten, Edmund Bacon’s state-
ment is perhaps the most valuable bit of evidence existent on this issue.

61. It is not surprising that several of the top Soviet spies discovered in recent years were em-
ployed by the CIA, the FBI, or a military intelligence agency. See, e.g., Tim Weiner, Betrayal: The

not have been fresh. When we realize that he held clear feelings of resentment toward
one of the subjects of his account, and he stood to gain personally in terms of his status
and prestige from his account, the document becomes even more problematic. And when
we consider that his views were set to paper, without the use of quotation marks to cap-
ture his actual words, by a highly partisan journalist who had an anti-Jefferson “agenda”
of his own, the document’s utility in our search for truth is yet further compromised.59

Yet another example of the problems of hearsay surfaces in Chapter Nine and involves
a statement by a Vermont schoolteacher named Elijah Fletcher, who traveled through
Charlottesville and, after meeting with local citizens, reported that the Sally Hemings
story was a “sacred truth.” This, too, is among the “evidence” relied upon by various ad-
vocates of Jefferson’s paternity of Sally Hemings’ children. It begins as weak evidence —
a prejudiced source reporting local gossip — and falls completely apart when one realizes
the rest of the story. It turns out that Mr. Fletcher happened to have shared a stagecoach
from Washington, D.C., to Charlottesville, with one of Thomas Jefferson’s most vocal
local critics. With John Kelly as his “tour guide” in Charlottesville, it is not surprising that
Elijah Fletcher was introduced to others with a low opinion of the President. 

In these cases, we have found enough contextual evidence to realize that the testimony
has been influenced by enough biased sources to leave it little probative value. But here
we were fortunate; how do we assess similar statements where we have no knowledge of
the background or context? It is a serious problem for the historian.

From a legal perspective, the burden of going forward with the evidence properly falls
upon the party advocating a particular fact. This is one of the many alarming features of
the way the Jefferson-Hemings issue has recently been handled. In a setting where virtu-
ally no information is known, the absence of knowledge is not “proof” of anything (other,
perhaps, than of the fact that there is no reliable evidence). To argue that an alleged fact
should be presumed to be true because there is no evidence that it did not occur is not
sound scholarship. Without other evidence, we cannot fairly conclude that Mr. Jones is
a murderer simply because there is no proof someone else committed the crime. Simi-
larly, suggesting that Sally Hemings must have been monogamous60 because scholars did
not accuse her of being otherwise (in a setting where there is little indication many schol-
ars gave serious thought to the matter, or for that matter that evidence existed to permit
an intelligent judgment on the issue) contributes nothing to the search for the truth. But
this has been a common practice in the current debate.

One cannot prove with absolute certainty that Thomas Jefferson and George Wash-
ington were not both secret agents of the British Government during the American Rev-
olution. To be sure, they both played leading roles in the revolution against Great Britain;
but one might argue that a good spy would want such “cover” to have access to all of the
best secrets.61 As far as I can tell, neither Washington nor Jefferson ever “publicly denied”
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Story of Aldrich Ames (1995); Adrian Havill, The Spy Who Stayed out in the Cold: The Se-
cret Life of FBI Double Agent Robert Hanssen (2001).

62. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 163.
63. Id.
64. There are situations, of course, where observable consequences are so likely to follow an event

that the absence of those consequences may be valuable evidence that the event did not occur. Thus,
if we are asked to believe that the accused murdered his lover in a crowded hotel by shooting her with
a twelve-gauge shotgun while she stood on a white carpet moments before the police arrived, the lack
of bloodstains on the carpet or walls, and testimony by occupants of adjacent rooms that they heard
no noise, might be powerful evidence for the defense.

65. Monticello Report at 9.
66. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 184.

serving the British, and few if any of their leading biographers have addressed the issue.
These facts are not evidence that either is guilty of the charge, and yet they are precisely
the kind of “evidence” that is being offered by some to establish Thomas Jefferson’s pa-
ternity of Sally Hemings’ children.

Indeed, one of the many frustrating aspects of reading the books of Fawn Brodie,
Annette Gordon-Reed, and some of the other advocates of a Jefferson-Hemings sex-
ual relationship is how they pretend to find evidence from the lack of any informa-
tion. For example, Professor Gordon-Reed tells her readers “[t]here is no indication
that Jefferson discouraged free movement on James’s part while in France.”62 From
that, we are asked to accept, it follows that “It is likely that James would show Paris to
his sister. . . .”63 Of course, one could just as easily argue that there is no evidence that
James, or anyone else, ever showed his sister around Paris, and from that pretend that
we have “evidence” that she spent almost all of her time sitting in a room alone at the
Abbaye.64 Both arguments are equally flawed. The point is not that James might not
have taken his sister to see the big city, but that our almost complete lack of informa-
tion about her stay in Paris does not constitute “evidence” that makes either interpre-
tation “likely.”

This problem also infects the Research Report of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foun-
dation, which in concluding that Thomas Jefferson likely fathered all of Sally’s children
argued: “convincing evidence does not exist for the hypothesis that another male Jeffer-
son was the father of Sally Hemings’s children.”65 Obviously, the same reasoning could be
used to point the blame at any male Jefferson. As will be shown in this report, there is no
“convincing evidence” of the paternity of any of Sally Hemings’ children. But it does not
follow logically that our inability to pin responsibility on suspects B through X ipso facto
makes suspect A guilty.

On another occasion, Professor Gordon-Reed seems to be arguing that the burden of
proof in establishing paternity falls on counsel for the defense:

Because Jefferson defenders have not been able to remove him from the list of pos-
sible fathers of Sally Hemings’s children and because they have not presented a con-
vincing case for another man’s paternity, they must rely on particular characterizations
of Jefferson and Sally Hemings that render him incapable of such a response.66

Surely the concept of “innocent until proven guilty” survives. One can only imagine how
frequently many wealthy male celebrities would be defending themselves in paternity suits
if the standard of proof really were that an individual was guilty unless he could prove an-
other man to be the father.

Since the results of the DNA tests were released, it has become common for histori-
ans to suggest that the “burden has shifted” to Jefferson’s defenders. Professors Lander
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67. Eric S. Lander & Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Father, Nature, Nov. 5, 1998, at 13.
68. Gordon S. Wood, The Ghosts of Monticello, in Sally Hemings & Thomas Jefferson 27 (Jan

Ellen Lewis & Peter S. Onuf, eds., 1999).
69. I first encountered the concept from my father when I was a young student. He told me of an

incident during his medical residency in which a colleague had listened to the symptoms of a pa-
tient—symptoms of a rather common disorder—and suggested a diagnosis of a very rare illness hav-
ing similar symptoms. The presiding physician looked at him and said: “Mr. Jones. When you hear
hoof beats, think of horses, not unicorns.”

and Ellis wrote in the essay accompanying the release of the DNA data in Nature that the
new evidence had “sealed the case” against Jefferson vis-à-vis Eston’s paternity, and added:
“The jury remains out with respect to Sally’s other children, but the burden of proof has
clearly shifted.”67 Writing later in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson, Pulitzer-Prize re-
cipient Gordon Wood added: “clearly the burden of proof has shifted: until otherwise
disproved, Jefferson is now presumed to have fathered one or more of Sally Hemings’s chil-
dren. . . . So accepting of the sexual relationship are most historians now that it will be
difficult for any future scholarly cautionary notes to get heard.”68

As a practical matter this may well be true. But as a matter of science and logic, the
DNA tests did no more than establish that Eston Hemings’ father was almost certainly a
Jefferson. Once it is established that more than one Jefferson male was likely present at
Monticello when Eston was conceived, the DNA tests create no presumptions between
competing candidates for paternity. At that point, we must return to the study of history
and the analysis of other potential evidence. 

By what standard do we assess competing interpretative arguments from the available
evidence? The fourteenth-century logician William of Occam is credited with the Latin
maxim pluralitas non est ponenda sine necesitate, which roughly translates, “Entities should
not be unnecessarily multiplied,” or more colloquially, “Don’t make more assumptions than
are necessary to explain what is observed.” This is often also identified as the “principle
of parsimony,” the “principle of simplicity,” or merely “Occam’s Razor,” and it is at the
heart of most scientific inquiry.69

There are, without doubt, conspiracies and cover-ups in life. But there are also wrong-
ful accusations. Professors Brodie and Gordon-Reed have shown that, with a bit of cre-
ativity and some flexibility in handling the facts, it is possible to make an argument that
Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings might have had a sexual relationship. That point is
conceded. The issue before us is whether there is serious evidence suggesting that such a
relationship was likely, and whether after evaluating all of the evidence there is a simpler
explanation that is equally consistent with the known facts.

Finally, there is another logical fallacy at play in this debate. The fact that we have no
information about where Thomas Jefferson was at a given hour on a particular night
leaves open the possibility that he was in the arms of Sally Hemings or some other woman.
But it does not constitute “evidence” of that relationship, nor is it correct to assume that
the odds he was with Sally are “fifty-fifty.” There is a temptation to think: “Well, either he
was or he wasn’t. With only two alternatives, the probability of one or the other is fifty
percent. It’s a toss-up question.” 

To illustrate the fallacy of this reasoning, let us consider another hypothesis. Let us
assume that on a particular day in his professional life, no record exists of whether or
not George Bush (either of them, or Bill Clinton if you prefer) wore socks. If someone
without knowledge of the facts alleged that he wore orange socks on that day, we would
not assume the odds were fifty-fifty in favor of such a proposition — and even if stated
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70. I am pleased to report that, when this comment came to the attention of members of the So-
ciety after our report was released in April 2001, I was invited to address the group (of which I had
been an active member as a law student many years earlier) on the work of the Scholars Commis-
sion, and several members of the group volunteered to help if further research was necessary.

in the alternative that he either wore orange socks or did not wear orange socks, the
odds would not change. Nor are the odds fifty-fifty that he wore no socks that day, as
we can reasonably predict from things we do know about their behavior that these men
have worn socks most of the days of their adult lives. Thus, we should resist the temp-
tation to think: “Well, we can’t conclusively prove that Thomas Jefferson had an affair
with Sally Hemings or that he did not. Thus, the odds are fifty-fifty, and the issue is a
‘toss up.’” 

Acknowledgments

I am particularly grateful for the opportunity to work with the exceptional group of
senior scholars who made up the Scholars Commission. I knew most of them from their
Jefferson writings or by reputation, but before this inquiry few were even casual ac-
quaintances, much less friends. Among the many sources of satisfaction during this in-
quiry have been the warm friendships I have made with a group of scholars I deeply
admire. I am indebted to them for their cooperative spirits, their helpful comments on
my own work, and their patience as our final product has been delayed through no fault
of their own.

One of my first official steps after accepting the invitation to chair the Scholars Com-
mission was to contact Dr. Daniel Jordan, the highly regarded president (1986–2008)
of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation (renamed “Thomas Jefferson Founda-
tion” in 2000) to seek his help. Consistent with his reputation as a gentleman, he invited
me to join him for lunch at Monticello and offered whatever assistance we needed. He
was fully cooperative. I am indebted as well to Ms. Lucia Stanton, the Shannon Senior
Research Historian at Monticello, who has responded promptly and candidly to all of
my questions. These are emotional issues for many, and there has been a tendency by
some on both sides to view those who take a different view as being either “traitors” or
“racists.” I understand the passions, but I see few obvious villains on either side of the
debate. 

During our lunch, Dr. Jordan urged me to resist the temptation to focus our investi-
gation on the Monticello Report itself, and suggested in the alternative that we gather to-
gether a large group of student assistants and search for new evidence of relevance to the
issue. I had already struck out in an effort to interest members of the Jefferson Literary
and Debating Society at the University of Virginia in the issue, which surprised me given
their traditional devotion to their University’s founder and enthusiasm for a good quar-
rel.70 Indeed, I sensed that this issue was viewed by many at the University as being so
politically sensitive that I went to unusual steps to try to disassociate my work on the in-
quiry from my employment by the University of Virginia. During our inquiry I made no
use of law student research assistants, and even opened a new e-mail account at home to
minimize the necessity of using my University of Virginia account in connection with my
work as a member of the Scholars Commission. Anyone who is displeased with my work
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71. Even after Professor Joseph Ellis had admitted to repeated falsehoods and been suspended
without pay by his college (a development discussed in the Postscript to this volume), and our report
had pointed out at least one major alteration of an historical document in Professor Annette Gor-
don-Reed’s documentation, both were hired by the University of Virginia to join other Jefferson crit-
ics in a June 2002 program on Jefferson. Responding to public pressures, two members of the Scholars
Commission were added to the program at the last minute to provide balance.

72. The title “Rector” was held by University of Virginia founder Thomas Jefferson from the Uni-
versity’s establishment in 1819 until his death in 1826, at which time James Madison became the sec-
ond Rector. The University was run by the “Rector and Board of Visitors” (still the corporate board)
until 1904, when Edwin Alderman became its first President.

73. Robert F. Turner, The Truth About Jefferson, Wall Street Journal, July 3, 2001.
74. After thirty-five years as a historical researcher in the Charlottesville area, Ms. Burton is cer-

tainly among the nation’s leading genealogist specializing in the Jefferson family. In 2005 she pub-
lished an excellent book entitled Jefferson Vindicated: Fallacies, Omissions, and Contradictions in the
Hemings Genealogical Search, featuring a Foreword by former Thomas Jefferson Memorial Founda-
tion Curator and Resident Director, Emeritus, James A. Bear, Jr., that is available for sale through the
Monticello Gift Shop or on amazon.com.

75. Sadly, Eyler Robert Coates, Sr., passed away on January 10, 2002. He was a truly remarkable
human being, a man of strong character and conviction, and one of the finest “natural scholars” it has
been my pleasure to encounter during my professional life. He served the cause of truth admirably,
and he will be missed.

ought therefore direct his or her anger at me rather than my employer. No reasonable
person can accuse the University of Virginia of trying to “protect” the reputation of its founder
in this matter.71

There was one very notable exception, and a tremendous one at that, as it came from
the most senior official at the University. University of Virginia Rector72 John “Jack” P.
Ackerly III, came to see me after reading a summary of our report in the Wall Street Jour-
nal73 in 2001 and provided deeply appreciated encouragement and support. Jack Ack-
erly — and based upon his comments, I believe a majority of the other members of the
University of Virginia Board of Visitors at the time — recognized that Thomas Jefferson
was not receiving a fair hearing and tried to be supportive without in the process inter-
fering with the academic freedom of members of the faculty.

My research brought me into contact with a number of very able private citizens who
possessed both a remarkable knowledge about Thomas Jefferson and a willingness to
do the serious business of scholarly research outside the limelight and (like the mem-
bers of the Scholars Commission) without compensation. The list of those who helped
is a long one, but I would be unforgivably remiss if I failed to acknowledge the tremen-
dous help I received from Cynthia Harris Burton,74 Eyler Coates, Sr.,75 former Monti-
cello guides Dr. White McKenzie Wallenborn (who also served on the Monticello
research committee), and Dr. Michael Moffitt. They have been critically important to
my efforts in this inquiry, and each of them deserves a large measure of the credit for
any good I may have accomplished. Obviously, they are not responsible for my errors.

As our work progressed, it became clear that there were three organizations with a
particular interest in our inquiry: the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society (TJHS, which
had asked us to undertake the inquiry), the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation
(TJMF, or TJF now that it has dropped the word “Memorial” from its name), and the
Monticello Association (MA), which, as noted, is the family association of descendants
of Thomas Jefferson. We tried to deal fairly with all three groups, and solicited new evi-
dence and arguments from each of them. When our Final Report was completed just six
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76. The Jefferson-Hemings Myth: An American Travesty (Eyler Robert Coates, Sr., ed. 2001).
Particularly helpful, in addition to those already mentioned, have been (in alphabetical order): Mr.
Herbert Barger; Mr. Bahman Batmanghelidj; Ms. Pamela Buell; Richard Dixon, Esq.; James F. Mc-
Murry, M.D.; and Ms. Rebecca L. McMurry. (I understand that not all of these people are formally
associated with the TJHS, but I trust they will not object to being grouped together since they have
all been associated in the same effort.)

77. Particularly helpful was Christopher Posteraro, at the time a student at Harvard Law School
(and editor of the Harvard Journal of Law & Public Policy, to which I have occasionally contributed
articles), who volunteered to do some research for me in a Harvard library and located an important
issue of the Virginia Federalist that contained perhaps the first published reference to the possibility
that Jefferson had fathered children by a slave. Other new-found friends, including Donais Lee and
Barbara Frank, have provided helpful comments on drafts.

78. Despite his later difficulties and my own frustration at trying to reconcile his reputation as an
excellent scholar with what seemed to be obvious errors in his post-DNA writings on the Hemings
issue, I must note that Dr. Ellis’ letter to me of October 31, 2000, could not have been more gracious.
I had written to him (along with several others who had embraced the view that Thomas Jefferson prob-
ably fathered children by Sally Hemings) to ask whether he had found new information or come up
with new arguments that might assist us in our inquiry. To quote a portion of his hand-written let-
ter, Professor Ellis replied:

I’m not sure we will end up in the same camp, but I do respect and admire the integrity of
your motives and the depth of your inquiry.

I think you’re right — that you are pretty much in the same position I was pre-DNA.
And you do a better job than I did (in the appendix of Sphinx) in assembling the dog-that-
didn’t-bark evidence. The civility of your dialogue with and about the evidence truly im-
presses me.

Such civility was not possible in the immediate aftermath of the DNA announcement.
I was dismayed by the racial politics surrounding all discussions, the Gordon-Reed innu-
endo about those who “got it wrong” being racists, the preference of black oral history over
other forms of evidence. But I was also struck by the filiopietistic motives of the Jefferson
defenders, who seemed like trial lawyers defending a client.

My still current position: that before the DNA the judgment of a liaison was impossi-
ble to render clearly or authoritatively, but the preponderance of evidence was against. And
that after the DNA the balance has shifted in favor of the liaison, though certainty is not in
the cards.

There was not a sentence here that struck me as unreasonable. But it did not explain to me why he
repeatedly said to other audiences that the case against Jefferson had been established “beyond reasonable
doubt” or had failed to discuss other possible Jeffersons as Eston’s father. Nevertheless, I was deeply
impressed by his candor and graciousness, and therefore in many ways saddened over his subsequent
difficulties.

79. Despite our common last name, I have no reason to believe Dr. Turner and I are related.

days before it was released to the public, copies were e-mailed simultaneously to the heads
of each of the three organizations.

By far the most responsive group was the TJHS, perhaps understandably given the fact
that they had initiated our inquiry. During our year-long inquiry, I received numerous
e-mails, faxes, research papers, articles, and even an advance copy of a book that mem-
bers of the group had coauthored.76

Many others have provided helpful assistance or encouragement.77 I have also bene-
fited from the generous cooperation I received from some of the major participants in
this dispute, including Dr. Eugene Foster and Professor Joseph Ellis.78 Dr. Terry Turner,79

of the University of Virginia Medical School, also provided very helpful assistance —
sometimes by pointing out weaknesses in arguments that had been suggested (such as
that the fact Thomas Jefferson fathered mostly girls and his brother Randolph only boys
might be scientifically significant for our inquiry). That may have been a more valuable
contribution than suggesting a new positive argument on one side or the other of this
issue. 
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80. See my Postscript at the back of this volume.
81. “Your own reason is the only oracle given you by heaven, and you are answerable, not for the

rightness, but uprightness of the decision.” Jefferson to Peter Carr, August 10, 1787, in 6 Writings of
Thomas Jefferson 261 (Mem. ed. 1904).

82. Jefferson to William Roscoe, Dec. 27, 1820, in 15 id. 302.

During the subsequent nearly nine years in which, as time permitted, I made some
final corrections and additions to my Individual Views, I have been particularly fortu-
nate to have the assistance of Steven Corneliussen — a professional science writer at
the Jefferson Laboratories in Newport News, Virginia. Steve remains an agnostic on
the Jefferson-Hemings issue, but was outraged over what he perceived as the “abuse of
science” by some who believed that Thomas Jefferson had fathered one or more chil-
dren by Sally Hemings. He not only agreed to personally read and comment on each
of my chapters, but also recruited some outstanding professional scientists to help re-
view one particularly disappointing “scientific” contribution to the debate. (See Chap-
ter Five.) 

Last, but certainly not least, I am indebted to my now seventeen-year-old son, Thomas,
for his many months of tolerance in 2000–2001 while I spent night after night reading and
then working at my computer until the early hours of the morning. Living with a single
parent as a seven-year-old child is not always easy; and when “Dad” sometimes seems
preoccupied with other priorities, it can be all the more difficult. 

Disclaimer

I should again emphasize that my work on this project has been personal and not on
behalf of the University of Virginia, its School of Law, the Center for National Security
Law, or any other organization or entity with which I am currently or in the past have been
affiliated. I have undoubtedly made errors, and I am confident they will be identified by
others.80 I suspect I may well be accused of making some errors on points I will continue
to believe are valid, and in those cases I will submit the verdict to the reader. As Thomas
Jefferson said in his First Inaugural Address:

When right, I shall often be thought wrong by those whose positions will not
command a view of the whole ground. I ask your indulgence for my own errors,
which will never be intentional, and your support against the errors of others,
who may condemn what they would not if seen in all its parts.

Weigh the evidence on all sides and draw your own conclusions, for on this issue it is
clear that some very able scholars — on one side or the other — have reached the wrong
conclusions. As Jefferson reminded us, we are in the end answerable not for the right-
ness but only the uprightness of our decisions.81

Ultimately, our goal must be a search for the truth. That, I am persuaded, can best be
attained by vigorous and open public debate. As my University’s founder, Thomas Jefferson,
wrote in 1820:

This institution [the University of Virginia] will be based on the illimitable free-
dom of the human mind. For here we are not afraid to follow truth wherever it
may lead, nor to tolerate any error so long as reason is left free to combat it.82

We must never abandon that principle.
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83. I had earlier expressed a desire to Dr. Jordan for their comments and for them to identify any
errors they perceived in our report so that we could consider and perhaps correct them before the
book version was published.

As will be discussed in my Postscript — which, I emphasize, reflects my own personal
views only and has not even been seen by some members of the Scholars Commission —
the sad reality has been that, in the aftermath of our April 2001 report, not one of the lead-
ing scholars in the revisionist camp has been willing to engage in public debate with us
on this issue. To mention just one example, a debate being planned for the 2002 annual
meeting of the American Political Science Association had to be cancelled when no one
could be found to defend the position that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally
Hemings.

The most common response, I am told, was that scholars had “moved on” to other is-
sues. That was also the explanation given by Dr. Daniel Jordan, President of the Thomas
Jefferson Foundation, in explaining why the foundation did not think it would be useful
to comment in detail on the Scholars Commission report.83 I will leave to the reader the
question of whether the strength of this report may have been a factor in such decisions
to “move on” and reluctance to defend their positions on the Jefferson-Hemings contro-
versy. In the absence of public debates, we are left with the alternative, as lawyers say, of
submitting the case to the jury of public opinion “on the briefs.” 
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1. E. A. Foster et al., Scientific Correspondence: Jefferson fathered slave’s last child, Nature, Nov. 5,
1998, at 27. This article is reprinted in Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee,
Report on Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, Jan. 2000, Appendix A (hereinafter “Monticello Report”).

2. When our report was initially released I saw no problems with the DNA testing. However, to
the extent that the purpose of the testing was to determine the paternity of Eston Hemings, the tests
used obviously could not do that. A team of eleven scientists, lawyers, and historians writing about
biohistory ethics in a 2004 issue of Science magazine observed: “Often, investigators fail to pose an in-
vestigative question capable of resolution by genetic testing. For example, Eugene Foster’s 1998 com-
parative Y-chromosome study of the descendants of Thomas Jefferson and his slave Sally Hemings
was intended to establish whether the President had fathered Hemings’ children. Yet the study pro-
tocol was inappropriate for determining the paternity of Hemings’ children — the only possible con-
clusion was that some Jefferson and Hemings male-line descendants had common relatives.” Lori B.
Andrews, et al., Ethics: Constructing Ethical Guidelines for Biohistory, Science, 9 Apr. 2004 vol. 304,
at 215, 216. Even accepting that the protocol could not have scientifically established the paternity of
Eston Hemings, it is not my personal view that the tests should not have been undertaken. They did
contribute to our understanding of this issue by establishing that Thomas Woodson could not have
been the son of Thomas Jefferson, and it could have ruled out Thomas Jefferson as the father of Eston
Hemings as well had Eston’s descendants not carried the Y-chromosome found in the Jefferson fam-
ily. Thus, while I don’t dispute the observation by Andrews, et al., that Foster’s protocol could not have
determined Eston’s paternity, I believe the tests might have contributed to our understanding of these
issues had they not been inaccurately sensationalized by Nature and the popular press. Dr. Foster was
very candid in acknowledging this inherent shotcoming in any test in the absence of a sample of
Thomas Jefferson’s DNA, so I cannot fault him for doing a useful if imperfect study. 

3. One might try to be charitable and assume they were just asserting that some “Jefferson” was
Eston’s father, but the title is so likely to be perceived as referring to the former President as to be ir-
responsible even without the less ambiguous references discussed below.

1

Understanding the DNA Evidence
Linking Eston Hemings to 
Thomas Jefferson’s Cousins

One of the most influential pieces of evidence in this controversy was the 1998 DNA
study, performed by eight scientists led by Dr. Eugene Foster and reported in the No-
vember 5, 1998, issue of the journal Nature,1 showing that someone with the male Jefferson
Y chromosome was probably the father of Eston, the youngest son of Sally Hemings.
Sadly, it is also perhaps the most misunderstood piece of evidence — in part because the
scientific protocol was arguably flawed,2 but far more importantly because of the unpro-
fessional manner in which the research results were sensationalized by the prestigious,
London-based international science journal.

For example, while the Foster article acknowledged that their study showed Thomas Jef-
ferson might have fathered one of Hemings’ children, Nature entitled the article: “Jefferson
fathered slave’s last child.”3 An accompanying commentary by Professors Eric S. Lander and
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4. Eric S. Lander & Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Father, Nature, Nov. 5, 1998, vol. 396, issue no.
6706 at 13.

5. Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx 366 (1996).
6. Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Brothers: The Revolutionary Generation (2000).
7. See, e.g., Eliot Marshall, Genetics: Which Jefferson Was the Father? Science, Jan. 8, 1999 at

153–54 (“Foster agrees that the headlines were ‘misleading’ because they suggested that the data were
conclusive. He attributes this ‘unfortunate’ slipup to the haste with which his article and the Lander-
Ellis essay went to press. . . . Nature staffer Rosalind Cotter agrees that ‘the whole thing really was
rushed through.’”) See also, Andrew Cain, Journal backs off on Jefferson Report: Says there is no way to
prove he had child with slave, Wash. Times, Jan. 7, 1999 at A1. In his discussions with me, Dr. Fos-
ter asserted that the rush to publish the articles was unrelated to the upcoming congressional election
but rather was necessary because Professor Ellis had given the story to U.S. News & World Report,
which was about to make it public.

8. The issue was scheduled for release on Tuesday, November 3, which was Election Day in the
United States, but was released instead on Friday, October 30.

9. For example, Professor Ellis was one of “four hundred professional historians” who signed an
advertisement in the New York Times on Oct. 30, 1998, denouncing the impeachment effort.

10. “Politically, the Thomas Jefferson verdict is likely to figure in upcoming impeachment hear-
ings on William Jefferson Clinton’s sexual indiscretions, in which DNA testing has also played a role.
The parallels are hardly perfect, but some are striking.” Lander & Ellis 13.

11. Quoted in Sean Wilentz, What Tom and Sally Teach Us, New Republic, Nov. 30, 1998, at 14.

Joseph J. Ellis was prefaced by a bold-type summary which proclaimed that the “DNA analy-
sis confirms that Jefferson was indeed the father of at least one of Hemings’ children.”4

Professor Ellis, the Ford Foundation Professor of History at Mount Holyoke College,
was a very important participant in the controversy. In 1996, he won the prestigious Na-
tional Book Award for his Jefferson biography, American Sphinx. In that volume, Ellis
had dismissed the likelihood of a sexual relationship between Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings as being “remote” and based upon “flimsy and wholly circumstantial” evidence.5

When such a respected historian who was known to be critical of the allegation announced
that the 1998 DNA evidence had forced him to not just reconsider but completely reverse
his position, many assumed the debate was over and did not bother to look closely at the
evidence. Professor Ellis’ prestige increased early the following year with publication of
his Founding Brothers,6 which won the 2001 Pulitzer Prize in History.

The Clinton Impeachment Factor

The story also may have been influenced by the fact that President William Jefferson
Clinton was facing impeachment in the Congress on grounds related to sexual miscon-
duct when the Nature story was rushed into print7 only days before the 1998 congres-
sional elections.8 At least one of the contributing authors, Professor Ellis, was an outspoken
critic of those proceedings,9 and the Nature article he coauthored emphasized the “strik-
ing” parallels of the two cases.10 He wrote that the “dominant effect of this news” would
be “to make Clinton’s sins less aberrant and more palatable.”11

Four months after the Nature stories were published, an editorial in Natural Science mag-
azine cautioned:

Both the media and the public at large should be skeptical about all scientific
claims until they have been evaluated, not only by peer-reviewed journals, but
also in the open forum of scientific and public discussion. In particular, the pub-
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12. “Jefferson fathered slave’s last child”—journal article raises a question of credibility, Natural Sci-
ence, Mar. 19, 1999, available on line at: http://naturalscience.com/ns/articles/edit/ns_ed05.html.

13. Kevin Maney, DNA Test Basks in Simpson Spotlight, USA Today, Dec. 2, 1994, at 2B.
14. Andy Soltis, Evidence Bolsters Cops’ Case, Boston Herald, June 18, 1994, at 2.
15. It is of course equally correct to describe the sources of the DNA as descendants of Thomas

Jefferson’s paternal uncle (Field Jefferson, elder brother of Thomas Jefferson’s father, Peter Jefferson),
as Dr. Foster does, or as descendants of Thomas Jefferson’s paternal grandfather, as Professors Lan-
der and Ellis do in Nature. The key point, conceded by all involved when pressed, is that the data
from the DNA study do not point towards Thomas Jefferson’s paternity any more strongly than they
do towards any of his male relatives. To be sure, there are other variables that should influence a rea-
sonable judgment in this matter — including proximity and opportunity when Eston was conceived,
age and health of the possible fathers, character, and the like — that will be discussed below.

16. Some questions have been raised about the failure to follow all of the sample control proce-
dures required for DNA testing to be admissible in a court of law. I personally am not especially trou-
bled by this. Realistically, while there may have been somewhat greater risk of samples being inadvertently
mixed up, such an error would presumably be far more likely to produce a false negative than a false
positive result. My strong sense is that Dr. Foster and his colleagues in this enterprise are highly pro-
fessional individuals whose work warrants a strong presumption of validity.

lic should be skeptical about scientific claims that support political interests.
When such claims lack intrinsic scientific significance (as in the case of those
made in the Foster paper), their publication in a scientific journal should be rec-
ognized for what it is: an abuse of the scientific press.12

The DNA Tests

A more important contributing factor than the Nature articles to the misunder-
standing may have been the widespread confusion about the nature of the Jefferson-
Hemings DNA tests. Most Americans learned about DNA testing during the period
leading up to and during the 1995 murder trial of O.J. Simpson, and they read in USA
Today and other major papers that DNA “genetic fingerprints” are “99.9% accurate,”13

or even “99.99 percent accurate.”14 When the Jefferson-Hemings DNA story broke four
years later, it was not surprising that many people assumed scientists had matched
Thomas Jefferson’s DNA with that of one of Sally Hemings’ children, and conclusively
established Jefferson’s paternity by this remarkable new technology. But that is clearly
not the case.

First, there exists no known DNA from Thomas Jefferson to analyze. And since the
only Jefferson children to have children of their own were daughters, there exists no un-
broken male line of Thomas Jefferson’s known descendants to test. So Dr. Foster used
DNA taken from the blood of descendants of two of Thomas Jefferson’s cousins.15 For
the testing that was done, this should not have been a problem. The tests were not designed
to place Thomas Jefferson at a crime scene beyond reasonable doubt, but rather simply
to ascertain whether one of Sally Hemings’ children was likely fathered by any “male Jef-
ferson.” Since, in the absence of illegitimate birth at some stage, Thomas Jefferson should
have had the same male Y chromosome as his paternal male ancestors and their direct-
line male descendants—and, very important, his brother and his brother’s sons as well—
Dr. Foster’s approach in using descendants of Thomas Jefferson’s cousins was scientifically
sound and unobjectionable.16 The problem has been the widespread confusion by schol-
ars, press, and public alike of this more general test—designed merely to ascertain whether
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17. The difference is based upon whether one considers all Jefferson males of sufficient age to fa-
ther a child and believed to have been in Virginia around the time Eston was conceived, or narrows
the field of suspects to only those likely to have been in the vicinity of Monticello at the time — such
as brother Randolph Jefferson and his sons, who lived near Monticello and were invited to visit shortly
before Eston’s estimated conception.

18. Thomas Jefferson inherited at least two slaves from his father who were thought to have been
fathered by a white man. If their father (or grandfather) was their owner (Thomas Jefferson’s father
or grandfather), or another visiting member of the Jefferson family, they would have carried the same
Y chromosome as Thomas Jefferson. We do not give this possibility any weight in our analysis, but
we also cannot absolutely rule out the possibility that older Monticello slaves carried the Jefferson
chromosome.

19. When this chapter was written in 2000, I was working from the data provided in the Monti-
cello Report about Randolph Jefferson’s children. They estimated James Lilburne Jefferson’s year of
birth as circa 1789. (Monticello Report, Appendix J at 3.) I am now less confident that James was sev-
enteen or eighteen years old; so elsewhere you will find me counting only the four of Randolph’s chil-
dren (all sons) we know were well past their eighteenth birthday—an age which certainly would make
them eligible suspects for the paternity of Eston Hemings.

20. We know that Thomas Jefferson was at Monticello at least part of the period in which Sally
Hemings probably conceived Eston, and we know that he had invited his younger brother, Randolph
(a widower who had at least four sons old enough to father a child and lived only about twenty miles
from Monticello) to visit during this same period. This issue will be addressed in greater detail in
Chapters Five and Ten.

21. Memoirs of a Monticello Slave, reprinted in Jefferson at Monticello 22 (James A. Bear,
Jr. ed., 1967.) The description by former slave Isaac Jefferson is of Thomas Jefferson’s younger brother,
Randolph, who will be discussed in Chapter Ten.

22. For an excellent summary of the numerous articles and columns that misreported the DNA
evidence in the Washington Post, see E. R. Shipp, Reporting on Jefferson, Wash. Post, May 30, 1999,

some male Jefferson likely fathered a Hemings child — with the far more precise “genetic
fingerprint” technique made famous by the Simpson trial.

Considered by itself, the results of the DNA tests in the Jefferson-Hemings contro-
versy suggest that the statistical probability Thomas Jefferson was the father of Sally Hem-
ings’ youngest child range from as high as seventeen to as low as four percent17 — or
perhaps a bit lower if the possibility of a slave father carrying the Jefferson DNA is con-
sidered.18 The DNA tests could not discriminate among the more than two dozen adult
male Jeffersons in Virginia at the time Eston Hemings was conceived, and there is reasonable
evidence to suggest that at least seven19 of those men (including Thomas Jefferson) may
well have been at Monticello when Sally became pregnant with Eston.20 It should be ob-
vious that these DNA tests say nothing about the paternity of any of Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren whose descendants were not tested.

When one considers such factors as Thomas Jefferson’s advanced age (sixty-four at the
time of Eston’s conception), his reputation, his health, and the fact that—unlike Thomas
Jefferson — at least one of the other key suspects had a propensity, documented in Mem-
oirs of a Monticello Slave, “to come out among black people, play the fiddle and dance
half the night”21 when he visited Monticello, the odds that Thomas Jefferson was Eston’s
father would seem to decrease even further. But if that is true, why have so many people
across the country and around the world been so misinformed?

Overstating the Results

The problem lies not only with a news media prone to over simplifying and sensa-
tionalizing complex stories.22 Numerous prominent scholars have contributed to the mis-
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at B6. An even earlier critique of media coverage of the story in general was provided in the same
newspaper by David Murray, Paternity Hype Visits Monticello, Wash. Post, Nov. 15, 1998 at C1.

23. Jan Ellen Lewis & Peter Onuf, Introduction to Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 11.
24. Rhys Isaac, Monticello Stories Old and New, in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 119.
25. Eric S. Lander & Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Father, Nature, Nov. 5, 1998, at 13, reprinted in Mon-

ticello Report, Appendix A.
26. Joseph J. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA, 57 William & Mary Quarterly 126 (2000).
27. Jan Lewis, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings Redux: Introduction, in Sally Hemings and

Thomas Jefferson at 121. See also the assertion that Jefferson “almost certainly” fathered at least
one of Sally Hemings’ children by Yale University Professor David Brion Davis, in his Preface to Lucia
Stanton, Free Some Day: The African-American Families of Monticello 12 (2000).

28. Wilentz, What Tom and Sally Teach Us at 14.
29. In 2001 this organization was renamed “Thomas Jefferson Foundation,” or TJF.
30. The full text of this insightful interview can be found on the PBS web page at http://www.pbs.org/

jefferson/archives/interviews/Jordan.htm.
31. Statement of Daniel P. Jordan, Ph.D., president, Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation,

DNA Press Conference at the International Center for Jefferson Scholars, November 1, 1998, reprinted
in Monticello Report, Appendix D.

understanding by characterizing the DNA study as “confirming”23 or “clinching”24 the
case for Thomas Jefferson’s paternity.

In the article accompanying the Foster DNA study in Nature, the respected Professor
Ellis announced that, when considered with the circumstantial evidence, the DNA evi-
dence “seems to seal the case that Jefferson was Eston Hemings’ father.”25 Writing later in
the William & Mary Quarterly, Ellis concluded that “Jefferson’s paternity of several [sic]
Hemings children is proven ‘beyond a reasonable doubt’”26 by the DNA study. This is an
absurd statement.

In an introduction to this same issue of the Quarterly, Rutgers University Professor
Jan Lewis added that “virtually all professional historians” now accept “that Jefferson was
the father of at least one of Sally Hemings’s children. . . .”27 I am aware of no reliable sur-
vey of opinion on this issue, but to the extent that it is true that professional historians
accept the allegations, I suspect it has as much to do with misunderstanding the signifi-
cance of the DNA tests and widespread respect for Professor Ellis as it does with the ac-
tual merits of the case for Jefferson’s paternity. This is being written before most of the
professional historians on the Scholars Commission have voiced their final conclusions;
but I will be greatly surprised if — after spending nearly a year looking carefully at all of
the evidence — anything like “virtually all” of them find it probable that Thomas Jeffer-
son fathered Eston Hemings.

Writing in The New Republic, Princeton historian Professor Sean Wilentz began: “The
DNA test proving that Thomas Jefferson fathered at least one child with his slave Sally
Hemings was good news. . . .”28 Consider also the case of Dr. Daniel Jordan, the respected
President (1985–2008) of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation (TJMF)29 that runs
Jefferson’s home at Monticello and promotes scholarship about the famous President.
Few if any organizations have done more over the decades to promote the legacy of Thomas
Jefferson. When interviewed for the 1997 Ken Burns PBS video, Thomas Jefferson, Dr.
Jordan asserted there was “no historical evidence that there was a relationship between Thomas
Jefferson and Sally,” noted that such a relationship would be “totally out of character,”
and concluded that it was “morally impossible for that relationship to have occurred.”30

And yet, in a press statement on November 1, 1998, Dr. Jordan asserted: “Dr. Foster’s
DNA evidence indicates a sexual relationship between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings, an African-American woman who was one of his slaves.”31
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32. Eugene A. Foster, The Thomas Jefferson Paternity Case, Nature, Jan. 7, 1999, vol. 397 at 32.
33. Eugene A. Foster, In Jefferson-Hemings Tie, a Family’s Pride; Tenable Conclusions, letter to the

editor, N.Y. Times, Nov. 9, 1998, at A24.
34. Indeed, all of the letters on this issue in the January 7, 1999, issue of Nature challenged the

interpretation that the DNA study pointed to Thomas Jefferson as Eston’s father. Professor David M.
Abbey, of the University of Colorado Health Science Center, noted “the authors did not consider all
the data at hand in interpreting their results. No mention was made of Thomas Jefferson’s brother Ran-
dolph . . . or of his five sons.” Dr. Gary Davis, of Evanston Hospital, in Evanston, Illinois, added that
“If the data of Foster et al. are accurate, then any male ancestor in Thomas Jefferson’s line, white or
black, could have fathered Eston Hemings.” The Thomas Jefferson paternity case, Nature, vol. 397,
Jan. 7, 1999 at 32.

35. I am not personally critical of Dr. Foster for his role in this controversy, but it may be worth
noting that he did not enter into the project as a “neutral.” In his discussions with me, Dr. Foster ac-
knowledged that he originally undertook the project hoping to prove that Thomas Jefferson fathered
Sally Hemings’ children.

36. Foster et al., Jefferson fathered slave’s last child at 27 (emphasis added).
37. Id. (emphasis added).

Dr. Foster deserves credit for his efforts to correct the misunderstanding. He published
letters in both Nature32 and The New York Times33 noting that the headline had overstated
the actual conclusions of his work.34 But he also may bear some of the responsibility for
the misunderstanding.35 Rather than saying that his findings “provide evidence that he
[Thomas Jefferson] was the biological father of Eston Hemings Jefferson”36 — which is
not inaccurate, but may have been subject to misinterpretation — a more precise phrase-
ology might have been to report that Thomas Jefferson “may have been” Eston’s biologi-
cal father.

Distinguishing History from Science

Another problem with the scientists’ historical interpretation of their DNA findings
was the exclusion of any alternative candidates for Eston’s paternity other than Thomas
Jefferson or his nephews by his sister Martha, Peter and Samuel Carr. Thus, the Nature
article concludes: “The simplest and most probable explanations for our molecular
findings are that Thomas Jefferson, rather than one of the Carr brothers, was the father
of Eston Hemings Jefferson. . . .”37 No consideration was given to any of the two-dozen
other Jefferson males in Virginia at the time, each of whom carried the same Y chro-
mosome as Thomas Jefferson and Eston Hemings. But this distinction was not picked
up in the press.

More admirable were some of the observations of prominent scientists contacted by
the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation and asked to comment on the Nature arti-
cles. Particularly impressive were the comments of Dr. Kenneth K. Kidd, Professor of Ge-
netics at Yale University, who recognized some “controversy” over the “interpretation” of
the data and wrote:

I think Eric Lander and Joseph Ellis in their News and Views commentary over-
interpreted the results as proving that Jefferson was the father of Eston. . . . How
many other male-line relatives of Thomas Jefferson were alive at that time? . . .
[A]s with modern day paternity testing, we can prove a man is/was not the fa-
ther, but we cannot absolutely prove a man is/was the father.

So the proof ultimately rests on demonstrating that Thomas Jefferson was pre-
sent at the time Eston was conceived and that no other male relative with the same
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38. Excerpted in Monticello Report, Appendix B (emphasis added).
39. Id.
40. E-mail from Dr. Eugene Foster to Professor Robert F. Turner, Subject: Jefferson-Hemings,

Oct. 1, 2000, 9:02 PM, on file with author.
41. Id.
42. Id. (Emphasis added).
43. See, e.g., id.
44. E-mail from Dr. Eugene Foster to Professor Robert F. Turner, Subject: More TJ-SH, Oct. 3,

2000, 11:59 AM, on file with author (emphasis added.).
45. No admirer of Thomas Jefferson could credibly argue that Dr. Foster’s medical expertise should

preclude him from participating in serious discourse involving other disciplines. What a price we
would have paid if Thomas Jefferson’s expertise in architecture or agriculture had kept him from of-
fering us his thoughts on politics, diplomacy, or even meteorology.

46. E-mail from Eric Lander to Herbert Barger, 27 Dec. 1998 00:48:34, Subject: “RE: JEFFER-
SON/HEMINGS DNA STUDY,” a copy of which is on file with author (emphasis added).

Y chromosome was hiding in the bushes. That is something I have no knowledge
of. . . . 38

Similarly, Dr. David Page, of the MIT Center for Genome Research, “felt that more
thought and attention could be paid to the ‘competing hypotheses’ in interpreting the
results.”39

In an e-mail to this writer on October 1, 2000, Dr. Foster elaborated on his position
at some length.40 He wrote that “The DNA tests do tell us that Eston Hemings was very
likely fathered by a member of the Jefferson family,”41 and added: “The scientific evidence
alone would have told us that it was possible that Thomas Jefferson was Eston Hemings’
father. . . . [Y]ou are right that our DNA findings say nothing directly about the paternity
of any of Sally Hemings’ children other than Eston Hemings.”42

Dr. Foster has repeatedly voiced the opinion that “it is very likely that Thomas Jeffer-
son was Eston Hemings’ father.”43 Such statements may have contributed to public mis-
understandings of the results of his study—in spite of his clear efforts to clarify the record.
It is important to understand that his “very likely” conclusion is largely an historical rather
than a scientific judgment based upon Dr. Foster’s understanding of a wide range of his-
torical data that are addressed in the chapters that follow. Responding to inquiries posed
by the current writer, Dr. Foster on October 3, 2000, emphasized that he was relying
heavily on historical evidence and clarified:

You are perfectly correct that my conclusion “ . . . it is ‘very likely’ Thomas Jef-
ferson was the father is based not solely upon . . . [our] scientific DNA inquiry
but involves interpreting those data in the light of historical evidence. . . .” It is
also true that “ . . . there is nothing in . . . [our] DNA study that itself would lead . . .
[us] to suspect Thomas Jefferson as the father versus Randolph [Jefferson] or his
sons.”44

In fairness to Dr. Foster, he has followed this issue closely and it is certainly legitimate
for him to voice conclusions based upon more than his scientific expertise.45 One need not
intend criticism of him to observe that some of his public comments may nevertheless have
contributed to a broad misunderstanding of his scientific research.

Similarly, Dr. Eric S. Lander, of MIT, who co-authored the “Founding Fathers” inter-
pretive essay in Nature with Professor Ellis, wrote in a December 27, 1998, e-mail: “The
DNA evidence strongly indicates that Eston’s father was either Thomas Jefferson or another
male-line relative of Thomas Jefferson. . . . The DNA evidence obviously does not distinguish
among male-line relatives. I leave it to historians to weigh the evidence.”46
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47. The President Again, Richmond Recorder, Sept. 1, 1802, reprinted in Monticello Report, Ap-
pendix E. It is perhaps noteworthy that the term “sable” was also used to describe Thomas Woodson.

48. I apologize to any readers who find this term as offensive as I do, but it is the term used at the
time.

49. Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 67–68 (1997).
50. Id. at 69–70.

Excluding Thomas Woodson

One of the most important, but largely overlooked, findings of the Foster DNA study
was that Thomas Woodson could not have been Thomas Jefferson’s child. This finding un-
dermines both the original 1802 James Callender story and the strongest oral history claim
that Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings. As will be discussed in Chapter Three,
Callender’s allegation that President Jefferson was sexually involved with Sally Hemings was
largely premised upon the alleged existence of a ten- to twelve-year-old light-skinned slave
named “Tom” whose “features are said to bear a striking although sable resemblance to those
of the President himself.”47 This child has long been presumed by many to be Thomas Wood-
son, and no evidence of any other “mulatto”48 child named “Tom” at Monticello has been found.

When Professor Annette Gordon-Reed wrote her 1997 book, Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings, more than half of the chapter on James Callender was devoted to the ques-
tion “Was There a Tom Hemings?” She notes that:

The nonexistence of Tom serves two functions for opponents of the Jefferson-Hem-
ings story. First, it suggests that Callender lied about an essential item of his story.
If he was lying about that, he was lying about the Jefferson-Hemings liaison. . . . 

The second reason it is important for Tom not to exist is that it would suggest
that Sally Hemings was not pregnant when she came back from France. . . . The
notion that Sally Hemings was not pregnant when she came back from France
is crucial to Jefferson’s defenders because it makes it much easier to argue that
someone other than Jefferson fathered all of Hemings’s children.49

She then notes the strong oral history of the descendants of Thomas Woodson, who as-
sert that he was the “Tom” of Callender’s stories:

Additional confirmation that Tom may have existed comes from a family that
claims descent from this individual. According to the oral history of the Wood-
son family, which has been accepted by the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foun-
dation as accurate — except for the part about Jefferson being Tom’s dad — Tom
was sent to live with a family called the Woodsons after the scandal broke. He
dropped the name Hemings in favor of Woodson. . . . The family has been inter-
ested principally in establishing that Tom Woodson existed rather than proving
that he was the son of Thomas Jefferson.

After the publication of her biography of Jefferson, [Professor Fawn] Brodie did
additional research based upon the oral history of the Woodson family and found
that a number of the details the family had passed down about Tom Woodson
could be verified. . . . [S]he was able to determine that he had been born in 1790,
the year that the mysterious Tom Hemings would have been born.50

Professor Gordon-Reed considers arguments on both sides of the “Was there a Tom?”
issue, arguing in the process that Callender would have been foolish to manufacture such
an allegation:
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51. Id. at 70–71.
52. Fawn M. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History 248 (1974).
53. Richmond Examiner, Philadelphia Aurora, Oct. 1, 1802, at 2.
54. Thomas Jefferson’s wife Martha did inherit a slave named “Tom Shackleford,” who first ap-

pears on the 1774 slave roster at Bedford and passed away in 1801. He is often listed simply as “Tom,”
and thus could cause confusion. See, e.g., The Garden and Farm Books of Thomas Jefferson
259, 267, 290, 296, 298, 301 (Robert C. Baron, ed. 1987). I am indebted to Cynthia Harris Burton
for this observation. By 1810 there were no fewer than three “Toms” among Jefferson’s slaves (“Tom,”
“Tom Buck,” and “Tom Lee.”) Id. at 406. A slave named Ursula had a “Thomas” on Oct. 1, 1813. Id.
at 386, 399.

55. Monticello Report, Appendix K at 2. There are at least four pages from the Farm Book that
have been removed and, in some cases, may be on deposit as separate documents in other libraries.
For example, the list of “Negroes Alienated, 1784–1794, inclusive” on deposit at the American Philo-
sophical Society may be page 25 of Jefferson’s Farm Book.

The point for Callender’s story was that the existence of children who looked
like Jefferson would tend to prove that he was having sex with Sally Hemings. A
boy old enough to compare closely to Jefferson and one named after him, too,
would strengthen Callender’s case; “President Tom” was an effective device. But
was it so effective that Callender would have employed it knowing that Jeffer-
son’s supporters could easily point out there was no such boy?

The defenders of Jefferson never offered this rebuttal to Callender’s claim. . . .
[T]he fact that there was no twelve-year-old child at Monticello named Tom
would have been an innocuous enough bit of information to pass along to those
who were defending him. This alleged child appeared as a prominent and regu-
lar feature of Callender’s articles. What if there had been no Sally Hemings at
Monticello? Would the supporters of Jefferson have mounted a defense against
the allegation of an affair with her without mentioning that she did not exist?

Other newspapers were investigating the story. If Tom did not exist, it seems
likely that someone among Jefferson’s supporters or anyone who could be de-
scribed as neutral would have stumbled upon the fact that Tom did not exist, if
he did not.51

In her 1974 book, Professor Fawn Brodie adds that “[a]t least two other editors, after
checking, corroborated the story” of Tom Hemings.52 My own Jefferson collection in-
cludes an original copy of the October 1, 1802, issue of the Philadelphia Aurora, pub-
lished by William Duane. A page two article defending President Jefferson against Callender’s
charges, reprinted from the Richmond Examiner, stated: “That this servant woman [Sally
Hemings] has a child is very true. But that it is Mr. Jefferson’s, or that the connection ex-
ists, which Callender mentions, is false. I call upon him for his evidence, I challenge him
to bring it forward.”53

Surely Jefferson’s friends and supporters discussed Callender’s attack, and how best to
counter it, among themselves. Is it probable that William Duane — or, for that matter,
Meriwether Jones, editor of the Examiner and another Jefferson ally — would have gra-
tuitously confirmed the existence of “Tom” without reason? Possible, yes — but hardly
probable. Nor does it seem likely that none of Jefferson’s many friends would have both-
ered to challenge this key point in Callender’s argument if there was in fact no “Tom.”

There is no evidence of any other slave at Monticello named “Tom” who might have
been the son of Sally Hemings,54 and indeed no record either of Thomas Woodson. Jef-
ferson did not maintain his Farm Book records between 1783 and 1794,55 so the absence
of a record of birth may not be dispositive. (However, most, if not all, births during that
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56. See, e.g., Michael Durey, With the Hammer of Truth: James Thomson Callender and
America’s Early National Heroes 159–60 (1990).

57. It may still be theoretically possible that Jefferson was Woodson’s father. But this would prob-
ably mean either that Thomas Jefferson was of illegitimate birth (a theory now being suggested by A
President in the Family author Byron Woodson) or that the same man illegitimately fathered sons by
the wives of three of Thomas Woodson’s sons over a period of more than a decade.

58. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 67.

period are presumably reflected in later lists in the Farm Book.) Of greater significance is
the absence of any listing of a slave child named “Tom” between 1795 and well after Cal-
lender’s 1802 allegations. Some have suggested that Jefferson might well have decided to
conceal the birth of his own illegitimate child,56 but he routinely recorded the births of
all of Sally’s other children.

We may never know whether there was ever a “Tom Hemings” at Monticello. Other than
James Callender’s allegations, the only meaningful evidence for such a child has been the
strong oral history of the Woodson family. Whether one concludes that there was no
“Tom,” or that the Woodson family tradition is accurate and their ancestor was the young
man repeatedly mentioned by Callender and Federalist critics, one thing is now clear be-
yond reasonable doubt: Based upon DNA testing of six descendants of three of Thomas
Woodson’s sons, Thomas Jefferson could not have been his father.57 That may be the most
significant finding of the DNA tests. Professor Gordon-Reed argued: “If he [Callender]
was lying about that [Jefferson’s paternity of a ten- to twelve-year-old Hemings child
named “Tom”], he was lying about the Jefferson-Hemings liaison. . . .”58

Finally, of course, it is clear that the DNA tests addressed only the issue of the pater-
nity of Eston Hemings and Thomas Woodson. No continuous male-line descendants of
any of Sally Hemings’ other children had been identified when the tests were done, and
thus the tests provide no scientific evidence concerning the paternity of Harriet I, Bev-
erly, Harriet II, or Madison Hemings. Specifically, the Foster study does not rule out the
possibility that one or more of these older children were fathered by Peter and/or Samuel
Carr, who reportedly admitted having fathered children by Sally Hemings. This issue will
be addressed in Chapter Ten.

Other Possible DNA Testing — William Hemings and 
Thomas Jefferson

It is worth noting that the grave of Madison Hemings’ son, William Beverly Hemings,
was recently discovered in the U.S. Military Cemetery at Ft. Leavenworth, Kansas. Ac-
cording to Herbert Barger, there are no known descendants of William; and other de-
scendants of Madison Hemings reportedly have refused to cooperate in having the body
exhumed to search for usable DNA that might shed further light on this issue. That is
presumably their option, although in the absence of known direct descendants of the de-
ceased, it may be that authority to make this decision rests within the government. In
any event, our understanding about this issue might well be enhanced by such an effort.
That said, before any steps are taken to exhume anyone, some serious thought needs to
be given to the ethical implications of disturbing gravesites and human remains to sat-
isfy historical curiosity.

I am told that some members of the Hemings family have suggested that they will con-
sider the exhumation of William’s remains only if the Jefferson descendants agree to dig
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59. When I first wrote this in 2000, I believed that it would be useful to pursue DNA testing from
William Hemings’ grave. Candidly, I am now much less sure of that. As I have reflected on the issue,
there are important ethical implications that my eagerness to get to the truth led me to overlook. At
the same time, I’m not sure — given the paucity of the case for Thomas Jefferson’s paternity as I see
it now — that any results from such a test would make much difference.

up Thomas Jefferson. At first this may seem only equitable, but the proposal that Thomas
Jefferson’s remains also be exhumed misunderstands the science involved in Y-chromo-
some DNA testing. It is theoretically possible, of course, that Thomas Jefferson was of
illegitimate birth and thus might not share the Y chromosome found in the descendants
of his cousins. But no serious scholar has suggested such a possibility (which, if true,
would exclude him as a candidate for Eston’s paternity), and if usable DNA could still be
extracted from Thomas Jefferson’s remains, it would almost certainly possess the same Y
chromosome as the other male Jeffersons. Those who argue that Thomas Jefferson was
probably not the father of Sally Hemings’ children do not deny that he was the legitimate
son of Peter Jefferson and carried the same Y chromosome extracted from the blood of
modern-day descendants of his cousins.

In contrast, I am told by experts that DNA testing of William Hemings’ remains prob-
ably would provide enough information to establish that he (and thus Madison) was a de-
scendant of: (1) a male Jefferson, (2) a male member of the Carr family, or (3) someone
other than a Jefferson or a Carr. To be sure, the presence of a Jefferson Y chromosome in
William’s remains would not conclusively establish that Thomas Jefferson fathered Madi-
son Hemings. It would presumably be interpreted by some as strengthening the case for
that conclusion, but there were two dozen other potential fathers carrying the same Y
chromosome. On the other hand, if William were shown to carry the Y chromosome of
the Carr family or to be unrelated to both the Carrs and the Jeffersons, that would strongly
suggest that Sally Hemings was not monogamous and thus would undermine much of the
circumstantial case against Thomas Jefferson.

In fairness to the Hemings descendants, the suggestion that William’s remains should
be exhumed and examined may seem like a “no-win” proposition. It could undermine their
claim to such illustrious ancestry if William did not carry the Jefferson Y chromosome;
but, if he did, the doubters would simply note that Randolph Jefferson and two dozen other
men remain possible fathers. But this is not a game of chance or a sporting contest; it is
a search for truth involving the reputation of one of America’s most beloved Founding Fa-
thers. And ultimately, as a pragmatic matter, if the Hemings family is seen as blocking the
search for truth by denying access to potentially important evidence, they may find it dif-
ficult to persuade others of the certainty of their conviction that they are, in fact, de-
scendants of Thomas Jefferson.59

Conclusions

In summary, contrary to conventional wisdom, the DNA study conducted by Dr. Eu-
gene Foster and colleagues and reported in Nature did not “prove” that Thomas Jefferson
fathered any of Sally Hemings’ children. Rather, it excluded the reasonable possibility
that Thomas Woodson was the child of Thomas Jefferson or any other male member of
the Jefferson family, and it established the very strong probability that Sally’s youngest
son, Eston, was fathered by one of the more than two dozen adult Jefferson men who
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60. In reality, a number of other Jefferson relatives might have been at Monticello when Eston
was conceived. George Jefferson, for example, served as the President’s agent in Richmond, and pre-
sumably visited Monticello often to discuss business or simply for a family visit. While the Monticello
Report asserts there were no known visits by George Jefferson to Monticello, Cynthia Burton’s re-
search reveals that is not the case. See Jefferson to Callender, Sept. 6, 1799, in 9 The Works of Thomas
Jefferson 82 (Fed. Ed. 1905) (“Mr. Jefferson happens to be here . . .” — a clear reference to George
Jefferson.) Another letter, ironically also involving Callender, places George Jefferson back at Monti-
cello in April 1801. In a letter dated April 27, 1801, Callender informed James Madison that George
Jefferson had hand-delivered a letter from him to Jefferson at Monticello earlier that month. Quoted
in Worthington Chauncey Ford, Thomas Jefferson and James Thomson Callender, 51 New-England
Historical and Genealogical Register 153–54 (Apr. 1897). But it is correct that, in the absence
of some other purpose, Thomas Jefferson did not normally make a record of the visits to Monticello
by close friends and relatives.

61. See Chapter Eleven.

were in Virginia at the time he was conceived. As will be discussed in Chapter Ten, there
is documentary evidence to support the conclusion that at least seven Jefferson men may
well have been present at Monticello when Eston was conceived; and apparently no evi-
dence one way or the other concerning the whereabouts of the remaining theoretical sus-
pects.60 Because of his advanced age (sixty four), health, and character, Thomas Jefferson
may arguably have been the least likely of the group to have fathered a child by Sally Hem-
ings61 — although some of the relatives lived sufficiently far away from Monticello to be
less likely candidates on that basis alone. But the DNA tests clearly show that it is possi-
ble that Thomas Jefferson was Eston’s father. Since the tests do not address the issue of the
paternity of Sally’s other children, they tell us nothing at all about that paternity.
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1. The two arguable exceptions to this are 1873 articles in the Pike County [Ohio] Republican al-
leging to report the recollections of former Monticello slaves Madison Hemings and Israel Jefferson.
As will be discussed in greater detail in Chapter Four, both statements are filled with factual inaccu-
racies, and were actually written by an anti-Jefferson journalist of minimal credibility. While Israel does
claim that “Mr. Jefferson was on the most intimate terms with [Sally],” and seeks to confirm Sally’s
son Madison Hemings’ assertion that Jefferson was his father, he adds that he “did not positively
know” the truth of the situation. His statement does not allege that he ever personally witnessed any
“intimacy” between them.

2. See Chapter Four.

2

The Enigmatic Sally Hemings:
So Few Facts,  So Much Fantasy 
and Speculation

Several books have been written about Sally Hemings, and Hollywood has provided
us with movies and a miniseries showing a beautiful young slave girl and the dashing
American diplomat and President dancing across the social scenes of Paris and embrac-
ing in the White House. The miniseries portrays a powerful Sally Hemings ordering Mon-
ticello overseer Edmund Bacon to escort unwanted white visitors off the plantation. 

Is this fact or fantasy? The truth is that we really do not know, but there is not the
slightest bit of reliable historical evidence to support a finding that Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings ever so much as held hands in Paris or anywhere else, nor is there any ev-
idence Sally Hemings ever got within fifty miles of Washington, D.C. 

The 1998 DNA tests discussed in Chapter One have undermined the 1802 James Cal-
lender charge that there was a twelve-year-old slave child named “Tom” at Monticello, con-
ceived by Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings in Paris in 1789 and closely resembling
President Jefferson in physical appearance. There is not a single eyewitness account by
anyone clearly linking Thomas Jefferson romantically to Sally Hemings, not from one of
the hundreds of slaves who were owned by Jefferson over the years,1 nor from any of the
thousands of visitors who swarmed over Monticello when Thomas Jefferson was home. Both
Thomas Jefferson and his family denied the allegations. No one has found any record in
which any person claimed that Sally Hemings ever alleged that her relationship with Thomas
Jefferson ever went beyond that of master-slave, even during the years after Jefferson’s
death, when she lived for nearly a decade as a free woman in Charlottesville; nor did any
but one of her children leave a record of making such an assertion, and in that instance
he waited until Jefferson had been dead nearly fifty years, and the statement attributed to
him is clearly inaccurate on several key points.2 Edmund Bacon, the Monticello overseer
during most of Jefferson’s presidency and retirement years, both denied the allegations of
Jefferson’s paternity and stated that he had often personally witnessed another man leav-
ing Sally’s room early in the morning while he was arriving for work. 
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3. Former Monticello resident director James A. Bear, Jr., correctly notes the irony that “less is
known of the well-known Sally Hemings than of many of her brothers and sisters.” James A. Bear, Jr.,
The Hemings Family of Monticello, Virginia Cavalcade, Autumn 1979 at 84.

4. Some use the year 1774, but since Jefferson’s Farm Book includes an entry saying he received
Sally on January 14, 1774, and giving her year of birth as 1773, the later date is almost certainly wrong.
Role of the slaves of John Wayles which were allotted to T.J. in right of his wife on a division of the estate.
Jan. 14, 1774, in Thomas Jefferson: The Garden and Farm Books 227 (Robert C. Baron, ed. 1987).

5. Id.
6. Lucia Stanton, Free Some Day: The African-American Families of Monticello 103 (2000).
7. The first public reference to the allegation of which I am aware was by Jefferson’s Georgia Fed-

eralist enemy Thomas Gibbons, who is discussed further in Chapter Nine. There is no reason to be-
lieve that Gibbons would have had any knowledge of the facts in this matter. In preparation for their
book Anatomy of a Scandal, genealogists Rebecca and James McMurry spent several years research-
ing John Wayles, and concluded: “We simply found no hints of John Wayles’s being involved in such
a relationship, and we found strong, though not incontrovertible, evidence against it.” Rebecca L. Mc-
Murry & James F. McMurry, Jr, Anatomy of a Scandal xviii (2002). Former Monticello guide
White McKenzie Wallenborn asserts that Sally was born at Guinea Plantation in southeast Cumber-
land County, which was about three days’ travel from Wayles’ plantation, The Forest. Dr. Wallenborn
notes that John Wayles was not in good health for the last few years of his life, and the trip to Guinea
Plantation where Betty and Sally Hemings lived would have been too stressful for a man of his age and
health. (E-mail from White McKenzie Wallenborn to Bob Turner, Mar. 31, 2002, 6:41 PM, Subject:
TJ letter.) I not only remain an agnostic on the matter, but I do not see it as being at all critical to this
issue and I have little interest in knowing the answer.

But one could, of course, also argue a different conclusion from the same absence of
material evidence. There is no clear proof that “Tom and Sally” did not dance in Paris or
Washington. There is no proof she was not pregnant when she returned to Virginia in
1789. Other than the case of Thomas Woodson, the slave child alleged to have been born
to Sally shortly after she returned from France (who has been positively excluded as the
child of Thomas or any other Jefferson male by a half dozen DNA tests), there is no proof
that Thomas Jefferson did not father all of Sally’s children. We have almost no informa-
tion about Sally Hemings, and this has permitted speculation to run rampant and to re-
place the normal tools of scholarly research.

Indeed, the most remarkable fact associated with this entire inquiry is probably how
little we really know about Sally Hemings.3 If we exclude the various lists of slaves in Jef-
ferson’s records — recording such things as the distribution of food, bedding, and cloth-
ing over the years (in which Sally and her children are treated exactly like other members
of her family) — everything we reliably know about Sally Hemings can be printed on an
index card (see Figure 5 on the next page).

Sally’s Birth and Arrival at Monticello

The most reliable evidence suggests that Sally Hemings was born on an unknown date
in 17734 to Betty Hemings, a slave belonging to Thomas Jefferson’s father-in-law John
Wayles, and became Jefferson’s property the next year following Wayles’ death. These facts
are recorded in Jefferson’s Farm Book.5

It is commonly asserted today that Sally’s father was John Wayles himself, which would
have made her half-sister to Jefferson’s wife Martha. There is nothing in the Jefferson
records to document this,6 but it is the type of delicate matter that might well not have
been recorded on paper. The issue is not critical to our inquiry,7 but if true it might pro-
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Daughter of Betty Hemings • born 1773, inherited by Jeffersons 1774 • arrived at Mon-
ticello c. 1775 • stayed with TJ’s in-laws after TJ went to Paris until she accompanied
Mary (Polly) to Paris in 1787 at age 13 or 14 • ship captain said she was immature,
and Abigail Adams added Sally was “wholly incapable” of babysitting 8-year-old Mary
without supervision and “wants more care than the child,” but was “good natured” •
TJ purchased clothes, a smallpox vaccination, and gave Sally a small salary while in France
• spent 5 weeks boarding with Mrs. Dupré in 1789 • returned to Monticello with Jef-
fersons in 1789 to become house servant • often spoke of her trip to Paris • away from
Monticello and said to have been ill in Sept. 1790 • had 5 known children (perhaps as
many as 7), four lived to adulthood, youngest fathered by man with Jefferson family
Y chromosome • TJ’s distribution lists (for food, clothing, etc.) and other records show
no “special treatment” as compared to other Hemingses and house servants • said to
be “mighty near white,” “decidedly good looking,” and “very handsome” with “long
straight hair” by two witnesses • alleged to be mistress of married man and “near re-
lation of Mr. Jefferson’s” • unidentified man other than TJ was reportedly witnessed leav-
ing her room early many mornings • not freed in TJ’s life or will, but listed as “free”
person in 1833 and perhaps 1830 censuses • may have died around 1835. 1873 news-
paper claimed Madison Hemings and a friend said TJ fathered all of her children.

Figure 5. What We Believe We Know about Sally Hemings. Virtually everything that we
believe we know about Sally Hemings—from Thomas Jefferson’s Farm Book, Memoran-
dum Books, letters, and from surviving accounts of eyewitnesses like overseer Edmund Bacon,
former slave Isaac Jefferson, and other members of the Monticello community—can be
recorded on a 3¥5 index card. I have excluded allegations from people like Callender and
Gibbons (who had no direct knowledge when they labeled Sally a “slut” and a “prosti-
tute”), as well as the 1873 assertions attributed by Samuel Wetmore to sixty-eight-year-
old Madison Hemings about events that could only have occurred more than a decade before
Hemings’ birth. For reasons of credibility discussed in Chapter Four, I’ve also excluded
Israel Jefferson’s alleged statement to Wetmore that Sally was Thomas Jefferson’s “cham-
bermaid.” But even if we included those and I’ve missed a few other references, they could
easily be included on the reverse side of the index card. I’ve also excluded known infor-
mation that tells us little of relevance to our inquiry, such as the names of Sally’s chil-
dren, siblings, and other known relatives.

8. Until 1847, the only evidence of John Wayles’ paternity of Sally seems to have come from Thomas
Jefferson’s political enemies Thomas Gibbons and Thomas Turner, probably reporting rumors or
speculation. (A useful summary of this issue appears in Monticello Report, Appendix F at 6.) That
year, in what may be the most important evidence in support of such a relationship, former slave
Isaac Jefferson said “Folks said that these Hemingses was old Mr. Wayles’s children.” (Jefferson at
Monticello 4 [James A. Bear, Jr., ed., 1967].) Then, in 1873, Sally’s son Madison Hemings alleged
that, after his wife died, John Wales [sic] took Betty Hemings as his “concubine” and fathered six of
her children. This article is discussed in Chapter Four. While Sally Hemings may well have been John
Wayles’ daughter, these rumors and political attacks hardly constitute persuasive proof of that fact.

vide additional reasons for Thomas Jefferson to give favorable treatment to Sally, her sib-
lings, and presumably their children.8

We know essentially nothing else about Sally until 1787. Jefferson’s wife Martha died
four months after giving birth to their daughter Lucy in 1782, and, when Jefferson was
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9. In addition to Sally Hemings, a quick perusal of the Farm Book reveals the following: In 1777
Will and Abby had a Sally at Shadwell and a Sal was born at Bedford. The following year Sue had a
Sally at Elk Hill. In 1788 Kate gave birth to a Sally. A Sally was born on the Tufton farm and another
to Molly at Bedford. Jenny and Lewis had a “Sally” in 1792, and in 1797 a “Sall” at Lego passed away
who reportedly was born about 1735. In 1798 Jenny and Lewis had their Sally, and Hanna named her
new baby Sally as well. We also have Aggy’s Sally, born in 1812. This doesn’t include the Sally who ap-
parently accompanied Jefferson’s sister, Anna Scott Marks, on a visit. See Thomas Jefferson: The Gar-
den and Farm Books 240, 244–246, 248, 300, 383–84, 387, 389–90, 446, 465, 469, 471. This may
not include every “Sally,” nor am I certain that some of these entries do not refer to the same “Sally.”

10. Id. at 390.
11. To add to the confusion, Thomas Jefferson’s brother and favorite grandson were named, re-

spectively, Randolph Jefferson and Jefferson Randolph. While the grandson went by the name “Jeff,”
his full name was Thomas Jefferson Randolph, which causes still more confusion because his father
(daughter Martha’s husband) was Thomas Mann Randolph, who had a half-brother also named
Thomas Mann Randolph. Both Thomas Mann Randolph and Thomas Jefferson Randolph were oc-
casionally referred to as “Col. Randolph.”

appointed U.S. Minister to France and set forth across the Atlantic in July 1784, he was
accompanied by his eleven-year-old daughter Martha and a single slave (James Hemings,
older brother to Sally). 

One of the challenges when studying the Jefferson family is keeping track of the play-
ers. Martha, the President’s eldest daughter, not only shared her mother’s first name
(also the name of one of Thomas Jefferson’s sisters) but was also known as Patsy. Daugh-
ter number two went by Mary, Maria, and Polly at various times. From entries in the
Farm Book, there appear to have been nearly a dozen different slaves named “Sally” or
“Sal” over the years at Monticello9; and, in 1815, a slave identified as “Will’s Sal” gave
birth to a daughter named “Harriet”10 —the same name Sally Hemings gave to two of her
own daughters. Although none of them came close to fitting the description provided by
James Callender in 1802, over the years there were several “Toms” among Jefferson’s
slaves.11

It is believed that Sally and her family moved to Monticello around 1775, and by 1787 she
was living at “Eppington,” the Chesterfield County home of Martha Jefferson’s sister Eliza-
beth and her husband Francis Eppes. They had agreed to care for Jefferson’s daughters Polly
and Lucy while their father was serving as U.S. Minister to France. When Thomas Jefferson
learned that two-year-old Lucy had died of whooping cough, he instructed the Eppes to
send Polly to Paris in the company of someone like Isabel Herne, a much older slave than
Sally Hemings, to care for his eight-year-old daughter on the five-week voyage across the At-
lantic. However, Isabel was suffering from complications from childbirth at the time and
the Eppes decided instead to send thirteen- or fourteen-year-old Sally Hemings to accom-
pany Polly. 

Abigail Adams’ Observations about Sally Hemings

About the only credible information we have about Sally’s maturity and talents comes
from two letters written by Abigail Adams to Thomas Jefferson after Polly and Sally arrived
in London en route to Paris in the summer of 1787. Polly and Sally lived with the Adams
family for three weeks. Mrs. Adams, whose husband was serving as U.S. Minister to Great
Britain and whose “sharp intellect” is acknowledged even by champions of the “Sally”
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12. See, e.g., Fawn M. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History 238 (1974); Joseph J.
Ellis, American Sphinx 85 (1996).

13. Abigail Adams to Thomas Jefferson, June 26, 1787, in 11 The Papers of Thomas Jefferson
502 (Julian P. Boyd, ed., 1955).

14. Id., June 27, 1787, at 503. While Fawn Brodie attempts to dismiss Captain Ramsay’s negative
comments about Sally Hemings’ talents by assuming he wished to ravish her on the trip back to Amer-
ica, an even more “creative” approach is found in E. M. Halliday’s post-DNA volume Understanding
Thomas Jefferson (which appropriately is dedicated to “the memory of Fawn Brodie”). He notes that
Abigail Adams estimated that Sally was “about 15 or 16,” and concludes:

[T]he most sensible interpretation of Abigail’s overestimate of Sally’s age—for she was only
fourteen—is that the girl was already physically a woman, with well-developed breasts that
must have been obvious despite her nondescript shipboard attire. It must have made Mrs.
Adams nervous to think of this nubile creature living under the same roof in Paris with a
master who, she was aware, loved attractive young women and had been without a sexual
partner (as far as she knew) for a long time now.
Being Abigail, she took action, or at least made a stab at it. She found a willing ally in Cap-
tain Ramsay. . . . After consulting with him, she sat down and wrote Jefferson to bring him
up to date on Polly’s state of mind. . . . [I]t is an index of Abigail’s apparent apprehension
about having Sally join the household in Paris that . . . she was so ready to block a brother-
sister reunion. . . .

E. M. Halliday, Understanding Thomas Jefferson 86–87 (2001).
Professor Fawn Brodie would no doubt have loved the approach, which to its credit at least avoids

the stereotyping of Captain Ramsay. But being one year off in estimating Sally’s age hardly warrants
such a complex explanation, and there is not the slightest bit of historical evidence to support it.
There is certainly no reason to assume that Abigail Adams thought Thomas Jefferson had a special fond-
ness for “young” (teenaged) women. The youngest women we do know he was attracted to during
that period of his life were roughly twice the age of Sally Hemings. It may be worth noting that a
Monticello slave who knew Sally at the time she left for Paris estimated her age to be “about eleven
years old” at the time. See Memoirs of a Monticello Slave, reprinted in Jefferson at Monti-
cello 4. As will be discussed, Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon described Sally as “a little girl”
when she left for Paris.

15. Abigail Adams to Thomas Jefferson, July 6, 1787, in 11 The Papers of Thomas Jefferson 551
(1955).

16. Polly reached her ninth birthday shortly after arriving in Paris.
17. Ten days after arriving in the comfort of the Adams home in London, Polly was still so upset

that Abigail Adams told her father: “[S]he last evening . . . was thrown into all her former distresses,
and bursting into Tears, told me it would be as hard to leave me as it was her Aunt Epps [sic]. She has

story,12 wrote Jefferson on June 26 that Polly had arrived safely and was accompanied by
a “Girl” who was the sister of the servant (James Hemings) Jefferson had taken to Paris.13

The following day, Mrs. Adams wrote again, this time advising Thomas Jefferson that
Andrew Ramsay, the ship captain who brought Polly from Virginia, had expressed the
view that Sally was not a capable caregiver: “The Girl who is with her is quite a child, and
Captain Rams[a]y is of opinion will be of so little Service that he had better carry her back
with him. But of this you will be a judge. She seems fond of the child and appears good
natured.”14 After having had ten days to observe the two children, on July 6 Abigail Adams
added in another letter: “The Girl she has with her, wants more care than the child, and
is wholly incapable of looking properly after her, without some superiour to direct her.”15

The only surviving observation by someone who had been in a position to directly
observe Sally Hemings’ behavior (a qualification excluding the allegations of James Cal-
lender and Federalist activists who had apparently never even seen Sally) to comment
upon her abilities was thus Abigail Adams — a woman of remarkable intelligence and
judgment, who certainly had no sympathy for slavery — and she recorded that at the age
of thirteen or fourteen Sally Hemings needed more care than an eight-year-old16 who was
so emotionally distraught she was clinging to all around her.17 From her letters, it is clear
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been so often deceived that she will not quit me for a moment lest she should be carried away. Nor
can I scarcely prevail upon her to see [Jefferson’s servant] Petit.” Abigail Adams to Thomas Jefferson,
July 6, 1787, in 11 The Papers of Thomas Jefferson 551.

18. Jefferson to Elizabeth Wayles Eppes, July 28, 1787, in id. at 634.
19. Jefferson at Monticello 4.
20. Reprinted in id. at 100.
21. Id. at 102.
22. Id.
23. Id.
24. The “sister” may have been Betsey Hemings, who belonged to the Eppes family.
25. Quoted in Stanton, Free Some Day 114.

that Captain Ramsay—in whose judgment Thomas Jefferson also apparently placed con-
fidence18 — shared that view.

That’s basically it. Other than listing her name among other slaves for the distribution of
blankets, food, and the like, and a few passing references in letters or other documents, the
only other known surviving accounts of Sally Hemings focus on her physical appearance. 

In 1847, Charles W. Campbell took down the recollections of a former Monticello slave
and blacksmith named Isaac, who provided the following account of Sally Hemings:

Sally Hemings’ mother Betty was a bright mulatto woman, and Sally mighty near
white; she was the youngest child. . . . Sally was very handsome, long straight hair
down her back. She was about eleven years old when Mr. Jefferson [sic] took her
to France to wait on Miss Polly. She and Sally went out to France a year after Mr.
Jefferson went. Patsy went with him at first, but she carried no maid with her.
Harriet, one of Sally’s daughters, was very handsome. Sally had a son named
Madison, who learned to be a great fiddler.19

About fifteen years later, Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon recalled his memories of
nearly two decades at Monticello and mentioned Sally Hemings. He wrote: 

Sally Hemings went to France with Maria Jefferson when she was a little girl.
Mr. Jefferson was Minister to France, and he wanted to put her in school there.
They crossed the ocean alone. I have often heard her tell about it. When they
got to London, they stayed with Mr. Adams, who was Minister there, until Mr.
Jefferson came or sent for them.20

It may (or may not) be significant that Bacon does not praise Sally for her competence
or the quality of her work. When he writes of Martha Jefferson Randolph’s slave nurse,
Ursula, he speaks of how much Jefferson’s grandchildren were attached to her, calling her
“Mammy.” Sally’s brother John Hemings was praised as “a first-rate workman” who “could
make anything that was wanted in woodwork.”21 Sally’s nephews Joe Fossett and Burwell
Colbert were, respectively, described as “a very fine workman”22 and “a fine painter.”23

But Sally—who Hollywood and some scholars would have us believe was Thomas Jefferson’s
constant companion and closest confidant — is remembered only as someone who once
traveled to Paris and later spoke about it.

The only other first-hand description we have of Sally Hemings is from President Jef-
ferson’s favorite grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph, who in 1852 reportedly com-
mented to historian Henry Randall that Sally and one of her sisters24 were both “light
colored and decidedly good looking.”25

Edmund Bacon’s recollection that Sally liked to talk about her voyage to France is also
the only surviving record that clearly recounts any statement ever made by Sally Hemings.
Beyond knowing that Sally often mentioned Paris, there is not a single scrap of paper
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26. In addition to having no surviving writings by Sally Hemings, her son Madison reportedly
stated that he learned to read by persuading Jefferson’s white grandchildren to teach him his letters.
(See Chapter Four.) Had Sally been literate, one might have expected her to play some role in teach-
ing her children to read and write.

27. Monticello Report, Appendix F at 2.
28. On the other hand, it may be significant that Madison is not quoted as attributing his stories

to his mother. If he based them on Callender’s allegations or derivative stories, or even made them
up, he might have been reluctant to attribute them to his deceased mother. Then again, perhaps he
did attribute them to Sally and this point did not make it into the Wetmore article. Once again, we
simply do not know.

29. See Chapter Four.
30. Joseph J. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA, 57 William & Mary Q. 127 (Jan. 2000).
31. Id.
32. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 467.
33. Dumas Malone, Jefferson and the Rights of Man 136 (1951). Adams says she arrived on

July 16. William Howard Adams, The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson 220 (1997).
34. Eric S. Lander & Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Father, Nature Nov. 5, 1998, vol. 396, issue no.

6706 at 13.

known to contain anything ever written by Sally Hemings (indeed, there is serious doubt
about whether she was literate26), and there are “no accounts of any statements made by
her.”27 It is reasonable to assume that Sally might28 have been the source for some of the
statements attributed to her son Madison in the 1873 story in the Pike County Republi-
can, which is discussed in Chapter Four. But Madison does not attribute the informa-
tion specifically to his mother, and both some of the vocabulary used and the identical
misspelling of a name suggest that James Callender’s or Thomas Turner’s writings may di-
rectly or indirectly have been the source for some of the statements attributed to Madi-
son Hemings.29

Historian Joseph Ellis, one of the preeminent scholars to embrace the belief that Thomas
Jefferson fathered Sally’s children, has acknowledged in a recent issue of the William &
Mary Quarterly that—except for Madison’s statement—the “historical record is almost
completely blank” about Sally Hemings.30 He writes that “nothing in the vast historical lit-
erature, sheds any light on the character of the relationship between Jefferson and Sally
Hemings.”31 We do not know exactly when she was born or died, where her body was
buried, or—as Professor Fawn Brodie has conceded—anything at all about her personal
“feelings.”32 Yet most Americans would be shocked at this reality, as Hollywood and creative
scholars have painted a far more detailed portrait based almost entirely on speculation and
fantasy.

Sally Hemings in Paris

We know that Sally Hemings and Polly Jefferson arrived in Paris in the middle of July
1787.33 We know that Sally returned to Virginia with Jefferson and his daughters when his
diplomatic service came to an end, and that they arrived back at Monticello on Decem-
ber 23, 1789. Beyond that, with some very minor and often ambiguous exceptions, Pro-
fessors Lander and Ellis were correct in noting, in their Nature commentary that
accompanied the Foster DNA report, that “[t]here is no evidence of what transpired” in
Paris involving Sally Hemings.34

Professor William Howard Adams, in his 1997 The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson, pro-
vides this accurate summary of what is known about Sally Hemings during her stay in Paris:
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35. Adams, The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson 221.
36. Ellis, American Sphinx 82.
37. See, e.g., Edward Dumbauld, Thomas Jefferson: American Tourist 63 (1946); George Green

Shackelford, Thomas Jefferson’s Travels in Europe 13 (1995).
38. The use of the term “fantasy” here is not intended to exclude the possibility that Thomas Jef-

ferson and Sally Hemings found each other attractive or even produced children together, but rather
refers to the romantic tale of “Sally” and “Tom” dancing across Paris and Washington that is so con-
trary to known evidence as to be almost certainly untrue. Surely, had such an “affair” been so indis-
creet, someone would have made note of it for history.

39. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 163.
40. Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on Thomas Jefferson and

Sally Hemings, Jan. 2000 (hereinafter referred to as Monticello Report) Appendix H at 2.

[T]he evidence is meager. Apart from nine notations in Jefferson’s Memorandum
Book recording purchases of clothing, her servant’s pay, and a fee for smallpox vac-
cination, Sally Hemings is completely absent from the Paris record. We know noth-
ing of her living arrangements or duties at the rue de Berri. . . . She was known to
at least one of Polly Jefferson’s classmates at the convent, and there has been reasonable
speculation that she acted as maid for the Jefferson girls while they were in school.35

There is indeed some logic in assuming that Sally spent most of her Paris experience at
the Abbaye Royale de Panthemont on the rue de Grenelle, the convent school where Martha
and Polly Jefferson resided (“except on special weekends”36) most of the time they were in
Paris, along with daughters of other socially prominent Paris residents.37 She was, schol-
ars seem to agree, charged with serving as the children’s maid; and Jefferson already had
a full staff of servants at the Hôtel de Langeac, his cramped Paris residence on the Champs-
Elysées, before Sally arrived. The problem with assuming Sally would remain near the
daughters whom it was her purpose to serve as a ladies’ maid is that this makes it difficult
to sustain the “Tom and Sally” fantasy38 of which many people seem to have grown so fond.

Professor Gordon-Reed almost appears to use the lack of any information to assume
that Sally would have spent her days lounging around Jefferson’s residence in a gown of
fine French lace, nibbling on fine chocolates while waiting for the start of another night
of passion (in the cramped, two-bedroom residence Jefferson shared with others). She as-
serts: “There probably was not much work for Sally Hemings to do during her stay in
France. Martha and Mary were boarding at school. Jefferson had been in Paris for three
years, and the residence already had a staff of servants.”39

Similarly, in its January 2000 report, the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Re-
search Committee asserted that, while in Paris, Sally “probably lived at Jefferson’s residence
on the Champs-Elysées, the Hôtel de Langeac,” but notes “it is also possible that she may
have lived with Jefferson’s daughters at their convent school, the Abbaye de Panthemont.”40

However, the official Monticello position both before and after the Monticello Report
was more consistent with the actual evidence. In a short 1989 biography of Sally Hem-
ings on the Monticello web page, updated in 1994, Lucia C. Stanton wrote: “It is not
known whether Sally Hemings lived at Jefferson’s residence, the Hotel de Langeac, or at
the Abbaye de Panthemont, where Martha (Patsy) and Mary (Maria) Jefferson were board-
ing students.” More recently, in her 2000 book, Free Some Day, Ms. Stanton wrote:

Escorted by Jefferson’s French butler, the two girls [Polly and Sally] arrived in
Paris on July 15, 1787. Polly Jefferson immediately joined her sister, Martha (Patsy),
at the Abbaye de Panthemont, a fashionable convent school with a number of
English as well as French students. It is not known whether Sally Hemings lived
at the convent or at the Hôtel de Langeac, Jefferson’s residence on the Champs-
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Elysées. It was not uncommon for the servants of boarding students to continue
to attend their mistresses in the Abbaye and some of the Jefferson sisters’ school-
mates knew Sally well enough to send her greetings in their correspondence.41

Given these circumstances, one has to wonder why the Monticello Report declared it “prob-
able” that Sally did not accompany the daughters she was in Paris to serve when they went
to the convent — all the more so since the revisionists seem to agree there would have
been no work for her to do at Jefferson’s residence and Sally was repeatedly mentioned
in letters between Martha and her schoolmate Marie de Boridoux.42

Other assertions about Sally’s life in Paris for which there does not appear to be the slight-
est serious evidence include Professor Brodie’s claim that Sally was in “daily contact” with
Thomas Jefferson43 (which would only have been likely if she had not accompanied the
daughters to the Abbaye, an issue that cannot be resolved with the available information);
and that she received “formal education” while in Paris.44 Consider this excerpt from Pro-
fessor Gordon-Reed’s book:

Brodie stated that soon after Hemings came to Paris, a French teacher named
Monsieur Perrault was engaged. It was apparently James Hemings who hired the
tutor. There is no indication from documents from France that Sally Hemings
was included in the lessons, although in later years one political enemy of Jefferson
referred to Hemings as having had the “benefits of a French education.” Though
the presence of a tutor does not support Fawn Brodie’s claim about Jefferson’s
feelings toward Hemings, it does illustrate the extraordinary things she was ex-
posed to as a young woman.

Sally Hemings, who had been entrusted with an assignment and had succeeded
in carrying out that assignment, was now living in an opulent residence, learn-
ing a new language (either formally or informally) and a new set of customs.45

None of this is seriously supported by evidence. Sally did arrive safely in Paris with Polly,
but if the evaluations of both Captain Andrew Ramsay and Abigail Adams are to be be-
lieved (and they are the only witnesses who we know observed and commented upon
Sally’s behavior at the time), she hardly distinguished herself in “carrying out that as-
signment.” The un-contradicted testimony is that Captain Ramsay took care of Polly while
at sea, and Abigail Adams did so while Polly and Sally stayed in London before Adrien Petit
arrived to escort them to Paris. We have no reason to believe Sally lived in “an opulent res-
idence” as opposed to the servants’ quarters at the convent, although that may possibly
have been true; and there is no credible46 evidence Sally was learning French in any mean-
ingful way. (James Hemings was learning to cook from French chefs, so his need to be able
to communicate in French was obvious. It is well documented that James did receive tu-
toring in French, but Sally’s name does not appear in any of those references.) 

Of course, there is also no clear proof that Sally was not being tutored in French, and per-
haps Italian and Chinese as well. Indeed, there is no proof Sally Hemings did not spend
most of her days teaching English literature to the people of Paris. But the almost total ab-
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sence of information does not make such speculation true, or even “probable.” The proper
answer is, with very few exceptions, we simply do not know what Sally Hemings did in Paris.

In fairness, there is some evidence that Sally may have received some “formal training”
during her stay in Paris. During the spring of 1789, Jefferson paid his launderer to board
Sally for more than a month. Speculation about the purpose of this entry in Jefferson’s
Memorandum Books ranges from a quarantine period away from his daughters while Sally
recovered from her smallpox vaccination to possibly training Sally at the laundry in the
proper care of fine fabrics.47 Since Martha was being presented to French society at the
time, the utility of Sally’s having such training may support the latter interpretation. But
we will likely never know if that is, in fact, the explanation.

Much of the modern speculation that Sally Hemings may have been “educated” in
Paris may come from a partisan letter written by a Georgia Federalist named Thomas
Gibbons, who will be discussed further in Chapter Nine. In 1802, Gibbons responded to
an inquiry by Federalist representative Jonathan Dayton, who was clearly searching for ev-
idence with which to attack the Republican President. There is no evidence that Thomas
Gibbons had ever seen Sally Hemings or even visited Monticello, but he did not hesitate
to assert that Sally Hemings was “the most abandoned prostitute of her color — pam-
pered into a lascivious course of life, with the benefits of a French education, she is more
lecherous than the other beasts of the Monticellian Mountain.”48

If so, the account may parallel the confusion caused by Fawn Brodie’s ignorance that the
expression “mulatto soil” was a geological term of art (also discussed in the Introduction and
Chapter Nine). I am informed, although I have not had an opportunity (or, for that mat-
ter, sufficient interest) to research the issue, that having the benefit of a “French education”
was a disparaging euphemism in the early nineteenth century, not for having engaged in ad-
vanced studies at the Sorbonne, but rather for a woman trained or skilled in the arts of sex-
ual pleasure (e.g., a prostitute). The context of the Gibbons charge would more reasonably
support such a meaning. Gibbons was not accusing Sally Hemings of being a highly edu-
cated, sophisticated woman, but rather clearly alleging she was “more lecherous than the other
beasts” at Monticello because of her alleged “French education.” Gibbons’ letter was pep-
pered with vicious racist stereotypes. While he admitted that he had never even seen any of
Sally’s children, he told Dayton: “That Jefferson lives in open defiance of all decent rule,
with a mulatto slave, his property, named Sally, is as correct as truth itself, and that his chil-
dren, to wit, Tom, Beverly & Harriot [sic] are flat nosed, thick lipped, and Tawny. . . .”49

Gibbons’ clear purpose was to make President Jefferson look bad. Presumably, Jeffer-
son’s alleged behavior might have been more forgivable to many people had Sally been
perceived as a slightly darker version of the educated and accomplished Maria Cosway or
Angelica Schuyler Church. It is unlikely that Gibbons knew anything beyond Callender’s
allegations about Sally’s life in Paris, and he had no motive to portray her in any favorable
light. Not only does the context strongly suggest an unusual meaning for “French educa-
tion,” but we know the word “French” was used during that era as a disparaging adjective
in a number of other bawdy euphemisms. Yet, in the absence of almost any reliable in-
formation about Sally Hemings, some scholars who seek support for the Jefferson-Hem-
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ings story find this sentence to be reliable evidence that Sally was formally “educated” in
France. 

Yet another assumption about Sally Hemings’ life in Paris that is widely presented as
fact is that she knew she had a legal right to freedom while in France. As will be discussed
in Chapter Four, Thomas Jefferson himself was unaware of this unwritten customary
practice of French law until well into his stay in Paris. And yet Professor Brodie writes:
“Both Sally and James Hemings knew they were free if they chose to make an issue of
it.”50 She attributes the statement to the 1873 Ohio newspaper article reporting on an al-
leged conversation with Sally’s son Madison (discussed in Chapter Four), but the article
gave no source for Madison’s statement and he was not born until more than fifteen years
after Sally returned from Paris. 

Similarly, the Monticello Report asserts that Sally and James “would almost certainly
have been aware of their right to freedom and the means to achieve it,” because “there was
a community of former slaves in Paris and freedom cases were brought and won in this pe-
riod.”51 Implicit in this reasoning appears to be an assumption that Sally and James “hung
out” with this “community of former slaves,” or perhaps that free servants of Patsy’s or
Polly’s friends at the convent would have known this and been willing to risk their own com-
fort by spreading dissension among the slaves of the powerful American Minister to France.
Perhaps this is true. But, once again, the real answer is that we simply do not know. 

The Monticello Report also clearly accepted as fact Madison Hemings’ allegation that his
mother confronted her powerful master in Paris and refused to return to Virginia (where all
of her American family and friends lived) unless Jefferson would agree to enter into a “treaty”
to free any children they might produce years in the future when the children reached the
age of twenty-one. Several statements in Madison’s article seem clearly false, and this one is
totally out of character with what we know about the personality of Thomas Jefferson and
what little we know about Sally Hemings. Yet Monticello research historian Lucia Stanton writes:

Madison Hemings’s allusions to the promises Jefferson made to his mother to
persuade her to leave France evoke a woman who, although limited by her race
and condition, exercised a measure of control over her own destiny. The several
references to Jefferson’s “promise,” “treaty,” and “solemn pledge” even suggest
Sally Hemings’s strength and agency at other times in her life, condensed for the
sake of transmitting a story into the single negotiation over the return to Vir-
ginia. In Madison Hemings’s account, his mother’s actions were driven by con-
cern for the welfare of her children. . . . 52

Now, every word of this may be true. Perhaps Sally Hemings was this precocious, prescient,
powerful feminist role model who confronted the American Minister to France and “ne-
gotiated” special privileges for the children she anticipated she might bear some years in
the future. Otherwise, we are assured, she was going to demand her freedom and remain
in France. And yet, in these remarkable “negotiations,” Sally Hemings apparently did not
bother to ask for her own freedom in the event of her alleged lover’s death — when her
value as a slave would presumably have been minimal and without which she might have
been subjected to abusive treatment of various kinds by a new owner. Indeed, it seems
more than a little strange — if Sally’s desire to have her own freedom was so great she
would abandon her home, family, and friends in Virginia to commence a new life in a for-
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eign land that was on the brink of a bloody revolution — that Sally would not have both-
ered to include any provision for her own eventual manumission in the “treaty” she al-
legedly compelled Jefferson to accept. 

It is said that Madison’s “treaty” story is confirmed by the fact that Thomas Jefferson
freed all of Sally’s children when they reached the age of twenty-one, but in Chapter Six
we show that this widely believed assertion is clearly false. Indeed, as will be discussed,
the only two of Sally’s children to be legally manumitted by Thomas Jefferson in his will
were treated less favorably than all of the other children and grandchildren of Sally’s
mother who were freed during his life or in his will. And, as will also be discussed in
Chapter Six, all but two of Betty Hemings’ sons and grandsons who remained Thomas
Jefferson’s property at the time of his death were given their freedom in his will, and the
two exceptions gained freedom shortly thereafter.

Sally Hemings at Monticello

Our knowledge of Sally Hemings after she returned to Monticello is equally barren. Con-
trary to the Hollywood version of the story, there is not the slightest bit of evidence she
ever lived in the Monticello big house.53 Jefferson’s grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph,
reportedly showed historian Henry Randall “a smoke blackened and sooty room” away from
the mansion and asserted it was Sally’s room.54 There is some speculation that she may
have shared a small stone house with her sister Critta, and then lived in a twelve- by four-
teen-foot log cabin on the plantation.55

There is no known document including a single quotation attributed to Sally Hem-
ings, nor any document known to contain so much as one word written by her hand.
Had she been literate, one might have thought she would have attempted to teach her
children to read; yet Madison in 1873 reportedly stated “I learned to read by inducing
the white children to teach me the letters. . . .”56 Still, the absence of serious informa-
tion means we cannot prove that Sally was not literate in several languages. We just do
not know.

Hollywood movies portray Sally dancing with the President at the White House.
Thomas Jefferson took nearly a dozen Monticello slaves to the White House,57 but there
is not a bit of evidence that Sally was ever one of them. On the contrary, the Monti-
cello overseer at the time asserted that Sally remained at Monticello during Jefferson’s
presidency.58

Then there is the issue of whether Sally served as Thomas Jefferson’s “chambermaid” at
Monticello. Without any citation, Professor Gordon-Reed asserts: “There is evidence that
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Hemings was Jefferson’s chambermaid.”59 Similarly, the Monticello Report asserts that from
the “1790s to 1827,” Sally Hemings was employed as a “chambermaid and seamstress.”60 In
response to an inquiry about the foundation for this statement, Lucia Stanton wrote:
“Madison Hemings’s and Israel Jefferson’s [1873] statements are the only references to
Sally Hemings as Jefferson’s chambermaid. Ellen Coolidge in 1858 wrote that ‘no female
domestic ever entered [Jefferson’s] chambers except at hours when he was known not to
be in the public gaze.’ . . .”61 Although not cited to any specific source, this quotation was
obviously taken from the altered transcription of Ellen Randolph Coolidge’s hand-written
letter that appears as Appendix E of Professor Gordon-Reed’s Thomas Jefferson and Sally
Hemings.62 As Figure 3 on page 36 reveals, counting both words that were deleted and
those moved within the sentence, the Gordon-Reed transcription of this sentence includes
nearly a dozen alterations that have the effect of reversing the clear meaning of the origi-
nal letter.

The numerous shortcomings of the 1873 statements attributed to Madison Hemings
and Israel Jefferson are addressed in Chapter Four. As will be shown, there are enough prob-
lems with both statements to warrant serious skepticism about allegations that are not con-
sistent with other evidence. Even Professor Brodie admits that Jefferson’s “body servant”
or “valet” was always a male: “Jupiter, who accompanied him to William & Mary; James
Hemings, his valet in Paris; and Burwell, who attended him to his death. . . .”63

Does this mean that Sally Hemings could not have been a “chambermaid” at Monti-
cello? Of course not. We know so little about Sally’s role at Monticello that it is theoret-
ically possible that she was a blacksmith. Further, it seems clear that other slaves besides
Burwell Colbert had at least occasional access to his bedroom. Jefferson’s grandson refers
to “the person who cleaned and made his bed,”64 and perhaps that could have been Sally
Hemings or one of her sisters. We will probably never know. 

One might speculate that, given the Callender stories and the constant stream of
strangers visiting Monticello most of the time Thomas Jefferson was at home, neither he,
nor Martha, nor Burwell would have wanted to encourage further rumors by assigning
Sally to make his bed. Even if the Sally story were true, and Thomas Jefferson was en-
gaged in a long-term secret love affair with his slave, one might think he would have had
enough discretion to assign a different servant the task of making his bed given the large
numbers of relative strangers staying in the house at any given time. But all of this is mere
speculation, and, unless new evidence surfaces, we may never know the truth. 

Thomas Jefferson’s Known Statements 
about Sally Hemings

Thomas Jefferson was a prolific writer with a refined sense of history. Long before the
world had computers, photocopying machines, or even carbon paper, Thomas Jefferson
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painstakingly copied most of his letters in longhand to preserve a record for posterity (or,
perhaps, for his own future reference). His burden was eased when he acquired a “poly-
graph” machine that made simultaneous copies of his letters with a duplicate quill. When
he died, he left behind some 65,000 documents, including approximately 50,000 letters
he had written or received over the years. 

In 1997, Princeton University Press published two volumes of Jefferson’s Memoran-
dum Books containing more than 1400 pages of notes made during the last six decades
of his life. Some of the entries are so trivial as to be almost amusing — recording in-
significant financial transactions of a dollar here or a quarter there. It is tempting to
assume that Jefferson kept a record of every event in his life, but that is not close to
being true. Some of his financial notes seem so trivial as to defy any rational attempt
to explain his criteria for inclusion, but in general he presumably tended to record or
write about things he found interesting or remarkable. He made copious notes in his
Garden Book and Farm Book, and yet visits to Monticello by close friends and family
members often went unrecorded — a situation we will address in more detail in Chap-
ter Ten.

The Hemings family played an important role in Jefferson’s life, and this is reflected
in his numerous references to them in various documents. Sally’s brother James Hem-
ings, for example, is mentioned 175 times in the Memorandum Books and references to
James take up 33 lines in the index.65 Her brother Robert is included roughly half as
often.66

In contrast, Sally Hemings is far less prominent in the Jefferson Memorandum Books.
There are three references to Jefferson buying clothes for her in Paris,67 a notation of two
dollars spent on a midwife for Sally when Harriet was born,68 a reference to a payment
to a “Dr. Sutton” for inoculating Sally for smallpox after she arrived in Paris,69 and a pay-
ment in 1789 to a Mrs. Dupré for “5. weeks board of Sally.”70 (As noted, one can only
speculate about the reason for this expense, but it may have been so Sally could be trained
to care for fine French fabrics, as Martha Jefferson was becoming more active in French
society and was acquiring a more sophisticated wardrobe.) In addition, Sally’s name is
included in five lists of Jefferson’s Paris servants who received wages paid through Adrien
Petit, the maître d’hôtel Jefferson had inherited from John and Abigail Adams; but it is note-
worthy that Sally’s wages were only half that of her brother James and one-fifth that of
the average French servant.71 But that is it, as far as the Memorandum Books go, and they
ultimately tell us very little about Sally Hemings.72

Jefferson’s Farm Book provides little additional insight. Sally Hemings and her chil-
dren are included on many lists of Jefferson’s slaves, ranging from records prepared for
tax purposes to lists noting which slaves received blankets, clothing, or other supplies at
a particular time. The only clear conclusion we can draw from this is that Sally was treated
exactly like the other members of the Hemings family, which is to say she received significantly
better treatment than most Monticello slaves.
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Nor do we learn about Sally Hemings from Thomas Jefferson’s voluminous corre-
spondence. In literally tens of thousands of letters, Jefferson made reference to Sally Hem-
ings only four or five times. Professor Gordon-Reed mentions three of these. In 1799
Jefferson informed his son-in-law John Wayles Eppes that “Maria’s maid” (possibly Sally
Hemings, but I believe this unlikely73) had given birth to a child,74 and three years later
he wrote two letters during a measles epidemic saying that “if Bet or Sally’s children” came
down with the illness they should be sent to stay with their grandmother Betty Hemings
further away from the big house.75

Professor Gordon-Reed missed at least76 two other letters. Around November 1790, Jef-
ferson wrote overseer Nicholas Lewis that his two daughters, and Martha’s husband Thomas
Mann Randolph, “are to be furnished with whatever the plantations will furnish. . . .”77 After
a list of examples (“corn, fodder, wheat . . . fire-wood,” etc.), he adds: “They are to have also
the use of the house-servants, to wit, Ursula, Critta, Sally, Bet, Wormeley and Joe. So also
of Betty Hemings, should her services be necessary.”78 (See Figure 6 on the next page.)

Several comments may be in order about this note. If Sally Hemings was Thomas Jef-
ferson’s true love who had recently given birth to his child, would he have included her
in this list of servants to be assigned to wait on Thomas Mann Randolph and others?
Would he not have at least listed her name first, if she were in some way special to him?
From what we know about the house servants, Ursula was important.79 The list is neither
alphabetical nor chronological by birth, and may well reflect Jefferson’s perception of the
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Figure 6. Instructions from Thomas Jefferson to Monticello Overseer Nicholas Lewis
(undated).  Library of Congress, The Thomas Jefferson Papers, Series 1, image 486.

80. TJ to Martha Jefferson Randolph, May 8, 1791, in 20 Papers of Thomas Jefferson 381 (1982).

importance of each slave. (Equally possible, he listed their names at random as they came
to his mind, or perhaps listed the ones he thought might be of most use to his relatives
first.) The one person on the list who is clearly given preference is not Sally Hemings but
her mother, Betty, who is only to be made available “should her services be necessary.” Again,
if Sally Hemings was the love of his life, would Jefferson not at least have given her the
distinction of being made available only if her services were “necessary?”

Finally, there is another letter in which Jefferson writes from Philadelphia to his daugh-
ter Martha that he had shipped James Hemings’ bedding that had finally arrived from
Paris back to Monticello, and in the margin he adds: “Sally’s do [ditto].”80 Not exactly the
stuff of love letters.
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While Jefferson corresponded extensively with some other members of the Hem-
ings family, there is no record of any written (or oral, for that matter) communica-
tion by Thomas Jefferson to Sally Hemings. The reverse is implicit in the fact that no
verbal or written communication by Sally Hemings to anyone has survived. As revisionist
scholar Andrew Burstein observed in the William & Mary Quarterly, “Nothing he [Jef-
ferson] wrote even remotely supports the existence of a physical connection with Sally
Hemings.”81

Sally Hemings’ Known Statements about 
Thomas Jefferson

There are no known documents or statements clearly attributable to Sally Hemings
about Thomas Jefferson or any other subject.82

Sally Hemings’ Children

Other than the Callender charge and the oral history of the descendants of Thomas
Woodson, there is no evidence that Sally gave birth to a son named “Tom” in 1790.
There is also no clear proof that she was not the mother of Thomas Woodson, and the
fact that at least one Jefferson defender at the time seemed to acknowledge the existence
of the twelve-year-old “Tom,” and none of his defenders appear to have denied there
was such a child, may strengthen the Woodsons’ claim. The decisive fact about Thomas
Woodson is that six different DNA tests of descendants of three of Thomas Woodson’s
sons showed that he could not have been fathered by any member of Thomas Jeffer-
son’s immediate family.

From Thomas Jefferson’s Farm Book and other records, we know that Sally gave birth
to a daughter on October 5, 1795,83 who was named “Harriet” or “Harriot.” She died on
October 5, 1797,84 and is often referred to as “Harriet I” to distinguish her from a later
child given the same name who lived to adulthood. On April 1, 1798, Sally gave birth to
a son named Beverly85; and in early December 1799, she may have produced a daughter
who did not survive infancy and may have been named “Thenia.” I have serious doubts
about this assertion that will be addressed at the end of this chapter.86

The Farm Book informs us that Sally gave birth to a second daughter named Harriet
in May 1801.87 Like Sally and her other children, there is very little in Jefferson’s records
about Harriet. Indeed, Jefferson made no reference to her in his extensive Memorandum
Books. 
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Sally’s sons Madison and Eston were born, respectively, on January 19,88 1805, and
May 21, 1808. Sally Hemings is not believed to have had any more children after 1808,
when she would have been about thirty-four years old. 

An undated Farm Book “Roll of the Negroes according to their ages”—which includes
an entry for August 1804, but may well have been maintained over a period of many
years — includes this entry under slaves born in 1801: “Harriet. Sally’s run. 22.”89 In ad-
dition, we have this apparently credible account by former Monticello overseer Ed-
mund Bacon about Harriet Hemings: “When she was nearly grown, by Mr. Jefferson’s
direction I paid her stage fare to Philadelphia and gave her fifty dollars. I have never
seen her since and don’t know what became of her.”90 Among other possible interpre-
tations of these data are: (1) Jefferson arranged for Harriet to be informally freed and
sent to Philadelphia in 1822 (the year she would have turned twenty-one) and covered
his action by falsely documenting that she had “run”; or (2) Harriet ran away in 1822,
was returned, and Jefferson — perhaps fearing Harriet might face harm if she fled
again—arranged for Bacon to put her on the stage. One might hypothesize another dozen
or so explanations, but the reality is that we are unlikely to know the truth with any
certainty.

The same list noting that Harriet had “run” in 1822 said next to Beverly Hemings’ name:
“run away 22.”91 This has led some to speculate that perhaps the siblings left Monticello to-
gether. While in the absence of more detailed records one cannot rule this out completely,
it is not clearly92 consistent with Edmund Bacon’s account of Harriet’s departure. 

Whether they left together or separately, there is credible evidence that Thomas Jefferson
allowed both Beverly and Harriet to leave Monticello. In an 1854 letter to her husband,
Jefferson’s granddaughter Ellen Randolph Coolidge wrote:

It was his principle (I know that of my own knowledge) to allow such of his
slaves as were sufficiently white to pass for white men, to withdraw quietly from
the plantation; it was called running away, but they were never reclaimed. I re-
member four instances of this, three young men and one girl, who walked away
and staid [sic] away. Their whereabouts was perfectly known but they were left
to themselves — for they were white enough to pass for white.93

Later in the same letter, she makes it clear that these almost white slaves included children
of Sally Hemings:

One woman known to Mr. J. Q. Adams and others as “dusky Sally” was pretty
notoriously the mistress of a married man, a near relation of Mr. Jefferson’s, and
there can be small question that her children were his. They were all fair and all
set free at my grandfather’s death, or had been suffered to absent themselves per-

turner 04 turner view 2 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 84



2 · THE ENIGMATIC SALLY HEMINGS 85

94. Id.
95. 2 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 1299 (receiving twenty-five cents for expenses from

Jefferson in April 1814).
96. The second child named Harriet is mentioned in a footnote by the editors explaining a two-

dollar expenditure by Jefferson for a midwife for Sally when Harriet was born in 1801. Id. at 1053 n.
15.

97. 2 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 1408.
98. Id. at 1391 (“10. [November 1822] Pd. Israel for 100. Cabbages 2.D.”)
99. See, e.g., William Howard Adams, The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson 323 n.32 (1997).

100. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 233.
101. Id. at 235.
102. Id. at 291.

manently before he died. The mother, Sally Hemmings [sic], had accompanied
Mr. Jefferson’s youngest daughter to Paris and was lady’s maid to both sisters.94

Unlike the children of some of Sally Hemings’ siblings, Sally’s own children received very
little attention in Jefferson’s extensive Memorandum Books. Beverly is mentioned once,95

daughters Harriet I and Harriet II are not mentioned by Jefferson at all,96 and sons Madi-
son and Eston share a single entry noting they were paid two dollars for 100 cabbages on
December 11, 1824.97 This was the same sum he had paid another slave for the same num-
ber of cabbages about two years earlier.98

Substituting Speculation for Scholarship

In the absence of meaningful information about Sally Hemings, proponents of the
“Sally story” have resorted to the most bizarre speculation and fantasizing. There is not
the slightest evidence that Sally Hemings spoke more than a few words of French or had
any formal training in the language,99 yet Professor Brodie takes the established fact that
brother James had a French tutor and asserts that “one could expect that Sally would likely
have been included.”100 Having thus established this “fact,” she goes on to write: “Jeffer-
son had under his roof in Paris two slaves who were learning to speak French, who counted
themselves free, and were thinking of becoming expatriates.”101 This would have been a
reasonable statement had Dr. Brodie used “might have been” instead of “were” — but as
written it is unsupportable nonsense. From what little we know, it is equally likely that
Sally Hemings cried herself to sleep at night praying to be reunited with her mother and
siblings.

Most historians would presumably examine the available records and conclude that Sally
Hemings and her children were relatively minor figures within the important Hemings
family at Monticello. But Professor Brodie recognizes a classic cover-up when she sees one:

The necessity for secrecy concerning Jefferson’s liaison with Sally Hemings per-
vaded every aspect of their relationship. Even in his Farm Book she remained
surprisingly anonymous. Though he wrote Sally’s name many times, on the slave
inventories, the distribution lists for fish, beef, blankets, and linen, he never in-
cluded her last name, as he did that of her mother and several of her brothers.
He listed her often just below that of her sister Critta, and there is no indication
in the Farm Book that she was singled out for special treatment.102

To be sure, Sally Hemings’ absence from Monticello records could be the result of a cover-
up. But Occam’s Razor would guide us to consider first the more simple explanation —
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that Sally Hemings really was a minor figure at Monticello. Yes, as the Thomas Jefferson
Foundation’s Lucia Stanton has asserted, Sally Hemings did have an “enduring connec-
tion”103 with Thomas Jefferson. But I am persuaded she is mistaken about its character:
for more than fifty years, Sally Hemings was one of Thomas Jefferson’s many slaves.

If one excludes Hollywood productions and writings openly identified as fiction, per-
haps the most remarkable conclusions drawn by a scholar from the near total absence of
information about Sally Hemings comes from David Brion Davis, Sterling Professor of
History at Yale University. In his Preface to Lucia Stanton’s Free Some Day, he asserts that
“Sally Hemings . . . knew Thomas Jefferson at least as well as did any of his white friends
and relatives.”104 I find not the slightest bit of historical evidence to support such an as-
sertion by such a distinguished scholar.

Was Sally Hemings Monogamous?

Ironically (since the original version of the allegation portrayed her as a “slut” and
“prostitute” who had no fewer than fifteen lovers105), much of the circumstantial case
against Thomas Jefferson is premised on the assumption that Sally Hemings had to be
monogamous. Candidly, I personally place very little weight on anything James Callen-
der wrote, and my strong sense is that Sally Hemings was but an innocent victim of his
racism and his vendetta to harm Thomas Jefferson. The irony has less to do with Callen-
der’s veracity than with the fact that some revisionists seek to employ him as a reliable source
to show the alleged sexual relationship occurred, but then conveniently ignore him in as-
suring us that no one ever suggested that Sally Hemings was not monogamous.

As discussed in Chapter One, the basic scientific conclusions from the DNA testing
were that Eston Hemings was almost certainly fathered by a Jefferson male and Thomas
Woodson was not. Based upon those findings, it would be fairly easy to identify half a dozen
Jefferson males106 who might well have been at Monticello when Eston was conceived and
nearly another twenty107 who arguably might have been there. But identifying other sus-
pects who are likely to have been there when all five or six children were conceived is ob-
viously more difficult, and since Thomas Jefferson lived at Monticello, he quickly becomes
a prime suspect once one postulates that Sally had to have been monogamous. 

The January 2000 Monticello Report summarized the argument thusly:

The committee concludes that convincing evidence does not exist for the hy-
pothesis that another male Jefferson was the father of [all of] Sally Hemings’s
children. In almost two hundred years since the issue first became public, no
other Jefferson has ever been referred to as the father; denials of Thomas Jeffer-
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son’s paternity named the Carr nephews. Furthermore, evidence of the sort of
sustained presence necessary to have resulted in the creation of a family of six chil-
dren is entirely lacking, and even those who denied a relationship never sug-
gested Sally Hemings’s children had more than one father.108

It is creative advocacy, in a setting where there is almost a total absence of relevant information,
to argue, in essence, that “I am right because there is no proof that my guess is wrong”;
but this hardly proves the proffered fact. Let us look at some of the facts that we can es-
tablish by at least a preponderance of the evidence:

• Monogamy was certainly not an element in the original story of a Jefferson-Hem-
ings sexual relationship published by James T. Callender and circulated by Jeffer-
son’s Federalist opponents. As Chapter Three will show, Callender described Sally
Hemings as “a slut as common as the pavement,”109 and Georgia Federalist Thomas
Gibbons, who is relied upon by the Monticello Report on other points, called Sally
“the most abandoned prostitute of her color.”110

• It is not true that none of Sally Hemings’ contemporaries alleged that she had more
than one lover. An 1874 letter from Thomas Jefferson Randolph reprinted in the
Monticello Report states, for example, that the paternity of Sally’s children had been
“admitted by others.”111 He used the plural “others,” not “another.” Presumably, he
was referring to Peter and Samuel Carr, the sons of Thomas Jefferson’s sister Martha.

• Professor Brodie tells us that Sally Hemings “had a model in her own mother,”112

who Madison Hemings reportedly said “had seven children by white men and
seven by colored men — fourteen in all.”113 The use of the plural “men” in both
categories suggests that Betty Hemings had children by no fewer than four men.

• Ms. Helen Leary, former president of the “Board for Certification of Genealo-
gists” and a self-proclaimed “leading authority on early families of the Upper
South,” adds that it is “a pattern observable in both historical and contemporary
life that girls raised in a particular environment tend to grow up accepting that
familiar lifestyle as both the norm and their fate.”114

• Perhaps more importantly, the assumption that slave women had the prerogative
to say “no” to sexual advances in colonial Virginia is not self-evident.

• One of the few apparently unbiased eye-witnesses to Monticello life during this pe-
riod — in the sense that he was not related to either side and, having years earlier
moved away from Virginia, was no longer subject to retribution from anyone for
telling the truth—was Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon. Bacon not only asserted
that young white men visiting Monticello were “intimate with the Negro women”115;
but, far more importantly, he alleged that he had personally observed a man who
was not Thomas Jefferson coming out of Sally Hemings’ room “many a morning
when I went up to Monticello very early.”116
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It is possible that “Jeff” Randolph was lying to protect a grandfather he dearly loved. The
account published by Henry Randall might be further suspect because of the possibility
that Randall might have either misunderstood, forgotten, or intentionally altered what he
was told. But the Jeff Randolph account published by Randall does not read like a cover-
up. If that were his goal, why would Jefferson’s grandson admit the remarkable similar-
ity in physical appearance between Thomas Jefferson and some of Sally Hemings’ sons?
And if his motive were merely to defend his grandfather, why would Jeff Randolph ex-
tract a pledge from Randall not to publish his references to the Carr brothers? If Jeff Ran-
dolph made no such statement and instead the entire story is a Henry Randall fabrication,
why would the famous historian confirm the physical similarities — and how do we ex-
plain the account by Jeff Randolph’s sister, Ellen Coolidge, that Jeff had told her as well
that the Carr brothers had admitted paternity and Jeff had extracted a similar promise of
confidentiality from her? 

Occam’s Razor tells us that assuming several witnesses are lying about something in the
absence of clear evidence to that effect is not the soundest approach in the search for the
truth if there exist simpler explanations—such as that Sally Hemings was not monoga-
mous. Rather than simply making assumptions on such a key issue, we should compare the
evidence on all sides and see where it points. Against the evidence already discussed —
which includes two eye-witness accounts and various admissions against interest—the ad-
vocates of Thomas Jefferson’s paternity rely largely on the fact that Jefferson scholars, who
over the years almost unanimously (at least until the Gordon-Reed book was published)
rejected the Callender charges, have not denied that Sally was monogamous. One might counter
by observing that they also have not expressly concluded that she was monogamous. Find-
ing the Callender allegations without merit, most have simply accepted the Randolph fam-
ily explanation that one or both of the Carr brothers likely bore responsibility for Sally’s children. 

To this they add Madison Hemings’ alleged statement that Thomas Jefferson fathered
all of his mother’s children. Obviously, Madison Hemings could not have known the full
scope of his mother’s sexual behavior or the actual paternity of children conceived prior
to his own birth (which would leave only Eston). In the absence of reason to believe oth-
erwise, it seems normal for children to assume that their parents are good and honor-
able people — and implicit in that assumption may be a belief that they are sexually
monogamous. 

Nor is it likely that the Carr brothers, assuming they were sexually involved with Sally Hem-
ings, would have been confident that her children were their own. Like Madison, they might
have hoped that Sally was faithful (if they even cared), but sometimes not even the mother
can be certain of the paternity of her child. At any rate, the case for the Carr brothers being
the fathers of Sally’s children would presumably be much stronger for the older children.117

What other “evidence” of Sally’s monogamy are we offered? The Monticello Report in-
forms us that “[f]ull-sibling relationships are further supported by the closeness of the fam-
ily, as evidenced by documentation of siblings living together and naming children after
each other.”118 At best, this statement is problematic. First, it presupposes that Sally Hem-
ings’ children would know the truth about their paternity. Second, it assumes that “full-
sibling relationships” are inherently closer than those of half-siblings, which is at best a
stereotype and — based upon my limited observations — may well be false. Most impor-
tantly, it is difficult to read the account attributed to Madison Hemings in the Pike County
Republican and conclude that Sally Hemings’ children were especially “close.” For exam-
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ple, Madison said of his sister Harriet: “I have not heard from her for ten years, and do
not know whether she is dead or alive.” He apparently did not know when his younger brother
died, and there is no indication he had been in recent contact with Beverly. This is hardly
the kind of “evidence” that overcomes multiple eyewitness testimony to the contrary.

Sally Hemings’ Life after Thomas Jefferson’s Death

One of the many inconsistencies with the theory that Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings were “lovers” for decades and any concomitant assumption of rational behavior on
the part of the former President is that Thomas Jefferson made no apparent provision
for Sally’s welfare at the time of his death. When he wrote his final will he must have
known that Sally’s monetary value to his estate was minimal (she was valued at fifty dol-
lars in preparation for the slave auction). Some have argued that to list her in his will
would confirm the Callender allegations in the minds of many Americans; but were that
his concern, why did he include in his will both of his remaining alleged “sons” by this
same slave woman? Surely he knew that would fuel similar speculation.

No one knows exactly what happened to Sally Hemings. Although she was not freed in
Jefferson’s will, she was not sold with other slaves in 1829, and by 1830 apparently was
listed as a free white woman in the U.S. census for Charlottesville.119 She is also listed as a
free person living in Charlottesville in a special 1833 census.120 Yet the following year, in
her will, Martha Jefferson Randolph wrote that she wished her children to give “Betsy Hem-
mings [sic], Sally & Wormley . . . their time.”121 Giving slaves “their time” was an informal
way of granting de facto freedom without running afoul of the Virginia statute requiring man-
umitted slaves to leave the state within one year.122 But if Martha had not already given
Sally “her time,” how do we explain the fact that Sally was reported to be living in Charlottesville
four years earlier as a free person? This provision was not included in Martha’s 1836 will.
Sally Hemings had died the previous year, having “spent her entire life in legal bondage.”123

The Monticello Report states that the language in Martha’s will about giving the three
remaining Hemings “their time” was “probably a written reinforcement of a previous ver-
bal arrangement.”124 This is somewhat ambiguous, as some have speculated that (on the
assumption that Sally and Thomas Jefferson were lovers) such an “arrangement” must
have been at the President’s informal direction prior to his death. The Monticello Report
notes that there is no evidence to support this theory,125 and this language may simply
mean that Martha had already given Sally “her time” and was merely reducing it to writ-
ing to avoid any question at the time of her death.

The one thing the will does seem to confirm is that after Thomas Jefferson’s death,
three members of the Hemings family, including Sally, wound up the property of Martha
Jefferson Randolph. This by itself may be important for our inquiry, particularly given
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the lack of more significant evidence to guide us. For if Thomas Jefferson had commenced
a sexual relationship with Sally Hemings while she was Martha’s maid in Paris, and con-
tinued that affair for decades after they returned to Virginia, with Sally bearing him sev-
eral children and producing the Callender scandal that did at least some damage to his
reputation, it is difficult to believe that Martha would not have learned of the relation-
ship. One might suspect that in such a situation, she would have resented this slave woman,
either because of the scandal caused by the relationship or even because she saw Sally as
a rival for her father’s affections. 

For that matter, would she likely have rushed home to Monticello with her own inno-
cent children every time the President returned home, so her children could be exposed to
this allegedly immoral environment? Would Jefferson have pleaded with her to bring the
children to Monticello if his primary interest was being alone with the “handsome” Sally
Hemings to produce still more illegitimate children? None of this makes the slightest sense
unless most of what we know about the character of Thomas and Martha Jefferson Ran-
dolph is false.

Even if Jefferson’s daughter did not resent Sally, there is strong evidence that one of Martha
Randolph’s strongest desires was to protect her deceased father’s reputation. Indeed, this
desire was so great that she reportedly called her children to her side on her deathbed
and asked them to defend their grandfather’s reputation. Had Sally in fact been Thomas
Jefferson’s lover, how likely is it that Martha Randolph would have rewarded her by send-
ing her to live with her sons in Charlottesville, where she could tell her story to neighbors
or anyone else who would listen? 

How likely is it that Thomas Jefferson would have left Sally’s future in the hands of his
daughter had the affair actually existed? On the other hand, if Sally Hemings were noth-
ing more than an average member of a favorite family of slaves — a loyal house servant
who had been victimized by James Callender and the Federalists through no fault of her
own — the few facts that we know about her final years make total sense. 

Elizabeth Langhorne, in her 1987 book, Monticello: A Family Story, alleges that the
reason Sally Hemings was not freed in Thomas Jefferson’s will had something to do with
the fact that she had not belonged to him for several years:

First of all, Sally did not “belong” to Jefferson: she was considered in the family
as the property of his granddaughter Ellen. This becomes clear at the time of
Ellen’s marriage. Sally, in fact, had been Ellen’s maid for virtually the entire time
of Jefferson’s retirement. This, and Ellen’s legal ownership, comes to light in a let-
ter that Ellen wrote to her mother in 1825, while she and Joseph Coolidge were
still on their wedding trip.126

Langhorne goes on to discuss lengthy negotiations to hire “Sally” out or sell her to vari-
ous University of Virginia faculty members. Monticello’s Lucia Stanton, who is certainly
among the foremost modern authorities on slave life at Monticello, believes that Lang-
horne has confused Sally Hemings with a different Sally. Others who have looked closely
at the issue disagree. Both arguments strike me as being possible, and the most interest-
ing thing may be that we really do not know what happened to this woman we are now
told was so important at Monticello.

The “conventional wisdom” is that Sally Hemings apparently lived with her sons Madi-
son and Eston in Charlottesville until her death around 1835,127 but Professor Gordon-
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Reed observes that “No record of Sally Hemings’s life during that period [the nine years
she lived after Jefferson’s death] survives.”128 Indeed, there is not even a record of when
Sally Hemings died or where she was buried. The assumption that she lived with Madi-
son and Eston in Charlottesville is based upon the 1873 statement attributed to her son
Madison, supported by a notation in a census report that there was an older woman pre-
sent in their home. I do not know which story to believe, but am inclined to believe that
Ms. Stanton got this one right and that Elizabeth Langhorne may have confused two of
the many Sallys at Monticello. Otherwise it is difficult to understand the statement in
Martha Randolph’s 1834 will referring to “Sally.”

In summary, virtually everything we know about Sally Hemings can be printed on an
index card (see Figure 5 on page 69). There is no record of a single sentence that she ut-
tered or wrote, and from what we know from Jefferson’s surviving records, she was at
best an average member of a very special family of Monticello slaves. Neither Sally Hem-
ings, nor any of her children, nor any other eyewitness left any record to support the anti-
Jefferson allegations of James Callender in 1802 for more than seventy years; and the
heart of the Callender charge has been largely disproved by the DNA tests eliminating
Thomas Woodson as a possible son of Thomas Jefferson. 

The 1873 statements attributed to Madison Hemings and Israel Jefferson were both
filtered through the pen of a highly partisan political journalist with a clear agenda of
harming the reputation of Thomas Jefferson. As will be shown in Chapter Four, Israel’s
statement is so full of falsehoods as to lack credibility, and most of the relevant “facts”
attributed to Madison Hemings occurred long before he was born and are not attrib-
uted to any original source. There is circumstantial evidence that at least some of his in-
formation came from the original James Callender and Thomas Turner articles published
seven decades earlier, published statements by other Jefferson critics, and even books pre-
viously published about the famous President. These issues will be addressed in Chap-
ter Four.

Sally’s Alleged Child “Thenia”

It seems clear that a slave child was born at Monticello in early December 1799. In a
letter to John Wayles Eppes, husband of his daughter Maria (Polly), Jefferson wrote:

Those of your people who were unwell when you went away are still so & one
who has been cured is ill again, Augustine, I believe it is. Maria’s maid produced
a daughter about a fortnight ago, & is doing well.

Quoting only the second sentence in this excerpt, the Monticello Report concludes: “The
most likely candidate for ‘Maria’s maid’ still living at Monticello, rather than with the
Eppes, is Sally Hemings.”129 This child’s lifespan is identified as “(1799–1800).” Since we
know that Sally traveled to Paris with Maria (Polly), and we believe that she served as a
lady’s maid to both Maria and her older sister Martha at that time, it is possible that Sally
continued in this role after returning to Monticello or that Jefferson used this descrip-
tion because of the Paris connection. But there is so little reliable information that it is
also quite possible that a different slave served Maria after her return to Monticello and
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produced the child in question. Sally Hemings, it should be recalled, gave birth to Bev-
erly less than a year before “Maria’s maid” conceived the child in question, and may well
have still been nursing.130 Former Monticello slave Peter Fossett asserted that slave chil-
dren at Monticello “were nursed until they were three years old.”131

There are strong arguments against the assumption that Jefferson was referring to Sally
Hemings. When Martha and Maria got married and left Monticello, neither took Sally Hem-
ings with them. Instead, Jefferson gave Maria Betsy Hemings, the daughter of Sally’s old-
est sister Mary, as a wedding present on October 12, 1797, when Betsy was about fourteen
years old — a little more than two years before the otherwise unidentified “Maria’s maid”
gave birth. Yet another candidate for “Maria’s maid” was Critta Hemings, another of Sally’s
older sisters, whom Polly borrowed from Monticello in 1801 when Betsy was too ill to take
care of Polly’s child Francis.132 After Paris, Thomas Jefferson obviously knew Sally Hem-
ings’ name — three months before writing of “Maria’s maid” he identified Sally Hemings
simply as “Sally”133 — and this reference suggests he may well have not known the new
mother’s name. It takes less effort to write “Sally” than “Maria’s maid.” 

Perhaps more importantly, the context seems to be a discussion of slaves belonging to
John Eppes — “your people” — who were left in Thomas Jefferson’s care because they
were too “unwell” to travel when the Eppes left Monticello. Rather than traveling with ill
servants, the Eppes may have entrusted their care to those at Monticello and returned
home. In updating John Eppes on the status of his slaves, Jefferson adds a note that
“Maria’s maid” had a child. Obviously, from the context, “Maria’s maid” was well along
in her pregnancy when the Eppes returned home, and might well have been left behind
to be cared for by relatives and to avoid the discomfort and perhaps risks of traveling in
the final stages of her pregnancy.

This interpretation is also supported by the fact that Jefferson made no references in
his own records either of Sally (or any other Monticello slave) giving birth to the child in
question, nor to its assumed death the following year. Indeed, there appears to be noth-
ing in the surviving records to suggest that this child did not live a long life—as the prop-
erty of John Eppes. Since there are no references in Jefferson’s records to this child beyond
the letter to Eppes, Monticello scholars seem to have simply assumed it died shortly after
birth. Since it was born in December 1799, they presumably assumed it might have died
in 1800. Plausible, but hardly probable.

One reasonable explanation for Jefferson’s note is that “Maria’s maid” was left at Mon-
ticello to have her baby — perhaps because her mother or an experienced midwife lived
there — giving Jefferson all the more reason to mention her status to her owner (John
Eppes). The most logical candidate for “Maria’s maid” is presumably Betsy Hemings.
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Monticello scholars have attributed the child born to “Maria’s maid” to Sally Hemings
(and presumably Thomas Jefferson), but this seems based on the flimsiest of evidence
and is likely a result of a careless misreading of Jefferson’s Farm Book records. Page 54 of
the Farm Book is entitled “Diary 1796.” The following page is dated “1799.Oct.” and con-
stitutes a distribution list for beds, blankets, shoes, and other items for various slaves. On
this list, under the name “Doll” are the indented names “Thenia .93.” and “Dolly 94.” On
the same list, “Sally” is followed by an indented “Beverly 98” — a clear reference to Sally’s
first son who was born in 1798. Page 56 is entitled “Plantation” but is undated. It is a dis-
tribution list for fish and beef to various slaves. On this list, under “Sally” are listed “Bev-
erly” and “Thenia” but Thenia’s name is struck through. From this evidence, and the
Jefferson-Eppes letter referring to “Maria’s maid” having a baby, Monticello scholars have
apparently concluded that Sally must have given birth to a child named “Thenia” whose
name was struck-through because she died. 

However, on this same undated list the child “Thenia” is not listed under “Doll.” Page
58 of the Farm Book includes an unrelated list dated “1799, June 27.” At the bottom of that
page is another list dated “1800. July 15.” The next page begins with a November 1800
list in which Thenia is back under Doll, and Beverly appears alone under Sally. 

From this it is certainly possible to speculate that Doll’s Thenia was absent for some
reason on one list, that Sally gave birth to a separate Thenia about that time, and then Sally’s
Thenia died as Doll’s Thenia returned home. It is also possible that Jefferson mistakenly
listed Doll’s Thenia as Sally’s child, and then struck-through the name when he realized
his error. But perhaps the simplest explanation is that for some reason Doll’s Thenia was
living for a brief period with Sally Hemings, and soon thereafter she returned home. (If
we turn back to page 50 of the Farm Book, we find a “Bread List” for 1796 and under
Sally’s name is the name “Edy,” although Monticello does not interpret that as evidence
of another Hemings child.)

As the preceding paragraphs demonstrate, the Farm Book lists are not always in chrono-
logical order. The undated list that seems to shift the name “Thenia” from under the name
of “Doll” to that of “Sally” is located between lists dated October 1799 and a list on the
following page dated four months earlier. Perhaps the undated list was prepared follow-
ing the December birth to “Maria’s maid.” We just do not know. But, given the many un-
certainties and alternative scenarios, to assume that the child was born to Sally Hemings
and that its name was “Thenia” is a bit of a stretch. To this one might add that including
a child of six or seven (like Doll’s Thenia) on a meat ration list would make a lot more
sense than listing a new-born infant—all the more so if the infant was the child of a slave
who was the maid to a woman who did not even reside at Monticello.
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1. Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on Thomas Jefferson
and Sally Hemings, January 2000 [hereinafter cited as “Monticello Report”], at 4.

2. Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 215 (1997).
3. Origin of the dispute between Callender and the President, Columbian Centinel Massa-

chusetts Federalist, Aug. 28, 1802 at 1 (italics and small caps in original) (identified as having
been reprinted from the New-York Commercial Advertiser, n.d.). Original copy in author’s personal li-
brary.

3

James Thomson Callender and 
the Origins of the 1802 
Jefferson-Hemings Scandal

The allegation that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by his slave Sally Hemings
first came to the attention of the American people in September, 1802, when a jour-
nalist named James Thomson Callender made the accusation as part of a series of vi-
cious attacks on the President. These were quickly picked up and reprinted by Jefferson’s
enemies in the Federalist press, and publicized as well by Jefferson’s enemies as far
away as England. Assessing the probability of a sexual relationship between Thomas
Jefferson and Sally Hemings becomes easier once one understands the origins of the
allegation.

The report of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee on
this issue included only a single sentence of background on Callender and then provided
copies and edited transcripts of some of his articles. That sentence reads:

1802. Journalist James T. Callender, although his account is obviously sensa-
tionalized, stated that he was repeating what he had heard from others; he in-
cluded some details that can be verified, and others that cannot.1

Professor Annette Gordon-Reed, in her 1997 book, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings,
argues: “James Callender’s statement in 1802 that Sally Hemings had five children is ex-
trinsic evidence that corroborates Madison Hemings’s claim that Sally Hemings had a
child upon her return to the United States from France.”2

Both accounts would seem to be a bit gentle with the author of this allegation, given
what is known about James Thomson Callender. To begin with, if one is to believe Fed-
eralist newspaper accounts published only days before the allegation that Thomas Jeffer-
son had a sexual relationship with Sally Hemings was first printed, James Callender was
a self-confessed liar. An article printed on the front page of the Columbian Centinel Mass-
achusetts Federalist on August 28, 1802, entitled “Origin of the dispute between Callen-
der and the President,” quotes Callender, who was angrily demanding a government job,
as shouting out in front of the White House after having been turned away by a servant,
“Sir, you know that by Lying I made you President. . . .”3
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4. Worthington Chauncey Ford, Thomas Jefferson and James Thomson Callender, 50 New-Eng-
land Historical and Genealogical Register (No. 199, July 1896) at 321.

5. Dumas Malone, Jefferson the President: First Term, 1801–1805 at 212 (1970).
6. Id. at 211, citing Recorder (Richmond), Sept. 15, 1802.
7. During a National Public Radio (NPR) interview on January 16, 2001, Professor Joseph Ellis

referred to Jefferson’s first inaugural address as “probably one of the two or three great inaugural ad-
dresses in American history.” NPR Morning Edition with Bob Edwards, Jan. 16, 2001, 11:00–12:00
AM. In 1966, Daniel J. Boorstin edited An American Primer, pulling together in 900 pages the great
speeches and documents that have survived through time as “a kind of American catechism,” begin-
ning with The Mayflower Compact (1620) through Lyndon Johnson’s 1966 Address on Voting Rights.
Two documents from Thomas Jefferson made the volume, The Declaration of Independence and his
First Inaugural Address. An American Primer xiii, 65, 211 (Daniel J. Boorstin, ed. 1966).

8. Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx 364 (1998).
9. Joshua D. Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum

Virginia, in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 88 (Jan Ellen Lewis & Peter S. Onuf, eds. 1999).
10. Quoted in id. at 89.
11. Given the poorer quality of much of his later work, it is not unreasonable to raise questions

about Callender’s contribution to this earlier volume. It is unnecessary to examine that issue for pre-
sent purposes. It is clear that Jefferson and most others involved believed that Callender was the pri-
mary author.

12. In an 1813 letter to Jefferson, John Adams accused Callender of “terrorism” for his unprinci-
pled and libelous attacks. Adams to Jefferson, June 30, 1813, in 2 The Adams-Jefferson Letters:
The Complete Correspondence Between Thomas Jefferson and Abigail and John Adams
346, 347 (1959).

Writing in The New-England Historical and Genealogical Register in 1896, Worthing-
ton Chauncey Ford (brother of Paul Leicester Ford, who edited two multi-volume sets
of Jefferson’s Writings) began: “Of all the foreigners who were connected with journalism
in the United States at the beginning of the century, James Thomson Callender was eas-
ily first in the worst qualities of mind and character.”4

Pulitzer Prize-winning historian Dumas Malone refers to Callender as “one of the most
notorious scandalmongers and character assassins in American history,”5 and notes that
one of his attacks on Jefferson alleged that it “would have been advantageous to his
reputation if his head had been cut off five minutes before he began his inaugural
speech.”6 (By most accounts, the address was a masterpiece.7) Professor Joseph J. Ellis,
in American Sphinx, writes: “Callender’s motives, all historians agree, were scurrilous
and vengeful. He probably heard the rumors about miscegenation at Monticello while
imprisoned in Richmond . . . and felt no compunction about reporting the gossip as
fact.”8

Another recent scholar, who, like Professor Ellis, believes that Thomas Jefferson did
father children by Sally Hemings, provides this account: “James Callender was an angry,
bitter, and cynical man who made a career by specializing in invective and character as-
sassination. He ruthlessly, viciously, and often crudely ravaged anyone unfortunate
enough to be caught in his journalistic sights. . . .”9 He quotes historian John Chester
Miller as writing: “Callender made his charges against Jefferson without fear and with-
out research. . . . He never made the slightest effort to verify the ‘facts’ he so stridently
proclaimed. It was ‘journalism’ at its most reckless, wildly irresponsible, and scurrilous.
Callender was not an investigative journalist; he never bothered to investigate anything.”10

Callender came to the United States in 1793 from Scotland, where he claimed to have
played some role11 in writing a controversial book, The Political Progress of Britain, and
was vulnerable to arrest for sedition. He settled in Philadelphia, and soon set his pen to
work by attacking George Washington, Alexander Hamilton, and John Adams,12 the
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13. Ellis, American Sphinx 282. See also, id. at 259.
14. Joseph J. Ellis, The First Democrats, U.S. News & World Rep’t, Aug. 21, 2000, at 38.
15. Abagail Adams to Jefferson, July 1, 1804, in 10 Works of Thomas Jefferson 86–88 n.1 (Paul

Leicester Ford, ed. 1905).
16. 11 The Writings of Thomas Jefferson 42–43 (Mem. ed. 1903).

leaders of the Federalist Party.13 Professor Ellis notes that, in a pamphlet entitled The
Prospect Before Us, Callender described Adams as “a mentally unstable monarchist who,
if re-elected, intended to declare himself king and his son, John Quincy, his royal suc-
cessor.”14 Callender’s work soon came to the attention of Thomas Jefferson, who viewed
him as an able writer and political ally and on several occasions provided financial sup-
port for his work. 

Jefferson’s assistance to Callender particularly offended his once-close friends John
and Abigail Adams. In a candid letter, Mrs. Adams charged:

One of the first acts of your administration was to liberate a wretch who was
suffering the just punishment of his crimes for publishing the basest libel, the low-
est and vilest slander, which malice could invent or calumny exhibit, against the
character and reputation of your predecessor; of him, for whom you professed
a friendship and esteem, and whom you certainly knew incapable of such com-
plicated baseness. The remission of Callender’s fine was a public approbation of
his conduct.15

Jefferson responded with a summary of his relationship with Callender:

As early, I think, as 1796, I was told in Philadelphia that Callender, the author
of the Political Progress of Britain, was in that city, a fugitive from persecution
for having written that book, and in distress. I had read and approved the book;
I considered him as a man of genius, unjustly persecuted. I knew nothing of his
private character, and immediately expressed my readiness to contribute to his
relief, and to serve him. It was a considerable time after, that, on application
from a person who thought of him as I did, I contributed to his relief, and af-
terwards repeated the contribution. Himself I did not see till long after, nor ever
more than two or three times. When he first began to write, he told some use-
ful truths in his coarse way; but nobody sooner disapproved of his writing than
I did, or wished more that he would be silent. My charities to him were no more
meant as encouragements to his scurrilities, than those I give to the beggar at
my door are meant as rewards for the vices of his life, and to make them charge-
able to myself.16

Jefferson obviously benefited politically from Callender’s attacks on Washington, Hamil-
ton, and especially Adams, to whom Jefferson had lost the presidential election of 1796
and against whom he was expected to run in 1800. Callender also falsely accused Jeffer-
son’s rival Alexander Hamilton of forgery and treasury fraud; and, in order to defend his
public behavior, Hamilton found it necessary to disclose that he had been romantically
involved with a married woman. But while Jefferson may secretly have welcomed these
attacks on his political rivals, it is clear that he also soon realized the sordid side of James
Callender; and when Callender hinted that he would like to move to Albemarle County
to join Jefferson’s community of friends like Madison and Monroe, Jefferson ignored his
letters. When Callender was jailed for violating the Alien and Sedition Laws, he blamed
Jefferson for not coming quickly to his aid; and even after Jefferson won the election of
1800 and pardoned Callender and all other victims of the controversial laws, Callender
blamed Jefferson for delays in the return of his fine and other alleged grievances.
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17. Michael Durey, “With the Hammer of Truth” 159 (1990).
18. Id.
19. “Before this election year, Jefferson was pleased with Callender’s writings and approvingly sent

the ragged writer small sums of money. He did not, however, wish to become any closer to a man whom
most readers would soon recognize as a bitter, ranting mercenary.” Andrew Burstein, The Inner
Jefferson 227 (1995).

20. 3 Henry S. Randall, The Life of Thomas Jefferson 17–20 (1858).
21. Jefferson to Monroe, May 29, 1801, 9 Works of Thomas Jefferson 262–63.

According to Michael Durey, author of the Callender biography, With the Hammer of
Truth, the mercurial journalist wrote of his attacks on Jefferson: “chastisement was
promised, and the promise has been kept with the most rigid punctuality.”17 Alleging that
Jefferson was behind the attacks on him by Republican editors, Callender characterized
his response as “ten thousand fold vengeance” upon Jefferson.18

The primary basis for Callender’s bitterness may well have been that he had realized
that Jefferson and his Republican friends neither liked nor respected him.19 Callender
seems to have believed that his attacks on John Adams were responsible for Jefferson’s
electoral victory, and he was outraged at the ingratitude of Jefferson and his friends. At
any rate, Callender sent word that an appropriate reward for his contribution to Jeffer-
son’s victory would be appointment as Postmaster of Richmond, a position worth $1,500
a year.20 When Jefferson turned him down, Callender resorted to blackmail, sending word
that if the appointment was not forthcoming he would publish a series of articles that
would destroy the President. To his credit, Jefferson refused to give in.

In a letter dated May 29, 1801, Jefferson provided this account to James Monroe:

Since mine of the 26th Callender is arrived here. He did not call on me; but un-
derstanding he was in distress I sent Captain Lewis to him with 50. D. to inform
him we were making some inquiries as to his fine which would take a little time,
and lest he should suffer in the meantime I had sent him &c. His language to
Captain Lewis was very high-toned. He intimated that he was in possession of
things which he could and would make use of in a certain case: that he received
the 50. D. not as a charity but a due, in fact as hush money; that I knew what
he expected, viz. a certain office, and more to this effect. Such a misconstruction
of my charities puts an end to them forever. You will therefore be so good as to
make no use of the order I enclosed you. He knows nothing of me which I am
not willing to declare to the world myself. I knew him first as the author of the
Political Progress of Britain, a work I had read with great satisfaction, and as a
fugitive from persecution for this very work. I gave to him from time to time
such aids as I could afford, merely as a man of genius suffering under persecu-
tion, and not as a writer in our politics. It is long since I wished he would cease
writing on them, as doing more harm than good.21

More than a year later, but still well before Callender wrote about Sally Hemings, Presi-
dent Jefferson wrote again to Monroe, giving more details on his relationship with the con-
troversial journalist:

I am really mortified at the base ingratitude of Callender. It presents human na-
ture in a hideous form. It gives me concern because I perceive that relief, which
was afforded him on mere motives of charity, may be viewed under the aspect
of employing him as a writer. When the [P]olitical [P]rogress of Britain first ap-
peared in this country it was in a periodical publication called the [B]ee, where
I saw it. I was speaking of it in terms of strong approbation to a friend in Philadel-
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phia, when he asked me if I knew that the author was then in the city, a fugitive
from prosecution on account of that work, and in want of employ for his sub-
sistence. This was the first of my learning that Callender was author of the work.
I considered him as a man of science fled from persecution, and assured my
friend of my readiness to do whatever could serve him. It was long after this be-
fore I saw him, probably not till 1798. He had in the mean time written a 2nd
part of the political progress much inferior to the first, and his history of the U.S.
In 1798, I think I was applied to by Mr. Leiper to contribute to his relief. I did
so. In 1799, I think S. T. Mason applied for him, I contributed again. . . . But I
discouraged his coming into my neighborhood. His first writings here had fallen
far short of his original [P]olitical [P]rogress and the scurrilities of his subse-
quent ones began evidently to do mischief. As to myself no man wished more to
see his pen stopped: but I considered him still as a proper object of benevolence.
The succeeding year he again wanted money to buy paper for another volume.
I made his letter, as before, the occasion of giving him another 50 D. He considers
these as proofs of my approbation of his writings, when they were mere chari-
ties, yielded under a strong conviction that he was injuring us by his writing. It
is known to many that the sums given to him were such and even smaller than
I was in the habit of giving to others in distress of the federal as well as the re-
publican party without attention to political principles.22

Jefferson then turned to the more immediate cause of Callender’s anger towards him:

Soon after I was elected to the government, Callender came on here [Washing-
ton, D.C.] wishing to be made postmaster at Richmond. I knew him to be to-
tally unfit for it: and however ready I was to aid him with my own charities (and
I then gave him 50. D.) I did not think the public offices confided to me to give
away as charities. He took it in mortal offence, and from that moment has been
hauling off to his former enemies the federalists. . . . This is the true state of what
has passed between him and me. I do not know that it can be used without com-
mitting me in controversy as it were with one too little respected by the public
to merit that notice. I leave to your judgment what use can be made of these
facts. Perhaps it will be better judged of when we see what use the tories will en-
deavour to make of their new friend.23

Upon being notified that Jefferson would not help him, Callender may have traveled to
Albemarle County to search for information he could use in his vendetta.24 He also may
have obtained information while imprisoned in Richmond, where the U.S. Marshal, David
Meade Randolph, was a Jefferson relative with a strong dislike for the new President.25

Fawn Brodie provides this account:

After his release from jail he was annoyed because of a delay in the repayment
of the fine, but still more embittered by what seemed a growing hostility of Jef-
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29. Washington Federalist, Sept. 14, 1801.
30. Dumas Malone, Jefferson the President: First Term 212 (1971). This point seems to be

generally conceded even by revisionist scholars. See, e.g., Burstein, The Inner Jefferson 228.
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ferson toward him. He would complain to Madison that Jefferson “had on var-
ious occasions, treated me with such ostentatious coolness and indifference, that
I could hardly say that I was able to love or trust him.” If his hero had feet of clay
he must know it at all costs. Sometime before April 1801 he set out for Charlottesville
to question Jefferson’s neighbors, and it was here that he learned in surprisingly
accurate detail a great deal about Sally Hemings.26

James Callender was not the first to raise questions about the presence of light-skinned
slaves at Monticello — they predated the arrival of Sally Hemings’ children. Nor was he
even the first journalist to hint that Jefferson might be their father. 

Brodie wrote that “As early as June 23, 1800, [Federalist editor W. A.] Rind had writ-
ten that he had ‘damning proofs’ of Jefferson’s ‘depravity.’”27 The article in question ac-
tually seems to have appeared on June 28 and was a reprint of an article from the Boston
Commercial Gazette, and it made no specific reference to sexual impropriety.28 However,
on September 14, 1801—just under a year before Callender raised the “Black Sal” story—
the Washington Federalist wrote:

[I]t has long been currently reported, that a man very high in office, has a num-
ber of yellow children, and that he is addicted to golden affections. It is natural
to suppose it possible that personal or political enemies of Mr. J. might raise
such reports, when they were wholly unfounded — and on the other side it is
observed that, what every body says must be true. Certainly such reports, and
others of a more delicate nature, tho paler complexion, are current. If they are
false and malicious they ought to be contradicted.29

This report may well have been premised simply upon the widespread knowledge that
there were a number of light-skinned slaves at Monticello. 

Although he never visited Monticello,30 Callender may have visited Charlottesville (there
seems to be no record of such a visit), apparently spoke with some of Jefferson’s enemies,
and heard about Sally Hemings. On September 1, 1802, he added the Hemings allegation
to his campaign of “slanderous stories”31 designed to destroy Thomas Jefferson:

THE PRESIDENT AGAIN

It is well known that the man, whom it delighteth the people to honor, keeps and
for many years has kept as his concubine, one of his own slaves. Her name is
SALLY. The name of her eldest son is TOM. His features are said to bear a strik-
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ing although sable resemblance to those of the president himself. The boy is ten
or twelve years of age. His mother went to France in the same vessel with Mr. Jef-
ferson and his two daughters. The delicacy of this arrangement must strike every
person of common sensibility. What a sublime pattern for an American ambas-
sador to place before the eyes of two young ladies!32

Callender may well have selected this particular line of attack because of his own virulent
racism. Joshua Rothman writes:

Callender detested African Americans and found the notion of sex across the
color line repulsive. . . . Once he reported the Jefferson-Hemings story, he de-
scribed Hemings herself in the most racist terms, calling her a “wench” and “a
slut as common as the pavement,” accusing her of having “fifteen, or thirty” dif-
ferent lovers “of all colours,” and referring to her children as a “yellow litter.”33

In another article dated September 22, 1802, Callender made clear his objective of polit-
ically destroying Thomas Jefferson:

Unless the republicans cast him overboard, the universal horror of mankind will
sink their vessel. It is at present something more than two years till the next elec-
tion for president. . . . The timely disruption of this unhappy secret gives room
for the republicans to desert their chieftain, and to rally round the standard of
a more decent leader. . . . I do not believe that at the next election of 1804 Jeffer-
son could obtain two votes on the Eastern side of the Susquehanna; and, I think
hardly four votes upon this side of it. He will, therefore, be laid aside.34

History shows that Callender’s prediction was wrong. Although Callender drowned in
the James River in a drunken stupor long before the election of 1804, Jefferson was re-
elected in a landslide electoral vote (162–14) and the Republicans gained in Congress as
well. Callender’s reputation was such that few who knew about him appear to have be-
lieved much that he wrote.35 Indeed, Jefferson’s biggest problem was explaining to peo-
ple why he had ever given money to this despicable man.36

Looking back, what does the Callender story tell us about the likelihood that Thomas
Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings? First, we know that the story originated as
a part of a personal vendetta conducted by a vengeful and unprincipled man searching
for allegations to injure President Jefferson. We know that Callender based his stories on
rumors and gossip, which in turn were based not upon reliable evidence but merely upon
the fact that there were light-skinned slaves at Monticello — a reality that predated Sally
Hemings’ years as a mother. Light-skinned slave children suggested that someone was hav-
ing sex with the servants, and that someone could have been Thomas Jefferson. Not only
did James Callender not have a scintilla of hard evidence that such a relationship between
Jefferson and Sally Hemings actually existed, but nearly two centuries later there is still no
persuasive evidence.37
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ever saw Sally entering or leaving his chambers. There is not a single report of their walking off to-
gether, or even exchanging suggestive glances or the slightest caress or touch in passing during the
normal routine of business at Monticello. Even after Jefferson’s death and her own de facto freedom,
there is no record that Sally Hemings ever told a single individual that Thomas Jefferson fathered any
of her children or otherwise treated her as other than a slave. There is no record that more than one
of Sally’s known children ever alleged that Jefferson was their father, and the sole exception waited nearly
fifty years after Jefferson’s death, provided no source for his assertion of facts he could not have per-
sonally known, and accompanied the charge with a number of other highly dubious claims. (See
Chapter Four.) What we have instead are Callender’s charges supplemented by a newspaper story pub-
lished more than seventy years later alleging that one of Sally’s children confirmed the story and a
great deal of speculation by clever scholars about how such a relationship was “possible.”

38. See Chapter One (emphasis added).

Callender’s allegations were based largely upon the reported existence of a ten- to
twelve-year-old son of Sally Hemings, bearing a strong physical resemblance to Thomas
Jefferson and named “Tom.” The fact that none of Jefferson’s defenders suggested, in their
many counterattacks on Callender, that no “Tom Hemings” existed, is itself interesting.
Callender’s description might easily fit a young slave named Thomas Woodson, allegedly
born around 1790, whose descendants have for nearly two centuries believed he was the
son of Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson. There is no evidence of any other “Tom” at
Monticello who comes close to fitting Callender’s description.

This brings us to perhaps the most interesting results of Dr. Eugene Foster’s DNA tests,
reported in the journal Nature on November 5, 1998, and discussed in Chapter One, that
“Thomas Woodson was not Thomas Jefferson’s son.”38 The presence of a ten- to twelve-
year-old slave child named “Tom” was at the heart of Callender’s case. We don’t know
whether or not Thomas Woodson was that “Tom,” but we do know that, if he was, Cal-
lender’s allegation that “Tom” was the son of President Thomas Jefferson was false. With-
out the slightest indication that there was another “Tom” at Monticello in 1802 who came
close to Callender’s description, little is left of the allegation that started the entire con-
troversy more than two centuries ago.

James Thomson Callender’s allegations against Thomas Jefferson in 1802 lacked cred-
ibility and were uniformly rejected by major Jefferson scholars for more than 170 years.
During the latter part of the twentieth century, Professors Fawn Brodie and Annette Gor-
don-Reed attempted to restore life to them. Their most credible argument was that Thomas
Woodson was the child of Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson, conceived in Paris and
born at Monticello in 1790. Thanks to the DNA tests, we now know that is not true. If
there was ever any doubt about it, it should be clear now that Callender’s allegations were
clear fabrications based solely upon the kernel of truth that there were light-skinned slave
children at Monticello.

Obviously, it is possible that Callender fabricated a story that happened to be true. It
is also theoretically possible that, after having been subjected to Callender’s scurrilous at-
tacks in 1802, Thomas Jefferson for some strange reason might have decided to begin a
sexual relationship with Sally Hemings that produced Eston Hemings in 1808—and per-
haps other children. But in examining the totality of the evidence, it is useful to remem-
ber that the original charge was clearly a politically-motivated falsehood. The DNA tests
have shown that Thomas Jefferson did not father a child by Sally Hemings in Paris named
Tom as Callender alleged. The story passed down by generations of descendants of Thomas
Woodson — presumably by honorable people acting in good faith at every repetition of
the story — is clearly false.

turner 05 turner view 3 auto cx 2  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 102



3 · JAMES THOMSON CALLENDER & THE ORIGINS OF THE 1802 SCANDAL 103

39. Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum Virginia 89.
40. Id. at 101.
41. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 62.
42. [James T. Callender,] Armory, Richmond Recorder, Sept. 15, 1802.
43. [James T. Callender,] Advertisement Extraordinary: Voyage to France, or, the Progress of a Re-

publican President, Richmond Recorder, Sep. 15, 1802. See also, Rothman, James Callender and So-
cial Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum Virginia 95.

44. [Callender,] More About Sally and the President, Richmond Recorder, Sep. 22, 1802. See
also, Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum Virginia 95.

45. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 76. Professor Ellis characterizes Cal-
lender’s approach as a “truth-be-damned fashion. . . .” Ellis, American Sphinx 259.

Finally, if one takes the allegations of James T. Callender as serious evidence that
Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings, and concludes that Callender “was
not usually a liar”39 and was “concerned with accuracy”40 —or, as Professor Gordon-Reed
puts it: “Exaggeration, rather than fabrication, was Callender’s chief journalistic flaw”41 —
then what are we to make of Callender’s allegations about Sally “[r]omping with half a
dozen black fellows,”42 and “[h]aving fifteen, or thirty gallants of all colours,”43 or being
“a slut as common as the pavement?”44 Professor Gordon-Reed grossly misstates the re-
ality when she alleges that Callendar would merely “exaggerate matters to make a better
story.”45

James Thomson Callender was in reality an unprincipled drunkard and a vile racist,
who spent his decade in America defaming each of the first five men to become Presi-
dent of the United States. The problem, of course, is to distinguish between his many lies
and the kernels of truth upon which they were sometimes based; and it is more than a
little problematic for champions of the Sally story to rely upon Callender as a probative
witness when he supports their case and then ignore his factual allegations that do not.
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1. Obviously there was a “Jefferson-Hemings relationship”—the issue is whether it was exclusively
a master-slave relationship or also a sexual one.

2. Eric S. Lander & Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Father, 396 Nature 13 (Nov. 5, 1998).
3. Annette Gordon-Reed, Why Jefferson Scholars Were the Last to Know, N.Y. Times, Nov. 3, 1998

at A27.
4. The relevant text of the article reads: “Soon after their arrival [from Paris], she gave birth to a

child, of whom Thomas Jefferson was the father. It lived but a short time. She gave birth to four oth-
ers, and Jefferson was the father of all of them.” Professor Ellis made the same error in American
Sphinx. Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx 364 (1996). In fairness, the great Jefferson scholar Dumas
Malone made the same error in reporting that Sally Hemings was Madison’s source. See Dumas Mal-
one, Jefferson the President: First Term 498 (1970). The Monticello research committee cor-
rectly noted that Madison “did not specifically mention when or how he learned the identity of his
father.” Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings, Jan. 2000 (hereinafter referred to as Monticello Report) Appendix F at 2.

5. Obviously Madison had no personal knowledge of his own conception or that of his elder sib-
lings, and he would have only been two years old when Sally’s last known child, Eston, was conceived.

6. I have in mind here not only the observation by Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon that as he
arrived for work early in the morning he often saw a man who was not Thomas Jefferson leave Sally’s
room, but also the fact that not one of the hundreds if not thousands of visitors who were present at
Monticello over the years left a known record of having witnessed anything that would suggest a sex-
ual relationship existed between President Jefferson and Sally Hemings.

4

Madison Hemings’ 1873 “Memoir”
in the Pike County Republican

In their commentary article accompanying the publication in Nature of Dr. Eugene
Foster’s DNA study, Professors Eric S. Lander and Joseph J. Ellis argued that one of three
pieces of evidence supporting a Jefferson-Hemings relationship1 was that “Sally’s fourth
child, Madison, testified late in his life that Sally had identified Jefferson as the father of
all her children.”2 Professor Annette Gordon-Reed asserts that Madison Hemings is “[t]he
most important historical witness in this story. . . .”3

In fact, most of the relevant statements attributed to Madison Hemings in the 1873 news-
paper article to which the Nature commentary and Professor Gordon-Reed refer4 have to
do with events that occurred years before his birth and are asserted without any expla-
nation of how Madison might have known them to be true.5 Despite assertions by many
scholars that Madison attributed his information to his mother, in fact the 1873 story
makes no such claim. His “testimony”—in addition to other serious problems—was not
that of a “witness” at all, but rather at best unsourced hearsay that is clearly at odds with
the little relevant “eyewitness” testimony that is available.6

Nevertheless, this article is relied upon heavily by believers in a Jefferson-Hemings sex-
ual relationship. Indeed, white historians who have refused to accept the truth of this ac-
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7. See, e.g., Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings at 10–11, 224–28
(1997); Annette Gordon-Reed, Why Jefferson Scholars Were the Last to Know, N.Y. Times, Nov. 3, 1998
at A27; Annette Gordon-Reed, “The Memories of a Few Negroes,” in Jan Ellen Lewis & Peter S.
Onuf, Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 236–52 (1999); and Annette Gordon-Reed, When the
Past Speaks to the Present: A Cautionary Tale about Evidence, History Now (Dec. 2004), available at
http://www.historynow.org/12_2004/print/historian4.html (“[A] bias led historians to give more
weight to the [Jefferson] grandchildren’s accounts than to the account of Madison Hemings, despite
the fact that the grandchildren’s accounts were themselves contradictory. No doubt the high esteem
in which Thomas Jefferson was held by the public and by the historians contributed to the acceptance
of the grandchildren’s claim that Jefferson did not father the Hemings children. But no doubt racism—
sometimes conscious and sometimes unconscious — played a role in privileging the grandchildren’s
claims over the claims of Madison Hemings.”).

8. Until his death on September 23, 2009, at the age of 88, Professor Merrill Peterson was almost
certainly the world’s leading Jefferson historian as the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Pro-
fessor of History, Emeritus, at the University of Virginia. Suggestions that Professor Peterson might
have been motivated by racism are particularly unwarranted. A Washington Post obituary observed:
“Dr. Peterson was noted for recruiting African-American faculty members and made a memorable 1965
speech at the university’s central building, the Rotunda, called ‘Sympathy for Selma.’ He saw the Rev.
Martin Luther King Jr.’s civil rights marches in Selma, Ala., and across the South as a ‘link in the her-
itage of American liberty.’’’ Matt Schudel, Merrill Peterson, 88; wrote on role of Jefferson, Lincoln, Wash.
Post, Oct. 2, 2009, available at http://www.boston.com/bostonglobe/obituaries/articles/2009/10/02/
merrill_peterson_88_wrote_on_role_of_jefferson_lincoln/.

count have been accused of racism.7 And now that six separate DNA tests have conclu-
sively established that Thomas Woodson could not have been Thomas Jefferson’s child,
the 1873 statement attributed to Madison Hemings is probably the strongest piece of ev-
idence remaining in support of the proposition that Thomas Jefferson fathered one or
more children by Sally Hemings.

There are, however, many sound reasons for treating this account with skepticism —
particularly where it is the only source for an allegation. Some of these pertain to Madi-
son Hemings’ credibility and that of his unidentified sources. Others are more objective
in nature. None of them require the reader to assume that prominent Jefferson scholars
like Merrill Peterson8 were “racists.”

Madison Could Not Have Known Whether 
Key Parts of His Story Were True

To begin with, the most important pieces of information for our purposes in Madi-
son’s “memoir” — or, more accurately, a story written by Jefferson critic Samuel Wet-
more, the editor of the Pike County Republican, claiming to represent the views of Madison
Hemings—are statements about facts concerning which Madison could not possibly have
possessed first-hand knowledge because they occurred before his birth. He is clearly re-
peating “hearsay,” and the credibility of his statements, assuming they are even reported
accurately, thus can be no greater than that of his undisclosed source(s) — minus any
risks that he might have intentionally or otherwise altered the story. Assuming that his source
was one of the two individuals who would have presumably known the truth — Thomas
Jefferson or Sally Hemings—the passage of five and four decades, respectively, since their
deaths would presumably increase the risks of error even if the witness’s personal verac-
ity could be established. Then we also must consider the additional risk that Samuel Wet-
more might have intentionally altered the story to further his clear political agenda as a
Republican Party activist. Indeed, the fact that his story does not state that Madison Hem-
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9. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 13.
10. Id. at 149.
11. Fawn Brodie, Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History 438 (1874). See also, Lucia Stan-

ton, The Other End of the Telescope, 57 William & Mary Quarterly 142 (Jan. 2000).
12. See, e.g., Memoirs of a Monticello Slave 10 (1951). (“Sally mighty near white,” “Folks said

that these Hemingses was old Mr. Wayles’ children.”)
13. [Samuel E. Wetmore], Life Among the Lowly, Number 1. Madison Hemings, Pike County Re-

publican (Waverly, Ohio), Mar. 13, 1873 at 4, reprinted in Monticello Report, Appendix E at 27–28.
14. Id.
15. Id.

ings specifically attributed the assertions about his paternity to his mother (who left no
independent record of ever claiming such a relationship with Jefferson to anyone) may make
it even more suspect.

Madison admits having read about Jefferson after leaving Monticello, and — as will be
discussed — some of his terminology and the spelling in the article suggest he (or Wet-
more, who actually wrote the article) was familiar with the original James Callender and
Thomas Turner allegations published seven decades before Madison allegedly asserted
that Thomas Jefferson was his father. Since Madison himself cannot possibly be a reli-
able source for this information, and we cannot tell which parts of his account may have
come from his mother, from the writings of scandalmongers like Callender, from rumors,
from poor recollection of statements he may have heard a half century or more earlier,
or even from a fertile imagination, some caution on the part of the reader is prudent even
if the story attributed to him seems initially compelling.

The Words of the Story Are Likely Those of an 
Anti-Jefferson Editor

The hearsay problem is further complicated by the fact that the article in question
clearly seems to be in the words of Samuel F. Wetmore. Even Professor Gordon-Reed ac-
knowledges both Wetmore’s strong anti-Jefferson sentiments9 and the fact that the story
may well have been actually written by Wetmore,10 a point conceded earlier by Professor
Brodie.11 Not only is the style consistent with several other articles written by Wetmore,
but the vocabulary is nothing like that in other accounts of the era by self-educated for-
mer slaves.12 For example, the story includes the following language:

[A]n intimacy sprang up between them which ripened into love. . . .13

[S]lave masters . . . had no compunctions of conscience which restrained them
from parting mother and child of however tender age. . . .14

and

[A]s soon after her interment as he could attend to and arrange his domestic af-
fairs in accordance with the changed circumstances of his family in consequence
of this misfortune. . . .15

Although the article about Madison Hemings was written in the first person, Professors
Brodie and Gordon-Reed are almost certainly correct in noting that these are most likely
the words of Samuel Wetmore; and, given his clear anti-Jefferson bias, this raises serious
additional questions about the veracity of the entire account.

turner 06 turner view 4 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 107



108 INDIVIDUAL VIEWS OF ROBERT F. TURNER ET AL.

16. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 8.
17. Dumas Malone & Steven H. Hochman, A Note on Evidence: The Personal History of Madison

Hemings, Journal of Southern History, vol. 41, no. 4, Nov. 1975, at 525.
18. Id.
19. The Albemarle County Minute Book recorded Madison’s height in 1831 as a precise “5:7 3/8

inches high,” whereas Wetmore described him in 1873 as “five feet ten inches in height.” Monticello Re-
port, Appendix H at 12. Adding nearly three inches to Madison’s height might be expected to increase
the credibility of his assertion to be the natural child of the six-foot two-and-one-half-inch tall Thomas
Jefferson.

20. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 441.
21. One might draw a parallel with a war veteran who waits a half century before suddenly claim-

ing great acts of personal heroism during the conflict. It is certainly possible that the accounts are
truthful, but they should be viewed with greater skepticism because the “hero” waited until others
who might confirm or deny the accounts had passed from the scene.

22. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 358.
23. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 17, 44, 150.

As Professor Gordon-Reed admits,16 Samuel Wetmore was a Republican Party activist
who moved to Waverly, Ohio, following the Civil War “in hopes to be useful to the Pike
County Republicans” and revived the local party newspaper.17 According to Professor
Dumas Malone—perhaps the greatest Jefferson scholar to date—Wetmore was regarded
by others as a “carpetbagger,” and “quite clearly, the story was solicited and published for
a propaganda purpose.”18 Wetmore obviously had no first-hand knowledge about Thomas
Jefferson and Sally Hemings, and any alterations to Madison Hemings’ own statement
would further decrease its value as historical evidence. And it seems clear that Wetmore
was not overly concerned with getting his “facts” correct, unless Madison Hemings grew
nearly three inches in height between ages twenty-six and sixty-eight.19

Madison Was the Only Member of His Family to Claim
that Thomas Jefferson Was Their Father

Even if one assumes that Samuel Wetmore captured every nuance uttered by the elderly
Madison Hemings and recorded it perfectly, there is still the question of why, if the story
was true, neither Madison’s mother nor any of his siblings left any record of having made
such an assertion. For that matter, why did Madison wait until nearly a half century after
Thomas Jefferson’s death to assert his claim? Professor Brodie suggests that this delay was
because Madison only “came to sense the importance of the story of his mother and her
children” after moving to Ohio,20 but he lived in Ohio for more than thirty-five years be-
fore his story was recorded. Further, such speculation is hardly kind to a man of Madi-
son Hemings’ reported intelligence (his friend Israel admits that he saw the benefit as
soon as he was freed), and there may be other explanations for why Madison Hemings
waited until most of the people who might credibly contradict his account had passed
from the scene.21

There is also the problem of Madison Hemings’ clear bitterness towards Thomas Jef-
ferson. Professor Brodie22 acknowledges this, as does Professor Gordon-Reed, repeat-
edly.23 Perhaps this bitterness was fully warranted; and if Thomas Jefferson had been his
father and then ignored him, one could easily understand why, after quietly seething for
half a century, an elderly Madison Hemings might have really “unloaded” his emotions
to fellow Jefferson critic Samuel Wetmore. Whether or not this bitterness was justified, the
question is whether Wetmore’s summary of remarks allegedly made by an angry and el-
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24. Obviously, we can’t be certain they did not make such claims. But there is no record of any
such claims, and the nature of the information is such that one would expect someone to have recorded
it if it had been widely discussed.

25. See, e.g., Andrew Burstein, Jefferson’s Rationalizations, 57(1) William & Mary Q. 183 (Jan.
2000).

26. Andrew Burstein, The Inner Jefferson 230–31 (1995).
27. Waverly Watchman, quoted in Malone & Hochman, A Note on Evidence at 527.
28. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly, No. 3, Pike County [Ohio] Republican, Dec. 25, 1873,

at 4.

derly Madison Hemings is the most probative evidence we have as to the pertinent facts
in this inquiry. For without Madison’s 1873 account, and the confirmation by his friend
Israel that will be discussed below, the case for Thomas Jefferson’s paternity rests only on
DNA tests placing him in a group of more than two dozen potential fathers and a lot of
circumstantial speculation.

Even if one assumes Madison Hemings had the best intentions, finest memory, and high-
est integrity — all of which are possible, but none of which are clearly established — his
story still has major problems because of our uncertainty about his sources. Several schol-
ars have assumed that he was merely retelling facts he learned from his mother, Sally
Hemings. This is possible, but it does not explain why he does not mention that, or why
neither Sally nor any of her other children made such claims in the many years after they
were freed and left Monticello. 24

Even if Sally was Madison’s source, there is no assurance that these factual assertions
were true. His mother might have conveyed such a story with the hope that it would in-
still pride in her son and perhaps give him additional confidence as he headed out into
the uncertainty of life on his own. Writing in The Inner Jefferson, Andrew Burstein —
who after the release of the DNA test results would embrace the idea that Thomas Jefferson
fathered children with Sally Hemings25 — reasoned:

The evidence against Jefferson is largely provided by the testimony of Madison
Hemings, Sally’s son who was born in 1805, when Jefferson was sixty-two. Madi-
son told an Ohio newspaper in 1873 that his mother had informed him [sic] that
Thomas Jefferson was his father, and that Sally first carried a child of Jefferson
when she returned from France in 1789. Presumably, Madison believed these
statements to be true. But it is also possible that his claim was contrived—by his
mother or himself — to provide to an otherwise undistinguished biracial car-
penter a measure of social respect. Would not his life have been made more
charmed by being known as the son of Thomas Jefferson than the more obscure
Peter or Samuel Carr?26

A contemporary newspaper in Waverly, Ohio, responded to the publication of Madison’s
“memoirs” with the assertion that “there are at least fifty negroes in this county who lay
claim to illustrious parentage,” and reasoning: “It sounds much better for the mother to
tell her offspring that ‘master’ is their father than to acknowledge to them that some field
hand, without a name, had raised her to the dignity of a mother.”27

To be sure, the language is offensively insensitive, but the underlying argument must
be taken seriously. Indeed, as will be discussed, Madison’s fellow slave at Monticello, Is-
rael Jefferson — who was the subject of a similar Wetmore article later that year — ad-
mitted that he had changed his surname from that of his known father (Gillette) to that
of his master (Jefferson) after gaining his freedom because “it would give me more dig-
nity to be called after so eminent a man.”28
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29. Id. (“Of my father, Thomas Jefferson, I knew more of his domestic than his political life, dur-
ing his lifetime. It is only since his death that I have learned much of the latter. . . . I learned to read
by inducing the white children to teach me the letters and something more; what else I know of books
I have picked up here and there. . . .”)

30. See Chapter Eleven.
31. Reprinted in Jefferson at Monticello 71.
32. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly No. 1.
33. Id.
34. Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx 168 (1996).
35. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly No. 1.
36. I am indebted to Richard Dixon for this observation.
37. B.L. Rayner, Life of Thomas Jefferson 33 (1834).
38. William Linn, The Life of Thomas Jefferson 10 (2d. ed. 1839).
39. My copy is from the second edition, published in 1839, and I am assuming this fact appears

as well in the earlier edition. However, since the second edition came out more than three decades be-
fore publication of the Madison/Wetmore article, the point is unimportant.

We can be fairly confident that Sally Hemings was not the source of all that was in
Madison’s story. First of all, he admits that “much” of his knowledge about Jefferson he
learned not from personal observation but after Jefferson’s death — apparently from
books.29 Indeed, some of the many errors in Madison’s statement as reported by Wet-
more can be found in books about Jefferson published prior to the 1873 interview. Dur-
ing the later part of his life Thomas Jefferson had a number of health problems.30

Nevertheless, in 1862, Charles Scribner published the Reverend Hamilton W. Pierson’s Jef-
ferson at Monticello, based upon lengthy interviews with former overseer Edmund Bacon.
On page 71 of that book, we find this statement about Thomas Jefferson:

He always enjoyed the best of health. I don’t think he was ever really sick until
his last sickness.31

Eleven years later, Madison Hemings’ story asserts:

My father generally enjoyed excellent health. I never knew him to have but one
spell of sickness, and that was caused by a visit to the Warm Springs in 1818.
Till within three weeks of his death he was hale and hearty. . . .”32

Similarly, overseer Bacon asserted that Thomas Jefferson did not have much interest in
agriculture, and Madison Hemings asserted: “Unlike Washington he had but little taste
or care for agricultural pursuits.”33 One must wonder how Madison Hemings would know
about George Washington’s agricultural interests, if not from books — as Washington
died long before Madison was born. The similarity between the comments of Bacon and
Madison Hemings on this issue was noted by Professor Ellis in American Sphinx.34

Some of Madison Hemings’ story pertains to alleged facts that he would have been ex-
tremely unlikely to have personally known while at Monticello, but which appeared in
published materials which Madison or Wetmore might well have seen. For example, Madi-
son is reported to have said that Jefferson “practiced law at the bar of the general court
of the Colony.”35 The statement is true enough, but Thomas Jefferson’s practice before
this court — which was composed of the governor and members of his council — ceased
three decades before Madison Hemings was born, and the court itself had not existed for
more than four decades before it was allegedly “recalled” by Madison Hemings in 1873.36

Among other places, this fact about Jefferson appears on page 33 of B. L. Rayner’s Life of
Jefferson,37 which was published nearly forty years before Madison’s account, and on page
10 of William Linn’s The Life of Thomas Jefferson,38 also first published in 1834.39
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40. See Chapter Three.
41. Like Thomas Turner, Madison (or, more likely, Wetmore, since Madison’s information was likely

provided in an oral interview) spelled Thomas Jefferson’s father-in-law’s name as Wales rather than
Wayles.

42. See Chapter Eight.
43. My own belief is that Madison had heard the story before encountering Wetmore, as there is

a notation in a census report a few years earlier identifying him with the famous president. Wetmore
was a census taker that year, but not necessarily the census taker in Madison’s area. He could have
learned of the claim through a colleague. There has been some suggestion that the notation that Madi-
son was the son of Thomas Jefferson seems to be in a different hand and pen than the other entries—
suggesting that it may have been added later (perhaps by Wetmore?) — and I simply have not had the
time or resources to follow up on this. The issue is not critical to our inquiry, but I mention it in case
other scholars may wish to pursue it.

44. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly No. 1.

Even more troubling, several of the unusual words which appear in the story appear
in the earlier writings of James Callender,40 and a name misspelled in a published account
by Jefferson critic Thomas Turner is misspelled in an identical manner in Madison’s ac-
count.41 It is quite possible that Madison had read a copy of Callender’s 1802 allegations,
perhaps along with other documents circulated by Jefferson’s enemies, prior to his en-
counter with Samuel Wetmore. If so, such writings could have been the source for his
belief that Thomas Jefferson was his father. It is even possible that — just as Professor
Fawn Brodie, a century later, persuaded Eston Hemings’ descendants that their ancestor
was Thomas Jefferson’s son42 — Samuel Wetmore produced copies of the Callender arti-
cles and persuaded Madison that he was the famous president’s child.43 Since the article
provides no source for this assertion, the only thing we can be certain about is that Madi-
son Hemings could not personally have known that the key parts of the article (in terms
of their relevance to our inquiry) attributed to him were true.

Portions of Madison’s Story Are 
Inconsistent with Known Facts

Portions of Madison’s story are almost certainly false, and others are so inconsistent
with facts that we do know as to be very difficult to believe. Assuming for the moment
that these articles contained Madison’s statements unembellished by Samuel Wetmore,
there is no reason to doubt that they were sincerely held beliefs and that Madison was
recounting the truth as he understood it. After all, since the events occurred before his
own birth, he could at best only be passing on statements he obtained from others. But
if his source for the clearly erroneous information was the same source for his contention
that Thomas Jefferson was his father, we need to view that allegation too with a cau-
tious skepticism.

An example of one of the almost certainly untrue stories is Madison’s account of how
he was named. The article asserts:

As to myself, I was named Madison by the wife of James Madison, who was af-
terwards President of the United States. Mrs. Madison happened to be at Mon-
ticello at the time of my birth, and begged the privilege of naming me, promising
my mother a fine present for the honor. She consented, and Mrs. Madison dubbed
me by the name I now acknowledge, but like many promises of white folks to the
slaves she never gave my mother anything.44
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45. The only evidence we have that Madison was born on January 19 is from Madison’s own state-
ment. However, Jefferson’s Farm Book confirms that Madison was born in January 1805. This issue
is not significant for our inquiry, as the weather that January was so bad that neither Jefferson nor the
Madisons would have ventured the long trip to Charlottesville from Washington.

46. See, e.g., Ralph Ketcham, James Madison 444 (1990). I am also indebted to David B. Mat-
tern, Senior Associate Editor of the James Madison Papers Project at the University of Virginia, for
his search of Madison’s papers during this period.

47. Id. at 415, 426.
48. The Family Letters of Thomas Jefferson 265–66 (Edwin Morris Betts & James Adam

Bear, Jr., eds. 1966). I am indebted to Cynthia Harris Burton for calling this letter to my attention.
49. In an 1801 letter to William Dunbar, Jefferson wrote: “I have no doubt but that cold is the

source of more sufferance to all animal nature than hunger, thirst, sickness, & all the other pains of
life & of death itself put together. . . . [W]hen I recollect on one hand all the sufferings I have had from
cold, & on the other all my other pains, the former preponderate greatly.” Jefferson to Dunbar, Jan. 12,
1801, 9 Works of Thomas Jefferson 170 (Fed. ed. 1905). Among many other references to cold
weather, Jefferson wrote in an 1821 letter to John Adams: “During summer I enjoy it’s [sic] temper-
ature, but I shudder at the approach of winter, and wish I could sleep through it with the Dormouse,
and only wake with him in spring, if ever.” Jefferson to Adams, June 1, 1823, reprinted in 2 The Adams-
Jefferson Letters 578 (Lester J. Cappon, ed. 1959).

50. The Family Letters of Thomas Jefferson 266.
51. Id. at 267.

There is not only no evidence that Dolley Madison was present at Monticello when Madi-
son Hemings was born on January 19,45 1805; there is substantial circumstantial evidence
that she was more than one hundred miles away in Washington, D.C. To begin with, we
know that Dolley Madison did not like to be separated from her husband and lived with
him in Washington during his service as secretary of state in the Jefferson administra-
tion. On the few occasions when they were separated, they wrote letters to each other
regularly. We know that James Madison was in Washington, D.C., during January 1805,
and there are no known letters between the two of them from this period.46

The Madisons always left Washington during the heat of August and September, and
normally spent those months at Montpelier—often exchanging visits with Jefferson at Mon-
ticello lasting a week or more at a time. Jefferson normally also returned to Monticello
for at least a few weeks around April, but the Madisons returned less frequently. Neither
family normally attempted to make the trip during the cold winter months.47

In addition, the two people Dolley Madison might most likely have traveled all the
way to Monticello to visit were not present at Monticello when Madison Hemings was
born. On January 7 — twelve days before Madison’s birth at Monticello — President Jef-
ferson wrote a letter to Martha Jefferson Randolph datelined “Washington” and noting that
her husband, Thomas Mann Randolph, had written that he planned to bring Martha to
Washington. But Jefferson warned against attempting the trip, citing “such a spell of se-
vere weather we have not known for years.”48 (Thomas Jefferson hated cold weather and
complained of it often.49) Two days after Madison’s birth, again writing from Washing-
ton, Jefferson expresses concern that he has just received Martha’s letter of 11 January
containing “information of your illness.”50 A third letter, written from Washington one week
later, makes it clear that Jefferson is writing to the ill Martha at her home at Edgehill, not
at Monticello.

In the January 21 letter, Jefferson emphasizes the “dreadful spell of weather,” of which
he asserts he has seen nothing similar “since the last winter we were in Paris” more than
fifteen years earlier. The third letter, dated January 28, reports that the ground had been
covered with snow for twenty-four days (i.e., from about the fourth of January), and the
previous day they had received another six to eight inches of snow.51 A review of Jeffer-
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52. 11 Writings of Thomas Jefferson 49, 53, 62, 69 (Mem. ed. 1903).
53. Since the Papers of James Madison for this period have not yet been published, I am once again

indebted to David B. Mattern for his assistance.
54. [James T. Callender,] More about the President, Richmond Recorder, Sept. 22, 1802. The

point here is not that Sally Hemings was in fact a bad person. There is not the slightest bit of serious
evidence to support such a conclusion. As was discussed in Chapter Three, James Callender was a vi-
cious racist who probably knew almost nothing about Sally Hemings and simply defamed her in his
campaign to hurt Thomas Jefferson. The issue here is not about Sally’s character, but rather that her
public identification with an alleged scandal would make her an unlikely individual for the wife of a
presidential aspirant to approach with such a request. It would be in some ways comparable to the
wife of a potential presidential candidate “begging” Monica Lewinsky to name an illegitimate child after
her husband. (I intend by this comparison no disrespect to Ms. Lewinsky — or to Sally Hemings —
but merely remark about the perceptions of some in the public.)

55. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 208.
56. Id. at 200.
57. Presumably it is unnecessary to document Dolley Madison’s fine reputation.

son’s other correspondence indicates that he left Monticello between September 11 and
October 9, 1804, and did not return until March 1805.52 The Madisons returned to Wash-
ington from Montpelier in early October.53

There is also the question of whether, even had she been present, and given the social
realities of the day, Dolley Madison would have “begged” any Monticello slave for the
privilege of naming a slave child after her husband. Would she have perceived this as a great
honor? Any answer would be pure speculation. But even if one accepts that as being likely,
would it hold true for the notorious Sally Hemings — whom James Callender had libeled
to the world as “a slut as common as the pavement,”54 and Annette Gordon-Reed called
“one of the most vilified women in American history”?55 Surely Dolley Madison was aware
of the harm done to Thomas Jefferson’s reputation by the allegation that Sally Hemings
had a mulatto child named “Tom.” Why on earth would she “beg” this same woman to
name her latest child “Madison”? There is no reason to assume that Dolley Madison
wished to fuel new scandals for the benefit of the Federalists as her husband contem-
plated a presidential campaign of his own.

Even if for some reason Dolley Madison had wished her husband to be so “honored,”
might she not have been more likely to suggest the idea to Thomas or Martha Jefferson
than to “beg” the new mother, a slave? (Professor Gordon-Reed argues that Sally proba-
bly did not name her own children in any event.56) Would Dolley Madison — a woman
of illustrious reputation57 — likely have made such a “bargain” and then failed to follow
up with the promised gift? We obviously do not know the answer to any of these ques-
tions; but even had Dolley Madison been present at Monticello, Madison Hemings’ story
would seem unlikely. This comment is not intended as criticism of Madison, who obvi-
ously had no memory of conversations by others made hours after he was born; nor is it
intended to be critical of Sally Hemings. Despite Callender’s viciously racist rantings,
there is no serious evidence that Sally Hemings was other than a fine and decent woman.
But her image in the minds of the public came entirely from the pen of Callender, and any-
one who “begged” her to name a child after a candidate for national political office would
presumably not be trying to further that candidacy.

Like many of Madison’s reported allegations, this one is contrary to both the known
evidence and common sense. In fairness to Madison, he obviously had no first-hand
knowledge of the alleged incident, and — assuming that neither he nor Samuel Wetmore
simply fabricated the story to provide a flavor of detail while discrediting (because of the
social realities of the day) two of Jefferson’s closest friends with an allegation for which
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58. The stay was actually twenty-six months.
59. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly No. 1.
60. 11 The Papers of Thomas Jefferson 503 (Julian P. Boyd, ed. 1955).
61. Id. at 551.
62. Virginius Dabney, The Jefferson Scandals 103 (1981). (“The notion that a sixteen-year-

old slave would defy her master and seek to drive a hard bargain with him is incredible on its face.”)

there is no evidence — it appears that he was likely misled. Presumably Dolley Madison
was not his source, which would make Sally Hemings the most likely one. If Sally misled
Madison about this incident, how much can we rely upon his other assertions that may
have come from her?

Other Parts of the Story Are Very Difficult to Believe

Also in the “highly incredible” category is Madison Hemings’ account of the alleged “treaty”
between Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson:

Their stay (my mother and Maria’s) [in Paris] was about eighteen [sic58] months.
But during that time my mother became Mr. Jefferson’s concubine, and when he
was called back home she was enciente [French for “pregnant”] by him. He de-
sired to bring my mother back to Virginia with him but she demurred. She was
just beginning to understand the French language well, and in France she was free,
while if she returned to Virginia she would be re-enslaved. So she refused to re-
turn with him. To induce her to do so he promised her extraordinary privileges,
and made a solemn pledge that her children should be freed at the age of twenty-
one years. In consequence of his promises, on which she implicitly relied, she re-
turned with him to Virginia.59

One hardly knows where to start with this incredible statement. A few observations may
be useful:

• The only first-hand commentary we have about Sally’s personality at the time she
traveled to Paris was from the captain of the ship that transported them from Vir-
ginia — who thought that Sally would be of no use to Thomas Jefferson and sug-
gested he take her back to Virginia—and from Abigail Adams, who hosted Jefferson’s
daughter Polly and her maid Sally for three weeks in London while awaiting the
arrival of another Jefferson servant to take them to Paris. Adams — whose char-
acter, judgment, and intelligence are well-documented—described the frightened
slave girl as “quite a child”60 and as wanting “more care”61 than Jefferson’s eight-
year-old daughter Polly. Is it credible that Sally would so quickly have been trans-
formed into a self-assured young woman with the courage and wit to confront
her “master” — the United States Minister to France?62

• Would the proud Thomas Jefferson have tolerated such behavior and submitted
to such a demand? If he found himself in the embarrassing circumstance of hav-
ing impregnated a child servant, who was already blackmailing him into submit-
ting to her demands, would Thomas Jefferson likely have gone to great lengths to
make certain she returned to Monticello with him — where her presence might
easily destroy his cherished reputation? Would he have made sure her room on
the ship was near that of his daughters?

• As a technical matter, to obtain her freedom Sally would have had to retain a French
lawyer and file an expensive lawsuit before a court that might, or might not, have
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63. This issue is discussed in greater detail in Chapter Nine.
64. William Howard Adams, The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson 137 (1997).
65. Jefferson to Paul Bentalou, Aug. 25, 1786, in 10 The Papers of Thomas Jefferson 296.
66. It is certainly possible that Sally could have learned from the servants of other students at the

Abbaye about slaves who had gained their freedom in France by petitioning the court, but presum-
ably the other servants were not slaves. Even if they were cognizant of these legal technicalities, there
might well be risks to their own employment in providing such information to Sally if Martha and
Polly’s powerful father learned they were the reason he lost his slave. In the total absence of relevant
information, we can only speculate; but the assumption that non-slave servants would both have this
knowledge and willingly convey it to Sally is not that obvious.

67. It is certainly possible that Thomas Woodson was Sally’s child. But he clearly was not Thomas
Jefferson’s. Thus, the real point here is that there is little reason to believe that Sally could have had a
child by Thomas Jefferson until years after she allegedly compelled him to yield to her demands in Paris.

68. Indeed, the only source for a child other than Thomas Woodson born to Sally Hemings in
1790 is Madison Hemings’ own statement. James Callender asserted that there was a ten- to twelve-
year-old “Tom” at Monticello in 1802 — which is consistent with a 1790 date of birth — but this ob-
viously could not be the same child that Madison claims died shortly after being born.

interfered with the “property” claimed by the powerful American Minister to
France—who, it should be recalled, was immune from the process of French Courts
by the well-established international legal principle of diplomatic immunity.63

• Then there is the issue of how Sally Hemings, even if she were fluent in French,
would have learned that she was allegedly “free” under French law.64 Unlike Thomas
Jefferson, Sally Hemings was not trained in jurisprudence. And we know that Jef-
ferson himself was unaware of this law until he specifically researched the issue at
the request of a constituent.65 There is not the slightest bit of evidence, besides
Madison’s allegation (concerning facts about which he clearly had no personal
knowledge), that Sally had any knowledge of French law at this time.66

• If we assume that, upon arriving in Paris, Sally suddenly blossomed into a bril-
liant and independent personality broadly cognizant of legal matters, must we
not presume that she also realized that any agreement she negotiated with Thomas
Jefferson in Paris would be absolutely unenforceable once she returned to Vir-
ginia? Surely such a sophisticated young woman would have known that, as a
slave, she had no legal standing in Virginia courts to bring any action against a
Caucasian? It might have been more credible if Madison had simply alleged that,
while in Paris, Thomas Jefferson promised Sally he would free her children. The
idea that the young slave compelled Thomas Jefferson to agree to a “treaty” is sim-
ply not credible. For that matter, nor does it fit with the story that “Tom and Sally”
were madly in love with each other.

• Speaking of Sally Hemings’ children, we must address as well the question of her
remarkable prescience as an immature child in Paris. Now that the DNA studies have
established that Thomas Woodson was not the son of Thomas Jefferson, there is
little reason to believe67 that Sally Hemings had a child before Harriet I was born
in late 1795 — whether by Thomas Jefferson or any other father.68 Is it reasonable
to assume that Sally Hemings would have bargained with Thomas Jefferson for
the eventual freedom of children, the first of who would not be conceived for more
than five years?

• There is serious question about whether the Sally Hemings who stayed with
Abigail Adams would have wanted to be left behind in Paris when Thomas Jef-
ferson and his entourage returned to Monticello — where Sally’s mother and
siblings awaited and where she knew she would be well treated, fed, clothed,
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69. We know that a tutor was hired to teach French to Sally’s brother, James, but this was pre-
sumably because he had to converse in that language in order to be trained as a French chef.

70. “I learned to read by inducing the white children to teach me the letters and something more;
what else I know of [from] books I have picked up here and there, till now I can read and write.”
[Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly No. 1. Presumably, if Sally had been literate she would have taught
her children herself.

71. As an economic matter, a twenty-one-year-old slave was far more valuable than a much older
woman. Female slaves could produce more slaves for the master, while males could perform hard
labor. If Jefferson were willing to free Sally’s future children, promising to give Sally (who was valued
at fifty dollars following Jefferson’s death) her freedom in his will would have been of little conse-
quence to his estate. The only “logic” to the treaty story is that it fits with some of the facts that Madi-
son and Wetmore knew were publicly known in 1873.

72. The Garden and Farm Books of Thomas Jefferson 386 (Robert C. Barron, ed. 1987). We
really don’t know whether Beverly was a few months short of his twenty-fourth birthday or had passed
it; but he was clearly well beyond the age of twenty-one.

73. Lucia Stanton, The Other End of the Telescope: Jefferson through the Eyes of His Slaves, 57
William & Mary Quarterly 141 (Jan. 2000).

74. See Jefferson at Monticello 102.
75. Jefferson’s will is reprinted in Jefferson at Monticello 118.

and otherwise provided for as were all of the Hemings family members. France,
it should be recalled, was at the time on the eve of a violent revolution. Other
than Madison Hemings’ account, there is no reason to believe that Sally had
significant French language skills.69 Indeed, Madison’s account strongly sug-
gests that Sally was not even literate in English two decades after returning from
Paris.70

• There is also the issue of the “extraordinary privileges” Sally was allegedly promised
as a part of this “treaty” arrangement. The available evidence, as will be discussed
in Chapter Six, suggests that Sally received no special consideration from Thomas
Jefferson when compared to other members of the Hemings family — indeed, she
did not even receive her own freedom in his will. Surely, had the two been “lovers”
for decades prior to his death, Thomas Jefferson would at least have given Sally her
freedom rather than risk her being sold and abused by some future master. And
if Sally were so anxious to claim her freedom in Paris, why did she not bargain at
least to be freed upon the death of her famous lover? This version of events makes
absolutely no sense.71

• Indeed, if Sally was nearly as clever and courageous as we are led to believe by the
revisionists, why did she not simply say: “Sweetheart, I’ll go back with you if you
promise to manumit me as soon as we get to Virginia.” He could then pay her a
small “wage” as he had done in Paris, and her children who were seven-eighths
white would have been born free under Virginia law. Callender had not even ar-
rived in the United States, there was no hint of scandal, and Jefferson could eas-
ily have invented a story of some great “service” on Sally’s part to explain the special
treatment in case anyone noticed, e.g., “I was choking on a snail, when she grabbed
me and hugged my chest, freeing my air passage and saving my life!”

• Nor, for that matter, were Sally’s children “freed at the age of twenty-one years.”
Beverly, her oldest son, was probably twenty-four at the time he was recorded as
having “run away” (perhaps with Jefferson’s consent or acquiesence) from Mon-
ticello72; Madison was twenty-two when freed following Jefferson’s death.73 It is
unclear whether Harriet was twenty-one or twenty-two when she reportedly was
informally freed with Jefferson’s consent.74 Eston was released at nineteen pur-
suant to a decision by the administrators of Thomas Jefferson’s will following the
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76. Id.
77. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 212.
78. Id. at 213.
79. However, Jefferson’s will did provide that Madison and Eston should be given their freedom

at the age of twenty-one.

former president’s death.75 Jefferson had instructed that Eston be required to work
for his uncle, John Hemings, for another two years.76

In summary, the allegation of a “treaty” between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings
simply fails to pass the “straight-face” test. Other than Madison Hemings’ unsourced al-
legations—reported second-hand by the anti-Jefferson Wetmore—there is not the slight-
est bit of evidence to support it. It is inconsistent with what little we know about the
personality of Sally Hemings and the great deal we know about Thomas Jefferson. All
things considered, it must be regarded as one of many parts of Madison’s alleged “mem-
oir” that call into question the veracity of the entire document.

Professor Gordon-Reed’s efforts to legitimize and build her case around this docu-
ment are at times almost amusing. Totally ignoring the fact that all of the crucial details
occurred years before Madison was born, and that he thus could have had no first-hand
knowledge of the veracity of his assertions — she writes: “Madison Hemings’s memoirs
must stand or fall on the basis of his credibility alone. To that end, it must be said that
these memoirs are properly described as items of direct evidence that Thomas Jefferson
and Sally Hemings were involved in a relationship.”77 She even attempts a little sleight-of-
hand analysis in suggesting that Madison’s story is corroborated by other evidence:

Sometimes even without his realizing it, a number of details offered in Hem-
ings’s statement give rise to circumstantial evidence that supports his basic claim.
For example, the notion that there was a promise of freedom for Sally Hemings’s
children when they reached the age of twenty-one is supported by the circum-
stances and timing of her children’s departures from Monticello.78

As indicated above, it is simply not true that Sally’s children were “freed” when they
reached the age of twenty-one (or that they departed Monticello upon turning twenty-
one). We know that Beverly Hemings was at least twenty-three (and more likely twenty-
four) when he ran away from Monticello, apparently never to be heard from again by
Thomas Jefferson. Madison did not obtain his freedom until he was twenty-two. We don’t
know how old Harriet was when she finally left (probably twenty-one), and Eston did
not turn twenty-one until well after Thomas Jefferson’s death.79

Even if each of Sally’s children had been freed on their twenty-first birthday, that fact
would not “corroborate” Madison’s 1873 statement. This reasoning might make some
sense if the children had been freed after Madison made his statement or if Madison was
likely unaware of these details. But Madison presumably knew the facts more than four
decades before he gave his statement. It is just as reasonable to conclude that he formu-
lated his testimony to fit with the known facts as that the earlier events independently
corroborate his claims. And since “the circumstances and timing of her children’s depar-
tures from Monticello” do not in any serious way support the allegation that each of them
was set free upon reaching the age of twenty-one, Professor Gordon-Reed’s allegation
makes even less sense.

There are other clear factual errors in the account attributed to Madison — facts
that Madison himself should certainly have known, but which an Ohio journalist like
Samuel Wetmore might not have known. For example, Wetmore claims that Madison
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80. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly No. 1.
81. See Introduction, at 29–38.
82. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly, No. 3, Pike County [Ohio] Republican, Dec. 25, 1873,

at 4.
83. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 1, 23, 128, 164.
84. Id. 245 (emphasis added).
85. [Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly, No. 3, Pike County [Ohio] Republican, Dec. 25, 1873,

at 4.
86. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 246.

asserted that all four of Sally’s children were freed by Thomas Jefferson’s will,80 whereas
we know that, of Sally’s children, only Madison and Eston were mentioned in the will.
Are we to assume that Madison Hemings was knowingly overstating his case, or was
his memory just failing him in his old age? Alternatively, was this erroneous assertion
simply an effort by Samuel Wetmore to add credibility to the anti-Jefferson story he
was writing? Does it matter, in terms of the document’s historical value as a source
for the truth?

The Gordon-Reed Alterations to the Wetmore Article

In the introduction I discussed the alarming alterations contained in Professor Gor-
don-Reed’s transcription of the Wetmore article in the first edition of her Thomas Jeffer-
son and Sally Hemings.81

For example, in the original Wetmore article, Madison is alleged to have said: “My
grandmother was a fullblooded African. . . .”82 This statement is clearly erroneous, as
Sally Hemings’ mother, Betty Hemings, was half-white — a point acknowledged by
Gordon-Reed on page one of her book and repeatedly thereafter.83 This obvious fac-
tual error in the account attributed to Madison is not apparent to readers of the first
edition of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, however, as her appendix has Madison
saying “My great-grandmother was a fullblooded African. . . .”84 (See Figure 1 on page
33.)

Then there is this sentence attributed by Wetmore to Madison: “When Mr. Jefferson
went to France Martha was a young woman grown, my mother was about her age, and
Maria was just budding into womanhood.”85 This might well have come from Madison
Hemings, as he was not born until more than two decades after Jefferson went to France.
But, in reality, when Jefferson went to France Martha was only eleven and younger sister
Maria was only five — hardly likely to have been “budding into womanhood.”

The errors are not material to our inquiry, except that they establish that Madison
Hemings’ knowledge of events prior to his birth was, at best, imperfect. Such obvious
factual mistakes may call into question the reliability of other statements about that era
attributed to Madison Hemings in the Wetmore article. So Professor Gordon-Reed solved
the problem of her witness’ credibility by simply altering the text of the Wetmore article
once again, so in her appendix it reads: “When Mr. Jefferson went to France Martha was
just budding into womanhood.”86 Unlike her alteration of the Coolidge letter, where, in
addition to deleting words, others had to be moved around to produce a coherent sen-
tence with the opposite meaning, in this case all she had to do was to delete a few words.
(Well, a dozen words.) And as a comparison of the two documents demonstrates (see Fig-
ure 2 on page 35), the deletions cannot be explained as merely “skipping a line” during
the transcription.
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87. Id. 248; Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 475. In this instance there may well be an honest expla-
nation for the errors. Microfilm copies sometimes have imperfections (e.g., small white blotches per-
haps caused by lint or dust on the film) that make it difficult to read particular letters or numbers,
and it might well be that a “4” could appear to be a “1” and an “8” confused as a “3.” But the numer-
ous other “errors” are more difficult to explain.

88. His delight at having returned to Albemarle County to find “the proud and haughty [Thomas
Jefferson] Randolph in poverty” is particularly apparent. [Samuel Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly,
No. 3, Pike County [Ohio] Republican, Dec. 25, 1873, at 4. This article appears in the Monticello
Report, Appendix E at 32. Hereinafter cited as “[Samuel Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly, No. 3.”

89. For example, Israel alleges that Jefferson “was hardly ever sick. . . .” Id. For a discussion of Jef-
ferson’s health problems, see Chapter Eleven.

90. Monticello Report, Appendix E at 41.
91. [Samuel Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly, No. 3 at 32.

There are other errors in the Gordon-Reed transcription as well. Indeed, several of
these are identical to errors that were made in transcribing the same document for the ap-
pendix of Fawn Brodie’s volume, Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History. For example,
Brodie inexplicably transcribed the wrong date for Madison’s marriage and his age at that
time. Interestingly, Professor Gordon-Reed made precisely the same errors, substituting
1834 for 1831 and 28 for 23.87

However, in her substantive “correction,” Professor Brodie properly used brackets to
indicate her alteration of “grandmother” to “[great-] grandmother” in the original Wet-
more article. That’s what scholars who alter text are supposed to do, but it does not solve
the problem that “flagging” the error in the statement attributed to Madison undermines
its credibility. Surely Madison knew the difference between his grandmother and his great-
grandmother, but perhaps Samuel Wetmore did not. The story becomes more credible
if the brackets are deleted and Madison is portrayed as getting more of his facts right.

The Infinite Monkey Theorem asserts that an infinite number of monkeys given an
infinite number of typewriters and an infinite amount of time would eventually type
Hamlet. It is theoretically possible that Professor Gordon-Reed just inadvertently hap-
pened to delete the precise words necessary to correct Madison Hemings’ error about a
five-year-old girl “budding into womanhood” while maintaining a coherent sentence. If
one is prepared to accept those convenient “errors” as innocent (keeping in mind that
Professor Gordon-Reed was a member of the prestigious Harvard Law Review), then the
rather dramatic alterations to the Coolidge letter (see Figures 3 and 4 on pages 36 and 37)
are but another step down the ladder of credulity. 

The Statement Attributed to Israel Jefferson

Nine months after the Madison Hemings story was published, Samuel Wetmore sought
to corroborate it with an interview with another former Monticello slave, Israel Jeffer-
son. It was clear — assuming for the moment once again that Wetmore reported accu-
rately — that Israel shared Madison’s bitterness,88 and he made some of the same factual
mistakes that appeared in the earlier piece.89

Shortly after Israel’s story was published, a copy was apparently sent to Jefferson’s
grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph, who wrote a scathing six-page letter to the edi-
tor in response.90 Citing Jefferson’s handwritten records, he convincingly points out error
after error in the article. Whereas Israel had written of witnessing the excitement as Jef-
ferson “and other members of his family” prepared to leave for Washington to assume
the duties of president of the United States,91 the president’s grandson responded:
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92. Monticello Report, Appendix E at 41.
93. [Samuel Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly, No. 3 at 4.
94. As will be discussed in Chapter Six, the key to being freed was not being a child of Sally Hem-

ings but being a male descendant of Betty Hemings, Sally’s mother. Sally’s brothers Robert and James
were freed by Jefferson in the 1790s, and with but a single exception the remaining sons of Betty’s
daughters Mary, Bett, and Sally were freed in Jefferson’s will—along with Sally’s brother John. A use-
ful annotated genealogical chart appears in Jefferson at Monticello, Table B, following page 24.
I say that Sally’s sons, Madison and Eston, were treated less favorably, because Burwell received im-
mediate freedom and $300, John Hemings and Joe Fosset received their tools, freedom after one year,
and (like Burwell) a “comfortable log-house” on Jefferson’s land; while John Hemings also received
“the service of his two apprentices, Madison and Eston Hemings, until their respective ages of twenty-
one years, at which period respectively, I gave them their freedom.” Id. at 121–22.

95. [Samuel Wetmore,] Life Among the Lowly, No. 3 at 4.

Israel is made to say that he recollects distinctly, the departure of Mr. J and fam-
ily for Washington D.C. when he went to assume the duties of President. Mr.
Jefferson left home alone, taking not even a servant with him Dec. 1st. 1800 to
preside over the Senate as Vice President where he was March 3 1801. Israel, by
the record was born Dec. 28 1800. He is thus made to recollect distinctly events
occurring a month before his birth.

He is made to say that he commenced the duties of life as waiter at Monticello
and attendant on Mr. J’s person at the commencement of his second term March
1805. He was then at the mature age of four years and his whole family on the
list of slaves on the farm leased to Mr. Craven 1801 to 1809.92

Israel (or Wetmore) appears to be the source of the popular myth that Thomas Jefferson
freed Sally Hemings and her four children in his will. He writes:

Mr. Jefferson died on the 4th day of July, 1826, when I was upwards of 29 years
of age. His death was an affair of great moment and uncertainty to us slaves, for
Mr. Jefferson provided for the freedom of 7 servants only: Sally, his chambermaid,
who took the name of Hemings, her four children — Beverly, Harriet, Madison
and Eston — John Hemmings [sic], brother to Sally, and Burrell Colburn [sic],
an old and faithful body servant.93

In reality, as will be discussed in Chapter Six, Sally Hemings was not freed in Thomas
Jefferson’s will; and of the five members of the Hemings family who were, only two were
descendants of Sally Hemings—and they were treated far less favorably than Sally’s brother
John or the freed sons of her sisters Mary and Bett.94

Another difference concerns whether Israel had been responsible for kindling Thomas
Jefferson’s fire each morning and waiting on his person — which Israel presumably had
mentioned to add credence to his claim to have “intimate” knowledge of Jefferson’s rela-
tionship with Sally Hemings.95 He is reported by Wetmore to have said:

The private life of Thomas Jefferson, from my earliest remembrances, in 1804,
till the day of his death, was very familiar to me. For fourteen years I made the
fire in his bedroom and private chamber, cleaned his office, dusted his books, run
of errands and attended him about home. . . . I also know that his servant, Sally
Hemmings [sic] . . . was employed as his chamber-maid, and that Mr. Jefferson
was on the most intimate terms with her, that, in fact, she was his concubine. This
I know from my intimacy with both parties, and when Madison Hemmings [sic]
declares that he is a natural son of Thomas Jefferson, the author of the Decla-
ration of Independence, and that his brothers Beverly and Eston and sister Har-
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96. Id.
97. Id.
98. Farm Book 386.
99. See, e.g., Farm Book 382 (listing “Burwell” first among “Roll of Negroes. 1810. Feb. in Albe-

marle. House etc.”; and no reference on this list to any “Israel”). See also id. at 402, 403, 409, 412, 418.
100. As has already been discussed, based upon Thomas Jefferson’s records, Sally Hemings ap-

pears to have been a relatively minor figure at Monticello.
101. Lucia Stanton, Free Some Day: The African-American Families of Monticello 94,

123 (2000). The source cited by Ms. Stanton is a letter from one of Jefferson’s granddaughters from
Poplar Forest reporting that Israel was temporarily serving as “chief waiter.”

102. Farm Book 128, 168–70. The Craven lease was written on August 22, 1800, prior to Israel’s
birth, and was to commence on the first day of the new year.

103. Stanton, Free Some Day 87–88.
104. 3 Henry S. Randall, The Life of Thomas Jefferson 675 (1858).
105. Jefferson at Monticello 72.
106. Stanton, Free Some Day 131.

riet are of the same parentage, I can as conscientiously confirm his statement as
any other fact which I believe from circumstances but do not positively know.96

In response, Thomas Jefferson Randolph asserted that “Jefferson rose at dawn and always
kindled his own fire,” and alleged: “Israel was never employed in any post of trust or con-
fidence about the house at Monticello.”97

What is one to make of this “he said, she said” scenario? Can we ever really know the
truth? In this controversy—that occurred nearly half-a-century after his death—Thomas
Jefferson comes to our rescue by way of his remarkable record-keeping behavior. We can
confirm with reasonable certainty — from records made in Thomas Jefferson’s own hand
decades before this dispute occurred—that Israel was wrong about his date of birth98 and
thus could not have witnessed Jefferson’s departure for Washington. We know from nu-
merous sources that Sally Hemings’ nephew, Burwell Colbert, not Israel, was Thomas
Jefferson’s personal servant.99 (Nor, for that matter, is there any evidence besides these
two stories in the Pike County Republican that Sally Hemings was ever Thomas Jefferson’s
“chambermaid.”100) There was one exception: for a brief period during 1819 — long after
Sally Hemings stopped having children—Burwell Colbert fell ill and Israel Gillette did tem-
porarily serve as the chief waiter at Jefferson’s Poplar Forest estate about 70 miles from
Monticello.101

We can also confirm Thomas Jefferson Randolph’s statement that Israel did not even live
at Monticello until he was more than eight years old, which was long after Sally Hemings’
last child was born.102 This point is acknowledged by the senior historian at Monticello.103

What about Israel Jefferson’s claim that he kindled Thomas Jefferson’s fire? Fifteen
years before that statement was made, historian Henry Randall included as an appendix
to volume three of his Life of Thomas Jefferson a letter from Thomas Jefferson Randolph
which stated “He always made his own fire.”104 Four years later, another book published
this statement by former Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon: “He never had a servant make
a fire in his room in the morning, or at any other time, when he was at home. He always
had a box filled with nice dry wood in his room, and when he wanted fire he would open
it and put on the wood.”105 There is, however, evidence that Israel Gillette was responsi-
ble for taking firewood to the Monticello kitchen.106

Two things might be offered in Israel Jefferson’s defense. First, he was seventy-three years
old when the interview was published, and he was recalling events that occurred, in at least
one instance, even before he was born. More important, the record we have to examine
is presumably not the statement of Israel Jefferson, but rather an article by an anti-Jef-
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107. One never makes such a conclusion casually. However, in this case, we are not just dealing
with a faulty memory of early childhood events, but an elaborate portrayal of a role at Monticello
that clearly had no basis in reality.

108. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 174.
109. See, e.g., id. at 11, 224.
110. B.G. Burkett & Glenna Whitley, Stolen Valor: How the Vietnam Generation Was

Robbed of its Heroes and its History (1998).

ferson political activist who would have us believe that he is accurately conveying Israel
Jefferson’s recollections. We cannot with great confidence sort out the details of what may
have happened more than a century ago. Perhaps Israel Jefferson embellished his back-
ground to help his friend, or perhaps his comments were reported inaccurately to sup-
port Wetmore’s personal agenda. We can recognize that the statement attributed to Israel
Jefferson is filled with errors — and probably falsehoods107 — and give it no greater con-
sideration than it deserves.

Conclusions

What can be concluded from the 1873 Pike County Republican “memoirs” of Madi-
son Hemings? It is difficult to quarrel with the conclusion of Professor Gordon-Reed
that “not every word in Hemings’s statement is a lie.”108 Indeed, that may understate
the case for his veracity. Perhaps Madison Hemings believed every word of his statement—
if, in fact, the article reflected his views in the first place. There is really no need to
question his character or truthfulness, as it is for our purposes unimportant whether
the many errors in the article constitute intentional falsehoods on his part or instead
reflect misinformation provided to him by others — perhaps compounded by the nor-
mal problems associated with attempting to recall details that occurred a half-century
earlier. 

It does not matter whether Madison Hemings was a bitter ex-slave who conspired with
Samuel Wetmore or an innocent victim of Wetmore’s clear anti-Jefferson political agenda.
The end product is the same—an unreliable piece of political propaganda, largely founded
at best on unsourced hearsay, and peppered with clear factual errors and incredible ac-
counts about which Madison Hemings clearly had no personal knowledge. It was not
racism, but sound professional judgment, that led past generations of historians to rely
instead upon the eyewitness testimony of Edmund Bacon, Thomas Jefferson Randolph,
and Ellen Randolph Coolidge.

It has been suggested109 that the primary reason prominent Jefferson historians over the
years have concluded that Edmund Bacon’s eyewitness testimony was more credible than
the statement attributed to Madison Hemings was that Madison was black and the his-
torians were white. Ignoring for the moment the reality that all of Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren were apparently seven-eighths white, it is obvious that the tendency of many people
to embellish their own histories transcends racial lines. 

Indeed, the sad reality is that people of all colors and races occasionally find it de-
sirable to falsify their background. This fact was recently brought into focus brilliantly
in the book Stolen Valor,110 which discusses hundreds of cases in which American men
falsified claims involving alleged military service in Vietnam. Rich, poor, black, brown,
and white, the perpetrators included judges, legislators, teachers, and convicted felons.
Their only common feature was an apparent belief that pretending to be a combat vet-
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eran of the Vietnam War would benefit them. And for similar reasons, people of all
colors and economic circumstances have been claiming famous ancestry throughout
history.

Addendum: 
The Ellis Revelations

As will be discussed in the Postscript at the end of this volume, a few weeks after our
report was made public the history profession was shocked by the revelation by the Boston
Globe that Professor Joseph Ellis — who played such a critical role in reversing the con-
ventional wisdom about the Jefferson-Hemings controversy and had just won the 2001
Pulitzer Prize in History — had a long history of telling untruths to his students and oth-
ers dating back decades. Among other falsehoods, he told his students he served in com-
bat in Vietnam as a paratrooper, whereas the record shows he spent his entire military service
teaching history at West Point. He told stories of catching the winning touchdown in a
homecoming football game, whereas his high school yearbook showed his only foray onto
the gridiron was as a member of the band. Claims of having been a civil rights activist in
Alabama and an anti-war activist at Yale also proved to be false. Many of his supporters
emphasized that there was no suggestion that his dishonesty influenced his professional
writings, but a review of his repeated misstatement of the facts in the DNA story — at a
time when Ellis was known to be involved in the effort to stop the impeachment of Pres-
ident Clinton for sexual improprieties — raises serious questions about that assumption. 

This issue will be addressed in greater detail in the Postscript.
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1. Winthrop D. Jordan, White Over Black 466 (1968). I have not researched this issue care-
fully enough to take a stand on whether Winthrop Jordan or Dumas Malone first noted this point. I
know from a letter I received from Professor Forrest McDonald that Winthrop Jordan, as a Ph.D. can-
didate at Brown University in the 1960s, made the point to him. Other scholars have credited the dis-
covery to Professor Malone. See, e.g., Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx 365 (1996). For present
purposes, it is not necessary to resolve the matter.

2. Fraser D. Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection? The Relationship between Thomas Jeffer-
son’s Visits to Monticello and Sally Hemings’s Conceptions, 57 William & Mary Quarterly 198 (Jan.
2000).

3. “The probability of getting six visit-conception coincidences ranges between 0.8 and 1.5 per-
cent.” Id. at 206. As discussed in Chapter Two, it is far from clearly established that Sally Hemings
had more than five children.

4. Id. at 210.
5. Jan Lewis, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings Redux: Introduction, 57 William & Mary Quar-

terly 122 (Jan. 2000).
6. Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 195 (1997) (emphasis

added.).

5

Thomas Jefferson’s Visitation 
Patterns to Monticello and Their 
Correlation with Sally Hemings’
Conceptions

In his prize-winning 1968 history White Over Black, Professor Winthrop D. Jordan
appears to have been the first scholar to assert that Thomas Jefferson was home at Mon-
ticello “nine months prior to each birth”1 by Sally Hemings. More recently, Dr. Fraser D.
Neiman, the Director of Archaeology at Thomas Jefferson’s home, Monticello, has pub-
lished a computer-assisted quantitative analysis in the prestigious William & Mary Quar-
terly2 which, if I understand it correctly, concludes that this correlation between Jefferson’s
presence and Hemings’ conceptions establishes a 99 percent probability that Thomas Jef-
ferson was the father of Sally’s children.3 Dr. Neiman’s concludes that “[s]erious doubt about
the existence and duration of the relationship and about Jefferson’s paternity of Hem-
ings’s six children can no longer be reasonably sustained.”4 This statistical study has been
hailed by believers in Jefferson’s paternity as being likely to “quiet those who have resisted
accepting Jefferson’s paternity.”5

Professor Annette Gordon-Reed had previously written that the “pattern of Sally Hem-
ings’s conceptions of children and Jefferson’s presence at Monticello is perhaps the most
compelling evidence of the existence of a relationship between the two.”6 This was also one
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7. Eric S. Lander & Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Father, Nature, Nov. 5, 1998, at 13.
8. Five months after our report was released, one of the few public criticisms of our work took

us to task for describing the Neiman study as “the Monte Carlo study” and asserted “‘the Monte Carlo
study’ is a nickname that the Commission itself gave to the article in the course of its meeting.” Thomas
W. Jones, The “Scholars Commission” Report on the Jefferson-Hemings Matter: An Evaluation by Genealogical
Proof Standards, National Genealogical Society Quarterly 213 (Sept. 2001). In reality, Dr.
Neiman himself described his methodology as “[t]he Monte Carlo study” on page 208 and used the
term Monte Carlo more than two dozen times in just six pages to identify a major part of his work. I
am told that Monte Carlo simulations are quite common in science.

9. Conversation with Dr. White McKenzie Wallenborn.
10. Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection 199.
11. Obviously, if Thomas Jefferson were the father of Sally Hemings’ male children they would pass

down his Y chromosome; but no serious scientist would try to establish paternity by simply assum-
ing such a relationship and then doing a scientific comparison of Eston Hemings’ DNA with Eston Hem-
ings’ DNA and announcing a match. This would be but a logical tautology.

12. Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection 198. Various sources give the average human ges-
tation period as 266 or 267 days, but the difference is of no significant relevance for our purposes. This
“average” can vary by weeks in individual cases of full-term birth.

of the three arguments relied upon by Professors Lander and Ellis in Nature for the as-
sertion that Thomas Jefferson was the father of one or more of Sally’s children.7

“Junk Science”

Thomas Jefferson was a man of science, and he would expect us to respect both the re-
sults of DNA testing (a technology that surely would have fascinated him) and any seri-
ous logical analysis—especially one based upon mathematics. However, he would also expect
us to be rigorous in our examination of the methodology used and the assumptions upon
which scientific analysis is premised. This is where Dr. Neiman’s study appears to have se-
rious shortcomings.

Candidly, to borrow a term used by several of my colleagues during our Dulles sessions
of the Scholars Commission, Neiman’s “Monte Carlo”8 study struck me as being “junk sci-
ence” long before I became involved in a technical discussion with scientists who con-
firmed its fatal deficiencies.

Another term that was used during the Dulles meetings was “GIGO”—computerese for
“Garbage In, Garbage Out,” or “if your input is not reliable, your output from the com-
puter will be no better.” As our report reflects, none of us was impressed by it. Nor was I
particularly surprised when a member of the Monticello Research Committee told me
that, after Dr. Neiman completed his computer simulations, he entered their next meet-
ing, slapped his papers on the table, and exclaimed with glee: “I’ve got him! I’ve got him!”9

To begin with, the paper includes some distracting factual errors. Neiman writes: “Mol-
ecular geneticists found the Jefferson-Y haplotype in recognized male-line descendants of
Thomas Jefferson,”10 when in fact there are no such descendants.11 Jefferson’s only chil-
dren to reach maturity were both daughters, and the DNA samples used in the tests were
from male-line descendants of Thomas Jefferson’s cousins.

It is also inaccurate to say that Thomas Jefferson was at Monticello nine months be-
fore each of Sally’s children was born — or even 267 days, to use Dr. Neiman’s figure for
the human gestation period.12 Using Dr. Neiman’s figures, for example, we find an esti-
mate that Beverly Hemings was conceived on July 8, 1797 (a nine-month gestation would
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13. I am indebted to Dr. William C. Blackwelder, a Fellow of the American Statistical Associa-
tion, for this observation.

14. In using the term monogamous I do not mean to imply that Sally Hemings necessarily had
freedom to choose her sexual partner(s).

15. Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings, Jan. 2000 (hereinafter referred to as Monticello Report) Appendix E.

16. Lucia Stanton, Slavery At Monticello 21 (1996).
17. I refer here to his allegation that a child was born soon after Sally returned from Paris, with-

out passing judgment on whether the “Tom” referred to by James Callender was Thomas Woodson,
someone else, or a fabrication.

have begun on July 1), and that Thomas Jefferson had not been at Monticello since May
5 and did not return until July 11. While it is certainly possible that Sally did not become
pregnant until after the estimated conception date, it seems somewhat more likely statistically
that she conceived prior to Jefferson’s return.

Roughly ninety percent of mothers give birth within two weeks of their estimated due
date, permitting us to identify a four-week conception window during which Beverly was
likely conceived. For more than sixty percent of this conception window, Thomas Jeffer-
son was not present at Monticello.

Thus, statistically, one would presumably have to conclude that it was somewhat less
rather than more likely that Thomas Jefferson was present at Monticello when Beverly
Hemings was conceived. This observation is hardly dispositive of the issue, as the data do
suggest that Thomas Jefferson could have been present at Monticello when Sally conceived
Beverly. But if, based solely on his visitation patterns, the odds are that Jefferson was not
the father of Beverly Hemings, it follows ipso facto that there is less than a fifty-fifty chance
that he was the father of all of Sally Hemings’ children.13

The One-Father Assumption

Neither can science change the fact that any statistical study of the conception coinci-
dences, whether or not it accounts for conception-window absences, must rely on nu-
merous assumptions about circumstances two centuries ago. Some of these assumptions
are far more than incidental. For example, the Neiman study simply assumes that all of
Sally Hemings’ children must have had the same father. There is not only no reliable ev-
idence to support this assumption, there is credible eyewitness testimony that, if Sally
Hemings was monogamous,14 it was with someone other than Thomas Jefferson. And if
either of these possibilities is true (that Sally was monogamous with someone else or had
children by multiple fathers), then Dr. Neiman’s (or anyone else’s) statistical analysis
based upon Jefferson’s presence at Monticello becomes irrelevant to our inquiry.

Two arguments have been offered to support the conclusion that Sally Hemings was
monogamous. In 1873, her son Madison Hemings reportedly told a journalist that Thomas
Jefferson was the father of all of his mother’s children.15 But he gives no source for that
information, and it is clear from the circumstances that he could not possibly have known
the truth from his own observations. As harsh a thought as it may be to ponder, Monti-
cello scholar Lucia Stanton quotes former slave Henry Bibb as writing in 1849: “It is al-
most impossible for slaves to give a correct account of their male parentage. . . .”16

Madison Hemings was not present at his own conception or that of any Hemings child
born in 179017 or those of Harriet I, Beverly, or Harriet II. He would have been but an
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18. Jefferson at Monticello 102 (James A. Bear, Jr., ed. 1967). This statement will be addressed
at greater length in Chapter Ten.

19. Historians have certainly quoted Thomas Jefferson Randolph’s assertion that Peter Carr said
to his brother Samuel that “you and I” brought disgrace to Jefferson in the Hemings matter, as well
as his letter to the Pike County Republican alleging that paternity of Sally’s children had been “admit-
ted by others (rather than another).” See Chapter Ten. While some historians have casually speculated
about who the “father” of Sally’s children might have been, I am unaware of any major Jefferson
scholar before the 1990s actually concluding on the basis of scholarly research that Sally was monog-
amous.

20. Merrill D. Peterson, Thomas Jefferson & the New Nation 707 (1970) (emphasis added.).
21. Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection fn.12; see also p. 208 concerning the “pattern of Jef-

ferson’s visits to Monticello, a pattern that is unlikely to have been identical to the pattern of arrivals
and departures for his male-line relatives.” This requirement of an “identical pattern of presence” is
also relied upon in the Monticello Report (at 7).

infant when Eston was conceived. One need not intend any disrespect for Madison Hem-
ings, or doubt the sincerity of the statement attributed to him, to note that a statement
that is either unsourced hearsay (possibly ultimately based upon his knowledge of the
Callender charges) or supposition ought not be given greater weight than the eyewitness
observations of Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon, who alleged that, early in the morn-
ing while arriving for work, he had repeatedly seen a man other than Thomas Jefferson
leaving Sally Hemings’ room.18

Nor is the fact that Jefferson historians have not alleged that Sally was not monogamous—
assuming for the moment it is even an accurate statement19 —serious evidence of anything
beyond the fact that their interest in Sally ended when they concluded that she was not
Thomas Jefferson’s “concubine.” From the surviving documentary evidence, Sally Hemings
and her children were very minor figures at Monticello—far less important than many of
her relatives. (See Figure 7 on page 141.) As the late Professor Merrill Peterson—formerly
the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Professor of History at the University of Virginia,
and widely regarded as the dean of living Jefferson scholars following the death of Dumas
Malone—wrote in his classic study, Thomas Jefferson and the New Nation: “It is of no historical
importance, but the best guess is that Sally’s children were fathered by Peter Carr. . . .”20

There is no evidence that any of the major Jefferson scholars who have consistently re-
jected the allegations about Sally Hemings reached serious conclusions about whether Sally
had one or more sexual partners—their consensus conclusion was merely that Thomas
Jefferson was not the father of her children. And again, obviously, if Sally was not monog-
amous, the factual foundation, such as it is, upon which the Neiman study is based collapses.

Stacking the Deck

Another problem with the Neiman study is its apparent assumption that any other
candidate for paternity would have to have had “identical arrival and departure dates” as
Thomas Jefferson at Monticello.21 This certainly would decrease the probability of a sta-
tistical match, but it is an unnecessary complication of the problem and essentially irrel-
evant. Obviously, all that would be necessary for someone other than Thomas Jefferson
to have fathered any or all of Sally’s children would have been for that person to have
been present (wherever Sally was) during the period of conception. To assume that he
(or they) had to arrive on precisely the same day, remain the same amount of time, and
then depart on the day Thomas Jefferson did, is to establish a condition that makes sense
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22. “In the Monte Carlo approach, the probability of an observed outcome is estimated by com-
paring it to a very large number of random outcomes generated by a simulation model of the process
responsible for the observation.” Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection, at 203.

23. This is not to question that a relative or friend might not stop by briefly to pick up or drop
off a document or for some other purpose while Jefferson was away.

24. Winthrop D. Jordan, Hemings and Jefferson: Redux, in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jeffer-
son 41 (Jan Ellen Lewis & Peter S. Onuf, eds. 1999) (emphasis added.).

only if one is trying to increase the apparent probability that Thomas Jefferson was the
father.

An even more serious flaw in the methodology is the assumption of “random”22 be-
havior on the part of other potential fathers. It does not take a rocket scientist to under-
stand that Thomas Jefferson’s friends and relatives would generally23 schedule their visits
to Monticello to coincide with his presence there — their presumptive purpose being vis-
iting with him, not taking part in a public tour of the plantation. Furthermore, they
might be somewhat more likely to visit immediately after he returned home — to wel-
come him and perhaps receive the latest reports on events in Washington and the world—
than during any other particular time of his visit. Depending upon the length of his visit,
they might return again; but knowledge that he had arrived or was about to return would
presumably precipitate a desire for a visit.

To illustrate the fallacy underlying Dr. Neiman’s approach, let us consider a slightly dif-
ferent hypothesis. Suppose it is learned that, on six occasions over a period of seven years,
visitors to Monticello suffer some similar harm (food poisoning, stolen property, beatings
by unknown assailants—it does not matter greatly for our purposes). During these seven
years, Thomas Jefferson is present at Monticello approximately half of the time. A compar-
ison of the dates of the harmful incidents shows that Jefferson was at Monticello when each
visitor suffered harm. If we were following Dr. Neiman’s methodology, we would then sim-
ply assume that there had to be a single culprit, design a sophisticated statistical model, and
learn that it is almost certain that Thomas Jefferson was poisoning, assaulting, or stealing the
belongings of his visitors. This conclusion is supported by a scientific test simulating 400,000
possible scenarios, and figures do not lie. But then someone observes that the only time vis-
itors came to Monticello was when Thomas Jefferson was present and there is no serious
evidence the same individual committed every crime. Does that affect the reliability of our
scientific study? Of course it does—and it would even if we identified a small number of ex-
ceptions when people did briefly stop in at Monticello when Jefferson was absent.

Cause and Effect

Discussing the assertion that Thomas Jefferson was at Monticello nine months before
each of Sally’s children was born, Professor Winthrop Jordan commented in Sally Hem-
ings and Thomas Jefferson that this “obviously . . . provided no firm proof of paternity. His
presence at Monticello might well have resulted in rearrangements concerning who occu-
pied what room and most certainly would have altered the pattern of visits to the planta-
tion not only from distant admirers and acquaintances but also from relatives and friends
from the neighborhood.”24

Another contributor to this same volume — a book characterized by its contributors’
widespread acceptance of the Jefferson-Hemings story—added that “It was his [Jefferson’s]
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25. Joshua D. Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum
Virginia, in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 8 (emphasis added.).

26. Professor McDonald notes that Jefferson’s letters indicate he left on 9 September for a nine-
day trip to his Bedford property (Poplar Forest). I reached the same conclusion after examining sev-
eral editions of Jefferson’s papers. However, Cynthia Burton wrote me just as this book was going to
press that, after carefully examining Jefferson’s Memorandum Books for the period, she believes that
Jefferson may have remained at Monticello until as late as September 10 and returned as early as the
17th.

27. Monticello Report, Appendix F at 1 (emphasis added.).
28. See, e.g., The Garden and Farm Books of Thomas Jefferson 304, 452 (Robert C. Baron,

ed. 1987).
29. See, e.g., 1 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 263 n.11 (“During Jefferson’s prolonged ab-

sences from Virginia after 1783, Martin [Hemings] apparently was at liberty to seek employment
where he pleased, and at one point was in the service of James Monroe.”); and id. 342 n.36.

wont throughout his life to entertain large numbers of guests, and a constant stream of
visitors made its way to Albemarle County to call whenever he was at Monticello.”25 And
yet Dr. Neiman premised his statistical analysis on the assumption that visitors to Mon-
ticello would behave randomly.

Nor, for that matter, are the data being relied upon in these assessments totally accu-
rate. With respect to Jefferson’s visits, the problems range from trivial to possibly sig-
nificant. For example, in the calculations concerning the only Hemings child linked by
DNA to a Jefferson male, my colleague in this inquiry, Professor Forrest McDonald, has
observed both that the calculations ignored the fact that 1808 was a leap year; and, far more
importantly, ignored the fact that Thomas Jefferson was away from Monticello for as much
as nine days overlapping Sally’s probable conception window.26 Even a cursory review of
the major collections of Jefferson’s writings would have revealed that trip.

Where Was Sally?

If the revisionist scholars have been careless with Jefferson’s visitation dates to Mon-
ticello, the lack of evidence in surviving records precludes anything more than guesswork
on whether Sally Hemings may have been at Monticello on any given day. Indeed, it is
remarkable how often the total absence of data is used as evidence to make an argument
in the speculation about Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings. Thus, the Monticello Re-
port asserts: “There is no record that Sally Hemings was anywhere but at Monticello from
1790 to 1826.”27 Given the apparent dearth of documentation on Sally’s activities subse-
quent to her return from Paris, one might have argued with equal validity that “there is
no record that Sally Hemings was clearly present at Monticello when Eston Hemings was
conceived,” or “there is no evidence Sally Hemings was not in New York for two years be-
tween 1790 and 1826.” Thomas Jefferson both loaned and leased slaves to relatives, friends,
and others,28 and some of the more privileged members of the Hemings family were even
allowed to hire themselves out during his absence and keep their earned income.29 We
know from surviving records that this occurred with respect to certain slaves, but we can
not be sure it did not happen with others. There is no reason to be confident that a record
of every such transaction would have survived after nearly two centuries.

The uncertainty about Sally’s presence at Monticello is not mere idle speculation: Cyn-
thia Burton has documented at least one period during 1790 when Sally was apparently
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30. Burton, Jefferson Vindicated 106. Ms. Burton notes that in an October 1790 letter to her
brother-in-law Thomas Mann Randolph, Mary (Polly) Jefferson wrote “we were at Cumberland when
you sent for [S]ally but she was not well enough to have gone. . . .” The letter is available at http://mem-
ory.loc.gov/master/mss/mtj/mtj1/012/1300/1351.jpg.

31. Letter from Henry S. Randall to James Parton on Jefferson and the “Dusky Sally Story,” June 1,
1868, reprinted in Milton E. Flower, James Parton: The Father of Modern Biography 237
(1951), reprinted in Monticello Report, Appendix E at 25.

32. Id.
33. However, in this instance Martha Jefferson’s statement would still be inadmissible hearsay, as

it was recounted years later by Henry Randall with the assertion that he had been told the story by
Martha’s son. Even if Martha and Thomas Jefferson Randolph were known never to have told a lie,
their credibility in this instance can be no greater than that of historian Henry Randall — who could
have fabricated the entire matter.

34. See Chapter Ten.

away from Monticello.30 There also exists a record of a death-bed statement attributed to
Jefferson’s eldest daughter, Martha — reportedly confirmed by her son, Thomas Jeffer-
son Randolph — that Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson were “far distant from each
other . . . for fifteen months prior” to the birth of the child that most resembled the Pres-
ident.31 Historian Henry S. Randall, whose three-volume The Life of Thomas Jefferson was
published in 1858, wrote in a letter a decade later that, while reviewing “an old account
book of the Jeffersons” he was able “to prove the fifteen months separation.”32 Perhaps
everyone is lying to cover up Thomas Jefferson’s indiscretions; or perhaps records that
would document Sally Hemings’ absence from Monticello at the time one of her children
was conceived have been lost or misplaced over the years. The point is that, given these
statements and the total absence of documents clearly establishing that Sally was at Mon-
ticello when each of her children was conceived, we simply do not know the truth.

Deathbed testimony is often made an exception to the judicial prohibition against
“hearsay” evidence because it is thought to be unusually reliable,33 and Martha Jefferson
had a reputation for veracity and good character.34 If Martha Jefferson did make the state-
ment, it does not sound like an intentional falsehood — as she is reminding her children
of a fact she asserts they already knew. If they did not know that Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings had been separated, she would presumably have worded her statement
differently to make it more credible. There is also no evidence that historian Henry Ran-
dall was not telling the truth. But at the same time, we cannot say with certainty that any
or all three sources were not simply trying to protect Thomas Jefferson’s reputation.

Our obligation as students of history is to seek the truth on the basis of all of the avail-
able evidence — judging the veracity of each piece of evidence on the basis of the total-
ity of the circumstances. But in this endeavor it is not clear that the absence of evidence
(regarding Sally’s whereabouts for years at a time) ought to be regarded as superior in
probative value to the reported death-bed testimony of one witness who was in a posi-
tion to know the facts, reportedly confirmed by a second witness (also in a position to know
the facts) to a prominent historian, who subsequently stated that he had independently
confirmed the facts.

Cause or Catalyst?

Why did Sally Hemings tend to get pregnant shortly after Thomas Jefferson returned to
Monticello? Perhaps it was because Thomas Jefferson was her lover and they consummated
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35. As discussed in Chapter Two, there is serious question about whether Sally had a child in 1799.
36. However, in fairness, we have no information about whether Sally Hemings may have lost

children due to miscarriage.
37. Jefferson to Van Hasselt, Aug. 27, 1797, reprinted in The Garden Book 257 (Edwin Morris

Betts, ed. 1974).
38. See Chapter Four.

their relationship each time he returned to Monticello—although this theory does not ex-
plain the many times he was present when Sally did not become pregnant. According to Dr.
Neiman’s calculations, Sally probably became pregnant with Beverly, Thenia,35 Madison,
and Eston on the average about twelve days after Thomas Jefferson’s return to Monticello.
This suggests that, if Jefferson’s return to Monticello was a factor in her conceptions, Sally
and her sexual partner(s) were remarkably fertile. Yet during the time Sally was producing
known children, Thomas Jefferson visited Monticello more than twenty times, and during
the period of their alleged romance, he was present for hundreds of months during which
she does not appear to have become pregnant.36 Some of these, to be sure, can be explained
by the fact that she was already pregnant or had recently given birth when Jefferson re-
turned. But for someone who routinely seems to have become pregnant within a few weeks
after he returned home, what do we make of the numerous opportunities when they were
both allegedly at Monticello and she did not conceive a child? And for that matter, why did
it take her nearly a year to become pregnant in 1794–95, and nearly three months in 1800?

If we rephrase the inquiry, a simpler explanation may become evident. What if we ask:
“Why did Sally Hemings not become pregnant when Thomas Jefferson was absent from
Monticello?” If her sexual partner (or partners) was a relative of Thomas Jefferson’s who
did not normally reside at Monticello, his presence at Monticello would likely occur dur-
ing the President’s presence at Monticello.

Monticello Was “Shut Up” When Jefferson Was Away

Critically important in understanding the correlation between Jefferson’s visits to Mon-
ticello and Sally Hemings’ pregnancies is a fact not mentioned by the revisionist schol-
ars: Thomas Jefferson’s home at Monticello was normally kept shut up and locked during
Jefferson’s vice presidency (1797–1801) and presidency (1801–1809) when he was in
Philadelphia and subsequently Washington, D.C. In a letter to W. H. Van Hasselt during
the summer of 1797, for example, Jefferson wrote that “the office to which I have been
called takes me from home all the winter during which time my daughters also go into
the lower country to pass their winter, so that our house is shut up one half the year.”37

That this continued through his presidency has been confirmed to me by Lucia Stanton
at Monticello and is apparent from other sources as well.

How can we account for the fact that most of Sally’s pregnancies occurred within
a month of Jefferson’s return home? In the absence of birth-control medication or de-
vices, if the flood of visiting friends and relatives resulted in Sally becoming pregnant
shortly after Jefferson returned home, this would obviously preclude her getting preg-
nant during the ensuing year or so irrespective of the frequency of her sexual en-
counters or how long Thomas Jefferson remained at Monticello. Lacking firm evidence
about the paternity of her children (and neither Sally nor any of her children except
Madison, whose reported claims are problematic,38 left any clear record of believing
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39. W. C. L. Ford, et al., Increasing paternal age is associated with delayed conception in a large
population of fertile couples: evidence for declining fecundity in older men, 15(8) Human Reproduc-
tion 1703–08 (Nov. 2000). This study received considerable attention in the popular media.

40. Id. at 1705.
41. Dr. Neiman asserts that “four out of five conceptions” by Sally Hemings occurred “within a

month of Jefferson’s arrival.” Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection 209.
42. Again, we must be cautious about extrapolating these data to apply to a sixty-four-year-old

man in the early nineteenth century, as this study involved modern men of a much younger age. Nor
do the observed trends apply to every specific individual. But the general principle that fecundity de-
creases with advanced aging is nevertheless likely valid and significant.

43. See Minority Views of Professor Paul Rahe.
44. See Steven T. Corneliussen, Have Scientific Data Proved Hemings-Jefferson Link?, Richmond

Times-Dispatch, Jan. 14, 2007 at E1.

Thomas Jefferson was their father), we have no alternative but to resort to specula-
tion on this point. But since Thomas Jefferson’s return to Monticello is well docu-
mented to have produced a flood of visiting friends and relatives, it does not seem
that remarkable that Sally would often quickly become pregnant upon his return and
would not — as far as we know — become pregnant when he or those who would come
to visit him were not there.

Old Age and Fecundity

Thomas Jefferson would no doubt wish us to invoke the latest scientific findings in
our quest to resolve this matter. Interestingly, modern scientific research does shed some
light on our dilemma. A scientific paper published in the journal Human Reproduction39

while our inquiry was in progress examined the effects of aging on fecundity and concluded
that “[I]f the man’s age was treated as a continuous variable there was a significant lin-
ear relationship” and his ability to father a child within twelve months decreases approx-
imately three percent per year.40

This study did not include subjects nearly as old as the sixty-four-year-old Thomas
Jefferson (his age at the time of Eston’s conception), and we cannot say with certainty
that the results would continue precisely as they were observed among younger men; but
it is reasonable to suspect that biologically the elderly Thomas Jefferson would have been
far less likely to have impregnated Sally Hemings within a few weeks41 of his return to
Monticello than any of his much younger male relatives who could have been present
when she became pregnant with Eston Hemings.42

As our sole dissenting member correctly observes,43 the correlation between Thomas
Jefferson’s presence at Monticello and Sally Hemings’ conceptions of children is nevertheless
a significant argument in favor of the proposition that Thomas Jefferson was the father
of some and perhaps all of her children. But the significance of these data has been over-
stated. Correlation does not necessarily prove causation.44 The evidentiary value of the cor-
relation in this case is substantially lessened when one realizes that other potential fathers
would not have behaved randomly, as Dr. Neiman postulates, but would likely have timed
their own visits to Monticello to coincide with Thomas Jefferson’s return home or at least
his presence at Monticello.

There is credible, eyewitness evidence that a man other than Thomas Jefferson often
spent the night in Sally’s room. There are at least two reported confessions or admissions
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45. See Chapter Ten.
46. [Samuel F. Wetmore], Life Among the Lowly, No. 1, Madison Hemings, Pike County Repub-

lican, Mar. 13, 1873. “It is . . . a pattern observable in both historical and contemporary life that girls
raised in a particular environment tend to grow up accepting that familiar lifestyle as both the norm
and their fate.” Helen F. M. Leary, Sally Hemings’s Children: A Genealogical Analysis of the Evidence,
Jefferson-Hemings: A Special Issue of the National Genealogical Society Quarterly 197 (Sept.
2001). (Ms. Leary accepts the assertion that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings,
and identifies herself as a former four-term president of the Board for Certification of Genealogists.
Id. at 165 n. Her article is discussed in the Postscript to this volume.)

47. [Callender,] More About Sally and the President, Richmond Recorder, Sep. 22, 1802. See
also, Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum Virginia 95.

of paternity by Jefferson’s nephews involving at least some of Sally’s children.45 It is not un-
reasonable to expect that Sally may have lived or been forced to live as did her mother,
who, according to an account attributed to Sally’s son Madison, produced children by at
least four different men.46

On balance, there is clearly no reason to assume that Sally was monogamous. We sim-
ply do not know. As noted in Chapter Three, the originator of the allegation of a Jeffer-
son-Hemings sexual relationship asserted that Sally Hemings was “a slut as common as
the pavement.”47 Without the assumption of monogamy, the correlation between her
pregnancies and Thomas Jefferson’s visits to Monticello (which would obviously trigger
visits by his friends and relatives) is of limited probative value in the search for the pa-
ternity of Eston Hemings or any of Sally’s other children.
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1. Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 218 (1997).
2. Id. at 50.
3. Id. at 201.
4. David Brion Davis, Preface in Lucia Stanton, Free Some Day: The African-American Fam-

ilies of Monticello 12 (2000).
5. Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on Thomas Jefferson and

Sally Hemings, January 2000 [hereinafter referred to as Monticello Report] Appendix F at 2. At an-
other point in their report, the Monticello Committee asserted: “One distinction accorded to Sally
Hemings and to no other enslaved Monticello family was the freedom granted all of her children after
the age of twenty-one.” Id., Appendix H at 5 (emphasis added). This is cute, and closer to being ac-
curate (but Eston was only nineteen when freed). But Beverly Hemings did not leave Monticello until
he was at least 23 and most likely 24 years old. See Chapter Four. Monticello’s Shannon Senior Re-
search Historian, Lucia Stanton, writes in a recent monograph that Beverly and Harriet Hemings left
Monticello “soon after their twenty-first birthdays, possibly together.” Lucia Stanton, Free Some
Day 116 (2000). If we are to rely on Jefferson’s records, this is clearly false with respect to Beverly.

6. See Chapter Four.
7. Id.

6

“Extraordinary Privileges” for 
Sally Hemings and Her Children

One of the greatest myths of this entire controversy is that Sally Hemings and her chil-
dren received “extraordinary privileges” at Monticello.  As descendants of Betty Hem-
ings they were indeed treated better than Monticello field slaves; but, as compared to
Sally’s ten siblings who lived to adulthood and their children, their treatment was at best
average. 

Yet, Professor Gordon-Reed contends the “strongest evidence for a relationship be-
tween [Thomas] Jefferson and [Sally] Hemings is what happened to Hemings’s children.”1

In her widely praised volume, she repeatedly refers to “Jefferson’s freeing of Hemings’s
children”2 and asserts that “he freed them all.”3 The same claim is made by David Brion
Davis, Sterling Professor of History, Emeritus, at Yale University.4

Similarly, in “A Review of the Documentary Evidence,” attached to the January 2000
report of a research committee of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation, we find
among the “UNQUESTIONED” evidence this statement:

Thomas Jefferson freed Sally Hemings’s children.

The children of Sally Hemings that are known from Jefferson’s records all be-
came free by the age of twenty-one, the only case of an entire enslaved Monti-
cello family achieving freedom.5

The first part of this statement is not only not “unquestioned”; it is demonstrably false.
It is the 1873 allegation of Madison Hemings6 and Israel Jefferson7 — and the legend of
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8. See, e.g., The Garden and Farm Books of Thomas Jefferson 386 (Robert C. Barron, ed.
1987).

9. Id.
10. Monticello Report, Appendix H at 8–9. In describing Beverly’s departure, the Monticello Re-

search Committee alleges: “He was not legally manumitted, but left Monticello in 1822, evidently
with Jefferson’s permission, and henceforth lived as a white man.” Id. at 9.

11. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 218. But even here Professor Gor-
don-Reed gets her facts wrong, asserting that Beverly left “two years after his twenty-first birthday. . . .”
Id. Since we do not know on what date in 1822 Beverly actually “ran away,” we cannot tell whether
Gordon-Reed’s error is a matter of as few as nine or as many as twenty months.

12. Lucia Stanton, “Response to Bob Turner’s Questions of 14 November 2000,” question 3.
13. Id., question 14.
14. Letter from Edmund Bacon to Thomas Jefferson, July 16, 1820 (“do you no [sic—know] that Bev-

erly has been absent from the carpenters for about a week.”), University of Virginia Library.

Hollywood fiction — but it is easily refuted by Thomas Jefferson’s meticulous records,
which show, for example, that Sally’s oldest confirmed child, Beverly Hemings, was born
on April 1, 1798,8 and left Monticello in 1822.9 These facts are admitted elsewhere in the
Monticello Report10 and by Professor Gordon-Reed.11 The date of his departure in 1822 is
not recorded, but it could not have been before January 1, at which time Beverly would
have been three months short of his twenty-fourth birthday. The odds are three-to-one
that he left after the first of April, which would have made him twenty-four, not twenty-
one as is so commonly alleged and believed. When questioned about this point, Monti-
cello’s respected senior historian Lucia Stanton acknowledged that “Beverly Hemings
would thus have been between twenty-three and twenty-four when he left,” and confirms
that the allegation in the Monticello Report that he left at age twenty-one “is not precisely
accurate. . . .”12 (More correctly, he would have been either twenty-three or twenty-four.)

Nor, despite common allegations to the contrary, is it clear that Beverly left Monti-
cello in 1822 “evidently with Jefferson’s permission.” When I raised this issue with Ms.
Stanton, she explained that there were two reasons for the conclusion. First, they had
found “no record of any attempt to bring Beverly Hemings back to Monticello,” whereas
in some other cases Jefferson had attempted to recover runaways.13 But these were cases
where Jefferson either was expressly aware of where a slave had gone (e.g., when Beverly’s
cousin Jamey, son of Critta, ran away after being punished by the overseer) or at least
had a reasonable suspicion of where he might be found. If, as Madison alleged, Beverly
left Virginia, the fact that Jefferson left no letters detailing efforts to locate and bring him
back is hardly “proof” that Jefferson had approved his departure. Once again, the hon-
est answer is that we really do not know.

Professor Gordon-Reed’s other piece of evidence is a letter from Jefferson’s granddaughter,
Ellen Randolph Coolidge, who recounted that it was her grandfather’s “principle” to per-
mit slaves who were light enough to pass for white to “withdraw quietly” from Monticello,
after which he made no effort to reclaim them. This is a bit ambiguous, and could mean
that Jefferson encouraged them to “run away,” or that if they did run and he thought they
had a chance to make a new life he did not force them to return. At best, Beverly may have
received the same treatment Jefferson gave to other light-skinned slaves who fled from
Monticello, which is hardly convincing evidence that he was Thomas Jefferson’s son.

The theory that Beverly may have run away on his own initiative may be reinforced at
least somewhat by a letter alleging that in July 1820, Beverly was “missing” from the car-
pentry shop for several days.14 The fact that he was reported missing without explanation
does not prove that he had tried to run away, and in the absence of more details, its sig-
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15. Jefferson at Monticello 124 n.10.
16. Id., Genealogical Chart B, after p. 24
17. The Garden and Farm Books of Thomas Jefferson 386.
18. Jefferson at Monticello 102.
19. Id. 40.
20. Obviously, Jefferson might have manumitted all of Sally’s children. The added “cost” to Sally

of such an “informal” compliance with the terms of the alleged “treaty” was that she would probably
never see her child again — presumably a rather material difference.

nificance should not be overstated. But it certainly is consistent with the idea that Beverly
was not a happy slave just putting in his time until he knew Jefferson would set him free.

According to John Cook Wyllie, perhaps in the mid-1960s the leading expert on slav-
ery at Monticello,15 Sally’s daughter Harriet II “ran away in 1822 and then [was] freed by
TJ.”16 This is presumably based in part upon Jefferson’s Farm Book, which contains a cryp-
tic note next to Harriet’s name: “run. 22.”17 Presumably, 1822 was the year in which she
ran away (which was also the year in which she turned twenty-one). While Wyllie seems
to suggest that there may have been two distinct events, with Harriet being “freed” at
some point after having “run away” (and presumably having returned or been brought back),
many scholars have assumed that Jefferson’s “run” notation actually referred to his deci-
sion (which will be discussed in a moment) to facilitate her departure.

It seems clear that Harriet’s final departure—when overseer Bacon says he gave her fifty
dollars and put her on a stage to Philadelphia — was with Jefferson’s approval.18 Whether
it was the same incident Jefferson recorded as Harriet having “run” in 1822, or thereafter,
since Edmund Bacon ended his service as Monticello overseer on October 8, 1822,19 it
presumably had to have been prior to that date. Harriet was born during the month of
May, so there would appear to be about a fifty-fifty chance that she left when she was
twenty as opposed to when she was twenty-one years old. It is not unreasonable in this
case to conclude that she probably left Monticello around the time she turned twenty-
one — but she was the only one of Sally Hemings’ children to gain freedom, de facto or
de jure, anywhere near that close to their twenty-first birthday.

Even if we accept that Harriet Hemings was allowed to leave Monticello about the time
she turned twenty-one, that still is not serious evidence of the alleged “treaty” that Madi-
son Hemings reportedly alleged that Thomas Jefferson was compelled to conclude with
Sally Hemings — promising to free all of their children when they turned twenty-one —
as a condition of her agreement to return with him from Paris to Monticello. Putting
someone on a stage out of town is hardly satisfaction of a solemn contractual agreement
to grant her “freedom.” The standard means of granting a slave legal “freedom” was man-
umission, which Jefferson used to free two of Sally’s brothers long before Harriet turned
twenty-one. It is true that some slaves were informally “given their time” — an informal
process in which slaves were permitted to live as if they were free without being legally man-
umitted in order to permit them to remain in Virginia following enactment of the 1806
removal statute, which required manumitted slaves to leave Virginia within one year. That
would not have been a consideration in the case of Harriet, who was reportedly put on
a stage to Philadelphia. It would be very difficult to argue that simply facilitating the “run-
ning away” of a slave fully satisfied the terms of a “treaty” or other formal agreement in
which her mother was promised her children would be “freed.”20

It is also clear that Madison Hemings was not given his freedom when he turned twenty-
one years of age. On the contrary, he was nearly six months past his twenty-first birth-
day when Thomas Jefferson died, and Madison did not actually receive his freedom for
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21. Lucia Stanton, The Other End of the Telescope: Jefferson through the Eyes of His Slaves, 57
William & Mary Quarterly 141 (Jan. 2000).

22. Monticello Report, Appendix H at 5.
23. See Chapter Four.
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he clearly was not Thomas Jefferson’s child; so Sally Hemings was clearly not producing children with
Thomas Jefferson while in Paris.

another year — when he was roughly twenty-two and one-half.21 Had Jefferson survived
another few years, there is no reason to believe that Madison would have been freed even
at age twenty-two (although we cannot be sure either way).

Presumably, if Madison Hemings was the President’s own son whom Jefferson had
pledged to free when Madison turned twenty-one, Jefferson would have realized when
he wrote his will that Madison had already passed that landmark. If he had forgotten the
age of his son, would not Sally or Madison have reminded him of his promise long be-
fore the will was written? Jefferson was a good enough lawyer to know that tacking on an-
other year to Madison’s slavery would violate any “treaty” with Sally. While we can
rationalize that he was too honorable to totally ignore his alleged “son” and his “solemn
word” to his lover, but too afraid that freeing Madison as allegedly promised would be seen
as confirming the Callender allegations, a far simpler explanation is that there was no
“treaty” and Madison and Eston Hemings were freed in the will along with all but two of
the other remaining sons and grandsons of Betty Hemings.

Furthermore, Sally Hemings herself was neither freed during Thomas Jefferson’s life-
time nor mentioned in his will. Nor, as the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation has
acknowledged, is there any known document suggesting that Sally’s ultimate freedom
was at Thomas Jefferson’s request.22

Now it is true that the oral memoir23 attributed to Madison Hemings by Samuel Wet-
more in 1873 did not allege that Sally’s “treaty” with Thomas Jefferson provided that she,
too, would gain freedom. Madison reportedly said that in Paris Sally was only concerned
about the freedom of any children they might produce. Since Sally was not freed by
Thomas Jefferson, for Madison to have alleged more would have undercut his case. But
by suggesting that Sally really was not concerned with obtaining her own freedom, do we
not undercut the theory that the reason a “treaty” was negotiated in the first place was
that Sally was willing to abandon her home, her family, and her alleged “lover” to secure
her own immediate freedom as an expatriate in France?

In retrospect, the absence of any provision to look out for Sally makes the existence of
the alleged “treaty” all the more difficult to accept. Assuming they were lovers, does it
pass the “straight-face test” for either Sally Hemings or Thomas Jefferson to enter into such
a “treaty” without any consideration at all for Sally’s future?

Surely, if the allegations of a love affair were true, and if Sally were so prescient as to
anticipate a need to provide for the future welfare of children she would not start con-
ceiving until 1795,24 she would have realized that her three-decades-older lover was likely
to die before she did. Both of them certainly would have realized that if Sally became the
property of someone else before Thomas Jefferson actually died at the age of 83, an event
that could easily have occurred decades before it did given the life expectancy of the era,
the handsome young slave woman might well have found herself in a horribly abusive
environment of sexual exploitation. Surely, even if Sally had not raised the issue, had she
been his true love, Thomas Jefferson would have wanted to provide for her eventual free-
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25. See, e.g., Stanton, The Other End of the Telescope 142.
26. Madison Hemings’ 1873 allegations obviously are of little probative value in ascertaining the

significance of the fact that two of Sally’s children may have gained their freedom during their twenty-
second year (between their twenty-first and twenty-second birthdays). Had Madison alleged the ex-
istence of a treaty providing for the freeing of Sally’s children at twenty-one before he knew when the
children were freed, it would have been far more significant.

27. Technically, as long as they remained slaves they were not classified as “white”; but had they
not been slaves, any children Sally produced with white fathers would legally have qualified as “white”
in Virginia at the time. See, e.g., Lucia Stanton & Dianne Swann-Wright, Bonds of Memory, in Sally
Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 182 n.5 (1996) (“Until 1910 Virginia law declared that a free per-
son with more than three-quarters white heritage was white. . . . Madison and Eston Hemings were
listed as white in the 1830 Virginia census. . . .”) See also, Gordon S. Wood, The Ghosts of Monticello,
in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 23; Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx 179 (1996). How-
ever, so long as they remained legally slaves they would not have been classified as “white” even if they
had only one or two percent African blood.

28. The two most common suspects for the paternity of Sally Hemings’ children historically have
been Peter and Samuel Carr, who allegedly admitted paternity in the presence of Jefferson’s grandson.
Their mother was Martha Jefferson Carr, Thomas Jefferson’s sister and the wife of his best friend from
childhood, Dabney Carr. After Dabney’s death in 1773, Jefferson took a special interest in the welfare
and education of the Carr children and they were frequent visitors to Monticello. It would be quite
logical for Thomas Jefferson to show special consideration for the grandchildren of his sister or those
of Dabney Carr. Other possible fathers include Thomas Jefferson’s brother, Randolph Jefferson, or at
least four of Randolph’s five sons (Thomas Jefferson’s nephews). See Chapter Ten.

dom as well as that of their children. We might add that if Thomas Jefferson was anxious
to provide for the welfare of his children, why did he subsequently totally ignore them?
The pieces simply do not fit together.

One might expect the alleged “lovers” to anticipate that Thomas Jefferson’s daughters
(and their future husbands, who might someday become the executors of Jefferson’s es-
tate) would learn of their relationship and might well resent Sally — particularly if the re-
lationship became known to the general public and harmed their famous father’s reputation.
But by Madison’s account we must assume that they were indifferent to the possibility of
the beloved Sally being sold into sexual slavery, and — treaty or no treaty — in the end
Thomas Jefferson made no provisions for Sally Hemings in his will and apparently left her
future to the discretion of his daughter Martha. The questions we need to consider are:
(1) whether it is believable that Sally would be so careful to provide for the future free-
dom of children that were not to be born for more than half a decade, but would have
paid no attention to her own future; and (2) whether Thomas Jefferson, if Sally Hem-
ings were really the secret love of his life and his life’s companion for decades, as some would
have us believe, would have totally ignored Sally at the time of his death?

There is not the slightest bit of evidence that Sally Hemings received “extraordinary
privileges” of any kind upon returning to Virginia. She seems to have been largely ig-
nored by Thomas Jefferson, and was apparently treated no more favorably than most
of her sisters. If the language “freed at the age of twenty-one years” means that her chil-
dren would be legally granted their freedom upon turning twenty-one, that clearly did
not happen either — despite claims to the contrary by senior Monticello scholars and
others.25

But even if Jefferson had freed Sally, and had legally manumitted each of her children
on their twenty-first birthday,26 that still would not come close to proving that Thomas Jef-
ferson had a sexual relationship with Sally Hemings. There were other, much simpler,
explanations for any special treatment they received — including the fact that they were
legally white27 and may have been blood relatives of both Thomas Jefferson28 and his
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29. See, e.g., Winthrop D. Jordan, White Over Black 467 (1968). While there is no record in
Jefferson’s papers to support the charge, it was alleged by some that Sally Hemings and several of her
siblings were the children of Martha Wayles Skelton Jefferson’s father, who as a widower allegedly had
a long-term affair with Sally’s mother Betty. For our purposes it is unnecessary to examine this issue,
beyond noting that the issue remains unsettled. A recent book concludes that John Wayles probably
was not Sally’s father. Rebecca L. McMurry & James F. McMurry, Jr., Anatomy of a Scandal xviii
(2002).

30. Professor Gordon-Reed suggests that the only exception may have been Peter Hemings. Gor-
don-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 39.

31. See Chapter Four.
32. 2 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 1408 (James A. Bear, Jr. & Lucia C. Stanton, eds. 1997).
33. In addition to twice buying cabbages from Israel, Jefferson records once paying him one dol-

lar apparently to clean out a sewer and on another occasion giving him twenty-five cents for running
an errand. Id. at 1311, 1381, 1391, 1414.

beloved wife.29 They were also more skilled30 than other Monticello slaves, and thus more
likely than most to be able to succeed on their own if freed. To allege in such a setting that
the only possible reason Thomas Jefferson would show special consideration for Sally
Hemings’ children was because he was their father is silly. He gave far better treatment to
several of Betty Hemings’ other descendants who could not even arguably have been his
children.

If anything, Jefferson’s actual treatment of Sally’s children is powerful circumstantial
evidence for the fact that they were not his children. Madison was clearly bitter at having
been totally ignored by the man he claimed to believe was his father, and noted in con-
trast Jefferson’s great fondness and open displays of affection for what he termed Jeffer-
son’s “white” grandchildren.31 But, based upon their racial mix (seven-eighths white),
Madison and Eston were also “white”; and even if he felt a need to be discreet around
visitors, there is no reason to assume Thomas Jefferson would not have been privately af-
fectionate if Sally’s boys had actually been his natural sons.

Alternatively, if one assumes they would have been sources of great embarrassment
to him, how does one explain the fact that he did not simply send them away as young
children (as he allegedly did with Tom Woodson as soon as the scandal broke). If he did
not care about them and viewed them as sources of embarrassment, why did he free
them in his will? The most likely answer is that we will never know the full truth, but the
revisionist interpretation (linking Jefferson and Sally Hemings romantically) is very dif-
ficult to reconcile with the realities of his behavior. On the other hand, if we assume that
Sally and her children were simply descendants of Betty Hemings, their treatment makes
total sense.

In two volumes of more than 1400 pages of Jefferson’s Memorandum Books, con-
taining more than fifty years of brief notations and financial records—including numerous
references to each of the more popular Hemings family members (see Figure 7 on the
next page)—there is but a single entry pertaining to Madison or Eston Hemings. On De-
cember 11, 1824, Jefferson made a notation that he “Pd. Madison and Eston for 100. Cab-
bages 2.D.”32 That was exactly the price he paid Israel Gillette (another Monticello slave
who is seldom mentioned in Jefferson’s records33) for the same quantity of cabbages on
November 10, 1822; but less than a month later Israel was able to extract three cents
per head of cabbage from the Monticello sage — a fifty percent increase over the two
cents a head price Jefferson paid earlier to Israel and later to his alleged “sons,” Madi-
son and Eston.
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34. For information on John Hemings, see Stanton, Free Some Day 135–40.
35. Mary’s son Joe Fosset was freed in Jefferson’s will. Some of his descendants have alleged that

he was also fathered by President Jefferson (see Chapter Eight). For additional information on Joe
Fosset, see Stanton, Free Some Day 131–33.

36. Bett, also known as “Betty Brown,” was the mother of Jefferson’s most trusted servant, Bur-
well Colbert.

37. Reprinted in Jefferson at Monticello 121–22 (1967).
38. Revised Code of Virginia of 1819, §§ 53 & 54 (1819).

The Real Explanation for “Special Treatment”

The greatest fallacy in the “special treatment” argument is that it ignores the real con-
nection that fully explains Jefferson’s behavior. Long before Sally sailed for Paris or began
producing children, Thomas Jefferson was showing favorable treatment to slaves at Mon-
ticello named Hemings. The reason Madison and Eston Hemings were freed in Thomas
Jefferson’s will is presumably the same reason Jefferson freed Sally’s brother, John,34 and
sons of her sisters Mary35 and Bett36 —not to mention having freed Sally’s brothers Robert
and James nearly three decades earlier. He believed they could succeed on their own be-
cause of their skills and light skin tone.

It is worth noting that, of the five Hemings men freed pursuant to the March 27, 1826,
codicil to Jefferson’s will, Sally’s sons received by far the least favorable treatment. The
relevant provisions of the codicil stated:

I give to my good, affectionate, and faithful servant Burwell his freedom, and
the sum of three hundred Dollars to buy necessaries to commence his trade of
painter and glazier, or to use otherwise as he pleases. I give also to my good ser-
vants John Hemings and Joe Fosset, their freedom at the end of one year after
my death: and to each of them respectively all the tools of their respective shops
or callings: and it is my will that a comfortable log-house be built for each of
the three servants so emancipated on some part of my lands convenient to them
with respect to the residence of their wives, and to Charlottesville and the Uni-
versity, where they will be mostly employed, and reasonably convenient also to
the interests of the proprietor of the lands; of which houses I give the use of one,
with a curtilage of an acre to each, during his life or personal occupation thereof.

I give also to John Hemings the service of his two apprentices, Madison and
Eston Hemings, until their respective ages of twenty one years, at which period
respectively, I give them their freedom.37

It might be worth noting that the reason Jefferson did not free more of his slaves in his
will is that Virginia law at the time would have effectively prevented it. Although Section
53 of the Revised Code of Virginia of 1819 did expressly permit slaveholders to “emanci-
pate and set free his or her slaves” in their last will and testament, Section 54 added “[t]hat
all slaves so emancipated shall be liable to be taken by execution, to satisfy any debt con-
tracted by the person emancipating them, before such emancipation is made.”38 Thomas
Jefferson died with debts exceeding $100,000, and—while, out of respect for the great pa-
triot, his creditors permitted the emancipation of the five men named in his will — had
Jefferson attempted further to alienate this “chattel property” (as slaves sadly were con-
sidered at the time) they would certainly have protected their financial interests.

Professor Gordon-Reed — after noting that Beverly and Harriet Hemings had already
“left Monticello,” leaving behind Madison and Eston—asserts: “Both of these young men
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39. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 38.
40. Jordan, White Over Black 465. More recently, Professor Jordan wrote: “He treated all mem-

bers of the Hemings family as standing in a different category than all his other slaves. . . .” Winthrop
D. Jordan, Hemings and Jefferson: Redux, in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 48 (Jan Ellen
Lewis & Peter S. Onuf, eds. 1999).

41. Dumas Malone, Jefferson The President — First Term, 1801–1805 at 495–97 (1970) (em-
phasis added). See also, James Bear’s footnote explaining the Hemings family in Jefferson at Mon-
ticello 123 n.3 (“This remarkable family included a number of very able craftsmen and artisans.
John Hemings is perhaps the best known, for he is believed to have made much of the furniture pro-
duced in the Monticello cabinet shop during TJ’s lifetime. James was an excellent cook. . . .” There is
no mention here of Sally.)

were freed by Thomas Jefferson’s will of March 1826, the only public example of Jeffer-
son’s preferential treatment of any of the Hemings children.”39 On the contrary, the facts
clearly demonstrate that “preferential treatment” was the norm with the children and
grandchildren of Betty Hemings at Monticello. Professor Winthrop Jordan, in his Na-
tional Book Award-winning masterpiece, White Over Black, notes that the “entire [Betty]
Hemings family seems to have received favorable treatment.”40

In an appendix to the fourth volume of his Pulitzer Prize–winning biography of Jef-
ferson, Dumas Malone — widely regarded as the preeminent Jefferson scholar of all
times — addressed what he termed “The Miscegenation Legend”:

Any special favors the Master may have shown the artisans—including Betty’s son
John Hemings and her grandsons Joe Fosset and Burwell—may be attributed to
their recognized merit; and when Jefferson provided in his will for their emanci-
pation, he had reason to believe they could maintain themselves as freemen by their
skills.

More talk was occasioned by Jefferson’s continuing solicitude for other descen-
dants of Betty Hemings whose color was light enough to be remarked upon. The
particular reference is to the six youngest of the children she brought to Monticello,
of whom Sally was the last. Two of her sons in this group, Bob and James, were
freed by their master in the 1790’s, apparently without exciting any special com-
ment. This action of Jefferson’s met another test: he was confident at the time that
as freedmen they could take care of themselves. Betty’s daughter Thenia was sold
to James Monroe, who could be expected to be kind to her. Two others, Critta
and Sally, remained at Monticello as household servants and were apparently
treated with indulgence, but this was the rule rather than the exception there. . . .
In his will, Jefferson provided for the emancipation of Sally’s sons Madison and Eston
when they should reach the age of twenty-one. . . . This action, again, was in line
with the policy Jefferson followed with respect to other men slaves he freed.

A rational explanation can be given for his actions in all these cases, but his con-
cern, in life and death, for the descendants of Betty Hemings could hardly have
failed to excite some local comment and thus to have laid some foundation, al-
beit unsubstantial, for the legend that arose and grew.41

The fallacy that Sally Hemings’ children were given preferential treatment in comparison to
other descendants of Betty Hemings at Monticello becomes evident when one examines how
her male descendants were treated at the time of Jefferson’s death. Betty Hemings had five
sons and sixteen known grandsons (including Madison and Eston) when Thomas Jefferson
died in 1826. But only seven of these twenty-one males are believed to have still been Thomas
Jefferson’s property. (See Figure 8 on the next page.) Five of those were formally freed in his
will, and the remaining two are known to have achieved their freedom within a year or two:
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Figure 8. Sons and Grandsons of Betty Hemings Manumitted by Thomas 
Jefferson or Known to Have Been at Monticello at the Time of His Death

Boldface type indicates those who were manumitted by Thomas Jefferson 
during his life or in his will.

James 
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42. Joe Fosset had been allowed to retain a percentage of the profits from his work as a blacksmith
before being manumitted.

43. There is some speculation that Martin may have died a decade before this. There were several
“Martins” at Monticello over the years, and at least one of them died in 1807. The key point is that
no one alleges Martin Hemings was still alive and the property of Thomas Jefferson when the 1826
will was prepared.

44. This does not count Edwin, who was given to Thomas Jefferson Randolph a decade before
Jefferson’s death.

45. Jefferson at Monticello 99; Fawn Brodie, Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History
459 (1974).

46. The Garden and Farm Books of Thomas Jefferson 246.

• Sally’s sister Mary gave birth to three boys, only one of whom, Joe Fossett, was
known to have been present at Monticello at the time of Jefferson’s death, and he
was freed in Jefferson’s will.42

• Sally’s brother Martin had no known children and apparently died by 1807.43

• Sally’s sister Bett (aka “Betty Brown”) had two sons who were known to have lived
at Monticello until 1826.44 One of these was Burwell Colbert, Jefferson’s most
trusted servant,45 who was born in 178346 and was to be immediately freed in Jef-
ferson’s will and given the most preferable treatment of the five Hemings males who
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47. For more information on Wormley Hughes, see Stanton, Free Some Day 133–34.
48. Robert Hemings had hired himself out to Dr. George Stras of Richmond, who owned Robert’s

wife, Dolly. He was manumitted by Jefferson on Christmas Eve, 1794, in return for a payment of £60
advanced by Dr. Stras. See, e.g., James A. Bear, Jr., The Hemings Family of Monticello 29 Virginia
Cavalcade, Autumn, 1979 at 80; and Stanton, Free Some Day 118.

49. Lucia Stanton suggests that James probably bargained for his freedom while in Paris. Id. at
126–27. There does not appear to be any serious evidence to support such speculation, and we know
that in September 1793 Jefferson made an agreement to free James if James would first train another
slave as a French cook. Part of this bargain may have been that James also compensate Jefferson for
his investment in training James in Paris. Based on entries in Jefferson’s Memorandum Books, James
seems to have stopped receiving wages from Jefferson after January 1794, and it is possible that his wages
were retained by Jefferson in repayment for educational expenses. But this is entirely speculation.
(The specific details are of no importance to our present inquiry other than noting there is no seri-
ous evidence of any Jefferson-Hemings “treaty” in Paris.) Jefferson manumitted James on February 5,
1796, and three weeks later gave him thirty dollars for expenses to Philadelphia. But James appar-
ently had difficulty adjusting to the outside world. Despite his extensive training as a French chef, he
soon turned to drinking and committed suicide in 1801. See 1 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books
471; 2 id. 936, 1051 n.10. Martha Jefferson wrote that John Hemings also turned to alcohol after man-
umission: “His liberty poor fellow was no blessing to him.” Quoted in Stanton, Free Some Day 149.

50. Lucia Stanton, “Response to Bob Turner’s Questions of 14 November 2000,” question 18.

were freed at that time. The other, Wormley Hughes, a gardener, was not freed in
Jefferson’s will — but was freed soon thereafter. He will be discussed below.47

• Sally’s sister Nance had one son, Billy, who appears to have died in the 1790s.

• Sally’s brother Robert was manumitted by Thomas Jefferson in 1794.48

• Sally’s brother James was manumitted by Thomas Jefferson in 1796.49

• Sally’s sister Thenia was sold to James Monroe in 1794.

• Sally’s sister Critta had a son, Jamey, who ran away in 1804.

• Sally’s brother Peter reportedly had a wife and five children, but no details (names,
gender, etc.) are known. By 1830, he was listed as a free man living in Charlottesville.
It appears that Peter Hemings was sold at auction following Thomas Jefferson’s
death for one dollar to his nephew, Mary Hemings’ son Daniel, who then gave him
his freedom.50 Whether the Jeffersons knew this was going to happen is unknown.

• Sally’s brother John was freed in Thomas Jefferson’s will. There is no information
in the surviving records about whether or not he had male children.

• Sally’s sister Lucy died in 1786 at the age of nine.

Thus, of the seven sons and grandsons of Betty Hemings known to have been at Monti-
cello at the time of Thomas Jefferson’s death, five (more than seventy percent) were freed.
In addition, two of Betty Hemings’ other male descendants had been legally manumit-
ted in the 1790s—bringing the total percentage freed to 78 percent. Being included within
this group was thus not particularly remarkable, and it is even less “special” when we re-
alize that of the seven Hemings males legally manumitted by Thomas Jefferson, Sally
Hemings’ sons Madison and Eston received by far the least favorable treatment.

Among Sally Hemings and her siblings, Thomas Jefferson freed all of Mary and Sally’s
male children and all but one of Bett’s. Of the seven remaining male descendants of Betty
Hemings still at Monticello when Jefferson died, Sally’s sons ranked fourth and fifth —
slightly below average — in terms of favorable treatment.

After this chapter was initially drafted, I submitted a series of questions to the Thomas
Jefferson Foundation and received the very generous assistance of both President Daniel
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51. Id., Question 16.
52. Id., Question 18.
53. Quoted in Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 201.
54. James A. Bear, Jr., The Hemings Family of Monticello, Virginia Cavalcade, Autumn 1979 at

82.
55. “Peter Hemings continued his trade of tailor after Jefferson’s death (there are references to

clothing purchased of him in Randolph and Bankhead accounts until 1838).” Lucia Stanton, “Re-
sponse to Bob Turner’s Questions of 14 November 2000,” question 18.

Jordan and Lucia Stanton, the former Monticello Research Director and currently Shan-
non Senior Research Historian at Monticello’s International Center for Jefferson Studies.
In response to a number of written questions, Ms. Stanton provided the following in-
formation:

Of the males of Sally Hemings’s generation, only Peter Hemings (not freed) and
John Hemings (freed) are known to have been alive (Robert and James had died;
Martin’s fate is unknown, but he was definitely not at Monticello). Of the males
of the next generation, those alive were Joseph Fossett (freed), Robert Bell (born
free in Charlottesville), Wormley Hughes (not freed but “given his time”), Bur-
well Colbert (freed), Brown Colbert (sold in 1806, a slave in Lexington, VA in
1826), Edwin Colbert (given to Thomas Jefferson Randolph in 1816), Robert
[Colbert?] (sold in 1820), Billy (son of Nance; fate not known, but not a Mon-
ticello slave), James Hemings (ran away in 1804; not recovered, but apparently
returned to visit in 1815).51

Elsewhere in the same set of responses she added:

[Peter Hemings] is no doubt the “Peter, Old man” sold for one dollar. His pur-
chaser was Daniel Farley, a free black of Charlottesville who we think was Peter’s
nephew Daniel, the son of Mary Hemings. . . . Farley must have then freed Hem-
ings, who is listed as a free black in the 1830 census.52

This confirmed my own initial findings that, of Betty Hemings’ seventeen children (in-
cluding Sally) and thirty-seven grandchildren (including Madison and Eston), only
two males who remained the property of Thomas Jefferson at the time of his death
were not freed in his will — and both of them apparently became free men almost im-
mediately. The fact that two of Sally Hemings’ sons were freed in the will is thus typi-
cal of the general treatment given Betty Hemings’ male descendants who remained at
Monticello when Jefferson died, and is hardly serious evidence that Thomas Jefferson
was their father.

There is obviously no “pattern” here of preferential treatment for Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren over other members of the Hemings family. It does not matter why Peter and Worm-
ley were not freed in Jefferson’s will. Douglass Adair asserts that Jefferson made a decision
in 1774 (when Sally Hemings was about one year old) “that the Hemings boys when they
were grown and after they had learned a trade and could support themselves, would be
given their freedom if they wished it.”53 One might speculate that Jefferson feared that
Peter lacked the skills to make it on his own, but he once described Peter as a “servant of
great intelligence and diligence,”54 and Peter seems to have done well as a tailor after being
freed.55 However, for some reason, Peter was valued at only one dollar for the slave auc-
tion that followed Jefferson’s death. We have so little information that we can do no more
than speculate about why he was not freed in the will.
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56. See, e.g., Stanton, The Other End of the Telescope 141, 150.
57. Thus, there are numerous entries showing that Wormley was given a dollar or so for travel

expenses, and a few days later Jefferson would record receiving twenty-five cents or so back from
Wormley. 2 Memorandum Books 1260, 1261, 1302.

58. See, e.g., id. at 1384.
59. For example, in 1794, when Wormley would have been about thirteen years of age, Jefferson

recorded the “actual work” done by various slaves in his Farm Book. Burwell received a score of “19,”
while Wormley received the lowest number of “16.25.” The Garden and Farm Books of Thomas
Jefferson n. 367. The following year, Jefferson made a diary notation that the “abler boys” should
be assigned as “binders,” while the “smallest boys” were to be “gatherers.” Wormley was listed in this
second group. Id. at 278. Consider also a memorandum from Jefferson to overseer Edmund Bacon,
dated 1807 (when Wormley would have been about twenty-six), stating that “Wormley must be di-
rected to weed the flower beds about the house, the nursery, the vineyards, and raspberry beds, when
they want it.” (Jefferson at Monticello 65.) This could suggest that Wormley lacked motivation,
as a gardener might be expected to do such things without being “directed.”

60. See, e.g., Stanton, Free Some Day 143.
61. I should note that, despite the common interpretation that this reference to “Sally” meant

Sally Hemings, there were several other “Sallies” at Monticello and Edgehill and there is no clear ev-
idence this referred to Sally Hemings. Indeed, since Sally was reportedly already living in Charlottesville
as a free woman with her sons, a case might be made that this was a reference to a different Sally. We
just do not really know.

62. Stanton, Free Some Day 143.
63. Monticello Report, Appendix E.
64. Id., Appendix H at 4.

Wormley Hughes seems to have been a favorite with Thomas Jefferson,56 and the
nearly two dozen references to him in Jefferson’s Memorandum Books suggest both that
he was trusted and that he was very honest.57 Unlike Sally’s children, he was occasion-
ally paid for his work.58 There is some evidence in Jefferson’s Farm Book that Wormley
may have had less talent59 than some of the other Monticello slaves, and that might ex-
plain why he was not freed in the will. Instead, he was apparently treated like Sally Hem-
ings and entrusted to the care of Jefferson’s daughter Martha. It is speculated that
Jefferson may have told Martha orally that Wormley should be given his freedom if he
desired it,60 and in her 1834 will Martha asked her heirs to give Wormley and Sally61

“their time.”62

It is also possible that Wormley did not wish to be freed at the time of Jefferson’s
death. He seems to have been very fond of the Jefferson family, he was certainly not treated
like most slaves, and perhaps he stayed on by choice, hoping to continue his role as
family gardener rather than trying to fend for himself on his own. It really does not
matter: the reality is that most of the remaining adult male descendants of Betty Hem-
ings were freed in Thomas Jefferson’s will, and Wormley was spared the fate of being
sold on the auction block. And again, rather than being singled out for special bene-
fits, Sally Hemings’ sons received the least favorable treatment of any of the Hemings who
were formally given their freedom by Thomas Jefferson and ranked below average in
treatment among all remaining male descendants of Betty Hemings at Monticello upon
Jefferson’s death.

The first person to suggest in writing that Sally Hemings received special treatment, “above
the level of his other servants,” was the scandalmonger James Callender in 1802.63 But the
Monticello Research Committee admits: “Jefferson’s records do not reveal any privileges
accorded to Sally Hemings that distinguish her from others in her family.”64 Indeed, this
may understate the case, as many of her relatives appear to have received far better treat-
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ment than did Sally. For example, Jefferson wrote letters to her brothers James and John,
but not to Sally;65 and when returning from trips, Jefferson would often bring gifts for his
family members and a few favored slaves — once bringing an almost new suit of clothes
for Sally’s brother Robert66 — but there is no record of any such generosity to Sally.67

While part of the time she was in Paris Sally did receive a small monthly salary, it was
half of what her brother James was paid and only twenty percent of the average wages
paid to Jefferson’s other servants.68 There is no suggestion that it continued after she re-
turned home, where Burwell and John Hemings received an annual gratuity and where
Robert, James, and Martin were even permitted to hire themselves out to other masters
when Jefferson was away and to keep their wages for themselves.69

Indeed, the lack of evidence of special consideration for Sally Hemings — who was
never among the dozen or so slaves Jefferson took with him to the White House70 (in-
cluding three females who were paid salaries71) and was herself ignored in his will72 —
has led some advocates of the alleged relationship to go to bizarre lengths to find signs of
the love they know he had to feel for Sally. Typical is this example from Professor Fawn
Brodie’s 1974 Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History:

There is also what one might call hard evidence as well as psychological evidence
that Jefferson in Paris treated Sally Hemings with special consideration. On No-
vember 6, 1787, he paid 240 francs to a Dr. Sutton for Sally’s smallpox inocula-
tion, a very great sum.73

Unfortunately (for Professor Brodie), Jefferson’s concern about the risk of exposing his
daughters to smallpox predates the decision by the Eppes family to send Sally to France
to serve as their maid, as he had specifically instructed that an older slave named Isabel
accompany Polly if she had already had smallpox.74 Sally was selected without Jefferson’s
knowledge for the trip, because Isabel was recovering from childbirth. Further, in 1778
Jefferson had paid for a smallpox vaccination for Sally’s brothers James and Robert75 —
and no one (thus far) seems to have suggested this was evidence of a sexual liaison. In-
deed, over the years Jefferson inoculated scores of his slaves against this dreaded disease.76

Monticello’s Lucia Stanton notes that “Jefferson took pains to arrange for slaves in regu-
lar contact with his family” to have smallpox inoculations.77

Then there is the thirty-two dollars Jefferson spent on new clothing for Sally in 1789.
This has given Hollywood an excuse to portray the young slave girl as dancing across
Paris in the arms of the dashing American minister, but the more likely explanation is
more basic. As the Monticello Report explains: “Jefferson spent almost ten times as
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much on the clothing of his daughter Martha, who was just beginning to go out into
society and to balls. Sally, as her lady’s maid, would also have needed an improved
wardrobe.”78

Indeed, there is precedent for Jefferson spending money on clothing for slaves in such
settings. Professor Ellis notes that in 1775, when Jefferson went to Philadelphia (where he
would draft the Declaration of Independence the following year), “he had outfitted Jesse,
Jupiter79 and Richard, his black servants, in formal attire befitting the regalia of a proper
Virginia gentleman. . . .”80

Also relied upon is the fact that, in planning his return voyage to the United States, Jef-
ferson instructed that Sally’s room be “convenient to that of my daughters,”81 leading Pro-
fessor Brodie to assert: “So he insisted that on shipboard he be close to all three young females,
from whom he would not—and could not—in the end be separated.”82 Acknowledging
that Professor Brodie’s interpretation might go a bit far, Professor Gordon-Reed tells her
readers: “At a minimum this note indicates that Jefferson counted Sally Hemings among
those who would have been offended if they were excluded from his company on the voy-
age home and that this concerned him to some degree.”83 In their eagerness to find evidence
of romance, it apparently did not occur to either writer that Jefferson just might have wanted
Sally’s cabin to be near to that of his daughters because her job was to serve as their maid.

The paucity of references to Sally Hemings in Jefferson’s voluminous records — in ad-
dition to being portrayed as obvious evidence of a “coverup”84 —requires a certain amount
of creative speculation by writers determined to find evidence of his generosity towards
young Sally. If there are no records suggesting gifts, at least we can find ambiguities. When
Jefferson records the purchase of a “locket” for 40 francs, Professor Brodie suggests that
“perhaps” it was for Sally.85

After Jefferson and his entourage returned from Paris, and there was no longer a need
to dress Sally to appear in French society as a ladies’ maid to the daughters of the Amer-
ican minister, Sally was clothed like all of her relatives and appropriate notations were
made in the Farm Book. But Professor Brodie put a slightly different “spin” on the story:

With the return to America secrecy deepened. Jefferson’s casual notations of ex-
penditures for Sally’s clothes disappeared altogether from his account books. In-
stead there were numerous small sums for “charity,” always given upon his arrival
at Monticello after an absence, and several curious references to leaving “small
money in my drawer at Monticello,” one of which amounted to the sizeable sum
of twenty dollars.86

One can hardly wait for Oliver Stone to write the next screenplay, premised on the the-
ory that any ambiguous expenses in Jefferson’s records were obviously secret payments to
Sally Hemings. (Callender, on the other hand, might have used this “evidence” as proof
that Sally really was a “prostitute.”)
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Among the many problems with this approach — for anyone who is at all concerned
about ascertaining the truth—is that “casual notations of expenditures for Sally’s clothes”
did not “disappear” after Jefferson returned from Paris. For example, in 1796 he recorded
in his Farm Book that Sally was issued seven yards of linen, seven and three-quarters yards
of woolen, one pair of stockings, and one pair of shoes.87 However, essentially identical
entries appear for all of the Hemingses at Monticello for that year.88 Another problem
with Brodie’s creative speculation is that the ambiguous notations for “charities” and leav-
ing sums of money in drawers appeared in Jefferson’s records years before he could have
become involved with Sally Hemings.89

Fawn Brodie notes that Jefferson recorded having once paid Madison and Eston for “100
cabbages”90 — one of numerous such minor and insignificant transactions Jefferson had
with slaves at Monticello that have already been mentioned in this chapter. But far more
creative was Professor Gordon-Reed’s explanation of the absence of any recorded sales
between Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson:

One could argue that it is useless to speculate about why Sally Hemings never sold
anything to Jefferson and the Randolphs. However, it is important to consider
this. . . . We may sell to our children to teach them the value of money or to par-
ents, siblings, and friends to maintain the integrity of those relationships. We
do not usually sell to our spouses or to those who are the equivalent of spouses,
because that is like selling to oneself.91

Freud reminds us that “sometimes a cigar is just a cigar.” In that spirit, is it just possible
that Sally was never recorded as having sold cabbages to the Jeffersons because she did not
grow any extra cabbages?

Despite the impressive creativity of scholars like Fawn Brodie and Annette Gordon-Reed,
the reality is that neither Sally Hemings nor any of her children received any “special priv-
ileges” beyond those normally accorded to other descendants of Betty Hemings. Indeed,
among the Hemings family, Sally and her children appear to have ranked no higher than
“average.” In terms of their importance at Monticello and their treatment by the President,
they were far below such relatives as James and Robert92 Hemings or Burwell Colbert.93

Madison Hemings is alleged to have made this very point in the Pike County Republi-
can article discussed in Chapter Four. He said of his alleged “father” Thomas Jefferson: “He
was not in the habit of showing partiality or fatherly affection to us children. We were the
only children of his by a slave woman. He was affectionate toward his white grandchildren,
of whom he had fourteen. . . .”94 Pulitzer Prize–winning historian Gordon Wood adds that
Jefferson treated Sally’s children “with remarkable coldness and detachment.”95

One might respond that his behavior towards Sally’s children was “remarkable” only
if one assumes that they were, in fact, also his children. If they were not, one would not
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expect him to treat them differently than he did the children of his other house servants.
Returning to the quotation from Professor Gordon-Reed at the start of this chapter —
that the “strongest evidence for a relationship between [Thomas] Jefferson and [Sally]
Hemings is what happened to Hemings’ children”96 — one might reasonably conclude, in
contrast, that Jefferson’s treatment of Sally’s children is but further evidence for the ab-
sence of the alleged sexual relationship.

The reality is captured well by Lucia Stanton, who began her career at Monticello as
secretary to Resident Director James Bear and, under his apprenticeship, became one of
the most knowledgeable authorities on Thomas Jefferson in the world. In her 2000 mono-
graph, Free Some Day: The African-American Families of Monticello, she writes: “Madison
Hemings maintained that Jefferson ‘induced’ [Sally] to return with promises of ‘extraor-
dinary privileges’ and freedom for her children when they reached the age of twenty-one.
These ‘extraordinary privileges’ are not visible in the lists of Jefferson’s Farm Book, al-
most the only source of her subsequent life at Monticello.”97
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7

The Physical Resemblance of 
Some of Sally Hemings’ Children 
to Thomas Jefferson

In a commentary accompanying the Nature report that Eston Hemings was probably
fathered by a Jefferson male, Professors Eric S. Lander and Joseph J. Ellis identified three
pieces of historical evidence that they claim point to Thomas Jefferson as the most likely
father. The first of these was that “several of the children bore a striking physical resem-
blance to Jefferson. . . .”1 This argument was repeatedly emphasized as well in the Monti-
cello Report, which said of some of Sally’s children: “It was evidently their very light skin
and pronounced resemblance to Jefferson that led to local talk of Jefferson’s paternity.”2

In an era when sexual relations between master and slave were often revealed by the
arrival of light-skinned offspring, such local gossip would not be surprising. But specu-
lative neighborhood gossip is hardly compelling evidence that Thomas Jefferson was sex-
ually involved with Sally Hemings—especially when one realizes that similar gossip about
the presence of “white” slave children at Monticello dates back at least to 1796, at which
time it was almost certainly referring to Sally and her siblings, who had been inherited
by Jefferson from his father-in-law’s estate, rather than to any children Thomas Jefferson
might conceivably have fathered by Sally.

Joshua D. Rothman, at the time a doctoral candidate in the University of Virginia De-
partment of History doing his dissertation on race relations in antebellum Virginia, ob-
served in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson:

As early as 1796, a number of French visitors noted evidence of sex across the
color line on Jefferson’s resident plantation. The Duc de La Rochefoucauld-Lian-
court mentioned particularly Mr. Jefferson’s slaves who had “neither in their
color nor features a single trace of the origin, but they are sons of slave moth-
ers and consequently slaves.” The Comte de Volney, also traveling during the
summer of 1796, similarly noted slaves at Monticello “as white as I am.”3

Presumably, the light-skinned slaves in question were the children of Betty Hemings in-
herited by Thomas Jefferson upon the 1773 death of his father-in-law — including Sally
herself. Thus these accounts cannot reasonably be interpreted as evidence of a sexual re-
lationship involving Thomas Jefferson. It is certainly possible that, if Thomas Woodson
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was, in fact, Sally Hemings’ son, he was among those slaves being observed, as he would
have been about six years old in 1796. But Dr. Foster’s DNA study has ruled out Thomas
Jefferson’s paternity of Thomas Woodson.4 Sally’s first clearly documented child (Harriet
I) was not born until October 5, 1795,5 and thus was unlikely to have been seen by for-
eign visitors to Monticello the following year.

Later, Sally Hemings did have several children, some of whom were described as bear-
ing a strong resemblance to Thomas Jefferson. There are no known drawings, paintings,
photographs, or other likenesses of Sally Hemings or any of her children,6 but there is
enough descriptive evidence to establish that at least some of her children seemed to some
observers to bear a physical resemblance to the President. Ironically, perhaps the strongest
statement of this perceived likeness comes not from a revisionist critic but from Thomas
Jefferson’s own grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph, whose explanation of the origi-
nal rumors was reported by historian Henry S. Randall:

He [Jefferson’s grandson] asked me if I knew how the story of Mr. Jefferson’s con-
nection with her [Sally] originated. I told him I did not. “There was a better ex-
cuse for it,” said he, “than you might think: she had children which resembled Mr.
Jefferson so closely that it was plain that they had his blood in their veins.” He said
in one case the resemblance was so close, that at some distance or in the dusk the
slave, dressed in the same way, might have been mistaken for Mr. Jefferson.7

Note the qualifications “at some distance” or “in the dusk” — both circumstances that
might obscure the ability of observers to see facial details and thus focus attention more
on such features as size, build, posture, and perhaps skin tone. “Jeff” Randolph went on
to explain that, in his view, the Jefferson “blood” in Sally’s children came not from the
President, but from Jefferson’s nephews Peter and/or Samuel Carr.8

Unfortunately, we know little about the specific features of most of Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren, and thus we must rely upon the conclusions of others in this already highly specula-
tive task of assessing resemblances that were perceived two centuries ago. The most commonly
remarked upon feature seems to be that some (but not all) of Sally’s children were very
light skinned—almost white. That is consistent with the theory that Thomas Jefferson was
their father, but no more so than if they were fathered by any other Caucasian. Sally Hem-
ings, it should be remembered, was said to be “mighty near white” herself.9

The first published allegation that Sally Hemings had a child that resembled Thomas
Jefferson came from the pen of James Thomson Callender, the disreputable and embit-
tered journalist who engaged in a personal vendetta against Thomas Jefferson and was dis-
cussed in Chapter Three. In the Richmond Recorder of September 1, 1802, Callender wrote:

It is well known that the man whom it delighteth the people to honor, keeps and
for many years has kept as his concubine, one of his own slaves. Her name is
SALLY. The name of her eldest son is TOM. His features are said to bear a strik-
ing although sable resemblance to those of the President himself.10
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It is perhaps noteworthy that various other sources, not clearly hostile to Thomas Jeffer-
son, described Thomas Woodson in terms that might support the supposition that Thomas
Jefferson could have been his father. One observer in 1840 proclaimed: “I have never
found a more intelligent, enterprising, farming family [than Woodson’s] in the State of
Ohio,”11 for example; and others noted his “intelligence” and the fact that he was “tall.”12

Such accounts were clearly found persuasive by Professor Fawn Brodie in her conclusion
that Jefferson and Hemings conceived Thomas Woodson in Paris at the start of a lengthy
love affair.13 But, again, six separate DNA tests have conclusively ruled out any Jefferson
male as the father of Thomas Woodson.14

Known Children of Sally Hemings

Sally Hemings’ first clearly documented child was born in late 1795 and survived for just
two years. No physical description of “Harriet” (sometimes identified as “Harriet I” to dis-
tinguish her from an 1801 child also given the name “Harriet”) appears to have survived.

On April 1, 1798, Sally gave birth to a son named Beverly Hemings. The only known
description of Beverly was that by Ellen Randolph Coolidge, Thomas Jefferson’s grand-
daughter, who said he was “white enough to pass for white.”15 Again, since Sally herself
was very light skinned and reportedly ultimately passed for white herself,16 this descrip-
tion does not suggest that Thomas Jefferson, as opposed to any other Caucasian male,
was Beverly’s father.

In December 1799, Sally may17 have had another daughter — possibly named The-
nia — but the details are sketchy. This child may have died as an infant, and no physical
description is known to have survived.18

In May 1801, Sally gave birth to “Harriet II,” who lived to adulthood and left Monti-
cello in 1822. The only surviving descriptions of Harriet asserted that she was “white
enough to pass for white,”19 “nearly as white as anybody,”20 and “very beautiful.”21 Once
again, the sketchy descriptions are of little value in establishing her paternity beyond sug-
gesting that her father may well have been a Caucasian. (Neither of Jefferson’s daughters
by his wife who lived to adulthood was widely described as being physically “beautiful.”)

On January 19, 1805, Sally gave birth to Madison — the only one of her children be-
lieved to have left behind any kind of written biographical statement.22 Madison is the
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only one of Sally Hemings’ known children to have clearly claimed to be the son of Thomas
Jefferson, so his case is particularly important. Unfortunately, Madison left behind no
known photographs, sketches, or other detailed evidence of his physical appearance. He
appears to have been darker in color than some of Sally’s other children,23 and was sev-
eral inches shorter than his younger brother Eston. The issue of Madison’s height illus-
trates the uncertainty of the evidence in this matter. While Thomas Jefferson was generally
said to be 6 feet, 2½ inches tall,24 the official Albemarle County records gives Madison’s
height at age twenty-six as 5 feet, 7⅜ inches,25 a difference of greater than 7 inches. But
Madison’s biographer — an anti-Jefferson Republican Party activist who is the source of
most of what we are told is true about Madison — alleges Madison Hemings was 5 feet,
10 inches tall at age sixty-eight.26

Sally Hemings’ last known child was born on May 21, 1808, and was named Eston.
He is her only child who has been linked by DNA testing to a male Jefferson father, and
he may have had the closest physical resemblance to the President. Albemarle County
records describe Eston in 1831 as “6 feet one inch high, Bright Mulatto.”27 Ohio journal-
ists described him later as “very slightly colored, of large size”28 and “of a light bronze
color, a little over six feet tall, well proportioned, very erect and dignified”29 — asserting
that “his nearly straight hair showed a tint of auburn, and his face, indistinct suggestion
of freckles.” (Thomas Jefferson also had auburn hair and freckles.) Eston was also said to
be “decidedly intelligent.”

There is also a report that two residents of Eston’s community in Ohio visited Wash-
ington, D.C., in the 1840s (approximated twenty years after Jefferson’s death), and upon
observing a statue of the late President (see Figure 9 on the next page) remarked that it
reminded them of Eston Hemings.30 There is no suggestion that either man had ever ac-
tually seen Thomas Jefferson, and the Monticello Report asserts that “local rumors” in
Ohio at the time alleged Eston was Jefferson’s son.31 The alleged observers may also have
been influenced by the fact that the statue in question was made of bronze, which was the
term used to describe the color of Eston Hemings’ skin.

We do not have a specific date for this incident, but it was later reportedly mentioned
to Eston — who had moved away from Ohio in 1852 at the age of forty-four — and the
statue had been moved from the Capitol to in front of the White House five years earlier.
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Thus, they were presumably comparing the statue to an Eston Hemings in his late thir-
ties or early forties.32

French sculptor Pierre-Jean David D’Anger had never personally seen Thomas Jeffer-
son and made the statue in question entirely on the basis of a painting belonging to
Lafayette that had been made in 1821 — shortly before Jefferson’s seventy-eighth birth-
day.33 Thus, the Ohio visitors to Washington, D.C., were drawing a comparison between
Eston Hemings and a statue of a man nearly twice Eston’s age made by a sculptor who had
never set eyes on his subject.

Making an accurate, three-dimensional statue from a single, two-dimensional paint-
ing is no easy task, and several people who had known Thomas Jefferson complained that
the statue was not a good likeness.34 The statue had been commissioned six years after
Jefferson’s death by an independently wealthy American naval officer named Uriah Phillips
Levy, who admired Jefferson greatly and offered the statue as a gift to Congress. Several
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legislators complained that it was not a good likeness of the former President, but Con-
gress ultimately chose to accept the gift. Beginning in 1847, the statue stood in front of
the White House, where it was presumably observed by the two Ohioans. At minimum,
both Eston and the statue were tall and bronze.

There were other slaves at Monticello who were described as being tall and intelli-
gent,35 but who were not even arguably Thomas Jefferson’s children. However, even Jef-
ferson’s grandson, while vigorously denying the President’s paternity of any of Sally’s
children, reportedly admitted that it was clear that some of Sally’s children had Jefferson
blood in their veins.

Modern science has proven him right, as we now know from DNA testing that Eston
Hemings was probably fathered by a member of the Jefferson family or by some other
male carrying the Jefferson DNA marker. Whether that father was President Thomas Jef-
ferson, or his brother Randolph, one of Randolph’s sons, or perhaps even a paternal
cousin, any of them would have passed on genetic material that could easily explain the
perceived physical resemblance. Similarly, Thomas Jefferson’s nephews Peter and Samuel
Carr — sons of his sister Martha — would have carried sufficient “Jefferson” genetic ma-
terial to possibly produce children bearing a likeness to the President; and they remain
serious candidates for the paternity of any of Sally’s older children.

Before closing this discussion, perhaps another comment is in order about the alarm-
ing practice of advocates of the Jefferson-Hemings story trying to present the lack of in-
formation on an issue as “evidence” of something beyond the reality that we simply do not
know a great deal of information after the passage of nearly two centuries. On page 217
of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, Professor Gordon-Reed notes Thomas Jefferson
Randolph’s comment that Sally’s children obviously had Thomas Jefferson’s “blood” in
their veins. From this, Professor Gordon-Reed asserts:

A declaration from a close Jefferson relative saying that it was obvious that Jef-
ferson’s “blood ran in [the] veins” of Sally Hemings’s children and that one child
could be mistaken for Jefferson must be regarded as strong evidence indeed. De-
clarations against interest are regarded as having a high degree of credibility. . . . 

Randolph’s statements on the resemblance effectively narrowed the universe of
white men who could have fathered Hemings’s children from that of any white man
who visited Monticello during the years that Sally Hemings was giving birth. Had
Randolph never said that the children looked so much like Jefferson, those who
wanted to absolve Jefferson of responsibility could say . . . that the father could have
been any one of hundreds of visitors to Monticello. Randolph’s assertions brought
the possible fathers down to three men: Thomas Jefferson, Peter Carr, or Samuel Carr.36

As a factual matter, Professor Gordon-Reed’s conclusion that Jeff Randolph’s comment
brought “the possible fathers down to three” is simply not true. It entirely ignores the
possibility, for example, that Randolph Jefferson or one of his five sons could have fa-
thered one or more of Sally’s children. Each of them would have carried “Jefferson’s blood”
in his veins. Indeed, one of the many serious shortcomings in Professor Gordon-Reed’s
highly praised volume is her total disregard of Randolph and his family in the first edi-
tion of her book. Although she lists in her bibliography Bernard Mayo’s Thomas Jeffer-
son and His Unknown Brother Randolph37—and thus was presumably aware of the existence
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38. Id. at xxii.
39. Id. at 239–44.
40. Id. at 285. Ironically, in one of her numerous attacks on the character of earlier Jefferson his-

torians, Professor Gordon-Reed refers to the practice “of a historian rendering nonexistent some avail-
able evidence that hurt his position.” Id. at 49.

41. See, e.g., Monticello Report at 9.

of Randolph Jefferson — she excludes Randolph and his family from her genealogical
table of “The Jeffersons and Randolphs (Relevant Connections Only),”38 as well as from
the nearly fifty entries in Appendix A to her book, entitled “Key to Important Names.”39

Nor are Randolph Jefferson or any of his children referenced in her index.40

One does not like to speculate about the motives of others, and in this instance it re-
ally does not matter whether the exclusion of six key “suspects” from Professor Gordon-
Reed’s volume was an error of ignorance, over-enthusiastic advocacy, or oversight. In
reality, the list of “possible” fathers who could have produced children with Sally Hem-
ings who had “Jefferson’s blood” in their veins numbered at least twenty-five,41 not “three”
as Professor Gordon-Reed asserts; and any list of “serious suspects” certainly must in-
clude at least five of the six males of the Randolph Jefferson family, who we know were
invited to visit Monticello shortly before Sally Hemings conceived Eston — the only child
who we know with reasonable certainty carried “Jefferson’s blood” in his veins.

Nor do we have any information about the possibility that Thomas Jefferson’s pater-
nal grandfather, who matured sexually more than a century before Eston Hemings was
conceived, might have produced unknown children in or out of wedlock whose descen-
dants might be candidates for Eston’s paternity. What we do know is that there were more
than two dozen adult men in Virginia when Eston was conceived who carried the same
DNA marker found in one of Eston’s descendants, most of them much younger and in
better health than the sixty-four-year-old President. There may have been more.

In summary, the reported perceptions of physical resemblance of some of Sally Hem-
ings’ children to Thomas Jefferson would seem probative of very little. Not enough in-
formation is known about most of her children to draw a serious comparison. Eston was
tall (but not as tall as Thomas Jefferson), and the most commonly noted “likeness” of
others appears to be their very light skin. Even in the case of Eston, a physical resem-
blance is readily explained if one assumes that he was the son of any Jefferson male, and
that conclusion is strongly reinforced by the DNA tests. The physical resemblance does
little to assist us in determining whether that Jefferson male was President Thomas Jef-
ferson, his brother Randolph, one of Randolph’s five sons—all of whom were quite likely
at Monticello when Eston was conceived—or even President Jefferson’s cousin George or
one of more than a dozen other Jefferson men who might have paid an unrecorded visit
to Monticello at that time. 
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1. Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings, Appendix F, p. 3 (hereinafter cited as “Monticello Report”).

2. Kurt Samson, Slave’s Children Not Jefferson’s, UPI wire service, Comtex, Thurs., 12 Apr. 2001,
20:46 ET (emphasis added).

3. See Chapter One at pages 62–64.

8

Reassessing the Oral Tradition of 
Sally Hemings’ Descendants

The January 2000 report of a Research Committee of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial
Foundation said that the “family history of Sally Hemings’s descendants, transmitted orally
over many generations, states that Hemings and Thomas Jefferson are their ancestors.”1

Later, in talking with a United Press International journalist on the day in 2001 when
the Scholars Commission report was originally released, Monticello President Daniel Jor-
dan emphasized that the foundation “never said that DNA proved it. We said that the sci-
ence and the history, especially the oral history, suggest a high probability that Thomas
Jefferson fathered all of Sally Hemings’ children.”2

Before briefly discussing the importance of oral history — including its serious short-
comings as compared with some other sources of historical evidence—it is useful to clar-
ify to what this statement is actually referring. A reader might mistakenly conclude that
the foundation’s highly acclaimed “Getting Word” project — which has reportedly inter-
viewed more than 100 descendants of Monticello slaves since 1993 — has spoken to de-
scendants of all of Sally Hemings’ children and consistently been told that they learned
as children that they were descendants of President Thomas Jefferson. But that is not even
close to being an accurate statement.

On the contrary — if one accepts the clear DNA evidence that Thomas Woodson was
not Thomas Jefferson’s child3 —the Getting Word project has located descendants of only
two of Sally Hemings’ known children. They have no “oral history” from descendants of
Beverly or Harriet Hemings. Indeed (again, excluding Thomas Woodson), only the de-
scendants of a single child of Sally Hemings (Madison) have alleged that they were told
that Thomas Jefferson was their direct ancestor prior to the publication of Professor Fawn
Brodie’s 1974 biography making that allegation.

Once again, it is not my view that Thomas Woodson was not Sally Hemings’ child. I nei-
ther know nor greatly care about the answer to that question. Reportedly, the most pow-
erful oral history seems to have come from statements by descendants of Thomas Woodson.
One need not question the veracity of Thomas Woodson (who obviously had no first-
hand knowledge of his own paternity) or any of his descendants to observe that seven or
eight generations of very sincere oral tradition are less probative of the paternity issue than
Dr. Foster’s extensive DNA tests. Whether Thomas Woodson was, or was not, the son of
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4. Shannon Lanier & Jane Feldman, Jefferson’s Children: The Story of One American
Family 56 (2000).

5. Patrick Rogers, Glenn Garelik & Amanda Crawford, Out of the Past: All Tom’s Children — A
President’s Presumed Affair With a Slave Gives New Meaning to the Term Jeffersonian, People, Nov.
23, 1998, at 77.

6. The Family Letters of Thomas Jefferson 182 (Edwin Morris Betts & James Adam Bear, Jr.
eds. 1966.

Sally Hemings, the oral history that he was the son of Thomas Jefferson seems clearly to
be in error and thus probative of nothing relative to the current inquiry. Its primary util-
ity at this point may be to emphasize the shortcomings of oral tradition as an historical source.

That Thomas Woodson may honestly have believed and asserted that he was the child
of Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson is deserving of consideration. But its value as “ev-
idence” is not enhanced simply because numerous generations of descendants from several
of his children have retold the story in good faith and embraced it as true. Assuming that
they have not at any point intentionally or inadvertently distorted his testimony, the mod-
ern “oral history” can be no more probative of the truth than the credibility of his original
account. This reality may well be frustrating to families who must rely largely upon such
accounts for information about their ancestry, but surely its truth is self-evident.

The Eston Hemings Family Oral Tradition Asserted 
Thomas Jefferson Was Not Eston’s Father

Most significantly, the oral history from the four interviewed descendants of Eston
Hemings — the only child of Sally Hemings indicated by DNA testing to have almost cer-
tainly been fathered by someone carrying the Jefferson DNA marker—is more consistent
with a conclusion that Eston was fathered by the President’s younger brother Randolph
or one of Randolph’s five sons.

The oral traditions of Eston Hemings’ descendants are explained in this quotation
from Julia Westerinen in the book Jefferson’s Children:

I was told we were related to Jefferson’s uncle; that’s what was handed down in
the family. I don’t know who started that lie. . . . It was 1975, after Fawn Brodie’s
Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History came out. My aunt recognized Eston’s
name from our family tree and she called the author. Fawn did the research,
came east and interviewed us, and said, “You’re directly descended from Thomas
Jefferson, but through this woman named Sally Hemings, who was his slave.” So
that’s when we first found out about it.4

Ms. Westerinen made the same point in an interview with People magazine in late 1998:
“My parents told us we were related to Thomas Jefferson’s uncle, which made us cousins
removed several times.”5

Now, it is clear that Eston could not have been fathered by either of Thomas Jefferson’s
paternal uncles, as both had been dead for several decades when Eston was conceived.
But there was a frequent Jefferson visitor to Monticello who was known as “Uncle” and
who thus would seem to be a prime suspect when one considers both the DNA tests and
the oral history of Eston’s family. For example, in a January 30, 1800, letter to her father,
Martha Jefferson Randolph referred to the President’s brother as “Uncle Randolph,”6 and
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7. Id. at 343. As with so many other things, I am indebted to Cynthia Burton for bringing these
letters to my attention.

8. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 440.
9. See Chapter Ten.

10. Monticello Report, Appendix G.

about four months before Eston was conceived, Thomas Jefferson received a letter from
his granddaughter, Ellen Randolph, written from her family’s nearby home at Edgehill,
which noted: “Uncle Randolph Jefferson is with us. . . .”7

It thus appears that the oral history concerning Eston’s paternity is in error. He was not
fathered by an uncle of Thomas Jefferson. One of the few things that we know with rea-
sonable certainty about Sally Hemings is that she spent at least part of her life serving
Martha and Maria, Thomas Jefferson’s two daughters who survived to adulthood. To Maria
(who had passed away prior to Eston’s birth) and to Martha, Thomas Jefferson’s brother
was “Uncle Randolph.” Professor Brodie reminds us that Madison and Eston would “have
remembered no years without Martha Randolph in total charge”8 at Monticello.

Randolph was also known as “Uncle Randolph” by Thomas Jefferson’s grandchildren,
and it would seem reasonable that Sally Hemings would also have identified him by this
relationship. The DNA tests tell us that Randolph Jefferson was one of at least two dozen
men, in addition to President Thomas Jefferson, who were equally as likely (considering
only the DNA evidence) to have fathered Eston Hemings.

We also have reliable testimony by former slave Isaac Jefferson that Randolph was fond
of spending his evenings at Monticello playing his fiddle with the slaves and dancing “half
the night.”9 We have the oral history of Eston’s family asserting that his father was a Jef-
ferson “uncle.” We have a letter from Thomas Jefferson, dated August 12, 1807, inviting
Randolph to visit Monticello — and this was about a week before the start of the three-
week window during which it is estimated that Sally conceived Eston. None of this, of
course, proves that Randolph was Eston’s father; but, to the extent it is of value, the Eston
Hemings family oral history obviously supports Randolph’s paternity far more than it
does Thomas Jefferson’s. (It also shows, as discussed in other chapters, that Professor
Gordon-Reed and others should have considered Randolph Jefferson in their studies.)

Of course, if one assumes that Professor Brodie was correct in her conclusion that
Eston was, in fact, the son of Thomas Jefferson, then perhaps she performed a valuable
service by so informing Eston’s descendants. But in so doing, she obviously corrupted
the oral history process. Descendants of Eston Hemings who now proudly tell their chil-
dren they are related to President Jefferson are not passing on eight generations of fam-
ily “oral tradition,” but rather the far more recent conclusions of an unrelated Caucasian
historian. This does not make their story wrong, but it should exclude it from consider-
ation as legitimate Hemings family “oral history.” If their “source” is Professor Brodie, we
should focus our inquiry on her scholarship.

We are now told that the oral history of Eston Hemings’ family was corrupted on a
previous occasion, about a century ago, when white descendants decided to conceal their
connection to a black slave woman. As recounted in the Monticello Report:

For Eston Hemings Jefferson’s descendants, the story of connection to Thomas
Jefferson also remained alive, altered to protect their passing into the white world.
They heard that they were descended from Jefferson’s uncle, and Eston Hem-
ings’s name and the places the family had resided were changed, in order to sever
their connection with Sally Hemings and African Americans.10
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11. The argument on the other side would be that even a slight risk of being discovered to have
African-American ancestry would be so upsetting to the white Hemings that they could not chance
acknowledging their relationship to the famous President. While this strikes us as silly today, we can-
not rule it out as a possibility. But it is in this instance clearly a supposition, in a setting where there
are reasonable explanations that do not require such creative reasoning.

Two questions about this story come readily to mind:

• First, one has to wonder why it was necessary to delete the name of the famous
Thomas Jefferson in order to preserve a heritage of racial purity.11 Thomas Jeffer-
son was not black, and excluding his name would be a rather drastic approach to
“purifying” family genealogy. A far simpler and less speculative explanation for the
original oral history would be that the story was true—that Eston Hemings was the
son of a Jefferson family “uncle” who visited Monticello. And that explanation is
far easier to reconcile with what we know about Thomas and Randolph Jefferson.

• Second, and perhaps more important, one has to wonder how this century-old cor-
ruption of the family’s oral history would suddenly come to light now? There is
abundant testimony on the public record from Eston’s descendants claiming the
family history was “corrected” following a visit by Fawn Brodie in the mid-1970s.
If the oral history prior to that time had included information about the earlier
modification (“Honey, now that you are about to graduate from high school I
want to tell you something important; you are the great, great granddaughter of
Thomas Jefferson — except you are to tell your children it was his uncle . . .”), they
would not have believed the “uncle” story before Fawn Brodie came calling to “cor-
rect” the record. This new allegation about an earlier corruption seems clearly to
be someone’s creative speculation in an attempt to discredit the oral history of
Eston’s family in order to strengthen their post-DNA claim to be descendants of
President Jefferson. It serves as an excellent example of the weakness of oral tra-
ditions, as at any time as the story is passed down to a new generation it can be
altered as the storyteller wishes.

Later, in response to one of my questions, Monticello historian Lucia Stanton endeav-
ored to clarify the belief that the Eston Hemings oral history was modified prior to Pro-
fessor Brodie’s involvement. In early December, 2000, she wrote:

Subsequent to the Report, we have learned that the oral history of Eston Hem-
ings’s descendants was “altered” about sixty, rather than a hundred, years ago. Note
that when Eston’s son Beverly Jefferson died in 1908, he was described in a news-
paper as the grandson of Thomas Jefferson. In the 1940s Eston Hemings’s great-
grandsons created a family tree that included descent from Thomas Jefferson’s
uncle and completely omitted the Ohio portion of their ancestors’ lives. We think
it is significant that this family passed on the story of descent from Thomas Jef-
ferson for over a century, at probable risk to their lives as “passing” members of
the white community (it would not have been hard for someone to learn that
Jefferson had no surviving sons by his wife, Martha).

Candidly, the reason I had asked her to explain the basis of the allegation that the family
history had been “altered” was that I suspected it might have been supposition based upon
the fact that a friend of one of Eston’s sons had written to a newspaper following his death
that Eston was Thomas Jefferson’s son. Is “oral history” regarded as so inherently suspect
that a single letter to the editor, by an unknown writer who is not a family member and
who provides not the slightest reason to explain the basis of his assertion, is automatically
considered superior authority? One can only imagine the reaction of Hemings descendants
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12. Colonel Beverly Jefferson, Veteran Hackman, Madison Democrat, Nov. 12, 1908 (emphasis
added).

13. Judith P. Justus, Down From the Mountain 93 (1991). See also, id. at 101.
14. One colleague who has examined this issue more thoroughly than I have has observed that

Beverly’s older brother served as a colonel during the Civil War (Obituary of Col. John W. Jefferson, Madi-
son Democrat, June 14, 1892) and his brother-in-law was a captain. She speculates that, “like his Uncle
Madison,” Beverly Jefferson “may have felt inferior to the rest of his family” and thus embellished his
record. That is as plausible as much of the speculation circulating as fact in this dispute (although
Beverly seems to have been genuinely successful in his life), but speculation is no substitute for facts.
All we really seem to know here is that Beverly was not a colonel, but some people called him “Colonel”
and at least one of his friends — of whose veracity we know absolutely nothing — claimed that Bev-
erly was also the grandson of Thomas Jefferson. This is at best third- or fourth-degree hearsay in-
volving sources of unknown veracity.

15. There is a great risk in suggesting that someone “never said” something. All we can reasonably
say is that there does not appear to be any clear surviving record of such a statement, despite the fact
that Eston was asked about the rumor and had decades in which to make such a claim.

16. This is discussed in Chapter Four. If the story came from Madison, that does not make it false;
but it does mean that it is no more reliable that Madison’s original story, despite the number of times
it may have been repeated by Eston’s descendants.

if someone sought to introduce a comparable document in opposition to their claim. Nor,
for that matter, was it relevant to anything that someone might have learned that Martha
Jefferson “had no surviving sons.” Eston’s descendants would have equally been Thomas
Jefferson’s descendants had they traced their lineage to Martha or Mary.

Might not this 1908 letter to the editor be equally explained in other ways? The alle-
gation that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings was hardly a great se-
cret. Perhaps Beverly joked about it with one of his friends, or perhaps his friend knew
of the rumors from other sources and elected to assert it at the time of Beverly’s death to
make his deceased friend seem more important. It might be noted that a Madison, Wis-
consin, obituary was entitled “Colonel Beverly Jefferson, Veteran Hackman.”12 Hemings
family genealogist Judith Justus, in her book Down from the Mountain: The Oral History
of the Hemings Family, asserts that military records reveal that Beverly Jefferson spent
only three months in the Army after enlisting during the Civil War.13 Without explana-
tion, she concludes that the word “Colonel” was likely a “courtesy” title; but in the absence
of evidence to the contrary it might also suggest that Beverly Jefferson had embellished
his background to impress his associates — perhaps telling some he was a former colonel
in the Army and also the grandson of Thomas Jefferson.14 We have no way of knowing
whether this is true, or not. The point is, there are many very simple and credible expla-
nations for the letter to the editor without having to dismiss the Eston Hemings / Jeffer-
son family (pre-Brodie) oral history; but, of course, in this instance that history is an
impediment to the claim that Eston was Thomas Jefferson’s son.

One really need not resolve this dilemma, as alleged “oral history” that has clearly been
corrupted once (by Professor Brodie), and possibly twice, is entitled to little weight. Fur-
ther, the only way this history would be meaningful as evidence would be if Eston him-
self had been part of the chain. The fact that Eston does not appear to have ever clearly
asserted15 that Thomas Jefferson was his father increases the risk that, if Beverly Jefferson
or his family really did believe he was Thomas Jefferson’s grandson, the story might have
entered the family traditions as an indirect result of someone having read the widely pub-
licized articles of James T. Callender (or perhaps the account attributed to Madison Hem-
ings16) and accepted them as true.

As already noted, Eston Hemings could not have been fathered by Thomas Jefferson’s
“uncle.” Thomas Jefferson’s only paternal uncles, Thomas and Field Jefferson, died re-
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17. Much of the writing of Fawn Brodie, Annette Gordon-Reed, and other revisionists is founded
on just this sort of speculation. As with their other hypotheticals, the fact remains that there is no
way to confirm that this is in fact an accurate account of what happened.

18. Peter Field Jefferson grew up to become a successful businessman in Scottsville, Virginia, and
died in 1861. I vaguely recall seeing a reference somewhere, from a source of unknown reliability, to
Randolph Jefferson’s “third son” having fathered “colored children” by slaves, but have not been able
to find my note. I mention this as a point other scholars may wish to pursue, and not as a fact to be
accepted as true. I do not personally view Field as a particularly likely candidate for Eston’s paternity.

19. See also Chapter Ten.
20. Some descendants of Eston Hemings claim the original family oral history was that Eston was

the child of “an uncle or cousin” of President Jefferson.

spectively in 1723 and 1765, and the DNA tests have ruled out paternity by a maternal uncle.
Eston was not conceived until 1807. However, in keeping with the highly speculative spirit
of this inquiry by advocates of Thomas Jefferson’s paternity, it is easy to imagine ways in
which such an oral history story might have been started. For example:

• President Jefferson’s brother Randolph was the paternal uncle of daughters Martha
and Maria Jefferson, and thus was referred to as “Uncle Randolph” when he vis-
ited Monticello. It is not difficult to conceive how Eston might have been told that
“Uncle Randolph” was his father. As the story was passed from generation to gen-
eration, with many years sometimes passing between each retelling, it would not
be surprising for someone to forget the name Randolph and to recount only that
Eston was the son of “Thomas Jefferson’s uncle.”17

• Another possible explanation is that Eston was the son of Uncle Randolph’s third
son, Peter Field Jefferson,18 who was sometimes known as “Field” and is thought
to have been about 21 or 22 years old at the time of Eston’s conception. He pre-
sumably would have accompanied the rest of his family to visit Monticello about
the time Eston was conceived. (As already mentioned, we know Randolph was
invited to visit about that time.19) This third son of Randolph shared the name
Field with Thomas Jefferson’s youngest uncle, who died decades before Eston was
conceived. Over several generations, the word might have been passed down that
“Field Jefferson” was Eston’s father. At some point, a curious descendant may have
decided to do some genealogical research and discovered that “Field Jefferson” was
Thomas Jefferson’s uncle, and may then have confused two individuals having the
same name.

There is not the slightest bit of direct evidence to support either of these hypotheses, which
places them in the same category with most of the other speculation that has driven
“scholarship” on this topic in the absence of reliable historical data. The hypothetical ex-
amples prove nothing, but they do show how the oral history that Eston Hemings was a
descendant of Thomas Jefferson’s “uncle” might have developed. Similarly, the “or cousin”
part of the story20 might have emerged out of the confusion resulting from someone re-
searching the family genealogy and realizing that both of Thomas Jefferson’s uncles died
decades before Eston Hemings was conceived — and thus the legend that he was fathered
by Jefferson’s “uncle” was clearly in error. If Eston’s father was not an uncle, they might
have speculated, perhaps he was a cousin. Whatever the real explanation, the fact that
Eston Hemings’ descendants passed down for generations the story that he was not the
son of Thomas Jefferson is significant. Human nature suggests that people are far more
likely to alter or embellish their “family tree” to claim descent from a distinguished indi-
vidual than to conceal such a relationship.
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21. This may be an overstatement, as there is at least some chance that the Wetmore article al-
leging to represent the views of Madison Hemings did not, in fact, reflect those views. As was discussed
in Chapter Four, Wetmore appears to have had a strong political agenda of his own. However, I am
prepared to assume, for the moment, that the views represented in the article were based upon state-
ments actually made by Madison Hemings.

22. Jan Lewis, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings Redux: Introduction, in 57 William & Mary
Quarterly 121 (Jan. 2000, no. 1).

23. Id. at 122.
24. Genealogical Research Tips, Other Danger Zones, Family Tree Maker, (Broderbund software

version 6.0, 1999).

Although it will not likely be a popular conclusion at Monticello, we might add that
the oral history of the twenty-two descendants of Madison Hemings who were inter-
viewed in the “Getting Word” project is also of little value to our inquiry. We know21 that
Madison Hemings claimed that Thomas Jefferson was his father, and thus — unless the
oral history adds more details — no benefit is gained by showing that Madison also told
his children, they told their children, and so on for generations. If Madison was mistaken
about, or intentionally misrepresented, the truth, or if Samuel Wetmore intentionally or
inadvertently altered Madison’s account, the fact that others repeated this story for gen-
erations in good faith adds nothing to the probative value of his original account.

Shortcomings of Oral Traditions

A more general comment may be warranted about the inherent shortcomings of “oral
history” (sometimes called “oral tradition” to distinguish it from verbal testimony later taken
down from actual witnesses to historic events) as evidence — and this obviously applies
equally to accounts passed down by white and black families. The reality was captured by
Professor Jan Lewis, of Rutgers University — co-editor of the volume Sally Hemings and
Thomas Jefferson, and a true believer that Jefferson fathered Sally’s children — in her in-
troduction to a forum on this topic that appeared in the prestigious William & Mary
Quarterly22 in January 2000. Discussing a contribution by Monticello’s Lucia Stanton,
Professor Lewis writes: “Stanton reminds us that oral history is not intrinsically reliable
but must be checked against other sources.”23

The very popular genealogy software “Family Tree Maker,” by Broderbund, provides
this cautionary note to users evaluating stories passed down through the generations:

Tall Tales

Family tradition is another potential source of erroneous genealogical informa-
tion. Frequently, such tradition holds that the family is descended from some
particularly noteworthy or interesting ancestor, such as a high noble in England
or a French Huguenot who fled persecution. In many of these cases, the rela-
tionship is fictitious, arising as the family history was passed down and embell-
ished through the generations. In more extreme cases, the family may not have
any roots in the supposed ancestor’s home country. Similar inaccuracies may also
surround the history of the family surname and the deeds of various ancestors.

Once again, using a variety of sources to piece together the family tree is crucial
for ensuring accuracy. Although family traditions may serve as useful clues for
directing your search, they should not be taken at face value.24
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25. This document is reprinted in various sources, including S. N. Randolph, The Domestic
Life of Thomas Jefferson 18 (1871) (emphasis added).

26. Annette Gordon-Reed, When the Past Speaks to the Present: A Cautionary Tale about Evidence,
History Now (Dec. 2004), available at http://www.historynow.org/12_2004/print/historian4.html.

27. Id.
28. Id.
29. [Samuel E. Wetmore], Life Among the Lowly, Number 1. Madison Hemings, Pike County Re-

publican (Waverly, Ohio), Mar. 13, 1873 at 4, reprinted in Monticello Report, Appendix E at 27–28.
30. Annette Gordon-Reed, When the Past Speaks to the Present: A Cautionary Tale about Evidence,

History Now (Dec. 2004), Appendix E at 27–28.

In his own autobiography, Thomas Jefferson began by recounting that the “tradition of
my father’s family was, that their ancestor came to this country from Wales, and from
near the mountain of Snowden, the highest in Great Britain.” Then, noting that his fa-
ther married into the Randolph family, he reports: “They trace their pedigree far back
in England and Scotland, to which let every one ascribe the faith and merit he chooses.”25

Writing in History Now in 2004, Professor Gordon-Reed — while accusing white his-
torians of racism for having given more weight to statements made to historians by Jef-
ferson’s grandchildren than to the 1873 account attributed to Madison Hemings (discussed
in Chapter Four) — argued that it was necessary “to subject claims made by masters and
those made by slaves or the children of slaves to the same rigorous standards of proof.”26

One cannot quarrel with that statement. But even Professor Gordon-Reed recognizes a
difference between “modern-day forms of oral history interviews in which scholars pose
questions and record the answers of eyewitnesses to historical events,” and what she calls
“oral history tradition” in which “stories are passed privately and informally from one
generation to another.” She adds: “Scholars have been slow to accept oral tradition as his-
torical evidence, for they are aware that stories can be changed or embellished as they
pass from one generation to another. This concern that a story told to many people across
decades may produce error cannot be lightly dismissed.”27 Yet one of her three “lessons”
to be learned from the Jefferson-Hemings story, she tells us, is that “we must not privi-
lege one form of evidence over another.”28

Does she mean that Madison Hemings’ assertion that Thomas Jefferson “had but lit-
tle taste or care for agricultural pursuits”29 should be given equal weight to the hundreds
of pages of contemporary records to the contrary in Jefferson’s own handwriting, or that
the “oral traditions” handed down in good faith by descendants of Thomas Woodson
should be given equal weight with the six DNA tests of descendants of three of Woodson’s
sons showing no connection with the Jefferson DNA? To her credit, Professor Gordon-
Reed is apparently willing to give the Woodson DNA test results more weight than the oral
traditions of his descendants, as she writes:

What we know of the Woodson link to Jefferson and Hemings comes exclusively
from generations of Woodsons, who passionately asserted the truth of their own
family tradition. Their claims could not be dismissed out of hand, however, for
different branches of the family, who had no contact with one another, had pre-
served the same account of Woodson’s paternity. Once again, DNA testing was
determinate: The DNA results that bolstered the Hemings family tradition totally
discounted the Woodsons’ claim.30

In an effort to explain some obvious factual errors in James Callender’s accounts of
Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, Joshua Rothman writes in Sally Hemings & Thomas
Jefferson:
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33. Quoted in Lucia Stanton, The Other End of the Telescope, William & Mary Quarterly 145

(Jan. 2000).
34. Id. This quotation is attributed to hearsay evidence provided by a “Charlottesville resident.”

Most people who knew the story had probably heard it secondhand, at best. Cal-
lender’s information came to him through at least one other person and more
likely through two, three, or four. The more people the story passed through be-
fore it got to Callender, the less likely that all of the facts would be correct.31

Obviously, this is equally true of family “oral history” or “family tradition” — irrespec-
tive of the race of the storytellers. And when the stories are preserved in human memo-
ries for years at a time between retellings, the chances of errors obviously increase. Further,
there is a natural temptation for each party to the exchange to embellish the family legacy
to instill pride and confidence in the next generation.

Historians cannot be held to the same standards of evidence demanded of attorneys
in a court of law where people’s rights or liberties may hang in the balance, but the rules
of evidence are nonetheless relevant to any factual inquiry. The reason “hearsay” evidence
is normally excluded from court is that both experience and reason show that it is less re-
liable than first-person testimony. No attorney would ever consider offering fourth- or fifth-
degree hearsay (“I overheard a fellow say that he heard from a guy that a friend of his
knew a woman who said she heard . . .”) to a judge or jury, and yet the oral history we are
asked to accept in the Hemings case is sixth- or seventh-degree hearsay at best. One of the
many problems with hearsay is that one cannot be certain that one or more people along
the chain did not forget, modify, embellish, or otherwise alter the original story.

Consider this account, also in Sally Hemings & Thomas Jefferson, from two champions
of Hemings family oral history, Lucia Stanton and Dianne Swann-Wright, concerning
the oral history of Madison Hemings’ youngest daughter, Ellen Wayles Hemings, who
married a man said to have “no white blood”:

Some of Ellen’s descendants tell an interesting story about the origin of this
union: Madison Hemings, old and infirm, arranged this marriage for his last
unmarried daughter, joining her, possibly against her will, with a much older
man he recognized as able to support her. Ellen and Andrew J. Roberts’s mar-
riage record, however, is dated a year after Madison Hemings’s death and reveals
Roberts to be only five years older than his wife.32

Or consider this question: What is one to make of the oral traditions of the descendants
of Betty Hemings’ eldest daughter, Mary, who allege such things as that Mary was “one
of the three colored women by whom Jefferson had children,”33 and that Jefferson was
“unscrupulous in his sexual demands upon colored women?”34

In settings where “family tradition” is the only information available, it obviously war-
rants attention. At minimum, it may lead historians to other and more reliable leads. In
some and perhaps many cases it may prove to be generally accurate, but it is seldom the
most reliable of evidence.

In the current dispute, on balance, the Hemings family oral tradition supports the
conclusion that “Uncle Randolph” Jefferson or one of his sons was the father of Eston
Hemings — the only Hemings child shown by DNA testing to have probably been fa-
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never met them. I have absolutely no reason to believe she is not telling the truth to the best of her
knowledge. My concern is not about her as an individual, but about the changing nature of the story
that is being told. The reality is that, at any stage of the process, anyone involved can — honestly or
otherwise — conclude that the story they were told was erroneous (or not impressive enough) and
alter or embellish it, telling the next generation that the new story has been passed down through
many generations.

thered by a Jefferson. That, in turn, would undermine the theory that Sally Hemings
was monogamous or else rule out Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of any of her children.
This oral tradition evidence is not highly probative, however, and obviously does not
rule out the possibility that Thomas Jefferson fathered one or even all of Sally Hemings’
children.

There is reportedly compelling oral history from the descendants of Madison Hemings
identifying Thomas Jefferson as the father of all of Sally Hemings’ children; but the exis-
tence of a similar account attributed to Madison himself in 1873 makes it unnecessary to
rely upon subsequent family traditions. One might think that if the descendants of Madi-
son Hemings were truly anxious to find the truth, they might cooperate in an effort to
obtain DNA from the gravesite of Madison’s son William. But, thus far, that is reportedly
not the case. Candidly, there are ethical considerations that also ought to be taken into
account before disturbing a gravesite to satisfy historical curiosity.

* * *

Months after this chapter was drafted, another bizarre twist surfaced regarding the
Eston Hemings “oral history.” According to an article in the March 3, 2001, New York
Times, Julia Jefferson Westerinen is now asserting that her father and his brothers “met
in the 40’s and decided to kill the story” that they were descendants of Thomas Jeffer-
son.35 Perhaps this is true. But in November 1998 Julia Jefferson Westerinen repeatedly—
including to the New York Times36 and on the Oprah Winfrey Show37 —alleged that, until
Fawn Brodie38 informed them they were direct descendants of the famous President, her
family believed “we were distantly related” to Jefferson through a “nephew” or “uncle.”
According to Judith Justus’ book Down from the Mountain, Ms. Westerinen’s father,
William McGill Jefferson, passed away in 1956 and his two brothers — Carl S. Jefferson,
Jr., and Beverly Frederick Jefferson — by 1960.39

Presumably, some family member is now prepared to announce that he or she recalls
one of these deceased relatives having decades ago disclosed a conspiracy to alter the fam-
ily tree to conceal the reality of having African-American ancestors. And perhaps that is
true.40 But the simple reality is, it is also possible that this is but a new attempt to en-
hance the claim to famous ancestry — a claim that has reportedly earned Ms. Westerinen
many thousands of dollars on the college lecture circuit. That is one of the most serious
problems with having to rely upon oral history as a source of the truth: anyone, at any
stage of the process, can embellish or otherwise alter the facts.
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Thomas Jefferson’s “Other” Black Children

If one relies upon claims of oral traditions, the allegations that Thomas Jefferson fa-
thered children by Monticello slaves go far beyond Sally Hemings. Although the 1873
Pike County Republican article discussed in Chapter Four attributed to Madison Hem-
ings asserts Madison stated Sally’s children “were the only children of his [Jefferson’s] by
a slave woman,”41 a 1926 publication entitled Cincinnati’s Colored Citizens asserts that
“‘Jos’ Fossett was the son of America’s President and remained with him at Monticello until
he went above to join the great galaxy of other notables.”42

An article in the Washington Afro-American asserted that:

It was common knowledge that President Thomas Jefferson had a violent love af-
fair with brown-skinned Sally Hemings. A considerable number of the Jefferson
slaves were his own children born by various colored girls on his plantation.43

The November 1954 issue of Ebony magazine included two stories about Jefferson de-
scendants. The primary story states:

Many reputable historians concede that Jefferson fathered at least five Negro chil-
dren and possibly more by several comely slave concubines who were great fa-
vorites at his Monticello home. Although the great bulk of material written on
Jefferson is discreetly silent on this point, numerous authorities hold that the
slaves Jefferson freed in his will were his own children. At least three and possi-
bly all five of these slaves — Burwell, Joseph Fossett, John, Madison and Eston
Hemings — were sons of the celebrated “Black Sal,” a stunningly-attractive slave
girl with long pretty hair and milk-white skin.

Perhaps the best-known Negro descendants of Jefferson are the great grand-
children of one of these slaves, Joseph Fossett. . . . 44

The second story, entitled “Family Tradition Kept Alive by Some of Descendants,” iden-
tifies Peter Fossett as Thomas Jefferson’s child and discusses the special privileges he re-
ceived at Monticello.45

In July 1993, following Thomas Jefferson’s two-hundred-fiftieth birthday, Ebony ran
a story on the descendants of Jefferson’s first alleged son by Sally Hemings, Thomas Wood-
son, whose oral history appears to be the strongest of any of his alleged slave children. The
story recounts the oral history of Virginia attorney Robert H. Cooley III, who told a gath-
ering of Jefferson scholars at the University of Virginia “his story—a story that he and hun-
dreds of African-Americans across the country grew up hearing from their elders.”
According to Ebony:

The story of the relationship between Jefferson and Sally Hemings . . . Cooley in-
formed them . . . is fact — fact backed up by almost 200 years of oral history
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passed down through generation after generation of Jefferson’s and Hemings’
first-born son, Thomas Woodson.46

Ebony provides this testament from another descendant of Thomas Woodson:

“From the time I was a little boy my family insisted I know my heritage,” said [John
Q. T.] King, who can still remember his great-aunt Minerva opening the family
Bible to the pages of the family tree and explaining that Thomas Woodson —
“our family patriarch” — was the first-born son of Jefferson and Hemings.47

The Woodsons were featured again in Ebony in February 1999, in a story subtitled “Did
Jefferson Also Father Children By Sally Hemings’ Sister?”48 Asserting that DNA tests had
recently “provided virtual proof-positive that America’s third President fathered at least
one child by Hemings,” the story quotes Woodson descendant John King as saying: “We have
always had implicit faith and extreme confidence in the oral history of our family. . . .”49

The story notes that “five lines of Thomas Woodson descendants who had been dis-
persed throughout the world for four generations and had no contact with one another main-
tained consistent oral accounts of their relationship to Jefferson,” and quotes John Q. T. King
as saying the oral accounts were not just consistent, “they were almost identical.”50

Indeed, the Woodson family belief in this story was so strong that they readily volun-
teered for Dr. Eugene Foster’s DNA study to establish their claim. According to Ebony: “While
the test offers almost certain evidence that Jefferson is the father of Hemings’ youngest son,
Eston, it did not establish a definite Y chromosome match on Thomas. . . .”51

In reality, of course, the Woodson tests not only “did not establish a definite Y chro-
mosome match on Thomas,” they established with reasonable certainty that Thomas Jef-
ferson could not have been the father of Thomas Woodson. A subsequent sixth DNA test
also revealed no link between descendants of any of three sons of Thomas Woodson and
the Jefferson family.

No one questions the sincerity of the Woodson family belief in their illustrious her-
itage. For generations, the same story was passed down through Woodson families across
the land. Similar stories were passed down by at least some lines of the Joe and Peter Fos-
set families and the family of Madison Hemings. (It is more than a little ironic that the
oral history of Eston Hemings, the one Monticello slave who has been connected to a Jef-
ferson father by DNA, apparently did not claim direct lineage from Thomas Jefferson.)
The Woodson experience clearly demonstrates the risks inherent in relying upon “fam-
ily tradition” or “oral history” as fact.

Other Monticello Slave Accounts Make No Reference to 
the Alleged Jefferson-Hemings Affair

Concerning the allegation that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings,
no discussion of the stories passed down by the descendants of former Monticello slaves
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would be complete without noting the apparent lack of confirmation of the allegation by
other Monticello slaves (with the exception of Israel Jefferson, whose alleged statement
has already been addressed in Chapter Four). 

It is difficult to imagine that Sally Hemings could have carried on a sexual relationship
with Thomas Jefferson for decades without the knowledge of others in the slave com-
munity. After two centuries, it is not possible to go back and interview slaves at Monti-
cello to ascertain what they knew or believed. Nevertheless, it is of some significance
that — with the exception of the 1873 accounts attributed to Madison Hemings and Is-
rael Jefferson — none of the hundreds of slaves who lived at Monticello during all or part
of this alleged relationship have left behind any hint of such knowledge. Surely this would
have been recognized as significant news, and surely someone would have left a record if
the accounts were at all widespread among those living at Monticello.

Isaac Jefferson

Indeed, it is noteworthy that former slave Isaac Jefferson, whose Memoirs of a Monti-
cello Slave were taken down by Charles W. Campbell in 1847 and first published in 1951,
gave no hint of any such relationship. While the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation
staff report attempts to downplay the importance of Isaac’s observations by noting that
he left Monticello in 1797 (when he was reportedly given to Jefferson’s daughter Polly),
Isaac claims to have left Monticello in 1822,52 and former Thomas Jefferson Memorial
Foundation Resident Director James A. Bear, Jr., notes that a year after being deeded to
Polly, Isaac “apparently joined the family of her sister, Martha Randolph,”53 who lived at
Edgehill after 1800 but returned to Monticello in 1809.54

Isaac would have been fourteen years old when Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings
returned from Paris, and twenty-two or twenty-three when Harriet I was born. Both dur-
ing that period, and during the subsequent thirteen-year period beginning in 1809, he would
presumably have been cognizant of the major gossip among the slaves and might well
have been witness to signs of a decades-long love affair between Sally Hemings and Thomas
Jefferson — had such a relationship actually existed. Isaac was the son of perhaps the sec-
ond most important slave family at Monticello,55 and his factual account seems far more
accurate than either Madison Hemings’ or Israel Jefferson’s.56 Although his Memoirs are
not lengthy, Isaac specifically discusses Sally Hemings and others in her family; but he
offers not the slightest corroboration of the allegations made by Madison Hemings and
Israel Jefferson nearly a quarter-century later. Like Edmund Bacon, Isaac Jefferson’s tes-
timony is unusually credible in this matter, as he is providing, for the most part, eye-wit-
ness accounts, and he lacks the obvious bias that one might expect to be present with
respect to both the Jefferson and the Hemings descendants. While one might argue that
in 1847 an African-American man might be hesitant to even discuss rumors of a sexual
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ticello — Reminiscences of Jefferson, Lafayette, Madison and Monroe, The World (New York), Jan. 30,
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liaison between a white master and one of his slaves, that cannot be the case here because
Isaac expressly mentioned the rumors that Sally herself might have been the child of
Thomas Jefferson’s father-in-law John Wayles.

Peter Fossett

There is also the account of Peter Fossett, the son of Betty Hemings’ son Joe Fossett
who was freed in Jefferson’s will. As a prominent Baptist minister in 1898, Peter Fossett
was interviewed by a New York World reporter and gave a highly laudatory account of
Thomas Jefferson. He emphasized Jefferson’s kindness towards his slaves, and since he
was being interviewed by a predominantly African-American newspaper, presumably he
could have presented Jefferson in an even more favorable light to many readers by as-
serting that Jefferson took a slave woman as his de facto wife after Martha’s death. But
Peter Fossett made not the slightest suggestion that Thomas Jefferson was sexually in-
volved with Sally Hemings or any other Monticello slave.57
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Miscellaneous Arguments Said to
Support Thomas Jefferson’s 
Paternity of Sally Hemings’ Children

There are a number of other arguments that have been voiced in support of the con-
clusion that Thomas Jefferson fathered one or more children by his slave Sally Hemings;
and, while none of these are important enough to warrant an extended discussion, it may
be useful to address them briefly here.

“Psychohistory” and Jefferson’s Use of the Term Mulatto

Jefferson scholars had consistently rejected the Callender charges, and the subsequent
1873 allegations of Madison Hemings and Israel Jefferson, as without merit until 1974,
when Professor Fawn Brodie published Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History. In an ap-
parent attempt to psychoanalyze Jefferson from a careful reading of his letters, she tells
her readers:

The first evidence that Sally Hemings had become for Jefferson a special preoc-
cupation may be seen in one of the most subtly illuminating of all his writings,
the daily journal he kept on a seven-week trip through eastern France, Germany,
and Holland in March and April of 1788. . . . Not normally a diary keeper, he did
write an almost daily account of his travels. Anyone who reads with care these
twenty-five pages must find it singular that in describing the countryside be-
tween these cities he uses the word “mulatto” eight times.1

Professor Brodie then goes on to quote each of these usages, and we find that each of
them involves the use of “mulatto” to describe the color of “plains” or “hills” or “clay” or
“the valley.”2 It is unclear what credential Professor Brodie held in the field of psychiatry,
but her background in geology was clearly incomplete. She apparently simply did not
understand that “mulatto” was a term-of-art used in the description of soils.

Reviewing the Brodie volume in 1974 for the New York Review of Books, historian Garry
Wills wrote:

She [Brodie] offers as “evidence” of his “special preoccupation” with Sally the
“singular” fact that he used the word “mulatto” eight times in twenty-five pages
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of his travel account that spring. But all these references are to the color of the
soil, and the OED [Oxford English Dictionary] gives that use of the word as pe-
culiarly American and eighteenth-century. . . . Unfortunately for Ms. Brodie’s the-
sis, he had used “mulatto” in exactly the same way during his tour of southern
France, the spring before Sally arrived in Paris. The category already existed in
his mind. Ms. Brodie tries to solve this difficulty by stressing, once again, the
repetition. In the tour of France, she tells us, Jefferson used the word “mulatto”
only once in forty-eight of Boyd’s pages as opposed to eight times in the twenty-
five pages of his Holland tour.

Well, as usual, Ms. Brodie has her facts wrong, even before she loads them with
unsustainable surmise. . . . For instance: on the seven-week tour of Holland he
used the word “red” only seven times; but on the nine-week tour of southern
France he used it (or “reddish”) thirty-eight times. Such a disparity must reflect
“special preoccupation” of some sort, according to the Brodie method. Since his
daughter had Jefferson’s reddish hair and complexion, and he was arranging for
her to come join him, the soil descriptions are really covert expressions of an in-
cest drive. How on earth did Brodie miss that “curious” fact?3 

Opinions of Jefferson’s Friends and Neighbors

The January 2000 report of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research
Committee asserts that “Several people close to Jefferson or the Monticello community
believed he was the father of Sally Hemings’s children.”4 The statement is broad enough
to be almost certainly true, as far as it goes, but it is less clear that it has sufficient pro-
bative value to warrant consideration in a search for the truth. But the Monticello Report
goes on to expand on this “research finding” by alleging: “Numerous sources document
the prevailing belief in the neighborhood of Monticello that Jefferson had children by
Sally Hemings.”5 As will be seen, there is not the slightest bit of credible evidence to sug-
gest that the “prevailing belief” in the Monticello neighborhood was that Thomas Jeffer-
son was the father of any of Sally Hemings’ children.

Furthermore, there is no suggestion that any of the people mentioned in the Monti-
cello Report claimed or had first-hand knowledge about the identity of the father(s) of
Sally Hemings’ children. None of them is said to have claimed that they observed Thomas
Jefferson and Sally Hemings in any setting that might suggest an intimate relationship, or
that either of the principals or anyone else with apparent first-hand knowledge of the
truth ever alleged in their presence that Thomas Jefferson was the father. Those who said
they “believed” the story were presumably either acknowledging the fact that some slave
owners did father children by slaves, commenting more generally about their perception
of Thomas Jefferson’s character, or perhaps even venting their jealousy or dislike for the
highly popular and successful preeminent citizen of the community.

More important, the fact is that most people who actually knew Thomas Jefferson,
were in a position to evaluate his character from extended personal exposure, and left a

turner 11 turner view 9 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 176



9 · MISCELLANEOUS ARGUMENTS SUPPORTING JEFFERSON’S PATERNITY 177

6. Ellis, American Sphinx 180.
7. The Recorder (Richmond), Sept. 29, 1822.
8. Monticello Report, Appendix E at 4. See also, Joseph Ellis, American Sphinx 180 (1997).
9. Jefferson at Monticello 84, 102, 117 (James A. Bear, Jr., ed., 1967).

10. Monticello Report, Appendix F at 4.
11. Id.
12. Fawn M. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 361 (1974).
13. Ellis, American Sphinx 366 (1997). The Monticello Report notes that historian Page Smith

interprets Adams’ statement as reflecting a belief that the allegations were true. (Monticello Report,
Appendix F at 4.) This is because Adams added that “Callender and Sally will be remembered as long
as Jefferson, as blots in his character. The story of the latter is a natural and almost unavoidable con-
sequence of that foul Contagion in the human Character, Negro Slavery.” But these comments per-
tain not to the truth of the accusations, but rather to Adams’ expectation that the Callender charges
would be believed by some because it was well known that some slave owners did sexually exploit
their female slaves.

14. Ellis, American Sphinx 261.

record of their views on the matter, rejected the Callender charges. Trying to ascertain
whether a person accused of some wrongful or otherwise controversial behavior is guilty
by asking people in the neighborhood who were not present and claim no first-hand
knowledge of the facts is hardly the most useful technique in a serious search for the
truth; but since it is being relied upon by Jefferson’s critics it may be useful to emphasize
that if this “jury” is limited to those who knew Thomas Jefferson well, their overwhelm-
ing verdict was a clear “not guilty.” For example:

• All of Thomas Jefferson’s relatives who left a record of opinion on the issue em-
phatically rejected the allegations.

• James Madison, Jefferson’s closest friend for many decades, a man of impeccable
integrity, and the man Professor Ellis admits “probably knew Jefferson as well as
or better than anyone else alive,”6 dismissed the allegations. Callender had ap-
proached Madison during his attempt to extort appointment as the postmaster
of Richmond from the President, and he wrote that Madison responded to the
Hemings charge by saying “that he had known Mr. Jefferson for the greater part
of his life; and that he knew so much about the excellence of his heart, as to make
this allegation incredible.”7 This language is unfortunately omitted from the por-
tion of this article reprinted in the Monticello Report.8

• Edmund Bacon, who was at Monticello day after day for more than fifteen years
as Jefferson’s overseer and knew all of the participants in the alleged scandal well,
dismissed the allegations as untrue.9

• David Humphreys, Jefferson’s long-term friend and secretary during his service as
U.S. minister to France, did not believe the story.10

• Jefferson’s physician, Dr. Robley Dunglison, “did not believe the story.”11

• Thomas Paine stayed with Jefferson at Monticello during the controversy and later
denounced Callender’s charges as falsehoods.12

• Jefferson’s friend (but for many years, including the time of the Callender charges,
a bitter political rival) John Adams, himself a repeated victim of James T. Callen-
der’s libels, rejected the story.13

• John Quincy Adams, son of John and Abigail and later to serve as America’s sixth
President, suggested that the Federalists had been compelled to resort to such
scandal mongering because the voters had “completely and irrevocably, abandoned
and rejected” their political program.14

turner 11 turner view 9 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 177



178 INDIVIDUAL VIEWS OF ROBERT F. TURNER ET AL.

15. Id. at 366.
16. Monticello Report, Appendix F at 4.
17. Id. at 5.
18. Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 215 (1997).
19. 2 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 1271 (James A. Bear, Jr. & Lucia C. Stanton, eds. 1997).
20. 20 The Writings of Thomas Jefferson 51 (Mem. ed. 1905).
21. 2 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 1299, 1304.
22. Dumas Malone, Jefferson and His Time: The Sage of Monticello 253 (1981).
23. This is no more difficult to accept than much of the “evidence” revisionist scholars ask us to

accept, including that Jefferson would have carried on this relationship in settings where his daugh-
ters were likely to learn of it.

• Jefferson’s long-time political opponent Alexander Hamilton, another Federalist
victim of Callender’s pen, did not believe the story.15

• Even General Light-Horse Harry Lee, a Federalist and political adversary of Presi-
dent Jefferson’s in Virginia, said there was “no foundation whatsoever for that story.”16

Revisionist accounts have made various references to the story being widely accepted in
Charlottesville and among Jefferson’s friends, but they are short of specifics. Indeed, their
“evidence” seems to come down to allegations by Jefferson’s critics and recorded state-
ments by three individuals.

John Hartwell Cocke

Indeed, among those individuals alleged to have been “close” to Thomas Jefferson,
only a single one is cited in the Monticello Report as believing the Callender allegations:
General John Hartwell Cocke, who served with Jefferson on the Board of Visitors of the
University of Virginia. The Monticello Report notes that: “Decades after Jefferson’s death,
Cocke referred in his diary to the prevalence in Virginia of masters with slave families —
‘nor is it to be wondered at, when Mr. Jefferson[’]s notorious example is considered.’”17

Professor Annette Gordon-Reed similarly relies upon statements from Cocke’s diary as
evidence that Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings, noting that Cocke was “one
of the founders and first board members of the University of Virginia,” and “not an enemy
of Jefferson.”18 This is an accurate statement, as far as it goes, but it does not provide
enough information about the proffered “witness” for us to assess seriously the proba-
tive value of his testimony.

For example, Sally Hemings’ last known child was conceived around August 1807.
Thomas Jefferson’s first mention of John Hartwell Cocke in his Memorandum Books oc-
curred in 1811,19 and Cocke’s name does not even appear in the index to the twenty-vol-
ume Thomas Jefferson Memorial Association collection of The Writings of Thomas
Jefferson.20 Cocke went off to war in 1812, and resurfaces in the Memorandum Books on
April 20, 1814, when he sold a horse to the former President.21 Their collaboration on
the University of Virginia did not commence for another three years,22 nearly a decade after
Sally Hemings’ last child was conceived. 

It is perhaps remotely conceivable23 that Jefferson spoke openly during the early meet-
ings of the Board of Visitors about a sexual relationship with Sally Hemings, or that he
and Sally were openly affectionate or showed signs of some special relationship in the
general’s presence during gatherings at Monticello. But there is no evidence of this, and
had any of it actually occurred, one would expect more specific evidence to exist. A far
more likely explanation is that General Cocke heard the rumors and allegations and ei-
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ther assumed they were true or felt it desirable to record them for some other reason we
can only speculate about.

We do know that General Cocke’s diary includes other rather negative references to
Thomas Jefferson, possibly suggesting a bit of jealousy on his part that the former Pres-
ident had received too much of the credit for their shared enterprise, or just displeasure
at Jefferson’s greater fame and accomplishments in life. For example, when the Virginia
House of Delegates resisted Jefferson’s request for more money for his new University,
General Cocke — to whom Jefferson had entrusted the business of approaching the leg-
islature for the additional funding — wrote, “The temper of the House ought to be an
admonition to the ‘Old Sachem’ that the State has had enough of his buildings.”24

Similarly, on September 19, 1836, General Cocke wrote in his diary that he had “com-
menced taking off Roof of the House to be replaced by a new one to get rid of the evils
of flat roofing and spouts and gutters, or in other words to supersede the Jeffersonian by
the common sense plan.”25 (In 1820, Cocke had moved into his mansion that had been
constructed following Jefferson’s recommendations regarding the roof.26 ) While such en-
tries do not suggest that Jefferson and Cocke were “enemies,” they also do not suggest the
warm friendship and admiration that would make it remarkable for General Cocke to
embrace the rumors about Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings. 

Other contemporary sources suggest that General Cocke’s ultimate hostility toward
Jefferson may have had political roots. In the spring of 1840, Cocke reportedly told Lu-
cius Manlius Sargent that Jefferson deserved much of the blame for the injuries done to
George Washington’s reputation in the south.27 Whatever the degree of his hostility toward
Thomas Jefferson and the source or sources of his information, the important observa-
tion is that there is no reason to believe that John Hartwell Cocke had first-hand knowl-
edge about any possible sexual relationship between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings. 

Furthermore, Cocke’s knowledge of Jefferson or Monticello did not come close to that
possessed by many of the people who dismissed the allegations (such as Madison, Bacon,
or family members). General Cocke’s cryptic diary entries provide not the slightest hint
that these comments were based upon anything more than Callender’s allegations or
rumor. There is no suggestion that he ever witnessed or overhead anything at Monticello
or elsewhere that might have given him some relevant and personal knowledge about the
facts in this dispute. Under the circumstances, the probative value of his testimony is lim-
ited at best.

In addition to John Hartwell Cocke, the Monticello Report correctly notes that, “beyond
the circle of family and acquaintances,” there were people who believed the story. Thus,
they note that, during and after the presidential campaign of 1800, “Federalist newspa-
pers hinted at a relationship between President Jefferson and a slave.”28 If the partisan
rantings of Federalist editors—most of whom had probably never come within fifty miles
of Monticello—are to be accepted as “evidence” of the truth, then Thomas Jefferson must
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also presumably be found guilty of being “an atheist” and a “French infidel,”29 to mention
but two of their frequent charges against him. 

Thomas Gibbons

A similar response applies to the allegations of Jefferson’s Federalist opponent Thomas
Gibbons, who in an 1802 letter from his home in Georgia confirmed “as correct as truth
itself” that Jefferson was the father of Sally Hemings’ children (admitting he had never ac-
tually seen any of them). This is almost as persuasive as interviewing at random a resident
of Georgia who had no knowledge of the facts beyond Callender’s charges but who was
not a known political enemy of Thomas Jefferson. Gibbons does not appear to have ever
been near Monticello, but he had every reason to be resentful of Thomas Jefferson—who
was not only the political leader of the Republicans who had thrown the Federalists out
of power, but had personally blocked Gibbons’ “midnight appointment” as a federal judge
by John Adams in the constitutional dispute that led to the famous Supreme Court case
of Marbury v. Madison.30

A reading of the entire Gibbons letter reveals it to be bigoted drivel. He spends sev-
eral paragraphs denouncing all Virginians (who, inter alia, he alleged were “more igno-
rant of Government and finance than of Theology, if it be possible”), refers to the children
of Sally Hemings (he admits he had never seen) as being “flat nosed, thick lipped and
Tawney,” and then attacked the governor of Virginia (“a Miserable creature”).31 Surely it
tells us something that the revisionists are reduced to such authority in trying to make
their case.

Elijah P.  Fletcher

Next, as more of this alleged “evidence” that the paternity was widely accepted as fac-
tual by Jefferson’s friends and neighbors, we are offered the testimony of Elijah P. Fletcher,
a Vermont schoolteacher who rode through Charlottesville on his way to Lynchburg, Vir-
ginia, where he later became the mayor. In the words of the Monticello Report: “Passing
through Charlottesville, Fletcher talked to members of both political parties, who told
‘many anecdotes much to [Jefferson’s] disgrace.’ He gained the impression that ‘the story
of Black Sal is no farce — that he cohabits with her and has a number of children by her
is a sacred truth.’”32 Coming from New England, where, according to one source, “half
the clergy”33 engaged in anti-Jefferson attacks during the campaign of 1800, it is not sur-
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prising that when he entered Charlottesville, Fletcher would have been susceptible to ac-
cepting the local gossip as “sacred truth.” 

But there is, in fact, more to the story. To put this source in a bit more context, it needs
to be understood that Fletcher happened to have shared the stage from Washington, D.C.,
to Charlottesville, with John Kelly — a strong Federalist and one of Thomas Jefferson’s
most bitter critics in Charlottesville.34 When they arrived in Charlottesville, Kelly took
Fletcher around to speak with other local critics of the former President. Kelly’s personal
hatred for Jefferson was so great that, upon learning Jefferson was involved in the project,
he refused to sell the plot of land on which Jefferson originally wanted to build the Uni-
versity of Virginia, exclaiming, “I will see him at the devil before he shall have it at any
price.”35 From Kelly and his anti-Jefferson friends, Fletcher divined his “sacred truth.”36

Consider these excerpts from a letter Fletcher wrote on May 24, 1811:

Thursday, May 2nd, I bade my scholars farewell at Ale[xandria] and on Friday
morning 3d. entered the stage coach in company with 3 Virginia gentlemen. . . .
We arrived . . . at Char[lottesville], a village of about 400 houses, courthouse,
and good taverns. Mr. Kelly, the only remaining fellow traveler, left me here, as
he resided in town. Gave me a polite invitation to call [and?] spend some time
with him. . . . 

Wednesday 8th I started again for Monticello. Mr. Kelly, when I got to Char.,
went with me. . . . We rode up to the front gate of the door yard, a servant took
our horses, Mr. Jefferson appeared at the door. I was introduced to him and
shook hands with him very cordially. . . . 37

Presumably, Thomas Jefferson did not spend the visit trying to persuade his guests of his
own shortcomings. Although Fletcher does not provide the details (beyond disclosing
that his tour guide in Charlottesville was “Mr. Kelly”), he does provide a summary of
what he “learnt” while visiting Charlottesville:

I learnt [Jefferson] was but little esteemed by his neighbors. Republicans as well
as Federalists in his own County dislike him and tell many anecdotes much to
his disgrace. I confess I never had a very exalted opinion of his moral conduct,
but from the information I gained of his neighbors who must best know him, I
have a much poorer one. The story of black Sal is no farce. That he cohabits
with her and has a number of children by her is a sacred truth. . . . 38

In context, this is not particularly powerful evidence of the Jefferson-Hemings relation-
ship. Fletcher entered the scene with a low opinion of Jefferson based upon rumors he had
accepted as fact in New England. His testimony seems to be little more that hearsay ac-
counts based on the views of John Kelly and Kelly’s anti-Jefferson friends. It is again a re-
flection of the paucity of their case that the revisionists have resorted to proffering such
“evidence.” 
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This is not to deny that Thomas Jefferson had critics in Charlottesville, even among his
neighbors. Many highly successful people are resented by some of their neighbors. While
the Monticello Report cites only John Hartwell Cocke and Israel Jefferson (whose problem-
atic statement was addressed in Chapter Four) in support of its allegation that “[n]umerous
sources document the prevailing belief in the neighborhood of Monticello that Jefferson
had children by Sally Hemings,”39 it is not to be doubted that others may have assumed the
allegations to be true as well. It was, after all, well known that there were light-skinned slave
children at Monticello, and it was also well known that miscegenation between master and
slave was not uncommon on Virginia plantations. Add even a small measure of envy and it
is easy to see how some in the community might have found much satisfaction in the belief
that their more prominent neighbor up on the mountain was less perfect than he appeared.

In reality, Thomas Jefferson was so busy with national and international affairs that he
barely knew many of his neighbors in Albemarle County. When his sister Anna Scott Jef-
ferson married Hastings Marks in 1788, Jefferson wrote her from his post in Paris: “Though
Mr. Marks was long my neighbor, eternal occupations in business prevented my having
a particular acquaintance with him, as it prevented me from knowing more of my other
neighbors. . . .”40 A sense of having been ignored by their famous neighbor might con-
tribute further to the normal tendencies of human beings to be envious of those around
them who have achieved great prominence, just as the lack of direct knowledge might
make them more likely to assume critical facts alleged by others were true.

But it is important to keep such criticism in perspective. There is not the slightest ev-
idence that all or even most of Thomas Jefferson’s neighbors were hostile to him or be-
lieved the Federalist charges, and indeed his reputation for kindness and generosity to all
around him is well established.41 Professor Gordon-Reed notes that mid-nineteenth-cen-
tury historian Henry Randall stated that Callender had received information from “Jefferson’s
neighbors,”42 adding, “Because those who lived in the neighborhood of Monticello prob-
ably were not all members of the Federalist party, it is likely that some of the talk arose
out of the human need to gossip....”43 She seems to be implying that “all” of Jefferson’s neigh-
bors told Callender they believed Thomas Jefferson was the father of Sally Hemings’ chil-
dren— a suggestion for which there is not the slightest bit of evidence. Callender was not
engaged in a search for the truth; he was looking for ammunition to use to attack Thomas
Jefferson. All he needed was a single source to tell him of the existence of mulatto chil-
dren at Monticello and provide a few details like names, and he was primed to go to work. 

We have no public opinion polls from the era to rely upon in assessing the views of Thomas
Jefferson’s neighbors, and the passage of time precludes such research at this date. How-
ever, it is worth noting that when, after visiting Charlottesville and encountering some
Jefferson critics, an Episcopal clergyman wrote in the Episcopal Recorder (Philadelphia)
in 1840 that “Jefferson’s character was held in aversion in the neighborhood in which he
lived and died,”44 the statement outraged even the editor of the Charlottesville Whig Party
newspaper. (As a leading opponent of the political party Jefferson had founded, he may
have wished to make it clear that he and his fellow Whigs were not responsible for the al-
legations against the popular local hero.45) This led to a public meeting on July 18, 1840,
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at which the “citizens of Albemarle” adopted a resolution denouncing the article in the
Episcopal Recorder and disavowing its charges against “their illustrious countryman.”46 In
response, the author of the article that occasioned the meeting wrote a letter emphasiz-
ing that he was “convinced” that the allegations voiced against Mr. Jefferson “were not
true.”47

Were there people in Albemarle County who alleged that Thomas Jefferson fathered chil-
dren by Sally Hemings? Of course there were; there were people as far away as Great
Britain who alleged that Jefferson “was the father of children by almost all of his numer-
ous gang of female slaves. . . .”48 Is this serious “evidence” of anything of relevance to this
inquiry? Hardly. The fact that such information is even mentioned may primarily serve
to remind us of the scarcity of serious evidence in support of Jefferson’s paternity. And
to allege, as the Monticello Report does, that there was a “prevailing belief” in the Monti-
cello neighborhood that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings is prepos-
terous. 

Verdict of the American People

It is sometimes said that we occasionally “miss the forest” by focusing on the trees. The
Callender stories were not limited to Virginia, but were spread across America by Jefferson’s
Federalist political enemies. Callender believed that his efforts would destroy Thomas Jef-
ferson politically, and had the American people believed him that might well have happened.

Indeed, as his first term came to an end, Thomas Jefferson gave serious consideration
to retiring to the tranquility of his beautiful Monticello. Among the considerations that
led him to run for a second term was his desire to submit his character to the judgment
of his fellow citizens, thinking that in so doing he would effectively answer his critics in
Europe and around the nation. On July 18, 1804, writing to his friend Philip Mazzei,
President Jefferson explained:

I should have retired at the end of the first four years, but that the immense load
of Tory calumnies which have been manufactured respecting me, and have filled
the European market, have obliged me to appeal once more to my country for
justification. I have no fear but that I shall receive honorable testimony by their
verdict on these calumnies. At the end of the next four years I shall certainly re-
tire. Age, inclination, and principle all dictate this.49

Thomas Jefferson ran for President three times. In 1796 he lost by a narrow margin (68–71
electoral votes—the popular vote was not recorded) to John Adams. Four years later, Jef-
ferson and Aaron Burr each received 73 electoral votes, Adams received 65, and after
thirty-six ballots the House of Representatives broke the tie and elected Thomas Jeffer-
son our third President. Two years later, James Callender unleashed his fury against the
President, writing: “I do not believe that at the next election of 1804 Jefferson could ob-
tain two votes on the Eastern side of the Susquehanna; and, I think hardly four votes
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upon this side of it. He will, therefore, be laid aside.”50 In reality, in the election of 1804
Jefferson defeated Federalist Charles Pinckney by a margin of nearly twelve-to-one (162
electoral votes to 14). 

The election of 1804 was not a public opinion poll on the credibility of the Sally Hem-
ings story for American voters. But it was, in part, an opportunity for the American vot-
ers to pass judgment on the character and performance of Thomas Jefferson. Callender
thought his attacks would finish Jefferson politically, and the election is certainly rele-
vant in assessing the public reaction. If we cannot say with confidence that the landslide
of 1804 constituted an explicit rejection of the Callender charges, it is at least clear that
the voters did not respond to his attacks as he predicted and that Thomas Jefferson re-
mained a very popular leader.

Why Jefferson Never Publicly Denied 
the Callender Charges

It is also argued that if Thomas Jefferson had not been sexually involved with Sally Hem-
ings, he could easily have issued a public denial.51 His silence thus serves to confirm for many
revisionists the truth of the allegations. But this analysis overlooks a Jefferson practice of ig-
noring criticism that predated the Sally Hemings charges—a practice that Professor Ellis at-
tributes to the fact that Jefferson “was by nature thin-skinned and took all criticism personally.”52

Thomas Paine explained Jefferson’s public silence on this and other Callender charges
in a different way: “It is, perhaps, a bold sentiment but it is a true one, that a just man,
when attacked, should not defend himself. His conduct will do it for him, and Time will
put his detractors under his feet.”53

Five years before Callender published his allegations about Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings, Jefferson wrote to Alexander White:

So many persons have of late found an interest or a passion gratified by imput-
ing to me sayings and writings which I never said or wrote, or by endeavoring
to draw me into newspapers to harass me personally, that I have found it nec-
essary for my quiet & my other pursuits to leave them in full possession of the
field, and not to take the trouble of contradicting them in private conversation.54

In her 1871 book, The Domestic Life of Thomas Jefferson, Sarah N. Randolph (Jefferson’s
great-granddaughter) explained:

During the political campaign of the summer of 1800, Jefferson was denounced
by many divines—who thought it their duty to preach politics instead of Chris-
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tian charity—as an atheist and a French infidel. These attacks were made upon
him by half the clergy of New England, and by a few in other Northern States; in
the former section, however, they were most virulent. The common people of the
country were told that should he be elected their Bibles would be taken from
them.55

Jefferson’s reaction to these attacks was reflected in private letters he wrote to friends and
supporters during the era. For example, in a May 26, 1800, letter to James Monroe, Jef-
ferson stated:

As to the calumny of Atheism, I am so broken to calumnies of every kind, from
every department of government, Executive, Legislative, & Judiciary, & from
every minion of theirs holding office or seeking it, that I entirely disregard it,
and from Chace it will have less effect than from any other man in the United
States. It has been so impossible to contradict all their lies, that I have deter-
mined to contradict none; for while I should be engaged with one, they would
publish twenty new ones. Thirty years of public life have enabled most of those
who read newspapers to judge of one for themselves.56

On August 13, 1800, Jefferson wrote to Uriah McGregory of Connecticut. Referring to “the
fatherless calumnies . . . which no man will affirm on his own knowledge, or ever saw one
who would,” Jefferson wrote:

From the moment that a portion of my fellow-citizens looked towards me with a
view to one of their highest offices, the floodgates of calumny have been opened
upon me; not where I am personally known, where their slanders would be instantly
judged and suppressed, from a general sense of their falsehood; but in the remote
parts of the Union, where the means of detection are not at hand, and the trou-
ble of an inquiry is greater than would suit the hearers to undertake. I know that
I might have filled the courts of the United States with actions for these slanders,
and have ruined, perhaps, many persons who are not innocent. But this would be
no equivalent to the loss of character. I leave them, therefore, to the reproof of
their own consciences. If these do not condemn them, there will yet come a day
when the false witness will meet a Judge who had not slept over his slanders.57

However, with respect to the charges involving Sally Hemings, Jefferson did deny them
privately, and most Jefferson scholars58 — including some who now believe the allega-
tions that he fathered children by Sally Hemings59 — have acknowledged this.60 The July
1804 letter to Philip Mazzei appears to be one such denial, but there was another the fol-
lowing year that was far less ambiguous.

Consider the facts. Professor Brodie tells us:
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The publicity [over the Callender charges] Jefferson hoped was buried surfaced
again in 1805, when the New England Palladium dragged up all the old charges,
saying that Jefferson was “a coward, a calumniator, a plagiarist, a tame, spirit-
less animal,” a man who had “taken to his bosom a sable damsel,” and had “as-
saulted the domestic happiness of Mrs. W_____.” . . . A Virginian named Thomas
Turner added to the fires by restating all the old charges in the Boston Repertory
of May 31, 1805.61

There appears to be little information about this “Thomas Turner,” the byline used when
Callender’s old charges were repeated in 1805. Thomas Paine then came to Jefferson’s de-
fense, in the process asking “if any body knows him” [Turner], and adding: “Who he is
the Lord knows, for his name is not known in the list of patriots.”62

On July 1, 1805, President Jefferson wrote Navy Secretary Robert Smith a cover letter
(see Figure 10 on the next page) attaching a longer letter sent to Attorney General Levi
Lincoln. The Lincoln letter has not been found, but in the cover letter Jefferson wrote: “You
will perceive that I plead guilty to one of their [Federalist] charges, that when young and
single I offered love to a handsome lady [Elizabeth Walker]. I acknolege [sic] its incorrectness.
[I]t is the only one founded in truth among all their allegations against me.”63

Professor Gordon-Reed provides this commentary on Jefferson’s denial:

It was Brodie’s position that because Jefferson wrote the letter to Lincoln and
Smith to provide satisfaction to John Walker, he would have had no reason
to bring up the Sally Hemings charge, for it had nothing to do with that dis-
pute. In addition because Walker and the other individuals who had taken up
his cause had made multiple allegations of bad acts on the part of Jefferson
in his dealings with the Walkers, Brodie believed that Jefferson’s reference to
“all their allegations against me” was not clearly a denial of a liaison with
Hemings. . . . If Jefferson wrote the letter as a way of giving John Walker sat-
isfaction, why would he take the opportunity to raise an issue beyond the
scope of their dispute in a letter that already must have been galling for him
to have to write?64

Had the Hemings issue not just resurfaced, there might be some merit to this reason-
ing. Jefferson was writing to provide satisfaction to the husband of a woman toward
whom he had behaved poorly decades earlier, and there was certainly no obligation
on his part to address the Callender charges. But he clearly elected to do so. Saying
“the allegations that have been made against me are false” might have been ambigu-
ous. In the wake of the revival of the Callender charges concerning Sally Hemings,
saying that the Walker incident “is the only one founded in truth among all their alle-
gations against me”65 is not. Jefferson may, of course, have been lying. But he clearly
was denying the charges concerning Sally Hemings. This point is conceded by Profes-
sor Ellis.66
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Figure 10. 1805 Letter from President Jefferson to Navy Secretary Robert Smith deny-
ing all but one of the Federalist charges against him.  Reproduced by permission of The
Huntington Library, San Marino, California.

67. Jefferson to Robert Livingston, Oct. 10, 1802, in 10 The Writings of Thomas Jefferson 335
(Mem. ed. 1904).

Nor, for that matter, is this Jefferson’s only denial of the Callender charges. Writing
through the “safe channel”67 of a hand-carried letter to Robert Livingston in Paris, Jefferson
discussed the Callender charges a few weeks after they first surfaced in 1802:

You will have seen by our newspapers, that with the aid of a lying renegade from
republicanism, the federalists have opened all their sluices of calumny. They say
we lied them out of power, and openly avow they will do the same by us. But it
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360.

70. Malone, Jefferson the President: First Term 214–15.
71. Jefferson to George Logan, June 20, 1816, reprinted in 11 Works of Thomas Jefferson 527 n.1

(Paul Leicester Ford ed., Fed. Ed. 1905).

was not lies or arguments on our part which dethroned them, but their own
foolish acts, sedition laws, alien laws, taxes, extravagances and heresies. Porcu-
pine, their friend, wrote them down. Callendar [sic], their new recruit, will do
the same. Every decent man among them revolts at his filth. . . . 68

Two weeks later, Jefferson said of the Federalists in a letter to Attorney General Lincoln:

Their bitterness increases with their desperation. They are trying slanders now
which nothing could prompt but a gall which blinds their judgments as well as
their consciences. I shall take no other revenge, than, by a steady pursuit of econ-
omy and peace, and by the establishment of republican principles in substance
and in form, to sink federalism into an abyss from which there shall be no res-
urrection for it.69

Perhaps the greatest of all Jefferson scholars, the late Dumas Malone, summed up Jefferson’s
response to the Callender charges and provided his own assessment of their veracity:

The obscenity and vulgarity of these extracts, from Callender and others, serve to
illustrate the low taste of the journalism of the era, but in our time the pertinent
question is whether there was any validity whatever in the tale he told. A trifold an-
swer can be given to this. (1) The charges are suspect in the first place because they
issued from the vengeful pen of an unscrupulous man and were promulgated in
a spirit of bitter partisanship. (2) They cannot be proved and certain of the alleged
facts were obviously erroneous. (3) They are distinctly out of character, being vir-
tually unthinkable in a man of Jefferson’s moral standards and habitual conduct.
To say this is not to claim that he was a plaster saint and incapable of moral lapses.
But his major weaknesses were not of this sort; and while he might have occa-
sionally fallen from grace, as so many men have done so often, it is virtually in-
conceivable that this fastidious gentleman whose devotion to his dead wife’s memory
and to the happiness of his daughters and grandchildren bordered on the exces-
sive could have carried on through a period of years a vulgar liaison which his own
family could not have failed to detect. It would be as absurd as to charge this con-
sistently temperate man with being, through a long period, a secret drunkard.

He himself said, after his retirement, that he never wished slanders of him by
political enemies to be answered by anything but the tenor of his life. “I should
have fancied myself half guilty,” he said, “had I condescended to put pen to paper
in refutation of their falsehoods, or drawn to them respect by any notice from
myself.” This was nearly always his policy with respect to attacks on his public con-
duct, and it appears to have been almost invariable in matters that he regarded
as strictly private. He ignored attacks on his religion and morals, relying on the
good sense of the public and believing that his assailants would defeat their ends
by their own excesses.70

The internal quotation is from a letter to Dr. George Logan dated June 20, 1816, in which
Jefferson also asserted that, “the man who fears no truths has nothing to fear from lies.”71
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72. Eric S. Lander and Joseph J. Ellis, Founding Father, Nature, Nov. 5, 1998 at 13.
73. Monticello Report, Appendix F at 5–6.
74. This is obviously technically not fully accurate, as Jefferson could have had a descendant who

married into the Woodson family, but there is no reason to suspect such a coincidence.
75. For example, Eston might have told his son Beverly that he was fathered by “Uncle Randolph

Jefferson,” but — having learned of the Callender charges and Madison Hemings’ assertion — Beverly
may have, either seriously or as a joke, asserted to a friend that he was “Thomas Jefferson’s grandson.”
Or the friend could have decided to add this “fact” sua sponte, to make his deceased friend seem more
important. It is even possible that a copy editor at the Tribune had heard the story and decided to
add the reference. There are numerous possible explanations for how this might have occurred, and
it is unlikely we will ever know the correct one.

During his own lifetime, Jefferson’s strategy of letting his reputation respond to his crit-
ics seemed to work. As Professors Lander and Ellis note: “Nor did the scandal affect Jef-
ferson’s popularity. He won the 1804 election by a landslide. . . .”72

Ohio Census,  Rumors,  and Newspaper Allegations

The Monticello Report also seeks to find “evidence” that Thomas Jefferson was the fa-
ther of Madison and Eston Hemings (as well as Thomas Woodson) in a series of news-
paper articles and a note by an Ohio census taker. Thus, on pages five and six of Appendix
F to the Monticello Report, we read:

1840. Thomas C. Woodson was described in a newspaper as “the son of his mas-
ter” (The Colored American, 31 Oct. 1840).

1870. Madison Hemings was described as Jefferson’s son by an Ohio census taker
(U.S. Census, Ross County, Ohio, 1870).

1887 and 1902 recollections. Citizens of Chillicothe, Ohio, recalled that Eston Hem-
ings resembled Jefferson and was reported to be his son. . . . 

1908. A letter to the editor by a private citizen from Milwaukee on the death of
Beverly Jefferson, son of Eston Hemings Jefferson, described him as “a grandson
of President Thomas Jefferson” (Chicago Tribune, Nov. 1908).

1916. Thomas Wesley Woodson was described as the great-grandson of Thomas
Jefferson in the Centennial Encyclopedia of the African Methodist Episcopal Church
(1916).73

The probative value of any of this is not readily apparent. We know from Dr. Foster’s ex-
tensive DNA testing of the Woodson family that Thomas Jefferson could not have been
the father of Thomas Woodson (which in turn precludes his being the great-grandfather
of any of Woodson’s descendants).74 The census taker was obviously not engaged in pa-
ternity testing, but presumably merely recorded the assertion of Madison Hemings, whose
claim was voiced in greater detail three years later and has been addressed in Chapter
Four. The Callender charges were well publicized, and could easily have accounted for
both the “rumors” in Ohio and the reference to Thomas Jefferson in the 1908 letter to
the editor. We can speculate at length about how each of these stories might have come
about,75 but the relevant point is that there is no suggestion that any of the statements
were founded on a serious investigation of, or direct knowledge of, the facts. Such ac-
counts are no more probative of the truth than would be a collection of names of peo-
ple with no personal knowledge of the facts who, after reading James Callender’s 1802
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82. Lucia Stanton, Free Some Day: The African-American Families of Monticello 13, 101
(2000).

allegations, reported that they “believed” Thomas Jefferson had fathered children by a
slave named “Sally.”

Thomas Jefferson as Music Teacher to His Slaves

Professor Gordon-Reed asserts: “The records show that all three of Hemings’s sons
played the same instrument associated with Thomas Jefferson, the violin.”76 From this, she
reasons: “This raises the possibility that Jefferson may have stimulated their interest in
the violin, given them their instruments, and provided lessons or taught them himself.”77

Speculation in the total absence of facts may be fun. Since many Monticello slaves played
the fiddle, the same reasoning could be used to suggest that someone other than Thomas
Jefferson must have written the Declaration of Independence, as Jefferson himself would
have been far too busy fathering illegitimate children and then teaching them to play the
fiddle, perhaps taking odd jobs to earn enough money to provide them with scores of
musical instruments. (Then again, this might help explain his tremendous debt through-
out his life.)

If one ventures back to reality for a moment, a major shortcoming in the “violin proof”
surfaces. In his 2000 study, Thomas Jefferson: Musician & Violinist, Sandor Salgo, Pro-
fessor of Music, Emeritus, at Stanford University, notes that in September 1786, Thomas
Jefferson’s ability to play the violin “was devastated by a crippling compound fracture of
his right wrist,” which “more or less permanently disabled his right wrist. . . .”78 After con-
sultation with a violinist who was also a physician, Professor Salgo concludes that Jeffer-
son probably “suffered significant discomfort from this injury for the rest of his life,” and
“had a much-restricted range of motion that almost certainly attenuated performance
on his beloved instrument.”79 This injury occurred more than a decade before Sally’s sons
who would eventually play the violin were even born, and subsequently Thomas Jeffer-
son did not often play his beloved violin.80

One need not totally abandon Professor Gordon-Reed’s creative speculation. Perhaps
it was Uncle Randolph, and not the President, who taught his (Randolph’s) sons Beverly,
Madison, and Eston to play the violin—as we know that Randolph was instructed by the
same man (Francis Alberti) who taught his better known elder brother to play the in-
strument, and Randolph was known to have been fond of playing his fiddle among Mon-
ticello slaves.81 Such farfetched, speculative arguments are not entitled to serious
consideration, as there were many Monticello slaves as well as European craftsmen who
might have taught Sally’s children. Nor is the assertion that Thomas Jefferson and Eston
Hemings each played the same piece of music probative of very much.82
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Did Jefferson “Train” Sally’s Children to Marry Whites?

Also in the “farfetched” category is Professor Gordon-Reed’s suggestion that Thomas
Jefferson may have trained Sally Hemings’ children so that they would be able to marry
white partners when they became adults:

There is a lockstep quality to the progression of Hemings’s sons through child-
hood that suggests that Jefferson singled them out for a particular reason. . . . 

Beverly and Harriet, Hemings’s two oldest children, passed for white and married
white people. The youngest married a black woman who was white enough to pass
for white and, at a later point in life, changed his racial designation. Madison Hem-
ings described the families that his two older siblings married into as being “in good
standing,” and “in good circumstances.” Hemings was not necessarily saying that
these families were rich or prominent, but clearly he meant that they were re-
spectable people. The Hemings children’s ability to deal with white spouses and in-
laws suggests that they may have been prepared as young people to take on this
role.83

If a Caucasian scholar had suggested that it was inconceivable that a former slave could
marry a “respectable” white person without special, life-long training, they would most
likely have difficulty finding employment in today’s academic community. In addition
to being offensive, the paragraph ignores the reality that, as Monticello house slaves,
Sally’s children would have had considerable exposure to the behavior of “respectable”
white people day after day as friends and visitors journeyed to Monticello to experi-
ence the company of Thomas Jefferson. Finally, the suggestion that Sally’s children were
given such personal attention was expressly denied in the report attributed to Madison
Hemings.84

In fairness to Professor Gordon-Reed, her bizarre arguments are often mirrored and
even exceeded by Professor Brodie. For example, on page 435 of her book, Brodie quotes
Madison Hemings’ statement that Beverly married a white woman whose family “were peo-
ple of good circumstances” and then adds: “All of which suggests that Beverly had school-
ing along with Jefferson’s white grandchildren as well as training as a carpenter, and that
he may also have had financial aid.”85

The Alleged “Closeness” of Sally’s Children

In an effort to prove that Sally Hemings was monogamous, the Monticello Report says:
“Full-sibling relationships are further supported by the closeness of the family, as evi-
denced by documentation of siblings living together and naming children after each
other.”86 One might, for convenience, group with this argument the assertion by Profes-
sor Gordon-Reed that both Sally Hemings and her son Madison named their children
after Thomas Jefferson’s relatives.87
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88. See Chapter Four.
89. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 291.
90. Id. at 293.

Since Cain and Abel, history is replete with examples of siblings who did not get along;
and anyone with significant experience with broken homes knows of cases where the
bonds of half-siblings equal or even exceed those of the children of more traditional fam-
ilies. For that matter, there is no evidence that Sally Hemings’ children would have known
with any certainty their full biological relationships. I am personally familiar with ex-
amples where children live for many years in a family without realizing that an older
brother or sister had a different father.

Even if the underlying assumptions behind this argument were correct — that full sib-
lings are more likely to bond closely than children with different fathers — there are se-
rious questions about the alleged “closeness” of Sally Hemings’ children. We know very
little about them, just as we know almost nothing about Sally Hemings. But certainly
Madison Hemings’ 1873 account does not suggest unusual “closeness” among the Hem-
ings children. As his recollections were reported by the newspaper editor who printed
them, he had not had any contact with sister Harriet in ten years, he did not seem to
know with certainty whether his brother Beverly was dead or alive, and he did not even
seem to know quite when brother Eston had died.88

Nor, for that matter, is the choice of names for children very probative of issues of pa-
ternity. For example, my own seventeen-year-old son is named “Thomas” — specifically
in honor of Thomas Jefferson — but neither he nor I would pretend that this makes him
a direct descendant of our third President.

The Absence of Letters and References to Sally 
and the Great Coverup

There are remarkably few references to Sally or her children in Jefferson’s Farm Book
and Memorandum Books as compared with the more important members of her family
at Monticello (see Figure 7 on page 141). But rather than drawing the logical conclusions
from this evidence — or, in an important sense, from this lack of evidence — Professor
Brodie converts it into evidence of the affair. She attributes it to the “necessity for secrecy
concerning Jefferson’s liaison with Sally Hemings. . . .”89 Later, she added that the “extent
to which Jefferson kept Sally Hemings and her children relatively anonymous in his Farm
Book would seem to be symbolic of his entire relationship with her.”90 Perhaps. On the
other hand, it may instead simply reflect the reality that there was no “relationship” be-
yond what was typical between Jefferson and any other slave who may have been less
rather than more important in the scheme of things at Monticello.

Scholars like Professor Brodie and Gordon-Reed seem particularly frustrated at the
lack of references to Sally Hemings in the tens of thousands of letters and other docu-
ments Thomas Jefferson left behind. Surely, if she were his true love, he must have writ-
ten her often; or if she was illiterate he must have written to Martha or Maria and inquired
about Sally’s welfare or asked to be remembered to her. But the evidence is not there.
Thus, there must be a cover up. Professor Gordon-Reed explains:

turner 11 turner view 9 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 192



9 · MISCELLANEOUS ARGUMENTS SUPPORTING JEFFERSON’S PATERNITY 193

91. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 177–79 (1997). As discussed in
Chapter Two, in his 1799 letter to John Wayles Eppes, Jefferson did not refer to Sally by name, and
there is considerable reason to question whether “Maria’s maid” at that time was Sally Hemings. See
discussion on pages 91–93.

92. William Howard Adams, The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson 108 (1997).
93. Fawn Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 459 (emphasis added).

If one considers Jefferson and his family’s pattern of writing letters and the re-
lationship that Sally Hemings bore to the Jeffersons, particularly in France, there
is something strange about the scarcity of references to her in their correspon-
dence. It is not as though the Jeffersons did not mention their slaves in letters.
Such references, while not a matter of course, were not infrequent. Jefferson
wrote to those of his slaves who could read, and when the slaves could not read,
he wrote to them through individuals who could. . . . One might expect that once
during the twenty-six months that Sally Hemings was in France, he would have
let Elizabeth know about her youngest daughter.

The dispute about the meaning of the few references to Sally Hemings in Jef-
ferson’s correspondence boils down to what one thinks is most important. Do
actions and circumstances speak louder than words or the lack of words? The known
circumstances of Hemings’s life and the Jeffersons’ actions toward her and her
family are such that one would assume that, absent some reason not to, she
would have been mentioned more frequently. . . . 

Thomas Jefferson’s only direct reference to Sally Hemings was in a letter that
he wrote in 1799 to his son-in-law John Wayles Eppes in which he mentioned
that she had given birth. He wrote two other letters that mentioned her indi-
rectly. . . . 

The question whether Thomas Jefferson, while in Europe, went seven weeks
without writing a letter to his daughters remains. The notion that some of Jef-
ferson’s records from this period or from later periods were deliberately “lost” to
hide possible references to Sally Hemings is speculation that incites curiosity but
sheds little light on the matter. One could understand why it might have been done,
but there is no way to know that it was done.91

Might there be simpler explanations why there are no known letters written by Thomas
Jefferson for a brief period of time? Consider this account from William Howard Adams’
The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson:

Jefferson discovered the “remains of Roman grandeur” at first hand the follow-
ing winter, on his second and most extensive trip in Europe. The wrist he had
fractured the previous fall had not healed properly, so on February 28, 1787,
following his doctor’s advice, he left Paris for the south of France. One object of
the trip, he explained to James Monroe, was “to try the mineral waters there for
the restoration of my hand”. . . . 92

Professor Brodie adds the following relevant information:

At age seventy-eight Jefferson fell from a broken step leading down from a ter-
race at Monticello and broke his left wrist and arm. As the bones healed this
wrist swelled and stiffened, as had his right wrist thirty-four years before. “Crip-
pled wrists and fingers make writing slow and laborious,” he wrote to Adams on
October 12, 1823.93
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Thomas Jefferson, it may be useful to emphasize, wrote with his right hand.

Using the Absence of Information as Evidence

The allegation that the absence of any letters from Thomas Jefferson to Sally Hemings
is evidence of a cover up is but one of many examples of the bizarre efforts by advocates
of Jefferson’s paternity of Sally’s children to use the total absence of information as “proof”
of their claim.

To be sure (as Chapter Eleven will demonstrate), the absence of evidence may some-
times be quite probative of material facts. There are settings where circumstances are so
likely to produce observable consequences that the absence of any record of those con-
sequences constitutes credible evidence that the precursor activity may not have occurred.
If a suspect accused of firing a high-powered rifle out of a window can show that sev-
eral people in nearby rooms heard no noise, that might be highly significant. It might
also be significant that a paraffin test of his hands and face produced no gunpowder
residue.

If we seek to ascertain whether Thomas Jefferson injured his writing hand, the ab-
sence of any letters written by him during the weeks following the alleged injury may
have probative value — at least in the absence of alternative explanations. But in the pre-
sent case we have example after example where scholars simply “fill in the blanks” to con-
vert innocent information — or lack of information — into incriminating evidence.

An example of this was mentioned in Chapter Two, which noted Professor Brodie’s
argument that Jefferson once recorded an expenditure of forty francs in 1788 for a “locket”
and speculated that perhaps it was a gift for Sally.94 Then there are the extensive French
lessons for Sally’s brother James, so that he could communicate with French chefs while
learning that trade. There is not the slightest bit of evidence that Sally took French lessons,
but Professor Brodie writes: “one could expect that Sally would likely have been included.”95

As was discussed in Chapter Two, while there is almost no record of Sally’s activities in
Paris, the better view is probably that she did not even live in the same building with
James or Thomas Jefferson during most of her stay. She was, after all, the servant to Jef-
ferson’s daughters, so one might assume that she would have lived near them at the Ab-
baye de Panthemont convent. While the Monticello Report and other advocates of Jefferson’s
paternity of Sally Hemings’ children find it convenient to assume that Sally must have
lived with Jefferson at the Hôtel de Langeac, Monticello’s Senior Research Historian, Lucia
Stanton, acknowledges that “[I]t was not uncommon for the servants of boarding stu-
dents to continue to attend their mistresses in the Abbaye,” and that “some of the Jeffer-
son sisters’ schoolmates knew Sally well enough to send her greetings in their
correspondence.”96 Admittedly, there are other possibilities and we know almost nothing
about Sally Hemings’ life in Paris. But logic would suggest that Martha and Maria would
be accompanied by their maid, and there is not the slightest evidence Sally remained with
Jefferson. The assumption seems founded entirely upon the presumption that Thomas Jef-
ferson and Sally Hemings had to be together in Paris, away from the daughters, or oth-
erwise how did Sally become pregnant with his son “Tom”? Now that the DNA tests have
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demolished the “Tom” story,97 it may be time to apply some more rational assumptions
to Sally’s experience in Paris.

Unlike many of her more important relatives at Monticello, there is no record that
Sally received money from Jefferson after returning from France. Convinced that she was
the love of his life, Professor Brodie reasoned there must be an explanation. After diligent
research, she discovered that Jefferson made many entries in his Memorandum Books
under the heading “charity,” and he wrote of leaving “small money in my drawer at Mon-
ticello. . . .”98 Ignoring the fact that similar notations for “charity” were made by Jefferson
long before Sally traveled to Paris,99 Professor Brodie suggests that these must have been
cryptic notations of the money he was actually giving to Sally. Similarly, when the Mem-
orandum Books record Christmas gifts being sent for favorite Monticello slaves, but pro-
vide no record of gifts for Sally, Professor Brodie explains that the “special gifts” for Sally
may have been concealed from his daughter Martha.100 The idea that the absence of spe-
cial attention to Sally Hemings might instead simply reflect her relative unimportance at
Monticello seems to have eluded the good professor.

Does the Fact that Sally Hemings Apparently 
Did Not Bear Children by Other Slaves 
Imply Thomas Jefferson’s Misconduct?

It has been suggested during the Scholars Commission deliberations that the fact that,
given the reported light skin color of her children, Sally Hemings does not appear to have
been sexually involved with black slaves — who might have been expected to take such a
handsome woman by force in a plantation setting — is proof that Thomas Jefferson was
either reserving her favors for himself or for some other designated individual. Whether
he was sexually exploiting her himself, or reserving her for his brother, one of his Carr
nephews, or perhaps different men at different times in her life — he nevertheless would
be morally culpable for her exploitation.

We have so little reliable factual information about Sally Hemings’ life that it is diffi-
cult to respond effectively to such an argument. There is considerable evidence that
Thomas Jefferson was concerned with the treatment of his slaves, and prohibited rape
and other acts of violence within the slave community. But it certainly does not follow
that measures Jefferson may have established that had the effect of protecting Sally Hem-
ings from being raped by other slaves are evidence of base motives on the part of the
President. Indeed, from what we think we know about Jefferson’s character, such a pol-
icy would be expected even if not widely enforced on other plantations.

We do know that if Sally Hemings was not sexually involved with other Monticello
slaves, such conduct would have been consistent with the apparent behavior of her sib-
lings. As Lucia Stanton has observed: “None of Betty Hemings’s twelve children . . . mar-
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ried within the Monticello African-American community.”101 There are reports of re-
sentment of the Hemingses by darker-skinned slaves, but it seems clear that it was understood
throughout the plantation that the Hemings family was “special.” If Sally was not abused
by male slaves, that can be explained by something other than the assumption that Thomas
Jefferson was “reserving” her for himself or a particular relative.

Related to this is the question (also raised during our deliberations) of whether other
men could have had sexual access to Sally Hemings without the knowledge and blessing
of Thomas Jefferson. Again, in the absence of evidence after nearly two centuries we can
not be sure what he knew. But it is certainly easy to conceive how such a relationship
might have gone on without his specific knowledge. Monticello was usually crowded with
visitors, and Jefferson’s practice of enchanting his guests with after-dinner conversation
is well established. His far less cerebral brother, Randolph, is said to have preferred spend-
ing his evenings at Monticello playing his fiddle and dancing among the slaves. There is
no reason to assume that, while Thomas Jefferson was occupied entertaining visitors,
others — be they Randolph, one of his sons, or perhaps one of Jefferson’s other nephews
from the Carr family — could not have been exploiting the women in the slave quarters.
This could have had aspects of mutual affection, violent rape, or simply acquiescence to
the inevitable by a slave woman who felt powerless to resist — we just do not know. It
may have occurred behind Thomas Jefferson’s back or with his general knowledge. Given
his well-established opposition to miscegenation102 and the sexual exploitation of slave
women,103 not to mention his professed belief that slave holders had a moral duty to treat
their slaves with dignity,104 it is difficult to assume that it occurred at Monticello with his
blessing. But we will likely never be certain.

French Law Governing Slaves

We also have the issue of the esoteric provision of French law that might have been used
by Sally and James to claim freedom—a provision that not even Thomas Jefferson knew about
until he researched the matter at the request of an American contemplating visiting France
with a slave.105 The only evidence that Sally or James was aware of this provision is the as-
sertion by Madison Hemings in 1783, and he obviously had no first-hand knowledge of the
matter and provides no source for his claim. And yet Professor Brodie writes that “Jeffer-
son had under his roof in Paris two slaves who were learning to speak French, who counted
themselves free, and were thinking of becoming expatriates.”106 This is fantasy, not history.
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107. The acts of diplomats are viewed as the acts of another sovereign state, and as such are gen-
erally immune from the host state’s municipal laws and the jurisdiction of its courts.

This is not to say that it is not possible that Sally and James knew of the relevant French
law even when Thomas Jefferson did not. They certainly had contact with other servants,
and perhaps some of them were cognizant of cases where slaves had achieved their free-
dom. Like almost everything else about Sally Hemings’ life in Paris, we will likely never
know the truth.

However, we do know a few things. The right of slaves to obtain freedom in France was
not actually codified in French law until after the French Revolution, but there was a cus-
tomary practice that did result in the freeing of some slaves who were brought to France.
However, this was not an automatic process. James and Sally would have had to hire a lawyer
and file a lawsuit. That would have cost money, quite possibly more money than either
of them possessed.

Anyone who assumes that Sally and/or James could easily have obtained their freedom
by walking into a French court must deal with both the problem of Jefferson’s diplomatic
immunity as America’s chief diplomat in France and his obvious influence with the French
government. One of the earliest principles of international law was that foreign diplo-
mats are not subject to the jurisdiction of domestic courts in the country to which they
are accredited,107 and an eighteenth century French court might well have hesitated to
even entertain a legal case against an important foreign diplomat. It is all the more un-
likely that such a judge would have been enthusiastic about interfering with the Ameri-
can minister’s household given Jefferson’s favored position with the king.

International human rights law is largely a product of the post-UN Charter era, and
the general rule in the late eighteenth-century was that how a state treated its own na-
tionals was a matter of internal concern. It was not only improper, but a wrongful act
for one state to interfere in the internal affairs of another by complaining about such
treatment.

The most important issue is probably not what might have happened had James or
Sally actually managed to hire a lawyer and brought suit to gain their freedom, but how
confident they would have been that such an effort would be certain to succeed. Their
master was a very powerful man, obviously far more influential than either of his slaves
within the French government, and it is difficult to imagine that a teenaged Sally Hem-
ings — particularly the frightened, immature child described by Abigail Adams — would
elect to challenge Thomas Jefferson’s authority even if she had heard rumors that some
other slaves had been awarded their freedom by French courts.

Even if Sally Hemings had the sophistication and courage to bring a lawsuit against
her master that would leave her free (and alone) in Paris, might she not have been deterred
by the realization that her mother and other family members would be totally subject to
the whim of the angry Jefferson after he returned home without her? And then there is
the question of whether Thomas Jefferson would have continued a sexual relationship
with a slave who had once blackmailed him. All things considered, like so much of the
rest of the arguments considered in this chapter, the assertion that Sally Hemings com-
pelled Thomas Jefferson to enter into a “treaty” while in Paris is highly unpersuasive.
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1. I use this term for convenience only, and intend nothing pejorative by it. It refers to those who
seek to “revise” the traditional view accepted by historians in the past, and in particular includes Pro-
fessors Fawn Brodie, Annette Gordon-Reed, Peter Onuf, Jan Lewis, and Joseph Ellis. Professor Ellis
seems to use the term in a similar manner. Joseph J. Ellis, Jefferson: Post DNA, 57 (1) William &
Mary Q. 131 (Jan. 2000).

2. Unfortunately, the location of the original copy of this document is unknown. This is “unfor-
tunate” because it may have had several names that are rendered as blank lines in the published text—
presumably to protect the privacy of individuals.

3. Jefferson at Monticello 130–31 n.2 (James A. Bear, Jr., ed. 1967). Bear asserts that Bacon
left on October 15 (id.), while Bacon suggests it was either the 7th or 8th (id. at 40). There would
seem to be no reason for Bacon to intentionally misstate this detail, and Bear’s comment is almost cer-
tainly based upon the fact that Jefferson wrote in his Memorandum Book on October 15, 1822: “Had
a final settlement with Edmund Bacon and paid him $41.90 the balance due him in full. . . .” 2 Jef-
ferson’s Memorandum Books 1390 (James A. Bear, Jr. & Lucia C. Stanton, eds. 1997). The two
statements are not necessarily in conflict, as Bacon’s final day of work might have been a few days be-
fore he received his final payment.

4. See, e.g., 2 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 1186. The Betts edition of Jefferson’s Garden
Book states that Edmund Bacon was “overseer since 1806 and before that working for him in various
jobs. . . .” Thomas Jefferson’s Garden Book 601 (Edwin Morris Betts, ed., 1999).

10

Revisionist Arguments Reconsidered:
Evidence Too Quickly Dismissed?

Having in the previous chapters addressed the major affirmative arguments support-
ing Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of one or more children by Sally Hemings, it is now use-
ful to reexamine some of the evidence in Jefferson’s defense that was acknowledged, but
then largely dismissed, by revisionist1 historians and the Thomas Jefferson Memorial
Foundation Research Committee in reaching their conclusion that Jefferson likely fa-
thered Sally’s children.

The Testimony of Edmund Bacon

Consider, for example, the testimony of former Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon,
recounted in a manuscript2 by the Reverend Hamilton W. Pierson and first published in
book form in 1862. It was conveniently republished by the University Press of Virginia in
1967 as part of James A. Bear, Jr.’s, Jefferson at Monticello.

It is undisputed that Edmund Bacon served as Monticello overseer from September
29, 1806, until around October 1822.3 It is clear that he was present at Monticello before
assuming that position,4 and Bacon asserted: “I went to live with him the 27th of the De-
cember before he was inaugurated as President; and if I had remained with him from the
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5. Jefferson at Monticello 39–40. Bacon’s figures do not quite add up. Either he or Pierson
may have erred in saying he began work “before” Jefferson’s inauguration, and if he started in De-
cember of 1801 that would fit. There is a reference in Bacon’s own memo book suggesting he may
have returned to live with his father in 1803. If we subtract that year, the figures also work, and there
would be no reason for Bacon to mention this relatively minor detail. For present purposes, we need
not try to resolve this discrepancy beyond noting there are several possible explanations that do not
require one to challenge the veracity of Edmund Bacon.

6. Id. at 34.
7. Id. at 34–35.
8. Id. at 99.
9. Id. at 101–02.

10. Id. at 102.
11. Id.
12. Id. at 100.

8th of October to the 27th of December, the year that I left him, I should have been with
him precisely twenty years.”5

What little we know about Bacon’s character is positive. Jefferson described him as “an
honest, correct man in his conduct, and worthy of confidence in his engagements,”6 and
Reverend Pierson added: “Captain Bacon has now resided in Kentucky about forty years,
and his neighbors, who have known him during all that time, would vouch as strongly
for his character as Mr. Jefferson and his son-in-law, Governor Randolph, have done. He
is a man of wealth and character.”7

There is no reason to assume that Bacon misrepresented the length of his stay at Mon-
ticello, but his statement is nevertheless difficult to reconcile with the known facts. He seems
to be asserting that he went to live at Monticello in late 1802, but Jefferson’s two inaugurations
were in March 1801 and 1805. It is not necessary to reconcile these details, but it is pos-
sible that Bacon lived at Monticello before formally assuming the position as overseer —
a fact that could be significant in understanding his testimony.

During his conversations with Reverend Pierson, Bacon spoke highly of several mem-
bers of the Hemings family. For example, he stated:

Mr. Jefferson had a large number of favorite servants that were treated just as
well as could be. Burwell was the main, principal servant on the place. . . . Mr. Jef-
ferson had the most perfect confidence in him. . . . Mr. Jefferson gave him his
freedom in his will, and it was right that he should do it.8

Similarly, carpenter John Hemings was described as a “first-rate workman”9; Joe Fossett
was “a very fine workman . . . [who] could do anything it was necessary to do with steel
or iron”10; and “Burwell was a fine painter.”11 In contrast, he offered no praise for Sally Hem-
ings, noting only that she “went to France with Maria Jefferson when she was a little
girl. . . . They crossed the ocean alone. I have often heard her tell of it.”12

But Edmund Bacon’s most important comment of relevance to the present inquiry
appears to concern Sally’s daughter Harriet:

Mr. Jefferson freed a number of his servants in his will. I think he would have
freed all of them if his affairs had not been so much involved that he could not
do it. He freed one girl some years before he died, and there was a great deal of
talk about it. She was nearly as white as anybody and very beautiful. People said
he freed her because she was his own daughter. She was not his daughter; she was
_______’s daughter. I know that. I have seen him come out of her mother’s room
many a morning when I went up to Monticello very early. When she was nearly grown,
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13. Id. at 102 (emphasis added.). This was not the only name deleted in the original Pierson book
in 1862. See, e.g., id. at 76, 77. Pierson sought to justify these deletions by explaining that he did “not
like to publish facts that would give pain to any that might now be living.” Hamilton W. Pierson,
Jefferson at Monticello: The Private Life of Thomas Jefferson 6 (1862).

14. Monticello Report, Appendix E at 22–23.
15. Monticello Report at 4.
16. Id., Appendix F at 3.

by Mr. Jefferson’s direction I paid her stage fare to Philadelphia and gave her
fifty dollars. I have never seen her since and don’t know what became of her.13

This may be the most valuable single piece of evidence about the paternity of Sally Hemings’
children. Bacon is a mature observer of established good character, who was clearly in a po-
sition to observe what was happening at Monticello for nearly two decades. He was testify-
ing to facts he personally observed time and again, unlike virtually all of the sources being
relied upon by the revisionists: a disreputable journalist who had never even been to Mon-
ticello reporting neighborhood gossip as part of a personal vendetta and effort to blackmail
Jefferson into giving him a public job, Federalist politicians who admitted to having no first-
hand knowledge of the facts, a New England schoolteacher who shared a stagecoach with
one of Jefferson’s bitter enemies and was reporting gossip from other Charlottesville critics
with no apparent first-hand knowledge, and the unsourced allegations attributed to Madi-
son Hemings and Israel Jefferson about matters which occurred years before they were born.

Indeed, one of the most troubling aspects of the January 2000 Monticello Report was
its almost total dismissal of this important source. A photocopy of the excerpt is attached
to the report in Appendix E,14 and there are two other brief references to it. In the report
itself, Bacon is dismissed with this language:

1862. The published account of former overseer Edmund Bacon — indicating
but not naming another man as the father of Sally Hemings’s daughter Harriet
(born 1801) — has problems of chronology: Bacon was not employed at Mon-
ticello until five years after Harriet Hemings’s birth.15

In Appendix F, we find this further reference in the Monticello Report:

VIEWS OF OTHER MONTICELLO RESIDENTS:

Edmund Bacon, Monticello overseer from 1806 to 1822, stated that Jefferson
was not the father of Sally Hemings’s children.

Bacon told Hamilton Pierson in 1862 that “people said” Jefferson freed Sally
Hemings’s daughter Harriet “because she was his own daughter. She was not
his daughter; she was _______’s daughter. I know that. I have seen him come
out of her mother’s room many a morning when I went up to Monticello very
early.” Pierson presumably deleted the name of the father for publication; the
original manuscript has not been located. Harriet Hemings was born in 1801,
five years before Bacon’s arrival at Monticello (1862 Bacon recollections, p. 102).16

This superficial treatment of the only eyewitness account of Sally Hemings’ apparent sex-
ual behavior makes no sense at all if one is engaged in a serious search for the truth. It is
akin to a police investigator finding an otherwise credible witness who can place the ac-
cused at the scene of the crime a week before it was committed. But then the officer dis-
covers that his witness erred, and, instead of witnessing the accused perhaps “casing the
joint” a week early, his observation actually occurred on the night of the crime. So the of-
ficer makes a small notation about the witness having “problems of chronology” and re-
fuses to consider the testimony further.
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17. It is true that James Callender, assorted Federalist editors and politicians, and former slaves
Madison Hemings and Israel Jefferson (according to anti-Jefferson partisan Samuel Wetmore) made
the assertion; but none of them could possibly have had first-hand knowledge of the facts and they
do not even give sources for where they heard the allegations.

18. Jefferson at Monticello 39.
19. Id.
20. Annette Gordon-Reed, Engaging Jefferson: Blacks and the Founding Father, 57 William &

Mary Q. 181–82 (Jan. 2000) (emphasis added). Ms. Stanton similarly writes: “Overseer Edmund
Bacon remembered that, at Jefferson’s request, he provided Harriet with travel funds and put her on
the stage to the north.” Lucia Stanton, Free Some Day 116–17 (2001) (emphasis added).

Edmund Bacon’s statement was not that he observed “_______” leaving Sally Hemings’
room at the time that Harriet was conceived. His statement is perfectly consistent with a
conclusion that, having witnessed a man other than Thomas Jefferson leaving Sally’s room
early in the morning on numerous occasions, that man was obviously Sally’s “lover” and
presumably fathered her children. Bacon was certainly aware of the Callender charges and
resulting rumors that Thomas Jefferson began a relationship with Sally in Paris that pro-
duced several children, and upon observing a different man leaving her room time and
again—irrespective of whether this was in 1800 or after 1806—it was reasonable for him
to conclude the charge against Jefferson was unfounded. While there may be some tem-
poral ambiguity in his remark (which, we should keep in mind, was recorded by another),
there is not the slightest hint of intentional deception or other dishonesty.

Far more important, our inquiry is not primarily about Harriet Hemings. There is no
compelling17 evidence — DNA or otherwise — suggesting that Thomas Jefferson was the
father of Harriet Hemings. The only Hemings child scientifically tied to a Jefferson father
was Eston, who was conceived the year after everyone acknowledges that Edmund Bacon
had assumed the duties of Monticello overseer. Edmund Bacon was born and grew up two
or three miles from Monticello,18 and his brother William was overseer during Jefferson’s
stay in Paris.19 Edmund worked for Thomas Jefferson in other capacities before becom-
ing overseer in 1806. It is certainly possible that he did visit Monticello about the time Har-
riet was conceived and saw another man leaving Sally’s room. But it is also possible that
his observations began in 1806 or 1807, and if so they are tremendously more valuable in
the search for the father of Eston Hemings.

Finally, Edmund Bacon’s testimony is critically important because, if true, it totally
destroys a fundamental assumption upon which the revisionist case is premised. If Ed-
mund Bacon personally witnessed a man other than Thomas Jefferson leaving Sally Hem-
ings’ room time and again in the early morning hours, it is a reasonable conclusion that
his purpose was not to sell her encyclopedias or insurance, but to engage in sexual rela-
tions. And if that is so, either Sally Hemings was not monogamous, or she did not have
a sexual relationship with Thomas Jefferson. This is obvious.

Before leaving the issue of Edmund Bacon’s recollections, it may be worth noting that
both Professor Gordon-Reed and Monticello historian Lucia Stanton appear to attempt
to avoid the inconsistency between Bacon’s comment that he put Harriet on a stage to
Philadelphia and Madison’s assertion that Harriet lived in Washington, D.C., by para-
phrasing Bacon’s account (making no reference to “Philadelphia”) and asserting that Har-
riet was “put on a stagecoach to freedom in the North at her father’s direction.”20

If Sally was not sexually involved with Thomas Jefferson, then our inquiry is at an end.
If we assume she may have been involved with Thomas Jefferson, then she could not have
been monogamous — and without that assumption, the “evidence,” such as it is, point-
ing to Thomas Jefferson as the father of Eston Hemings largely falls apart. As will be dis-
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21. See Chapter Four.
22. Monticello Report at 7.
23. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 223.
24. Bear, Jefferson at Monticello 117.

cussed, there is strong evidence that at least six other Jefferson males may have been pre-
sent at Monticello when Eston was conceived. For a variety of reasons that will also be dis-
cussed, at least five of them would seem to be more likely suspects to have fathered Eston
Hemings than President Thomas Jefferson.

Other than Madison Hemings’ allegation (about facts that occurred prior to his birth
that he obviously could not have known with certainty), there is no reason to believe that
Sally Hemings was monogamous. Madison reportedly admits that Sally’s mother had
children by no fewer than four different men,21 and it is not at all clear that slave women
were given a great deal of choice about their sexual partners. Nor is the case made by the
Monticello Report for Sally’s monogamy persuasive:

While the DNA results bear only on the paternity of Eston Hemings, the docu-
ments and birth patterns suggest a long-term relationship, which produced the
children whose names appear in Jefferson’s records. Even the statements of those
who accounted for the paternity of Sally Hemings’s children differently (Thomas
Jefferson Randolph, Ellen Randolph Coolidge, and Edmund Bacon) never im-
plied that Hemings’s children had different fathers. Full-sibling relationships are
further supported by the closeness of the family, as evidenced by documenta-
tion of siblings living together and naming children after each other.22

Some of the shortcomings of these strained arguments have already been addressed. Such
unfounded suppositions hardly compare to the eyewitness account of Edmund Bacon.
But they are necessary for the revisionist case, because without the assumption that Sally
was monogamous the case against Thomas Jefferson quickly crumbles.

Professor Gordon-Reed attempts to discredit the Bacon testimony by asserting that he
was motivated by an “interest in protecting his former employer’s reputation. . . .”23 The only
apparent basis for such an “interest” would be that Bacon genuinely admired and re-
spected Thomas Jefferson, which presumably would be a consequence of evaluating every-
thing he knew about the man. He said in 1862:

I am now in my seventy-seventh year. I have seen a great many men in my day,
but I have never seen the equal of Mr. Jefferson. He may have had the faults that
he has been charged with, but if he had, I could never find it out. I don’t believe
that, from his arrival to maturity to the present time, the country has ever had
another such a man.24

Bacon clearly appears to have respected Jefferson, but this does not establish a “bias” likely
to affect his veracity. To suggest otherwise would be akin to saying that an individual who
enjoyed a book or movie cannot be trusted to review it, as she or he will normally lie to
others if asked if there were flawed passages. The kinds of biases that could undermine
Bacon’s credibility might result from things like his still being employed by Jefferson’s
family or having financial involvement with them. Edmund Bacon certainly may have
lied, but there is no reason to assume that from what we know about the situation. He
had less apparent reason to be biased than did Madison Hemings or any of Thomas Jef-
ferson’s relatives.

I raised this issue with Dr. Daniel Jordan, president of the Thomas Jefferson Memor-
ial Foundation, and he provided a response by Lucia Stanton which stated in part:
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25. Lucia Stanton, e-mail response to “Turner Questions,” Dec. 8, 2000, response number 7.
26. Jefferson at Monticello 88.

For many who have finally concluded that Thomas Jefferson was the most prob-
able father of Sally Hemings’s children, Bacon’s account is the hardest bit of ev-
idence to assimilate. So one needs to ponder what Bacon’s motives for
misrepresenting the situation might have been. He too can be viewed as having
“a stake in the outcome,” out of deep loyalty to Jefferson or pride in his associ-
ation with the famous President. Then there are the circumstances of the inter-
view to consider. Bacon was talking to a preacher in mid-Victorian 1860. . . . 

For the Monticello committee, the issue boiled down to one lone voice against
a chorus. A single dissenting opinion was not of sufficient weight to negate the
preponderance of evidence on the other side.25

This sounds very much like the committee itself, having “finally concluded that Thomas
Jefferson was the most probable father of Sally Hemings’s children,” doubled back to spec-
ulate “what Bacon’s motives for misrepresenting the situation might have been.” A more
reasonable and objective starting point might have been to consider whether Bacon was
misrepresenting the facts. It may be true that Bacon was “talking to a preacher in mid-
Victorian 1860” — though it is also true that the minister in question was president of
Cumberland College in Kentucky — but that did not prevent Bacon from discussing the
young men who visited Monticello and became “too intimate with the Negro women” to
suit one young visitor.26

Where is this “chorus” of witnesses alleging that Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson
had a sexual relationship? As far as we know, there is not a single witness — among the
hundreds of Monticello residents and perhaps thousands of visitors—who has left behind
testimony that the two of them were seen alone together or in any kind of suggestive be-
havior. The “evidence” for the existence of the relationship consists of assertions attrib-
uted to Madison Hemings concerning events that occurred long before he was born,
surrounded by statements that are demonstrably untrue, and reportedly corroborated by
Israel Jefferson whose account is clearly false on numerous material points. More im-
portantly, unlike Edmund Bacon, Madison is not testifying to facts he could have personally
observed. He is merely passing on assertions as they “came down to” him. Perhaps they
came from Sally Hemings, perhaps from James Callender, or perhaps from others. We
have no way of knowing.

Excluding Madison’s problematic statement, there is no evidence that Sally Hemings
or any of her other children ever claimed that Thomas Jefferson was their father. When
former Monticello slave Isaac Jefferson told his memoirs, he made mention of Sally Hem-
ings but said not a word about any alleged sexual relationship with Thomas Jefferson.
None of the other residents of Monticello claimed knowledge of this relationship, which
was consistently denied by the Jefferson family. Where is this “chorus of voices” or “pre-
ponderance of evidence” on the other side? Presumably it is James Callender, John Hartwell
Cocke, Thomas Gibbons, and Elijah P. Fletcher (as discussed in Chapter Nine) — none
of whom even alleged they had personally witnessed any behavior by Thomas Jefferson
or Sally Hemings that might support the allegation. Indeed, not one of them even alleges
he was told of the relationship by someone who had witnessed anything more suspicious
than the existence of light-skinned slaves at Monticello.

Finally, the statement that a “single dissenting opinion was not of sufficient weight to
negate the preponderance of evidence on the other side” misses the true significance of
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27. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 126.

the Bacon statement. To be sure, he does voice his opinion that Thomas Jefferson was not
the father of Harriet Hemings. But that is not the critical part of his testimony. He states
further that he frequently witnessed, with his own eyes, a man other than Thomas Jef-
ferson coming out of Sally Hemings’ room in the early hours of the morning. That is not
“opinion,” it is an assertion of fact—and it is probably the most reliable factual testimony
we have to guide us.

Madison Hemings and others who allege that the relationship existed are discussing
facts; but they are in reality merely voicing opinions about whether certain factual state-
ments are true. Not one of them is testifying to material facts he personally saw, heard,
or otherwise observed. It simply does not follow that a half dozen opinions by people
with no personal knowledge of the key facts are of greater probative value than eyewit-
ness testimony by one credible observer.

Nor, for that matter, is it close to being true that Edmund Bacon was “one lone voice”
among Jefferson’s contemporaries in this matter. While Ms. Stanton is correct in observ-
ing that the Jefferson family explanation that Sally Hemings’ children were fathered by Peter
and/or Samuel Carr has been shown by the DNA tests to have not been correct in the case
of Eston Hemings, there is no reason to believe that they were wrong about some or all of
Sally’s earlier children. They all had far more contact with Thomas Jefferson than any of
the advocates on the other side (many if not most of whom had never set foot on Jeffer-
son’s mountain); and while, as relatives, their testimony must be considered potentially
biased, unless they were all lying their statements are probably of greater value than those
of people who did not have an opportunity to witness events at Monticello over the decades.

As shown in Chapter Nine, even without removing the sources relied upon by Ms. Stan-
ton and her colleagues who were clearly bitter enemies of Thomas Jefferson (like James Cal-
lender and Thomas Gibbons), and those who received their information on this matter from
Jefferson’s enemies (like Elijah Fletcher), Jefferson’s contemporaries who voiced doubts about
the accusations easily outnumber his critics. This list includes James Madison, Jefferson’s
physician Dr. Robley Dunglison, Elder John Leland, Thomas Paine, Jefferson’s secretaries David
Humphreys and William Burwell, and even prominent Federalist political opponents like John
Adams, Alexander Hamilton, and General Light-Horse Harry Lee. Indeed, given the an-
tipodal reputations of James Callender and Thomas Jefferson, it is likely that the over-
whelming majority of Thomas Jefferson’s friends found the charge so preposterous as to not
even warrant comment. Sadly, from Ms. Stanton’s response, it seems that the Monticello
research committee began their inquiry having concluded that Thomas Jefferson was guilty.

The Accounts of Thomas Jefferson’s Relatives

It is perhaps not surprising that Thomas Jefferson’s children and grandchildren de-
fended his innocence with respect to the paternity of Sally Hemings’ children. This could
easily be explained as nothing more than family loyalty, and from all accounts they loved
him dearly. Professor Gordon-Reed tells us their views “must be taken with a grain of
salt” because “[t]hey loved him.”27

Nevertheless, their accounts ought not be lightly dismissed. For if this relationship
had been going on regularly for decades, it is difficult to believe that they would not have
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28. Joshua D. Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum
Virginia, in Sally Hemings & Thomas Jefferson 96 (Jan Ellen Lewis & Peter Onuf, eds. 1999).

29. Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon writes of her: “I knew Mrs. Randolph as well as I ever
knew any person out of my own family. Few such women ever lived. I never saw her equal. I was with
Mr. Jefferson twenty years and saw her frequently every week. I never saw her at all out of temper. I
can truly say that I never saw two such persons in this respect as she and her father. . . . Mrs. Randolph
was more like her father than any lady I ever saw.” Jefferson at Monticello 83.

30. Martha Jefferson to Thomas Jefferson, May 3, 1787, in The Family Letters of Thomas Jef-
ferson 39 (Edwin Morris Betts & James Adam Bear, Jr., eds., 1966).

31. Joseph J. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA, 57(1) William & Mary Q. 135 (Jan. 2000).

learned about it. This is particularly true in the early days, when Thomas Jefferson is al-
leged to have begun a sexual relationship with a fourteen- to sixteen-year-old Sally Hem-
ings in Paris. Sally was the maid to Jefferson’s two young daughters, and it seems unlikely
that she would have had the discretion to keep such a relationship secret from them. In-
deed, presumably it would have been in her interest for them to know that her status had
been elevated from that of lowly “servant” to the beloved “partner” — to use the modern
vernacular — of their powerful father. This point will be developed further in the next
chapter.

Professor Joshua Rothman, who wrote his Ph.D. dissertation about race relations in
antebellum Virginia, writes:

In early national and antebellum Virginia, standing sexual affairs between white
men and African American women were nearly always open secrets. Divorce pe-
titions in Virginia involving accusations of interracial adultery, for example,
amply demonstrate that neighbors, friends, and relatives . . . always knew, some-
times for many years, about the illicit sexual conduct of both men and women
in their families and communities.28

It is thus very difficult simply to assume that Jefferson’s relatives would have been igno-
rant of a relationship that allegedly lasted for decades.

Martha Jefferson Randolph

Martha (Patsy) Jefferson was by all accounts an unusually bright and perceptive
young woman, and in terms of her values an attractive person.29 Shortly before Sally
and Maria (Polly) arrived in Paris, Martha wrote to her father that “I wish with all my
soul that the poor Negroes were all freed. It grieves my heart when I think that these
our fellow creatures should be treated so terrible as they are by many of our country
men.”30

She later obviously became very much aware of the allegations made against her father,
but she does not appear to have believed them. Professor Joseph Ellis, for example, clearly
found it difficult to reconcile his study of Martha Jefferson’s unpublished papers with his
own newfound conviction that her father must have fathered children by Sally Hemings.
Writing in the William & Mary Quarterly, he explains:

My own reading of those [Martha Jefferson Randolph’s] papers suggests that,
much like her father, Martha Randolph possessed extraordinary powers of de-
nial. She did not consciously cover up the ongoing sexual liaison so much as
convince herself it did not exist. (How she managed this defies logic, but not in
its new “Jeffersonian” version.)31
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32. Reprinted in Milton E. Flower, James Parton: The Father of Modern Biography 237
(1951).
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Perhaps one need not invent a new theory of “Jeffersonian logic” to explain what has been
observed. Occam’s Razor would suggest that these same consequences might be explained
by the conclusion that Thomas Jefferson and his daughter were not “in denial” at all, but
rather they were simply aware that there was no truth behind the Callender allegations.

Consider also this account, from a letter from Jefferson biographer Henry S. Randall,
to his colleague James Parton, written on June 1, 1868:

Mr. Jefferson’s oldest daughter, Mrs. Gov. Randolph, took the Dusky Sally sto-
ries much to heart. But she never spoke to her sons but once on the subject. Not
long before her death she called two of them — the Colonel [Thomas Jefferson
Randolph] and George Wythe Randolph—to her. She asked the Colonel if he re-
membered when ____ Henings [sic] (the slave who most resembled Mr. Jeffer-
son) was born.. . . He said that he could answer by referring to the book containing
the list of slaves. He turned to the book and found that the slave was born at the
time supposed by Mrs. Randolph. She then directed her sons[’] attention to the
fact that Mr. Jefferson and Sally Henings [sic] could not have met—were far dis-
tant from each other—for fifteen months prior to such birth. She bade her sons
(to) remember this fact, and always to defend the character of their grandfather.
It so happened when I was afterwards examining an old account book of the Jef-
fersons I came pop on the original entry of this slave[’]s birth; and I was then able
(to know) from well known circumstances to prove the fifteen months separa-
tion . . . but those circumstances have faded from my memory.32

Now this account goes from Jeff Randolph through Henry Randall to James Parton—triple
hearsay—and is subject to all of the dangers characteristic of such evidence. Martha Ran-
dolph could have been mistaken or knowingly not telling the truth. Her son Jeff could have
fabricated the story or confused the details after many years. Henry Randall could have cre-
ated it from whole cloth. Even James Parton could theoretically have fabricated the incident.

But if the basic account is accurate, Martha Randolph’s statement has some inherent
credibility. If she believed her father guilty of the charges, and simply wanted to urge her
sons to protect his memory, she would presumably not have asked Jeff Randolph to ac-
cept her account based upon his own recollection of certain facts. Because if Sally and
President Jefferson had not been separated for fifteen months, Jeff Randolph would not
be able to confirm her statement from his own knowledge. She could just as easily have
fabricated some explanation that was not subject to confirmation (or, if she was lying,
refutation) from his independent memory.

I am indebted to former Monticello Resident Director James Bear for a copy of an un-
dated letter from Martha Randolph to her daughter Ellen — believed to have been writ-
ten during the latter half of 1826, a few months after the death of her famous father —
in which she discusses her father’s character and concludes:

[I]n the course of my life I can not call to mind one solitary action that I would
censure. . . . What can I say my Dear Ellen that have so long basked in the sun
shine of his affections, and been the witness to his private virtue, that will not
look like partiality? But if I speak at all I must speak the truth, and so doing can
utter nothing but praise.33
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Jefferson’s secretary William Short, who lived with him in Paris, perceived some jealousy
on Patsy’s (Martha’s) part towards both Maria Cosway and Angelica Church, two of her fa-
ther’s lady friends in Paris.34 Would she not have felt even more displeasure had she learned
that he was sexually involved with a servant younger than herself? Would she have repeat-
edly brought her children to Monticello if she believed this alleged relationship was going
on? To accept the story, we have to discard not only much of what we think we know about
Thomas Jefferson’s character,35 but that of Martha Jefferson Randolph as well.

Thomas Jefferson Randolph,  Ellen Randolph Coolidge,  and 
the Carr Brothers

We have other statements attributed to Jeff Randolph that support Thomas Jefferson’s
innocence—at least with respect to some of Sally Hemings’ children.36 For example, in this
same 1868 letter to James Parton, we find this account by Henry Randall:

Colonel Randolph said that a visitor at Monticello dropped a newspaper from his
pocket or accidentally left it. After he was gone, he (Colonel Randolph) opened
the paper and found some very insulting remarks about Mr. Jefferson’s mulatto
children. The Colonel said he felt provoked. Peter and Samuel Carr were lying
not far off under a shade tree. He took the paper and put it in Peter’s hands,
pointing out the article. Peter read it, tears coursing down his cheeks, and then
handed it to Samuel. Samuel also shed tears. Peter exclaimed “Ar’nt you and I a
couple of ______ pretty fellows to bring this disgrace on poor old uncle who
has always fed us! We ought to be ________, by _______.”37

Again, this is multiple hearsay, but Jeff Randolph’s account does not read like a typical
“coverup.” Indeed, he is perhaps the primary source for one of the three strongest argu-
ments usually made by revisionist scholars, that at least some of Sally Hemings’ children
bore a physical resemblance to the President. Consider Randall’s account:

Walking about mouldering Monticello one day with Col. T. J. Randolph (Mr.
Jefferson’s oldest grandson) he showed me a smoke blackened and sooty room
in one of the colon[n]ades, and informed me it was Sally Hemings’ room. He asked
me if I knew how the story of Mr. Jefferson’s connection with her originated. I
told him I did not. “There was a better excuse for it,[”] said he, [“]than you
might think; she had children which resembled Mr. Jefferson so closely that it was
plain that they had his blood in their veins.” He said in one case the resemblance
was so close, that at some distance or in the dusk the slave, dressed in the same
way, might have been mistaken for Mr. Jefferson.38

This does not sound like the opening statement of Thomas Jefferson’s lawyer in a pater-
nity case, and other than James Callender’s allegation that the slave child “Tom” resem-
bled the President, there is little reason to believe that Jeff Randolph would have expected
his audience to be aware of this physical resemblance. It is the kind of “admission against
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interest” that tends to make testimony credible, although clever liars sometimes include
such statements to precisely that end.

Furthermore, the assertion that Jeff Randolph claimed that the Carr brothers had ad-
mitted paternity of at least some of Sally’s children finds corroboration in a letter writ-
ten by his sister, Ellen Randolph Coolidge, to her husband, Joseph, on October 24, 1858.
The primary purpose of the letter (already discussed in my Introduction and Chapter
Two) was to give her husband information on the subject to pass on to a Mr. Bulfinch.
It was in this letter that she enumerated various reasons why the Callender charges could
not be true, including the assertion that no female domestic servant was ever allowed in
Jefferson’s room when he was present, and none could have gone there without being
visible to others in the house. This was one of the sentences that was altered in Professor
Gordon-Reed’s appendix with the result that its meaning was materially changed.39

Among the other arguments Ellen makes in the letter, which was first made public in
full by Dumas Malone in 1974,40 are these:

The house at Monticello was a long time in building and was principally built by
Irish workmen. These men were known to have had children of whom the moth-
ers were black women. But these women were much better pleased to have it
supposed that such children were their master’s. . . . There were dissipated young
men in the neighborhood who sought the society of the mulattresses and they
in like manner were not anxious to establish any claim of paternity in the results
of such associations.

One woman known to Mr. J. Q. Adams and others as “dusky Sally” was pretty
notoriously the mistress of a married man, a near relation of Mr. Jefferson’s, and
there can be small question that her children were his.41

After several pages of such arguments clearly designed to be shared with others, Ellen
added the following comment, on a separate page, apparently intending that it not be
communicated further:

I have written thus far thinking you might chuse [sic] to communicate my let-
ter to Mr. Bulfinch. Now I will tell you in confidence what Jefferson [her brother
Thomas Jefferson Randolph] told me under the like condition. Mr. Southall and
himself young men together, heard Mr. Peter Carr say with a laugh, that “the
old gentleman has to bear the blame for his and Sam’s (Col. Carr) misdeeds.”

There is a general impression that the four children of Sally Hemmings [sic] were
all the children of Col. Carr, the most notorious good-natured Turk that every
was master of a black seraglio kept at other men’s expense. . . . 42

The “like condition” in the second sentence presumably meant that the information was not
to be communicated further. It was a confidential exchange between Ellen and her husband.
And while the 1998 DNA tests clearly established that Samuel Carr was not the father of
Sally’s youngest child, Eston, they tell us nothing about his possible paternity of Beverly, ei-
ther of the Harriets, or Madison (or Thenia if she was in fact Sally Hemings’ child).

Of the Jefferson/Randolph family members, I have found Ellen to be among the most
candid and credible in her comments. Professor Brodie notes that Margaret Bayard Smith
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described Ellen Randolph as “one of the finest and most intelligent children I have ever
met”43; and of all of his children and grandchildren Ellen was probably the most intellectual.44

She clearly loved her grandfather dearly, but she was willing to disclose “family secrets,”
including weaknesses of her own father.45 This document has additional credibility because
she was communicating to her own husband in the apparent expectation that he would
keep the information confidential. So I am inclined to believe her account that Jeff Ran-
dolph told her this story; but, of course, that does not establish that her brother was telling
the truth. We have two generally credible sources asserting that, on separate occasions, Jeff
Randolph alleged that Peter Carr confessed that he and his brother Sam had fathered chil-
dren by Sally Hemings. But note in one instance Jeff reportedly said Peter laughed and
in the other that he cried during the confession.

There is another account attributed to Jeff Randolph that warrants our attention. In
his 1868 letter to Parton, Henry Randall writes:

I asked Col. [Jeff] Randolph why on earth Mr. Jefferson did [not46] put these
slaves who looked like him out of the public sight by sending them to his Be-
fond [sic—Bedford] estate or elsewhere,—He said Mr. Jefferson never betrayed
the least consciousness of the resemblance — and although he (Col. Randolph)
had no doubt his mother would have been very glad to have them thus removed,
that both and all venerated Mr. Jefferson too deeply to broach such a topic to
him. What suited him, satisfied them. Mr. Jefferson was deeply attached to the
Carrs — especially to Peter. He was extremely indulgent to them and the idea of
watching them for faults or vices probably never occurred to him.

Do you ask why I did not state, or at least hint the above facts in my Life of Jef-
ferson? I wanted to do so. But Colonel Randolph, in this solitary case alone, pro-
hibited me from using at my discretion the information he furnished me with.
When I rather pressed him on the point, he said, pointing to the family grave-
yard, “You are not bound to prove a negation. If I should allow you to take Peter
Carr’s corpse into Court and plead guilty over it to shelter Mr. Jefferson, I should
not dare again to walk by his grave: he would rise and spurn me.”47

So what are we to make of such “evidence”? Two respectable sources independently re-
port that Jeff Randolph told them that one or both of the Carr brothers had confessed to
fathering children by Sally Hemings, and both assert he pledged them to secrecy on the
matter. We can easily understand why Jeff Randolph might fabricate such a story to pro-
tect his grandfather’s reputation, but would he tell such a lie to his sister? Perhaps, but if
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he was prepared to deceive her why would he bar her from recounting the story to mis-
lead people he presumably cared less about and who might have been able to use it to
defend his grandfather’s reputation?

Randall certainly could have fabricated his account, but had he been so inclined there is
the question of why he did not include this information in his three-volume Life of Thomas
Jefferson instead of in a private letter to a professional colleague? He told Parton that he had
clearly made the correct decision in honoring Randolph’s demand for secrecy, arguing that
Jefferson’s reputation did not need to be defended on this point. Implicit in this may be
that Randall did not expect Parton to publish his letter, although that is not absolutely clear.

If Jefferson Randolph fabricated both stories about the Carr brothers admitting pa-
ternity for the purpose of defending his grandfather’s reputation among the public, he be-
haved rather bizarrely in demanding that the information be kept confidential. Further,
his apparent desire to protect the reputation of the Carr brothers (or at least someone)
was manifested again in his letter to the Pike County Republican responding to the alle-
gations of Israel Jefferson. It certainly would have been more persuasive to say “Samuel
and Peter Carr admitted they were the fathers of Sally Hemings’ children” than to write,
as he did, that “To my own knowledge and that of others 60 years ago the paternity of these
parties were admitted by others.”48 Even the reference to “others” knowing the truth is
consistent with Ellen Coolidge’s statement made more than fifteen years earlier that Jeff
told her a Mr. Southall had also overheard the Carr confessions.

We cannot conclude with certainty that any of this is true. But the pieces “fit together” well;
Jeff Randolph, while perhaps not a man of the highest intellect, does generally appear to
have been an honorable man.49 Furthermore, for the story to be a complete fabrication would
require a conspiracy involving several apparently honorable people. Certainly the simplest
explanation is that the Carr brothers (or perhaps only Peter, with Samuel remaining quiet)
did confess to the belief50 that they had fathered one or more of Sally Hemings’ children.

Peter Carr was born on January 2, 1770, and thus was at least three years older than Sally
Hemings. He began a Charlottesville law practice in 1793, and in 1801 began serving in
the state legislature and simultaneously as an Albemarle magistrate. He appears to have
been in Albemarle County and at least near Monticello around the conception periods for
Harriet I, Beverly, Harriet II, Madison, and Eston Hemings (although DNA tests have es-
tablished he could not have fathered Eston). However, we cannot place him at Monticello
with certainty during these entire periods.51 Visits by Jefferson’s favorite nephews were pre-
sumably common enough so as not to warrant recording in most settings.

Samuel Carr was born October 9, 1771, and was largely raised by Thomas Jefferson at
Monticello. He settled in the Charlottesville area permanently in mid-1802, and is known
to have been in the vicinity of Monticello about the time Harriet I and Eston were con-
ceived.52 We have no information about his location when Sally Hemings’ other children
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were conceived. There are reports that he fathered children by a “mulatto concubine who
lived next door to him” whose descendants are recognized as relatives by white descen-
dants of Samuel Carr.53 We can neither prove he was present nor rule him out as a sus-
pect with respect to any child but Eston, who Dr. Foster’s DNA tests proved could not have
been fathered by a Carr.

Thomas Mann Randolph and the Rest of the Family

The Monticello Report asserts that “Jefferson’s daughter Martha Randolph and two of
her children denied the story to friends and family members.”54 The record strongly sug-
gests that none of the Jefferson family members believed the charges. Thus, granddaughter
Ellen Randolph Coolidge stated and pointedly asked:

[Thomas Jefferson] had a large family of grandchildren of all ages, older &
younger. Young men and young girls. He lived, whenever he was at Monticello,
and entirely for the last seventeen years of his life, in the midst of these young
people, surrounded by them, his intercourse with them of the freest and most
affectionate kind. How comes it that his immoralities were never suspected by
his own family — that his daughter and her children rejected with horror and
contempt the charges brought against him[?]55

We cannot know for certain that this statement is true, but there is not the slightest bit
of evidence to contradict it. And if any of the grandchildren had believed the paternity
story and mentioned that belief to others, it would seem to be significant enough news
to have been recorded in some manner. Given Ellen Coolidge’s remarkable candor in ad-
mitting family “secrets,”56 I am inclined to believe her on this point.

Governor Thomas Mann Randolph,57 Thomas Jefferson’s son-in-law and husband to
Martha, was a frequent presence at Monticello and thus, inevitably, an eyewitness to much
that was going on. He has been largely ignored during this debate, but he did write at least
one letter making it clear that he did not believe the allegations involving Sally Hemings
against his father-in-law. About four months after Callender’s original charge, in a De-
cember 24, 1802, letter to his attorney, he wrote:

As I could not be with you to read to you what I had written I leave it for you.
My conversation with gentlemen here has made me think lighter of those infa-
mous stories than I did: Therefore, I have not sent it to the gazette as I intended:
it being necessary to put my name to a paragraph such as it would be. I had no
thought of any thing but demanding a certificate from Callender that I was not
one he could prove believed the story until I spoke to you the day Mr. Hay beat
him, which occurrence prevented for obvious reasons my going to him. Adieu.58
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This note also challenges the popular allegation that “everyone” believed the Callender
stories. Although it is somewhat ambiguous, Randolph seems to be referring to having
concluded the charges were not doing serious harm to the President’s reputation after
talking with various “gentlemen” in Charlottesville or perhaps Richmond.

The Assessment of Sally Hemings by Abigail Adams 
and Andrew Ramsay

There is a remarkable difference between the “Sally Hemings” envisioned by Professors
Brodie and Gordon-Reed — and still further embellished by Hollywood — and the only
existing eyewitness accounts of her talents. Since there are no surviving descriptions of
Sally’s behavior in Paris, perhaps it is not surprising that both scholars and Hollywood
writers have felt free to speculate and even fantasize about what her life might have been
like. From Isaac Jefferson’s account that Sally was “handsome,”59 and Jeff Randolph’s com-
ment that she and her niece Betsy were “decidedly good looking,” Sally is presented to us
as a sophisticated temptress likely to turn the head of any virile male. American Heritage
senior editor and author E. M. Halliday — a great admirer of Fawn Brodie — goes so far
as to assure us that as a young teen Sally had “well-developed breasts.”60

Conceivably some of this is true, but there is no basis for such speculation save from
the pens of James Callender and Federalist editors who had never set eyes on the woman.
The only eyewitness accounts we have about Sally Hemings beyond references to her
“handsome” good looks came from the summer of 1787, when she was a child of thir-
teen or fourteen years.61 The source for both observations — one repeated as hearsay —
was the highly intelligent62 and perceptive Abigail Adams, wife of the U.S. minister to
Great Britain and later President, John Adams. Her first testimony simply relayed the ob-
servations of Captain Andrew Ramsay, on whose ship Maria (Polly) Jefferson and Sally
Hemings had spent five weeks en route to London. We know little of Captain Ramsay
beyond that Thomas Jefferson and Abigail Adams both seemed highly impressed with
him and little Polly became so attached to him during the voyage that she had to be tricked
into parting with him after arriving in England.63 Professor Brodie tells us that Polly and
Sally “must certainly have been treated like special pets, for Polly came to adore the cap-
tain. She clung desperately to him upon arrival and had to be decoyed away in order to
effect separation.”64 When Abigail Adams tried to calm Polly with a promised trip to
Sadler’s Wells, Polly responded “I had rather . . . see Captain Rams[a]y one moment, than
all the fun in the world.”65
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According to Ms. Adams in a letter to Thomas Jefferson in Paris: “Captain Ramsay is
of [the] opinion [that Sally Hemings] will be of so little Service that he had better carry
her back with him. But of this you will be a judge.”66 From this, Professor Gordon-Reed
attempts to dismiss Captain Ramsay with what can only be called a stereotype:

Captain Ramsey’s [sic] remedy, that he just take Sally Hemings back to Virginia,
suggests that he either was not very thoughtful or was not thinking in a totally
disinterested manner about the situation. One wonders at his effrontery, think-
ing it proper that he decide who would be of no use in Jefferson’s household
and that, without consulting Jefferson, he would take Hemings back to Vir-
ginia. . . . 

As Fawn Brodie pointed out, it does not take much imagination to determine
why Captain Ramsey [sic] might have been desirous of having the beautiful
young girl make the voyage back to the United States with him. Think of
“Dashing Sally” on a six-week ocean voyage with Captain Ramsey [sic] and
his crew.67

Like so much of her book, this analysis is premised upon numerous assumptions for
which there is not the slightest evidence. Abigail Adams did not say that the Captain was
considering taking Sally Hemings back to Virginia without consulting Jefferson; the very
purpose of her letter—or at least one of her purposes—seems to have been to convey the
captain’s judgment and offer and to seek Jefferson’s wishes in the matter. (Indeed, in a let-
ter to Jefferson dated July 6 Captain Ramsay declared that if Jefferson did not send some-
one to get Polly, and, presumably, Sally, in “another weeks time,” he would be honored
to escort them personally to Paris.68)

Contrary to Professor Gordon-Reed’s allegation, Captain Ramsay appears by all evi-
dence to be a very “thoughtful” individual. In a May 1787 letter, Anne Blair Banister de-
scribed Captain Andrew Ramsay as “a very worthy Man,” adding “I am confident from my
knowledge of him he will be perfectly attentive to [Polly].”69 If one can get away from the
bizarre stereotype that every sea captain was by nature a rapist at heart, every bit of evi-
dence we know about Captain Ramsay is positive. His behavior around Polly seems to
have been so loving and gentle that she clung to him as a father figure. Thomas Jefferson
and Abigail Adams — two individuals of established good judgment — seemed very im-
pressed with him.70 Surely Abigail Adams was sophisticated enough to take measure of
the man and consider alternative motives for his offer. But her eyewitness assessment
after ten days of regular exposure to Sally Hemings is simply dismissed—presumably be-
cause it greatly undermines the popular mythology about the “dashing” Sally Hemings.

After leaving Captain Ramsay, Polly and Sally lived with the Adams family in London
for three weeks. Ten days into their stay, Abigail Adams wrote to Jefferson again, this time
providing her own eyewitness assessment of Sally Hemings: “The girl she [eight-year-old
Polly] has with her, wants more care than the child, and is wholly incapable of looking
properly after her, without some superiour to direct her.”71 Other than references to Sally
being “handsome” or “good looking,” and having “straight hair,” these are the only sur-
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viving eyewitness evaluations of Sally Hemings.72 Abigail Adams was one of the most re-
markable individuals of her era and a dedicated opponent to slavery, and there is not the
slightest reason to believe that her comments about Sally Hemings were designed to do
anything more than inform her friend in Paris of the realities she had witnessed. The only
apparent reason this highly credible testimony, supported as well by that of Captain Ram-
say, has been largely ignored is that it undermines the revisionist image of fourteen- or
fifteen-year-old Sally Hemings as a sophisticated, charming, and seductive woman whose
remarkable charms Thomas Jefferson was simply incapable of resisting.

The Mysterious Thomas Hemings

We now come again to the very mysterious “Tom” upon whom James Callender largely
based his 1802 allegations that Thomas Jefferson had fathered children by Sally Hemings.
For generations, it has been widely assumed that “Tom” was in reality “Thomas Wood-
son,” and a powerful oral tradition from various lines of Woodson’s descendants supports
this account.

As already discussed in Chapter One, Professor Gordon-Reed included a lengthy dis-
cussion of the pros and cons about “Tom” in the pre-DNA-tests version of her book,
noting his critical importance to both sides of the argument and arguing — in my view
quite persuasively — that had there been no “Tom,” certainly Jefferson’s friends and sup-
porters would have mentioned that fact in their many responses to Callender. On the
contrary, at least one Jefferson defender appears to have conceded the existence of Cal-
lender’s “Tom.”73

For years, the experts at Monticello have conceded that Thomas Woodson was prob-
ably the mysterious “Tom” born to Sally Hemings in 1790 after returning from Paris.
They did not concede that he was fathered by Thomas Jefferson. There is no record of a
slave named “Tom” being born to any of Jefferson’s slaves in 1790 (however, there is a po-
tentially interesting erasure in his Farm Book for that year74). Early that year, Jefferson as-
sumed the post of Secretary of Foreign Affairs (later redesignated Secretary of State when
the duties were expanded to include such things as keeping the national seal and issuing
commissions to public officers), and he did not carefully maintain his Farm Book be-
tween 1783 and 1794 because of his frequent absences.75 But had there been a “Tom,”
there should have been subsequent references in Jefferson’s records. If there never was a
“Tom” as described by Callender, the Callender allegations become even less credible. If
Thomas Woodson was born to Sally Hemings in 1790, the DNA results show conclu-
sively that his father was not a Jefferson. That means either that Sally was not sexually
involved with Thomas Jefferson or that she was not monogamous. Again, the circum-
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76. The DNA tests examined Y chromosomes seeking matches among male descendants of Sally’s
sons and those of descendants of Thomas Jefferson’s paternal uncle and said nothing about Sally Hem-
ings or any other possible mother.

77. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA at 126–27.

stantial case against Thomas Jefferson is largely founded upon the assumption that she
was monogamous and gave birth to a son named “Tom” shortly after returning from
Paris. 

After the DNA reports, Thomas Woodson shifted from being the star witness for the
prosecution to being a major impediment to a conviction of Thomas Jefferson. There
was nothing in the DNA tests to cast doubt on Woodson’s claim to be the son of Sally
Hemings,76 and scholars like Joseph Ellis have managed to reconcile their belief in a Jef-
ferson-Hemings romance without questioning Thomas Woodson’s status as Sally Hem-
ings’ presumptive son. Writing in a 2000 issue of the prestigious William & Mary Quarterly,
Professor Ellis reasoned (after asserting that “Jefferson’s paternity of several Hemings chil-
dren is proven ‘beyond a reasonable doubt’”):

Whether Jefferson fathered all of Hemings’s children is still unclear. Madison
Hemings claimed he did. And since Eston Hemings was born in 1808, when Jef-
ferson was sixty-five years old, it seems highly unlikely that the relationship began
and ended at that time. On the other hand, the DNA study produced a non-
match with Thomas Woodson, the first of Sally’s surviving children. Either Madi-
son Hemings was wrong about the origins of the relationship, or the nonmatch
with Thomas Woodson is the result of a “false paternity,” that is, a subsequent
break in the genetic line that falsifies the results.77

This would seem to be a reasonable conclusion, except in this instance there is only the re-
motest, highly theoretical chance of a “false paternity” result. The initial study reported by
Dr. Foster in Nature involved the testing of five male-line descendants of two different sons
of Thomas Woodson. Four of these matched, and the fifth was judged a consequence of
an illegitimate father somewhere in the line. Since then, yet another Woodson descendant—
from a third son of Thomas Woodson—has been tested, with no match to Thomas Jeffer-
son or any other Jefferson male. Occam would not favor concluding that the same illegiti-
mate father, over a period of many years, produced three sons who were generally but
wrongly believed to be Thomas Woodson’s, over the simpler conclusion that Thomas Wood-
son was not fathered by any Jefferson. Even less likely would be the theory that the same man
went from family to family fathering the sons of Thomas Woodson’s three sons over a pe-
riod of years. The “false paternity” option sounds reasonable, but it simply will not wash.
Professor Ellis is factually mistaken when he postulates the option of “a false paternity”—
there would have to be at minimum three “subsequent break[s] in the genetic line,” and all
of them would have to involve the same illegitimate father. Dr. Ellis is thus left with his first
conclusion: that “Madison Hemings was wrong about the origins of the relationship.”

The Monticello Research Committee seems to have simply decided to resolve the con-
flict between the Woodson oral history and Dr. Foster’s DNA tests by summarily elimi-
nating Thomas Woodson as one of Sally Hemings’ possible children. After all of their
years of interviewing Woodson family descendants in their “Getting Word” oral history
project, their January 2000 “Research Findings and Implications” stated: “The DNA ev-
idence indicates that, despite an enduring oral tradition in the Woodson family, Thomas
Jefferson was not the father of Thomas C. Woodson. No documents have yet been found
to support the belief that Woodson was Sally Hemings’ first child, born soon after her re-
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78. Monticello Report at 6.
79. The only “sources” for the contention that Sally Hemings conceived a child in Paris appear to

be Callender’s unsupported 1802 allegations and the statement attributed to Madison Hemings sev-
enty-one years later. 

80. It should be kept in mind that most Caucasian American men of the era came from Euro-
pean stock and thus would have carried the DNA of a “European male.”

81. Obviously, Thomas Jefferson’s great grandfather in England (or one of his male ancestors)
might have produced a number of different lines of male descendants who were unknown to each
other, and if any of these had emigrated to America and fathered sons, their male descendants would
presumably have carried the same DNA Y chromosome as Thomas Jefferson.

82. Monticello Report at 9.
83. My own sense is that Eston was probably fathered by a member of the Jefferson family, but the

possibility of a slave father must nevertheless be recognized as at least a theoretical possibility.
84. See the discussion of this issue on pp. 91–93.

turn from France.”78 They might have added that no “documents”79 have been found to
support the belief that Sally Hemings had any child in 1790.

It has gone almost unnoticed that Thomas Woodson’s Y chromosome was not one
characteristic of inhabitants of sub-Saharan Africa, but rather one common among Eu-
ropean males.80 This proves nothing, but it is consistent with a theory that Sally Hemings
might have become pregnant in Paris by a man other than Thomas Jefferson, and that
Thomas Woodson was born as claimed after she returned to the United States. This is
possible, but there are many other equally plausible explanations. It is of no consequence
to our inquiry.

Other Possible Fathers

Another problem with the Monticello Report and much of the other scholarship supporting
a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship is the tendency to dismiss other potential fathers.
To be sure, the Report admits that there were more than two dozen known81 Jefferson males
in Virginia when Eston was conceived who were old enough to father children and carried
exactly the same DNA Y chromosome as Thomas Jefferson.82 Since Thomas Jefferson in-
herited many of his slaves from his father, who in turn had inherited slaves from his fa-
ther, there is at least some chance that a male Jefferson impregnated a slave and produced
a son carrying this same Y chromosome, a slave who was later inherited by Thomas Jef-
ferson. If so, that man (or those men) could also have produced children with Sally Hem-
ings, who would pass on the same Y chromosome found in Eston’s descendant.83

Peter and Samuel Carr

It is now clear that neither Peter nor Samuel Carr fathered Eston Hemings or Thomas
Woodson. But that is all the DNA tests can tell us. They say nothing about who fathered
Harriet I, Beverly, Harriet II, “Thenia” (if Sally Hemings had such a daughter84), or Madi-
son Hemings. It is only when one ignores the eyewitness testimony of Edmund Bacon,
the various references to confessions by the Carr brothers, and the new DNA evidence
about Thomas Woodson, that it is possible to conclude that Sally Hemings possibly could
have had a monogamous sexual relationship with Thomas Jefferson. But the assumption
of monogamy is so critical to the revisionist case that they have found it desirable to por-
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85. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA at 125.
86. Id. (Emphasis added).
87. See Chapter One.
88. Again, if one assumes that Thomas Woodson was Sally’s child, he is ruled out by the DNA

tests as being fathered by a Carr.
89. Stanton, The Other End of the Telescope, William & Mary Q. 139–40 (Jan. 2000).
90. Id. at 140.
91. Obviously, an element of the offense of “lying” or relating a falsehood is knowledge by the

speaker that the information is untrue.

tray the DNA evidence as having ruled out the Carrs as possible fathers for any of Sally
Hemings’ other children. That obviously is not true.

Professor Ellis, for example, asserts that the DNA evidence “exposes the Carr explanation
as a contrivance,”85 explaining: “The study shows no match between the Hemings line
and the Carr family, thereby undermining the long-standing explanation offered by Jef-
ferson’s white descendants (that is, that Peter Carr or Samuel Carr is the culprit) and en-
dorsed by several prominent Jefferson scholars. . . .”86 But this is factually in error. Unless
Thomas Woodson was the son of Sally Hemings, the only member of the “Hemings line”
tested was a descendant of Eston. As Dr. Foster has acknowledged,87 the DNA tests said
absolutely nothing about the paternity of Sally’s other children.88

In the same issue of the William & Mary Quarterly, Monticello’s Lucia Stanton writes:

Now, because of the almost seismic effect of a scientific test, we will never
again read the words of Jefferson and the members of his household in quite
the same way. The core feature of the Jefferson family denial — that Peter Carr
or Samuel Carr was the father of Hemings’s children — has been discredited by
chromosomes and haplotypes. Have the accounts of Jefferson’s grandchildren
Thomas Jefferson Randolph and Ellen Randolph Coolidge lost some of their
credibility because, in this one area, they seem to have misrepresented the
truth so materially?89

Ms. Stanton relies upon this alleged evidence of misrepresentation to question the reliability
of Ellen Coolidge’s descriptions of Jefferson’s religious and other views.90 This simply makes
no sense. First, the Carrs remain viable suspects for the possible paternity of all of Sally
Hemings’ other children. Second, even were that not true, Ellen Coolidge was apparently
basing her statement upon accounts provided by her brother Jeff. Even if we assume that
every word he said to her was a lie, that does not make her repetition of the story in good
faith an act of dishonesty on her part so as to call into question her own veracity.91

Randolph Jefferson and His Sons

Professor Gordon-Reed suggests in Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings that the only
explanation for the physical similarities between Thomas Jefferson and Sally’s children is
either that one of the Carr brothers (sons of Jefferson’s sister) was their father or that it
was Thomas Jefferson himself. She writes:

It is important to keep in mind the relationship between the two competing the-
ories as to who fathered Sally Hemings’s children. Members of the Jefferson fam-
ily offered the Carr brothers as the likely fathers to explain why Sally Hemings’s
four children looked so much like Thomas Jefferson. Eliminating the Carr broth-
ers does not erase the children’s close resemblance to Jefferson. Some other as yet
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92. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings at 217–18.
93. Id. at 22. (These citations are to the first edition of the Gordon-Reed volume.)
94. Id. At 285.
95. However, she does include in her bibliography the most extensive scholarly account of Ran-

dolph, Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother (Bernard Mayo ed., 1981). See Gordon-Reed,
Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 278.

96. Randolph Jefferson has occasionally been referred to as being a “half-wit.” Professor Brodie
describes him at one point in her book as being “less than mediocre in talent and native intelligence,”
and at another as being “mentally ill.” Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 264, 457. James Bear writes: “Ran-
dolph emerges, at best, as an unenlightened and simple dirt farmer. . . .” Bear, Preface, Thomas Jef-
ferson and His Unknown Brother vii (Bernard Mayo ed., 1981). In volume two of his 1951
biography, Nathan Schachner writes that Randolph’s “mind was limited and his world circumscribed
to the narrow confines of his daily routine. His elder brother treated him always with tenderness and
respect, and helped him patiently in all the minutiae that troubled the younger man. Randolph would
scrawl illiterate little notes to Thomas, in which the loan of a gig loomed larger than the deaths of his
sisters. . . . Thomas would reply simply and kindly, speaking of small, everyday events that were within
the scope of Randolph Jefferson’s limited understanding.” 2 Nathan Schachner, Thomas Jeffer-
son 923 (1951). Yet Randolph briefly attended the College of William & Mary and managed his own
plantation (with frequent advice from his older brother). Candidly, Randolph may have suffered
somewhat from unfavorable comparisons to his truly brilliant elder brother. Having “half” the “wit”
of Thomas Jefferson did not necessarily make him that far below the national norm. It does seem
clear that he was not heavily focused upon ideas, and there is reason to believe he would not have es-
pecially enjoyed sitting around Monticello after dinner listening to Thomas expound upon the latest
scientific theories or on political developments in Europe.

97. Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother (Bernard Mayo, ed., 1981).
98. For general background on Randolph Jefferson, see id. at 1–6.
99. Conversation with Herbert Barger, who asserts that when he raised the possibility that Ran-

dolph or one of his sons might have fathered Eston, Professor Ellis acknowledged that he did not re-
alize Thomas Jefferson had a brother.

undesignated Jefferson relative must be substituted, or Thomas Jefferson remains
the most likely father. In the absence of any contemporary source suggesting that
another relative might have been the father or any present-day indication that it
might have been someone else, such speculation seems a desperate attempt to ab-
solve Jefferson at the cost of all reason.92

Professor Gordon-Reed does not even appear to have known of the existence of Thomas
Jefferson’s brother, Randolph, when she published her book in 1997. At least his name does
not appear on her genealogical chart93 or in her index,94 and one hesitates to assume that
she was intentionally trying to conceal his existence.95 A relatively minor figure of little his-
toric interest beyond being related to our third President, Thomas Jefferson’s intellectu-
ally challenged96 younger brother Randolph is ignored by many Jefferson scholars and is
referred to as the President’s “unknown brother” by the one scholar who has given him
much attention.97

When it was determined by DNA testing that Eston Hemings was probably fathered
by a member of the Jefferson family, some Jefferson defenders suggested that one of the
most likely suspects among the more than two dozen male Jeffersons in Virginia at the time
was Randolph, who was born on October 1, 1755, and thus was nearly twelve years
younger than the President. Randolph and his twin sister Anna Scott were the youngest
of the ten children known to have been born to Peter Jefferson and Jane Randolph.98

Professor Ellis (who makes no reference to Randolph in his own biography, American
Sphinx, and reportedly admitted not knowing of Randolph’s existence until his name sur-
faced following report of the DNA evidence99) provides this assessment of the suggestion
that Randolph, rather than Thomas, might have fathered Eston Hemings:
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100. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA 126.
101. Monticello Report 6.
102. Id., Appendix J at 3.
103. Ms. McMurry wrote: “Only after the publication of Fawn Brodie’s book did my mother wax

indignant and her statement was, ‘Honey, that book is trash! Everyone knows it was his half-witted
brother.’” Notarized statement, “Paternity of Sally Hemings’ Children, Statement of Rebecca Lee Mc-
Murry,” Apr. 1, 1999, a copy of which is in the writer’s possession.

To be sure, the DNA evidence establishes probability rather than certainty. A
spirited rebuttal has been mounted by Jefferson genealogist Herbert Barger, sug-
gesting that Randolph Jefferson or his son Isham (Jefferson’s brother and nephew,
respectively) is a more likely candidate. No one had mentioned Randolph Jefferson
as a possible alternative before the DNA study. He is being brought forward now
because he fits the genetic profile. This belated claim strikes me as a kind of last
stand for the most dedicated Jefferson loyalists. . . . Historians of the Lost Cause
syndrome will recognize the poignant fusion of sincerity and futility at work
here.100

In a similar vein, the Monticello Report observed that “Randolph Jefferson and his sons
are not known to have been at Monticello at the time of Eston Hemings’s conception,
nor has anyone, until 1998, ever before publicly suggested them as possible fathers.”101 In
an attached memorandum on “The Possible Paternity of Other Jeffersons,” the Monti-
cello Report adds, “there are no known references (prior to the 1998 DNA results) to Ran-
dolph Jefferson as a possible father of Sally Hemings’ children,” and concludes without further
explanation that Randolph’s paternity is “very unlikely. . . .”102

Prior Suggestions That Randolph Jefferson May Have Fathered Some of 
Sally’s Children

It is true that most scholars who have addressed the Jefferson-Hemings story have
not focused on Randolph Jefferson as the likely father of any of Sally’s children. In terms
of historical interest, he was a very minor figure. Most Jefferson biographers mention
him only in passing, if at all. Their only concern with respect to Sally Hemings and her
children was presumably whether the Callender allegations were true. Finding the story
implausible, they tended simply to accept the stories attributed to Jeff Randolph that
the Carr brothers had confessed to paternity and moved on to other issues. Once they
were convinced that the allegations against the President were false, the details of Sally
Hemings’ life were of no greater interest to them than those of Randolph Jefferson’s
life.

Nevertheless, it is not true that Randolph’s name has never come up in connection
with Sally’s children. To begin with, there are oral history accounts of families from
the Monticello area asserting that Randolph fathered Sally Hemings’ children. Rebecca
Lee McMurry, whose ancestors grew up near Monticello and purchased pieces of china
at the “great sale” following Jefferson’s death that have been handed down through the
generations, has sworn in an affidavit103 that when Professor Brodie’s book appeared
in 1974, she (McMurry) was told by her mother that the “yellow people” at Monticello
were the offspring of Randolph Jefferson. This, at least was the oral tradition of her
family.

A similar account was reportedly provided by a caller named “Diane” on a February
23, 1999, radio call-in program. “Diane” asserted that she was “skeptical” about the DNA
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104. WAVE (105.1 FM Radio), February 23, 1999, hosted by Janet Parshall.
105. While accounts passed down reflecting the opinions of third-party observers (whether eye-

witness accounts or based merely on local gossip or speculation) may not be tarnished by a desire to
further the image of a particular family, they may well suffer from other biases (including racial prej-
udice), and such observers may have less interest in carefully recording factual details than might a
family member.

106. E-mail from Lucia Stanton to Bob Turner, Mar. 26, 2001, 4:09 PM, RE: Pearl Graham.
107. Pearl M. Graham to Julian P. Boyd, Jan. 11, 1958, a copy of which is on file with the writer.

reports, because “my father is an amateur historian who grew up by Monticello, and my
father told me right off the bat, that it was not Jefferson, it was his brother.”104

Like all allegations based upon oral tradition, these statements do not come close to con-
clusively establishing the facts alleged. However, in one sense,105 it can be argued that
these accounts may be inherently more reliable than the oral traditions of families who
have a vested interest in portraying their own ancestors in a positive light. At any rate,
they are not offered here to “prove” that Randolph Jefferson fathered any of Sally Hem-
ings’ children, but to suggest that the allegation is not merely a desperate, last-minute, af-
terthought effort of Jefferson apologists to mislead the jury.

One of the most interesting discussions of Randolph’s possible paternity is found in a
1958 letter from Pearl Graham to Professor Julian Boyd, at the time the editor of The Pa-
pers of Thomas Jefferson being published at Princeton University. Long before Professor
Fawn Brodie’s book was published, Ms. Graham was convinced that Thomas Jefferson
was the father of Sally Hemings’ children; and she had clearly done some serious research
on the issue—including, allegedly, interviewing two granddaughters of Harriet Hemings.
(Ms. Graham was instrumental in getting the Hemings family to donate a bell to Howard
University that was allegedly given by Martha Wayles Jefferson, on her deathbed, to one
of the Hemings girls.106) Noting the reported physical resemblance of Hemings’ children
to Thomas Jefferson, Graham discussed alternative theories that might explain this result:

Among his paternal relatives, the possibilities could be narrowed down to three,—
his brother, Randolph, and two nephews, Samuel and Dabney Carr. A study of
the known facts about these three convinced me that, while some one of them might
have fathered one of Sally’s children, a liaison advering [sic] well over ten years was
not in the realm of possibility,—and Jefferson’s staunchest defenders have never
charged that Sally was promiscuous. A further item would seem to eliminate Ran-
dolph Jefferson: one of Harriet’s granddaughters had told me that Jefferson’s
younger brother “also” had colored children. Had it been the younger, instead of
the elder, brother, who was her own ancestor, she would probably have known of
some tradition to that effect. Moreover, if ‘Tom’ was not a figment of Callender’s
imagination, no one save Jefferson could possibly have been the father.107

I do not know how reliable this information is. At minimum, it clearly shows that Ran-
dolph Jefferson was being discussed as a serious alternative to Thomas Jefferson for the
paternity of Sally Hemings’ children four decades before the DNA tests were made pub-
lic, even by a source who was clearly persuaded that the President was the father. It may
be noteworthy that Randolph Jefferson was mentioned before two of the three Carr broth-
ers (for some reason Peter Carr was not mentioned), and given a more extensive consid-
eration in the process. One cannot help but note the irony in her suggestion that if [Uncle]
Randolph were the father there would probably be “some tradition to that effect.”

It is also unclear to me whether Pearl Graham’s “source” for the allegation that Ran-
dolph Jefferson had “colored children” by his own slaves (a woman named “Kenny” who
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108. E-mail from Lucia Stanton to Bob Turner, Mar. 26, 2001, 4:09 PM, RE: Pearl Graham.
109. Id.
110. Annette Gordon-Reed, “The Memories of a Few Negroes,” in Sally Hemings and Thomas

Jefferson 251 (Jan Ellen Lewis & Peter S. Onuf, eds. 1999). Professor Gordon-Reed’s frustration
with the burden of trying to support the claim of a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship with foot-
notes citing credible sources is understandable, but the implication that “novelists” and “poets” are prefer-
able to sound scholarly writings in the search for the truth is a bit bizarre.

111. The clever title comes from the fact that when Thomas Jefferson moved his remarkable dou-
ble-sided clock from Philadelphia to Monticello and installed it over the entranceway, the weighted
chains that drove it were too long; so Jefferson cut holes in the floor to allow the weights to travel into
the basement. As the weights moved downward during the week, Jefferson marked off lines on the
wall indicating the current day of the week, but the “Saturday” mark is found in the basement (where
slave children might have been found). It was the playwright’s intent to symbolize that slavery itself,
along with women’s and minority rights, was left in the basement of the elegant American system.

claimed to be a descendant of Sally’s daughter Harriet) was who she claimed to be; but
Lucia Stanton of the Thomas Jefferson Foundation informs me that she finds Ms. Gra-
ham’s “work on the Hemings descendants in the 1940s” to be “very very interesting,” and
concludes that “there seems no reason to doubt the Kenny sisters’ connection somehow
with Monticello, and probably to the Hemings family.”108 The charge — attributed to
Hemings family descendants—that Randolph Jefferson had “colored children” of his own
is noteworthy, as Ms. Graham and the Kenny sisters did seem to have a great deal of in-
formation about the matter, and one of their apparent goals was to convince people that
Thomas Jefferson was the father of Sally Hemings’ children. While certainly not “proven,”
the allegation that Randolph had “colored children” seems as strong as much if not most
of the “evidence” being relied upon by the revisionists. It arguably makes Randolph Jef-
ferson an even stronger candidate for Eston’s paternity.

Monticello’s Lucia Stanton asserts that the Kennys “were raised as part of the Char-
lottesville African-American community,” and since Madison Hemings alleged that Har-
riet had settled into a white community, Ms. Graham may have erred in her conclusions
about their ancestry. Ms. Stanton concluded this discussion by writing: “[M]y view is that
Pearl Graham did some very good work, but sometimes got carried away by her enthusi-
asms. Her papers at Howard and at Alderman have been of great use to us in our work at
Monticello.”109

There is at least one other very interesting pre-DNA-test assertion that Randolph Jef-
ferson might have been the father of Sally Hemings’ children. Writing in Sally Hemings
and Thomas Jefferson, Professor Gordon-Reed suggested that the truth about Thomas Jef-
ferson would be more likely to emerge from artists than from scholars:

In the end, it will probably be left to novelists, playwrights, and poets, unen-
cumbered by the need for footnotes, to get at the ultimate meaning of this story.
That effort, done in the right way, will yield universal truths as important and
real as any to be found in history books.110

There is more than a little irony to this comment, as an award-winning playwright and
producer in North Carolina addressed this issue in her play Saturday’s Children.111 Pro-
fessor Karyn Traut (wife of Scholars Commission member Professor Thomas Traut) first
became interested in writing a play about “Tom” Jefferson, the slave child made famous
by James Callender, after reading and being deeply moved by Professor Fawn Brodie’s
1974 book, Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History. Assuming the story of a Jefferson-
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112. For an excellent summary of this story, see Catherine House, Which Jefferson?, Endeavours
(“Research and Creative Activity • The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill”), Spring, 2002,
at 18–20.

113. See Statement of Playwright Karyn Traut, infra at p.331.
114. For example, although nothing in Thomas Jefferson’s surviving letters or memorandum

books suggests that Randolph was at Monticello during the summer of 1802, in the fourth volume
of his Pulitzer Prize-winning biography Jefferson scholar Dumas Malone documents that among the
many visitors to Monticello that summer was the President’s brother Randolph. Dumas Malone,
Jefferson the President: First Term 167 (1970).

115. In a letter to daughter Martha written from Monticello on January 22, 1795, Jefferson noted
that he and Maria were “in hopes soon of a visit from my sister Anne.” The Family Letters of

Hemings relationship to be true, she spent seven years researching Jefferson in prepara-
tion for writing her play, which was first produced in 1988.112

As she explains in a narrative prepared at my request and (also at my urging) appended
to the Individual Views of Professor Thomas Traut that appear later in this volume, Professor
Karyn Traut concluded from her research that Professor Brodie had “thrown out the pieces
of the puzzle that didn’t fit her model. . . .”113 She concluded that Thomas Jefferson was not
the father of Sally’s children, and found the most likely suspect to be brother Randolph.

I would add only that Professor Traut — a Berkeley-educated transplant from Cali-
fornia — is no “conservative” bent on upholding the image of Thomas Jefferson or other
dead white males at all costs. She happily confesses to being a “liberal Democrat,” and
indeed attributes her ability to revise her initial judgment to her open-minded liberal-
ism. I have not seen her play, but from the script and contemporary press clippings, it
was clearly anything but “conservative” in its “four-dimensional” approach. Ms. Traut
made use of sculpture, puppetry, and a musical mix combining African drums with
harpsichord. One of the two actors portraying Thomas Jefferson was an African-Amer-
ican (which earned playwright Traut recognition in the 1992 Aetna Calendar of Black
History).

Again, the point here is not that Karyn Traut’s play was inevitably correct in its con-
clusions (although it has been praised by historians for its accuracy), but rather to demon-
strate that the suggestion that Randolph Jefferson might have fathered one or more of
Sally Hemings’ children did not originate in response to the 1998 DNA studies.

Why Randolph Jefferson Is a Good Candidate for Paternity of Eston Hemings

It is not my position that Randolph Jefferson fathered Eston Hemings. We simply do
not know who Eston’s father was, and I suspect we never will with any certainty. But
several pieces of evidence about Randolph make him highly relevant to our inquiry —
and in my view make him a much stronger candidate for the paternity of Eston Hem-
ings than President Thomas Jefferson from among the roughly two dozen other possi-
ble candidates.

First, we have the issue of opportunity. Was Randolph near Sally Hemings when Eston
was likely conceived? While it is generally assumed that Randolph was a regular visitor to
Monticello, such routine visits by close relatives were apparently not thought remarkable
enough by Thomas Jefferson to make note of them in his various record books.114 In-
deed, throughout his life, although Randolph may well have made the twenty-mile trip
to see his brother and other family members at Monticello several times each year,115 there
are only four visits actually documented in Thomas Jefferson’s surviving records — each
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Thomas Jefferson 133. Jefferson routinely used the word “sister” to refer as well to his “sister-in-
law,” and this may have thus been a reference to brother Randolph’s wife Anne Lewis. We can only spec-
ulate about why she was mentioned, whether Randolph and the children would come with her (or were
already at Monticello), and other details.

116. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 2. Cynthia Burton informs me that she has confirmed other
visits on Jan. 15, 1790, in January 1795, on April 22, 1797, and on April 21, 1808.

117. If Thomas Woodson was Sally’s child, he was apparently born in 1790.
118. Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother 19–21. See also, Monticello Report, Ap-

pendix J at 2.
119. Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother 21.
120. Deposition of Thomas Jefferson, Sept. 15, 1815, Jefferson Papers at University of Virginia.
121. I am indebted to Richard H. Crouch for this observation.
122. Cynthia Harris Burton, Jefferson Vindicated 57–58 (2005).
123. See, e.g., Fraser D. Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection?, 57(1) William & Mary Q.

205 (Jan. 2000).

of these because of some business that was transacted in connection with the visit.116 This
is not “proof” that Randolph and his family only visited every five or ten years, but rather
an indication that his visits were considered so routine as to not be noteworthy.

In part because a fire at his Snowden home destroyed virtually all of Randolph Jeffer-
son’s papers, there are few surviving letters between Randolph and Thomas Jefferson. In-
deed, for the period 1792 to 1808, during which Sally Hemings conceived all of her known
children at Monticello,117 there remain only three letters, all from the year 1807.118 How-
ever, one of those letters is ironically of great importance to the present inquiry. 

On Wednesday, August 12, 1807, Thomas Jefferson concluded a letter to Randolph
(see Figure 11 on the next page) by noting: “Our sister Marks arrived here last night and
we shall be happy to see you also.”119 This was a reference to the arrival at Monticello of
Randolph’s twin sister, Anna Scott Marks. We know that Randolph was a frequent visi-
tor to Monticello, that he was fond of his twin sister, and also that he tended to be very
deferential to his famous brother and to follow his guidance on most matters.120 August
was also a good time for him to visit because the fields would have been plowed and the
crops would have been planted, but it was not yet harvest time.121

We simply do not have surviving records to know with certainty whether or not Ran-
dolph made the trip in August 1807. Indeed, the language “we shall be happy to see you
also” is sufficiently ambiguous to be either an invitation to visit or merely notice that his
sister had arrived so that an already agreed-upon trip could be made. We do know that
Randolph had promised to deliver grass seed to Monticello about this time.122 Given Ran-
dolph’s known love for his sister and his established deference to his older brother, in the
absence of some reason to assume he did not make the trip, it would seem reasonable to
treat the surviving letter as shifting the presumption in favor of such a visit — especially
since there is no letter of “regret” informing Thomas Jefferson that for some reason Ran-
dolph could not make the short trip. 

Let us speculate (in the absence of solid evidence) that it took two days for the letter to
make the twenty-mile trip, and Randolph received it around Friday, August 14. Or per-
haps it arrived on Monday, August 17. Perhaps Randolph (and, presumably, his family)
departed immediately, or perhaps they needed a day or more to prepare for the trip —
which took less than a day. Give or take ten days or so each way, it is estimated that Eston
Hemings was conceived around August 27 or 28.123 It was common for such visits to last
weeks at a time, and thus, if Randolph made the trip, he (and his sons) would likely have
been at Monticello during most and perhaps all of the “conception window” for Eston
Hemings. 
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Figure 11. President Jefferson invited his younger brother Randolph to visit Monticello
about ten days before the only Hemings child linked by DNA to a Jefferson father was
conceived. Randolph and his five sons would have carried the same Y chromosome de-
tected in 1998 DNA tests of a descendant of Eston Hemings, and Randolph was documented
by former Monticello slave Isaac Jefferson to have spent his evenings at Monticello danc-
ing “half the night” with his brother’s slaves. See page 228. Reproduced courtesy of Spe-
cial Collections, University of Virginia Library.

124. Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother 19.
125. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 2.

Does this letter of invitation constitute “proof” that Randolph Jefferson was at Mon-
ticello when Eston Hemings was conceived? Certainly not. But Thomas Jefferson’s other
surviving letter to Randolph from 1807 expressed the hope of seeing his brother at Mon-
ticello during his spring visit,124 and the Monticello Report concedes that similar invita-
tions were presumably extended in previous years.125 In this instance, Randolph had not
only the enticement of being able to see his older brother but also his visiting twin sis-
ter. Again, given his known fondness for his sister and his propensity to follow his
brother’s advice, the existence of the letter ought to create a presumption that Randolph
Jefferson probably was at Monticello during at least part of the time when Eston was likely
conceived.
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126. Id.
127. Consider, for example, the already mentioned sworn affidavit that Thomas Jefferson pro-

vided on September 15, 1815, in connection with a dispute over Randolph’s will. He wrote: “That
the testator [Randolph] was always in the habit of consulting this deponent [Thomas Jefferson] in all
cases of importance respecting his interests, and he knows of no such case in which he did not con-
sult him, except that of his last marriage. . . .”

128. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 2.
129. Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother 24.
130. Six months earlier, Jefferson had included a general invitation that Randolph “pay us a visit

here with my sister” (the designation he used for his sister-in-law). Id. at 23.
131. Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother 26.
132. Id. at 27.
133. Id. n.3.
134. Id. at 28.
135. Id. at 30.

The Monticello Report takes a different tack, noting (correctly) that “A search of visi-
tors’ accounts, memorandum books, and Jefferson’s published and unpublished corre-
spondence provided no indication that Randolph did, in fact, come at this time.”126 Of course,
relying on this approach would lead us to believe that Thomas Jefferson’s brother, who
was clearly both fond of and highly dependent127 upon the President, only made the
twenty-mile trip from Snowden to Monticello four times in his entire life. 

The Monticello Report adds that the correspondence between the Jefferson brothers
“also suggests that Randolph Jefferson may not always have acted on these invitations.”128

That is almost correct. In June of 1810, Randolph explained that “I should of bin over
before this but have bin very much put to it to git Iron to make an axiltree to my Gigg and
have not got any yet[.]”129 So Randolph clearly was explaining why he had not visited, but
it is not at all clear this was in response to a specific invitation he had recently130 received. 

In September of 1811, Thomas Jefferson wrote to tell Randolph that their sister Martha,
the widow of Dabney Carr and mother of Peter, Samuel, and Dabney, had passed away
and had been buried beside her husband.131 The letter made no specific reference to Ran-
dolph visiting. A month later, Randolph replied to express his extreme sorrow at the death
of their sibling, and added “Would of bin over but it was not raly in My power,” explain-
ing “I have Just Got over a very severe tack of the Gravil”132 — presumably referring to
kidney stones.133 Here again, this is presumably not really declining an invitation to visit
Monticello, but rather a sua sponte explanation of why he had not visited in the recent past.

The final example occurred early in 1812, when, on January 14, Thomas Jefferson
wrote to inform Randolph of the demise of their brother-in-law, Hastings Marks, and to
let him know that his twin sister, Anna Scott Marks, was now living at Monticello, “but
in very low health indeed, and scarcely able to walk about the house.”134 Unlike the 1807
letter referring to their sister, Jefferson made no specific reference to hoping Randolph
would soon visit — quite possibly because January was the middle of winter. At any rate,
on February 8, Randolph replied:

As soon as the roads gits in good order we Will come over I expect it will be the
last of next Month or the first of april, I am Very sorry to hear of My sister Marks
low state of health, but hope she Will recover after a little time after the weather
Gits a little Warmer, if My health should continue to keep as it is I will endeav-
our to come over next Month.135

So, in none of these examples did Randolph Jefferson clearly decline a specific invita-
tion from Thomas Jefferson to visit Monticello in the immediate future. More im-
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136. In fairness, we certainly cannot rule out the possibility that such letters once existed.
137. Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother 32.
138. Id. n.1. Assuming that is correct, it does not prove that Randolph was the father of any of Sally

Hemings’ children. But the excessive use of alcohol has been linked to adventuristic or reckless sex-
ual behavior.

139. See, e.g., Thomas Jefferson’s letter to Randolph of January 11, 1789—on the eve of the French
Revolution — which began “The occurrences of this part of the globe are of a nature to interest you
so little that I have never made them the subject of a letter to you.” Id. at 13.

portantly, not a single one of the surviving letters from Randolph Jefferson to his
brother even arguably constitutes an “acceptance” of an invitation to visit. True, as
Randolph got older, his health was bad, or winter weather made travel difficult, he
did mention these things to explain why he had not recently visited and might not be
able to do so for a while longer. This strongly suggests, among other things, that Ran-
dolph was normally a regular visitor to Monticello and that he may not have formally
“accepted” invitations to visit in writing when he was able to make the trip without sig-
nificant delay. 

Note also Randolph’s use of the plural we in the sentence that includes “we Will come
over. . . .” This suggests the (already logical) conclusion that when Randolph Jefferson vis-
ited Monticello, his normal practice was to bring his family. This is significant, because
if he did so at the time Sally Hemings conceived Eston, it would likely have added an-
other four Jefferson males to the scene who, if for no other reason than the fact they were
in the prime of their sexuality, must be considered more likely to have fathered a child than
the sixty-four-year-old Thomas Jefferson. This will be discussed in a moment.

How should we interpret the lack of a written response from Randolph following
Thomas Jefferson’s invitation to visit Monticello of August 12, 1807? Again, there is not
a single example of Randolph ever writing when he was coming to Monticello in response
to such an invitation.136 There were no telephones, the mails could be slow, and the sim-
plest response to such an invitation would have been to pack up the family and travel to
Monticello. However, especially knowing that his sister was there and presumably hop-
ing to see him, there would be far more logic in sending a “regrets” note if he could not
make the August 1807 visit. Ultimately, the absence of information in this situation does
not “prove” anything — especially since there may once have been a reply that has not
been preserved. But the most probable explanation if Randolph did not write is that he
packed up the family and traveled to Monticello — probably completing the short trip
well before a posted letter would have arrived to announce his intentions.

We have as well in Randolph’s letters to his brother suggestions that he may have had
a drinking problem. For example, in a letter written on Thomas Jefferson’s sixty-ninth birth-
day (although Randolph does not mention it) in 1812, Randolph adds “I have not put a
drop of any kind of spirits in My Mouth since I saw you.”137 In a footnote to this sen-
tence, editor Bernard Mayo observes that it might indicate that Randolph “may have had
a drinking problem.”138

Isaac Jefferson’s Memoirs of a Monticello Slave

So it would seem at least “more likely than not” that Randolph Jefferson (and quite
likely his sons, since this would be a family social visit) were present at Monticello in Au-
gust 1807. What would he have done there? We have good reason to believe that he had
little interest in science or world affairs,139 and thus he probably would not have found great
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140. Id. at 3.
141. Helen Cripe, Thomas Jefferson and Music 27–31 (1974). See also, Sandor Salgo, Thomas

Jefferson: Musician & Violinist 29–30 (2000).
142. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 2.
143. Id. at 3.

pleasure in sitting around the big house after dinner listening to his brilliant brother en-
tertain other visitors with accounts of travels, government affairs, or new theories of sci-
ence. Perhaps he would take his leave after dinner and seek pleasure elsewhere on the
mountain?

Fortunately, we need not speculate on this point, as we have reliable eyewitness testi-
mony. In 1847, Charles W. Campbell recorded a lengthy narrative from former Monti-
cello blacksmith Isaac Jefferson. Later published under the title Memoirs of a Monticello
Slave, this important document provides the following explanation of Randolph Jeffer-
son’s after-dinner behavior while visiting Monticello: “Old Master’s brother, Mass Ran-
dall [sic], was a mighty simple man: used to come out among black people, play the fiddle
and dance half the night; hadn’t much more sense than Isaac.” 

Isaac Jefferson clearly thought very highly of Thomas Jefferson and had no apparent
reason to fabricate this account. He confirms the prevailing wisdom that Randolph was
a man of limited intellectual capacity, and his account is not that he once witnessed Ran-
dolph playing his fiddle for the slaves, but that this was apparently a common occurrence.
Add to this the likelihood that Randolph was at Monticello when Sally Hemings con-
ceived Eston; consider too the reports attributed to descendants of Harriet Hemings that
Randolph had “colored children” of his own; and keep in mind as well that Randolph
was a dozen years younger than the sixty-four-year-old President (who was presumably
entertaining guests at the mansion while brother Randolph “fiddled” with the slaves); and
the case for Randolph’s paternity of Eston would seem to strongly outweigh that for the
President’s. This certainly does not prove that Randolph Jefferson was Eston Hemings’
father. But when you add in the fact that Eston’s descendants for generations passed down
the story that Eston was the son of an “uncle” rather than Thomas Jefferson himself, the
case that “Uncle Randolph” was Eston’s father gets even stronger. 

Given the outlandish speculation (discussed previously) that Sally’s boys must have
been fathered by Thomas Jefferson because some of them played the fiddle, it might be
noted that Randolph Jefferson “took violin lessons from Francis Alberti, who had also
instructed Thomas.”140 But, unlike President Jefferson’s passion in his adult years for the
violin, Randolph was apparently fond of the kind of “folk” fiddle music that was popular
among Monticello slaves. Furthermore, as noted in Chapter Nine, Thomas Jefferson’s
ability to play the violin was seriously impaired by his 1786 wrist injury in Paris and sub-
sequent rheumatism, and by the time Madison and Eston were old enough to learn to
play, Jefferson seldom played.141 Thus, all of these rather frivolous arguments about fid-
dle playing would apply with at least equal if not greater force to place paternity on brother
Randolph. In reality, however, there were enough fiddle-playing slaves at Monticello that
the fact that some of Sally’s children developed similar skills is evidence of nothing remarkable.

How does the Monticello Report deal with the eyewitness account by former slave Isaac
Jefferson that Randolph Jefferson was fond of socializing at night with Monticello slaves?
With but a single sentence: “Since Isaac Jefferson left Monticello in 1797, his reference
probably predates that year, and most likely refers to the 1780s, the period that is the sub-
ject of the majority of his recollections.”142 From this, we are told, “Isaac Jefferson’s ob-
servation most likely relates to the period of Randolph Jefferson’s youth.”143
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144. The Monticello Report estimates that Randolph Jefferson’s youngest son was born circa 1789
(id. at 3), and given the stress of childbirth in that era that may well have led to the death of Randolph’s
wife. All we really know is that she died sometime between giving birth to James and Randolph’s re-
marriage in 1808 or 1809. See Thomas Jefferson and His Unknown Brother 4. Randolph seems
to have produced children about every second year until about 1789 (Monticello Report, Appendix J
at 2–3), and the lack of any further children might suggest that his first wife either died around 1790
or perhaps was rendered incapable of producing children because of complications from childbirth.
We are not likely ever to know the details.

145. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 3.
146. Bear, Jefferson at Monticello, Genealogical Table A, following page 24.
147. Id. at 22.

Randolph’s youth? Even if one accepts the Monticello Report’s assumptions, by the end
of the 1780s Randolph Jefferson was a thirty-four year old married man. When Isaac left
in 1797, Randolph would have been at least forty-six (and still married). The surviving
records are so incomplete that we do not know when his first wife, Anne Jefferson Lewis,
died; but it was between 1789 and 1808, and thus most probably before Eston Hemings
was conceived in late 1807.144 (To its credit, the Monticello Report acknowledges that “[t]he
dates of Randolph’s widowhood also may coincide with Sally Hemings’s childbearing
years. . . .”145 ) So even if Randolph’s practice of socializing with Monticello slaves was pri-
marily witnessed by Isaac during his thirties when Randolph was married, by what logic
should we assume that as a fifty-two-year-old widower in August 1807 he would behave
differently? On the contrary, one might expect that the lack of a spouse might make him
feel less constrained about partying with his older brother’s slaves.

Nor is it at all clear that Isaac’s observations were restricted to the 1780s. He clearly re-
mained at Monticello until 1797, when Randolph was forty-two, and the fact that his
Memoirs focused heavily upon events from an earlier time does not suggest that his ob-
servations of Uncle Randolph’s behavior somehow ceased years before he left Monticello.
One would normally assume the contrary.

Furthermore, there were several “Isaacs” at Monticello, and tracking them individu-
ally is not always a simple matter. Former Monticello Resident Director James A. Bear
asserts that the Isaac whose Memoirs were later published was deeded to Jefferson’s daugh-
ter Maria (Polly) in 1797, “but was soon returned to the Monticello family.”146 Add to this
that Isaac himself claimed that he “left Monticello four years before Mr. Jefferson died,”147

and it is quite possible that his observations of Randolph Jefferson’s behavior extended through
the birth of all of Sally’s children. 

It is not necessary to resolve this issue, because it strains credulity, in the absence of
the slightest bit of evidence, to assume that a Randolph Jefferson who would frequently
socialize with Monticello slaves “half the night” while a married man in his thirties and
forties would cease doing so as a widower in his early fifties. And anyone attempting to
argue that age might be a factor must address the reality that Thomas Jefferson, one of
the alternative suspects, was a dozen years older and the record is totally devoid of the
slightest hint from eyewitnesses that he enjoyed socializing at night with Monticello
slaves.

The Eston Hemings Family Oral History

This issue has been addressed in Chapter Eight, but may warrant a brief mention here.
Until Professor Brodie convinced them they were descendants of Thomas Jefferson, the
descendants of Eston Hemings had been told by their parents and grandparents that they
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148. Brodie, Thomas Jefferson 440.
149. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 2–3.
150. Id. at 3. I say “probably,” because they give his year of birth as “c. 1789,” and Eston was not

conceived until late August of 1807. Thus, if James was born between January and late August of
1789, he would have been eighteen when Eston was conceived.

151. I am aware of no reliable records giving a date of birth for James Lilburne Jefferson. How-
ever, on February 18, 1816, he complained in a letter to his famous uncle that the court would not
allow him to collect his inheritance until he chose a guardian. (Original letter in University of Vir-
ginia Library.) Had he been born in the year the Monticello experts estimate, he would have been
about twenty-six by 1816, when he alleges he needed a guardian to handle his legal affairs. This
could still have been the case had he been mentally incompetent to handle his affairs, but there is no
suggestion of that, and his penmanship is far superior to that of his father. Tax records suggest that
he did not pay property taxes before 1818, which may also suggest (but certainly does not prove)
that he was born after 1789. Genealogist Cynthia Harris Burton, who provided me with the above
information, believes James was probably not born before 1796–97. On the other hand, his letter of
February 18, 1816, makes references to a desire to get out of a rental agreement with a Mr. Thomas
for a ferry — suggesting that he may have had legal capacity to enter into contracts at that time. The
point is not critical to our inquiry but, given the uncertainty, I am inclined to exclude James as a se-
rious candidate for Eston’s paternity. If Ms. Burton is correct, this would presumably also undermine
the argument that Sally Hemings began having children shortly after the death of Randolph’s first
wife. I am also indebted to Rebecca L. McMurry for providing me with a photocopy of the Febru-
ary 18 letter.

152. Bear, Jefferson at Monticello 88 (statement of Edmund Bacon, former Monticello over-
seer).

were descendant from an “uncle” of Thomas Jefferson. Professor Brodie notes that nei-
ther Madison nor Eston Hemings would have recalled any year at Monticello “without Martha
Randolph in total charge.”148 While Thomas Jefferson’s paternal uncles had been dead for
decades before Eston was conceived, to Martha Randolph and her children the President’s
younger brother was “Uncle Randolph.” Thus, the case for Randolph as opposed to Thomas
Jefferson being the father of Eston Hemings is the most reasonable interpretation of
Eston’s own family oral history.

Randolph Jefferson’s Sons

Finally, we also know that Randolph Jefferson had five sons living with him, at least
four of whom were between the ages of nineteen and twenty-six when Eston Hemings
was conceived,149 and each of whom would have carried the same DNA Y-chromosome
found in the descendants of Eston Hemings. According to the data in the Monticello Re-
port, the fifth brother (James) was at least seventeen and probably eighteen at the time as
well,150 but other information suggests that Randolph’s son James may have been younger
than that151 and thus I exclude him as a likely candidate for Eston’s paternity (although
the odds of a fifteen- or even fourteen-year-old boy fathering a child are probably greater
than those of a man of sixty-four, especially in an era during which the average man did
not even live to see forty).

Given their father’s documented propensity for socializing with Monticello slaves, and
other evidence we have that young men who visited Monticello were sometimes “inti-
mate with the Negro women,”152 Randolph’s sons would also seem to be obvious candi-
dates for the possible paternity of Eston. Yet none of the advocates of Thomas Jefferson’s
paternity of Eston have dealt seriously with the possibility that Randolph or one of his sons
was Eston’s father.
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153. Monticello Report at 9.
154. “[T]hey and their brothers are also unlikely fathers because of their youth and very inter-

mittent presence.” Monticello Report, Appendix J at 3. Once again, we are straying from Occam’s Razor.
The issue raised by the DNA tests is who was the father of Eston Hemings. Only one of Randolph’s
boys was even arguably too young to be a suspect in that matter, and compared with the sixty-four-
year-old President, even a fourteen- or fifteen-year-old would have to be considered seriously. As-
suming that there could only be a single father to all of Sally’s children, in the absence of serious
evidence to justify such an assumption, is precisely what Occam was cautioning us about. While it is
true that Randolph’s boys had an “intermittent presence” at Monticello, to impregnate Sally each time,
one of them would only need to be at Monticello (or wherever Sally was) an hour or less for each
child. Since we do not in most instances know whether or not they were present, we should not ar-
bitrarily exclude them as possible suspects.

155. It is said that “Tom” was born in 1790. It is thus theoretically possible that this could have
resulted from impregnation during the first three months of the year, as Sally returned to Monticello
from Paris with Jefferson at the end of 1789.

156. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 3.
157. A few weeks before his sixty-seventh birthday, Jefferson wrote that he could still ride as far

as forty miles in a single day. Jefferson to Dr. Vine Utley, Mar. 21, 1819, 15 Writings of Thomas Jef-
ferson 186 (Mem. ed. 1904).

158. Technically, in the case of Beverly, the statistical odds are that Thomas Jefferson was not pre-
sent when the child was conceived. However, he arrived three days after the most probable concep-
tion date, and thus remains a serious candidate. Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection? 205.

One might think that, given Thomas Jefferson’s advanced age, the much younger
Randolph or his sons might be thought more likely to father a child. But, while noting
that “Randolph Jefferson’s sons Thomas, in 1800 [age 17], and Robert Lewis, in 1807
[age 20], may well have been at Monticello during the conception periods of Harriet
and Eston Hemings,”153 the Monticello Report simply dismisses them as possible candi-
dates “because of their youth. . . .”154 Apparently, the Monticello Committee members
believed that a sixty-four-year-old was physically more likely to father a child than a
twenty-year-old.

Far more importantly, since Thomas Jefferson did not normally bother to record vis-
its by Randolph or his family in the absence of some special purpose, there is no evidence
that Randolph and his sons were not present when any or all of Sally’s children (save per-
haps “Tom”155) were conceived. We know Thomas Jefferson and his brother Randolph
were close. We know that the primary reason Randolph would visit Monticello would be
to see his brother (although there is one documented case of his going there briefly in
Jefferson’s absence156). Randolph would presumably be most likely to visit shortly after his
brother returned from being away. Sally Hemings got pregnant — on those Jefferson vis-
its when we know she did get pregnant — shortly after Thomas Jefferson arrived home.
The distinguishing feature between those visits by Thomas Jefferson when Sally did not
become pregnant, and those when she did so within a few weeks of his arrival, might
well have been the presence of brother Randolph, who lived but twenty miles away —
about a half day’s ride by horseback.157

The Issue of the Timing of Sally’s Conceptions

Much has been made of the fact that Thomas Jefferson may158 have been at Monticello
every time Sally Hemings conceived a child. But there are some other issues of timing we
might want to consider:
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159. W. C. L. Ford et al., Increasing paternal age is associated with delayed conception in a large
population of fertile couples: evidence for declining fecundity in older men. 15 (8) Human Reproduc-
tion 1703 (2000). A more recent study in the same professional journal seems to confirm this con-
clusion: “Perhaps the most interesting result from our study is the observed decrease in fertility with
male age, beginning in the late 30s.” David B. Dunson, Bernardo Colombo & Donna D. Baird, Changes
with age in the level and duration of fertility in the menstrual cycle, 17(5) Human Reproduction
1399–1403, May 2002.

160. W. C. L. Ford et al., Increasing paternal age is associated with delayed conception in a large
population of fertile couples: evidence for declining fecundity in older men. 209 (8) Human Repro-
duction 1703 (2000).

161. Childbirth was one of the most common causes of death for women in this age group. While
the Monticello Report speculates that James Lilbune Jefferson, Randolph’s youngest son, was born “c.
1789,” Cynthia Burton, who has studied the records carefully, believes he was born several years later.
(See Chapter Two.) If Randolph’s first wife Anne died from complications giving birth to James a few
years later, Randolph might well have become a widower just in time to father Harriet I. Then again,
Anne could have lived even longer (and perhaps died from some other cause or from the birth of a
child who did not survive), and Harriet I could have been fathered by one of the Carr brothers. All
we can do is speculate in the absence of serious evidence. The point is that there are lots of other pos-
sibilities without assuming that Thomas Jefferson had to have fathered all (or any) of Sally’s children.

162. We know that Randolph was almost certainly not married when he wrote his May 28, 1808,
will (since no mention is made of a wife), but he does mention his new wife’s brother in a letter to
Thomas Jefferson in December 1809.

163. See, e.g., 2 Schachner, Thomas Jefferson 923. (“Randolph’s second wife, whom he had
married without consulting his brother, proved extravagant and a shrew. Poor Randolph fell under
her domination, had to sell lands to pay her debts and finally, on his brother’s advice, informed the
local merchants that she was to receive merchandise only on his written order. Thereupon she forged
the orders. Thus harassed, Randolph quietly died in 1815.”)

• During the first decade of his first marriage, Randolph Jefferson managed to fa-
ther a child by his wife approximately every second year. Assuming that she was
pregnant for the normal nine months, and assuming a reasonable period during
which she was lactating and thus unlikely to conceive, it appears that Randolph
was very successful at quickly fathering children.

• A recent study reported in Human Reproduction159 shows a statistically significant
correlation between an increase in a man’s chronological age and a decrease in his
fecundity, or ability to father children within a given period of time. While this study
dealt with younger men, there is no reason to believe the correlation does not
continue — and indeed perhaps become more significant — with age. Thus, all
other things being equal, a younger man like Randolph Jefferson would likely be
able to more quickly impregnate a woman than his sixty-four-year-old brother.
Give or take some number of days because of statistical variations in the length of
the human gestation period, Sally conceived four out of five children within less
than a month160 after Thomas Jefferson returned home (an event that presumably
triggered a flood of visits from friends and relatives).

• We do not know when Randolph’s first wife died, but it could easily have been a
year or two before Sally had her first child.161 We do know that he remarried in 1808
or 1809,162 and that his second wife was by most accounts a controlling, abusive,
“shrew”163 —quite possibly the kind of woman who would not tolerate having her
husband wander down to the slave quarters for a night of socializing during fam-
ily visits to Monticello.

The year 1809 is particularly important as a transition year:
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164. Obviously, if he were Sally’s sexual partner she could have told Madison that his father was
“Thomas Jefferson” without making a false statement.

165. Monticello Report, Appendix J at 3.
166. By using the singular “lover” here I do not mean to exclude the possibility that her children

had more than one father—a possibility whose likelihood is as difficult to quantify as is the monogamy
possibility, given the scant evidence available.

• Thomas Jefferson retired from government and returned to Monticello full time,
where he could presumably have access to Sally Hemings every single night if he
so desired;

• Randolph Jefferson had recently remarried, and thus may have been either forced
to adjust his social behavior or simply found less urge to seek companionship else-
where now that he had a wife at home;

• Randolph’s twenty-seven-year-old son, Thomas Jefferson, Jr.,164 also married in
1808; and

• Sally Hemings had no more known children, even though she was only in her
mid-thirties.

Is all of this a coincidence? Perhaps. But then again, perhaps not. As the Monticello Re-
port acknowledges, “The dates of Randolph’s widowhood also may coincide with Sally
Hemings’s childbearing years. . . .”165

What about the Numerous Times When Thomas Jefferson Returned
Home and Sally Hemings Did Not Become Pregnant?

There has been a great deal of speculation about the fact that Sally Hemings became
pregnant four times within roughly a month of Thomas Jefferson’s return to Monticello.
But Thomas Jefferson made more than twenty trips to Monticello during the years
1794–1808, and there is information that Sally became pregnant within weeks four times
and possibly a total of six times. (If one includes Thomas Woodson or another child born
in 1790, then all of Jefferson’s visits between 1790 and 1795 without Sally becoming preg-
nant must also be considered.) 

Some of the non-productive visits can be explained by the fact that Sally was already
pregnant or had recently given birth. But many cannot. This suggests that there may
have been two variables involved in determining when Sally Hemings became pregnant.
First, Thomas Jefferson had to come home, because that was the occasion when his
friends and relatives were most likely to visit Monticello. (During his presidency, Mon-
ticello was kept shut up during his absence.) But that is not enough. And one very log-
ical explanation for the fact that Sally became pregnant within weeks during some of
Thomas Jefferson’s visits, but on other occasions did not become pregnant even when he
remained at Monticello for many months, is that the other variable—her actual lover166 —
was someone who visited Monticello often, but not every time that Thomas Jefferson
returned home.

There is no proof that this is in fact what happened. But it has the virtue both of ex-
plaining Sally’s pattern of pregnancies, while at the same time being fully consistent with
the eyewitness testimony of Edmund Bacon that he often saw a man other than Thomas
Jefferson leaving Sally Hemings’ room early in the mornings.
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167. Cynthia Burton informs me that she has found evidence Sally left Monticello by April 1790
with Martha and/or Maria, who spent the summer visiting relatives at various Virginia locations in
the Richmond area before returning to Monticello. An October 1790 letter from Maria to Thomas Mann
Randolph suggests that she and Sally were still in Cumberland County.

Where Was Sally?

Finally, it should be noted that the revisionists simply assume that Sally Hemings must
have been at Monticello every day between her return from Paris in 1789 and Thomas Jef-
ferson’s death in 1826. They do this because there is no clear evidence she was elsewhere
at any given time. And they may be right. Certainly the safest assumption, given what
little we know, is that she was at Monticello on any given day. But we have no clear evi-
dence she was always there, and indeed there are years in which there are no references
to her even existing.

This is an area where further research may well be warranted, although I am not at
all optimistic that records exist to resolve the issue. We know that during periods of
construction at Monticello, Jefferson’s family members occasionally went elsewhere to
live, taking slaves with them.167 We know that Thomas Jefferson kept slaves at various
different properties. And we know that historian Henry Randall claims to have inde-
pendently confirmed the statement attributed to Martha Randolph that Thomas Jeffer-
son and Sally Hemings could not have seen each other for fifteen months prior to the
birth of one of her children. After his return from Paris, we have reliable information
that Thomas Jefferson was never away from Monticello for fifteen straight months. Ergo,
the most likely explanation — if the “fifteen months” statement was in fact made, and
if it was true — is that during at least part of that period Sally Hemings had to have been
elsewhere.

If someone could confirm Randall’s alleged “finding,” that would presumably make it
clear that Thomas Jefferson could not have fathered all of Sally’s children. Once the as-
sumption of monogamy is disposed of, the case against Thomas Jefferson pretty much
collapses to the very suspect allegations of James Callender, the problematic 1873 hearsay
attributed to Madison Hemings, and the even more dubious account attributed to Israel
Jefferson.

Candidly, I had tentatively concluded that the simplest explanation for this appar-
ent discrepancy was that Henry Randall was simply not telling the truth. He wrote a
quite good three-volume Life of Jefferson, but if he honestly believed that the Callen-
der charges were false, one might envision him deciding to “recall” a nonexistent doc-
ument to try to put the story to rest. But I no more like to assume that Henry Randall
was intentionally misrepresenting the truth than I do Madison Hemings, Israel Jef-
ferson, or anyone else. And there are some reasons to believe that Randall was telling
the truth.

To begin with, the fact that Randall did not include the story allegedly told to him by
Jeff Randolph in his own book (assuming, of course, that Randall did not simply fabri-
cate the story years later for his letter to Parton) suggests that he could have made a far
stronger defense of Jefferson than he did were that his goal. The story told to Parton is
in turn supported by Ellen Coolidge’s earlier letter asserting that her brother (Jeff) had
told her the Carr boys had admitted paternity and also asked her to keep it confidential.
I was not comfortable with merely assuming that Henry Randall was not truthful, so I looked
a little more carefully at some of the dates.

turner 12 turner view 10 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 234



10 · EVIDENCE TOO QUICKLY DISMISSED? 235

168. It is a fairly simple matter to posit any of a number of Jefferson’s visitors as having possibly
fathered any one or two of Sally Hemings’ children. Once we insist (without the slightest bit of evi-
dence other than a statement attributed to one of her sons, who could not possibly have known that
his mother was, in fact, monogamous) that every one of her children had to have a common father,
suspicion obviously is directed at potential fathers who were regularly at Monticello year after year.

Eston Hemings was reportedly born on May 21, 1808. Fifteen months prior to that would
have been in February of 1807. Thomas Jefferson left Monticello on October 11, 1806, and
returned for about a month from April 11 to May 13, 1807. He returned again on August
5 of that year, and Eston was probably conceived towards the end of that month. He re-
turned again on May 12, 1808, and presumably was still there on the date Eston was born.

One does not have to assume that Sally was away from Monticello for fifteen months.
Had she been away for any reason for as much as four to six months, if those absences
happened to coincide with Jefferson’s two visits, they might not have seen each other —
but it would have been for more like eighteen months, not fifteen. That cannot be the an-
swer if Randall’s statement is correct. If Jefferson’s records of his own visits to Monticello
are accurate (and there is no reason to doubt them), it is difficult to reconcile Henry Ran-
dall’s statement with facts that seem to be reliable.

I even considered whether the passage of years might have confused Randall, and per-
haps the statement was really that Jefferson and Hemings had been separated for fifteen
months prior to the conception of Eston. That works better, because if Sally had been pre-
sent at Monticello when Jefferson left on May 13, 1807, and then had gone elsewhere and
remained away through Eston’s conception, the period would round out to about fifteen
months. We have virtually no information about Sally Hemings during this period, and
just as one can thus argue “there is no evidence she was not at Monticello” it could also
be said “there is no evidence she was at Monticello” during those two critical visits. But
there is, in fact, neither reason to assume Sally was not at Monticello nor to assume that
Henry Randall misstated Martha Randolph’s alleged comment about a fifteen-month sep-
aration. Occam would presumably tell us it is simpler to assume that Randall was not
telling the truth in this instance.

There is yet a third possibility (aside from the possibility that the child in question was
not Eston at all), and that is that at some point Sally Hemings was sent away for a fif-
teen-month or longer period. Maria (Polly) died long before Eston was born, and Martha
normally returned to Monticello with her father, so we cannot simply assume Sally was
sent to serve one of the daughters. However, it is possible that Sally went to live at Edge-
hill for a year or two during Jefferson’s presidency, and Martha did not bring her back when
she returned with the children during her father’s occasional visits to Monticello.

One original member of the Scholars Commission expressed an interest in doing fur-
ther research at Jefferson’s Poplar Forest retreat; however, we know that Jefferson visited
“Bedford” in September 1807 — presumably shortly after Eston was conceived, but over-
lapping the projected conception window. So if Eston was the child who most resembled
Thomas Jefferson, discovering evidence at Poplar Forest that Sally Hemings was there for
an extended period would not solve the puzzle.

I am not optimistic that detailed evidence of Sally’s whereabouts during these relevant
years, if it ever was recorded, will be found. It may be an issue worthy of further inquiry
by a patient scholar, since if Sally was indeed absent from Monticello for a fifteen-month
period prior to the birth of any of her children, that could prove to be very important in-
formation in bringing this controversy to an end. The circumstantial case is largely
premised upon the assumption of monogamy.168 But until such evidence is found, my
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Ergo, Thomas Jefferson becomes the most likely suspect. By similar reasoning, if a police officer in-
vestigating a series of robberies at a convenience store over a number of years were to note that none
of the witnesses speculated about whether the robber they observed might have been different from
the perpetrator(s) of previous robberies (when the same witnesses were not present), and from that
information ruled out the possibility of multiple robbers, the odds are good that he would soon arrest
the store proprietor as the only individual known to have been present during every crime. To use an-
other example, over the years we have had several pens, purses, and even a few laptop computers
stolen from the University of Virginia law library. It is doubtful that many of the victims speculated
that the unknown individual who took their property was responsible for specific other thefts as well.
But if we assume that there can be only one thief for all of the stolen property, over a period of a
decade, that would pretty much rule out students (who graduate after three years) and point suspi-
cion to long-term library employees or administrators. The assumption that Sally Hemings could not
have had more than one father to her children is precisely the kind of unwarranted assumption that
Occam cautioned us against.

own inclination is to discount the double-hearsay account Henry Randall attributes to
Martha Randolph through her son Jeff — or at least to give it little probative weight. Per-
haps the statement was made and the facts were confirmed by Henry Randall. Perhaps some-
one was lying in an effort to protect Jefferson’s reputation. It is not in my view necessary
to resolve the matter, because there is a wealth of other, more credible, data that make it
easy for me to reach the conclusion that it is highly unlikely that Thomas Jefferson fa-
thered Eston or any other Hemings child.
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The “Silent Dogs” and 
Other Issues Ignored by 
Most Revisionist Scholars

Inspector Gregory: “Is there any point to which you would wish to draw my
attention?”
Sherlock Holmes: “To the curious incident of the dog in the night-time.”
Inspector Gregory: “The dog did nothing in the night-time.”
Sherlock Holmes: “That was the curious incident.”

—Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, Silver Blaze, in 
The Complete Sherlock Holmes 347 (1992).

In the first nine chapters, I have sought to identify and analyze all of the key argu-
ments offered by revisionist historians in support of their conclusion that Thomas Jefferson
fathered one or more children by Sally Hemings. Chapter Ten looked in greater detail at
evidence they acknowledge to exist, but may have dismissed a bit prematurely. This chap-
ter will briefly consider two other issues:

• the absence of evidence that ought to exist if the allegations against Thomas Jef-
ferson were true; and

• the improbable assumptions one must accept in order to conclude that the alle-
gations are true.

The Missing Evidence that Ought to Exist

First is the issue of what I call the “silent dogs.” Just as Sherlock Holmes found it “cu-
rious” that the stable dog did not bark in the night when a stranger allegedly caused a
great commotion, if a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship lasted for decades, as we are
asked to believe, we ought to find evidence from at least one of the hundreds if not thou-
sands of visitors who were in a position over the years to observe happenings in Paris and
at Monticello. The Callender accusations first published on September 1, 1802, spread
quickly around much of the United States and eventually to Europe as well. Surely, many
of the visitors to Monticello had heard the charges and would be alert to any evidence of
such a relationship. Anyone who had observed suggestive behavior in Paris might also
have been prompted by the Callender stories to record it.
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1. Joshua D. Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum Vir-
ginia, in Sally Hemings & Thomas Jefferson 88 (Jan Ellen Lewis & Peter Onuf, eds. 1999).

2. See Chapter Nine.
3. William Howard Adams, The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson 47 (1997).

There Is Not a Single Credible Eyewitness Account from Paris or
Monticello of a Jefferson-Hemings Sexual Relationship

University of Alabama Professor Joshua Rothman, a believer in the Jefferson-Hem-
ings story, writes:

[T]he evidence of racial mixing at Monticello must have been quite obvious,
and no matter how discreet he was, Jefferson could not have hidden it from
guests. The children of his relationship with Sally Hemings also would be visi-
ble to visitors. As a member of the Virginia gentry, Jefferson knew of similar af-
fairs carried out in supposed secrecy and likely understood that he could never
hide every clue or quash every rumor.1

Professor Rothman, who wrote his Ph.D. on race relations in antebellum Virginia, is cer-
tainly right. It is extremely unlikely that Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings could have
carried on a love affair for decades without anyone being suspicious. Both in Paris and
when Thomas Jefferson was home at Monticello, he normally was surrounded by visi-
tors. And yet, beyond fantasies about the intended recipient of an inexpensive locket2 and
comparable silliness, there is no contemporary evidence from the period 1787 through
Jefferson’s death in 1826 recording a single witness alleging having observed so much as
a suggestive glance, a passing caress, or even close proximity at an unusual hour, between
Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings.

Is It Reasonable to Assume that Thomas Jefferson Could Have
Carried on a Decades-Long Sexual Relationship with Sally Hemings
without Leaving a Single Witness or Piece of Contemporary
Evidence?

Given the circumstances of his life, it is very difficult to reconcile this total absence of
such evidence with the allegations of a long-term sexual relationship. Both in Paris and
at Monticello, Jefferson was usually surrounded by very intelligent people — many of
them virtual strangers, who had no apparent reason to cover up things they might have
seen that might otherwise be considered newsworthy gossip—and it is inconceivable that
this relationship occurred without a single one of them witnessing a single thing to sug-
gest that it was going on.

Thomas Jefferson Had Little Privacy in Paris,  and Sally Was
Probably Not Living with Him

In The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson, historian William Howard Adams tells us that
Thomas Jefferson’s residence in Paris had “a steady but unpredictable stream of guests,”
and “served as a boardinghouse for visiting Americans.”3
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4. Id. at 221–22.
5. Joshua D. Rothman, James Callender and Social Knowledge of Interracial Sex in Antebellum Vir-

ginia, in Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 87.

Professor Adams discusses the Sally Hemings story and his own assessment of the like-
lihood of the affair:

Despite the attention she has received from historians, Sally Hemings remains a
shadowy presence in the envoy’s life. . . . Apart from nine notations in Jefferson’s
Memorandum Book recording purchases of clothing, her servant’s pay, and a fee
for smallpox vaccination, Sally Hemings is completely absent from the Paris
record. We know nothing of her living arrangements or duties at the rue de
Berri. . . . Given her lack of training and education, it is difficult to imagine how
Sally fitted into the arcane hierarchy of French servants, although she did man-
age to learn some French. She was known to at least one of Polly Jefferson’s class-
mates at the convent, and there has been reasonable speculation that she acted
as maid for Jefferson’s girls while they were in school. . . . 

On purely practical grounds, it is difficult to see how Jefferson could have kept
an affair with Sally Hemings secret. The Hôtel de Langeac was a relatively small,
semipublic establishment always open to visitors: the second floor had only two
bedrooms in addition to the large oval room where the minister worked and
slept. William Short was a full-time resident, houseguests regularly put up, and
Patsy and Polly also lived at the rue de Berri during their last six months in Paris.
The daily traffic of visitors, tutors, guests, and servants has not left a single shred
of evidence of the putative liaison.4

Like Sherlock Holmes’ silent dog, if Thomas Jefferson and an immature teenaged servant
were in fact regularly engaging in a sexual liaison in the fishbowl existence of his life,
there ought to be at least some eyewitness evidence. There is none.

There is also a serious issue of opportunity here. Revisionists from Brodie to Gordon-
Reed simply assume that when Sally came to Paris she remained at the Hôtel de Langeac
with Thomas Jefferson when the two young girls she was supposed to be waiting upon
went off to the convent. Other than the fact that classmates at the convent knew Sally, there
is no clear evidence one way or the other. But that does not mean the odds become fifty-
fifty. Is it logical that Patsy’s and Polly’s maid would not bother to accompany them to a
boarding school that was well equipped to house servants? The presumption would nor-
mally be that the maid would follow her mistresses, but that makes it much more difficult
to support Madison Hemings’ and James Callender’s allegations against Thomas Jefferson.

When Thomas Jefferson Was Home Monticello Was Usually 
Crawling with Potential Witnesses

As noted in Chapter Ten, when Randolph Jefferson visited Monticello he was fond of
spending his evenings among the slaves, playing his fiddle and dancing half the night.
That presumably gave him considerable opportunity for sexual encounters as well.

In contrast, as has already been noted in Chapter Five, “It was his [Jefferson’s] wont
throughout his life to entertain large numbers of guests, and a constant stream of visi-
tors made its way to Albemarle County to call whenever he was at Monticello.”5 The ques-
tion necessarily arises, if this relationship continued over a period of decades at Monticello,
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6. 3 Henry S. Randall, The Life of Thomas Jefferson 672 (1858).
7. Jefferson at Monticello 28 (James A. Bear, Jr., ed. 1967). See also, id. at 111. (“Mr. Jefferson

always had a great deal of company.”)
8. Id. at 126 n.48.
9. Id. at 23.

10. Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 131 (1997).
11. Quoted in Sarah N. Randolph, The Domestic Life of Thomas Jefferson 403 (1871).
12. The Family Letters of Thomas Jefferson 458.
13. Once the Slave of Thomas Jefferson: The Rev. Mr. Fossett, of Cincinnati, Recalls the Sage of Mon-

ticello—Reminiscences of Jefferson, Lafayette, Madison and Monroe, The World (New York), Jan. 30,
1898, at 33.

14. Jefferson at Monticello 12. Isaac added that he had personally visited Jefferson’s library
“a thousand times” over the years. Id. at 18.

why did not a single person leave behind so much as a scrap of paper recording some ob-
servation supporting the relationship?

Grandson Thomas Jefferson Randolph wrote that at Monticello Jefferson was “sur-
rounded” by his family, “who saw him in all the unguarded privacy of private life” and “be-
lieved him to be the purest of men.”6 Edmund Bacon’s account of the “swarms of visitors
that well-nigh ate up all his substance and consumed his life”7 at Monticello led James Bear
to wonder whether Jefferson “ever dined alone.”8 Slave Isaac Jefferson, in Memoirs of a Mon-
ticello Slave, speaks of the “great many carriages at Monticello at a time. . . .”9 Professor Gor-
don-Reed acknowledges that Jefferson “entertained lavishly” at Monticello, “receiving,
housing, and feeding dozens of guests at a time” in a “home that was being run like a hotel.”10

Jefferson’s personal physician wrote, “I had the curiosity to ask Mrs. Randolph what
was the largest number of persons for whom she had been called upon unexpectedly to
prepare accommodations for the night, and she replied fifty!”11 Ellen Randolph Coolidge
complained to her famous grandfather about “how much you are harassed and oppressed
by the crowd of strangers who think themselves privileged to waste and misuse your time,
intruding upon you at all hours, and sacrificing your comfort, and even health without
reflection and without remorse. . . .”12

The Reverend Peter Fossett, son of freed Monticello slave Joe Fossett, told a writer
from the New York World in 1898 that at “Monticello, we always had the house full of
company. Not only did Jefferson’s own countrymen visit him, but people from all parts
of Europe came to see his wonderful home.”13

Jefferson was a conscientious host, and he would have been unlikely to leave dinner com-
panions to fend for themselves while he slipped down to Sally’s room for a little after-
dinner romance. While brother Randolph was fiddling and dancing with slaves, Thomas
Jefferson would be entertaining his numerous visitors with stories of political intrigue in
Washington or perhaps stories from his years in Paris. Could he have slipped out after oth-
ers had gone to bed, or had Sally sneak into his room? That is certainly possible, but,
given the lack of privacy at Monticello, it is highly unlikely this could have gone on night
after night, year after year, decade after decade, without a single person discovering one
of them sneaking through the corridors at an odd hour.

There were occasions when Jefferson demanded privacy, and nearly every day he re-
treated to his study to read, think, and keep up his immense correspondence. Isaac re-
called: “When he was a-writin’ he wouldn’t suffer nobody to come in his room.”14 But
there were reportedly exceptions, as Edmund Bacon writes:

All the time I was with him I had full permission to visit his room whenever I
thought it necessary to see him on any business. I knew how to get into his room
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15. Id. at 84.
16. 3 Randall, The Life of Thomas Jefferson 671.
17. Milton E. Flower, James Parton: The Father of Modern Biography 237 (1951).
18. The full text of this insightful interview can be found on the PBS web page at

http://www.pbs.org/jefferson/archives/interviews/Jordan.htm. Dr. Jordan has more recently con-
firmed to me that he and other Monticello scholars agreed that “it was certainly possible for indi-
viduals on the second floor to have overheard voices or singing below.” E-mail from Dan Jordan to
Robert F. Turner, Feb. 18, 2002, 8:59 AM, Subject: “Three Requests,” a copy of which is in the writer’s
possession.

at any time of day or night. I have sometimes gone into his room when he was
in bed. . . . 

Mrs. Randolph. . . . was always busy. . . . She used to sit in Mr. Jefferson’s room a
great deal and sew, or read, or talk, as he would be busy about something else.15

Thomas Jefferson Randolph wrote of his grandfather: “His private apartments were open
to me at all times. I saw him under all circumstances.”16 Describing a conversation with
Jeff Randolph, Henry Randall wrote to James Parton:

He said Mr. Jefferson never locked the door of his room by day: and that he (Col.
Randolph) slept within sound of his breathing at night. He said he had never
seen a motion, or a look, or a circumstance which led him to suspect for an in-
stant that there was a particle more of familiarity between Mr. Jefferson and Sally
Hemmings [sic] than between him and the most repulsive servant in the estab-
lishment—and that no person ever living at Monticello dreamed of such a thing.17

Consider also the more recent assessment of Dr. Daniel Jordan, president of the Thomas
Jefferson Memorial Foundation, in an interview for the Ken Burns film on Jefferson that
aired on Public Broadcasting in 1997:

He was also totally devoted to his family and he had eleven grandchildren living
with him. And one of the granddaughters lived essentially directly above him. She
heard everything. She heard him when he got up in the morning and sang Scot-
tish airs and the like. . . . There are no secrets on a plantation, certainly not at
Monticello. And his family, to whom he was totally devoted, completely dis-
counted this possibility [that he was sexually involved with Sally Hemings].18

One cannot rule out the possibility that all of these people were lying, but that is not the sim-
plest or most reasonable explanation. Given the very little privacy that Thomas Jefferson
had during most of his adult life, it is noteworthy that not a single friend or visitor left any
hint of having seen anything to support the Callender allegations. Were they true, we should
have a wealth of eyewitness accounts at least hinting at the relationship from the thousands
of people who passed through Jefferson’s home in Paris and at Monticello over the decades.
The absence of such evidence is not conclusive of anything, but it does provide support for
the proposition that James Callender was not telling the truth and that the “relationship” be-
tween Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings was nothing more than master and slave.

Problems with Some Implicit Assumptions 
of Revisionist Scholars

To accept the revisionist argument that Thomas Jefferson had a decades-long sexual re-
lationship with Sally Hemings that began in Paris and produced one or more children, we
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19. To mention but one example, Jefferson inherited debts  to English creditors from his mother
and his father-in-law. Under the Virginia sequestration law passed during the Revolution, many promi-
nent Virginians—including the Lees, the Marshalls, Patrick Henry, and Edmund Pendleton—elected
to discharge sterling debts with greatly depreciated paper currency. Writing to one of his father-in-
law’s creditors, Jefferson said: “What the laws of Virginia are, or may be, will in no wise influence my
conduct. Substantial justice is my object, as decided by reason, and not by authority or compulsions.”
As a matter of principle, Jefferson refused to take advantage of legal loopholes that would have per-
mitted him to significantly reduce the indebtedness that haunted him all of his life. See The Debt to
Farell & Jones, in 15 Papers of Thomas Jefferson 642 (Julian P. Boyd, ed. 1958).

20. “I shall often go wrong through defect of judgment. When right, I shall often be thought
wrong by those whose positions will not command a view of the whole ground. I ask your indul-
gence for my own errors, which will never be intentional; and your support against the errors of oth-
ers, who may condemn what they would not if seen in all its parts.” Thomas Jefferson, First Inaugural
Address, Mar. 4, 1801, reprinted in, 3 Writings of Thomas Jefferson 323 (Mem. Ed.1903).

21. This is not to suggest that such a relationship would have not also been “out of character” for
Sally Hemings, as the reality is we know virtually nothing about her character. Nor, for that matter,
is there any reason to assume she would have believed she had any voice in the decision had Thomas
Jefferson actually made sexual advances towards her.

must make certain assumptions about Thomas Jefferson—assumptions that are in many
cases very much at odds with the information we do have about our third President.

Jefferson’s Character

Foremost among these, in the eyes of many Jefferson scholars over the years, has been
the belief that Thomas Jefferson was a man of remarkably high character.19 He was a
human being, and like all human beings he was imperfect and prone to error — a reality
he readily acknowledged.20 But many have long believed that he was far better than most
of us in living up to the strong moral standards he repeatedly expressed to his daughters
and others.

For example, when Dr. Jordan was interviewed for the Ken Burns video, he asserted
that the alleged sexual relationship between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings would
be “totally out of character” for Jefferson,21 and concluded that it was “morally impossi-
ble for that relationship to have occurred.”

Similarly, Professor Winthrop Jordan, in his landmark 1968 volume, White Over
Black — winner of the 1969 National Book Award, the Francis Parkman Prize from the
Society of American Historians, and the Bancroft Prize from Columbia University—pro-
vided this assessment of Jefferson’s character and the Callender charges:

In 1802 James T. Callender charged in the Richmond Recorder that it was “well
known” that Jefferson kept Sally, one of his slaves, as concubine and had fathered
children by her. The features of “Tom,” the eldest offspring, were “said to bear a
striking although sable resemblance to those of the president himself.” Callender
was a notorious professional scandalmonger who had turned upon Jefferson
when the president had disappointed his hope for federal office. Despite the utter
disreputability of the source, the charge has been dragged after Jefferson like a
dead cat through the pages of formal and informal history, tied to him by its at-
tractiveness to a wide variety of interested persons and by the apparent impos-
sibility of utterly refuting it. Ever since Callender’s day it has served the varied
purposes of those seeking to degrade Jefferson for political or ideological rea-
sons, of abolitionists, defamers of Virginia, the South, and even America in gen-
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eral, and both defenders and opponents of racial segregation. Jefferson’s con-
duct has been attacked from several angles, for in fact the charge of concubi-
nage with Sally Hemings constitutes not one accusation but three, simultaneously
accusing Jefferson of fathering bastards, of miscegenation, and of crassly taking
advantage of a helpless young slave (for Sally was probably twenty-two when she
first conceived). The last of these, insofar as it implies forced attentions on an un-
willing girl, may be summarily dismissed. . . . Jefferson was simply not capable
of violating every rule of honor and kindness, to say nothing of his convictions
concerning the master-slave relationship.22

Consider also the account attributed to Jefferson’s personal physician, Dr. Robley Dungli-
son, by historian Henry Randall in 1856:

You ask me what where [sic] his private virtues that appeared conspicuous to
all acquaintances?. . . . He was kind, courteous, hospitable to all; sincerely at-
tached to the excellent family that were clustered around him; sympathizing
with them in their pleasures, deeply distressed in their afflictions. I mentioned
to you the scene I witnessed on the approaching death of a grand-daughter,
Mrs. Bankhead. I knew nothing of any private vice of any kind, and never heard
from him a loose or indecorous speech. I would say in your own language, that
he was always in my observation “peculiarly decorous, modest, and decent in
all things.” . . . 

In sum, I had the most exalted opinion of him. I believed him essentially a phil-
anthropist, anxious for the greatest good to the greatest number; a distinguished
patriot, whose love of country was not limited by any considerations of self; who
was eminently virtuous, with fixed and honorable principles of action not to be
trammeled by any unworthy considerations; and whose reputation must shine
brighter and brighter, as he is more and more justly judged and estimated.23

Writing in 1995, Andrew Burstein adds:

Knowing what we do about Jefferson’s Heart and Head, that the first made him
generous and the second ruled his actions, it seems highly unlikely that because
light-skinned Sally Hemings bore light-skinned children at Monticello, they nec-
essarily were fathered by Monticello’s master. Moreover, Jefferson would have
been uncharacteristically imprudent to be responsible for giving Sally Hemings
the two children that she bore in the years after the charges surfaced, while he
remained President.24

With the release of the DNA evidence, Burstein became a revisionist. But even then, he
acknowledged that “[t]o today’s historian, Jefferson’s writings and action are irreconcil-
able. . . .”25

The most prominent post-DNA convert to revisionism was Professor Joseph Ellis, who
had previously noted that “the alleged relationship with Sally Hemings . . . defies the dom-
inant patterns of his personality.”26 He wrote that Jefferson’s “idealization of domestic
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bliss as the ultimate source of his personal happiness was certainly sincere,”27 and that
after the death of his wife he would “rather be lonely than vulnerable.”28 In Professor Ellis’
view, “[i]n the long run the head prevails”29 for Thomas Jefferson.

Even after the DNA evidence had been released and Professor Ellis had shifted to a
leadership position of the revisionist movement, he acknowledged that the Hemings story
could not easily be reconciled with the known information about Jefferson’s character.
He found an explanation by drawing a comparison between Thomas Jefferson and William
Jefferson Clinton. As reported by the New York Times: 

“I thought it would have been unduly reckless of Jefferson to have continued the
relationship when under scrutiny,” Dr. Ellis said, “but we recently have had rea-
son to recognize that Presidents of the United States are perfectly capable of that
degree of recklessness.”

Dr. Ellis also noted that the character of Jefferson as it emerges from his volu-
minous correspondence makes it extremely hard for readers to believe he would
have had an illicit relationship of any kind.

“The more you immerse yourself in the Jefferson papers,” Dr. Ellis said, “the more
difficult it becomes to imagine a liaison between Jefferson and Sally Hemings. It’s
ironic, the more grounded you are, the more likely you are to get this wrong.”30

Professor Brodie also acknowledges Jefferson’s remarkable self-control and his apparent
unwillingness or inability to display emotions he thought coarse. She wrote:

Callender’s praise had an intellectual quality that Jefferson must particularly have
enjoyed when it was directed toward himself, but his vituperation had a kind of
demonic brilliance that may have attracted Jefferson even more. So rigorous was
his own self-discipline, he probably found in Callender’s explosions of hate vic-
arious relief from the rages he could not himself express. Callender printed about
his enemies that which he could not himself say even in private and which he may
not have permitted himself even to think.31

Indeed, a reading of Jefferson’s “love letters” from some of the several women he clearly found
attractive in Paris and thereafter strongly suggests that his “self-discipline” was a source of
occasional frustration to them, as his gentlemanly manners may have precluded more in-
timate relationships they would have welcomed. Many have speculated about the nature
of Thomas Jefferson’s relationship with Maria Cosway, Angelica Church, and others fol-
lowing the death of his wife Martha; but there is no persuasive evidence that any of them
went beyond warm friendship, mutual affection, and elaborate flirtation.32 Discussing Jef-
ferson’s views on extramarital sex as of 1789 (the year that Sally Hemings is alleged to have
conceived “Tom”), William Howard Adams writes in The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson:

To Jefferson, such extramarital affairs were a sign of moral decay, a blot on the
otherwise near-perfect vertu of French society. Like a frontier preacher from
the Piedmont, he was constantly taking the higher ground in letters to Amer-
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ican friends. “Intrigues of love occupy the young, and those of ambition, the
elder part of the great,” he wrote disapprovingly to Carlo Bellini, professor of
modern languages at William & Mary College. “Conjugal love having no exis-
tence among them, domestic happiness of which that is the basis, is utterly un-
known.”33

Returning to this theme again in a later chapter, Adams writes that:

Temptation was an inescapable part of the glamorous, libidinous society of
Paris. For the French in the late eighteenth century, adultery was a class issue,
hardly a political or social problem. To Jefferson, however, such moral lapses
reflected the corruptions of despotism and privilege; even marital infidelity
could be traced to France’s odious system of government rather than to any in-
nate human flaw. . . . Lacking what a later age would call firm family values,
Parisians cultivated “pursuits which nourish and invigorate our bad passions, and
which offer only moments of ecstasy amidst days and months of restlessness
and torment.”34

Consider also this account by Monticello President Daniel Jordan, from his interview for
the 1997 Ken Burns film:

I think ultimately with Maria Cosway and in so many other instances, the Head
prevails [with Jefferson]. There’s a rationality and a kind of a controlled reason
with Jefferson that, more times than not, would win out over raw emotion. He
was a man of great discipline and great self-control.”35

It might be added that Jefferson was a remarkably forgiving man. Discussing Jefferson’s
final years, grandson Thomas Jefferson Randolph asserted:

In speaking of the calumnies which his enemies had uttered against his public
and private character with such unmitigated and untiring bitterness, he said that
he had not considered them as abusing him; that they had never known him.
They had created an imaginary being clothed with odious attributes, to whom
they had given his name; and it was against that creature of their imaginations
they had leveled their anathemas.36

Perhaps Thomas Jefferson’s character and self-restraint were not nearly so strong as most
contemporary accounts, and the assessments of most Jefferson scholars until very re-
cently, would have us believe. Sadly, it is no longer difficult for Americans to believe that
an American President could succumb to the temptations of the flesh with a much younger
woman. But even if we assume that was the case, and that Thomas Jefferson, like so many
other men, could not resist sexual temptation, as the intriguing and popular American
minister to France he was clearly in great demand socially; and, equally obviously, he
could have had his pick of some of the most beautiful and talented women in France. As
a bachelor, little obvious approbation would have attached had Thomas Jefferson been seen
in the company of almost any unmarried adult woman in Paris. To find sexual release, Jef-
ferson did not have to violate his strongly held principles against the sexual exploitation
of slave women or to place at risk his reputation with his daughters and friends. And that
raises a related but also distinct issue.
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Jefferson’s Investment in His Reputation

The revisionists not only ask us to accept the Callender charges, but also to recognize
that Thomas Jefferson was not nearly so special as we have long liked to believe. He was,
they tell us, not only a hypocrite, but “just a typical southern slave owner” in the words
of Professor Gordon-Reed.37

So let us assume, for the sake of discussion, that Thomas Jefferson was essentially an
evil, self-centered, hypocrite. Whether that is true or not, it cannot be denied that, ap-
parently unlike some of his contemporaries,38 he was incredibly invested in promoting
and preserving a reputation as being among the most honorable of men. My distinguished
Scholars Commission colleague Professor Paul Rahe, who is far more critical of Thomas
Jefferson than are some of us, writes in his Dissenting Views that Thomas Jefferson “cared
far more about his future reputation than about anything else. . . .”39 I suspect this may
overstate the case slightly, and that Jefferson’s love of his family and his country may have
exceeded his desire to be remembered fondly by future generations. But one cannot doubt
that his concern for his public image was immense — to the point that modern psychia-
trists might well label it a serious character flaw if not a personality disorder.40

In January 1793, while serving as Secretary of State in Washington’s cabinet, Jefferson
wrote to his daughter Martha that he had planned on retiring and returning to Monti-
cello, but that he had come under some public criticism and several friends had urged him
not to leave. He wrote:

Among these [arguments] it was urged that my return just when I had been at-
tacked in the public papers, would injure me in the eyes of the public, who would
suppose I either withdrew from investigation, or because I had not tone of mind
sufficient to meet slander. The only reward I ever wished on my retirement was
to carry with me nothing like a disapprobation of the public.41

In a letter to Henry Randall, Thomas Jefferson Randolph made it clear that his grandfa-
ther was aware of the consequences that his desire to uphold his public reputation might
have for his family:

He [Jefferson] returned to [Monticello] in his old age to be hunted down by the
reputation he had won in the service of his country. Twelve years before his
death, he remarked to me, in conversation, that if he lived long enough he would
beggar his family — that the number of persons he was compelled to entertain
would devour his estate; many bringing letters from his ancient friends, and all
coming with respectful feelings, he could not shut his door in their faces.42
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Jefferson biographer Samuel Schmucker wrote in 1857 that “[t]he chief fault of this illustrious
man was a pusillanimous and morbid terror of popular censure, and an insatiable thirst-
ing after popular praise.”43 In 1903, Henry Adams added that Jefferson “yearned for love
and praise as no other great American ever did.”44

This is not a point of dispute by most revisionists. Professor Brodie notes that, as Jef-
ferson’s increasing indebtedness drove him closer and closer to bankruptcy, “[t]here were
certain expenditures Jefferson would not reduce, especially the costs of hospitality.” She
adds that:

Even in Paris, when he had written diffidently to Madison about asking Con-
gress to provide him more money so that he could properly meet the social du-
ties of a minister, he would not let Madison press the matter to the point of
angering the congressmen. “I had rather be ruined in fortune,” he wrote, “than
in their esteem.”45

Professor Ellis, among the most distinguished of the modern revisionists, notes that “Jef-
ferson felt every criticism personally,”46 and indeed had a “hypersensitivity to criticism.”47

Or in the words of Thomas Jefferson himself — writing from Paris in 1789, when he was
allegedly in the early stages of a decades-long affair that would have been almost certain
to place at risk his reputation among the public and his own family — “I find the pain of
a little censure, even when it is unfounded, is more acute than the pleasure of much
praise.”48

Accepting Thomas Jefferson’s tremendous investment in his reputation — even if we
assume, for the sake of argument, that his true character was deeply flawed — we must
ask whether such a man would jeopardize that reputation by commencing a sexual rela-
tionship with an immature slave child?

The concern expressed here is not about “race.” To begin with, by all accounts, Sally
Hemings was almost white in appearance, and legally was as close to being white as she
could be without actually being classifiable as white. Indeed, after she was “given her
time” and began living free in Charlottesville, the census taker classified Sally Hemings as
a white woman.

The concern rather is the inherently coercive nature of the master-slave relationship,
plus the fact that Sally was (again by all surviving accounts) very much a “child” when she
went to Paris, while Thomas Jefferson was well into his forties. It is true that females mar-
ried younger on average in that era than today, and the age of consent was twelve, but —
keeping in mind that days before Sally Hemings arrived in Paris, the highly respected
Abigail Adams remarked that Sally Hemings was incapable of caring even for herself and
wanted more “care” than Jefferson’s eight-year-old daughter — is it reasonable to assume
that a man so deeply invested in his public image would entrust that reputation to the dis-
cretion of such a child? Is there a single other incident in Jefferson’s widowhood that sug-
gests he was prone to reckless sexual indiscretions? Not to my knowledge.
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Assuming that the relationship did begin in Paris as alleged, and was exposed to the
world by Callender, would a man so invested in his reputation have continued the affair
thereafter — essentially flouting the public and broadcasting his indiscretion to every
Monticello resident and visitor? Consider the assessment by Professor Ellis, offered just
two years before the DNA evidence led him to reverse his position. After concluding that
the truth of the scandal could not likely be proven by either side in a court of law, and
noting “the flimsy and wholly circumstantial character of the evidence,” Professor Ellis
concludes that “after five years mulling over the huge cache of evidence that does exist on
the thought and character of the historical Jefferson, I have concluded that the likelihood
of a liaison with Sally Hemings is remote.” He explains:

Two pieces of circumstantial evidence strike me as telling: First, Sally’s last two
children, Madison and Eston, were born after Callender’s charges created the
public scandal in 1802, and it is difficult to believe that Jefferson would have
persisted in producing progeny with Sally once the secret had been exposed and
the Federalist press was poised to report it; second, among Jefferson’s contem-
poraries neither Alexander Hamilton nor John Adams, both of whom were po-
litical enemies who undoubtedly enjoyed the sight of their chief adversary being
stigmatized by the kind of innuendo he had spread against them, found it pos-
sible to believe that Callender’s accusations were true. Nor, for that matter, did
Henry Adams, whose critical appraisal of Jefferson’s character established the
scholarly standard for ironic dissection.49

It is very difficult to accept the Callender story, in any of its subsequent versions, with-
out first having to reject everything we know about Thomas Jefferson’s remarkable crav-
ing for public approval.

Jefferson’s Love for His Daughters

In a similar vein, in order to accept the story that Thomas Jefferson became sexually
involved with Sally Hemings in Paris, we must either abandon the abundant evidence we
have that he was a man of remarkable intellect, or question the very evident love he had
for his daughters and his desire to maintain their love and respect. After all, if the Cal-
lender story is to be believed, one of the most offensive aspects of Jefferson’s conduct in
Paris was his carrying on with Sally Hemings “before the eyes of two young ladies.”50 Even
had he wished to keep such a relationship discreet, was he foolish enough to assume that
such an immature child would, or could, resist the temptation to disclose her special new
role to Patsy or Polly?

Thomas Jefferson’s letters are filled with expressions of love for his family. In 1788, al-
legedly in the early stages of his sexual liaison with Sally Hemings, Jefferson wrote: “I had
rather be shut up in a very modest cottage with my books, my family, and a few old
friends, dining on simple bacon, and letting the world roll on as it liked, than to occupy
the most splendid post that any human power can give.”51 And early the following year,
still from Paris, he wrote his brother Randolph that “no society is so precious as that of
one’s own family.”52
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The classic statement of this dilemma is that of Ellen Randolph Coolidge, who asked:

[I]s it likely that so fond, so anxious a father, whose letters to his daughters
are replete with tenderness and with good counsels for their conduct, should
(when there were so many other objects upon whom to fix his illicit attentions)
have selected the female attendant of his own pure children to become his para-
mour? The thing will not bear telling. There are such things, after all, as moral
impossibilities.53

If such a relationship had taken place in Jefferson’s “cabinet” (bedroom/study), Ellen
would likely have learned of it as a child, as her bedroom at Monticello was immedi-
ately above his. She wrote of hearing him frequently singing in the morning hours. Dr.
White McKenzie Wallenborn, who served for many years as a Monticello guide, has
told me that when in the room (now an office) immediately above Jefferson’s chamber
he could easily hear the voice of a tour guide in the room below. Thomas Jefferson
Foundation President Daniel Jordan has confirmed this point to me as well.54 And these
observations were made after Monticello was air conditioned and the windows kept
closed.

We know that Thomas Jefferson was philosophically strongly opposed to sexual com-
merce (intercourse) between master and slave — especially when carried out in a setting
where children might be exposed to it. Among his passionate denunciations of the insti-
tution of slavery in his Notes on the State of Virginia, written on the eve of his travels to
Paris, Jefferson wrote:

The whole [sexual55] commerce between master and slave is a perpetual exercise
of the most boisterous passions, the most unremitting despotism on the one
part, and degrading submissions on the other. Our children see this, and learn
to imitate it; for man is an imitative animal. . . . If a parent could find no motive
either in his philanthropy or his self-love, for restraining the intemperance of
passion towards his slave, it should always be a sufficient one that his child is
present.56

It is virtually inconceivable that Thomas Jefferson would have intentionally exposed his
children and grandchildren to such a relationship, as it would reveal the hypocrisy of all
of his moral teachings to them throughout their lives. Certainly, if he found himself for
some reason unable to resist the charms of young Sally, he would have sought to insulate
their relationship from his family. But he did not. On the ship back from Paris, he insisted
that Sally’s room be convenient to that of his daughters — a reasonable choice if his pur-
pose was to provide a nearby servant for his daughters, but a horrible choice if he hoped
to sneak into her cabin after dark and make passionate love with her, or simply rape her.

As president, even before Callender first wrote of her, Thomas Jefferson did not take
Sally Hemings to Washington. He did visit Monticello once and usually twice every year,
and during some of these visits, Sally Hemings promptly became pregnant. But for each
visit he asked his daughter Martha to bring her family — including nearly a dozen curi-
ous grandchildren — to Monticello to be with him.
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Writing in Jefferson: A Revealing Biography, historian Page Smith (at the time one of
the relatively rare historians to accept the Sally Hemings story) alleged that, because of his
relationship with Sally, Jefferson was relieved when his daughter Martha got married and
moved away from Monticello:

Jefferson’s enthusiasm for Martha’s marriage was certainly not unrelated to the
role of Sally Hemings in his life. He doubtless felt the weight of Martha’s silent
disapproval and was glad to have her out of the house, especially in view of the
birth of Sally Hemings’s son not long after the return to Monticello.57

If the story of a sexual relationship were true, this reaction would seem so intuitive as to
not even warrant comment. But, as with many other parts of this volume, Professor Smith
has totally missed his mark. Not only has the DNA evidence disproved the legend that Thomas
Woodson was the son of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, but Professor Smith’s as-
sumption that Jefferson did not want his daughter Martha around Monticello reflects a
remarkable ignorance of well-established facts to the contrary.

Indeed, Thomas Jefferson Randolph wrote:

If he [President Jefferson] visited home for a week, he came to my father’s to
breakfast and would not leave untill [sic] every member of the family accompa-
nied him. When he left home my father preferring to reside on his own farm
carried his family back. Previous to the close of his presidency he wrote to my
mother to say he had never lived at home without her and never could and she
must prepare for a final removal.58

We know from numerous other documents that Martha did return to Monticello virtu-
ally every time her father ventured home, and that upon his retirement she did move
back to the mountain to be with him. If Sally Hemings were the secret passion of his life,
why would Thomas Jefferson on every occasion insist that his daughter and grandchildren
accompany him to Monticello?

We must also consider the moral character of Martha Jefferson Randolph, whose rep-
utation by all accounts rivaled that of her father. If she knew or believed that her father
was bedding a servant woman, would she have wanted to accompany him back to Mon-
ticello on every visit? Would she have brought her own children and exposed them to
such an environment? None of this makes any sense.

Speaking of the grandchildren, Edmund Bacon tells us that “Mr. Jefferson was per-
fectly devoted to his grandchildren, and they to him.”59 All of the evidence supports that
conclusion. Perhaps Thomas Jefferson could have counted on Martha to respect his pri-
vacy by not venturing into certain parts of the mansion and knocking before entering, but
few men engaged in an illicit sexual relationship would make special efforts to voluntar-
ily fill their home with inquisitive children. It makes no sense at all — if one believes the
Callender allegations.

Was it possible that such a relationship could have lasted for decades without Martha
or anyone else being suspicious? That’s really the wrong question, as we must ask whether
a man of Thomas Jefferson’s intellect and judgment—a man constantly concerned about
preserving his reputation — would have believed that the relationship definitely would
(not just “might”) remain secret; and that is a much higher standard.
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On this topic, Professor Brodie is certainly correct when she writes: “only the most
naïve of men could have believed that he could continue to keep a liaison with the slave
girl secret, especially from his daughters.”60 And given his investment in his own reputa-
tion, and his deep love for his daughters and grandchildren, I believe it is inconceivable
that Thomas Jefferson would have engaged in such a relationship.

Professor Gordon-Reed appears to recognize that Jefferson’s love for his family is an
impediment to her theory of a romance with Sally Hemings. She deals with this, in essence,
by saying that the fact that Jefferson was bright does not mean he loved his family any more
than any other slave owner, and there were other slave owners who had sex with slaves.
Ergo, she implies, this issue is irrelevant. She writes:

The third prong of the character defense purports to debunk the Jefferson-Hem-
ings liaison by citing Jefferson’s love for his children and grandchildren as hav-
ing been too great to have allowed for such involvement. The first thing to
observe about this assertion is that it is not a fact in the sense that Thomas Jef-
ferson was the third president of the United States or that he was the founder
of the University of Virginia could be considered facts. It is a value judgment.
A person making this assertion is revealing his or her own values more than
Thomas Jefferson’s.61

Is this really true? It may be easier to establish the realities of Thomas Jefferson’s election
as President or his role in the establishment of the university, but whether he was telling
the truth or lying when he professed his love to his family is a factual issue rather than
one involving the values of observers.62 If we asked whether it was a good thing that
Thomas Jefferson loved his family, that would be a value judgment. But Professor Gor-
don-Reed continues:

One need not have a detailed knowledge of the character of every master who
ever owned a slave to know that there were slave masters who had slave mistresses
and who at the same time loved their white children deeply. One could argue that
Thomas Jefferson was not every slave master. But are we to consider Jefferson’s ca-
pacity to love as greater than what we would expect from an average person just
because he had the ability to express his love through his many elegantly written
letters to his family? Thomas Jefferson was a genius, but there is no reason to be-
lieve that his genius made the character, depth, and nature of his love for his fam-
ily any greater than those of a person of more modest capabilities.63

Put simply, the reason we recognize Thomas Jefferson’s immense love for his children
and grandchildren is not because we have taken measure of his intelligence, but because
we have numerous accounts of not merely his expressions of love but his physical demon-
strations of that feeling. This has nothing to do with assuming that, simply because he was
intelligent and articulate, Thomas Jefferson must have loved his grandchildren. The hard
evidence of that love is abundant, and for most of us it is compelling. It comes from nu-
merous sources in addition to the letters of Thomas Jefferson. It is extremely difficult to
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reconcile Jefferson’s love for his children and his belief that the sexual exploitation of
slaves was particularly harmful to the master’s children with the idea that he pressured Martha
to bring her family to Monticello while he carried on a sexual relationship with Sally
Hemings.

Jefferson’s Treatment of Madison and Eston Hemings

Every account of Jefferson and his children and grandchildren emphasizes his deep
love and open affection showed towards all of them. And yet, all of the available evi-
dence — including Madison Hemings’ alleged statements printed in the Pike County Re-
publican, and Jefferson’s extensive Memorandum Books (which include only a single
reference to Madison and Eston out of many thousands of entries) — suggests that he
showed no affection at all towards his alleged “colored children.” His only son by his wife
Martha died in infancy, all of Sally’s children were apparently seven-eighths (88%) white
by blood, and all but one or two were reportedly white enough in their physical appear-
ance to pass for white; so it is difficult to understand why Jefferson almost totally ignored
Madison and Eston if they were, in fact, his own sons. Was he so ashamed of his relationship
with Sally over all the decades that he could not bear to look at his own children? He
clearly had a very close relationship with several members of the Hemings family. Was the
Sally Hemings who allegedly confronted and dominated Thomas Jefferson in Paris so
timid once she returned to Monticello that she would tolerate her children being ignored
by their father? None of this makes any sense.

To be sure, one might understand Jefferson’s being discreet in showing affection to
Madison and Eston in front of visitors to Monticello, but surely there would have been
occasions, even if only in the privacy of Sally’s room, that he could hold them on his knee
and show them the love he exhibited to his other relatives and allegedly felt for their mother.
While not conclusive, Thomas Jefferson’s lack of visible affection for Sally’s children must
be considered yet another strong piece of evidence for the proposition that he was not
their father. Indeed, there does not appear to be another explanation that can easily be
reconciled with what we know about Thomas Jefferson and his love for his children.

Jefferson’s Age and Health

Although reliable data are difficult to find, the best estimate is that the life expectancy
for an American male during the years Sally Hemings was producing children was about
thirty-five or thirty-six years.64 Modern medical marvels that prolong quality of life for
added decades did not exist, and life was generally harsh. Viagra did not become avail-
able until 1998. Thomas Jefferson lived a better life than most, and for the era he was a
remarkably healthy man.

But even Jefferson suffered from a variety of medical problems as he grew older, in-
cluding both debilitating rheumatism and intense migraine headaches that often lasted
for weeks. Professor Ellis notes that in April 1776, Jefferson was prevented from return-
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ing to Philadelphia for more than a month because of incapacitating headaches, and that
this was “a lifelong affliction that flared up whenever he felt unduly pressured.”65

On January 1, 1784, Jefferson wrote to James Madison from Annapolis that he had
been in “very ill health since I have been here and am getting rather lower than other-
wise.”66 Two months later, he came down with an attack of migraine headaches that lasted
six weeks and limited his ability to read or write.67

Shortly after arriving in Paris in 1784, Jefferson came down with a severe cold that he
wrote James Monroe had kept him “confined” for nearly six months.68 Another bout with
“very violent”69 migraines struck him shortly after he returned to America, on May 1,
1790, and lasted more than two months.70 On May 28, 1790, Dr. George Buchanan wrote
to Jefferson:

Mr. Sterett has just arrived from New York, and upon enquiring after your health,
he informed me that you had been confined for some weeks past with a period-
ical headache, which would not yield to Bark, and that you had declined the use
of that remedy for some time, in hopes that it would have a better effect when
again repeated.—It frequently happens, Sir in periodical affections that the Bark
fails, and the disease requires something more powerfully antispasmodick to
prevent its return.71

The following year, Jefferson complained of “the almost constant headache with which I
had been persecuted thro the whole winter and spring.”72 This problem, which plagued
him the rest of his life, was “very painful and sometimes rendered him almost immobile.”73

About four months before Sally Hemings is estimated to have conceived her daughter
Harriet I,74 Jefferson began a letter to Secretary of State Edmund Randolph: “Your favor
of Aug. 28 finds me in bed, under a paroxysm of the Rheumatism which has now kept
me for ten days in constant torment, and presents no hope of abatement.”75

Three weeks later, Jefferson added in a letter to Thomas Divers: “I have no prospect of
getting on a horse for a month to come.”76 Jefferson’s health was so poor that it con-
tributed to a three-month period during which “little ploughing was done” at Monticello,
despite “fine” weather.77

Three months after the predicted date of conception of Harriet I, Jefferson wrote to
James Madison: “My health is entirely broken down within the last eight months; my age
requires that I should place my affairs in a clear state. . . .”78

turner 13 turner view 11 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 253



254 11 · INDIVIDUAL VIEWS OF ROBERT F. TURNER ET AL.

79. The Family Letters of Thomas Jefferson 236.
80. Id. at 237.
81. Id. at 302 n.1.
82. Id. at 304.
83. Dumas Malone, Jefferson the President: Second Term 1805–1809 at 143 (1974).
84. Id.
85. Patterson to Jefferson, July 14, 1807, original at the Massachusetts Historical Society. See also,

2 Jefferson’s Memorandum Books 1207 n.16.
86. Dr. Bear has correctly copied the original book, but the context suggests to me that Jefferson

was probably in pain when he walked. The subsequent references to his being “nursed” and trans-
ported by wheelbarrow are more consistent with the interpretation that he was in substantial pain.
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On October 7, 1802, he complained in a letter to Martha of “an excessive soreness all
over, and a deafness and ringing in the head.”79 Eleven days later he wrote to Martha
and Maria about his “rheumatic,” noting that it had “confined me to the house some
days. . . .”80

Five months before Eston Hemings is estimated to have been conceived by Sally Hem-
ings and an unidentified male carrying the Jefferson Y chromosome, President Jefferson
wrote Treasury Secretary Albert Gallatin that his migraines were so painful that he was
“shut up in a dark room from early in the forenoon til night.”81 He complained to Martha
that “neither Calomel nor bark have as yet made the least impression” on the headaches.82

Professor Malone tells us the headaches “lasted from nine to five everyday at first, and
he was not wholly recovered for about three weeks.”83 Malone attributes the headaches
in part to the “great stress of mind” under which the President was suffering during that
period.84

Three months later, the pain from rheumatism in the President’s leg was so intense
that he again sought medical assistance. A letter from Doctor Thomas Patterson, received
by Jefferson on July 14, 1807 — about six weeks before Eston’s estimated conception
date — recommended the use of a vinegar-soaked bandage as “a proper remedy for your
leg, as it would support the vessels & promote absorption.”85

Former Monticello slave Isaac Jefferson provided this account:

About the time when my Old Master begun to wear spectacles, he was took
with a swellin’ in his legs; used to bathe ’em and bandage ’em; said it was set-
tin’ too much. When he’d git up and walk it wouldn’t [sic?86] hurt him. Isaac
and John Hemings nursed him two months; had to car[t] him about on a
han’barrow.87

Jefferson described an attack of rheumatism the following year as being so painful that
he could “scarcely walk, and that with pain.”88

None of this proves that Thomas Jefferson could not have fathered one or more of
Sally Hemings’ children. But it is relevant to our inquiry, and along with the other data
we have, it greatly reduces the probability that Thomas Jefferson was more likely than his
much younger brother or nephews (or someone else) to have fathered Eston Hemings.
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Would Thomas Jefferson Have Entrusted His Reputation
to the Discretion of Sally Hemings?

The only accounts we have of Sally Hemings as she traveled to Paris tell us she was ex-
ceptionally immature and lacked the judgment of an eight-year-old child. As the servant
to Jefferson’s daughters, she was presumably in their presence for hours at a time, day
after day. Again, the issue is not whether Thomas Jefferson would have believed that such
a child might be able to preserve his confidences, but whether he would be certain that
he could entrust his cherished reputation to her discretion.

Imagine for a moment life at the Abbaye Royale de Panthemont. Sally Hemings is a young
slave girl, far from home, required to wait hand and foot on Jefferson’s daughters as they
and their wealthy schoolmates enjoy the finer things of life. If she was wise enough (and
bold enough) to confront the U.S. Minister to France and demand a “treaty,” surely she
would realize that by raising her status from lowly servant to “Daddy’s mistress” in the eyes
of Patsy and Polly, her social standing would improve. De facto “stepmother” is a much
more powerful position than slave or servant.

Thomas Jefferson had a very close relationship with some of the Hemings men who
served as his slaves. He clearly trusted them, gave them considerable discretion, and on
occasion even borrowed money from at least one of them. But he was also cognizant that
servants who overheard his conversations could be sources of rumors and gossip. William
Howard Adams writes in The Paris Years of Thomas Jefferson:

One of the new Parisian fashions that Jefferson immediately adopted—and later
introduced at Monticello and in Washington — was the use of small, individual
serving tables placed between guests in dining rooms, eliminating the need for
servants in the room during the meal. Years later in Washington, Margaret Ba-
yard Smith recalled Jefferson’s remark “that much of the domestic and even pub-
lic discord was produced by the mutilated and misconstructed repetition of free
conversations at dinner tables, by these mute but not inattentive listeners.”89

Was Sally Hemings Thomas Jefferson’s “Type”?

About the only thing we know about Sally Hemings is that she was “handsome” and
“mighty near white.” Certainly she might have been sexually attractive even at age four-
teen or fifteen to many adult men. At one point, both Jefferson’s secretary William Short
and his close friend James Madison had romantic interests in teenaged girls much younger
than themselves.90 But there is no evidence that Thomas Jefferson’s tastes in women were
in that direction.
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But Madison said he learned to read by persuading the white children at Monticello to teach him.
This of course does not prove anything, and conceivably Sally was so busy looking after the personal
needs of the President that she did not have time to help educate her children. But there is not a sin-
gle scrap of paper in existence known to contain her writing or other evidence that she could read or
write.

Indeed, all of the women that we know Jefferson as an adult found sexually appealing
were married or widowed, mature, and — above all else — highly accomplished and tal-
ented.91 In an era filled with impediments to the serious education of women, Jefferson
was drawn to urbane, sophisticated, and above all talented women. His wife Martha, a ma-
ture widow, was an accomplished musician.92 Maria Cosway had been elected to the Flo-
rence Academy of Fine Arts at the age of nineteen, and had exhibited nearly two dozen
paintings at London’s Royal Academy. She was accomplished on the pianoforte and harp,
had a beautiful singing voice, and was a music composer—as well as being an accomplished
linguist.93 Angelica Church was also worldly, witty, and likely far more talented than had
been Martha Wayles. Even Elizabeth Walker, the wife of Jefferson’s friend John Walker, to-
wards whom Jefferson later admitted having made inappropriate advances while a young
bachelor, was a mature married woman.

Andrew Burstein notes that Jefferson had an “intellectual approach” to sexual behav-
ior.94 Professor Ellis refers to his “romantic innocence”95 and “conspicuous gallantry”96

towards women. Assessing Jefferson’s lengthy correspondence with the beautiful and tal-
ented Maria Cosway, Ellis finds it “abundantly clear that Jefferson preferred to meet his
lovers in the rarefied region of his mind rather than the physical world of his bedcham-
ber,”97 and concludes “his deepest urges were more self-protective and sentimental than
sexual.”98

Since we have almost no information about Sally in Paris, we cannot say much about
her with certainty. But the description attributed to Captain Ramsay, and echoed through
the experienced eye of Abigail Adams, is so far from the kind of woman Thomas Jeffer-
son was ever known to find attractive that the Callender allegations are yet further prob-
lematic. As a slave, there is little reason to believe that young Sally had any formal education
or was especially accomplished as an artist, musician, or the like. Indeed, it is notewor-
thy that witnesses like Edmund Bacon and Isaac Jefferson, who described Sally’s relatives
by praising their talents, made not a single suggestion that Sally Hemings had any spe-
cial talents and focused instead on her “handsome” appearance and the fact that she had
once traveled to Paris. The most reasonable reading of Madison Hemings’ 1873 state-
ment strongly suggests that, even as an adult, Sally Hemings could neither read nor write
English, much less other languages.99 And unlike the paternity statements attributed to Madi-
son, his words bearing on Sally’s attainments could have stemmed from direct, first-hand
knowledge.

I have never researched the issue, but Benjamin Franklin is alleged to have had a very
active sex life during his years as Jefferson’s predecessor in Paris. William Howard Adams
writes:
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aid of a tutor James Hemings was unable to communicate in French. Jefferson remarked in a letter
to Anthony Giannini that James “has forgot how to speak English, and has not learnt to speak French.”
Jefferson to Giannini, 5 Feb. 1786, 9 Papers of Thomas Jefferson 252, 254 (Julian P. Boyd, ed. 1954).
See also, 14 id. 426 (1958). If Sally had developed a proficiency with the language, it is reasonable to
assume she would have shown off such a talent at Monticello on occasion and someone like Isaac Jef-
ferson or Edmund Bacon (both of whom recorded talents by other members of the Hemings family)
might have made note of it.

If Henry Adams was right in judging Jefferson’s Paris years his happiest, it had
little connection with the cynical, often risqué era of Franklin’s triumphs. The
fact that the Virginian is rarely mentioned in contemporary French letters and
memoirs, while Franklin turns up regularly, attests to his private, diffident man-
ner. By temperament and by choice, Jefferson distanced himself from the shal-
low, sarcastic wit that defined mondain society. Rather, he took pleasure in
exchanging ideas with the extraordinary array of talented individuals in that tal-
ented age — writers, scientists, artists, philosophers — who thrived in the urban
setting.100

Revisionist scholars seem to acknowledge Jefferson’s obvious preference for women of
talent and intellect, and some attempt to identify such attributes in Sally Hemings.
Princeton history professor Sean Wilentz, for example, wrote in The New Republic: “It
is said that Hemings spoke French and, it seems, could interest her lover from the neck
up, too.”101 The problems with this reasoning include: (1) the only suggestion we have
that Sally had any significant proficiency with the French language comes from the very
problematic 1873 assertions attributed to Madison Hemings, who had no apparent abil-
ity to judge the matter; and (2) assuming a superficial102 ability to communicate in
French in addition to Sally Hemings’ other known attributes does not come close to
placing her in the league of any of the women Jefferson is known to have found sexu-
ally attractive.

Again, as far as we know, Sally could neither read nor write in English, much less com-
municate seriously in any other language, draw, paint, sing, or play a musical instrument.
We have good reason to believe she was “handsome,” and she may have been drop-dead
beautiful, as Hollywood likes to suggest. But Paris was filled with beautiful women, and
even if Sally had not been in daily contact with Jefferson’s daughters (and, most likely,
not even near Thomas Jefferson during most of her Paris stay), yet another reason for
doubting the Callender allegations is that Sally Hemings clearly was not Thomas Jeffer-
son’s “type.”

Why Did Sally Not Confirm the Relationship 
after Jefferson’s Death?

If Sally Hemings was in fact Thomas Jefferson’s lover and confidante, one might ex-
pect that she would take some pride in that relationship. During his life she might con-
ceivably have had the self-restraint not to brag about it, but it is more difficult to accept
that she could live as a free woman in Charlottesville for many years after Jefferson’s death
and not bother to mention this remarkable distinction to anyone.
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Of course, perhaps she did. We do not have records of statements she may have made
during those years, and it is possible that she bragged about her famous lover to everyone
she met. But this would be rather newsworthy stuff, and even if some did not believe her,
one might expect that at least someone who heard her story would put it down on paper.
The “Black Sal” story had been spread across the country, and had Sally confirmed it, she
would presumably have been taken seriously. The absence of any clear record that she ever
confirmed the rumors does not prove anything, and possibly can be explained by other
causes; but it is another “silent dog” that supports the conclusion that the relationship never
existed.

Why Did None of Sally’s Children Confirm 
the Relationship During the Four Decades 

after Jefferson’s Death?

As discussed in Chapter Four, we know that in 1873 an anti-Jefferson newspaper ed-
itor in Ohio published an article alleging that Madison Hemings had told him that Sally
Hemings was his mother and that Thomas Jefferson had fathered all of her children. The
factual errors and other problems with this account have already been discussed.

Madison could not personally have known the identity of his own father or that of the
father of any of his siblings, as he was but two years old when Sally’s last known child
was conceived. Most scholars have assumed that, if he or Samuel Wetmore (the journal-
ist who actually wrote the story) did not simply fabricate the entire matter from the well-
known Callender charges, Madison’s source must have been his mother.

But if Sally Hemings told her children they were President Thomas Jefferson’s chil-
dren — which many revisionist scholars assume103 — why did none of them mention it
to anyone else until Jefferson had been dead nearly fifty years? (Obviously, we cannot be
certain that they did not all discuss it regularly, but given the nature of the claim and the
context of the Callender charges, it would seem likely that if they did discuss this regu-
larly, someone would have mentioned it in a letter or other writing and someone else
would have realized this document was of sufficient historical value to preserve.) Profes-
sor Gordon-Reed admits that Madison Hemings’ statement “is the only known recitation
of the details of this controversial story by any of the parties involved. . . .”104

It is unkind to the “intelligent”105 Madison to suggest that he was not bright enough
to realize that being known as the son of the famous Thomas Jefferson might benefit him.
His friend Israel Gillette — who was the subject of a similar Wetmore article later that
year — readily admitted that his decision to drop the name of his real father and assume
the surname “Jefferson” was done because “it would give me more dignity to be called
after so eminent a man.”106

Brother Eston Hemings went so far as to change his last name to “Jefferson” when he
moved from Ohio to Wisconsin, but, as far as we can tell, he never openly claimed to be

turner 13 turner view 11 auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 258



11 · THE “SILENT DOGS” AND OTHER IGNORED ISSUES 259

107. On one occasion he may at least have encouraged speculation on the subject, but there is no
known instance in which he actually asserted that Thomas Jefferson was his father. See, e.g., Monti-
cello Report, Appendix F at 3; and Lucia Stanton & Dianne Swann-Wright, Bonds of Memory, Sally
Hemings and Thomas Jefferson 173. (“Although it was widely ‘rumored’ in southern Ohio that he
was Jefferson’s son, he is not known to have made an unequivocal statement of his parentage, as did
his brother Madison.”) But cf., Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 211 (“Not
only did Madison Hemings claim to be Jefferson’s son; his brother Eston did as well.”).
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the son of Thomas Jefferson.107 Nor, again, as far as we can tell, did any of the other chil-
dren of Sally Hemings. And this appears to have been true not only in the decades after
Jefferson’s death, but also when they lived at Monticello. The simplest explanation for
this would seem to be that they did not believe they were Thomas Jefferson’s children.

With One Problematic Exception,  Other Monticello Slaves
Did Not Confirm the Allegation

Joshua Rothman wrote his doctoral dissertation on interracial sex in antebellum Vir-
ginia. In Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson, he asserts: “Slaves at Monticello knew of the
association between Hemings and Jefferson and had greater access to details of the rela-
tionship than nearly anyone else.”108 Rothman’s comment is probably valid. But had the
relationship been of a sexual character, one would expect that, following his death, at least
some of Thomas Jefferson’s former slaves would have passed on this remarkable story and
ultimately it would have found its way into written form and been preserved for posterity.

It is thus noteworthy that, with the exception of Israel [Gillette] Jefferson, as an old man
in 1873 and in an account so filled with errors as to suggest either that his memory had
failed him or he was intentionally fabricating his story to support his friend Madison, of
the hundreds of people owned by Jefferson over the years, not a single account survives
in which a slave confirms Madison Hemings’ story. Surely this long-lasting affair, had it
existed, would have been widely known within the slave community. After Jefferson’s
death, most of his slaves were sold and spread across the south. Yet — again, except for
the story attributed to an aging Israel Jefferson — there is not a scrap of paper suggesting
that any of them ever said a word to anyone, even to acknowledge the rumor. 

Some might reason that slaves feared they would be severely punished if they spread
rumors about the sex lives of their masters. Or perhaps they thought it improper to dis-
cuss inter-racial sex with strangers — a social taboo that was not to be mentioned. But
Isaac Jefferson, in his Memoirs of a Monticello Slave, did not hesitate to note rumors within
the Monticello slave community that Sally and some of Betty Hemings’ other children
were the offspring of John Wayles, Thomas Jefferson’s father-in-law.

Again, these “silent dogs” are not conclusive proof of anything. But one would expect
that a decades-long romance between an American President and one of his slave women,
producing numerous children over many years, would be known to other Monticello
slaves. If so, it is reasonable to assume that they would find it noteworthy and, upon mov-
ing to new plantations and making new acquaintances, they would share the rumors with
others, who would find it interesting and pass it along themselves. Somewhere along the
line, someone would put the account down in writing. And the absence of such accounts
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(again, with the exception of Israel Jefferson’s problematic story) is yet another bit of
“non-evidence” that ought to exist were the story true.

To Accept This Story,  We Must Dismiss the Oral Tradition 
of Eston Hemings’ Family and Accept Instead 

the Unsupported Allegations of Vile Racists Like 
James Callender and Thomas Gibbons

One of the greatest ironies in the desire of some to accept the allegations of the revi-
sionists in the name of “political correctness” is that, in so doing, they must dismiss the
oral history of Eston Hemings’ descendants (passing down that Eston’s father was not
Thomas Jefferson, but “an uncle”)—which points most likely to “Uncle Randolph,” Thomas
Jefferson’s younger brother—and instead accept as truth the allegations of blatant racists
like James Callender and Thomas Gibbons, neither of whom had ever even been to Mon-
ticello and both of whom had strong personal grievances against Thomas Jefferson.

As discussed in Chapter Eight, at its core, “oral tradition” refers to multiple hearsay
testimony passed down over many generations, often with decades elapsing between
retellings by individuals who have an obvious incentive to embellish the achievements of
their ancestors. It is hardly the most reliable form of evidence, but it can be very useful
as a means of identifying leads to investigate further — and sometimes it is simply all we
have with which to work.

The oral tradition of the Eston Hemings family would appear to be more reliable than
most on the issue of Eston’s paternity, as there would be no clear benefit to the family in
acknowledging that Eston’s father was not the famous historical figure who wrote the De-
claration of Independence and served two terms as President, but rather merely “an uncle”
of that famous man. The current efforts of some of Eston Hemings’ descendants to dis-
credit the accounts they repeatedly admit they were told by their parents and grandpar-
ents so they can claim lineage from the famous President is an excellent example of the
dangers of relying upon such accounts as evidence of the truth.

But surely the family traditions passed from one generation of Eston Hemings’ de-
scendants to another for a century and a half ought not be rejected simply because they
are at odds with the rantings of James Callender (who, it should be recalled, without the
slightest apparent knowledge of the facts referred to Eston’s mother as a “slut”), or Thomas
Gibbons (who described Sally Hemings’ children, whom he had never laid eyes upon, as
“flat nosed” and “thick lipped,” and called Sally herself a “prostitute”). Particularly given
how well their oral traditions fit with the other information we have about Randolph Jef-
ferson, the oral traditions of Eston’s family deserve greater respect than this.

Why Did Thomas Jefferson Not Free Sally in His Will?

There is an erroneous perception by many that Thomas Jefferson freed Sally Hem-
ings and all of her children in his will. This was one of the many false statements made
by Israel Jefferson in 1873, and perhaps he is the source for some of the modern mis-
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information. In reality, although she was eventually allowed to leave the plantation and
apparently spent the final years of her life living with her freed sons Madison and Eston
in Charlottesville, Sally Hemings was never legally freed from her status as a slave.

Given what we know about Thomas Jefferson, is it credible that — if Sally Hemings
were, in fact, his lover for decades and the mother of most of his children—he would ne-
glect to provide for her future in any way in his will? Would he have allowed her to be-
come subject to being sold at auction — perhaps to an abusive master who would whip
or sexually abuse her, or perhaps to a political enemy who would take her from town to
town and force her to recount the details of her romance with the once beloved Presi-
dent? No reasonable person can assume that.

So perhaps it was his intention to leave Sally to the care of his beloved daughter, Martha
Randolph — whom he could count upon to treat her lovingly and to protect her dignity
as she grew older? The problem with this theory is that, if there had been a sexual rela-
tionship, Martha would certainly have known of it. While she might have played the role
of dutiful daughter while her father was still alive, Jefferson would almost certainly have
realized that Martha would also likely blame Sally for the relationship that had harmed
his reputation and so clearly upset her. Could he be certain that Martha would on her
own provide Sally with the love and comfort any honorable man would wish at the time
of his death for the love of his life?

Even if Martha had promised to provide a safe and comfortable living environment for
Sally Hemings, if she believed the stories were true and wanted to protect her father’s
reputation, is it likely that she would have allowed Sally to move to Charlottesville to live
with her sons — in an environment where she could tell her story to the entire world?
The answer to all of these questions, presumably, is “We don’t know.” Conceivably, the an-
swer is “yes.” But from what we believe we know about Thomas Jefferson and his daugh-
ter Martha, the more likely response is “no.” It is very difficult to reconcile Sally’s treatment
(being totally ignored) in Thomas Jefferson’s will with any theory that she was the love
of his life and the mother of most of his children.

The argument on the other side, presumably, is that Jefferson still cared deeply about
his future reputation (certainly true), and that he knew if he freed the infamous Sally
Hemings, it could be seen as an admission of guilt by many Americans. But if that were
his concern, why did he give freedom to Madison and Eston — two of his alleged chil-
dren by Sally Hemings who could be expected to produce the same kinds of rumors?

We are told that Sally was the love of his life, the woman who “knew Thomas Jeffer-
son at least as well as did any of his white friends and relatives,”109 whereas by Madison
Hemings’ own account, he and his brother were shown no affection by Jefferson, and Jef-
ferson’s records treat them as almost nonentities at Monticello.

Perhaps (as some of the revisionists would apparently wish us to believe), everything
we thought we knew about Thomas Jefferson’s character for the past two centuries is
wrong, and he was truly a “monstrous”110 figure. A far simpler and more rational conclusion,
from the totality of the evidence before us, is that Sally Hemings was not Thomas Jeffer-
son’s lover, and her children were not his children.
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Individual Views of 
Jean M. Yarborough,
Charles Kessler,  and 
Harvey C.  Mansfield

After reviewing the report of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation and the ma-
terials presented in this report, we do not believe the evidence that Jefferson fathered one
or more of Sally Hemings’ children is compelling.

The case for Jefferson’s paternity rests on three principal arguments: recent DNA ev-
idence, greater weight to the oral tradition of Madison Hemings, and Jefferson’s presence
at Monticello during each of the periods when Sally Hemings conceived her children. But
as even the authors of the article analyzing the DNA results make clear, the DNA evi-
dence does not “prove” that Jefferson was the father of Sally’s children. Moreover, there
is not one oral tradition, but three in play, and these contradict each other on key points.
The Thomas Woodson tradition was conclusively refuted by the DNA evidence. Until re-
cently, the descendents of Eston Hemings asserted that a relative of Jefferson’s was the fa-
ther of Eston, a claim not inconsistent with the DNA findings.

Only Madison Hemings claimed that Thomas Jefferson was the father of all the Hem-
ings children, and, significantly, this was not until 1873, in an interview given to a news-
paper editor in Ohio. If Jefferson were the father, it seems likely that all the Hemings
children would have known it, and not just one. Further, it seems plausible that the story
would have surfaced earlier, and that there would be some contemporaneous evidence
somewhere that would corroborate the charge. There is not.

Equally troublesome is the assumption that Sally Hemings was monogamous and that
all her children were fathered by the same man. It is true that earlier historians had also
been quick to assume that only one man (Jefferson’s nephew Peter Carr) was the father
of all of Sally’s children. But a serious reconsideration of the question in light of the DNA
evidence requires that this assumption also be scrutinized, especially in light of contem-
porary accounts that suggest several possible fathers. None of this is inconsistent with
the fact that Sally’s conceptions took place when Jefferson was in residence. When else
would Jefferson’s relatives come to visit?

Although we do not believe that the case against Jefferson’s paternity is air tight, and
there remain legitimate questions that cry out for better answers than we can give, we
think that a fair and impartial review of all of the evidence suggests that Thomas Jeffer-
son was not the father of any of Sally’s children.

265
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* Editor’s Note: Sadly, Professor Banning passed away January 31, 2006, at the age of sixty-four.
The world lost an outstanding human being and an exceptionally able scholar at that time. He was a
mainstay of our inquiry and a man of remarkable insight and intellectual courage. We shall miss him.

13

Thomas Jefferson and 
Sally Hemings:  Case Closed?

Whether Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings is a harder question
for me than it seems to be for many. The DNA results, in combination with the data con-
cerning Sally Hemings’ conceptions, have persuaded many able scholars that Thomas Jef-
ferson fathered Eston Hemings and may have fathered some or all of Eston’s siblings. But
there is powerful evidence to the contrary, as creditable as reported statements by Madi-
son Hemings and often too lightly dismissed. The conclusion that Jefferson fathered these
children, moreover, cannot be accepted unless we are also able to give credence to a much
longer list of radical implausibilities than I have been able to swallow. Thus, I continue
to doubt that Jefferson fathered any of the Hemings children, have signed the commis-
sion’s report, and find Robert Turner’s individual statement generally convincing.

The informal essay which follows was prepared as all of the commission members were
grappling with the issue late last year [2000]. It continues to reflect my thinking.*

—————

Within the last three years, the old story that Thomas Jefferson fathered several chil-
dren by his slave Sally Hemings—a claim that most Jefferson scholars had earlier considered
so implausible that nearly all of them rejected it without a truly rigorous investigation —
has gained new credibility and extensive national publicity. In 1997, Annette Gordon-
Reed offered a powerful argument that the case for Jefferson’s paternity was notably
stronger than the leading Jefferson scholars had been willing to admit, while the case that
Hemings’ children were fathered by one of Jefferson’s Carr nephews, which was widely ac-
cepted by those scholars, was markedly weaker than they had supposed. In the aftermath
of Gordon-Reed’s book, several former skeptics moved to a neutral position and Joseph
Ellis, who still thought Jefferson’s paternity unlikely, insisted in his American Sphinx,
which won the National Book Award, that neither side had a clearly convincing case.
Then, in 1999, DNA testing proved compatible with the possibility that Thomas Jeffer-
son fathered Eston Hemings, Sally’s youngest son, but incompatible with the possibility
that one of the Carr brothers did. At that point, numerous former skeptics or neutrals,
led by Ellis himself, moved firmly to the other side. A few have even suggested that no rea-
sonable person can continue to doubt it. The DNA report (very misleadingly titled), a con-
ference held at the University of Virginia, a volume of essays resulting from that conference,
a forum in the William & Mary Quarterly, a bad movie, a dreadful TV miniseries, and a
report by the staff of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation, which manages Mon-
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1. See www.monticello.org, www.tjheritage.org, and www.angelfire.com/va/TJTruth.

ticello — all accepting the likelihood of Jefferson’s paternity — publicized the accusation
far and wide. A good bit of politics, some of it racial and some of it prompted by the
close conjunction of the release of some of the reports with Bill Clinton’s impeachment,
erupted on both sides.

Political considerations continue, as they always will, to affect the ongoing dispute
over whether the story is true. Thomas Jefferson is an icon: more closely identified
than any other individual with the foundational principles of the American regime.
Logic may tell us that his personal character has little to do with whether his princi-
ples were sound or his public contributions useful, but it still has symbolic importance
for many. People, moreover, are strongly inclined, for the most part, to believe what
they want to believe, to give more weight to evidence that supports their position than
to evidence that disputes it, and, regrettably often, to impugn the motives of those
who disagree. Professional historians and other scholars are not immune to these weak-
nesses, but the discipline of history does insist that we make our best effort to recog-
nize our biases and control for them. Even when we do, we may not get the history
right, but if no historical “truth” is ever discoverable at all, if we don’t at least aim at
that, whether the result seems politically helpful or not — in short, if it is never really
possible for us to learn something from the past, if our encounters with the records are
little more than occasions for symbolic battles and incidents in current cultural con-
flicts — it’s hard to see why we bother with history at all. There are other, perhaps more
forthright, grounds to fight those battles on. Let’s start, at least, by getting the history
as straight as discipline allows. Only then, as I conceive it, are we ready to ask if the
history holds any lessons. Is the story true? This, at least, is an interesting question for
historical detectives — and one that any student or citizen can pursue quite seriously
on his own, since so many of the original sources are readily available, courtesy of
Monticello’s website and websites on the other side.1 Politically, the subject is a land-
mine. Rightly handled, though, it has some useful things to teach about the method
of sound historical inquiry and the uses or abuses of the past. That’s what attracted
my interest, and this paper is meant to share my own reasoning and conclusions. I’ve
studied most of the relevant primary and secondary sources on the subject, and al-
though I haven’t given it years or even months of study, I think I do see pathways
through the thicket.

I start by recognizing clearly that the case for Jefferson’s paternity of the Hemings chil-
dren is strong enough that we can readily understand why so many able scholars have
come to think it likely. Their argument stands basically on five substantial pillars:

(1) The mountaintop at Monticello was populated by numerous mixed-race
slaves, some of whom resembled Jefferson and one of whom (probably Eston
Hemings) was said by Jefferson’s grandson to bear him such a striking resem-
blance that, at a distance, in the dusk, they might have been mistaken for one an-
other. Jefferson, moreover, was privately and publicly accused during his lifetime
of being the father of Sally Hemings’ children and sometimes of other slaves as
well, most famously, perhaps, in an 1802 blurb in the Richmond Recorder by the
notorious scandal-monger James Thomson Callender. President Jefferson, Cal-
lender wrote, “keeps and for many years has kept as his concubine, one of his own
slaves. Her name is SALLY. The name of her eldest son is TOM. His features are
said to bear a striking although sable resemblance to those of the President him-
self. The boy is ten or twelve years of age.”;
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(2) In an interview with an Ohio newspaper reporter in 1873, Madison Hemings,
another of Sally’s sons, said that he and his siblings were Jefferson’s children (and
his only slave children) in a report which accords in much of its substance with
what we know from other sources. According to this interview, Thomas and
Sally initiated an affair while they were together in Paris from 1787 to 1789. Sally
became pregnant and agreed to return to the United States after they entered
into a “treaty” in which Jefferson promised “extraordinary privileges” for Sally and
freedom for her children when they reached age 21;

(3) Sally Hemings conceived all her children when Jefferson was at Monticello
and no children when he was not;

(4) DNA tests show that a descendent of Eston Hemings carries a Jefferson
gene; and

(5) DNA tests are incompatible with the possibility that Eston Hemings was fa-
thered by Peter or Samuel Carr, the sons of Dabney Carr and Jefferson’s sister Martha
and the most often mentioned and most plausible alternatives to Jefferson him-
self as a father.

The case for Jefferson’s paternity, in brief, is strong enough that the burden of persua-
sion has shifted to the skeptics. This may be true if we apply the test of Occam’s razor:
the logical standard that tells us that the simplest of workable, competing explanations
of a set of facts should be preferred. It certainly seems true in a political sense: in an at-
mosphere inflamed by suggestions that to doubt this story is somehow to denigrate African
Americans and deny them their rightful place in American history.

Nevertheless, it is by no means true that no reasonable person can continue to doubt—
not, at least, for this occasional participant in modern life, who, in any case, confesses a
great deal of puzzlement over the implications some have found in the story. It seems to me
quite evident that unconscious bias and, in some cases, professed political objectives are as
plainly at work on one side of this issue as the other. For example, the Thomas Jefferson
Memorial Foundation staff report, which is presented in a tone of dispassionate historical
inquiry, is nevertheless, to my mind, markedly one-sided: it makes a strong case for Jeffer-
son’s paternity, on much the lines I’ve just sketched out, but barely touches on serious
grounds for doubt; and it is nearly as biased in its differential weighting of evidence as some
of the earlier discussions condemned by Gordon-Reed and others. Thus, despite the genuine
strength of the contrary case, there remains, I think, ample reason for continuing skepticism
about a claim which, if false, gravely libels a great American founder and, if true, compels
a serious reconsideration of his moral character, though a claim which, either way, does not
strike me, as it strikes so many others, as greatly affecting either our understanding of this
founder’s public contributions or our understanding of African American history.

Space and time will not permit a thoroughly detailed discussion of every instance of
biased treatment of evidence or slips of logic in the case for Jefferson’s paternity. That
would be work for an article or even a book. But there should be room, at least, to stress
that there are remarkably few uncontested or uncontestable facts in this matter. It is very
much a problem of weighing and interpreting the thin and disputable evidence we have—
and, ideally, of being wary of our own predispositions and examining this record with as
much dispassion as we can possibly muster.

Critics have advanced stronger or weaker responses to virtually every element in the
pro-paternity case in rebuttals already in circulation, some of which are powerful if by no
means temperate. Briefly, though, let me run again through those five main pillars as a
way of getting a bit more deeply into the subject:
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2. For example, it does not seem true that Dolley Madison was present at Madison’s birth, and it
would seem highly unlikely in the aftermath of Callender’s accusations that she would have begged
to name the baby after her husband. All of Sally’s children were not freed at age 21. Sally did not re-
ceive “extraordinary privileges” at Monticello. There is great room to doubt that Sally became preg-
nant in Paris. Etc.

3. The use of the word “concubine” to describe Sally’s relationship with Jefferson, together with
other language in the “Memoir,” strongly suggests that Hemings or the reporter, Samuel Wetmore,
had read James Thomson Callender’s original 1802 accusation. Both accounts misspell “Wayles” as “Wales.”

(1) A supposed resemblance between Thomas Jefferson and some of Sally Hem-
ings’s children (or other Monticello slaves) is certainly evidence of his possible
paternity, but it is hardly evidence of a very substantial kind. A resemblance be-
tween one person and another is seen by some people and denied by others. It
may not even be the best of evidence that some of Sally’s children had a Jeffer-
son (or a Carr) for a father, which was generally conceded long before the DNA
results.

(2) Madison Hemings’ “Memoir,” which is actually a reporter’s account of an in-
terview with him, first published in an Ohio newspaper in 1873, is entitled to the
same respect and should be considered with the same skepticism and the same
concern for corroborating evidence — no more, no less — as similar reports of
conversations with others. Like virtually all those others, it is an “as told to” ac-
count in which we cannot tell with certainty which words and statements came
from Madison Hemings and which may have been changed by the reporter — a
report, moreover, in which both the interviewee and the reporter might or might
not have been telling the truth. In this case, many of its details can be corrobo-
rated from other sources. Some can be disproved.2 And some suggest that Madi-
son Hemings or the interviewer was leaning on previously published accusations
by Callender or others.3 I am strongly inclined, for my own part, to believe that
Hemings was telling the truth as he understood it. But, obviously, he could not
have known first-hand who was the father of Sally’s children or whether all of them
were fathered by the same man. It is not even certain (although it seems likely)
that he had the story of the affair and the “treaty” from Sally herself, who left no
reported statement that it was true. That Madison Hemings’ descendents also
believed the story is not surprising and adds nothing that Madison did not say
himself. This “Memoir,” in brief, is a valuable historical resource and was dis-
missed too easily, sometimes with prejudice, by earlier historians. But it is not
inherently racist to question its details, nor does the memoir, in my judgment,
unquestionably outweigh the countervailing testimony of Edmund Bacon, a for-
mer overseer at Monticello, and of several members of the family of Thomas
Mann and Martha Jefferson Randolph, Thomas Jefferson’s daughter. Neither is
Madison’s story consistent as I understand it with the oral tradition in the fam-
ily of Madison’s brother Eston, who apparently passed down a claim that he was
the son of a close relative of Jefferson, not of Jefferson himself. We can well doubt
that Sally Hemings became pregnant in France and would have had any reason
to enter into the improbable “treaty” that Madison described. No one has solved
the mystery of the baby that Madison said was born in 1790 but lived only a
short time, the baby that may have become the twelve-year-old “Tom” of James
Thomson Callender’s public accusation against Jefferson in 1802. It is not clear
that Thomas Woodson, said to be that baby in another oral tradition, was Sally
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4. Joe Fosset, whose descendents apparently preserve an equally strong oral tradition of descent
from TJ, was clearly not the son of either.

5. They do not, however, suggest this as strongly as is argued in Fraser Neiman’s Monte-Carlo
study, which is severely flawed by the assumption that the presence of other potential fathers at Mon-
ticello would have been random.

Hemings’ son, and it now seems certain that, if he was, he was not the son of
Thomas Jefferson too.4

(3) The facts about Sally Hemings’ conceptions — at least about the conceptions
after 1789 — are certainly among the strongest elements in the case for Thomas
Jefferson’s paternity. They do strongly suggest that Jefferson (or someone who was
at Monticello only when Jefferson was there, or someone whose sleeping arrange-
ments were altered by his presence) fathered her several children.5 Occam’s razor
would point to Jefferson himself as the simplest of the workable answers. But it
is curious that Jefferson’s grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph, and the histo-
rian Henry Randall both believed that they had independently confirmed Martha
Randolph’s insistence that the child who most resembled Jefferson (presumably
Eston) could not have been his, since he and Sally were “far distant” from one
another for fifteen months before the baby’s birth. We know that Jefferson was
at Monticello during those fifteen months and, indeed, for most of the specific
period during which Eston would have been conceived. We have no documen-
tary evidence that Sally was ever away. But we have no reason either to believe
that all these other people were simply lying.

(4) The DNA results certainly do not prove Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of any
of the Hemings children. They were widely misreported as having done that,
and this misperception may well have spread indelibly among the public. But
every knowledgeable authority, including the scientists who conducted the tests,
has denied that this is what was found and even that it was possible to make such
findings from the sort of tests that were done. These tests compared 19 markers
on the y chromosomes of 14 individuals: 5 living male-line descendents of 2
sons of Thomas Jefferson’s paternal uncle, who was assumed to have the same y
chromosome as Jefferson’s father and thus of Jefferson himself; 3 male-line de-
scendents of 3 sons of the paternal grandfather of Peter and Samuel Carr; 5 male-
line descendents of 2 sons of Thomas Woodson; and one male-line descendent
of Eston Hemings. The results showed a match between the haplotypes of the Jef-
ferson descendents and the Hemings descendent, but no other matches. In plain
words, they showed that a descendent of one of Sally Hemings’ children carries
a Jefferson gene, not a Carr one, and that neither the Carrs nor the Jeffersons
are related to the Woodsons.

(5) Although they implicate a Jefferson, not a Carr, as Eston Hemings’ father,
the DNA results cannot exclude the Carrs as possible fathers of Sally Hemings’
earlier children. Neither can they show, in and of themselves, that Thomas Jef-
ferson was any more likely to have been Eston’s father than any of Thomas’s
male-line relatives who might have had relations with Sally Hemings at the rel-
evant times. To me, the absence of a wholly plausible alternative to Jefferson as
a father is another of the strongest elements in the pro-paternity case. Thomas’s
younger brother, Randolph Jefferson, or one of Randolph’s sons, might possibly
have fathered Eston. Randolph was probably at Monticello at the right time, per-
haps with some of his sons; and Randolph, unlike Thomas, was known to dance
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and play his fiddle with the slaves. But Randolph or one of his sons seems so
unlikely to have fathered all of Sally Hemings’ children that respondents will
continue to protest that this is a grasping at straws by Jefferson’s defenders. Peter
or Samuel Carr, the nephews who were believed to be Sally’s lovers by Jefferson’s
grandchildren and who were reported to have confessed it to him and another
witness by Thomas Jefferson Randolph, might still, to be sure, have fathered all
of Sally’s children except Eston. But this would not explain why Sally became
pregnant only when Thomas was at home. So far as we know, one or both of
the Carr brothers was usually at Monticello or quite nearby from 1794 to 1808.

Given greater space and time, I might continue at greater length to review the chinks in
the case for Jefferson’s paternity. But rebuttals are widely available as is, and others will
be forthcoming. Moreover, even if I were to fill in the heads of this sort of critique, the
case for Jefferson’s paternity might still seem stronger, in terms of Occam’s test, than the
arguments against it.

On the other hand, Occam’s razor tells us to prefer the simplest theory only when the
simplest theory seems equally true. And here, it seems to me, the simplest explanation of
most of the salient facts — that Jefferson fathered all the children born between 1795 and
1808 — seems sound only when we focus so intently on the points I have reviewed thus
far. I remain a skeptic, and I remain one principally because of a long list of highly im-
plausible things we have to believe in order to accept the Jefferson-Hemings story in any-
thing like the terms advanced by Madison Hemings and assumed to be likely in much
recent work — a good part of which dismisses countervailing evidence too easily and
passes very lightly over these implausibilities when they are mentioned at all.

Thomas Jefferson was not a saint. He was capable, on demonstrable occasions, of men-
dacity, hypocrisy, and even, when young and single, an untoward advance toward a mar-
ried woman. (This, he said, was the only one of the Federalist charges against him in
which there was any truth.) But neither was Thomas Jefferson a moral monster — unless,
of course, we think that everyone who was born and died a slaveholder deserves that ep-
ithet. Rather, the Jefferson we know from the records was profoundly concerned with
personal morality and religiously convinced that conduct would be punished or rewarded
after death. He was deeply affectionate toward his family and intensely jealous of his pub-
lic and private reputation. He was fastidious about feminine delicacy, cleanliness, and
such, no sort of womanizer, perhaps even celibate after the death of his wife. He was in-
variably attracted in the few cases we know of for sure to accomplished, mature women.
But in 1788 or 1789, we are asked to believe, this U.S. minister to France, a man with
ready access to some of the most beautiful and accomplished women in Europe, living in
a society (as he put it) where “beauty goes begging on every street,” initiated an affair
with a 15- or 16-year-old slave girl, whom Abigail Adams had recently described as more
in need of care than the 8-year-old she had attended across the ocean. This girl was the
personal servant (and likely something of a confidant) of Jefferson’s two daughters — he
would refer to her years later as “Maria’s maid” [1799] — an individual, that is, whose
discretion the accomplished politician and diplomat could not possibly have trusted. Al-
though it may well be that Sally lived, during much of her time in Paris, in the cross-
town convent where Patsy and Polly were being schooled, we are to assume that Thomas
and Sally carried on their affair in the crowded two-bedroom townhouse where Jeffer-
son lived — and did so without arousing the suspicion of David Humphreys, who slept
in one of the bedrooms, or of anyone else who was there. She became pregnant with Jef-
ferson’s child, the story continues, entered into an agreement with him, and (with Jefferson
taking care that she would have a berth convenient to his daughters) sailed back to the
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6. French historians tell me that (leaving diplomatic immunity aside) it is by no means certain
that contemporary French law would have freed SH, who, if she thought it would, could more cer-
tainly have secured freedom for herself as well as any future children by staying in France. It seems
rather hard, in any case, to envision the 45-year-old diplomat pleading with an illiterate slave girl to
return to America with him and the 16-year-old girl contracting a bargain with her master.

7. In the latter, some citizens of Chillicothe who knew Eston had seen a statue of Jefferson that
looked very like him. They asked him if Jefferson was his father. Eston might have had an interest
in saying yes. He replied, however, that his mother was single and had belonged to TJ. The only cor-
roboration of Madison Hemings’ account came in an interview with the same Ohio newspaper of for-
mer slave Israel Jefferson, which is so replete with provable misrepresentations as to be the only
relevant source that I consider completely untrustworthy. Contrast this with the recorded memories
of Isaac Jefferson, who, unlike Israel, actually did have duties around the house. Isaac mentioned
and described Sally Hemings, but did not so much as hint that there was any special relationship
between her and TJ.

U.S. in this condition with him, his two girls, and her brother James.6 (The baby, if it ex-
isted, either died soon after birth, without leaving a trace other than Madison Hemings’
statement, or became the elusive, unrecorded 12-year-old of Callender’s 1802 accusation,
who, if he later took the name Tom Woodson, was not Thomas Jefferson’s child.)

Well, in any event, infatuated enough to make this improbable “treaty” with his slave,
Jefferson would continue in a monogamous and fertile relationship with Sally for nearly
20 years, according to this story, ultimately fathering five or six more children (the first
of whom, however, was not born until 1795). During these twenty years, he was content,
as was she, to confine the relationship to the times when he was at Monticello, although
he took other slaves with him wherever he went and as many as a dozen to the White
House. Both he and Sally were so extraordinarily cautious as never to arouse the suspi-
cions of anyone around them. On these terms, he continued in the relationship until at
least age 64, when Eston Hemings was conceived, five years after he had been publicly
accused of a relationship with Sally and while he was completing his second presidential
term. He carried it on, all this while, while constantly surrounded by visitors and by a large
white family, none of whom—and least of all the daughters who would have known Sally
best — ever had the least suspicion that he was involved with any of his slaves or ever saw
the slightest indication that he was closer to Sally than to any other servant. Indeed, the
grandchildren who grew up at Monticello and managed it during Jefferson’s last years
did not just say that any such relationship was wholly unsuspected — never a touch or a
word or a glance — they said it was simply impossible in this particular house. I slept
within sound of his breathing, his grandson said, in a room across the hall. “His apart-
ment,” his granddaughter told her husband, “had no private entrance not perfectly accessible
and visible to all the household. No female domestic ever entered his chambers except at
hours when he was known not to be there and none could have entered without being ex-
posed to the public gaze.” In fact, apart from Madison Hemings, no one who ever lived
at Monticello and none of the uncounted visitors who stayed there overnight ever said that
he was involved with Sally—not Sally herself, though she lived in practical freedom in Char-
lottesville for 10 years after his death, and not Eston Hemings, whose only known state-
ment on the subject neither affirmed nor denied that Jefferson was his father.7 It is possible,
of course, that everyone except Madison Hemings was lying or covering up or engaged
in psychological “denial.” Jefferson’s family had an interest in protecting his reputation,
much as Madison Hemings had an interest in claiming descent from a famous man. But,
again, I see no reason to think that any of these people were deliberately making things
up. And what of the only two witnesses who had no obvious interest in the matter either
way? Isaac Jefferson, a former household slave, mentioned Sally Hemings in a “memoir”
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of his own; he was the one who described her as attractive and “mighty near white.” But
there is not a hint in Isaac’s reminiscences that Sally stood out otherwise from the rest of
her mother’s family. And Edmund Bacon, who was overseer at Monticello when Eston was
conceived and may have worked there for years before that, poses an even larger problem
for the pro-paternity story. In an interview of his own, Bacon raised the subject of the ac-
cusations against his employer8:

He freed one girl some years before he died, and there was a great deal of talk
about it. She was nearly as white as anybody, and very beautiful. People said he
freed her because she was his own daughter. She was not his daughter; she was
_____’s daughter. I know that. I have seen him come out of her mother’s room
many a morning, when I went up to Monticello very early. When she was nearly
grown, by Mr. Jefferson’s direction I paid her stage fare to Philadelphia and gave
her fifty dollars.

The girl was certainly Harriet Hemings, Sally’s daughter. The father was named by Bacon
but protected by the reporter, a preacher in Kentucky.

All of Sally Hemings’ children who lived to adulthood did achieve their freedom, ei-
ther de facto or de jure, and it is often said that they were the only nuclear family of Mon-
ticello who did. What, finally, of that? Well, contrary to the terms of the “treaty” as
Madison Hemings described it, Sally Hemings did not receive extraordinary privileges at
Monticello. There may be few uncontestable facts in this matter. But it is quite clear that
Jefferson fed, clothed, housed, and treated Sally Hemings pretty much indistinguishably
from his other household servants, recorded her life and childbirths in much the same way,
and left her as part of his estate. There is nothing in Jefferson’s records that would iden-
tify Sally as especially significant among the household servants, nothing that makes her
distinguishable in her treatment or duties from her sister or her Hemings cousins. By
Madison Hemings’ own account, moreover, Jefferson showed no particular affection for
her children and reared them much as he did other household slaves. Beverley ran away,
probably at age 24, and Jefferson did not attempt to catch him. Harriet fled into white so-
ciety, probably with Jefferson’s assistance to the amount of fifty dollars and a stagecoach
ticket. And Madison and Eston received the least favored treatment of the 5 skilled slaves—
all members of the broader family of Sally’s mother, Betty, who were freed in Jefferson’s
will. By the terms of this document, Burwell Colbert, Joe Fosset, and John Hemings were
granted their freedom, various amounts of money, tools, cabins, and land. A codicil to
the will, written less than three months before his death, also gave John Hemings the ser-
vices of his apprentices, his two nephews, until age 21, when they would also receive their
freedom, though none of the other gifts granted to the older servants. But until then, if
we are to believe this story, another statement by Thomas Jefferson Randolph would sug-
gest that his thin-skinned grandfather, always concerned for contemporary and histori-
cal regard, would not only have continued the affair with Sally long after it became a
public scandal — and still without arousing the suspicion of his family — he would have
been so brazen about it as to have a slave whose resemblance to him was absolutely star-
tling serve his foreign guests at dinner.

Strange things happen where sex is concerned, not to mention slavery and race. Racial
mixing between masters and servants happened all the time in the Old South. It does not
tax us highly to imagine how perfectly ordinary it was, or what a range of conduct it en-
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compassed: from boys and girls coming into adolescence together in the familiarity of a
plantation and playing games more adult, to deep affection, to the tyranny in which it was
as easy for a master so inclined to order a woman to his bed as it was to order her to do
the laundry or tend the crop. As Jefferson himself told us, “the man must be a prodigy
who can retain his manners and morals undepraved” within such a system.

Was Jefferson such a man? Did he, though a slaveholder, retain his morals relatively
undepraved? The honest answer, to my mind, is that we simply do not know and may never
possess the evidence that could answer the question absolutely. Parts of the argument for
his paternity of Sally Hemings’ children are hard to overcome. But this does not seem
any harder, to my mind, than swallowing the lengthy list of radical implausibilities we
have to swallow to accept that the story is true. It’s a close call: a hard case, as the lawyers
would say. But there are surely grounds for strong, continuing doubts. Count me, then,
in the minority who seem to think that the proper verdict, at this moment, has to be “not
proven.”
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Individual Views of 
Professor Robert H.  Ferrell

512 South Hawthorne
Bloomington, IN 47401
March 25, 2001

Dear Professor Turner:

You asked if I might have any further observations to add to your commentaries on
the Hemings controversy. I do want to say, again, my complete support of your com-
mittee’s position, the unalloyed support of the president. It does seem to me so ridicu-
lous that the accusations of Callender of so long ago should have such a recent public
airing.

And let me add a few recent experiences of my own, to illustrate what seems to be a
virtual climate of accusation that is flourishing in our own time. A few years ago, seek-
ing to investigate the illness and death of President Warren G. Harding — this after hav-
ing published a general book about presidential illness from Grover Cleveland through
the administration of the first President Bush, I began to see, as my research developed,
that in the case of Harding there had occurred a virtual smearing of his reputation, this
after his death in 1923. And so I undertook a book with the title of The Strange Deaths
of President Harding, a play on the title of the old Gaston B. Means book of 1930, in which
I wrote of Harding’s physical death and the subsequent death of his reputation through
slander and innuendo. In the course of it I wrote at length of the accusations of the late
Nan Britton (d. 1991), which were without foundation but widely believed.

A year or two ago I undertook a long taping here in Bloomington for a CBS hour-long
account of “sex in the White House,” in which I spoke unrestrainedly of the way that
Harding had been maligned and made the point, I thought, that the same thing had hap-
pened to President Franklin D. Roosevelt. Someone at CBS, who, so far as I know, has
no standing as an historian, interpreted what I said — interpreted it into the exact oppo-
site of what I said. I of course protested to the CBS studio, after viewing the resultant
film, and had a smart-aleck letter back from some vice president relating how helpful I
had been to the production.

Lastly an experience of very recent date. The Journal of American History, published at
my university for the generality of American historians across the country, ran a lead ar-
ticle in its December issue entitled “What Happened to Sex Scandals: Political Peccadil-
loes from Jefferson to Kennedy.” Its author is a graduate student in American history at
the University of Rochester presently teaching at Harvard. Quite apart from the smarty
title the article was a compendium of innuendo and surmise, and the author wrote flat-
out that President Harding’s mistress was Nan Britton and that President Roosevelt’s mis-
tresses were Mrs. Rutherfurd and Ms. LeHand. I asked the editor of the journal to print
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an apology, and in response to her suggestion that I instead write a letter to the editor I
did so, in collaboration with Warren G. Harding III of Cincinnati. The letter has not yet
been printed, awaiting a response by the offending author.

Sincerely,

Robert H. Ferrell
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15

The Thomas Jefferson-Sally 
Hemings Myth and the 
Politicization of American History*

Introduction

I concur in the Scholars Commission’s conclusion that the allegation that Thomas Jef-
ferson fathered one or more children by his slave Sally Hemings is “by no means proven.”
My own view is that the allegation is not at all plausible. Moreover, I unreservedly join
Robert F. Turner in his Individual Views, which I regard as the most complete and ob-
jective analysis yet written of all the evidence relevant to the Jefferson-Hemings allegation.
I write my own separate report to state my views on the matter and to discuss the Jeffer-
son-Hemings controversy in a broader context. As I see it, belief in the paternity allega-
tion — which, to me, is quite literally a myth — is a symptom of a disturbing trend in the
history profession in recent years, discussed below.

It is primarily out of my concern for the history profession, and far less so out of my
concern for Jefferson’s legacy, that I agreed to serve on the Commission and that I am
writing this essay. Let me make clear from the outset what has motivated me, and what
has not motivated me, in this endeavor.

I freely admit that I am an admirer of Thomas Jefferson; but my admiration for Jef-
ferson always has focused on his ideas, principally his ideas about government, and not
on Jefferson as a man. For over 25 years—since I first began my formal studies of Jefferson’s
political and constitutional thought as an undergraduate student at the University of
Michigan — I have been fascinated with Jefferson’s philosophy. My own studies have fo-
cused particularly on Jefferson’s ideas about limits on governmental power, the subject of
my book The Constitutional Thought of Thomas Jefferson.1 While I necessarily learned a
great deal about Jefferson’s life and times while doing the research for this book and my
other writings on Jefferson’s thought, I always have found the substance of his ideas far
more interesting than the circumstances of his life. Moreover, I believe that Jefferson’s
place in American history — his central role in our nation’s founding and the evolution
of its system of government—justly derives from his ideas. As I see it, genealogy is irrelevant:
the true “children” of Jefferson today are those who understand his ideas and work to
keep them alive. His true legacy is the body of ideas he has given us, ideas still quite rel-
evant today, to the perennial problems of protecting individual rights and limiting the
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powers of government. The attributes of Jefferson the man — his character and the cir-
cumstances of his life — are essentially irrelevant to that legacy. Indeed, as I noted in my
comments at the University of Virginia on the 250th anniversary of his birth (April 13,
1993), it saddens me that Americans today seem to have done a better job preserving Jef-
ferson’s legacy in bricks and mortar (having in mind the splendid restorations of Jeffer-
son’s “academical village” in the University as well as his two homes, Monticello and
Poplar Forest) than we have in preserving his legacy of ideas.

Frankly, I regard Jefferson’s personal life as neither interesting nor important. What trou-
bles me most about the controversy over Jefferson’s alleged relationship with Sally Hem-
ings is that this matter unjustifiably has overshadowed Jefferson’s true significance. I do
not join with those who regard the Hemings paternity allegation as a per se libel of Jef-
ferson’s character; as discussed below, belief in that allegation has served to advance the
interests of a number of partisans, some of them detractors of Jefferson but others gen-
uine admirers of Jefferson, who use the story of a relationship with Sally Hemings to
transform Jefferson into either a villain or a hero to advance their own agendas.

I agreed to serve on the Scholars Commission because I became increasingly concerned
about the way both the admirers and the detractors of Jefferson were willing to use the Hem-
ings story for their own purposes without regard to historical truth or to objective, well-
recognized standards of good historical scholarship. I was particularly troubled by the
fact that many eminent scholars have so readily abandoned professional standards in seiz-
ing upon the 1998 DNA study — and, in the process, either blithely ignoring or deliber-
ately misrepresenting the findings of that study — as so-called “proof” of the paternity
allegation, again to advance their own partisan agendas.

Evolution of the Myth

Throughout American history, the Jefferson-Hemings paternity allegation has been
used for partisan purposes. That certainly was the case with the allegation’s early history,
during Jefferson’s own lifetime. It originated in an 1802 Richmond, Virginia newspaper
story by the hatchet journalist James Thomson Callender, a disappointed job-seeker who
felt he had been betrayed by the new President and whose bitterness toward Jefferson was
quite evident throughout the piece. The allegation was nothing more than unsubstanti-
ated rumor, for there is no evidence that Callender had any first-hand knowledge of Mon-
ticello. The allegation then was spread by Jefferson’s political enemies in the bitterly
partisan Federalist press, particularly in the fall of 1802. Significantly, however, after
Americans gave President Jefferson and his party an overwhelming vote of confidence by
bolstering Republican majorities in both the House and Senate in the mid-term Con-
gressional elections, the Hemings allegation seemed to die. “Little was said about Hem-
ings, for example, in the months before [Jefferson’s] 1804 landslide re-election, and only
infrequently during the remainder of Jefferson’s lifetime did references to the alleged af-
fair appear in print,” concluded the scholar who has most thoroughly studied the Hem-
ings story in the context of Jefferson’s reputation during his lifetime.2 The Hemings
paternity allegation resurfaced again in New England — the last bastion of the Federalist
party — in 1805, occasioning Jefferson’s letter to friends denying the “charges” made
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against him, except for the truthful allegation of his youthful affair with the wife of his
neighbor John Walker, an allegation which at the time probably was taken far more seri-
ously than the Hemings story.3

In the decades following Jefferson’s death, both before and after the Civil War, the
Hemings paternity allegation — together with other miscegenation stories linked to Jef-
ferson — surfaced from time to time as partisans of North and South, Whigs (or Repub-
licans) and Democrats, and anti-slavery political activists and pro-slavery Southern
apologists, all used the “Jefferson image” to help further their own cause. As Merrill D.
Peterson has noted, the story was revived and retold especially by abolitionists in the an-
tebellum period. “The most common version of the story in anti-slavery circles was the
one related in 1838 by Dr. Levi Gaylord, of New York. He had heard, he said, from the
lips of a Southern gentleman: ‘I saw for myself, the daughter of Thomas Jefferson
sold in New Orleans, for one thousand dollars.’ Gaylord wanted this ‘sounded longer and
louder through the length and breadth of the land’ until a virtuous indignation should
wipe out slavery. Goodell’s Friend of Man printed Gaylord’s story, whence it spread to
other newspapers.”4 After the anonymous poem “Jefferson’s Daughter” appeared in the abo-
litionist newspaper Liberator, other anti-slavery activists — principally the black writer
and abolitionist William Wells Brown — popularized the story. “Upon the flimsy basis of
oral tradition, anecdote, and satire, the most intelligent and upright abolitionists avowed
their belief in Jefferson’s miscegenation,” Peterson reports.5

Although the underlying motives changed, 19th-century exponents of the Hemings
story and other Jefferson miscegenation legends continued to use the allegations for par-
tisan purposes. “Unlike the Federalists, the abolitionists were smearing the South’s pe-
culiar institution, not Jefferson or democracy. They dwelled less on Jefferson’s ‘African
brothel’ than on his alleged mulatto offspring.”6 Peterson also notes that one other group
contributed to the revival of the legend in the second quarter of the 19th century: British
aristocrats who, in their commentary on America found Jefferson—the symbol of Amer-
ican democracy — “a convenient target for their criticism.”7 After the Civil War, the leg-
end continued to be used for partisan purposes, by Republican Party activists (many of
them former abolitionists) who took Jefferson as a symbol for both the defeated Con-
federate cause and for the Democratic Party.

It is in the context of this 19th-century manipulation of the “Jefferson image” that we
must place the so-called “memoirs” of Madison Hemings, published on March 13, 1873
as the first of a series of interviews with former slaves entitled “Life Among the Lowly,”
in the Pike County (Ohio) Republican, a partisan newspaper edited by Samuel F. Wet-
more, a Republican Party activist. As Professor Turner notes in his individual views, there
are many good reasons to be highly skeptical of this 1873 newspaper article. One reason
is that we are not sure the statements attributed to Madison Hemings really were his and
not the words of the editor, Wetmore. Even if the statements were indeed Hemings’, they
are clearly hearsay, for Madison Hemings had no first-hand knowledge of a relationship
between Jefferson and his mother. Indeed, given that there is no evidence that Sally Hem-
ings herself claimed Jefferson as the father of any of her children, as well as the fact that
Madison Hemings’ statements so closely resemble the Callender allegations from 1802, it
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is possible that Hemings based his story on Callender’s.8 Whatever the source of the words
attributed to Madison Hemings, they clearly reflect a deep bitterness toward Jefferson —
a bitterness that is fully understandable if Madison Hemings genuinely believed he was
Thomas Jefferson’s son, for all the available evidence indicates Jefferson essentially ig-
nored him. (The significance of the lack of any evidence showing Jefferson’s affection to-
ward Madison Hemings, or any of Sally Hemings’ other children, in refuting the paternity
allegation is discussed more fully below.)

The unreliability of Madison Hemings’ story as reported in the 1873 Pike County Re-
publican is further highlighted by Wetmore’s follow-up interview in his “Life Among the
Lowly” series with another former Monticello slave, Israel Jefferson, which Samuel Wet-
more published in his newspaper several months later (on December 25, 1873) in an ef-
fort to corroborate Hemings’ story. As Professor Turner notes in his individual views,
Israel Jefferson’s statements are even less credible than Madison Hemings’. Shortly after
Israel’s story was published, Jefferson’s grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph, wrote a
scathing six-page letter to the editor in response, pointing out many factual errors in Is-
rael’s account and, of course, denying the “calumny” of the Hemings paternity allega-
tion. Randolph added, “To my knowledge and that of others 60 years ago the paternity
of these parties were admitted by others.”9

The “others” to whom Randolph referred were Peter and Samuel Carr, nephews of
Thomas Jefferson (the sons of his sister Martha and his childhood friend Dabney Carr,
whom he raised as if they were his own sons). James Parton, in his 1874 biography of
Jefferson, quoted Jefferson’s grandson Thomas Jefferson Randolph as telling fellow Jefferson
biographer Henry S. Randall that “there was not the shadow of suspicion that Mr. Jefferson
in this or any other instance had commerce with female slaves.” T. J. (Jeff) Randolph al-
leged that Sally Hemings was the mistress of Peter Carr, while Sally’s sister Betsey Hem-
ings was the mistress of Peter’s brother, Samuel.10 Jeff Randolph also told Randall that he
once confronted Peter and Samuel Carr over the matter (after a visitor at Monticello had
left a newspaper with “insulting remarks about Mr. Jefferson’s mulatto children”), and
that the Carr brothers tearfully confessed their guilt, with Peter saying, “Ar’nt you and I
a couple of _____ pretty fellows to bring this disgrace on poor old uncle who has always
fed us! We ought to be _____, by _____.”11

Randall explained that he did not include the allegation against the Carr brothers in
his Life of Jefferson because Jeff Randolph prohibited him from doing so, saying “You are
not bound to prove a negative. If I should allow you to take Peter Carr’s corpse into Court
and plead guilty over it to shelter Mr. Jefferson, I should not dare again to walk by his grave:
he would rise and spurn me.” Randall added, again citing Jeff Randolph, that Jefferson was
“deeply attached to the Carrs — especially to Peter. He was extremely indulgent to them
and the idea of watching them for faults or vices probably never occurred to him.”12
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Randolph’s sister, Ellen Randolph Coolidge, claimed that the father of Sally Hemings’
children rather was Samuel Carr, “the most good-natured Turk that ever was master of
a black seraglio kept at other men’s expense.”13 Ellen Coolidge further claimed that her brother
had overheard Peter Carr “say with a laugh, that ‘the old gentleman had to bear the blame
of his and Sam’s (Col. Carr) misdeeds.’”14

One other direct observer of happenings at Monticello offered his testimony denying
the Hemings paternity allegation against Jefferson. Edmund Bacon, who was Jefferson’s
slave overseer for many years, in a reminiscence first recorded in 1862, denied that Sally
Hemings’ daughter (presumably Harriet) was Jefferson’s daughter. “She was not his daugh-
ter, she was _____’s daughter. I know that. I have seen him come out of her mother’s
room many a morning when I went up to Monticello very early.”15

Notwithstanding the denial of the Hemings paternity allegation by members of Jef-
ferson’s family and eyewitnesses to life at Monticello, the allegation survived in the oral
traditions of several American families who claimed descent from Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings, including the descendants of Madison Hemings as well as the descendants
of Thomas Woodson, who claimed to be the child Callender had identified as “Tom.”
(These oral traditions are discussed more fully in the next section, below.) The Hemings
allegation also remained alive in the writings of many black American political activists
and scholars, including W. E. B. DuBois.16 But the allegation was given new life when the
claims made in Madison Hemings’ “memoir” were resurrected in a bestselling biography
of Jefferson published in the 1970s.

In her book Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History, the late Fawn M. Brodie resur-
rected the story attributed to Madison Hemings, as well as the original 1802 Callender al-
legation, that while in France, Jefferson took as his “concubine” the teenaged Sally
Hemings.17 Jefferson scholars have long rejected Ms. Brodie’s flimsy “psychological evi-
dence” of a Jefferson-Hemings affair in France—and with good reason, for Brodie’s “psy-
cho-history” was not only implausible but also failed to fit the facts. As Jefferson biographer
Willard Sterne Randall writes:18

[Brodie] suggested that, when Jefferson traveled through France and Germany
and eight times described soil as mulatto in his twenty-five sheets of notes, he
was not referring, as he labeled the appropriate column of his charts, to yellow-
ish soil in the hills and valleys he traveled through but was really thinking of the
contours of Sally’s body. And when he was taking notes on a new kind of mold-
board plow that he invented shortly after the journey, he was really thinking of
plowing the fertile Sally as soon as he returned to Paris. But mulatto is a precise
term describing yellowish-brown soil. And when Jefferson used the term mu-
latto to describe soil during his French travels, Sally was still on a ship with Polly,
accompanying her to France. If he had ever noticed her or remembered her at
all, Sally had been only ten years old when Jefferson last visited Monticello hur-
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riedly in 1784 to pack [Sally’s brother] James Hemings off to France with him.
She was only eight when Jefferson last resided at Monticello and was mourning
his wife’s death. Unless Brodie was suggesting that Jefferson consoled himself by
having an affair with an eight-year-old child, the whole chain of suppositions is
preposterous.

Despite its obvious shortcomings, Fawn Brodie’s account of a sexual liaison between Jef-
ferson and Sally Hemings, beginning in France and continuing at Monticello following
their return to the United States, captured the imagination of many people and became a
part of American popular culture in the last quarter of the 20th century. From scholarly treat-
ments such as Winthrop Jordan’s book Black over White (1968) to imaginative recreations
such as Barbara Chase-Riboud’s novel Sally Hemings (1979) or the Merchant-Ivory film
Jefferson in Paris (1995), the story of a Jefferson-Hemings relationship became widely ac-
cepted by many Americans. Thus, when Annette Gordon-Reed, an African-American as-
sociate professor of law at New York Law School, sought to vindicate Madison Hemings’
claims in her book Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings: An American Controversy (1997),
she found a ready audience. (The flawed case for Jefferson’s paternity of Hemings’ children
presented in Professor Gordon-Reed’s book is further discussed below.) Although histo-
rian Joseph J. Ellis, in his book American Sphinx: The Character of Thomas Jefferson (1997),
had joined other Jefferson biographers in doubting the story of a sexual liaison with Sally
Hemings, he had read the manuscript of Gordon-Reed’s book—which was going to print
just as his own book was published—and declared in a blurb for its inside cover, “Short
of digging up Jefferson and doing DNA testing on him and Hemings’ descendants, Gor-
don-Reed’s account gets us as close to the truth as the available evidence allows.”

Without having to disturb Jefferson’s corpse, Dr. Eugene A. Foster was able to con-
duct DNA tests, which compared the Y chromosome haplotypes of 14 individuals: five
living male-line descendants of two sons of Field Jefferson (Thomas Jefferson’s paternal
uncle), five living male-line descendants of two sons of Thomas Woodson, three living
male-line descendants of three sons of John Carr (paternal grandfather of Samuel and
Peter Carr), and one living male-line descendant of Eston Hemings. The results showed
a match between Eston Hemings’ descendant and the descendants of Field Jefferson. The
tests found no match, however, between the Jefferson male DNA and that of Thomas
Woodson’s descendants. Nor did the tests find a match between the Eston Hemings de-
scendant and the Carr descendants. As historian (and fellow Scholars Commission mem-
ber) Lance Banning succinctly puts it in his paper “Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings:
Case Closed?”: “Although they implicate a Jefferson, not a Carr, as Eston Hemings’ fa-
ther, the DNA results cannot exclude the Carrs as possible fathers of Sally Hemings’ ear-
lier children. Neither can they show, in and of themselves, that Thomas Jefferson was any
more likely to have been Eston’s father than any of Thomas’s male-line relatives who
might have had relations with Sally Hemings at the relevant times.”19 In fact, Jefferson
was one of at least 25 adult male Jeffersons (male-line descendants of his paternal uncle,
Field Jefferson) who might have fathered Eston Hemings, passing on to him the Y chro-
mosome with the distinctive Jeffersonian characteristics. Indeed, eight of these 25 Jeffer-
son males lived within 20 miles (a half-day’s ride) of Monticello — including Thomas
Jefferson’s younger brother, Randolph Jefferson, and Randolph’s five sons, who ranged in
age from about 17 to 26 at the time of Eston’s birth.

The results of Dr. Foster’s DNA tests were reported in the November 5, 1998 issue of
the British journal Nature, in an article bearing the misleading headline, “Jefferson fa-
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thered slave’s last child.” (A more accurate headline, of course, would have been “A Jef-
ferson — not necessarily Thomas Jefferson — fathered” Sally Hemings’ youngest child.)
The article on the DNA test results was accompanied by an article “Founding father,” co-
authored by Professor Ellis, which proclaimed that the DNA analysis “confirms that Jef-
ferson was indeed the father of at least one of Hemings’ children.”

Thus began the “spin” on the DNA test results—and the most recent telling of the Jef-
ferson-Hemings story. No doubt referring to his own book which portrayed Jefferson as
an enigmatic “sphinx,” Professor Ellis wrote, “Recent work has also emphasized his mas-
sive personal contradictions and his dexterity at playing hide-and-seek within himself.
The new evidence only deepens the paradoxes.” And, further evidencing new uses for the
Jefferson image in modern American politics, Professor Ellis concluded, “Our heroes —
and especially presidents — are not gods or saints, but flesh-and-blood humans, with all
the frailties and imperfections that this entails.”20

The timing of the Nature article’s publication — on the eve of the November 1998
Congressional elections and just weeks before the U.S. House of Representatives’ vote to
impeach President Bill Clinton — was not purely coincidental. Professor Ellis’ accompa-
nying article also noted, quite frankly, “Politically, the Thomas Jefferson verdict is likely
to figure in upcoming impeachment hearings on William Jefferson Clinton’s sexual in-
discretions, in which DNA testing has also played a role.” In television interviews fol-
lowing release of the article, Professor Ellis elaborated on this theme; and Clinton’s
apologists made part of their defense the notion that every President — even Jefferson —
had his “sexual indiscretions.” (It should be added that Ellis was among the so-called “His-
torians in Defense of the Constitution” who signed an October 1998 ad in the New York
Times opposing Clinton’s impeachment.)

Others besides Clinton apologists seized upon the alleged DNA “proof” of Jefferson pa-
ternity to advance their own ideological agendas. British journalists and commentators
used the story much as they had in the 19th century, to denigrate American Revolution-
aries by associating them with slaveholding. Thus, for example, Christopher Hitchens
suggested in The Nation that Jefferson henceforth be described as “the slave-owning ser-
ial flogger, sex addict, and kinsman to ax murderers.” (One is reminded of reviews in the
British press of the Mel Gibson movie, “The Patriot,” last summer. The Express noted that
the real Francis Marion, the “Swamp Fox” on whom Gibson’s Benjamin Martin charac-
ter was based, “raped his slaves and hunted Red Indians for sport.”) And for many schol-
ars of race and race relations in America, the Jefferson-Hemings story and reactions to it
(particularly by those who continued to be skeptics) provided further evidence of the
racism they say permeates American society. Indeed, for many, acceptance of the pater-
nity thesis has become a kind of litmus test for “politically correct” views: those of us who
continue to question it have been denounced as racially insensitive, if not racist. (For
more on this, see the discussion of Annette Gordon-Reed’s views, below.)

The Jefferson-Hemings story is useful symbolism for people of various political per-
suasions today: to those on the left, for example, it can serve as a metaphor for racism in
America; to those on the right, a metaphor for immorality. Not just leftists, but conser-
vatives too, have used the Hemings story to denigrate Jefferson and, with him, two of the
cardinal values of his life, reason and individualism. As Timothy Sandefur notes in his essay
“Anti-Jefferson, Left and Right,” “What damns Thomas Jefferson in conservative and mul-
ticulturalist eyes alike is his appeal ‘to all men and at all times,’ and not to the consider-
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ations of race, class, and sex, of which the left approves, or to the ‘whispers of dead men’
that the conservative hears.”21 The Hemings story permits some to see Jefferson’s whole
political philosophy as “bound up in the sexual exploitation of a slave,” Sandefur adds. “Jef-
ferson’s position as the Enlightenment figure in America can thus be seen as inseparable
from his ownership and exploitation of slaves, and the Enlightenment can be dismissed
accordingly. Conservative writer Dinesh D’Souza describes a conversation he had with
some thoroughly indoctrinated college students: ‘On Jefferson, the three were agreed: he
was, in various descriptions, a ‘hypocrite,’ a ‘rapist’ . . . , and a ‘total racist.’ Jeffersonian
principles of individualism, reason, science, and private property, all become tainted.”22

It is not just the enemies of the Enlightenment in America today who find symbolism
in the Hemings story. Libertarians, too, find the story a useful vehicle for advancing their
agendas, whether they are detractors or admirers of Jefferson. Some want to believe the
story because they are anxious to pull him off his pedestal, to show in Jefferson’s hypocrisy
“the need to be a nation of laws and not of men,” as an editor of Reason magazine put it.23

Others, who genuinely admire Jefferson, hope that “this new, racially-conflicted Jefferson,”
who some now imagine as having had a long-term monogamous relationship with a mu-
latto woman, might be “more authentically libertarian” than “the old, much more ‘racist’
Jefferson,” as one libertarian scholar suggested to me in private correspondence. This last
comment suggests that some admirers of Jefferson, whatever their political persuasion,
find in the Hemings story a new way to “humanize” Jefferson, to make him less aloof. In-
deed, for some who idolize Jefferson, the Hemings story provides proof that Jefferson
was able to transcend the racial attitudes of his time. They are, frankly, engaged in wish-
ful thinking, idealizing Jefferson into a 20th- (or even 21st-) century individualist com-
fortable with interracial relationships — which, sadly, he was not (as his retirement-years
writings on race matters show).

The lesson is obvious: today, as throughout American history since the inception of the
story nearly 200 ago, many Americans for various reasons want passionately to believe that
Thomas Jefferson fathered some or all of Sally Hemings’ children, whether or not the ev-
idence supports the charge.

Myth vs.  History:  Oral Tradition as Unreliable Evidence

Traditionally, historians long have recognized the unreliability of oral tradition as ev-
idence. Family “oral history” or “family tradition” particularly is unreliable, for many rea-
sons, as Professor Turner points out in his report. These include the high probability of
errors creeping into stories that are told and retold from one generation to the next, as
well as the tendency “to embellish the family legacy to instill pride and confidence in the
next generation.” The problem is not peculiar to American history or modern times: no-
tables in ancient Rome frequently claimed descent from the gods — Julius Caesar, from
the goddess Venus, for example — to make them even more patrician.

Indeed, family oral traditions really ought not to be called “history” at all, for they are
rather, quite literally, myth. That realization hit home with me last summer when I was at-
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tending a conference at the University of British Columbia in Vancouver and visited the
Museum of Archeology, which is famous for its collection of totem poles and other arti-
facts relating to Pacific Northwest Indians (or “First Peoples,” as they are called in Canada).
Totem poles, of course, were used by the native peoples to memorialize their own myths.
Here’s how the guidebook I purchased at the Museum explained their mythology24:

There were two kinds of myths on the Northwest Coast — those which were
known to and could be told by everyone and those which were the private prop-
erty of particular families and could only be told by their members. Both kinds
tell of a primordial age before the world became as it is now, a time when finite
divisions between humans, animals, and spirits had not yet been created and
beings could transform themselves from one form into another. . . . It was a time
now lost but remembered. It was a world now gone, but one that people recre-
ated in art and ritual. Through ceremonial and artistic re-enactment of their
heritage, through dance, song, and ritual acting, people maintained continuity
with their genesis. So, even though mythological time belonged to long ago, be-
fore mankind became separated and distinguished from animals and nature, the
memory of it could be kept alive.

The myths which everyone could tell concerned the change of that other world
into this one. . . . The family myths, on the other hand, told of family origins, of
ancestors who came down from the sky as birds or who married mythical ani-
mals and shining celestial beings; they told of the wanderings of the ancestors,
their settlement in their present locations, and their acquisition of the privileges
and powers which defined the greatness of the family line. Paramount among these
were those rights whose representations the family could display on totem poles
and ceremonial objects to broadcast their heritage to others.

As noted below, the Monticello Committee report essentially takes the “family myths” of
the Madison Hemings descendants and treats them as history. It would be like a histo-
rian today saying that a famous tribal leader among the Pacific Northwest First Peoples
really was descended from a raven bird, because his family myth says so—it must be true
because it’s a story people “continued to tell their children and grandchildren . . . , often
at significant times in their lives”!25

There are many reasons to doubt the reliability of the oral tradition handed down by
Madison Hemings’ descendants. Significantly, there is no evidence of an oral tradition
corroborating the assertions attributed to Madison Hemings which antedates the publi-
cation of the 1873 Pike County Republican story. Thus, rather than being an oral history
handed down to her descendants by Sally Hemings herself — or by any contemporaries
of hers with first-hand knowledge of happenings at Monticello, or even by Madison Hem-
ings himself, who presumably had only second-hand knowledge of his paternity — the
allegation of Jefferson’s paternity of Sally Hemings’ children appears to have originated
with these 1873 newspaper stories. And, like the oral tradition handed down to Thomas
Woodson’s descendants, it is quite likely that the Madison Hemings oral tradition ultimately
owes its origin to the original 1802 Callender allegation.

Yet, as discussed below, the Monticello Committee report treats the Madison Hem-
ings story as key evidence linking Jefferson to Sally Hemings. Indeed, apart from the so-
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called “Monte Carlo” simulation (the problems of which are also discussed below), it is
literally the only evidence cited by the Committee report in support of its conclusion that
Jefferson likely fathered all the children of Sally Hemings — that is, the children other
than Eston.

Among other families of Hemings descendants, a quite different oral tradition — at-
tributing the paternity of Sally Hemings’ children to an “uncle” of Jefferson’s — appears
to have been handed down from generation to generation. The Monticello Report’s ef-
fort to discount that tradition, while accepting the Madison Hemings story, is quite un-
convincing, as noted below.

Broader Context of the Myth Today:  
The Assault on Standards

The rise of three related phenomena in higher education generally—the “political cor-
rectness” movement, multiculturalism, and post-modernism — helps explain why the
Jefferson-Hemings myth has become so readily accepted today, not only by the Ameri-
can general public but also by scholars who should know better.

The term political correctness was coined in the early 1990s, in the midst of a contro-
versy over perceived threats to academic freedom on America’s college and university
campuses. Originally an approving phrase used by those on the Leninist left to denote
someone who steadfastly toed the party line, “politically correct” or “P.C.” began to be
used ironically by critics of the left — first by conservatives (such as Dinesh D’Souza, au-
thor of the best-selling book Illiberal Education: The Politics of Race and Sex on Campus
(1991)) and later by liberals and many old-school leftists — who sought to defend cam-
pus freedoms against “P.C.” censors. The debate encompasses many issues, among them
official campus speech codes, designed to protect certain groups of students from “oppressive”
or even merely “insensitive” racist or sexist speech, as well as new curriculums emphasizing
race and ethnic distinctions.26

Perhaps the most important attribute of the “politically correct” movement has been its
emphasis on “race/class/gender-ism,” which pictures culture and language as giant hidden
structures that permeate life and which assumes that American culture (or Western cul-
ture generally) has been dominated by the culture and language of European white males.27

In its opposition to this perceived hegemony, the P.C. movement overlaps with the other
two modern movements in higher education, multiculturalism and postmodernism.

Multiculturalism began as a well-intentioned movement to diversify education — and
the teaching of history, in particular — by calling attention to the experiences of women,
blacks, American Indians, immigrants, and members of other groups whose stories largely
had been neglected in textbooks. What began as a movement on behalf of diversity and
cultural pluralism, however, devolved into a “particularist” movement that, in its over-
reaction to perceived “Eurocentrism,” fostered even more extremely distorted views of
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American history, such as Afrocentrism.28 Particularists “have no interest in extending or
revising American culture; indeed, they deny that a common culture exists. Particular-
ists reject any accommodation among groups, any interactions that blur the distinct lines
between them. The brand of history that they espouse is one in which everyone is either
a descendant of victims or oppressors.”29

When advocates of political correctness or extreme multiculturalism challenge the cul-
ture of rationalism and humanism, they also ally themselves with an even more perva-
sive movement among American intellectuals in recent decades, the so-called “post-modern”
movement. Postmodernist theory attempts to “deconstruct,” or expose, the underlying
subjectivity and indeterminacy of everything we assume we know. Among historians,
postmodernism has meant an assault on objectivity: a rejection of traditional standards
for discovering facts, weighing evidence, and interpreting events. Traditional analytic and
empirical methods are rejected in favor of history as mere “narrative.” As one theorist put
it, “The past is not discovered or found; it is created or represented by the historian as text.”
History, to the postmodernists, is no more factual or objective than any other discipline;
“there are no grounds to be found in the historical record itself for preferring one way of
construing its meaning over another,” for interpretation is inevitably “socially constructed.”30

Postmodernists and radical multiculturalists frequently argue that white male culture
has achieved domination over other cultures through values such as rationalism, hu-
manism, universality, and literary merit — values which the multiculturalists claim are
not objective but rather are tools for oppressing other people by persuading them of their
own inferiority.31 These views lead to “disturbing distortions in scholarship and public
discourse,” argue law professors Daniel Farber and Suzanna Sherry. (It should be noted
that Professors Farber and Sherry are not conservatives; they are mainstream liberal law
professors who are alarmed at the threats posed to law and legal scholarship by radical mul-
ticulturalist movements in the legal academy such as Critical Legal Studies, radical fem-
inism, and Critical Race Theory.) “Because they reject objectivity as a norm, the radicals
are content to rely on personal stories as a basis for formulating views of social problems.
These stories are often atypical or distorted by self-interest, yet any criticism of the sto-
ries is inevitably seen as a personal attack on the storyteller,” they observe. Indeed, “be-
cause radical multiculturalists refuse to separate the speaker from the message, they can
become sidetracked from discussing the merits of the message itself into bitter disputes
about the speaker’s authenticity and her right to speak on behalf of an oppressed group.
Criticisms of radical multiculturalism are seen as pandering to the power structure if they
come from women or minorities, or as sexist and racist if they come from white men.”32

Thus, not only objectivity, but also civility—the basic prerequisite for genuine dialogue—
has been jeopardized.

In recent years, many American historians have become concerned at the degree to
which radical multiculturalism and postmodernism have apparently dominated the na-
tion’s two leading organizations of historians, the American History Association (AHA)
and the Organization of American Historians (OAH). Many historians consequently have
resigned their membership in one or both of these groups. A politically diverse coalition
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of historians, ranging in their political views from conservative and libertarian to left-
liberal — all who share a concern for how radical multiculturalism and “identity politics”
have been destroying the profession — even have formed a new organization to compete
with the AHA and the OAH, called The Historical Society (THS).33

Sadly, the historical profession today has lost much of the standards by which evidence
can be objectively weighed and evaluated in the search for historical truth. History, in ef-
fect, has become politicized in America today, as illustrated by the widespread acceptance
of the Jefferson-Hemings myth as historical fact.

Taken together, political correctness, multiculturalism, and post-modernism have cre-
ated an environment in the academic world today in which scholars feel pressured to ac-
cept the Jefferson-Hemings myth as historical truth. White male scholars in particular
fear that by questioning the myth — by challenging the validity of the oral tradition “ev-
idence” cited by some of the Hemings descendants — they will be called racially “insen-
sitive,” if not racist. As discussed more fully below in my critique of Annette Gordon-Reed’s
book, among many proponents of the Jefferson paternity claim there has emerged a truly
disturbing McCarthyist-like inquisition that has cast its pall over Jefferson scholarship
today. Questioning the validity of the claim has been equated with the denigration of
African Americans and the denial of their rightful place in American history. In this cli-
mate of scholarly and public opinion, it requires great personal courage for scholars to
question the Jefferson paternity thesis and to point out the dubious historical record on
which it rests.

The Flawed Case for the Jefferson-Hemings Story

The two most significant briefs on behalf of the Jefferson-Hemings paternity claim
that have appeared thus far in print are Annette Gordon-Reed’s book, Thomas Jefferson
and Sally Hemings: An American Controversy,34 and the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foun-
dation (TJMF) Ad Hoc Research Committee Report (referred to below as the Monticello
Report), released in 2000.35 I refer to both these works as briefs on behalf of the paternity
claim, for both share this essential weakness: rather than objectively weighing all the rel-
evant evidence according to established standards of historical scholarship, they both are
markedly one-sided, based on a highly selective reading of the evidence, presenting the
case for Jefferson’s paternity as if it were accepted as an article of faith. And for both Pro-
fessor Gordon-Reed and for the staff at Monticello, it apparently is.

Annette Gordon-Reed’s Book

Annette Gordon-Reed is a law professor, not trained as a historian; her book is a clas-
sic example of what historians call “lawyer’s history”—an advocacy brief which marshals
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the evidence in favor of a predetermined thesis rather than objectively weighs the evi-
dence in the search for historical truth.

In both the preface and conclusion to her book, Professor Gordon-Reed quite directly
admits that her mission is to expose the “troubling”—i.e., racist—assumptions made by
historians who have denied “the truth of a liaison between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings.” To sustain the denial, she argues, historians must “make Thomas Jefferson so high as
to have been something more than human” and “make Sally Hemings so low as to have
been something less than human.” Historians have engaged in “the systematic dismissal of
the words of the black people who spoke on this matter—Madison Hemings, the son of Sally
Hemings, and Israel Jefferson, a former slave who also resided at Monticello—as though
their testimony was worth some fraction as that of whites.” Indeed, she regards Madison
Hemings as “a metaphor for the condition of blacks in American society.” He was, she notes,
“a black man who watched his three siblings voluntarily disappear into the white world”
and yet who “chose to remain black and to speak for himself,” only to be “vilified and ridiculed
in a vicious manner” and then be “forgotten.” To vindicate him, she wrote the book.36

Throughout her book, Professor Gordon-Reed vilifies as racist—without ever directly
using that term—virtually every historian who has ever written about Jefferson and Sally
Hemings: these include established Jefferson scholars such as Merrill Peterson, Douglass
Adair, Dumas Malone, and John Chester Miller, as well as younger scholars such as An-
drew Burstein. Her treatment of Burstein is illustrative of her technique. In his 1995 book
The Inner Jefferson: Portrait of a Grieving Optimist, Burstein briefly addressed Madison Hem-
ings’ 1873 newspaper interview, noting that it was “possible that his claim was contrived—
by his mother or himself — to provide an otherwise undistinguished biracial carpenter a
measure of social respect.” Burstein added, “Would not his life have been made more
charmed by being known as the son of Thomas Jefferson than the more obscure Peter or
Samuel Carr?” Professor Gordon-Reed answers this rhetorical question with an emphatic
“no,” in the process ridiculing Burstein’s choice of words, particularly his reference to a
“charmed” life.37 Burstein has since reversed his position of skepticism and now argues that
the DNA test results “have convincingly linked [Jefferson] to Sally Hemings sexually.”38

In addition to rhetorical arguments designed to ridicule the white male historians who
have written about the Jefferson-Hemings matter — suggesting not so subtly that their
writings have been infused with racist assumptions — Professor Gordon-Reed also care-
fully selects the evidence and presents it in the light most favorable to her cause, expos-
ing what she regards as “double standards” in historical scholarship. In the process,
however, she breaks down most accepted standards for weighing evidence, particularly for
weighing oral tradition evidence, creating a new double standard which gives preference
to the oral tradition supporting the Jefferson paternity thesis. Legitimate doubts about the
veracity of the 1873 newspaper “memoir” attributed to Hemings—doubts based not only
on the many problems found in the account itself but also in its broader political context,
as noted above — are swept aside, as Professor Gordon-Reed focuses on such matters as
scholars’ questioning whether a word like enciente would have been used by a black man
at that time period.39 Her aim, again, is to vindicate Madison Hemings and his story, “to
present the strongest case to be made that the story might be true.”40
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More broadly, Professor Gordon-Reed’s agenda is to use the Jefferson-Hemings story
as a metaphor for American race relations. In a letter to the editor published soon after
the DNA test results went public, Professor Gordon-Reed admitted quite directly the “sil-
ver lining” she found in this controversy, what it shows about “the history of racism in
America”: “If people had accepted this story, he would never have become an icon. All these
historians did him a favor until we could get past our primitive racism. I don’t think he
would have been on Mount Rushmore or on the nickel. The personification of America
can’t live 38 years with a black woman.”41

Because her mission was to rebut the case made by Jefferson scholars — virtually all
of whom have accepted at face value the paternity allegations made against Peter and
Samuel Carr by Jefferson’s grandchildren T.J. Randolph and Ellen Coolidge Randolph —
Professor Gordon-Reed ignores entirely the possibility that Jefferson’s brother Randolph
or one of Randolph Jefferson’s five sons could have fathered one or more of Sally Hem-
ings’ children. Although she lists in her bibliography Bernard Mayo’s Thomas Jefferson
and His Unknown Brother Randolph (1942), she excludes Randolph and his sons from
her genealogical table of “The Jeffersons and Randolphs (Relevant Connections Only),”
as well as from the nearly 50 “Important Names” listed in Appendix A to her book. Nor
is Randolph Jefferson or any of his children even referenced in her index.

The flawed scholarship of the book is further epitomized by a significant transcrip-
tion error which appears in Appendix E, the text of Ellen Randolph Coolidge’s 1858 let-
ter to Joseph Coolidge. In relevant part, the original letter as found in the Coolidge
Letterbook, University of Virginia Library42 —in clear handwriting—states the following
about Jefferson’s rooms at Monticello:

His apartments had no private entrance not perfectly accessible and visible to
all the household. No female domestic ever entered his chambers except at hours
when he was known not to be there and none could have entered without being
exposed to the public gaze.

As printed in the appendix to Professor Gordon-Reed’s book,43 however, the passage reads:

His apartments had no private entrance not perfectly accessible and visible to
all the household. No female domestic ever entered his chambers except at hours
when he was known not to be in the public gaze.

Even if we give Professor Gordon-Reed the benefit of the doubt and assume that omis-
sion of the crucial words—which obviously changes significantly the meaning of the sen-
tence—was not a deliberate distortion of the evidence but rather an innocent transcription
mistake, so critical an error casts doubt on the reliability of her work.

The TJMF (Monticello) Committee Report

Following release of the DNA study in the fall of 1998, Daniel P. Jordan, the presi-
dent [1985–2008] of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation (TJMF)44 — the insti-
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tution that owns and operates Jefferson’s home Monticello — appointed a nine-person
in-house research committee which was charged, in Jordan’s words, to “review, com-
prehensively and critically, all the evidence, scientific and otherwise,” including Dr. Fos-
ter’s DNA study, “relating to the relationship of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings.”
The Committee was chaired by Dianne Swann-Wright, Director of Special Programs at
Monticello (including its Getting Word Oral History Project described below), and its
members — described in its report as “including four Ph.D.’s and one medical doctor” —
were all Monticello staff members. Although the Committee consulted with members of
two other Monticello committees — the Advisory Committee for the International Cen-
ter for Jefferson Studies and the Advisory Committee on African-American Interpreta-
tion — it is worth emphasizing that no scholar independent of Monticello had any input
in the report.

Although the Committee had concluded its work by spring 1999, its report was not re-
leased until January 27, 2000. The report was immediately posted on the Internet, and
Dan Jordan noted that within a week the Monticello website received nearly 60,000 “hits”
a day, with some 3000 different individuals downloading the report. Two weeks later,
after the television airing of the CBS miniseries Sally Hemings: An American Scandal, Jor-
dan noted that the hits “maxed out” Monticello’s system, with as many as 900,000 in one
day. Although he dismissed the CBS miniseries as “ridiculous as history,” “a soap opera,”
and “strictly Hollywood,” Jordan acknowledged that “it certainly did encourage an inter-
est in the story.” He added, “Anything that encourages and raises the consciousness of the
American people about history and race is a good thing.”45

What was not mentioned in the TJMF’s press conference and not acknowledged on its
website until about three months later, on March 23, 2000, was that one of the members
of the Monticello Committee—White McKenzie (Ken) Wallenborn, M.D. (the “medical
doctor” identified in the committee’s description) — had dissented stridently from the
Committee’s report. Noting several areas of disagreement with the majority’s report, Dr.
Wallenborn in his minority report (dated April 12, 1999) concluded that “[t]here is his-
torical evidence of more or less equal statu[r]e on both sides of this issue that prevent a
definitive answer as to Thomas Jefferson’s paternity of Sally Hemings’ son Eston Hemings
or for that matter the other four of her children.” He urged the TJMF to continue to re-
gard the paternity question as an open one. In an essay published subsequent to the release
of his minority report, Dr. Wallenborn has charged that the Monticello Committee—and
particularly its chair, Dianne Swann-Wright, and Lucia (Cinder) Stanton (Shannon Se-
nior Research Historian at Monticello), whom he identified as the principal author of the
Committee’s final report — “had already reached their conclusions” at the start of their
deliberations. According to Dr. Wallenborn’s account, the Committee followed “the same
tactic” that Professor Annette Gordon-Reed employed in her book, of ignoring or dis-
missing as problematic “most of the evidence that would exonerate Mr. Jefferson.”46 Equally
troubling is Dr. Wallenborn’s statement that Dianne Swann-Wright failed to share his dis-
senting report with other members of the committee. Indeed, he notes that it was not
shared with the interpretive staff at Monticello nor with the TJMF Board of Trustees until
he began circulating it after the January 26, 2000 press conference.47
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Dr. Wallenborn’s criticisms of the Monticello Committee appear to be well-founded.
Upon close reading, its final report is far from being the “scholarly, meticulous, and thor-
ough” analysis Dan Jordan claims it is. Its general conclusion, that Thomas Jefferson fa-
thered one, if not all, of Sally Hemings’ children, fails to be adequately supported by the
evidence gathered by the Committee and summarized in its findings.

Indeed, a fundamental problem with the Committee report is the apparent absence
of any methodology for evaluating or weighing evidence. When the report concludes,
specifically, that the “currently available documentary and statistical evidence, indicates
a high probability that Thomas Jefferson fathered Eston Hemings, and that he was most
likely the father of all six of Sally Hemings children,” it offers no standard by which the
conclusory terms high probability or most likely can be objectively measured. Generally speak-
ing, the Committee report seems to rest this conclusion on just a few pieces of evidence—
the results of Dr. Foster’s DNA tests, Madison Hemings’ 1873 “memoir,” and the “Monte
Carlo” statistical study conducted by Committee member Fraser Nieman—plus one crit-
ical, but unsupported, assumption: that all of Sally Hemings’ children were fathered by
just one man. This single father postulate rests on the flimsiest of evidence: the naming
of the Hemings siblings’ children after one another, which supposedly demonstrates the
“closeness” of the family (and thus, it is assumed, Sally Hemings’ monogamy), and the
claim of an absence of evidence that Sally Hemings was not monogamous (a false claim
in light of the Edmund Bacon evidence, which the Committee discounts, as noted below).
The only documentary evidence which the Committee can cite in support of its conclu-
sion that Jefferson “most likely” fathered Sally Hemings’ children other than Eston is the
Madison Hemings 1873 interview.48

Another fundamental flaw in the Committee’s report is the problem of bias and con-
flict of interest. Since 1993 the TJMF has been conducting an oral history research pro-
ject called “Getting Word,” to locate the descendants of Monticello’s African-American
community and to record and preserve their stories and histories. The project has inter-
viewed over 100 people, including 22 descendants of Madison Hemings and four de-
scendants of Eston Hemings. The very fact that Monticello staff members have been
involved in this project makes it difficult for an in-house research committee to objectively
evaluate oral history evidence. The problems of bias in favor of oral history evidence gen-
erally—and selective bias in favor of those particular families interviewed through the Get-
ting Word project — were compounded by the fact that the chair of the ad hoc research
committee was Dianne Swann-Wright, director of Special Programs at Monticello, who
had been employed to work on the project since its inception (and her arrival at Monti-
cello) in 1993. Given the intimate involvement of Dr. Swann-Wright and other Com-
mittee members with the people interviewed for the Getting Word project, it is not
surprising that the Committee report heavily relies on the 1873 Madison Hemings story
and the oral tradition among his descendants as the key evidence in support of the Jef-
ferson paternity thesis.

As noted above, oral tradition evidence has a general problem of unreliability. The
Committee report is flawed not only because it relies heavily on oral tradition evidence,
but that it relies on it selectively, taking seriously only that oral tradition that fits with the
story of Jefferson’s paternity. The bias is evident in the report, where it infers from the se-
riousness of the Madison Hemings’ descendants’ “history” that it is true and therefore
ought to be treated on par with documentary and other evidence. “In a climate of disbelief
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and hostility,” the report notes, “they continued to tell their children and grandchildren
of their descent from Thomas Jefferson, often at significant times in their lives. . . .”49 On
the same page of the report, however, the Committee notes that the oral history of the
Eston Hemings descendants claimed descent from Jefferson’s “uncle” — an oral tradition
which apparently was taken just as seriously by this line of the family, until publication
of Fawn Brodie’s Intimate History prompted family members to change the story — but
the Committee dismisses the earlier tradition among Eston Hemings’ descendants as “al-
tered to protect their passing into the white world.”50 The change of the Eston Hemings
family oral tradition following publication of the Brodie book is acknowledged by fam-
ily members. “We’re just learning — from some of our cousins — stories we weren’t able
to hear,” one family member said.51

Significantly, the Committee report also concluded that Thomas Woodson was not
the son of Thomas Jefferson, and indeed that there was no documentary evidence link-
ing him even to Monticello and Sally Hemings.52 The significance of this is twofold. First,
it acknowledges the falsity of a core allegation of both the original 1802 Callender story
and the 1873 story attributed to Madison Hemings: the notion that Jefferson’s sexual re-
lationship with Sally Hemings began in France, and that she bore him a son soon after
their return to the United States. As the Committee report finds, there is no evidence of
any child being born to Sally Hemings prior to 1795. Second, the findings regarding
Thomas Woodson starkly reveal the inherent unreliability of oral tradition as evidence.
The Woodson descendants just as fervently believed that their ancestor was the son of
Thomas Jefferson, and the Committee found that “the longstanding oral history warrants
inclusion of information” about Woodson despite the absence of documentation to con-
nect him to Sally Hemings and Monticello, let alone to Thomas Jefferson.53

There is one other oral tradition, of course, which was summarily rejected by the Com-
mittee. Beginning with the direct testimony of Jefferson’s grandchildren, Thomas Jeffer-
son Randolph and Ellen Randolph Coolidge, the oral tradition in the family descended
from Jefferson’s daughter Martha Jefferson Randolph has identified one of the Carr broth-
ers, Peter or Samuel (Jefferson’s nephews by his sister Martha) as the father of Sally Hem-
ings’ children. Although that tradition apparently too was taken just as seriously as the
tradition of Hemings descendants — and although it is arguably far more reliable, for it
was based on the testimony of eyewitnesses to the events in question — the report essen-
tially dismisses Carr paternity by pointing to the DNA test results on Eston Hemings’ de-
scendant and assuming that Sally Hemings’ children were all fathered by the same man.

The Committee’s bias is evident also in the double standard it employs in weighing
evidence. For example, the published account of Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon,
which identified another, unnamed man as the father of Harriet Hemings, is dismissed
as having “problems of chronology,” noting that Bacon was not employed at Monticello
until five years after Harriet’s birth.54 But this ignores the real possibility that Bacon resided
at Monticello as early as 1800 and also assumes that Bacon was describing an event he
witnessed prior to Harriet’s birth when indeed he might have concluded that the man he
saw some years later was the father of her children. However, immediately following this
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curt dismissal of Bacon’s account, the Committee report states that Israel Jefferson’s 1873
interview “corroborated Madison Hemings’s claim of Jefferson paternity”—even though
Israel Jefferson’s account, besides the many problems noted above, also has a real “chronol-
ogy problem” of its own: Israel was only eight years old at the time of the birth of Sally
Hemings’ youngest child, Eston!55

Important pieces of evidence that question the Jefferson paternity thesis are either ig-
nored or blithely dismissed by the Committee’s report. For example, Jefferson’s own de-
nial of the Callender allegations, in an 1805 letter written to a member of his administration,
is dismissed as “ambiguous”56 — an assessment that fails to take into account its clear his-
torical context (as discussed below). The account of former household slave Isaac Jeffer-
son, who mentioned and described Sally Hemings in his memoir, is omitted from the
Committee report, even though the fact that Isaac did not so much as hint that there was
any special relationship between Jefferson and Sally Hemings is powerful evidence ques-
tioning the paternity thesis.57

Other problems, though relatively minor, in the Committee’s report reveal that it was
far less meticulously written than one would expect it to be. For example, although the
report does include a facsimile of the 1858 Ellen Randolph Coolidge letter, it follows it
with the flawed transcription as found in Appendix E of Professor Gordon-Reed’s book.
The draft of Committee member Fraser Neiman’s article, “Coincidence or Causal Con-
nection? The Relationship between Thomas Jefferson’s Visits to Monticello and Sally
Hemings’s Conceptions”—which was going to print in The William & Mary Quarterly in
January 2000, just as the Committee report was released—contains a typographical error
which distorts the DNA study in a significant way. The molecular geneticists tested “male-
line descendants of Thomas Jefferson” (emphasis added), the article states, when of course
it was not Thomas but Field Jefferson, Thomas Jefferson’s paternal uncle, whose descen-
dants were tested.

The article by Mr. Nieman, who is director of archeology at Monticello, has far more
serious problems than this embarrassing typographical error. As the Scholars Commis-
sion report notes, none of us was impressed by this so-called “Monte Carlo” statistical
study. The Monte Carlo approach estimates the probability of a given outcome by com-
paring it to a very large number of random outcomes generated by a simulation model.
Nieman’s study rested on two unsupported postulates: that there could only be a single
father for all of Sally Hemings’ children, and that rival candidates to Thomas Jefferson would
have had to arrive and depart on the exact same days he did. Here, the assumption of
random behavior makes little sense, because the visits to Monticello of the other candi-
dates for paternity — Jefferson’s friends and relatives (including his brother Randolph,
Randolph Jefferson’s sons, and the Carr brothers) — were not random occurrences; they
certainly would have been far more likely to occur after Jefferson’s return to Monticello
from extended absences in Washington or elsewhere. The final impression one gets of the
Nieman study is of a simulation whose parameters were deliberately set to “get” Thomas
Jefferson as the father of Sally Hemings’ children.58
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As Dr. Wallenborn has noted, Neiman’s statistical study “cries out for valid compara-
tive studies of the other Jefferson males who might have fathered Eston, and in the ab-
sence of these comparisons, the results are inconclusive.”59 As the Scholars Commission
report notes, the circumstantial case that Eston Hemings was fathered by Randolph Jef-
ferson, Thomas Jefferson’s younger brother, is “many times stronger” than the case against
Jefferson himself. Significantly, even the Monticello Committee report notes documen-
tary evidence that Randolph Jefferson visited Monticello in August 1807, a probable con-
ception time for Eston Hemings (this evidence consisting of a letter from Jefferson to his
brother, inviting him to visit Monticello while Randolph’s twin sister, Anna Marks, was
then visiting) — but the Committee rejects this evidence because no corroborating evi-
dence has been found to indicate that Randolph did in fact visit at this time.60 The Com-
mittee report also notes that Randolph Jefferson’s sons Thomas, in 1800, and Robert
Lewis, in 1807, “may well have been at Monticello during the conception periods of Har-
riet and Eston Hemings.”61

One final, critical assumption made both in the Neiman study and in the Monticello
Committee report as a whole is the assumption that Sally Hemings was continuously pre-
sent at Monticello. As the Scholars Commission concludes, however, that assumption
may be problematic. Sadly, we simply do not know enough about Sally Hemings — even
her duties at Monticello—to conclude that she would have remained at Monticello rather
than travel to, say, Poplar Forest, at some of the probable times of her conceptions. The
question is particularly important given biographer Henry Randall’s intriguing reference
to “well known circumstances” that prove Martha Jefferson Randolph’s denial of the charge
that Jefferson fathered Sally Hemings’ children. As documented by Randall, Jefferson’s
daughter “directed her sons’ attention to the fact that Mr. Jefferson and Sally Hemings
could not have met — were far distant from each other — for fifteen months prior to the
birth” of the child who supposedly most resembled Jefferson. Almost everyone has as-
sumed that Mrs. Randolph was referring to Jefferson’s absence from Monticello at that
time, but she may very well have been referring to Sally Hemings’.62 This intriguing pos-
sibility is yet another matter that cries out for additional research.

The Implausibility of the Story

Some people have suggested that the logical principle of Occam’s razor, which states
essentially that the simplest of competing theories be preferred to the more complex,
when applied to this controversy would make Thomas Jefferson the father of Sally Hem-
ings’ children, or at least of Eston Hemings. But this is a gross misapplication of the prin-
ciple. Indeed, as Professor Banning points out in his paper, “Occam’s Razor tells us to
prefer the simplest theory only when the simplest theory seems equally true.”63 Here, the
simple theory advanced by proponents of the Jefferson-Hemings story—that Sally Hem-
ings’ children all had the same father, and that he was Thomas Jefferson — seems plausi-
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ble only if one ignores all the many facts that strongly suggest against Jefferson’s pater-
nity. Both Professor Banning and Professor Turner have identified a large number of rel-
evant facts, either ignored or unjustifiably downplayed by Professor Gordon-Reed and
the Monticello Report, which raises serious questions about the Jefferson paternity the-
sis. I agree fully with these points and would like here to emphasize two additional mat-
ters which, to me, make the thesis extremely implausible.

Denials by Jefferson Himself and Virtually All 
His Contemporaries

Jefferson refused to dignify Callender’s charges by denying them publicly, but in pri-
vate correspondence stated generally that there was “not a truth existing which I fear or
would wish unknown to the whole world.”64 And on one occasion in private correspon-
dence he denied the Hemings paternity charge, among other allegations.

In a cover letter dated July 1, 1805 and written to Secretary of the Navy Robert Smith,
Thomas Jefferson denied the “charges” made against him, admitting that he was guilty only
of one — “that when young and single [he] offered love to a handsome lady” — which he
maintained was “the only one founded in truth among all their allegations against me.”
Jefferson’s letter to Smith referenced an enclosed letter written to Attorney General Levi
Lincoln which fully responded to the charges but which, unfortunately, has not survived.
From Jefferson’s cover letter it is clear that he desired both Smith and Lincoln to read the
enclosed letter, as “particular friends” of Jefferson with whom he “wish[ed] to stand . . .
on the ground of truth.”65

Both the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation majority report66 and Professor An-
nette Gordon-Reed67 dismiss Jefferson’s letter as “ambiguous” and referring directly only
to the charge of Jefferson’s affair with Mrs. John Walker. Although it is true that the cover
letter on its face does not identify either the “charges” or those who were asserting them,
nevertheless it is reasonably clear from the full context of Jefferson’s letter itself and its his-
torical circumstances that Jefferson was denying all the charges made against him by his
political enemies, including the Hemings paternity allegation.

Jefferson wrote the letter ten days after the Washington, D.C. newspaper The Wash-
ington Federalist reprinted a letter from a “Thomas Turner, Esq.,” declared to be a Vir-
ginia gentleman, which had been first published in the Boston newspaper The Repertory
on May 31, 1805. The newspaper articles raised virtually the same charges Callender had
made in the Richmond Recorder in 1802, including the affair with Mrs. Walker, “Mr. Jef-
ferson’s disgraceful concubinage” with Sally Hemings, and Jefferson’s “timidity” as Gov-
ernor of Virginia when it was invaded by British troops during the Revolutionary War.68

Indeed, Jefferson referred directly to the latter accusation (“transactions during the invasion
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of Virginia”) in his cover letter to Smith, in the sentence immediately following his ad-
mission of the Walker affair.

The Washington Federalist and Boston Repertory articles also alleged, according to “opin-
ion,” that Sally Hemings was “the natural daughter” of John Wayles, misspelled “Wales”—
the first time this allegation appeared in print.

The fuller context of the reappearance of the Callender allegations in Boston newspa-
pers — including the debates on Jefferson’s character in the Massachusetts legislature in
January 1805 — has been discussed by Dumas Malone.69 Given the political climate in
Massachusetts, it is not surprising that Jefferson wrote this letter to Levi Lincoln, who
served as Jefferson’s political adviser on matters concerning New England, and Massa-
chusetts in particular.

The significance of Jefferson’s denial in this letter to a friend, who was also a member
of his administration and a political confidant, should be obvious: it is the only direct
evidence left by Jefferson in his own words and handwriting that bears on the question.

The Monticello Committee report also notes, without any analysis, the only known ac-
count of the paternity allegation being raised in Jefferson’s presence: biographer Henry
S. Randall’s report that when confronted by his indignant daughter Martha with an of-
fending poem (a couplet by Irish poet Thomas Moore linking Jefferson with a slave), his
only response was a “hearty, clear laugh.”70 This was hardly the response of a man with a
guilty conscience.

Taken together, Jefferson’s denials are consistent with the testimony of many family
members, friends, and acquaintances who similarly denied the Sally Hemings paternity
allegation. With the exception of those few cited in the Monticello Committee report,
there is little evidence that the Jefferson paternity allegation survived, even among Jef-
ferson’s political enemies, much past the 1802 elections, but for the brief resurrection of
the Callender allegations in Massachusetts in 1805. Jefferson’s 19th-century biographer
Henry Randall reported that Dr. Robley Dunglison, Jefferson’s doctor in 1825 and 1826,
did not believe the story and that both Dr. Dunglison and Professor Tucker, “who lived
years near Mr. Jefferson in the University, and were often at Monticello,” never heard the
subject mentioned in Virginia.71 Significantly, after his retirement from the presidency,
not even Jefferson’s political enemies took the allegation seriously enough to press it.

Jefferson’s Character

Historians and biographers who have spent their lives studying Thomas Jefferson have
found the notion of an “affair” with Sally Hemings highly implausible, given various as-
pects of Jefferson’s character. Indeed, before his recent turnabout resulting from the TJMF
Report, TJMF president Dan Jordan once described a Jefferson-Hemings liaison as “morally
impossible,” echoing the very words used by Jefferson’s granddaughter, Ellen Randolph
Coolidge, in her 1858 letter.72
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Annette Gordon-Reed deals with this issue by presenting superficial “character” argu-
ments — Jefferson as “gentleman,” Jefferson as “cold-blooded,” Jefferson as “family man,”
and Jefferson as “racist”—and then dealing with each of these straw man arguments.73 But
the character questions are far deeper and more complex than Professor Gordon-Reed’s
caricatures suggest.

What Ellen Coolidge meant by “moral impossibility” is rather clear from the context
of the statement in her letter: that it is highly unlikely that Jefferson would begin a sex-
ual relationship with Sally Hemings in France, where she was “lady’s maid” to his daugh-
ters, for this would require us to imagine “so fond, so anxious a father, whose letters to
his daughters were so replete with tenderness, and with good counsels for their conduct,
should . . . have selected the female attendant of his own pure children to become his para-
mour.”74 Similarly, the likelihood of such a relationship existing at Monticello during Jef-
ferson’s presidency — given not only Jefferson’s undoubted love for his children and
grandchildren but also the logistic difficulties entailed in keeping secret a sexual liaison—
suggest a high improbability of such an affair.

Another sense in which a sexual relationship with Sally Hemings would have been
“morally impossible” to Jefferson focuses on his own personal moral code — his self-de-
scribed “Epicurean” philosophy — and the abundant evidence suggesting the seriousness
of his adherence to it.75 This aspect of Jefferson’s character, and its relevance to his per-
sonal life and particularly the Hemings paternity thesis, has yet to be fully explored by schol-
ars. One obvious question is whether Jefferson’s professed beliefs that “[t]he summum
bonum is not to be pained in body, nor troubled in mind” and that “the indulgence which
prevents a greater pleasure, or produces a greater pain is to be avoided”76 might have given
Jefferson reason to remain celibate.

Virtually all the evidence we have about Jefferson himself suggests that he was celibate
following the death of his wife, Martha, in 1782. The closest he came to a sexual rela-
tionship with any woman after 1782 was his “affair” with Maria Cosway in France, but that
relationship might be more accurately described as a non-sexual romantic friendship.
The very passion with which Jefferson expressed his feelings for Mrs. Cosway — illus-
trated by his effusive correspondence with her, particularly his famous “Head and Heart”
letter — makes even more striking the complete absence of evidence of any similar ro-
mantic feelings toward any woman after Jefferson’s return to the United States. The in-
tensity with which Jefferson involved himself in politics during the period 1789–1809 fits
the pattern of other celibate persons throughout history who obsessively pursue their ca-
reers as a substitute for a fulfilling sexual relationship.77 And after his retirement from the
presidency, Jefferson just as passionately pursued the three admitted obsessions of his
life — his “family, farm, and books” — and thus to all appearances kept his deathbed
promise of fidelity to his wife, Martha.

Finally, there is the matter of Jefferson’s unquestioned love and devotion for his chil-
dren and grandchildren — amply evidenced in his correspondence with them and in var-
ious other documentary evidence of life at Monticello and Poplar Forest — in contrast to
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the complete absence of any evidence, direct or circumstantial, showing that Jefferson
displayed any signs of affection toward either Sally Hemings or any of her children. Given
this great contrast, one would have to assume Jefferson had a Dr. Jekyll/Mr. Hyde type
of split personality in order to maintain these two very different families. Jefferson was a
very private man and in many respects a complicated man (and some would say a man
of many contradictions), but not even he would have been able so successfully to lead
the double life that some proponents of the Hemings paternity thesis would have us be-
lieve he led.

Conclusion

Obviously a large number of people, for various reasons, passionately want to believe
that Thomas Jefferson fathered Sally Hemings’ children. These include some of the de-
scendants of two of Sally Hemings’ children who passionately want their families’ oral
traditions — and for many of them and their supporters, their places in American his-
tory — somehow validated by widespread acceptance of the Jefferson paternity thesis as
historical fact. But it is not the role of historians to make people feel good about them-
selves or their family stories; “feel-good” history is not good history. It is, rather, the role
of historians to explain the past as best they can, by following objective methodology and
the evidence. However upsetting this conclusion may be to many people, again for a wide
variety of reasons, it is simply the case that no credible evidence has proven that Thomas
Jefferson fathered any of Sally Hemings’ children.
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I have read the drafts of the Jefferson-Hemings Scholars Commission report and want
to go on record as endorsing it without reservation.

I should like, however, to make an addendum to be included with the final report if
possible. Lest anyone think I have acted out of preconceived ideas favoring Jefferson, let
it be known that I am an unreconstructed Hamiltonian Federalist, and out of my admi-
ration for Alexander Hamilton I have long been disposed to believe the worst about
Thomas Jefferson. Indeed, for nearly four decades I assumed, without thinking much
about it, that the allegations regarding a Thomas Jefferson-Sally Hemings relationship
were founded in fact. Since the kindling of the current controversy over the DNA evi-
dence and Eston Hemings, however, I have studied the subject as thoroughly as I could,
have read the evidence produced by Herbert Barger, and have of course followed the work
of the Scholars Commission — the result being that I have entirely abandoned my earlier
assumption. Thomas Jefferson was simply not guilty of the charge.

Forrest McDonald
Distinguished University Research Professor
University of Alabama
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* Notes for this chapter begin on page 324.

17

Does the DNA Analysis Establish
Thomas Jefferson’s Paternity of 
Sally Hemings’ Children?*

Because of his remarkable contributions to both the discussions about, and the actual
writing of the original documents encoding the American concepts and principles for
liberty and justice in a new democratic society, Thomas Jefferson remains an icon of lib-
eral thinking and of democratic ideals. This lofty stature, however, continues to make
him a tempting target for those hoping to expose some flaw in his character.

A long-standing hypothesis, with little historical foundation, claims that Jefferson is
the father of one or more children born by his slave, Sally Hemings. Because DNA analy-
sis has become a powerful tool for identifying any individual, and because parents pass
on their DNA to their descendants, it would appear that such a scientific test might help
to accurately test the paternity hypothesis, if living descendants of the original charac-
ters in this historic drama could provide DNA samples.

A team of eight scientists, led by Dr. Eugene A. Foster, a retired pathologist in Char-
lottesville, Virginia, undertook to perform such a DNA analysis.1 They had obtained blood
samples from the descendants of two putative sons of Sally Hemings (Thomas Woodson
and Eston Hemings), though there is debate as to whether Thomas Woodson was actu-
ally a child of Sally Hemings. They also had blood samples from five descendants of Field
Jefferson, the uncle of Thomas Jefferson, and samples from three descendants of John
Carr, the father-in-law of Thomas Jefferson’s sister.

Background on DNA Analysis

Most of the DNA that encodes the human genome is located in the nucleus of cells,
and is distributed among twenty-three different chromosomes. All such chromosomes
exist in pairs, with one member of each pair coming from each parent. For twenty-two
of these chromosomes it is very difficult to distinguish which member of the pair is the
paternal chromosome. Only with the XY chromosome pair is it obvious and therefore
easy to make this distinction, because the Y chromosome determines maleness and is
passed from father to son. An additional benefit is that the Y chromosome is the small-
est of all the chromosomes. It has only a small amount of genetic information; it does not
undergo as much variation with time in different generations, so that the Y chromosome
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in a modern descendant should still greatly resemble the ancestral Y chromosome of 200
years ago.2,3,4 Thus, the clear benefit of using only the Y chromosome is that it specifically
and reliably follows the paternal line of descent.

The DNA in human chromosomes consists of a duplex of two DNA strands. Each
strand is a linear molecule, composed of only four types of nucleotides, designated by
the letters A, C, G, and T.5 DNA is organized as informational units, genes, and each gene
has the information to define the amino acid sequence of a specific protein, which are
the functional agents in cellular biochemistry. Because it requires three consecutive nu-
cleotides, defined as a codon, to designate a specific amino acid, there are actually sixty-
four codons to define the twenty different amino acids found in our proteins. That is,
for each amino acid there are usually three possible codons, and sometimes five or six
codons. An important benefit of this is that frequently a codon in a gene can undergo a
change at one nucleotide, and this altered codon will have the same identity for the amino
acid that was originally specified. Therefore many alterations in our DNA have absolutely
no effect, because they cause no change in the protein that is coded by that gene.

Like our DNA, proteins are also linear molecules, containing the twenty different types
of amino acids in a string, or sequence, that is again unique for each protein. Alterations
in our DNA are also tolerated because of the twenty types of amino acids that make up
proteins; often several different amino acids can be placed at some specific position in
the protein sequence without changing the shape of the protein, and therefore without
changing the function of the protein. Again, this feature makes it permissible for certain
DNA alterations (mutations) to occur, because by substitution of a single amino acid
they cause a change in the protein that has no harmful consequences.

Types of Changes in DNA

When cells divide, the entire DNA content in the nucleus must first be duplicated to
yield two complete sets of DNA that are in theory identical. The actual duplication of
the parental DNA is performed by enzymes which are remarkably efficient, but which
are not perfect. Occasionally they will make an error, so that the newly copied DNA may
now include some small alteration. Such alterations are of two types:

1. nucleotide substitution

2. insertion or deletion of nucleotide(s)

If a typist were to simply type all the text in some book, occasionally the typist might
strike the wrong letter key in a particular word. This would be comparable to a nucleotide
substitution. If the typist becomes distracted and types the same sentence three times in
succession, this would be an insertion because there is now extra text. Or, the typist could
miss several sentences in the original text, and produce a slightly abbreviated copy. This
is a deletion.

The above changes are not always harmful, and therefore are retained in the copied DNA.
In the same way that we can often still understand a word even though it contains a ty-
pographical error, substitutions in DNA are often tolerated. And while insertions of du-
plicated text are unattractive, they again may not change the meaning. Deletions are more
likely to be serious.

Through time many such changes, or mutations, may occur in our DNA when they
cause no harm to the person(s) carrying these slightly altered genes. Even harmful muta-
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tions may continue in the twenty-two autosomes, because these come in pairs and the
matching chromosome may still have a normal gene. Therefore, in our population all peo-
ple have inherited comparable, but often unique changes in their DNA. These changes are
very specific to a family line, though some of them have naturally spread more widely into
our population, depending on how far back in time a particular change first occurred.
The result of this continuing alteration of our DNA is that among living humans, for any
two individuals more than 99% of their DNA will be identical when compared position
by position along the DNA sequence. At the same time, enough variation has arisen in
the human lineage that each individual probably has at least one truly unique feature.

Strategy of the DNA Analysis

Because variations or changes in DNA are caused by one or more specific alterations in
a very large sequence, how do we detect such changes? Three major experimental ap-
proaches exist, which differ in their complexity and expense, and also in their resolution
or accuracy:

Method 1. Sequencing a complete segment of DNA.

Method 2. Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP).

Method 3. Identifying unique sites by amplifying the DNA with the polymerase chain
reaction (PCR).

Method 1 is the most accurate, but also the most difficult. Clearly, one could completely se-
quence the entire Y chromosome from two or more men. Then, by carefully comparing these
linear sequences, we could detect any position at which the nucleotide in the separate se-
quences was not identical—thereby implying that one or more had undergone a change.
While this procedure would be very accurate, the sheer size of a single chromosome, in terms
of the number of total nucleotides to be sequenced, makes this an enormously complex and
therefore exceedingly expensive effort. Even the human Y chromosome, the smallest of all
twenty-four human chromosomes, contains an estimated 35,000,000 bases in its sequence.6

Scientists have therefore devised two simpler procedures that are likely to give us a
meaningful test. Method 2 depends on the ability of a select group of DNA-cutting en-
zymes to accurately recognize a short string of nucleotides, like a short string of letters
in a sentence, and chemically cut the DNA at this position, thereby producing two smaller
DNA molecules. These DNA-cutting enzymes are called restriction enzymes. Because it
is very simple to measure the physical size of a DNA molecule, then by using several such
restriction enzymes one can easily test how many cuts are made (by the number of smaller
DNA restriction fragments produced), and estimate where the cuts are made (by the vari-
able size of the DNA fragments).

As more changes have occurred between two DNA molecules that are being compared,
the likelihood increases that at least one such change will alter a recognition site for a re-
striction enzyme. This will be directly visible in the number of DNA fragments produced,
and by changes in the size of such DNA fragments. Thus, when cut by a single restric-
tion enzyme, the DNA fragments will vary as to the number and size when DNA from
very different human groups are compared. That is, one DNA molecule may contain four
sites at which it is cut by a single enzyme while a different DNA molecule may contain
six sites for cutting. If the two DNA molecules are initially the same size, then the num-
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ber and sizes of fragments will be different when the sample molecules are cut four times
or six times. Such variations are referred to as “restriction fragment length polymor-
phism,” or simply by the initials RFLP. Note that large segments of DNA need not be ac-
curately sequenced by this procedure. Instead it helps to determine if two or more different
DNA molecules have the same few, small identical sites. The observed variation in such
RFLPs was an early method for a DNA identification test.

Method 3 uses a different approach, based on identifying by sequence small sites in the
DNA at which change occurs more frequently. Clearly this is only possible if the sites
being changed are not essential for our normal health and function, and therefore are
maintained over generations. Imagine that one wanted to find where, in older automo-
biles driving down a street, damage was likely to exist. Clearly damage would not be likely
in the engine or carburetor if the cars are actually running. But one might readily ob-
serve dents in door panels, sagging bumpers, or rust on the fenders. This is the type of
damage that an automobile may accumulate with age, while otherwise running normally.
Now, if different car models were constructed with different quality sheet metal or dif-
ferent construction standards, then it might happen that Fords had problems with door
panels, while Hondas were more likely to have rusty fenders, and so forth. This analogy
is intended to suggest why specific changes may occur and be maintained within a fam-
ily line, and that they are likely to be observed only at specific sites in the DNA. Such po-
sitions where various changes in the DNA are observed are then the sites of polymorphism.

Helpful to such comparative studies is the fact that some regions in a DNA molecule
are more susceptible to change. Currently studies of the human Y chromosome have led
to a series of defined sites for restriction enzymes or PCR probes that are both readily de-
tectable and also shown to have varying frequencies of occurrence among different groups
of people.7,8,9,10,11,12,13 Such established DNA sites are therefore useful in efforts to compare
separate DNA samples without an inordinate amount of work. For the work by Foster et
al. on the Y chromosomal DNA, nineteen separate sites had been identified as useful be-
cause variations frequently were observed there. As shown in Figures 12–16, these include
seven bi-allelic markers, eleven microsatellite short tandem repeats (STRs), and the min-
isatellite MSY1. The latter is considered one site, though it contains various arrangements
of four different DNA patterns, whose type or identity is identified in parentheses.14

Once the exact sequence of such individual sites is known, it is possible to detect their
existence by using a small DNA probe (synthesized chemically) designed for that specific
site, and then using the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technique to make very many
copies of this DNA segment, if in fact the Y chromosome being tested contains this seg-
ment. This highly amplified set of DNA molecules will all be small and identical, and
therefore very easy to measure. This method clearly depends on knowing in advance the
sequence of sites that are likely to show variation in a population (polymorphism). Only
in the last ten years have enough such polymorphic sites become identified for the Y chro-
mosome to make Method 3 more applicable.15

All our chromosomes come in pairs. The set of chromosomes inherited from one par-
ent is half the total, and is referred to as a haploid set, while the combination of these two
haploid sets from our two parents equals a diploid set. When only one member of a chro-
mosome pair (the Y chromosome from the XY pair) is analyzed for its DNA, the DNA
pattern is then designated a haplotype.

For the work by Foster et al. both Methods 2 and 3 were used in an analysis that in-
cluded nineteen distinct sites in the DNA haplotype at which changes have been observed
in the general population.
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Figure 12. The Jefferson Family Line. Five living descendants of Field Jefferson, designated
by code (J##) have the DNA haplotypes shown, as determined by Foster et al. The haplo-
types are also by a numerical code, where the number represents how often that microsatellite
or minisatellite sequence segment was repeated. One needs only compare the numbers, at
a given position from left to right, to see if they are the same or different. It can then be seen
that the first four men have identical haplotypes, while J50 has an extra STR segment at
one position, an insertion, indicated in bold. All five men would be considered to have the
Jefferson haplotype. This is the family tree presented in the DNA study by Foster et al. that
omitted Randolph Jefferson and his sons, who have been added in Figure 16.

It is important to appreciate that many changes may have occurred that would be un-
detected by this analytic procedure, because only nineteen small sites within a very
large amount of DNA are being examined. However, any observed change would be a
true and positive result. As an illustration of this, consider that one wished to verify if
a typist had correctly typed the entire text of an encyclopedia, and could examine only
nineteen pages of the newly typed text. Clearly many errors could have occurred on
the unexamined pages, and these would not be detected. But, any error that was ob-
served on the nineteen pages being examined would be direct proof that a change had
occurred.

Results of the DNA Analysis by Foster et al.

While Dr. Eugene Foster, the lead author of the Nature paper, organized this DNA
project, it appears that most of the specific scientific work was done by the seven co-au-
thors, who were scientists working in England or in Holland. Because these scientists had
recently published papers on examining Y chromosome polymorphisms in humans,16

they appear to be well qualified for the scientific work involved.

Normally Y chromosomes are carried by males who are designated as XY, for this chro-
mosome pair, in contrast to females who are designated as XX. Because Thomas Jefferson
had no sons that lived to adulthood, it was not possible to get a Y chromosome sample
from a direct descendant of Thomas Jefferson. Foster and associates therefore relied on
samples derived from descendants of Field Jefferson. As the paternal uncle of Thomas Jef-
ferson, this individual and his direct male descendants would be expected to share the same
Y chromosome inherited by both Thomas Jefferson and Field Jefferson from their com-
mon ancestor, Thomas Jefferson II—the grandfather of Thomas Jefferson (see Figure 12).

Of the five direct descendants expected to carry the original Jefferson haplotype, four
had identical patterns, and the fifth had evidence of a single change at one position out
of the nineteen specific positions in the DNA being examined (as shown in Figure 12).
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Figure 13. The Carr Family Line. Two of the men have an identical haplotype, while C29
has a change at two positions. All three men would be considered to have the Carr hap-
lotype.

Figure 14.  The Woodson/Hemings Family Line. The dashed line from Sally Hemings to
Thomas Woodson reflects a lack of consensus as to whether he was her son. Three of the
Woodson men (W55, W56, W69) have an identical haplotype, while W61 has a change
at two positions. These four men would be considered to have the Woodson haplotype.
W70 has a completely different haplotype. H21, descended from Eston Hemings, has the
Jefferson haplotype which is shown by J41.

These results give some assurance about the constancy of the DNA being examined, be-
cause it spans more than 200 years and up to eight generations.

DNA from the three descendants of John Carr had a very different haplotype from
that of the Jeffersons (Figure 13), varying at almost half the sites in comparison to the Jef-
fersons (see Figure 16). Because the Carrs were related to Thomas Jefferson by his sister,
and they had no known common ancestor, they would of course have a different Y chro-
mosome. This result is therefore quite normal. Again, the three Carr descendants have a
haplotype pattern that is very similar to each other, consistent with the general constancy
of the Y chromosome.

Five descendants of Thomas Woodson had a haplotype pattern that was significantly
different from the Jefferson haplotype (Figure 14). Of these five, four had a haplotype pat-
tern that was almost the same, while W70 had a completely different haplotype. This lat-
ter finding strongly supports that for this individual the original Woodson Y chromosome
was replaced at some time in the past seven generations by an outside Y chromosome. Thus,
the current Woodson descendants are completely unrelated to the Jefferson male line. By
extension, their ancestor Thomas Woodson cannot be descended from Thomas Jefferson.

Because there are reports that Peter and Samuel Carr had made claims about father-
ing Sally Hemings’ children, we can compare the Woodson and Carr haplotypes. If Thomas
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Figure 15. Comparison of the three family haplotypes, using three individuals from Fig-
ure 16. Positions where the Jefferson haplotype differs from the other two are marked by a
solid circle. Where the Woodson and Carr haplotypes differ is marked by an open circle.

Woodson was indeed conceived while Sally Hemings was in Paris, then no relationship
is expected between the Carrs and Thomas Woodson. The comparison in Figure 15 was
done by taking one member from the Carr family (C27) plus a descendant of Thomas Wood-
son (W55), plus one member from the Jefferson family (J41) for comparison. This directly
emphasizes how different the Jefferson haplotype is from the other two. And, while there
are only four differences between C27 and W55, the probability of that occurring in a
few generations from a common ancestor is highly unlikely, as will be described later.
Therefore, it is not credible that a Carr brother was the father of Thomas Woodson.

The two more significant results of the DNA study are the DNA correspondence be-
tween the Jefferson haplotype and the Eston Hemings haplotype, and the complete lack
of such a correspondence with the Woodson haplotype. That Thomas Woodson, who is
presumed to have been conceived while Sally Hemings was with Thomas Jefferson in
Paris, did not have the Jefferson haplotype is very significant, because this indicates that
Sally Hemings conceived by another male at a time (in Paris) when Thomas Jefferson was
the only member of his clan in that city.

The finding that one current descendant of Eston Hemings has a haplotype that is ex-
actly the same as the Jefferson haplotype (Figure 16) strongly implies that some ancestor
of this person was sired by a man carrying the Jefferson Y chromosome. Most probably
this occurred with the conception of Eston Hemings at Monticello, because Eston Hem-
ings himself moved as an adult out of Virginia, thereby physically separating his descen-
dants from the Jefferson family.

What Is the Likelihood for Changes Within a Haplotype?

Clearly, the benefit of using the Y chromosome for this analysis was the expectation,
based on current knowledge, that overall changes in this chromosome are not common.
However, a few specific sites have been identified in recent years where variability is suf-
ficiently frequent that changes at these sites may now help to identify individuals. We see
clear support for this, because after 6–8 generations, for the three family haplotypes
shown in Figures 12–14, only one person in each set has shown changes from the pat-
tern of the others in that family. (W70, in the Woodson family, is excluded from this
analysis, because he clearly was not a member of the Woodson haplotype.)

Within the three family haplotypes (all summarized in Figure 16) two current males
have a change at one position (J50 and W61) and one has changes at two positions (C29).
The frequency for a single change at the MSY1 site has been determined at 2–11%,17 so
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that having two out of fourteen men (in Figure 16) show a change at this site is quite
normal. The frequency for change in the microsatellite STRs is about 2.1 ¥ 10–3 (about
one in 500).18 Therefore, seeing two of fourteeen men in Figure 16 (J50 and C29) with
one STR change is unexpected for such a small sample. However, these probabilities al-
most completely exclude a relationship between the Carrs and Thomas Woodson. To
change the Carr haplotype to the Woodson haplotype requires two changes in the STRs
for a single person, with a combined probability of 4.4 ¥ 10–6 (about one in 227,000). While
the Carr brothers may have fathered children by Sally Hemings, the current DNA sam-
ples do not support this in regard to Thomas Woodson.

Interpretation of the DNA Analysis by Foster et al.

The title of the article published by Foster et al. to report their results was: “Jefferson
fathered slave’s last child.” This title is not a statement of fact. It therefore represents an
unfortunate lapse, because Foster et al. omitted any presentation of the number of adult
male Jeffersons living in 1807 in that region of Virginia (Figure 12). This has been cor-
rected (Figure 16) to include Thomas Jefferson’s younger brother Randolph, and Ran-
dolph’s five sons, who all lived nearby. Four of Randolph Jefferson’s sons would have been
old enough to beget a child. This would have been possible at their age in 1807, which
can be determined from their birth year (Figure 16), obtained from family records.19 A
title that would have been more correct, given the available data, would be: “A member
of the Jefferson clan fathered slave’s last child.” Even this would not be an absolute state-
ment of fact, but simply a more reasonable interpretation.

The above article in Nature was preceded by an opinion piece which was meant to
focus attention on the DNA article, and to emphasize its dramatic conclusion.20 This
opinion piece was written by two American professors: Eric S. Lander, a molecular bi-
ologist and geneticist, and Joseph J. Ellis, a historian. In their article these two authors
state: “DNA analysis by Foster et al. shows that he [Thomas Jefferson] fathered at least
one child by his slave, Sally Hemings.” Again, this statement misrepresents the actual
results.

What was actually demonstrated by the DNA analysis is that a male with the Jefferson
Y chromosome was the father of Eston Hemings. Even the DNA results do not absolutely
establish this connection with a Jefferson male because the statistical probability that a non-
family member near Monticello would have this haplotype is less than 1%, but it is not
zero. Therefore, while the probability that a member of the Jefferson clan fathered Eston
Hemings is very high, greater than 99%, it is not 100%. However, for most people these
results confirm that a Jefferson male sired Eston Hemings.

It is of interest that Nature, a very prestigious journal that carefully limits the size (page
space) of accepted research articles, gave slightly more space to the opinion piece by Lan-
der and Ellis than was used for the actual DNA paper itself,21 because Foster et al. in a
later commentary claimed “Space constraints prevented us from expanding on alterna-
tive interpretations.”22

Clearly, the journal was willing to give extra page space to promote an exciting inter-
pretation of the DNA results, and this was helped by the actions of Foster et al. in omit-
ting to mention that Jefferson had a brother and nephews living nearby. As shown in
Figure 16, little extra space is required to include Randolph Jefferson and his sons in the
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family tree. In responding to criticisms of his paper, Foster stated: “we hoped to obtain
some objective data that would tilt the weight of evidence in one direction or another.”23

However, one should not “tilt” the evidence by omitting important facts.

Two final possibilities need to be considered:

1. While it is normal to assume that Thomas Jefferson shares the Jefferson DNA
haplotype, there is a small chance that he in fact had some other DNA, in the same
way that we see in Figure 14 that one of the current Woodsons has a Y chromo-
some different from the rest of his family. This is an unlikely scenario, and there
is no historical support for this.

2. An ancestor of Thomas Jefferson may have produced male children by a slave
woman. Such a male slave on the estate would then have had the same Y chro-
mosome DNA haplotype as the Jefferson family. If such a slave produced a son
by Sally Hemings, this would also lead to this child’s descendants having the Jef-
ferson Y haplotype.

Conclusion

The DNA test has several important results:

1. Thomas Woodson could not have been related to Thomas Jefferson. Then if
Thomas Woodson was conceived in Paris, it had to be by a different father. This
in turn argues for Sally Hemings conceiving children by more than one partner,
because the Woodson descendants have a different haplotype from the descen-
dant of Eston Hemings.

2. The Carr brothers could not have been related to Thomas Woodson. Also, the
Carr brothers have a haplotype significantly different from the Jefferson haplo-
type found in a descendant of Eston Hemings. These results show that they could
not have sired the first or last child of Sally Hemings. The DNA gives no evi-
dence regarding the paternity by either Carr brother of the remaining children
born to Sally Hemings.

3. One current descendant of Eston Hemings had the Jefferson DNA haplotype.
This strongly supports that Eston Hemings, the last child of Sally Hemings, also
had the Jefferson Y DNA haplotype. People who could have been responsible for
this child’s paternity include Thomas Jefferson, Randolph Jefferson and four of
Randolph’s sons, other Jefferson males in the Field Jefferson family, or even male
slaves sired by ancestors of Thomas Jefferson. It will require some careful doc-
umentation by historians (if appropriate records exist) to determine which of
these males could have been at Monticello during the few weeks in 1807 when
Eston Hemings could have been conceived.
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* Editor’s Note: Upon learning that Scholars Commission member Professor Thomas Traut’s play-
wright spouse had researched Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings in preparation for a play she pro-
duced in the 1980s, we urged him to bring her with him to our December 2000 meetings near Dulles
Airport. We found her account of her own efforts to find the truth in this matter fascinating, and
urged her to prepare the following essay for inclusion as an annex to her husband’s Individual Views
in our final report. I commend it to anyone interested in the search for the truth in this matter, and
especially to those who believe that Randolph Jefferson was never considered a paternity suspect until
after the 1998 DNA tests ruled out the Carr brothers as possible fathers of Eston Hemings.

1. Thomas Jefferson, An Intimate History; Fawn M. Brodie; Bantam Books, New York, 1974.

18

Thomas Jefferson:  Brother’s Keeper*

A Playwright’s Progress

I first began researching Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings in connection with writ-
ing a play more than three decades ago. Because my process of exploration and research
into the topic was different from academic or legal conventions, I thought it best to write
of my experiences in this subject matter as it evolved from a playwright’s perspective.

A playwright’s task when writing of either historical or fictional characters is to understand
them so thoroughly that they come to life within the mind of the playwright. At that
point the characters seemingly begin to “talk” for themselves. With an historical figure,
especially one as pivotal to the very nature of the American consciousness as Thomas Jef-
ferson, a playwright must work hard at the research, checking many sides and angles of
point of view. Not every playwright sees his/her task this way. Shakespeare himself wor-
ried little about historical accuracy and his plays have not suffered for the lack. However,
for myself as an American playwright who is concerned that our history and mythology
are too often commingled, I felt it imperative to present an accurate portrait of this cru-
cial American figure.

The second quality I bring to my research, which is perhaps different from a typically
scholarly or legal approach to a subject, is a proficiency at working jigsaw puzzles. There
are many trials and errors in the working of a jigsaw puzzle, not to mention frustration
and hair pulling over near attempts at fit. Not all pieces slip perfectly into alignment. Two
sides to a piece can fit yet the piece can be erroneous because a third or fourth does not.
If the piece is the wrong fit, the puzzle won’t coalesce until the wrong piece is removed.
When a piece does fit it is like music. Every other piece in the puzzle can now find its
place in the resulting unified whole. This is what happened when I found the “piece” of
the Jefferson “puzzle” that was Randolph, Thomas Jefferson’s brother.

In the late 1970s, I read the Book of the Month club selection, Thomas Jefferson, An
Intimate History, by Fawn M. Brodie.1 It was enormously popular at the time and much
was written about it. Important to our discussion, Brodie was said to have presented a unique
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2. Ibid. p. 479; Brodie’s reference is: Ellen Randolph Coolidge to Joseph Coolidge, Jr. October 24,
1858, manuscript owned by Harold Jefferson Coolidge.

3. Ibid.; Quoting Randall quoting Thomas Jefferson’s grandson, Thomas Jefferson Randolph; p.
322.

4. Supreme Court of the United States, Loving et Ux. V. Virginia, 1967.

picture of Thomas Jefferson’s relationship with Sally Hemings as a love story rather than
as sexual abuse of a slave. It was a compelling theory, which the nation took to heart. It
appeared to be a successful attempt to soften the anger that many African Americans held
against Thomas Jefferson for this purported relationship. Brodie was said also to have
defended her interpretation by saying that the All White Male establishment of American
historians simply could not believe that Thomas Jefferson could have had an affair with
a slave and so dismissed it out of hand. Thus, she dismissed their dismissal with an ad
homonym argument.

Being inclined to believe Brodie’s story, I read the book, embraced it and became fas-
cinated with the character of “Tom Hemings.” Tom Hemings, Brodie claimed, was con-
ceived in France and born to Sally Hemings shortly after her return to Virginia. Brodie
further suggests that “Tom” grew to adulthood and passed into white society, disappear-
ing from historical records.

When her [Sally Hemings’] son Tom left Monticello is unknown. It is likely, as
we have said, that he was one of the four “yellow” children” at Monticello, de-
scribed by Jefferson’s granddaughter Ellen Randolph Coolidge as “white enough
to pass for white” who were permitted to leave under the euphemism of “run-
ning away.” 2

This “Tom” also supposedly looked like Thomas Jefferson. Brodie leads the reader to be-
lieve “Tom” was an actual person and that we have a possible image of him:

We do not know if it was Tom or Madison or Eston Hemings that Jefferson’s
grandson was describing when he talked to Henry Randall: “ . . . in one case the
resemblance was so close that at some distance . . . the slave, dressed in the same
way, might have been mistaken for Mr. Jefferson.”3

Note here that Thomas Jefferson Randolph is describing a resemblance from a distance.
This would imply that the resemblance [of most possibly Eston, Sally Hemings’ last son
who is linked with the male Jefferson line by the DNA study] to Thomas Jefferson was one
of skin tone, height and weight, not necessarily facial features. This would explain the
difference in contemporary points of view between African Americans who say that Eston
looked like Thomas Jefferson and Euro-Americans who say he did not. Many African
Americans distinguish looks on the basis of skin tone whereas Euro Americans tend to dis-
tinguish looks on the basis of facial features, hair color and texture.

Here was my character for a play. A son born to the most compelling American Found-
ing Father, who in a fully free country would have been an obvious candidate for presi-
dent (as was John Adams’ son John Quincy Adams), but because of slavery and the law
against miscegenation (which was struck down in Virginia only in 1967 by the Supreme
Court ruling in Loving v. Virginia),4 could only at best “pass” into oblivion.

I began work. I mulled the play and talked it over with my colleagues, among whom
were many African Americans. There was much fascination and excitement. The con-
versations were deep and poignant.

In 1978, actively imaging the play about “Thomas Hemings,” I moved with my hus-
band and two teenage sons from Los Angeles to Chapel Hill, North Carolina. I joined a
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5. Madison Hemings, “Life Among the Lowly, No. 1,” Pike County Ohio Republican, March 13,
1873 (“Reminiscences of Madison Hemings” Appendix I, Part I; Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History,
Brodie, p. 639.).

book reading group and again read Fawn Brodie’s Thomas Jefferson for their selection.
One of the women in the group was a social worker married to an historian. She said her
husband said the book was complete “nonsense” (I’m not sure of the exact word, but it
was along this line) and more of an historical novel than a work of history. I asked her
what she herself thought. She said that she loved it. All in the group loved it. My project
continued.

In this same year, 1978, the permanent residents of Chapel Hill, as contrasted with
the student population, were largely faculty or connected to the University in some way.
Our neighborhood held several historians who became our friends. When I told the idea
of my project to one of them he gently informed me that “no one” in the historical com-
munity believed the Jefferson-Hemings liaison. I couldn’t dismiss his statement with
Brodie’s defense that white men alone opposed her theory because his wife was also an
historian.

My undergraduate education in English at the University of California at Berkeley was
rigorous regarding the importance of checking sources. From my early years there I’d ad-
hered to the belief that it was imperative to let the research determine the model rather
than the model determine the research. To honor my neighbors’ expertise, and also to
be able to hold my play up to them, I decided to check Brodie’s sources.

It was a sunny day when I took my work outside to read through the footnotes and ap-
pendages from Thomas Jefferson: An Intimate History. As I read Madison Hemings’ account,
a storm brewed in my mind despite the luxuriant weather. Madison’s account tells of the
child supposedly conceived by Sally Hemings in France to be one who died in infancy. Fur-
ther, Madison’s account gives the child no name.

. . . She [Sally Hemings] returned with him [Thomas Jefferson] to Virginia. Soon
after their arrival, she gave birth to a child, of whom Thomas Jefferson was the
father. It lived but a short time.5

Fawn Brodie had thrown out the pieces of the puzzle that didn’t fit her model. Where
she then left holes, she simply filled in with conjecture using often the word “innuendo”
to defend her position. Even further, there was no evidence that the historical character
I had centered my play upon had ever existed. There was no record of such a birth in the
Monticello ledger. If he had existed, he wasn’t necessarily named Tom and he might have
died in infancy. I suddenly had no play.

By this time Thomas Jefferson himself had taken hold of me. I began to entertain the
idea of his being a central character, but wondered how I could take on such a huge sym-
bol. I wanted my play to be historically accurate, but if Thomas Jefferson himself were to
be the central character I would have to do much more research than I’d originally planned.
Fortunately I was in an academic community with an excellent library. I decided to take
six months off from my day job to do the research, not knowing at this point where it would
lead.

I spent months in the stacks and at the card catalogue of the Wilson Library at the
University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. I found sections on early Charlottesville
records which enabled me to get a sense of the “feeling” of the times; I read not only per-
sonal materials on Thomas Jefferson, looking always for the person behind the figure,
but writings of others at the times in order to flesh out the 18th and early 19th centuries
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6. Letter from Thomas Jefferson to Mrs. Eppes, Paris, July 28, 1787 in The Domestic Life of Thomas
Jefferson by S. N. Randolph, Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation; The University Press of Vir-
ginia, 1978; p.127.

7. The Domestic Life of Thomas Jefferson; S.N. Randolph; p. 124.
8. The Family Letters of Thomas Jefferson; Edited by Edwin Morris Betts and James Adam Bear,

Jr.; University of Missouri Press; Columbia, MO, 1986; p. 31.

in Virginia and Paris. I visited Monticello. I took on several “Jefferson” activities to “get
inside,” as theater people say, “the character.” I concentrated on long letter writing, long
walks, idealistic government, innovations in the home, and discovered for the first time
blessings of the 20th century not known in the 18th and 19th: We didn’t have to deal with
plagues such as yellow fever that could sweep through a city while one was visiting. We
also expected each child to live to adulthood. The grief that the wealthiest people suf-
fered as common occurrences in the 18th and 19th centuries is known only among the
poorest of today’s population. Thomas Jefferson and his wife lost, including her son from
her first marriage, five children in infancy. Mrs. Jefferson herself died in her early 30s.
The burden of these losses was so great that, when their daughter, Lucy, died while he was
in France, Jefferson became profoundly intent on bringing his last surviving daughter in
America, Polly, to join him in Paris. An ocean voyage for his daughter, with all its dan-
gers, was apparently less ominous to him than the possibility of death by disease during
separation. A ‘servant’ who was in attendance to Polly would have been less significant to
him than the presence of Polly herself, the third in his family now reduced to three: Him-
self, his daughter Martha, and she. His concern for Polly’s health would also make it most
likely that the servant would have continued to attend Polly in the convent where Polly
spent most of her time in France. As Jefferson reported two weeks after Polly arrived in
Paris: “She [Polly] is now established in the convent, perfectly happy.”6

Polly’s character was a delight for a playwright to encounter. From her letters she ap-
pears to have been more independent than her older sister Martha. An expressive child,
she did not want to go to France and told her father of these wishes succinctly in several
letters. Mrs. Eppes, with whom Polly was staying while Jefferson and his daughter Martha
were in France, wrote to Jefferson in March, 1787, regarding the difficulty of persuading
Polly to join them in Paris:

We have made use of every stratagem to prevail on her to consent to visit you with-
out effect. She is more averse to it than I could have supposed; either of my chil-
dren would with pleasure take her place for the number of good things she is
promised.7

It is my acknowledged conjecture — based on my knowledge of children, having both
raised and taught them — that Polly is the one who did not want to leave for France un-
less her young companion (perhaps even friend) Sally went with her. In her own letters,
as well as the above from Mrs. Eppes, Polly resisted the trip:

[ca. 22 May 1786?]

Dear Papa – I long to see you, and hope that you and sister Patsy are well . . . and
hope that you and she will come very soon to see us. . . . I am very sorry that you
have sent for me. I don’t want to go to France. I had rather stay with Aunt
Eppes. . . . Your most happy and dutiful daughter. Polly Jefferson8

My six months of planned research had stretched into seven years. I realized I could spend
my life researching Jefferson. I’d also discovered, as Brodie before me, an intense dislike
of Thomas Jefferson among African American colleagues. This dislike was curious to me
because I’d been riveted by his lifelong attempts to end slavery. Even though unable to end

turner 20 ktraut auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 332



THOMAS JEFFERSON: BROTHER’S KEEPER 333

9. Letter to John Holmes from Thomas Jefferson; The Life and Selected Writings of Thomas Jeffer-
son; edited by Adrienne Koch and William Peden, The Modern Library, Random House, Inc., New
York, 1944, pp. 698–99.

it himself, his hopes for its eventual end never ceased. For example: When the Missouri
compromise was reached his anguish was articulated in a letter to John Holmes:

Monticello, April 22, 1820

This momentous question, like a fire-bell in the night, awakened and filled me
with terror. I considered it at once as the knell of the Union. It is hushed, in-
deed, for the moment. But this is a reprieve only, not a final sentence. A geographical
line coinciding with a marked principle, moral and political, once conceived and
held up to the angry passions of men, will never be obliterated; and every new
irritation will mark it deeper and deeper . . . there is not a man on earth who
would sacrifice more than I would to relieve us from this heavy reproach, in any
practicable way. The cession of that kind of property, for so it is misnamed, is a
bagatelle which would not cost me a second thought, if, in that way, a general
emancipation and expatriation could be effected; and, gradually, and with due
sacrifices, I think it might be. . . . 

I regret that I am now to die in the belief, that the useless sacrifice of them-
selves of the generation of 1776, to acquire self-government and happiness to
their country, is to be thrown away by unwise and unworthy passions of their sons
and that my only consolation is to be, that I live not to weep over it. If they
would but dispassionately weigh the blessings they will throw away, against an
abstract principle more likely to be effected by union than by scission, they would
pause before they would perpetrate this act of suicide on themselves, and of trea-
son against the hopes of the world.9

It became clear to me that slave owners were as enslaved in the slave system as were the
slaves themselves. (Albeit in a materially preferred life, but a life morally repugnant to
any who could not blind themselves to their condition.) Thus I found the central conflict
for my character: The man who wrote the text of the Declaration of Independence strug-
gling throughout his life to free himself and his country of slavery. I did not have a fit-
ting answer to the puzzle of the paternity of Sally Hemings’ children until late in my
research.

Regarding Sally Hemings and the children of unnamed paternity, I went back and
forth for years. Clearly there was no evidence of a child conceived by Sally in France. No
listing in the Monticello register, no first hand stories of this child as seen or witnessed
at Monticello by anyone who lived or worked on the premises.

The Woodson family oral history claims were not public in the early 80s when I was
doing the research for my play, which became Saturday’s Children. The DNA now proves
there is no connection between the Woodson male line and the Jefferson male line. If the
Woodson oral history had been available to me at the time I would have discounted it
because I was looking only at reports by witnesses of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings. Second and third hand stories were too easily embellished. For this reason I dis-
missed the Carr brothers as possible fathers of Sally Hemings’ children. The only stories
of the Carr brothers available to me at the time were second and third hand.

The Woodson family bibles are compelling family treasures but could not have been
recorded by witnesses because Thomas Woodson himself could not have witnessed events
and people during the time of his own conception. After his twelfth year Thomas Wood-
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10. “Researchers focus on descendants of Jefferson’s slaves” by Ian Zack; Daily Progress, (date un-
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lan Publishing Co, Inc.; New York, 1977; p. 197.

12. The Domestic Life of Thomas Jefferson; S.N. Randolph; p. 64.
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p. 262.

son would have lived only among non-relatives. Finally, Madison Hemings’ account makes
no reference to a Thomas who was sent to another plantation:

According to the Woodson family descendants, who now hold regular reunions,
Thomas Woodson was secretly ushered from Monticello at the age of 12 after
rumors began spreading about a relationship between Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings. Angered that his father would disown him, he took the surname of the
family he lived with after leaving Monticello.

Woodson wound up in southern Ohio, living 20 miles east of his brothers Madi-
son and Eston. All of Woodson’s children became educators, ministers or both.10

If Woodson knew Madison and Eston were his brothers and only 20 miles east of him in
Ohio, why did Madison not seem to know of his existence? Even if there had been a child
conceived in France, why a child of obviously white paternity would be proof of Thomas
Jefferson’s seed eluded me. Most of the men living in France at the time were white —
including the servants.

The “fit” just wasn’t there. There were thirty years difference in age between Thomas
Jefferson and Sally Hemings. It was inconsistent with his character to be attracted to maid-
ens. His wife was a widow, Maria Cosway. The recipient of the famed letter from Thomas
Jefferson known as ‘Dialogue between my Head and my Heart’ was married, and the flir-
tation he admitted to having had in his bachelor days was also to a married woman, Mrs.
Walker. 11

Then again Sally Hemings was possibly his wife’s half sister. Could he have seen the
features of his wife in her face? If so, how could he have remained a racist to the end of
his life?

Could he have found similar character traits of one he loved intensely beyond the
grave? But if so, why would it not soften the intensity of his feelings for his deceased wife?
Sarah N. Randolph records:

Years afterwards (after Mrs. Jefferson’s death) he wrote the following epitaph for
his wife’s tomb: “Torn from him by death/Sept. 6, 1782:/This Monument of his
Love is inscribed.

If in the melancholy shades below
The flames of friends and lovers cease to glow,
Yet mine shall sacred last; mine undecayed
Burn on through death and animate my shade*

*These four lines Mr. Jefferson left in the Greek in the original epitaph.12

It was clear that he was against slavery but for separation of the races—“Beyond the reach
of mixture. . . .”13 How could he have fathered children into both slavery which he found
abominable and dark skin which he found inferior? If they were his children, why did he
not dote on them as he did his grandchildren? In Madison’s account — he was uniformly
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14. Reminiscences of Madison Hemings; “Life Among the Lowly, No. 1.” Thomas Jefferson: An In-
timate History, Brodie; p. 642.

15. Jefferson to Francis C. Gray, March 4, 1815, Volume XIV p. 267, The Writings of Thomas Jef-
ferson; definitive edition, Albert Ellery Bergh, Editor, The Thomas Jefferson Memorial Association, 1907.

16. James Parton: The Father of Modern Biography, Milton E. Flower, Durham, N.C. 1951, pp.
236–39.

17. Jefferson at Monticello: The Private Life of Thomas Jefferson by Rev. Hamilton Wilcox Pierson.
Edited by James A. Bear, Jr.; University Press of Virginia, 1971; p.102.

18. Ibid.

kind to all. “He was not in the habit of showing partiality or fatherly affection to us chil-
dren. . . . He was affectionate toward his white grandchildren. . . .”14 Surely if he were the
father of Sally Hemings’ children, he was in no way behaving as her lover.

Could it have been that Fawn Brodie was right about the sexual aspect of the rela-
tionship, if not the romantic? Was it possible that a human physical need was so strong
that he went against all his beliefs and inclinations, taking advantage of a slave for purely
physical reasons? Surely other slave owners did. But few other slave owners had the same
convictions against slavery as Thomas Jefferson.

When I came across his calculations of how much intermarriage with whites it would
take to “clear” the black blood,15 I asked myself: Could it have been that he actually saw him-
self as doing a favor to Sally Hemings and her children by infusing her offspring with “white
blood?” It was an appalling thought, but I entertained it so as to cover all possibilities.

The witnesses deny any sexual relationship between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hem-
ings. His grandson, T.J. Randolph, told the biographer Henry S. Randall that he himself
slept within hearing of his grandfather’s breathing and never heard a disturbance in his
sleep.16 Captain Bacon, the overseer at Monticello, said that he’d seen someone, whose name
the editor blanked out, come out of Sally Hemings’ room “many a morning”17:

He freed one girl some years before he died, and there was a great deal of talk
about it. She was nearly as white as anybody and very beautiful. People said he
freed her because she was his own daughter. She was not his daughter; she was
____’s daughter. I know that. I have seen him come out of her mother’s room
many a morning when I went up to Monticello very early.18

Three aspects of the above comment convinced me it was likely to be true: 1) That he’d
seen an obvious lover of Sally’s leaving her room on “many a morning,” which implied that
she had this particular lover for some time (suggesting a monogamous relationship) and
therefore this person was likely the father of Harriet Hemings and Sally’s other children
as well . . . even if Harriet had been born before Capt. Bacon’s time as overseer. 2) It is also
likely that a lover would stay until morning. A morning departure suggests a welcome
and not particularly hidden visitor. An abuser would more likely have used the cover of
night for comings and goings. 3) That the editor blanked out the name given by Capt. Bacon
indicated to me that the man named was being protected or hidden. Because the Carr
brothers were often named at the time as possible fathers for both Sally and Betty Hem-
ings’ children, the editor’s act suggested to me that there was someone other than a Carr
brother.

The coincidence of the residencies of Thomas Jefferson and the conceptions of Sally
Hemings is not extraordinary when one realizes that Jefferson stayed for several weeks at
a time and there were abundant visitors whenever he was in residence. By residency alone,
it was as likely that a visitor was parenting Sally Hemings’ children as Thomas Jefferson
himself. Referring to 1809 and times after, Sara Randolph writes:
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No one could have been more hospitable than he was, and no one ever gave a
more heartfelt or more cordial welcome to friends than he did: but the visits of
those who were led by curiosity to Monticello was an annoyance which at times
was almost painful to one of as retiring a disposition as he was. These visitors came
at all hours and all season, and when unable to catch a glimpse of him in any way,
they not unfrequently begged to be allowed to sit in the hall. . . . On one occasion
a female visitor, who was peering around the house, punched her parasol through
a window pane to get a better view of him.19

The crowds at Monticello increased after his retirement, but visitors were the norm
throughout his years in public office. A guide to Boone Farm outside Charleston, S.C.
remarked on tour in 1999 that when visitors came in the 19th century, they didn’t stay
for a day or a week, they stayed for a month or two.

Even if visitors made shorter stays, the time required to father a child is registered in
minutes, not months. I spent time making charts with the births of Sally and Betty Hem-
ings’ children. I wondered why, if Sally’s sister Betty Hemings (called Bett) was also hav-
ing light-skinned children, Sally alone is rumored to have had a liaison with Thomas
Jefferson.

Although Cyndi Burton has suggested what I too saw at the time of my initial research,
that Sally was elevated in the eyes of her peers by having gone to France,20 I saw another
possibility. Sally had one daughter who lived to maturity. When Jefferson freed Harriet
was when, as Capt. Bacon says: “People said he freed her because she was his own daugh-
ter.”21 Jefferson and his times were sexist beyond our imagination today. A woman of any
race had no right to property once she married. Any or all inheritance became her hus-
band’s to do with as he willed. (Note in the codicil to Jefferson’s will he requests that an
exception be made for his daughter Martha, rather than her husband, Thomas Mann
Randolph, to inherit his estate.)22 I imagined that the neighbors would have been stunned
when Thomas Jefferson freed a girl, as he did Harriet Hemings, Sally’s daughter. Neither
Sally nor Bett were freed in his will, as were their brothers. In my opinion, the neighbors
imputed paternity where generosity stood.

Madison’s account is not a witness account, but rather an “as told to” account. Further,
because the story that “comes down to me” as reported in the document23 happened be-
fore he was born, he himself is not a witness but rather the recipient of possible first gen-
eration oral history, which can be embellished by the individual teller. Nor does he in the
“as told to” account say that his mother herself told him the story, but again that it is the
story that “comes down to me.” Such a phrase could mean that he read about it in the
James Callendar account. What he was witness to is consistent with what others wrote
about Thomas Jefferson:

[Jefferson] was uniformly kind to all about him. He was not in the habit of show-
ing partiality or fatherly affection to us children. [Himself and his brother Eston
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no knowledge of which wife that might have been in my early research. The important thing to me
was that the family depiction of Randolph’s choices of music, social activity and wife, clearly pre-
sented a character very different from his older brother, Thomas.

implied.] He was affectionate toward his white grandchildren, of whom he had
fourteen.24

There is no indication of a special relationship between Madison Hemings as a child and
Thomas Jefferson, contrasted with the special relationship Madison himself observed be-
tween Thomas Jefferson and his grandchildren.

If not Thomas Jefferson, I asked myself, then who? At Monticello I purchased a book
titled Thomas Jefferson and Music,25 as well as a record and booklet of sheet music used
by Thomas Jefferson.26 I wanted music in my play, but also felt the way to know a man’s
heart was through music he loved. In the book I discovered a comment about his brother.
Until that time I had not known that he had a brother. Thomas paid for Randolph’s vi-
olin lessons, but Randolph used his skill to play not the art music that Jefferson loved, but
folk music with the “servants”:

Thomas, assuming guardianship of Randolph and the other younger children
after their father’s death, sent Randolph to the College of William and Mary
from 1771 to 1773, and noted at least one payment of slightly over six pounds
to the violin teacher Alberti for Randolph’s violin lessons. It is quite obvious,
however, from later letters, that Randolph was not inclined to be scholarly. He
settled near Scottsville, Virginia, married “a Jade of genuine bottom,” and seems
to have used his musical experience only for country fiddling — “Used to come
out among the black people, play the fiddle and dance half the night.”27

What would it have been like to have been Thomas Jefferson’s brother, twelve years his
junior, and married to a “jade of genuine bottom”28 as the family thought of his wife? I
was fascinated. I began to see Randolph as possibly a rebel to his older more famous and
authoritative brother.29

Turning the piece around in my hand one more time I decided to try another angle.
What if everyone was telling the truth? What if Thomas Jefferson’s family, Capt. Bacon,
and Madison Hemings were all telling the truth? What if Madison Hemings truly believed
Thomas Jefferson was his father? What if perhaps Sally Hemings had herself told Madi-
son? She most likely wouldn’t have referred him as “Thomas Jefferson,” but as the more
widely used appellation: “Mr. Jefferson.” There were two Mr. Jeffersons. Suddenly it bub-
bled up from within me . . . it was the brother.

Randolph Jefferson lived within visiting range and had his own estate at Snowdon.
With his own estate, he would also have been a “Mr. Jefferson.” Randolph, by dancing
with the “servants,” seemed to be living within the times rather than, as his brother was,
trying to change them. Randolph was uninterested in political matters. “Paris, January
11th, 1789,” Jefferson wrote: “Dear Brother - The occurrences of this part of the globe
are of a nature to interest you so little that I have never made them the subject of a let-
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ter to you.” 30 Given the date, the occurrences he refers to are the events leading up to
the French Revolution. Imagine, I thought, a brother of Thomas Jefferson’s not being
interested in the French Revolution.

Randolph was twelve years younger than Thomas, closer to Sally’s age and therefore a
more likely candidate for sexual attraction. He married twice, so was not as compelled to
be true to a love beyond death as was Thomas Jefferson. (Thomas may have had a love
affair with Maria Cosway in Paris, but of course, never married her even after she was,
years later, widowed.) Randolph, as a piece to the Jefferson puzzle, slipped into place, a
perfect fit for the possible father of Sally Hemings’ children. My effort to get the facts
right, to my surprise, had given me an original answer to an historical question.

When my play, Saturday’s Children, was produced in 1988, one historian who came said
to a member of the company that it was the first historically accurate play about Jeffer-
son he’d ever seen. I was highly complimented that my efforts to write a play that would
hold up to the scrutiny of historians had paid off. Partially funded by the North Carolina
Arts Council, it gained, to my surprise, an additional honor by being listed in the 1992
Aetna Calendar of Black History for having cast a black actor in the role of Thomas Jef-
ferson in Chapel Hill, North Carolina in 1988. (The actor who plays the character of
Thomas Jefferson is scripted as: African American, while the “Real Jefferson” is to be
played by a white actor. “The “Real Jefferson” reads only from Jefferson’s writings on an-
other platform of the “spiral” that is history. The character who plays Jefferson within
the play acts out conjectures on the part of the contemporary characters.) Writing a play
about Thomas Jefferson had become a larger experience than I’d ever imagined. We had
made history.

When news of the DNA study hit the press in 1998, I was surprised at the distortion
in several articles and astonished that the existence of Randolph Jefferson was left off the
Jefferson family tree in the Foster et al. article in the journal, Nature.31

However, before the Nature article was available (the American press had scooped the
story) I wrote a letter to the News and Observer of Raleigh, N.C. in which I pointed out
that there were two Mr. Jeffersons. That letter found its way through the Internet to Mr.
Herbert Barger, a Jefferson family historian who contacted me by phone. Barger, I learned,
also held Randolph to be the possible father of Sally Hemings’ children. His source was
the Jefferson family oral tradition. He had additional information on Randolph, which
also fit the puzzle. Randolph, he informed me, was widowed before Sally’s first child was
born and then married after her last child was born. All her children conceived in Amer-
ica were born between Randolph’s marriages.

Cynthia H. Burton, in her book Jefferson Vindicated, corrects this. In personal corre-
spondence with me she wrote: “Randolph Jefferson’s first wife had to have died after giv-
ing birth to a son around 1797. Whether she died during childbirth or years later, I don’t
really know. I do know that Randolph was single in 1807–08. However, he was married
when Sally Hemings conceived Harriet I and also possibly when Beverly was conceived.”32

Based on Burton’s research, if Randolph Jefferson was the father of all Sally’s children,
he was promiscuous in the early years of their relationship. If he was the father of Madi-
son and Eston when he was a widower, and was not promiscuous earlier, then Sally had
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more than one lover. In either event, Sally stopped having children after Randolph re-
married and Thomas Jefferson retired, remaining in residence most of the time at Mon-
ticello, even though Sally Hemings was then only thirty-five years of age.

The other piece of information that Mr. Barger brought to me was that there were sev-
eral male Jeffersons in and around Monticello of age to parent Sally Hemings’ children
conceived in America. I had not known earlier of Randolph’s sons and other Jeffersons
except George Jefferson, a cousin, who was a correspondent of Thomas Jefferson’s and did
not appear to be in the vicinity of Monticello on a regular basis.

Per Mr. Barger’s request, I spent most of a week in April of 2000 perusing the Nicholas
Trist Collection at the University of North Carolina. Because I also held an appointment
as an adjunct assistant professor in the Department of Social Medicine, in which I taught
in the courses Theater and Medicine and Performance, Culture, Art and Healing, I had
access to the Wilson Library’s reserved collection on the UNC-CH campus. The collec-
tion consists of original letters, notes and occasional drawings in Nicholas Trist’s posses-
sion during his life. Though not able to read every item registered during the pertinent
years of Jefferson’s life and the lives of his children and grandchildren, I was able to read
over a hundred letters of the tiny flawless handwriting of Jefferson family members (all
writing with quill pens!) and peruse a hundred more. I did not find a letter, which Barger
thought might be in the collection, referencing a “Sally” who possibly went to work with
Ellen Coolidge (Jefferson’s granddaughter) in Boston during Jefferson’s lifetime. Such a
letter would have disproved a life-long romance between Sally Hemings and Thomas Jef-
ferson. I did however find rich material on the character of these people and their times.
They were a deeply feeling people. The letters are rich with emotional expression and
none of it angry in any way at their “beloved grandpapa.” It is hard to believe that a “grand-
papa” raising his own blood in slavery would have been referred to consistently without
“innuendo” as Brodie would have it.

The most scandalous activity I found in the Trist collection alluded to Thomas Jeffer-
son’s desire to visit Charlottesville to hear a Unitarian minister. Thomas Jefferson’s grand-
daughter, Virginia, writing her husband, Nicholas Trist, says that the Unitarian outing
will depend upon “Grandpapa’s” wishes. “Mama” (Martha Jefferson Randolph) objected
to hearing the Unitarian minister “because she thinks it will scandalize our neighbors
with whom we already stand suspected.” 33

An interesting note suggests that John Hemings, Sally’s brother, was almost a “free”
agent. “Sept. 4, 1825: The carriage is broken and cannot be repaired until John Hem-
mings [sic] returns from Bedford.”34

Cynthia Burton wrote by e-mail July 2007: “The Trist letter concerning John Hem-
ings’ return from Bedford refers to when Jefferson sent Hemings to Bedford with his two
aids [sic] (prob. Eston and Madison) to make repairs caused by a fire at Poplar Forest.”35

By “free agent” I intended to suggest John Hemings was able to come and go on his own,
not that he could choose whether or not to come or go. Although on a mission of busi-
ness for Thomas Jefferson, John Hemings does not appear to have had a chaperone. Such
would indicate that Jefferson treated him as he would a trusted employee.
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The letters were not private because at that time the mail was not secure. Martha Jef-
ferson Randolph was careful to have, whenever possible, letters that were not for others’
eyes hand delivered. The feelings she secreted however were not regarding her father but
rather her husband, whom she would like to have divorced. In a letter from Cambridge,
August 2, 1827, from Martha J. Randolph to Nicholas Trist she writes: “As soon as you
have read this, burn this.”36 She writes of the torment of her travails, mostly economic,
with her husband and her fear that if she separated from him legally he would keep her
from ever seeing her two youngest children again.

Surely if there was a sexual liaison with Sally Hemings, Nicholas Trist — who spent so
much time at Monticello in his youth, who married Thomas Jefferson’s granddaughter
Virginia, and became executor of Thomas Jefferson’s will—would have mentioned some-
thing in some letter. Since he didn’t burn the letter about Thomas Mann Randolph as re-
quested, it’s not likely that he feared historical exposure of family secrets.

In December of 2000, I found a note I made while researching the Trist collection:

Is that the way of human nature? That those we call “great,” those who have the vi-
sion to drive us toward needed changes and magnificence are surrounded by those
who are embarrassed by those very acts and others who are encouraged by them so
much that 200 years later people still want to destroy the passion of their memory?

I leave this quotation unedited as it stands, a surprise to me having forgotten that I wrote
it on an unseasonably cold Spring morning of the kind that can surprise us in central
North Carolina. There is no evidence that Thomas Jefferson had any relationship with
Sally Hemings other than in his way of treating slaves with a kind of respect as if they were,
in the European tradition, old family servants rather than bonded and vulnerable to sale.
His writings throughout indicate a fervent hope that the future would find a way out of
the slave system he both loathed but lived within his entire life. There is no evidence that
Thomas Jefferson himself abused this system, even though others clearly did. The system
itself was abuse enough. Yet it can be argued that Jefferson’s forward thinking, as evidenced
in his writings, laid down a moral foundation for slavery’s eventual demise.

The DNA study confirms that the descendants of Sally Hemings’ last son Eston are
cousins of the descendants of Thomas Jefferson’s uncle, Field Jefferson. The descendants
of Sally Hemings’ son Eston are also cousins of the descendants of her son Madison. Black
and White are cousins. Whether Thomas Jefferson was a great, great, . . . grandfather,
uncle, or cousin can be disputed as long as people are inclined, but the family connec-
tion is clear. By his character, Randolph is the most likely paternal possibility for Sally
Hemings’ last child. Thomas Jefferson is most likely an innocent member of this family
doing the best he knew how in an unjust system, to free a relative’s, possibly even his
brother’s, children. Regardless, it is time to embrace the familial relationship of these two
lines and in so doing embrace the bi-racial nature of our American Heritage.

Additional Sources

In researching my play I made use of the following:

Early Charlottesville; Recollections of James Alexander 1828–1874; Albemarle County His-
torical Society; edited by Mary Rawlings.
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Jefferson Himself; Edited by Bernard Mayo; University Press of Virginia, 1970.

Jefferson and Monticello; by Paul Wilstach; Doubleday, Page and Co.; New York, 1925.

Green Mountain Boy at Monticello: A talk with Jefferson in 1822 by Daniel Pierce Thomp-
son; The Book Cellar; Brattleboro, VT, 1962.

The Virginia Almanac “For the year of our lord 1800/ being the fourth after Leap Year:”

Democracy in America, Alexis de Tocqueville; edited and abridged by Richard D. Heffner;
A Mentor Book, The New American Library; New York and Toronto, 1956.

Thomas Jefferson and American Democracy; Max Beloff; Collier Books, New York, 1962.

The Promise of American Life; Herbert Croly; Capricorn Books, New York, 1964.

The Writings of Thomas Jefferson, The Definitive Edition; 20 Volumes; The Thomas Jef-
ferson Memorial Association; Washington D.C., 1907.

Thomas Jefferson’s Paris, Howard Rice, Jr.; Princeton University Press, Princeton, New
Jersey, 1976, 3rd printing 1991.

Up From Slavery; Booker T. Washington, Introduction by Louis Lomax; Laurel Leaf Li-
brary; 1966

In addition to the above books that I studied, there were numerous magazine articles,
trips to the Natural Bridge, Monticello, and even Paris in which I walked the old quar-
ters, imagining the carriages coming in and out of the mammoth doors to the courtyards
of the dwellings.

turner 20 ktraut auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 341



turner 20 ktraut auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 342

(BLANK PAGE FOR PRINTING)



Minority Views of
Professor Paul A.  Rahe

turner 21 rahe auto cx 2  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 343



turner 21 rahe auto cx 2  3/17/11  10:55 AM  Page 344

(BLANK PAGE FOR PRINTING)



345

1. Unless otherwise specified, here and hereafter, I quote from the documentary evidence col-
lected in the appendices to Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Research Committee, Report on
Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, January, 2000, which can be accessed on the Internet.

2. The Recorder (Richmond), 29 September 1802.

19

Minority Views of
Professor Paul A.  Rahe

Regarding the relations that existed between Thomas Jefferson and his slave Sally Hem-
ings, lies were told long ago, and today, some two centuries after it was first suggested in
print that the author of the Declaration of Independence fathered children with one of
his slaves, we still cannot be certain as to who told the truth. On 1 September 1802, James
T. Callender, an investigative journalist with a taste for scandal, a gift for invective, and
a grudge against Jefferson, published an article in a Richmond paper called The Recorder;
or Lady’s and Gentleman’s Miscellany, charging that it was “well known” that the man then
holding office as President of the United States “for many years past has kept, as his con-
cubine, one of his own slaves.” He identified this slave as “Sally” and “her eldest son” as
“Tom,” and he reported that the latter was “ten or twelve years of age” and that “his fea-
tures are said to bear a striking although sable resemblance to those of the president him-
self.” “By this wench Sally,” he added, “our president has had several children. There is
not an individual in the neighborhood of Charlottesville who does not believe the story.”1

It was not Jefferson’s practice to countenance charges of this sort by responding di-
rectly to them, but in a letter of July, 1805, now lost, directed to “particular friends,” he
appears to have denied “all” of the various “allegations” directed against him in the press
apart from one referring to a youthful indiscretion involving indelicate behavior on his
part towards a married woman. His friends tended to regard the story told by Callender
as preposterous. James Madison told its author “that he had known Mr. Jefferson for the
greater part of his life; and that he knew so much about the excellence of his heart, as to
make this allegation incredible.”2 But there were those tolerably well-acquainted with Jef-
ferson who came to think otherwise. His friend John Hartwell Cocke referred in his diary
in late January, 1853 to “Mr. Jeffersons notorious example” in a context in which he was
discussing the fact that it was commonplace for slave owners to father children with their
slaves. “In Virginia,” he wrote more than six years thereafter, “this damnable practice pre-
vails as much as anywhere — and probably more — as Mr. Jefferson’s example can be
[cited?] for its defence.”

On her deathbed, Jefferson’s daughter Martha Jefferson Randolph, who had long
resided with her father at Monticello, is said fiercely to have denied the charge and to
have drawn the attention of her two sons to the fact that one of Sally Hemings’s chil-
dren — “the slave,” her elder son later noted, “who most resembled” her father in ap-
pearance — was born at a time when her father and Sally Hemings had been “far distant
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tee’s transcription of it.

from each other” for some “fifteen months.” Years later, Henry S. Randall, the historian
to whom Martha’s son Thomas Jefferson Randolph related this story, reported to a cor-
respondent that he was able “from well known circumstances to prove the fifteen months
separation” when he came across the pertinent slave’s date of birth in “an old account
book” belonging to Thomas Jefferson.

Thomas Jefferson Randolph, who had charge of Monticello at the time that a number
of Sally Hemings’s children were born, acknowledged to Randall that “she had children
which resembled” his grandfather “so closely that it was plain that they had his blood in
their veins.” Their paternity, however, he attributed not to Jefferson himself but to Peter
Carr, one of the sons of Jefferson’s sister and his close friend, her late husband Dabney
Carr. Peter Carr’s connection with Sally Hemings was, he averred, “perfectly notorious at
Monticello,” “scarcely disguised,” “never disavowed,” and on one occasion in his presence
openly confessed.

There need be no doubt that Jefferson’s grandson told Randall that one of the two
Carr brothers was responsible.3 In October, 1858, when his younger sister Ellen Randolph
Coolidge came to visit, he told her much the same tale. “There is a general impression,”
she wrote her husband, “that the four children of Sally Hemmings were all the children
of Col. [Samuel] Carr, the most notorious good-natured Turk that ever was master of a
black seraglio kept at other men’s expense.” To believe the calumnies spread concerning
her grandfather, she observed, one must be willing to suppose that “he must have been
carrying on his intrigues in the midst of his daughters family and insulting the sanctity
of the home by his profligacy. But he had a large family of grandchildren of all ages, older
& younger. Young men and young girls. He lived, whenever he was at Monticello, and en-
tirely for the last fifteen years of his life, in the midst of these young people, surrounded
by them, his intercourse with them of the freest and most affectionate kind. How comes
it that his immoralities were never suspected by his own family — that his daughter and
her children rejected with horror and contempt the charges brought against him. That my
brother, then a young man certain to know all that was going on behind the scenes, pos-
itively declares his indignant belief in the imputation and solemnly affirms that he never
saw or heard the smallest thing which could lead him to suspect that his grandfather’s
life was other than perfectly pure. His apartments had no private entrance not perfectly
accessible and visible to all the household. No female domestic ever entered his chambers
except at hours when he was known not to be there and none could have entered with-
out being exposed to the public gaze. But again I put it to any fair mind to decide if a
man so admirable to his domestic character as Mr. Jefferson, so devoted to his daughters
and their children, so fond of their society, so tender, considerate, refined in his intercourse
with them, so watchful over them in all respects, would be likely to rear a race of half-
breeds under their eyes and carry on his low amours in the circle of his family.”4

The claims advanced by Thomas Jefferson Randolph and his sister are confirmed in part
by the testimony of Edmund Bacon, who served Jefferson for a time as overseer. Years
after his departure from Monticello, he told a minister of the Gospel in Kentucky that
Jefferson was not the father of Harriet Hemings, whom he himself had put on a stage-
coach for Philadelphia “when she was nearly grown” and to whom he had given, on Jef-
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ferson’s instructions, fifty dollars to start her on her way. “She was as white as anybody,”
he reported, “and very beautiful. People said he freed her because she was his own daugh-
ter. She was not his daughter; she was ___ ___’s daughter. I know that. I have seen him
come out of her mother’s room many a morning when I went up to Monticello very
early.”

In 1873, however, Sally Hemings’s penultimate son Madison, then a man of ad-
vanced age, told the editor of the Pike County Republican in Ohio that his mother had
become “Mr. Jefferson’s concubine” in Paris where, for eighteen months, she served as
“body servant” to his daughter Maria. When Jefferson was summoned home, Madison
Hemings reported, his mother was already pregnant by him. “He desired to bring my
mother back to Virginia with him but she demurred. She was just beginning to un-
derstand the French language well, and in France she was free, while if she returned to
Virginia she would be re-enslaved. So she refused to return with him. To induce her to
do so he promised her extraordinary privileges, and made a solemn pledge that her
children should be freed at the age of twenty-one years. In consequence of his promise,
on which she implicitly relied, she returned with him to Virginia. Soon after their ar-
rival, she gave birth to a child of whom Thomas Jefferson was the father. It lived but a
short time. She gave birth to four others, and Jefferson was the father of all of them.
Their names were Beverly, Harriet, Madison (myself), and Eston — three sons and one
daughter. We all became free agreeably to the treaty entered into by our parents before
we were born.”

Madison Hemings’s fellow former Monticello slave Israel (Gillette) Jefferson later gave
an interview to the editor of the same newspaper and confirmed, in part, his friend’s
story — that Madison Hemings’s mother was Jefferson’s “concubine” and that Jefferson
was the father of Beverly, Harriet, Madison, and Eston Hemings. The former claim he knew
as a house servant from his “intimacy with both parties”; the latter he could “as consci-
entiously confirm . . . as any other fact which I believe from circumstances but do not
positively know.”

Until quite recently, historians were inclined to dismiss the allegations of James Cal-
lender as irresponsible journalism, to discount the story told by Madison Hemings and
confirmed in part by Israel Jefferson as self-serving, and to credit Thomas Jefferson Ran-
dolph’s assertion that one of the Carr brothers fathered the children of Sally Hemings.5

It seemed inconceivable that a man of Thomas Jefferson’s character would have been
guilty as charged.

In 1968, in his book White Over Black, Winthrop Jordan did observe, if only in pass-
ing, that Jefferson’s account books failed to bear out the testimony of Martha Jefferson Ran-
dolph, her son Thomas Jefferson Randolph, and Herman S. Randall. In fact, he noted,
Thomas Jefferson was present at Monticello on each and every occasion when Sally Hem-
ings is known to have conceived, and he could therefore have been the father of all her
known children, as Madison Hemings alleged.6 Apart, however, from psycho-biographer
Fawn Brodie, no one seems until quite recently to have reflected in print on the implica-
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tions of Jordan’s discovery, and her highly speculative approach to Jefferson’s psychology
did not recommend her book to academic historians.7

It was only in 1997, when law professor Annette Gordon-Reed published her Thomas
Jefferson and Sally Hemings: An American Controversy, that the tide began to turn. By that
time, students of slavery were almost all inclined to acknowledge that slave concubinage
was as common as John Hartwell Cocke had supposed and that public silence regarding
one’s follies in this regard was part of the unwritten social code of the slaveholding class.
Only those who lived openly with their concubines were subject to stern disapproval.8 It
also helped a great deal that Gordon-Reed’s reassessment of the evidence was careful,
thorough, and, for the most part, dispassionate.9

In consequence, when the storm broke in 1998 with the publication of a DNA study
by a Charlottesville physician showing that Eston Hemings was a direct male descendant
of Thomas Jefferson’s grandfather, the great majority of historians were quick to con-
clude that Madison Hemings’s testimony was largely true. I know whereof I speak, for I
was one such — inclined, like most of my brethren, to suppose Callender’s charges im-
probable; stunned by the DNA data, and more than willing, in the immediate aftermath,
to believe Madison Hemings’s claims. Only since consenting to review the evidence for
the Jefferson-Hemings Scholars Commission have I begun to wonder whether the in-
dictment against Thomas Jefferson is really true. I am still inclined, on balance, to think
it more likely than not that he was the father of Eston Hemings, but I can now understand
why honest and reasonable human beings can be deeply skeptical. On the available evi-
dence, the charge remains unproven. The question of the relations of Thomas Jefferson
and Sally Hemings is an historical puzzle of considerable complexity, and in the end we
are forced to resort to educated guesswork.

Before resorting to such guesswork, I want to acknowledge a very considerable debt to
Annette Gordon-Reed, whose book makes for compelling reading; to Dan Jordan and
the staff of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation who have gathered and analyzed
the available evidence in a manner that is highly professional, generally cautious, and ex-
ceedingly helpful to anyone wanting to review it for the purpose of making up his own
mind; and to Professor Robert F. Turner of the Center for National Security Law at the
University of Virginia School of Law, who organized the Jefferson-Hemings Scholars
Commission and led its members in a reassessment of the available evidence item by item.

As should be clear from the material presented above, virtually every piece of available
testimony on this subject can be impeached; virtually everyone who commented had an
interest in saying what he or she said. James Callender believed that Jefferson had betrayed
him and wanted revenge. Madison Hemings wanted to make himself more important by
tracing his paternity to a famous man, and Israel Jefferson came to the support of a friend.
Such are the charges that can be made. By the same token, it could be said that Martha Jef-
ferson Randolph and her children were eager to protect the reputation of her father. They
certainly had a personal stake in doing so, and it was not uncommon for members of their
class to try to cover up the sort of misdeed with which Thomas Jefferson was charged.
Something of the sort can be said concerning Jefferson’s onetime overseer Edmund Bacon,
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who could and did dine out on his connection with the great man. As for Herman S. Ran-
dall, he was among the initiators of the Jefferson cult. The value of his biography of the
statesman depended on his compatriots’ estimation of Thomas Jefferson’s accomplish-
ments and character. In the aftermath of the Civil War, southerners were looking for a
useable history, and it made more sense to dwell on Jefferson’s apparently unimpeachable
example than to credit the charges once made against him. Monticello, as visitors are wont
to comment, is a very small place. To believe that Thomas Jefferson carried on an extended
affair with one of his slaves under the noses of his grandchildren would require that we re-
think from the ground up our inherited image of the man.

I find two pieces of evidence impressive — first, the fact that the beginning of Sally
Hemings’s pregnancies coincided with Thomas Jefferson’s sojourns at Monticello, and,
second, the fact that at least one of her children was fathered by a direct male descendant
of Jefferson’s grandfather.

It is, of course, possible that Hemings was elsewhere during one or more of the per-
tinent visits by her master, but, in the absence of contrary evidence, it is unreasonable to
think her anywhere other than her home. In a recent article in The William & Mary Quar-
terly, Monticello archaeologist Fraser D. Neiman has sought to demonstrate statistically,
on the basis of Jefferson’s presence each time she conceived, that he must have been the
father.10 This he has failed to achieve. What he has accomplished, however, is to show the
very high likelihood that Sally Hemings’s pregnancies are somehow due to Jefferson’s
presence. One can go even further. Given that she tended to get pregnant in the first
month after his arrival, Neiman has established a correlation between Jefferson’s home-
comings and her pregnancies.

The most economical explanation would be that Jefferson himself sought her out on
such occasions, but we must keep in mind that there is no good reason to believe that
she had only one sexual partner. For what it is worth, the gossip reported by James Cal-
lender suggests the contrary.11 On this question, in any case, we must keep an open mind.
Slaves were generally not in a position to refuse when approached by white men. There
is, then, a real possibility that some, if not all of Sally Hemings’s pregnancies were a con-
sequence of social calls made on Jefferson by his friends and relatives on the occasions of
these homecomings. We know that visits to Monticello were rare in his absence and fre-
quent when he was present. Among those whom Jefferson could expect to make such a
social call shortly after he came home was his brother Randolph, who lived twenty miles
away and had four or five sons. At the time of Eston Hemings’s birth, Thomas Jefferson
was 64; his brother Randolph was 52; and Randolph’s sons ranged in age from about 17
to 26. All carried the tell-tale Y chromosome. Any one of them could have been Eston
Hemings’s father.

As it happens, we know that, at the very time that Sally Hemings became pregnant
with her son Eston, Thomas Jefferson’s brother Randolph was expressly invited to come
to Monticello on the occasion of a visit by his twin sister. The surviving correspondence,
limited as it is, suggests that he was a frequent visitor to Monticello and that ordinarily
he did not come alone: we can, in fact, presume that he was usually accompanied by one
or more of his sons. Furthermore, we have reason to suspect that his son Thomas may
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have been in residence at Monticello when Harriet Hemings was conceived and that his
son Robert Lewis may have been present when Eston Hemings was conceived. We know
also, from the testimony of Isaac Jefferson, a slave at Monticello, that, when he did visit,
Randolph Jefferson “used to come out among black people, play the fiddle and dance half
the night.” We know that Thomas Jefferson’s children and grandchildren referred to Ran-
dolph Jefferson as “Uncle Randolph”; we know that there was a somewhat confused tra-
dition in the family that traced its descent back to Eston Hemings that they were descended
from Thomas Jefferson’s uncle or cousin;12 and there is evidence of the existence of an
oral tradition in more than one Albemarle County family that Randolph Jefferson had African-
American offspring.13 None of this proves that either Randolph Jefferson or one of his
sons was Eston Hemings’s father, but it does give one pause. And nothing in the available
evidence rules out our wondering whether the charge lodged by Thomas Jefferson Ran-
dolph against the Carr brothers was not at least partially true. Despite what can be learned
from the DNA evidence and what can be inferred from the apparent connection between
Thomas Jefferson’s sojourns at Monticello and Sally Hemings’s pregnancies, the mystery
remains unsolved.

Further light may one day be shed on this question. Sally Hemings’s eldest son Bev-
erly Hemings ran away from Monticello when he was in his early twenties and was never
found. He apparently made his way to Washington, D. C., married, and started a family,
and there is reason to believe that he passed as white. Someday one of his direct male de-
scendants may turn up and may be willing to undergo a DNA test. Furthermore, in the
U. S. Military Cemetery at Fort Leavenworth, in Kansas, lie the remains of Madison Hem-
ings’s son William Beverly Hemings, who has no known descendants. It may be possible
to exhume his body and collect a DNA sample. If it could be shown that the son of Madi-
son Hemings or a descendant of his elder brother Beverly was a Jefferson, we could be more
confident that Thomas Jefferson Randolph had lied to Herman S. Randall and to his sis-
ter concerning the brothers Carr, and the only plausible explanation for lying on his part
would be the knowledge that his grandfather was, in fact, the father of Sally Hemings’s
children.

There is also the mysterious “Tom” mentioned by James Callender. Madison Hemings
knew nothing of him: he was told of a child born to his mother at about the time that this
Tom would have been born, but this child supposedly died in early infancy. In the records
at Monticello, no such Tom appears.14 These records are scanty in the period stretching
from 1783 to 1794, when Callender’s “Tom” would have been born, but they are more
fulsome thereafter when Thomas Jefferson resumed his earlier practice of making nota-
tions in his Farm Book. The absence of any mention of the pertinent Tom therein sug-
gests that Callender may have, in this particular, been misinformed. It is, nonetheless,
true that none of Jefferson’s defenders rose to Callender’s challenge by denying the exis-
tence of his “Tom”; and when the Federalist editor of Virginia’s Frederick-Town Herald
looked into the matter, he claims to have discovered what he termed “circumstances of
confirmation,” reporting that there was a “Sally” and that she worked as a “seamstress” within
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the Jefferson household; observing that “she is an industrious and orderly creature”; and
noting that “her son, whom Callender calls President Tom,” did, indeed, bear “a strong
likeness to Mr. Jefferson.”15

There is, moreover, a family which traces its ancestry to a freedman named Thomas
C. Woodson, and in its various branches the members of this family have preserved an
oral tradition that this Tom Woodson was the son of Sally Hemings and Thomas Jeffer-
son. In this case, the DNA evidence rules out paternity on the part of any Jefferson (or,
for that matter, any Carr).16 If Thomas C. Woodson was, nonetheless, a son of Sally Hem-
ings, the “Tom” mentioned by Callender, she had more than one lover in the course of
her life, and Callender was wrong about the paternity of the slave who looked so much
like the President. It is also possible that further investigation will turn up another can-
didate more likely to have been Callender’s “Tom” and that he has direct male descen-
dants whose DNA can be compared with the samples already collected.

As things stand, however, it all comes down to what we think of Thomas Jefferson.
Was he capable of doing what Ellen Randolph Coolidge considered unthinkable — of
“carrying on his intrigues in the midst of his daughters family and insulting the sanctity
of the home by his profligacy?” As professional historians, Douglass Adair once noted,
we have been “taught to be extremely skeptical of any purported episode in a man’s ca-
reer that completely contradicts the whole tenor of his life and that requires belief in a total
reversal of character.”17 As human beings, however, we are nonetheless acutely, even
painfully aware of our own capacity for self-deception, hypocrisy, and outright deceit. If
in one part of his life, Thomas Jefferson behaved in a manner at odds with the dictates
of respectability that, almost without exception, he faithfully honored in the rest of his
life, would it be terribly surprising?

I have long been persuaded that we do not know Thomas Jefferson at all well; that vir-
tually all of the surviving letters written after he had entered on the public stage were
composed not only for their particular correspondents but for posterity; that he donned
a mask at a very early age and very rarely let it slip; that he cared far more about his fu-
ture reputation than about anything else; that his conduct in public life was less than
honest and forthcoming; that he was more prone to vanity and hypocrisy than figures
such as George Washington, Alexander Hamilton, and James Madison; and that, in con-
trast with John Adams, introspection was decidedly his short suit.18 I do not find it par-
ticularly hard to imagine that a lonely widower, who had sworn to his dying wife that he
would not remarry and subject their daughters to a stepmother, should have found a
beautiful young woman such as his deceased wife’s slave half-sister a temptation more
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than he could bear. And once he had given way to lust, what was there to prevent him,
even if he sought to exercise an iron self-control, from slipping again? He was, after all,
a man subject to temptation like other men, and he must have known that his family
would do what it could to hide whatever dark secrets he may have harbored.

In 1781–82, prior to his extended sojourn in Paris, Thomas Jefferson remarked in his
Notes on the State of Virginia that “the whole commerce between master and slave is a
perpetual exercise of the most boisterous passions, the most unremitting despotism on
the one part, and degrading submissions on the other,” and he then added that “the man
must be a prodigy who can retain his manners and morals undepraved by such circum-
stances.”19 Was the proprietor of Monticello such a prodigy? There were, we know, oth-
ers within the slaveholding class who were, and they were more numerous than we might
be inclined to think. In the end, one’s judgment really does depend on what one thinks
of the man who drafted the Declaration of Independence, wrote the Virginia Statute of
Religious Liberty, founded the University of Virginia, denounced slavery in unequivocal
terms, and yet gave sanction in his Notes on the State of Virginia to the pseudo-scientific
racial doctrines that were later used to justify slavery as a positive good.20 To be frank, I
know not what to think. Regarding the relations that existed between Thomas Jefferson
and his slave Sally Hemings, lies were told long ago, and today, even with the help of
DNA analysis, we still cannot be certain as to who told the truth.

What we do know, however, is damning enough. Despite the distaste that he expressed
for the propensity of slaveholders to abuse their power, Jefferson either engaged in such
abuse himself or tolerated it on the part of one or more members of his extended fam-
ily. In his private, as in his public, life, there was, for all his brilliance and sagacity, some-
thing dishonest, something self-serving and self-indulgent about the man.
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1. Our report was available for anyone in the world with Internet access to download and read for
several years, first at www.mindspring.com/~tjshcommission and then, after demand for the report
exceeded the permissible bandwidth of that site, at http://www.geocities.com/tjshcommission/. Not
being knowledgeable about managing Web pages, I prevailed upon the late Eyler Coates, Jr., to establish
this free account and maintain the site on our behalf. Unfortunately, I did not think to ask for the pass-
word to access the site prior to Eyler’s untimely passing in January 2002; so through 2002 and most
of 2003 it existed without being maintained and then disappeared. Since the book version was ex-
pected to be published soon, when the second site stopped working I did not attempt to establish a
third site.

2. Steven T. Corneliussen, Black and White in a New America, Dec. 24, 2001 at A16.

20

Editor’s Postscript:  Reactions to 
the Scholars Commission Report

The comments that follow are not a part of the formal report of the Scholars Commission
and represent only the views of the editor. They are included in this volume with the thought
that some readers may find them of interest. However, they have not been shared in advance
with all members of the Commission, and responsibility for the accuracy of facts and judg-
ments expressed in this chapter is the editor’s alone.

—————

Ten years have passed since the Scholars Commission Report was released. As the re-
vised and expanded book version is finally going to press1 it seems useful to note some
of the initial reactions and subsequent developments, and to respond to some of the crit-
icisms of our report that have come to my attention. I cannot justify the delay, which is
my fault alone. But perhaps I should try to explain it.

I had promised the final version of the Scholars Commission Report to Carolina Aca-
demic Press by November 2001. But my “day job” involves legal scholarship about ter-
rorism and related national security issues, and the terrorist attacks of September 11,
2001, left me no choice but to set this project aside. The demands of my work simply left
me with no spare time.

At the same time, the events of that historic date made it all the more important that
the record be set straight, because — perhaps more than any other human being in his-
tory — Thomas Jefferson is the antithesis to the bigotry and intolerance of Osama bin
Laden and his terrorist followers. Indeed, in a letter to the editor of the New York Times
published in late 2001, science writer Steven T. Corneliussen argued: “History may well
remember Osama bin Laden as the anti-Jefferson, the benighted opponent of inalienable
human rights, religion-respecting secular democracy and progress based on reason. . . .
Jefferson’s vision of history is now more vital than ever.”2 As we seek to deal with these
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3. See, e.g., Robert F. Turner, State Responsibility and the War on Terror: The Legacy of Thomas Jef-
ferson and the Barbary Pirates, 4 Chicago J. Int’l L. 121 (2003); and Robert F. Turner, President Jef-
ferson and the Barbary Pirates, in Piracy and Maritime Crime: Historical and Modern Case
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4. When it became clear that our report would be finished in early April, I proposed that we sched-
ule our press conference the day before Jefferson’s birthday with the thought that it might increase press
interest in our report and perhaps lead to some additional editorial coverage in connection with Jef-
ferson’s birthday on Friday.

5. Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society President John Works, whom I first met just prior to our Wash-
ington press conference, was reported to have claimed that the President had been “duped” by those
who scheduled the White House event. (See, e.g., The Wrong Jefferson?, Wash. Post, Apr. 15, 2001.)
Given the reports that the event had been orchestrated on short notice and at the same time as our
press conference, I initially found the circumstantial case troubling, but I was assured by the Chair-
man of the Board of the Thomas Jefferson Foundation that the White House had initiated the discussions
and the Foundation had merely sought to be cooperative — which, given the reputation of the indi-

new threats from abroad, all Americans should cherish the traditions of human freedom
Thomas Jefferson and his contemporaries bequeathed to us.

I would add that, as with so many other areas, Jefferson’s contribution in America’s ear-
liest struggle against terrorists was tremendous. He argued over many years with his friend
John Adams about the need for a navy so the new nation could protect its commerce
from the Barbary Pirates; but Adams’ more pragmatic approach — that it was cheaper to
pay tribute than to raise a navy, and that the states of Europe would not think less of
America for doing precisely what the Europeans were already doing — prevailed during
our nation’s first dozen years.

But, at his first cabinet meeting after being elected President, Jefferson (with the unani-
mous support of his cabinet) decided to order two-thirds of the new American navy to sail
to the Mediterranean with orders to sink and burn pirate ships at will if they learned that the
Bey of Tripoli had, as expected, declared war against America for not increasing its annual
tribute. For two centuries the European powers had been paying tribute, but Jefferson’s suc-
cessful defense of American rights on the high seas led ultimately to an assertion by Euro-
pean states of their own rights and to an end to the reign of terror of the Barbary Pirates.3

Thomas Jefferson has indeed left us a great legacy for which all Americans should be
in his debt. I believe the work of the Scholars Commission in helping to establish the
truth in the Jefferson-Hemings controversy is all the more important in the wake of the
terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001.

The Press Conference

Several members of the Scholars Commission gathered at the National Press Club in
Washington, D.C., on April 12, 2001 — the day before Thomas Jefferson’s 258th birth-
day — to distribute copies of our report and answer questions from media representa-
tives. Attendance at the press conference exceeded our expectations, especially after we learned
that a few blocks away at the White House President George W. Bush was hosting an event
for descendants of Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings. There were allegations that peo-
ple in the White House had confirmed that the last-minute event was arranged at the
suggestion of the Thomas Jefferson Foundation (Monticello), and speculation that the
timing (celebrating Jefferson’s birthday a day early4) had been planned to draw attention
away from the release of our report.5
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viduals involved, I am confident was a truthful statement. Whether individual employees at Monti-
cello may have independently encouraged such contact is less clear.

6. See, e.g., William Branigin, Pruning Thomas Jefferson’s Family Tree: Historians’ Report Attacks
Theory That 3rd President Fathered Slave’s Children, Wash. Post, April 13, 2001 (“The release of the
550-page report by a panel of 13 scholars from across the country came as President Bush hosted a
gathering in honor of Jefferson’s birthday that a White House spokesman said included ‘both family
members from [Jefferson’s] marriage with Martha Wayles Jefferson and his descendants from Sally
Hemings.’”); Michael Killan, Panel Rebuts Jefferson-Hemings Theory, Chicago Trib., Apr. 13, 2001 (“the
report was issued as President Bush played host to Jefferson and Hemings family descendants for a White
House celebration of Jefferson’s birthday”); Report Says Jefferson Didn’t Do It, Des Moines Regis-
ter, Apr. 13, 2001 (“The 258th anniversary of Thomas Jefferson’s birth was marked Thursday with
a visit to the White House by descendants of Sally Hemings, a Jefferson slave, and the revival of a
200-year-old debate over whether the third president fathered the children of his servant. A new
study . . . contradicts previous theories. . . .”); Jeffrey T. Kuhner, Bush Recognizes Black Jefferson Kin:
Scholars Doubt Slave Child Story, Wash. Times, Apr. 13, 2001; Study Finds Jefferson Unlikely Slave Fa-
ther, Plain Dealer, Apr. 13, 2001 (“As President Bush was welcoming a multiracial group of de-
scendants of Thomas Jefferson to a White House ceremony yesterday commemorating the birthday,
a panel of scholars released a 500-page report concluding that Jefferson probably did not father any
children by his slave Sally Hemings.”).

7. The only exceptions that came to my attention at the time were the Wall Street Journal and the
Los Angeles Times. However, a few weeks later the Journal printed a lengthy op-ed I had written sum-
marizing our conclusions. See Robert F. Turner, The Truth About Jefferson, Wall Street Journal, July
3, 2001.

8. See, e.g., A Happy Occasion for Jeffersonians, Omaha World-Herald, Apr. 16, 2001 (“So the
question is still open. Those of us who thought it had ended with the last report were guilty of judg-
ing prematurely.”); Jefferson and Hemings redux, Wash. Times, July 11, 2001; It Seems to Us . . . , Buf-
falo News, Apr. 14, 2001, at C10; and Robert L. Bartley, Thinking Things Over: Accountability for Anderson,
Also the High-Minded, Wall Street Journal, Mar. 18, 2002.

9. See, e.g., Laura Peek, Jefferson Child Theory Disputed, Times (London), Apr. 14, 2001; Jeffer-
son “did not father slave boy,” The Independent (London), Apr. 13, 2001.

10. Doubts About Jefferson and Hemings: The Debate Goes On, American Heritage, March 2002.

Whatever the explanation, as it turned out the White House event almost certainly in-
creased the attention paid to our report. Many journalists could not resist the tempta-
tion to combine the stories, often complete with a photograph of a smiling President
Bush meeting with descendants of Sally Hemings, and noting that just as this was taking
place a group of prominent scholars a few blocks away was casting serious doubt upon
the Hemingses’ claim.6

It may also have been a slow news day, for the following day the story was covered in
almost every major American daily newspaper7 — several with page-one coverage — and
in countless local papers as well based upon AP, UPI, or other news service accounts. As
we had hoped, several editorials making reference to our report also appeared.8 And like
the original 1802 allegations, the Scholars Commission report crossed the Atlantic and was
publicized in prominent European newspapers.9

The report also received extensive coverage on CNN, beginning Thursday evening and
continuing through much of Friday. National Public Radio (NPR) ran the story, Bryant
Gumbel mentioned it on Friday morning’s CBS News Early Show, and stories were car-
ried as well on ABC, NBC, MSNBC, and Fox News.

In the months that followed, there were other encouraging signs that our efforts had
produced positive results. Just before our report was released, American Heritage ran a story
suggesting that the DNA tests had ended the debate over a Jefferson-Hemings affair. But
early the following year, the editors noted the conclusions of our report and asserted: “it’s
important for the public to realize that the purported Jefferson-Hemings liaison remains
a disputed possibility, not an established fact.”10
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11. See http://www.u-s-history.com/pages/h665.html.
12. See Chapter One of my Individual Views.
13. Dr. Douglas Day, Director of the Albemarle Charlottesville Historical Society, press release

dated July 1, 2003, distributed by e-mail. In the press release, Dr. Day adds: “Wherever one falls in
the on-going debate about Jefferson’s relationship with Sally Hemings, an objective reader must ac-
knowledge that A President in the Family is masterfully written, and a thoroughly compelling story,. . . .
The Woodson family’s history is inextricably entwined with that of the Jeffersons.” Id. In fact, the only
evidence that “the Woodson family’s history is inextricably entwined with that of the Jeffersons” is
Thomas Woodson’s allegation that he was the famous son of Sally Hemings named “Tom” and men-
tioned in the Callender allegations. He may or may not have been the child of Sally Hemings. While
Byron Woodson’s book may well be “masterfully written, and a thoroughly compelling story,” one
would expect an historian familiar with the facts to at least observe that overwhelming scientific tests
have now established that the story is fiction.

The influence of the Scholars Commission report was also evident on several Web sites
identified by searching “Jefferson Hemings.” A biography of Sally Hemings on u-s-his-
tory.com, for example, noted:

An article in Nature (November 5, 1998) reported that DNA samples taken from
Jefferson descendants was [sic] compared with Hemings’ descendants and con-
cluded that Jefferson may have fathered one of Sally Hemings’ sons.

Later research casts doubt on the earlier findings and notes that other Jefferson
relatives lived in close proximity to the Monticello household and one could have
been the father of the child or children in question.

Perhaps a more accurately state [sic] question is, “Which Jefferson fathered the
Hemings children?”11

A 2002 Google search of the Internet for “Jefferson Hemings” produced forty-five pages
of Web listings, beginning with the primary link to the Scholars Commission report. Ig-
noring links that pre-dated the release of our report, fewer than one-third of the first
two-dozen sites presented the allegation of a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship as es-
tablished fact, and most ranged from doubtful to very doubtful.

Not everyone learned of our study, and not all who did found it persuasive. Indeed,
some groups that should have known better still seemed ignorant of the basic find-
ings of the 1998 DNA tests, which proved beyond any reasonable doubt that Thomas
Woodson could not have been the child of Thomas Jefferson.12 For example, the Amer-
ican Library Association in 2001 listed Byron W. Woodson’s A President in the Family
as an “Editor’s Choice,” and the following year listed it as among the top-ten African-
American nonfiction books.13 After appearing on a public television program with Mr.
Woodson, I politely asked him how he dealt with the DNA evidence pointing against
his claim. He explained (correctly) that there was no known DNA sample from Thomas
Jefferson, and reasoned: “perhaps he was illegitimate.” The one thing that he seemed
certain about was that his family oral tradition was more probative of the truth than
any DNA tests.

I have not seen any scientific polling of public perceptions on the Jefferson-Hemings
issue following our report. A month after the report was released, however, I attended
portions of a reunion of my law school class, and one of the attorneys at my dinner table
remarked that he had seen my name in his local paper in connection with our inquiry.
Most of the people at the table—working in various locations across the United States—
were at least aware that the story had recently been called into serious question by some
new report or evidence. It was hardly a sufficient sample to draw scientific conclusions,
but I was nevertheless encouraged by the response.
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dren — A President’s presumed affair with a slave gives new meaning to the term Jeffersonian, People,
Nov. 23, 1998. (“Now even such stalwart Jefferson defenders as the members of the Monticello As-
sociation, who trace their pedigrees back to Jefferson’s two daughters with Martha, seem to have
backed down in the face of the DNA tests. . . . ‘Who knows,’ says the group’s secretary, Gerald Morgan,
75, who had once discounted the President’s affair as a ‘moral impossibility.’ ‘It was probably [Thomas]
Jefferson who was the father.’”)

The Monticello Association Vote

In 1913, descendants of Thomas Jefferson’s daughters Martha and Maria created a
family organization known as the “Monticello Association” (MA) to celebrate their her-
itage, promote the reputation and fame of Thomas Jefferson, and provide for the main-
tenance of the family graveyard at Monticello, which was deeded to the descendants of
Jefferson’s daughters. Even before the DNA tests became public, descendants of Thomas
Woodson had sought admission to the group and permission to be buried in the grave-
yard. Publication of the Nature14 report on the DNA tests led to demands by not only
Woodson descendants, but also those of Madison and Eston Hemings, for admission to
the family group; and the family’s failure to immediately grant admission was criticized
by many — including some family members — as evidence of racial bigotry.

At its 1999 annual meeting, the MA welcomed fifty-five Hemings family members to
their annual meeting in Charlottesville as “guests,” while appointing a Membership Ad-
visory Committee (MAC) to examine the facts and make a recommendation on grant-
ing them full membership. Dr. Eugene Foster, who had organized the DNA tests and
co-authored one of the Nature articles, addressed the group. Based upon conversations
with MA members, there was media speculation that the Hemingses would soon be ad-
mitted.15 Many MA members were shocked by the new DNA evidence, but most seemed
anxious to “do the right thing” and the relatively small faction that openly refused to ac-
cept the Hemingses’ claim was treated coolly by most of the family. At the 2000 annual
meeting, Dianne Swann-Wright and Lucia Stanton — the principal authors of the Mon-
ticello Report released earlier that year—addressed the group, as did the Monticello com-
mittee’s sole dissenting voice, Dr. White McKenzie Wallenborn. Many observers expected
the family to vote formally to accept Hemings applicants into membership at the meet-
ing scheduled for May 2001.

Word that the Scholars Commission would be releasing a report on the subject in April
2001 led to a decision to delay the vote on admitting the Hemingses until the 2002 annual
MA meeting. Knowing that the MA (along with the Thomas Jefferson Foundation and the
Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society) had a special interest in the issue, when our summary
report (pages 3–21 of this volume) was completed I e-mailed copies simultaneously to the
heads of all three organizations at the end of the first week in April. I was invited to make a
presentation to the Monticello Association annual meeting the following month, at which
time I received a courteous reception. Based upon the questions from the audience—in-
cluding several from Hemings family members present as guests—and comments made to
me before I left the hotel, I had no idea how the family would vote on the issue. Early the
following year, the MAC recommended that the Hemings descendants not be admitted to
full membership but that an umbrella organization be created to promote further interac-
tion between the Jeffersons and Hemingses/Woodsons. The issue of full membership in the
MA could be revisited if additional evidence was found in the future supporting their claim.
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16. See Chapter Three of my Individual Views.

I was invited to attend portions of the May 2002 MA annual meeting as a guest, in
part on the theory that questions about our report or the facts of the case might arise on
which I might be able to shed some light. To provide for a full exchange of views, a large
meeting hall away from the hotel where the group was meeting was reserved for a pub-
lic discussion of the issue. There was a good deal of back and forth by both sides, al-
though most of the speakers seemed to come from what might be described as the
“paternity-belief” camp.

What struck me the most about the comments, however, was that the nature of the
argument had dramatically changed. Rather than alleging that the DNA tests had re-
solved the issue, that Jefferson had freed all of Sally’s children at the age of twenty-one
and otherwise given her special treatment unlike that given to any other slaves, and
the like, there was very little substantive rhetoric in favor of admission. As the meet-
ing progressed, the emotions increased. Several members of the Woodson family an-
nounced that their strong “oral history” was more persuasive than the DNA tests, and
a common theme was that anyone who opposed their admission was a racist. This, in
turn, understandably offended some of the descendants of Martha and Maria Jeffer-
son (who, I sensed, felt they had been very civil to the Hemingses for the previous two
years), and the debate became even more rancorous. When one MA member made
reference to the Scholars Commission report, an angry Woodson family member
shouted that it was “funded by the KKK.” Someone else said that it had been “refuted”
by a recent issue of the National Genealogical Society Quarterly (which will be discussed
below), but there was little substantive debate on the merits and I heard no specific
attempt to challenge a single one of our factual conclusions. However, several Hem-
ings family members and supporters made it clear that if the family voted against ad-
mission they would immediately rush to tell the assembled media that the vote was
motivated by racial bigotry — an approach that did little to calm the growing anger on
both sides of the debate.

I was surprised by the margin of the subsequent 67-to-5 vote against admitting the
Hemings and Woodson applicants to membership. Ironically, this 93% margin was within
one percent of the 12-to-1 (92.3%) margin by which the Scholars Commission concluded
that the story of a sexual relationship between Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings was
probably not true. Even more surprising was the nearly four-to-one margin by which the
proposal for an umbrella organization was rejected — which I attributed largely to the
strong emotions obviously felt by many Jefferson descendants in response to the allega-
tion that they were motivated by racism. Immediately following the first vote, many of
the Woodsons, Hemingses, and their supporters within the MA rushed out of the room
to announce the decision to the media and denounce those who voted with the majority
as bigots. The obvious anger apparent in the remarks of several Jefferson descendants
who tried to counter the charges in front of the TV cameras certainly contributed further
to the perception by many in the media that the vote was founded in racism. From my
perspective, however, it appeared to be motivated instead by an understandable displea-
sure that, after years of welcoming the Hemings descendants as guests and examining the
facts in great detail, they were being repaid by what appeared to be almost a blackmail scheme.
The clear message of many of the Woodson and Hemings guests was, whatever the facts,
vote to admit us now or you will be denounced as racists. I could not help but note the
irony that the original allegation published two hundred years earlier by James Callender
had also been part of a blackmail scheme.16
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17. Errors in the Monticello Report are discussed extensively in my Individual Views. The Coolidge
transcript alterations are illustrated in Figures 3 and 4 on pages 36 and 37.

18. The individual in question did not withdraw over a difference with the group’s majority over
substantive conclusions, but rather because he was heavily committed in trying to finish another book
and felt that he needed many more months before he would be able to do justice to this issue. With-
out dissent, the rest of the group agreed to postpone our report for several months, but when at that
time he reported that he still had not found time to begin his research and the rest of the group de-
cided that further delays for the research he had in mind would be unlikely to produce new evidence
that would alter anyone’s view, he elected to withdraw. 

19. I have no way of knowing with certainty whether these reports were true, or not. There was
ample evidence that Jefferson descendants were invited on short notice subsequent to the announce-
ment of our press conference, and I was told that some invitees had been informed that the program
had been suggested by the Thomas Jefferson Foundation. My accounts were at least third-hand, so I
cannot be certain of the details. But I am not inclined to question to words of the Chairman of the
Board and President of the Thomas Jefferson Foundation, and thus am confident that any such sug-
gestion was not approved by the Monticello board.

The Thomas Jefferson Foundation (Monticello)

Perhaps the most difficult group to understand in this controversy has been the Thomas
Jefferson Foundation (TJF, known as the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation [TJMF]
until 2000), which following the DNA studies became one of the strongest champions of
the paternity story. As discussed in the original chapters to my Individual Views in this
report, the Foundation’s in-house “Research Committee” produced a seriously flawed re-
port in January 2000 that one of its members asserted seemed to have been written to
support a position already arrived at by Monticello leaders. Many of the errors found in
Professor Annette Gordon-Reed’s Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings are repeated in the
Monticello Report, including a quotation from the altered transcription of a letter from
Jefferson’s granddaughter, Ellen Randolph Coolidge.17

When I first met with TJF President Daniel Jordan after being appointed chairman of
the Scholars Commission in mid-2000, he seemed anxious to cooperate fully with our
inquiry and expressed high praise for the scholars who had agreed to take part in the in-
quiry — with a single exception, who subsequently withdrew from the project before the
report was completed.18 I was more than fully satisfied with the cooperation I received
throughout our inquiry both from Dr. Jordan and his senior research staff. But in taking
groups of visitors on Monticello tours in 2000 and early 2001, I sensed a dramatic shift
in focus and indeed a hostility by some guides towards Jefferson that I had never seen be-
fore during numerous visits over several decades to Thomas Jefferson’s Monticello.

My impressions were reinforced by several current and former Monticello guides who
contacted me and reported that guides who questioned the official TJF position affirm-
ing the high probability that Jefferson fathered Sally Hemings’ children were being threat-
ened with dismissal. The dropping of the name “Memorial” from the Foundation’s name
was reinforced by reports that guides were told that the Foundation was “no longer in
the business of memorializing Thomas Jefferson.”

I was also confused and surprised when I was told that, shortly after being notified of
the date and time of our press conference, TJF officials had reportedly contacted the
White House and promoted an “early” birthday celebration bringing Jefferson and Hem-
ings descendants together for a photo opportunity with the President.19 The allegation
made no sense to me. Even if Monticello scholars had found the DNA evidence persua-
sive, surely they would welcome a new scholarly inquiry — all the more so after they
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20. Turner e-mail to John Works, Dan Jordan, and James Truscott, dated April 6, 2001, subject:
DRAFT of Scholar’s [sic] Commission Report. The e-mail noted that there were several hundred pages
of “individual views” that were still being finalized and would not be available until the press confer-
ence on April 12.

21. “With our Board meeting just ahead, I’ll not likely have a chance to review your report until
much later. Thanks again for sharing a copy, and all the best. Dan.” Dan Jordan e-mail to Bob Turner
dated April 10, 2001.

22. Dan Jordan e-mail to Bob Turner dated Tue, 17 April 2001.
23. Id., Thursday, 19 April 2001.
24. Kurt Samson, Slave Children Not Jefferson’s, UPI wire, Thursday, 12 April 2001.
25. Bob Dart, New Jefferson study rejects theories that he fathered children by his slave, Austin

American-Statesman, Apr. 13, 2001.

learned that our findings might be expected to restore some of the luster to Thomas Jef-
ferson’s public image.

In addition to simultaneously e-mailing an advance copy of our summary report to the
leaders of the TJF, the MA, and the TJHS, I offered all three groups an advance copy of our
full report as soon as it could be reproduced.20 Dr. Jordan courteously thanked me for the
offer, but explained that the TJF Board of Directors would be meeting during the week of
our press conference and planning for the annual commemoration of Jefferson’s birthday
would leave no time for anyone to review our report in advance.21 Four days after the Wash-
ington press conference, I arranged for a copy of our full report to be hand-delivered to
Monticello for Dr. Jordan. The following day, April 17, 2001, I received an e-mail from Dr.
Jordan confirming receipt of the report and saying “we look forward to giving it a close
reading.”22 Two days later, Dr. Jordan requested additional copies of the report in a mes-
sage that began: “The press of daily business has kept us from reviewing your large report
in detail. . . .”23

Since no one at Monticello would have even seen our full report until the week fol-
lowing our press conference, I assumed that any press inquiries to Monticello in con-
nection with the initial release of our report would be met with a general statement—perhaps
noting that TJF scholars had not yet had an opportunity to read the full report, but that
they welcomed new scholarship on the issue and looked forward to reading it. Instead,
press accounts published the day after our press conference (several days before the first
copy of the full report was delivered to Monticello) produced a dismissive response.

A UPI story filed a few hours after our press conference on April 12 reported:

Daniel Jordan, president of the Thomas Jefferson Foundation in Charlottesville,
Va., said the study does not offer any new information, but simply reexamines
the existing data from another perspective.

The Foundation has concluded, based on its own research, that Jefferson and
Hemings were the parents of at least one child.

“We’re confident about our own findings, but always welcome new evidence
which we will take seriously,” Jordan told United Press International. “But there
is no new evidence here, no original evidence.” . . . 

Jordan told UPI, “We never said that DNA proved it. We said that the science
and the history, especially the oral history, suggest a high probability that Thomas
Jefferson fathered all of Sally Hemings’ children.”24

A Cox News reporter wrote: “The findings were questioned by Daniel P. Jordan, president
of the Thomas Jefferson Foundation. ‘Their scholars disagree with our scholars,’ he said.
‘We are confident about our findings. . . .’”25 A Chicago Tribune writer reported: “Daniel
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26. Michael Killian, Panel rebuts Jefferson-Hemings theory, Chicago Tribune, April 13, 2001.
27. Jeffrey T. Kuhner, Bush recognizes black Jefferson kin: Scholars doubt slave child story, Wash.

Times, April 13, 2001.
28. An earlier draft of my own Individual Views had been provided in confidence to the chairman

of the Monticello Association’s MAC at his request and it is certainly theoretically possible that this
was shared with someone at Monticello prior to our press conference. But the final version of the full
report was not even printed off of my computer until the day before our press conference, and as
soon as photocopies were bound and placed in boxes at the copy center they were moved to my car,
where they remained until a few minutes before our Washington press conference the next morning.

29. See Figures 3 and 4 on pages 36 and 37.
30. See Chapter Six of my Individual Views.
31. See Chapter Four of my Individual Views.
32. See Chapter Nine of my Individual Views
33. See Chapter Ten of my Individual Views.

Jordan, president of the Thomas Jefferson Foundation, said his organization would stand
by its conclusions.”26 A Washington Times account concluded:

The commission’s findings were in turn disputed by those at Monticello who
argue that the evidence shows that Jefferson had an affair with Miss Hemings
and fathered children with her. “The scientific, historical and documentary ev-
idence indicates that Jefferson fathered Eston Hemings and was most likely the
father of all six of her children,” said Wayne Mogielnicki, spokesman for the
Thomas Jefferson Foundation.

“At first glance they did little or no original research and we have seen nothing
that would cause us to alter our opinion on the matter,” Mr. Mogielnicki said.27

Since Mr. Mogielnicki and his colleagues at Monticello had not yet seen a copy of our full
report at the time of these comments,28 his statement that “we have seen nothing” may
have been factually accurate, if misleading. But, under the circumstances, such state-
ments are difficult for me to understand. Furthermore, ignoring the fact that they had not
yet even seen the report, given the large number of errors that we pointed out in their own
internal report on the issue, if our report contained no “new information,” one must ask
why Monticello had not previously corrected such errors as:

• Relying upon the altered transcription of Ellen Randolph Coolidge’s letter from
Professor Gordon-Reed’s book Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, that totally
reversed the clear intent of the original document;29

• Asserting that all of Sally Hemings’ children were freed at the age of 21;30

• Relying upon the 1873 story attributed to Madison Hemings without acknowl-
edging its clear factual errors — such as the allegation that Dolley Madison was
present at the birth of Madison Hemings;31

• Relying upon obviously biased “witnesses” like John Kelly and Thomas Gibbons
as evidence of a widely held belief that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally
Hemings;32

• Contending that no one had ever suggested Randolph Jefferson was the likely fa-
ther of some of Sally’s children, and failing to point out the obvious correlation
between the Eston Hemings family oral history — that Eston was the child of
Thomas Jefferson’s “uncle” — and the fact that Randolph Jefferson was widely
known as “Uncle Randolph” at Monticello;33 and

• Asserting that the “oral histories” of all of Sally Hemings’ descendants confirmed
that Thomas Jefferson fathered her children, whereas—if one excludes the obvi-
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34. Thomas Sheehan, Thomas Jefferson/Sally Hemings: Two Hundred Years of Controversy 16 (1999).
35. This letter is discussed in Chapter Nine of my Individual Views and reprinted as Figure 10 on

page 187.
36. Monticello Report, Appendix F at 2.

ously false stories passed down (and presumably accepted and repeated in good
faith) among Woodson descendants (by far the strongest of the oral traditions)—
only the descendants of Madison Hemings passed down a consistent story that they
were descendants of Thomas Jefferson, and their accounts add little to the pub-
lished account attributed to Madison in 1873. If Madison Hemings, like Thomas
Woodson, either knowingly misrepresented the facts or was simply misinformed
about his paternity, the entire oral history project adds nothing to the search for
the truth in this matter. And, as discussed in Chapter Four, we know that many of
the facts attributed to Madison Hemings are clearly not true.

It is simply not accurate to say there is “nothing new” in terms of factual information of
relevance to the Jefferson-Hemings issue in the Scholars Commission report. But it prob-
ably is true that our greatest contribution has not been in uncovering a wealth of new
documents or historical facts relevant to the debate, but rather in pointing out major fac-
tual and logical errors in the arguments being used by champions of the Hemingses’ claim.
It is, after all, very difficult to find compelling evidence to prove a negative.

Another troubling aspect of the Monticello Report is that some of their factual find-
ings contradict positions they held prior to the DNA tests that had nothing to do with those
tests. A Monticello visitors guide prepared in the late 1980s, for example, noted that
Thomas Jefferson “privately denied” Callender’s charge that he fathered children by Sally
Hemings.34 That is a factually correct statement: in 1805 the Federalist press had just re-
newed a series of allegations, including the Sally Hemings story, and Jefferson wrote to a
friend that the “only” one of “all their allegations against me” that was “founded in truth”
was the one involving Mrs. Walker.35 It is certainly possible that Jefferson was not telling
the truth, but the use of “only” and “all” in that context excludes the reasonable interpre-
tation that — because Jefferson did not specifically mention Sally Hemings in his com-
ment—that Federalist charge was not encompassed by his statement. But in the Monticello
Report, we are told: “An ambiguous private letter of 1805 has been interpreted by some
historians as a denial.”36

Perhaps nothing better illustrates the “problem” with Monticello’s handling of this
issue than their treatment of “oral history,” or what is more accurately called “oral tradi-
tion.” For years, Monticello interviewed descendants of Thomas Woodson, accepting their
claim that he was the child of Sally Hemings even when they were not prepared to ac-
knowledge the truth of his claim that Thomas Jefferson was his father. By far the strongest
oral tradition alleging a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship came from Woodson de-
scendants, and most of the interviews related to Sally Hemings in Monticello’s “Getting
Word” program of recording slave descendant family traditions reportedly involved in-
dividuals claiming Thomas Woodson as their ancestor.

When six DNA tests proved beyond any reasonable doubt that Thomas Woodson could
not have been Thomas Jefferson’s child—but said nothing about Woodson’s possible con-
nection with Sally Hemings—one might have expected Monticello to respect their extensive
collection of oral traditions except to the degree they had been proven inaccurate by sci-
ence. But this would have meant acknowledging that Sally Hemings could not have been
both monogamous and a sexual partner of Thomas Jefferson (or for that matter any Jef-
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37. The DNA tests exclude the possibility that Thomas Woodson and Eston Hemings were fa-
thered by the same man, so if both were in fact children of Sally Hemings she could not have been
monogamous.

38. See, e.g., http://www.woodson.org/reunion2003_news.asp.
39. See Monticello Report, Appendix K at 2.
40. See page 161 (emphasis added).
41. See, e.g., the excerpts from Garry Wills’ 1974 review from the New York Review of Books, quoted

in the Introduction to my Individual Views on page 175–76.
42. Monticello Report at 5.
43. I am genuinely fond of Dr. Daniel Jordan, who has graciously invited me to take part in a va-

riety of special events at Monticello over the years, and for that reason I have agonized over whether
I should even mention these concerns in this Postscript. But they are a part of the story, and — while
I still have no idea how to explain them — to conceal them out of concern that they might offend a
friend would be inconsistent with my commitment to pursue the truth.

ferson male37), and that, in turn, would undermine the strongest circumstantial case
pointing to Thomas Jefferson as opposed to one of the two dozen or more other candi-
dates as the father of Eston Hemings. So—while Monticello continued to host the Wood-
son descendants as part of the Hemings family for purposes of a family reunion38 — they
assumed for the purposes of their paternity investigation that Woodson could not have been
Sally Hemings’ child.39

Nor were they any more considerate of the oral traditions passed down by descendants
of Eston Hemings. It is understandable that some of those individuals, after having been
told by Fawn Brodie that they were in reality descendants of perhaps America’s brightest Pres-
ident, would look for ways to dismiss the stories they had been told by parents and grand-
parents that Eston’s father was not President Jefferson but merely an “uncle.” But it is more
difficult to understand why Monticello scholars would dismiss this oral tradition—unless,
without it or the strong traditions passed down through the Woodson family, they realized
that all they really had were reports that descendants of Madison Hemings had passed down
the story published by Samuel Wetmore in 1873, with all of its obvious shortcomings.

When the Scholars Commission report was released and it became obvious to most that
the DNA tests had been misrepresented and did not come close to proving that Thomas Jef-
ferson fathered any children by Sally Hemings (indeed, by disproving the Woodson predi-
cate to the Callender allegation, the DNA tests actually undermined Callender’s original story),
Dr. Jordan explained to the media that it did not really matter, because “We never said that
DNA proved it. We said that the science and the history, especially the oral history,”40 made
Thomas Jefferson the most likely father of Sally Hemings’ children. But, on the contrary, the
DNA test exposed the Woodson oral history claims to be false, and the story passed down
by descendants of Eston Hemings (prior to their corruption in the mid-1970s through the
intervention of Fawn Brodie) that Eston’s father was a Jefferson “uncle,” could most easily be
reconciled with the DNA tests by concluding that “Uncle” Randolph Jefferson was Eston’s fa-
ther. Monticello knew Randolph had been invited to Monticello shortly before Eston was
conceived and had a documented propensity to socialize at night with his brother’s slaves.

Until Nature misreported the significance of the DNA tests, few serious scholars took
Fawn Brodie’s “psycho-history” of Thomas Jefferson seriously. Over the years, scholarly
reviewers from across the political spectrum have panned it as silliness, and quite rightly.41

But the Monticello Research Committee alleged that Brodie’s scholarship “has stood the
test of time.”42

Throughout our entire inquiry, and extending to his retirement in 2008,43 Dr. Jordan
and his staff at Monticello were totally cooperative and more than gracious in their deal-
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44. Jefferson to Van Hasselt, Aug. 27, 1797, reprinted in The Garden Book 257 (Edwin Morris
Betts, ed. 1974).

45. See, e.g., this definition from Encyclopedia.com:
MONTICELLO (constructed between 1769 and 1809) was designed and built by Thomas
Jefferson to be his home, farm, and plantation. Construction progressed through two
stages. . . . Altered throughout most of Jefferson’s life, the brick house embodies the ideals
of the American Enlightenment, as well as the moral, aesthetic, political, and scientific mo-
tives of its designer.

Available at http://www.encyclopedia.com/doc/1G2-3401802737.html.

ings with me. Not once, in my presence or in their written communications to me, have I
heard any criticism of the material facts or conclusions contained in the Scholars Com-
mission report. Yet, from other sources, including current and former guides and financial
contributors to Monticello, I hear very different reports. Guides speak of having to move
away from the mansion even to discuss the report among themselves, for fear that they may
lose their jobs, and tell stories of other guides being reprimanded for mentioning during a
tour that some prominent Jefferson scholars do not agree with the Foundation’s conclu-
sion that Thomas Jefferson probably fathered Sally Hemings’ children. One substantial con-
tributor reports that a senior Monticello fundraiser told her that the Scholars Commission
report was “full of inaccuracies,” mentioning as an example our observation that Thomas
Jefferson wrote that Monticello was kept locked while he was away in Washington. This,
she said, was a “foolish” argument, because no one “could lock up a whole plantation.” This
is absurd. As documented above at page 132, in a 1797 letter Jefferson wrote: “our house is
shut up one half the year.”44 Monticello employees are certainly aware that, to prevent theft,
Jefferson installed locks on many interior and all exterior doors, and the exterior doors were
routinely kept locked when the family was away during his service in the White House. Al-
though the word “Monticello” (Italian for “little mountain”) denotes Thomas Jefferson’s
plantation near Charlottesville, Virginia, it is also used to describe the mansion he built on
top of the mountain.45 Our obvious point was not that there were barbed-wire-capped
chain-link fences all around the mountain, but that Jefferson’s home— where friends and
relatives would routinely gather during his presence— was kept locked or “shut up” during
his absence and thus visitors would be uncommon.

At about the same time, I received a fax (from an unidentified sender) of a copy of a
letter signed by a senior Monticello official to a New York attorney, who had written to a
mutual friend asking why, following the release of the Scholars Commission report, the
Thomas Jefferson Foundation did not at least take a more neutral position on the Sally
Hemings issue. I sought the consent of both parties to reprint this letter, and the recipi-
ent gave his consent but suggested that I avoid mentioning names. The sender indicated
it was a “private” letter which should not be shared beyond the original recipient and any-
one copied on the original.

I have agonized about how to handle this letter since it first came into my possession.
Were I convinced that it was, in fact, a “private” communication between two friends,
the case against publication would be extremely powerful and could only be overcome by
the strongest considerations of public good. But on its face it appears to be an official ex-
planation of Thomas Jefferson Foundation views—written to an apparent stranger on Mon-
ticello letterhead—and it may contribute to an explanation of the Foundation’s position.

Rather than reprinting the letter in its entirety, however, I have decided to make only two
brief references. The letter asserts that the Scholars Commission report “offered no surprises
and very little in the way of new insights or evidence”—essentially the position taken pub-
licly by the Foundation’s President and press spokesman the day our report was issued—
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46. The account is of mixed quality. It acknowledges, for example, that “[t]here is no evidence in
Jefferson’s records of any special privileges accorded to Sally Hemings that would distinguish her from
other members of her family,” and that “in his records, Jefferson made no mention of Sally Hemings
that would distinguish her from other members of the enslaved community at Monticello.” But it also
alleges that the oral history of Eston Hemings’ descendants asserted that he was Thomas Jefferson’s
son until the 1940s — a claim for which there appears to be no compelling evidence.

47. This language was included at http://www.monticello.org/plantation/hemingscontro/hemings-
jefferson_contro.html as late as February 18, 2003, but within the next nine days was changed to the
language below.

48. http://www.monticello.org/plantation/hemingscontro/hemings-jefferson_contro.html (last checked
on August 24, 2009).

49. Jeremy Borden, Fewer Tourists See Monticello: Visits at 28-Year Low, Daily Progress (Char-
lottesville, VA), Jan. 8, 2008.

50. Id.

and it informed the recipient that the “only truly third-party, objective, and independent as-
sessment[s]” of the debate were “a recent article in the William & Mary Quarterly” and a
“special issue of the National Genealogical Society Quarterly.” These articles have also been ref-
erenced by other supporters of the revisionist viewpoint, and they will be discussed below.

About a year later, however, a significant change appears to have taken place at Mon-
ticello. I received several reports from individuals who had recently taken tours of Jef-
ferson’s home saying that the guides were now taking a more balanced view, noting both
the initial conclusions of the Foundation’s Research Committee and the fact that a group
of scholars later reached a different conclusion — leaving visitors to make up their own
minds on the issue. During much of 2001 and all of 2002, the Monticello Web site had
included a section entitled “Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings: A Brief Account.”46 Per-
haps most importantly, this Web page concluded:

It likely will take newly uncovered historical evidence or scientific methods still
unknown to determine beyond doubt the truth about Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings, and the complete story may never be known. The Thomas Jef-
ferson Foundation stands by its original findings — that the weight of evidence
suggests that Jefferson probably was the father of Eston Hemings and perhaps
the father of all of Sally Hemings’ children — but is ready to review new evi-
dence at any time and to reassess its understanding of this matter in the light
of new information.47

However, in February 2003, Monticello altered this Web page, inserting the following
new conclusion:

Although the relationship between Jefferson and Sally Hemings has been for
many years, and will surely continue to be, a subject of intense interest to his-
torians and the public, the evidence is not definitive, and the complete story may
never be known. The Foundation encourages its visitors and patrons, based on
what evidence does exist, to make up their own minds as to the true nature of
the relationship.48

This is a far more defensible position.

In early 2008 the TJF announced that the number of visitors to Monticello had con-
tinued to decline since 2002 — reaching a twenty-eight-year low in 2007. This was de-
spite the fact that the Foundation had “offered discounts and worked with cultural and
historic organizations to get Monticello on people’s minds.” 49 Monticello spokesmen ex-
plained the decline in part as a result of “[h]igher gas prices and the lackluster fall fo-
liage,” but the primary explanation was a “nationwide trend at similar places.”50
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51. Id.
52. See the Introduction to my Individual Views at page 31.
53. The late Eyler R. Coates first discovered the alteration in the Ellen Randolph Coolidge letter

in 2000 and brought it to my attention by e-mail.
54. See Introduction to my Individual Views, Figures 1-4, on pages 33, 35, 36, and 37.

However, in covering the story, the Charlottesville Daily Progress did some indepen-
dent research and reported:

Two similar historic sites in Virginia didn’t see the same attendance pattern last
year. Mount Vernon, the home of George Washington outside Alexandria, had
1.08 million visitors in 2007, the first time since the 9/11 tragedy that the site
had more than 1 million visitors, a spokesman said. James Madison’s Montpe-
lier in Orange County [located within thirty miles of Monticello] saw an in-
crease in visitation in 2007 of about 25 percent from 2006. . . . 51

While there may be many variables at play here, some consideration might be given to the
possibility that many Americans bring their families to places like Monticello, Mount
Vernon, and Montpelier to celebrate the lives and pay respect to the memories of the na-
tion’s founders. The Thomas Jefferson Foundation’s decision to stop “memoralizing”
Thomas Jefferson clearly alienated many visitors, and might well have been a factor in
the downward trend of Monticello visitors.

Reaction of Scholars

One of the greatest surprises (and, from my perspective, disappointments) was the re-
action of the leading revisionist scholars to our report. I had anticipated that they would
vigorously challenge us, and that the public would benefit from the scholarly exchanges
that might follow. When Scholars Commission member Professor Paul Rahe (our sole
dissenter) asked whether I would be willing to take part in a debate on the Jefferson-Hem-
ings issue at the 2002 annual meeting of the American Political Science Association, I en-
thusiastically accepted. But, in the end, the planned program had to be cancelled when
Professor Rahe proved unable to find a prominent revisionist scholar willing to debate
the issue. Others have contacted me about possibly taking part in debates as well, only to
report later that the leading revisionists had said they had “moved on” to other issues.

It is perhaps understandable that the two most prominent scholars supporting the Hem-
ingses’ claim withdrew a bit from the limelight on this issue, as both came under fire about
the time our report was released. While the first case was addressed in our original report,
it has largely been ignored (despite several front-page stories about similar behavior from
other scholars52). The second received major press coverage shortly after our report was
released, but because the scholar was so respected and so critical to the widespread mis-
understanding of the DNA stories it probably warrants further mention here. I will take them
in order and discuss them before considering the views of other scholars and writers.

Professor Annette Gordon-Reed

Although the Scholars Commission was not the first53 to point out the alterations54 in
historical documents transcribed by Professor Gordon-Reed and included in her 1997
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55. Sam Hodges, Scholars: No Proof Jefferson Fathered Slave’s Children, Mobile Register, Apr.
13, 2001.

56. Gordon-Reed to Works, July 16, 2001, copy on file with author.
57. See the Introduction to my Individual Views at page 35.

book Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, the release of our report probably did bring
them to the attention of a larger audience. When she was asked by the media about the
“incorrect transcription of a key letter from one of Jefferson’s granddaughters,” Professor
Gordon-Reed “acknowledged her mistake . . . but said it was a ‘non-issue,’ because she
would have used the letter regardless.”55 (One has to wonder why, since when transcribed
correctly the letter would be the only document in her appendices that clearly under-
mines the case she is advocating.)

Troubled that there were no apparent consequences for what he viewed as a serious
act of professional misconduct, TJHS President John Works wrote to the Dean and Pres-
ident of New York Law School and asked whether the school was looking into the mat-
ter. On July 16, Professor Gordon-Reed responded to this letter directly to Mr. Works.
She denied intentionally altering the text of the Ellen Randolph Coolidge letter, declar-
ing: “Any mistake that appears in my work is just that — a mistake.”56

The following month, Mr. Works received a brief letter dated August 14, 2001, from
New York Law School Dean Richard Matasar stating in its entirety:

Dear Mr. Works:

I know Professor Gordon-Reed very well. I find the tone of your letter extremely
offensive. She has told you she mistakenly transcribed the letter and that she will
correct the error in future editions of her book.

As a scholar—and a careful one at that—I have made similar mistakes in my own
work. I fully support Professor Gordon-Reed.

Sincerely,
Richard A. Matasar
Dean and President

This would make more sense if “the mistakes” had involved transcribing “that” as “the”
or “1873” as “1973” — most prolific scholars do occasionally make such mistakes —
but, in order to make the Coolidge letter useful to her case, Professor Gordon-Reed
had to make nearly a dozen alterations to a single sentence. The “mistakes” do not ap-
pear random, but rather remarkably transformed the original sentence into a gram-
matically correct new sentence with a very different meaning. There was another little
“mistake” in the same letter, involving transcribing “disbelief ” as “belief ” — resulting
in an implication that Thomas Jefferson’s favorite grandson believed the allegations
against the President. One might add that virtually all of the “mistakes” in her tran-
scription of the 1873 story about Madison Hemings also appear to have corrected ob-
vious inaccuracies in the original that might have decreased the document’s credibility.
Thus, Professor Gordon-Reed dropped a dozen words in a sentence so that it falsely
appeared that Madison Hemings described not five-year-old Maria but nearly twelve-
year-old Martha as “just budding into womanhood”57 when Thomas Jefferson went to
live in Paris. The original document was very legible, and the words deleted could not
be explained on the basis of mistakenly skipping a line while transcribing. As with other
alterations in her book, the deletion of a dozen words from the sentence removes a
passage that if not altered would have raised doubts about the credibility of the docu-
ment being transcribed.
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58. Plagiarism is obviously dishonest and constitutes intellectual “theft,” but in the field of his-
tory it does not necessarily mislead the reader in the search for the truth. To alter historic documents
that, at the time, were not readily available to readers in order to conceal obvious factual errors and
make the original document appear more credible — or to present a credible witness as having said
something she clearly did not say — undermines the search for the truth itself and thus is in my view
a far more serious offense.

59. See the Introduction to my Individual Views at p. 30.
60. Annette Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings xi (1998). The issue, in re-

ality, is not so much Madison Hemings’ account of “his life at Monticello,” but rather his alleged ac-
count of events in Paris and elsewhere that occurred years before his own life began.

61. Id. at x.
62. Id. at xi. This ignores the reality that the DNA tests only addressed the paternity of Thomas

Woodson and Eston Hemings, and said nothing about whether one or both Carr brothers — or any-
one else — fathered Sally Hemings’ older children.

63. Id.
64. Id. at xii. As noted in Chapter Three of my Individual Views, James Thomson Callender, the

originator of the story of a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship, alleged that Sally Hemings had as
many as “thirty different lovers. . . .”

I must admit that I had never heard of Dean Matasar before I read Professor Gordon-
Reed’s book and then read the letter he wrote to Mr. Works, and I have not to my knowl-
edge read any of his scholarly writings. But I would be interested in seeing even one
example of his published works that includes “similar mistakes” to altering even half-a-
dozen words in a key sentence so as to reverse its original meaning. Excluding situa-
tions of obvious fraud, I do not believe I have ever encountered such “errors” before
from any serious scholar, much less a former member of Harvard Law Review like Pro-
fessor Gordon-Reed.

Interestingly, Mr. Works had the same reaction and wrote back to Dean Matasar asking
for an example of comparable “mistakes” in his own published writings. That was more than
nine years ago. To the best of my knowledge, he has not yet received either the requested
example (much less “examples”), or for that matter any other response to his letter.

Although other historians in the interim have been sanctioned, had awards withdrawn,
and in some cases lost their jobs for the lesser offense58 of plagiarism, Professor Gordon-
Reed has apparently suffered no adverse consequences. Indeed, she has gone on to be named
a tenured professor at Harvard Law School and to win the National Book Award, the Pulitzer
Prize in history, the George Washington Prize, a $500,000 “genius” award from the McArthur
Foundation, and numerous other distinguished literary prizes for her latest book.59

After the DNA tests were made public, Professor Gordon-Reed issued a new edition
of her 1997 book Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, addressing the DNA findings in an
“Author’s Note” before the Preface. She reasoned: “‘Passionless’ science has stepped in to
help solve a controversy that history and politics — driven by human passion — would
not allow to be resolved by normal means. Let me be clear. There is currently no rea-
sonable basis for doubting Madison Hemings’s story about his life at Monticello.”60 Although
she refers to “the Carr brothers story”61 — not in the possessive, but rather the story told
by Jefferson family members that Sally Hemings’ children were fathered by Peter and
Samuel Carr (a story she inaccurately alleges has been destroyed by the DNA tests62) —
and noted that “Jefferson’s relatives” had “named two of their relatives as the fathers,”63 she
nevertheless asserts in this Note that “[t]he suggestions about multiple fathers — in a way
that is very telling and depressing — comes from current-day commentators.”64

Indeed, Professor Gordon-Reed seems to find no possible explanation but racism to
explain why white historians had ever challenged Madison Hemings’ account: 

turner 22 postscript auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:56 AM  Page 370



REACTIONS TO THE SCHOLARS COMMISSION REPORT 371

65. Id. As discussed in Chapter Two of my Individual Views, the statement attributed to Madison
Hemings and relied upon so heavily by Professor Gordon-Reed alleged that Sally’s mother Betty Hem-
ings had children by at least four different men.

66. Id. at xiii. See also, id. at viii (“The treatment of the story well into modern times is evidence
of the continuing grip that the doctrine of white supremacy has on American society.”)

67. Bruce Weber, Merrill D. Peterson, Jefferson Scholar, Dies at 88, N.Y. Times, Oct. 2, 2009 (“At
Virginia, Mr. Peterson was known for his liberal views. Outspoken on the subject of integration, he
had arrived on campus before blacks were recruited either for the student body or for the faculty. In
March 1965, shortly after civil rights marchers in Selma, Ala., were attacked by the state and local po-
lice, he delivered a fervent and eloquent speech at the campus rotunda. ‘We are concerned with what
is happening in Selma because what is happening there involves what is taught here — truth, hon-
esty, justice, compassion, the rights and freedom of all men in a democratic society,’ Mr. Peterson
said. ‘Today Selma is a vital link in the heritage of American liberty. No university in America or in
the world has a clearer title to speak for that heritage in the present crisis than the University of Vir-
ginia. And it’s high time, long past time, we were heard from. Selma is a symbol, but as President
Johnson told us the other night, it has become a turning point, like Lexington and Concord and Ap-
pomattox, of America’s unending search for freedom.’”

68. I was told by a Monticello guide that on July 4, 2001, Dr. Peterson had posted on the bulletin
board in the break room used by the guides a copy of a short summary of our work I had written for
the Wall Street Journal. For the article in question, see Robert F. Turner, The Truth About Jefferson,
Wall Street Journal, July 3, 2001, available online at http://www.opinionjournal.com/extra/
?id=95000747.

We should also ask whether stereotypes about black women have any useful role
to play in considering this issue. The casual implication that Sally Hemings’s
children may have been fathered by different men is not based upon anything we
presently know about the social situation at Monticello. It is more likely a prod-
uct of long-held beliefs about black women’s natural licentiousness and the loose-
ness of the black family structure.65

While noting that some progress was evident from the positive reviews of her book even
before the DNA tests were announced, she laments: “very few reviewers grappled with
the role that the doctrine of white supremacy played in all of this.”66 I can assure read-
ers that the fear that anyone who disagreed with Professor Gordon-Reed might be at-
tacked as a “racist” or “white supremacist” deterred several able Jefferson scholars who
were approached about joining the Scholars Commission in 2000. Professor Merrill Pe-
terson did not give a reason for his decision to decline the invitation to join our group,
and now that he has passed on I want to be careful about speculating as to his motives.
At the age of seventy-nine he certainly needed no excuse to avoid additional burdens on
his time. But he had openly and proudly supported the Civil Rights movement in the
South, had played a prominent leadership role in the struggle to integrate the Univer-
sity of Virginia, and, as well, had worked hard to recruit African-American professors
and students.67 I know that he was deeply hurt by patently false suggestions that he was
some sort of white supremacist for being skeptical about the story attributed to Madi-
son Hemings, and I have good reason to believe that he was pleased with the conclusions
of our group.68

I have only encountered one instance where Professor Gordon-Reed specifically dis-
cussed the Scholars Commission (although there may well be many others). On Sep-
tember 24, 2008, she took part in an online discussion of her latest book sponsored by
the Washington Post, from which the following exchange with an unidentified individual
from Virginia is excerpted:

VA: I have read most of the scholars commission report. It has convinced me
that Jefferson did not father Sally’s children. What is your opinion of the report?
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69. Annette Gordon-Reed, The Root: Sally Hemings and Me, Wednesday, Sept. 24, 2008; 12:00
PM, available at http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/discussion/2008/09/18/DI2008091
802348.html.

70. Merriam-Webster OnLine Dictionary, available at http://www.merriam-webster.com/
dictionary/Commission.

71. Gordon-Reed, Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings 148.

Annette Gordon-Reed:  I have problems with the Scholars Commission Re-
port — by the way — anytime a group has to call itself a “Scholar’s [sic] Com-
mission” you know something is up. Sort of like an establishment calling itself
a “Gentleman’s Club.” In any event, as I recall there was not one scholar of
slavery in the group. It would be as if someone were claiming to be an expert
on France in the 18th century, and they didn’t know how to speak or read
French. That would not pass muster. The lives of French people would be taken
too seriously for that. That some think it should pass muster when dealing
with the lives of enslaved African Americans speaks volumes about blacks’ po-
sition in this country. The scholarship about slavery in America is really the crown
jewel in American historiography. It is a subject worthy of study and mastery
(if I may use that ironic term) and that anyone could purport to seriously talk
about an issue involving slavery without having input from people who spend
their lives studying the institution — and I mean multiple people — is beyond
mysterious.69

After more than nine years, I honestly don’t recall who coined the term “Scholars Com-
mission.” I am pretty sure it was not me or another member of our group, and I suspect
it was someone affiliated with the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society. But I don’t find the
term offensive or inappropriate. Among the Merriam-Webster definitions for the term
“commission” is “a group of persons directed to perform some duty. . . .”70 While “directed”
may be a bit strong—we were “requested” and all served as uncompensated volunteers—
I think the title fairly accurately describes the group. While I don’t disagree that the study
of American slavery is important, our task was not to do a broad study of interracial sex
in Virginia during the era of Thomas Jefferson, but rather the far more specific mission
of assessing whether charges that Jefferson fathered one or more children with Sally Hem-
ings were true. There were a variety of allegations and arguments to be assessed, and it
is not clear to me that having spent decades studying the behavior of other individuals
on other plantations would have been of tremendous value in our more specific inquiry.
Certainly, though, everyone on the Scholars Commission was very much aware that in-
terracial sex on southern plantations in that era was not uncommon, and that it repre-
sented yet another dimension of the injustice of slavery.

Lest I be misunderstood, my concerns about Professor Gordon-Reed’s scholarship go
well beyond the apparent “evidence tampering” documented in Figures 1–4. Because
racism is such an evil prejudice, I find highly offensive her false allegations that scholars
like Merrill Peterson who reached conclusions that differed from her own were “racists”
or “white supremacists.” It has been an effective tactic for intimidating some scholars who
might otherwise have been tempted to challenge her, but it is as irresponsible as falsely
accusing an innocent man of rape. She is obviously a very bright and knowledgeable per-
son on these issues—too bright and knowledgeable to believe that Thomas Jefferson was
“just a typical southern slave owner. . . .”71 Her obvious talents and expertise make it dif-
ficult for me to dismiss as mere incompetence her exclusion of Randolph Jefferson and
his family from her book (she included a book specifically about Randolph in her bibli-
ography), or to ignore on similar grounds her clearly false assertions that the DNA tests
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72. Joseph J. Ellis, American Sphinx: The Character of Thomas Jefferson 366 (Vintage
ed. 1998).

73. Joseph J. Ellis, Jefferson: Post-DNA, 57 William & Mary Quarterly 126 (Jan. 2000).
74. See Chapter One of my Individual Views.
75. Id.

disproved the Jefferson family’s oral traditions that the Carr brothers fathered children by
Sally Hemings. 

Other than her rather snide “gentlemen’s club” remark and denying that the alterations
in transcriptions in her first book were anything but “mistakes,” Professor Gordon-Reed
does not appear to have addressed our report on the merits. When invited to debate the
Jefferson-Hemings issue at the 2002 annual meeting of the American Political Science As-
sociation—where she could have defended her past writings and pointed out any flaws in
our research or conclusions—she declined. For the record, the offer to debate her is still open.

Professor Joseph Ellis

Professor Joseph Ellis, who had co-authored one of the original Nature stories on the
DNA tests and was certainly the most distinguished champion of the Hemingses’ cause,
received the Pulitzer Prize in History in 2001 for his best-selling Founding Brothers. His
shift in positions — from characterizing the possibility that Thomas Jefferson was sexu-
ally involved with Sally Hemings as being “remote” and based upon “flimsy and wholly
circumstantial” evidence in his highly acclaimed 1996 biography, American Sphinx,72 to
asserting the Hemingses’ case had been proven “beyond a reasonable doubt”73 by the DNA
study — was difficult for me to reconcile with my conviction that he was an exceptionally
able scholar and my assumption that he was an honorable man. His overstatement (and
Nature’s) of the DNA evidence was so great that Dr. Eugene Foster, who organized and
oversaw the DNA tests, found it necessary to publish letters in both Nature and The New
York Times seeking to correct the record.74

As noted in the Introduction to my Individual Views, during our inquiry I exchanged
letters with Professor Ellis and found him to be most gracious and candid in his com-
ments. I liked him. But in his letters to me — bracketed before and after by scholarly ar-
ticles repeating the “beyond reasonable doubt” assessment75 — he took the view that the
DNA results had changed his view from it being somewhat more likely that the story
was false to somewhat more likely that it was true. That was a perfectly reasonable po-
sition, but it hardly explained his much stronger assessment in the Nature story or in
subsequent public statements. I could not escape the suspicion that either Professor Ellis
was not the outstanding historian that his record suggested or he was not the honorable
individual his letter to me strongly suggested. I was unwilling to believe that he would
intentionally misrepresent the truth, and yet I could not reconcile his obviously false
and exaggerated scholarship with my perception of his skills as a professional historian.

Both Joseph Ellis and the leadership at Monticello were enigmas to me. Every indica-
tor told me they were honorable and able people. Yet their revisionist scholarship on this
issue was so terribly flawed that it made no sense to me. And between them, their influ-
ence in shifting public and professional thinking on the Sally Hemings issue had been ex-
traordinary. Widely recognized as among the most outstanding members of his profession,
when Joseph Ellis changed positions and announced the case was proven “beyond reasonable
doubt,” there was little reason for other scholars, who had not taken the time to examine
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76. Eric S. Lander & Joseph J. Ellis, DNA Analysis: Founding Father, Nature, Nov. 5, 1998, vol.
395, issue 6706 at 13, reprinted in Monticello Report, Appendix A.

77. Walter V. Robinson, Professor’s past in doubt: Discrepancies surface in claim of Vietnam duty,
Boston Globe, June 18, 2001 at A1.

78. Id.
79. Patrick Healy & Walter V. Robinson, Professor Apologizes for Fabrications, Boston Globe, June

19, 2001 at A1; Walter V. Robinson, Professor Faces Investigation at Mount Holyoke, Boston Globe,
June 21, 2001 at B3. (“Creighton also retreated from her Monday criticism of the Globe for disclos-
ing Ellis’s misrepresentations.”)

80. Statement of President Joanne V. Creighton, August 17, 2001, available at http://www.
mtholyoke.edu/offices/comm/news/ellisdecision.shtml.

81. Robinson, Professor’s past in doubt.
82. “Further Statement of Joseph J. Ellis,” Aug. 17, 2001, available at http://www.mtholyoke.

edu/offices/comm/news/ellisstatement.html.
83. See Chapter One of my Individual Views.

all of the evidence in detail, to question the Hemingses’ story. And when the Thomas Jef-
ferson Foundation quickly conceded the point, and the public was told that DNA tests had
“seal[ed] the case,”76 the debate indeed seemed over.

Two months after the Scholars Commission report was made public, a highly re-
spected journalist dropped a bombshell, disclosing on page one of the Boston Globe
that Professor Ellis had a long history of telling untrue stories to students, colleagues,
and the media about such things as having served in the Vietnam War, having been a
civil rights and anti-war activist, and having scored the winning touchdown in his high
school homecoming football game.77 Careful research had revealed that Ellis was at Yale
earning two master’s degrees and a Ph.D. in history during the years he claimed to have
been in Vietnam as an infantry platoon leader with the elite 101st Airborne Division
and later on the personal staff of General William Westmoreland. His high school year-
book revealed that he played no sports (but may have been on the football field at half-
time as a member of the band), and his Yale friends and advisers had no recollections
of any summer spent with the civil rights movement in Mississippi or anti-war activism
on campus.78

Mount Holyoke President Joanne V. Creighton initially defended Professor Ellis, issu-
ing a statement that said in part “We at the College do not know what public interest the
Globe is trying to serve through a story of this nature.”79 But, as pressure grew, she ac-
knowledged what Ellis had done was wrong and finally was forced on August 17 to sus-
pend her college’s most distinguished faculty member for one year without pay.80 On the
same day, Professor Ellis — who had initially simply issued a statement through the col-
lege saying he “would not discuss any of the issues”81 raised in the Globe article—released
a statement through his lawyer saying in part: “By misrepresenting my military service to
students in the course on the Vietnam War, I did something both stupid and wrong. I
apologize to the students, as well as to the faculty of this institution, for violating the im-
plicit covenant of trust that must exist in the classroom.”82

The Boston Globe revelations made it easy for some who were struggling to decide
whether Professor Ellis was a poor historian or was simply willing to misrepresent the
truth when it served his interests. It was already known that he had been actively involved
in the campaign to prevent the impeachment of President Clinton at the time he wrote
that the DNA tests had proven Thomas Jefferson was also guilty of sexual misconduct
while in office. Indeed, Ellis made frequent reference to the similarities between Jefferson
and Clinton in several of his articles and public statements at the time.83 But the con-
ventional wisdom was that his misrepresentation of his own biography had not infected
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84. Josh Tyrangiel, A History of His Own Making: Author Joseph Ellis Invented a Vietnam tour
of duty. But Why?, Time online edition, June 24, 2001, available at http://www.time.com/ time/edu-
cation/article/0,8599,165156,00.html.

85. Henry Wiencek e-mail to Bob Turner, Sept. 11, 2007.

his professional scholarship. For example, his editor at Alfred A. Knopf asserted: “no one
has questioned his scholarship in any of the books he has written.”84

In retrospect, I guess it is not necessary for me to attempt to resolve the issue. What-
ever the explanation, it is clear that Professor Ellis seriously misstated the facts about the
DNA test results, and in so doing he misled large numbers of people both within the
community of professional historians and among the general public. And, like Professor
Gordon-Reed, since the Scholars Commission report was released he has turned down in-
vitations to defend his position on the Jefferson-Hemings issue in public debate. Read-
ers tempted to rely upon his assessments of this issue should keep these realities in mind
as they seek to weigh the value of his contributions.

Historian Henry Wiencek

Perhaps the most helpful criticism I received while working to finalize this volume
came from Henry Wiencek, whose books on slavery and the Founding Fathers include the
2003 prize-winning volume, An Imperfect God: George Washington, His Slaves, and the
Creation of America. He contacted me in late 2007 in connection with some research he
was doing on Jefferson and slavery, and in the process argued (in my view quite persua-
sively) that Jefferson’s notation that Harriet II and her brother Beverly had “run” in 1822
must be interpreted in the light of other existing evidence to mean he allowed them to leave
Monticello in search of a better life. He noted (as I had as well) that Monticello overseer
Edmund Bacon later spoke of having put Harriet on a stage to Philadelphia with fifty
dollars from Mr. Jefferson, but also reminded me that granddaughter Ellen Randolph
Coolidge later stated: “It was his principle (I know that of my own knowledge) to allow
such of his slaves as were sufficiently white to pass for white men, to withdraw quietly
from the plantation; it was called running away. . . .”85 Although I quoted that sentence in
Chapter Six of my original Individual Views, in retrospect I clearly failed to give it the
weight I now believe it warrants. I have thus made appropriate changes to my Individual
Views, and am most grateful to Mr. Wiencek for pointing this out.

To be sure, Ellen referred specifically to slaves who were white enough to pass “for white
men,” but that would cover Beverly—and the perhaps more elaborate measures of having
Bacon put Harriet on a stage with a significant amount of cash could reflect a greater con-
cern for her physical safety because she was a woman (and, in any event, that incident is
already persuasively documented by Bacon himself). So, thanks in large part to Mr. Wiencek,
I am now persuaded that Jefferson’s notations about Beverly and Harriet having “run” in
1822 are not reliable evidence that either of them left Monticello without Thomas Jeffer-
son’s consent. This, in turn, suggests that Jefferson may well have informally “freed” Har-
riet within a few months of her twenty-first birthday, which occurred in May 1822.

But by the time Harriet turned twenty-one, Beverly would have been twenty-four. So
allowing a twenty-three- or twenty-four-year-old Beverly to “withdraw quietly” from
Monticello, and having Bacon put a twenty- or twenty-one-year-old Harriet on a stage-
coach, is still hardly serious evidence that this was the result of some sort of “treaty” in
which Thomas Jefferson promised an adolescent Sally Hemings he would free all of their
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86. In order to make certain that I was doing justice to his views and to the technical issues of sci-
ence involved, at my request Mr. Corneliussen drafted much of this portion of my Postscript, which
I have only lightly edited.

children when they turned twenty-one if she would return to Monticello with him from
Paris. Ellen’s use of the plural “men” suggests that Beverly was not the only light-skinned
slave to be thus permitted to withdraw quietly, and her language suggests that this was a
consistent policy. We do not have sufficient evidence to determine with authority how
often this occurred, but from Ellen’s statement the motivating factor was that slaves had
to be “sufficiently white to pass for white men. . . .” Assuming this was true, and that Bev-
erly was as light-skinned as Harriet or Eston, then this would explain his departure with-
out any need for a “treaty” commitment made in Paris to persuade a reluctant Sally to
return to Virginia.

Science Writer Steven T.  Corneliussen

Subsequent to the release of our April 2001 report I have benefited greatly from the
assistance of Steven Corneliussen,86 a science writer at the Thomas Jefferson National
Accelerator Facility (Jefferson Laboratories) in Newport News, Virginia. Among his
other activities, Mr. Corneliussen is a media advisor for the American Institute of
Physics and a leader of the effort to preserve Virginia’s Fort Monroe, where the Civil
War’s first self-emancipators helped push slavery toward collapse. Corneliussen is an
agnostic on the paternity question but a student and critic of what he calls “Hemings-
Jefferson science abuse,” by which he means misuse of the special authority of science
in the paternity controversy. He charges that this abuse began when Nature’s editors
confused the public worldwide concerning the DNA evidence by conflating molecu-
lar findings and historical interpretation of molecular findings. He charges that the
abuse worsened when Dr. Fraser D. Neiman’s statistical study confused both the pub-
lic and “credulous historians” concerning the correlation between Hemings’ concep-
tions and Jefferson’s visits to Monticello. Corneliussen believes that, irrespective of
whether or not Jefferson and Hemings were parents together, this abuse discredits sci-
ence itself and requires scrutiny because of science’s special authority on matters in
public discourse.

After the 2000 Neiman study confidently claimed that statistical science proved that Jef-
ferson fathered Hemings’ children, Corneliussen — skeptical that statistical science can
be usefully applied in a two-century-old paternity mystery — began inquiring whether
experts would be vetting the study independently. Only later did I come to know him. After
we had exchanged a number of e-mails, I asked him to review Chapter Five of my Indi-
vidual Views, concerning Dr. Neiman’s study. Most of the members of the Scholars Com-
mission were not professional scientists, and I wanted to get another opinion on my very
critical assessment of Dr. Neiman’s scholarship to make sure I was not being unfair. Cor-
neliussen is not a scientist either, but on his own initiative — having long since realized
that no one in science was going to review a scientific study sequestered in a humanities
journal — he informally sought the scientific judgments of two of his colleagues con-
cerning the statistical study. He called on Dr. William C. Blackwelder, a biostatistician
and Fellow of the American Statistical Association, and Dr. David R. Douglas, a Fellow
of the American Physical Society whose particle-accelerator work involves computer sim-
ulations akin to those on which Dr. Neiman built his statistical study.
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Later Corneliussen published an excellent op-ed article in the Richmond Times-Dispatch
summarizing his view that the paternity controversy has involved abuse of science’s special
authority. In part, he elaborated on Dr. Blackwelder’s and Dr. Douglas’s judgment that,
even setting aside the statistical study’s questionable assumptions and other problems, “two
failings in particular fatally undermine” it. First, correlation or association cannot prove cau-
sation. Corneliussen reported that Dr. Blackwelder “emphasized that at most statistical sci-
ence can only investigate whether Jefferson was present more often” at times of conceptions
“than would be expected by chance alone.” Second, the study failed to account for the vary-
ing probabilities with which conception can take place on one of the days during a window
of time approximately nine months before birth. Dr. Blackwelder had criticized this fail-
ing for the case of Sally Hemings’ son Beverly by noting, as Corneliussen put it, that “Jef-
ferson’s presence for less than 50 percent of the window in [Beverly’s] case means an overall
probability of less than 50 percent for Jefferson’s presence in all six. So just by itself, this one
absence upends the entire study.” (As I have explained elsewhere,87 Sally Hemings likely
had five children, not six. Corneliussen engaged Dr. Neiman’s claims as he found them.)

Corneliussen notes that the statistical study merely “awarded itself a fudge factor” of sorts
concerning Beverly’s case, and that the failure to account for a distribution of conception-
window probabilities mattered notably in three more cases as well. Using historical data
recorded in Dr. Neiman’s article and in Cynthia H. Burton’s Jefferson Vindicated, and build-
ing on observations by Burton and in my Individual Views, Corneliussen wrote, “Depend-
ing on biological assumptions, Jefferson missed a week of [Hemings’] unnamed third child’s
conception window. He missed a day or more of Madison Hemings’. A Lynchburg trip caused
the same for Eston’s. That means Jefferson could have been absent when the only child linked
to [a Jefferson father] by DNA was conceived.” Corneliussen charges that the “statistical study
called itself a ‘probabilistic evaluation,’ but didn’t even try to compute” the four absences’
statistical implications. He asserts that this point is crucial in that it shows that whatever
may be the qualitative significance of the conceptions-coincidences evidence, the Neiman study
is not merely weak as a scientific, quantitative claim, but is completely useless.

Professor Gordon-Reed, in a letter to the editor of the Times-Dispatch accusing Cor-
neliussen of “smoke and mirrors,”88 apparently completely missed this qualitative-vs.-
quantitative distinction. According to Dr. Douglas, in a letter of his own,89 her letter
showed no awareness that Corneliussen was condemning not the qualitative argument
about the conceptions’ coincidences, but what purported to be a quantitative proof backed
by the authority of statistical science. Dr. Douglas re-asserted that distinction and chal-
lenged as well Professor Gordon-Reed’s charge that in this matter and also in the DNA
matter Corneliussen was attacking historians, when in fact he was criticizing scientists.

Corneliussen points out something else that’s crucial as well. I mentioned at the start
of Chapter Five that the statistical study has been hailed by believers in the paternity al-
legations as likely to persuade those who disbelieve. He notes that R. B. Bernstein’s
Thomas Jefferson, which the eminent scholar of the Jefferson era Professor Gordon S.
Wood has called “the best short biography of Jefferson ever written,”90 declares the Neiman
study one of “three pillars”91 of parenthood proof, along with historical evidence and
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the DNA evidence. Corneliussen and I have both noted that historian Jan Lewis has ar-
gued similarly.

Corneliussen remains agnostic about what the historical evidence and the DNA evi-
dence together may show, but his commentary piece concludes: “[T]hanks to DNA con-
fusion and the bogus statistical study, many today believe that science itself has proven
the paternity. It hasn’t.”92 Anyone interested in a full airing of Corneliussen’s criticisms of
Hemings-Jefferson science abuse will want to see his essay at TJscience.org, “Sally Hem-
ings, Thomas Jefferson, and the Authority of Science.” The essay’s thumbnail summary
says, “Whether or not Hemings and Jefferson had children together, misreported DNA and
misused statistics have skewed the paternity debate, discrediting science itself.”93

The National Genealogical Society Quarterly Special Issue

In September 2001 the National Genealogical Society issued a “Special Issue” of its
quarterly journal entitled, Jefferson-Hemings: A Special Issue of the National Genealogical
Society Quarterly. A sense of what is to come appears in the one-page “Editor’s Corner”
in which we are told “Monticello — ruled by the Jeffersons and populated by the Hem-
ingses—is the symbol, if not the seat, of the world known as American slavery.”94 It is un-
clear whether the editor believes Jefferson created American slavery, or just that slave life
at Monticello was typical of the evil institution throughout the south. Either way, her as-
sessment is far from accurate, as slave life at Monticello was far better than at most plan-
tations in eighteenth- and early nineteenth-century America.

The lead article in this special issue is entitled “Sally Hemings’s Children: A Genealogical
Analysis of the Evidence,” and was written by Helen F. M. Leary. This article has already
been dissected brilliantly by a genealogist who has spent decades studying the Jefferson
family and other families in the Monticello area, and little purpose would be served by
my attempting to duplicate that exhaustive, nearly two-hundred page effort.95 But a few
comments may be in order. For example, Ms. Leary asserts that “the conception of each
Hemings child coincided precisely and exclusively with Jefferson’s visits to Monticello.”96

Again, one wonders what she is trying to say. Is she telling us that Jefferson arrived “pre-
cisely” on the day Sally conceived each of her children and left the following morning,
that Sally always became pregnant when Jefferson visited Monticello, and that Jefferson
was the “exclusive” potential father present on that day? Whatever she is trying to say, we
have no evidence that any of these possible interpretations is true.

In reality, there is very little—“precise” and “exclusive” or otherwise—that we really
know about Sally Hemings. We do not even know with any certainty where Sally was when
she became pregnant with her various children. The silliness of Leary’s assertion that “pre-
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cise” evidence exists in this matter is apparent when we look at what we believe we know
about the conception of Sally’s son Beverly. As discussed in Chapter Five of my Individual
Views, Monticello scholar Dr. Fraser Neiman calculates that Beverly was conceived on July
8, 1797.97 From Jefferson’s records, it appears that he had been away from Monticello for
more than two months prior to the estimated conception date and did not return until July
11—three days after the estimated conception. Now it is certainly possible that Dr. Neiman
erred in his calculations or that Sally gave birth later than the “norm”; but, to mention just
one example, we have no idea “precisely” where Randolph Jefferson was on July 8 or any
other day in July 1797. Without knowing Randolph’s location—or that of his sons—how
can anyone pretend to “know” that Thomas Jefferson’s presence was “exclusive”?

In a footnote on page 174 of her article, Ms. Leary seems to suggest that I attempted
to mislead readers. She quotes me as saying in Chapter Ten of my Individual Views that
“There was nothing in the DNA tests to cast doubt on Woodson’s status as the son of
Sally Hemings,” and asserts this is “a statement that is correct but misleading to those un-
familiar with the nature of DNA evidence. Because Y-chromosomes exist only in males,
a Y-chromosome test cannot provide any evidence on maternity.”98 I will submit to the reader
the judgment of whether I attempted to “mislead” anyone with this statement. In reality,
I had already carefully made her point in Chapter One, and the point I was making in the
clause she quotes99 was that the shift in position by some advocates of the Hemingses’
story in suddenly assuming that Thomas Woodson was not Sally’s child was not war-
ranted by anything in the DNA tests. I remain agnostic about the maternity of Thomas
Woodson, but I find it noteworthy that many who once seemed certain he was conceived
in Paris by Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, and others who had doubts about
Thomas Jefferson’s paternity but accepted Woodson’s claim to be the son of Sally Hem-
ings, suddenly found it convenient to “assume” he was not Sally’s child either once the
DNA excluded Thomas Jefferson as a possible father.

Leary also asserts without the slightest explanation that all of Sally’s children “were
likely offspring of the same man.”100 Indeed, unwarranted assumption seems to be Ms. Leary’s
favorite analytical tool. She notes Jefferson’s long and close friendship with George Wythe—
noting Jefferson called Wythe “my earliest & best friend” — and then notes rumors that
Wythe may have fathered a son by a “free mulatto who kept his home.” From this she
concludes: “Obviously convinced by Jefferson’s stoicism in the face of Federalist pressures
concerning the Hemings children, Wythe named Jefferson as executor and entrusted to
him the responsibility for overseeing Brown’s property and education.”101 Is this really all
that “obvious,” or might the choice of Jefferson as executor have been influenced by the
fact that the two men had been best of friends since Jefferson’s days as Wythe’s student at
William & Mary?
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Ms. Leary repeats the common canard that the DNA test of Eston Hemings disproved
“the family claim that Sally’s children greatly resembled Jefferson because they were fa-
thered by a Carr nephew. . . .”102 On the contrary, the test showing Eston Hemings was
likely fathered by a Jefferson male said nothing about the paternity of any of Sally’s other
children. This is so obvious that it is difficult to understand why apparently serious peo-
ple keep repeating the claim.

It is clear that, like many genealogists, Ms. Leary places little stock in “oral traditions”
passed down through generations about their ancestry. But it is a bit bizarre for her to say,
without the slightest bit of hard evidence, that “[l]ike many ‘family traditions,’ the ‘Jefferson’s
uncle’ story” passed down by Eston Hemings’ descendants “was a whitewashing of the
truth, made necessary by the circumstances.”

Ms. Leary seeks to rebut our observation that Sally appears to have stopped having
children about the time Randolph Jefferson remarried and Thomas Jefferson retired from
the presidency and returned full-time to Monticello by arguing:

A more logical explanation for the end of Sally’s pregnancies is the fact that
Jefferson’s daughter Martha and her family came back to live at Monticello in
that year 1809 — a long-cherished goal for Jefferson. The Randolphs made the
move in March, bringing children aged one to seventeen, and, presumably,
some of their own servants. With the house now filled to capacity and Martha
installed as chatelaine, continuing the liaison would have been problematic and
dangerous, lest its discovery cause Martha to return to her own plantation,
Edgehill.103

Unlike other parts of her article, this reasoning is, indeed, “logical.” But it raises yet an-
other problem Ms. Leary fails to address. Reasonable people can agree that it would be
“problematic and dangerous” for Thomas Jefferson to carry on a sexual liaison with Sally
Hemings with his beloved daughter and a house full of grandchildren at Monticello. But
at Jefferson’s insistence, Martha and her family returned to Monticello virtually every
time Thomas Jefferson did during the entire period of his presidency. So the same “log-
ical explanation” that persuades reasonable people that he would not have carried on the
relationship after 1809 would have applied with equal force during the years when Sally
was having children.

Leary argues that the reason Madison Hemings did not claim to be Thomas Jefferson’s
child until more than four decades after Jefferson’s death was because, prior to ratifica-
tion of the Thirteenth Amendment in “1870” (sic — the Thirteenth Amendment was rat-
ified on December 6, 1865), Beverly and Harriet and all of their children would have
been “at risk of capture and re-enslavement had their identity been discovered. That pos-
sibility, however remote, was fearsome.”104 This speculation is neither scholarship nor ge-
nealogy, it is supposition and fantasy. According to Wetmore, Madison had not been in
touch with Harriet in a decade and did not know whether she was alive or dead. All he
revealed about Beverly was that he went to Washington and then “married a white woman
in Maryland” and they had a daughter. For “prudential reasons” he did not give the name
of Harriet’s husband. Had Madison actually been seriously concerned for their welfare,
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all he needed to do was omit their names and even the geographic areas in which they lived
from his alleged account of his family background.

She notes census taker William Weaver’s 1870 marginal notation next to Madison Hem-
ings’ name that “This man is the son of Thomas Jefferson!” and declares that this is “pri-
mary information from an original source.” One wonders what on Earth she is talking
about. Presumably, while Weaver was speaking with Madison Hemings to obtain his
name, age, and other information necessary for the census, Madison declared that he was
Thomas Jefferson’s child. Recording this hearsay adds little to the Pike County Republican
story published three years later that made the same claim. The sole basis for both claims
is Madison Hemings, who could not have known with certainty the facts involved be-
cause they occurred before his birth.

As noted in Chapter Four of my Individual Views, both Fawn Brodie and Annette
Gordon-Reed acknowledged that the polished prose of Wetmore’s 1873 article was
likely that of the editor and not a former slave with minimum formal education. In
contrast, Leary asserts that “the language is commensurate with Madison’s background
and training,” reasoning: “He was undoubtedly brought up to enter the white world,
as his brother and sister had done. His conversational model had been the discourse
of an articulate orator and one of the most literate men this nation has produced.”105

In reality, Thomas Jefferson was not “an articulate orator”106 and Madison reportedly
admitted to Wetmore that Jefferson had never shown him “partiality or fatherly affec-
tion” and that he had learned to read by “inducing the white children to teach me the
letters.” One may speculate that perhaps Madison was “trained” to “enter the white
world,” but given the facts we know it is unreasonable to allege that this assumption is
“undoubtedly” true.

Ms. Leary asserts that “[l]arge portions of Madison’s statement represent primary
data based on his own experience,” noting that he claimed to have been “measurably
happy” — a statement that “was not hearsay; it was his own direct experience.”107 That’s
true. But, more significantly, for our purposes, Madison’s unsourced allegations — as-
suming for the moment that Madison was indeed the source for Wetmore’s rhetoric —
about what occurred in Paris before he was born or his own paternity and that of his
older siblings is clearly hearsay, at best. It was not testimony based on “his own direct
experience.”

Consider also this bit of fantasy from Leary’s article:

Sally’s part of the bargain, clearly, was her availability when he wanted her and
her pledge to have no other sexual partner. This mutual agreement, scrupulously
observed, is the only reasonable explanation for the subsequent behavior of both
Jefferson and Hemings. He assisted the departure of Beverly and Harriet and pro-
vided for manumission of Madison and Eston, thereby freeing all her children.108

Again, this is not “genealogy” and it is not history. And Leary’s conclusions certainly
are not “clear” based upon the evidence she offers. Thomas Jefferson already legally
owned Sally Hemings. He did not need her “consent” to demand sex from her or con-
trol her sexual involvement with other men. Even if one assumed that Beverly was se-
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cretly allowed to withdraw from Monticello in 1822 (at the age of 23 or more likely 24),
this was hardly scrupulous observance of an alleged promise to “free” him at the age of
21. And if the “only reasonable explanation” for freeing Madison and Eston in his will
was that he was having sex with their mother, how do we explain the fact that all but
two of Betty Hemings’ sons and grandsons known to be alive and in Jefferson’s posses-
sion in 1826 were also freed — most of them under considerably more favorable terms
than those given Madison and Eston? Was Thomas Jefferson having sex with their moth-
ers too?

There is more than a little irony in Ms. Leary’s suggestion that I attempted to “mislead”
readers in making the observation (which she concedes is correct) that the DNA tests of
descendants of Thomas Woodson provided no evidence on his maternity. Consider Ms.
Leary’s own effort to discredit the 1858 letter from Ellen Randolph Coolidge by noting
Ellen’s denial of a Jefferson-Hemings sexual relationship was contained in a letter “in-
tended to influence a publication.”109 What she fails to reveal is that, while the first part
of the letter was indeed provided to assist with a publication, the portion discussing her
brother Jefferson Randolph’s comment on the Carr brothers’ admission was prefaced with
this language: “I have written thus far thinking you might chuse [sic] to communicate
my letter to Mr. Bulfinch. Now I will tell you in confidence what Jefferson told me under
the like condition.”110 We often do not know the full purpose for which historic letters
were written. But in this case it appears clear that Ellen Coolidge did not intend to have
her discussion of the Carr brothers’ admission disclosed to any third party. Ms. Leary
does her subscribers a disservice by misrepresenting this fact.

Speaking of Ellen Randolph Coolidge, Ms. Leary’s attempts to defend Professor Gor-
don-Reed’s “inadvertent” alteration in Ellen’s October 24, 1858, letter to her brother in a
footnote, asserting: “Gordon-Reed dropped a short part of this quotation from her tran-
scription (Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, 259), probably inadvertently; but the omis-
sion is viewed with dark suspicion at the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society website. . . .”111

As a factual matter, this statement is untrue. Professor Gordon-Reed did not merely “drop”
a “short part of this quotation” — she altered nearly a dozen words by either deletion, in-
sertion, or moving words around in the sentence to materially change its original mean-
ing. And this “inadvertent” alteration just happened to be on the most critical sentence
in the letter for our purposes.

This is important, because intentionally altering historical evidence to mislead read-
ers is a far greater sin than merely plagiarizing another scholar’s work. Plagiarism merely
converts the intellectual property of another, whereas doctoring an historical document
that most readers cannot readily check intentionally misleads everyone who reads the
book. As Thomas Jefferson observed, “he who knows nothing is nearer to truth than he
whose mind is filled with falsehoods and errors.”112

Consider the evidence. In the original letter, Ellen Randolph Coolidge wrote — and I
have here kept her lines as they appeared in the original hand-written letter (see Figure
4 on page 37) so readers can consider the possibility that Professor Gordon-Reed merely
“skipped a line” in making her transcription:
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No female domestic ever entered his chambers except 
at hours when he was known not to be there and none 
could have entered without being exposed to the public gaze.113

Professor Gordon-Reed transcribed this as:

No female domestic ever entered his chambers except at hours when he was
known not to be in the public gaze.114

This is the most critical sentence in the altered letter, and it was transformed from a piece
of evidence for the defense into an “admission against interest” by a defense witness con-
firming that Sally was allowed to go to Jefferson’s bedroom when no one was thought to
be looking. The other key “error” in Professor Gordon-Reed’s transcription of this doc-
ument involved replacing the word “disbelief” with the word “belief” in a sentence as-
serting that Ellen’s brother Thomas Jefferson Randolph had “positively declared his
indignant disbelief in the imputations” that President Jefferson had fathered Sally Hem-
ings’ children.115 Then we have the alterations to the Pike County Republican story at-
tributed to Madison Hemings to consider.116 I will leave to the reader the task of deciding
whether Ms. Leary was justified in her assumption that this first alteration of key evi-
dence was “probably inadvertent.”

Consider also Leary’s treatment of the statement by Monticello overseer Edmund Bacon
that Harriet Hemings was not Thomas Jefferson’s daughter but the child of a man whose
name was omitted from the published version of Pierson’s account and replaced with _____.
Bacon is quoted as explaining: “I know that. I have seen him [the man other than Thomas
Jefferson whose name is replaced with _____] come out of her mother’s room many a
morning, when I went up to Monticello very early.”117 Of this statement, Ms. Leary writes:

• Harriet was conceived in August 1801, Madison in April 1804. Unless the teenaged
Bacon was hanging around Monticello for reasons of his own “on many a morn-
ing ... very early,” his account cannot relate to any of the conceptions prior to Eston’s.

• Eston is proved to have been a Y-line Jefferson descendant. If there is any truth at
all in Bacon’s account, the man he saw leaving the room of Harriet’s mother would
have to be a Jefferson. Bacon’s “many a morning” phrase implies not only that he,
Bacon, was a Monticello inhabitant but that the Jefferson male was also in residence—
and the only Jefferson living at Monticello was Thomas.118

On the contrary, the statement that Bacon “went up to Monticello very early” on “many
a morning” suggests not that he “was a Monticello inhabitant” at the time, but instead that
he was going from his residence to Monticello very early in the morning — presumably
on the way to work. Bacon later told the Reverend Hamilton W. Pierson “I went to live
with him [Jefferson] the 27th of the December before he was inaugurated as President,”119

it seems clear from Jefferson’s records that Bacon lived at Monticello from at least 1806
to 1822, and he claimed that had he stayed until December 27, 1822, “I should have been
with him [Jefferson] precisely twenty years,”120 or since 1802.
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It is also clear that Bacon worked for Thomas Jefferson in various capacities prior to
becoming overseer.121 And it would seem logical that his statement “I have seen him [an
unidentified man other than Thomas Jefferson] come out of her [Harriet Hemings’]
mother’s room many a morning when I went up to Monticello very early”122 might well
have occurred prior to Bacon’s going to live at Monticello. He presumably “went up to
Monticello very early” during a period or periods when he was working for Mr. Jefferson
but residing elsewhere — so he would have had to make the trip up the mountain “very
early” in the morning. However, we cannot completely dismiss the possibility that as
overseer he might have traveled off the mountain for any of a number of reasons and
then returned “very early” — so these observations of another man leaving Sally Hem-
ings’ room could have been made while he was overseer or many years earlier (or both).

While it is true that Eston’s father was almost certainly a Jefferson, he did not have to
be “in residence” on a full-time basis as Ms. Leary contends, but merely present at Monti-
cello on the mornings (and, presumably, through part of the previous night) that Bacon
observed him. Jefferson did not keep a record of routine visits by brother Randolph or his
family members (unless their visit pertained to some business matter that on that basis
warranted an entry in his records), and if Randolph and his sons only made the twenty-
mile trip twice a year and stayed only a week or two each visit it is perfectly possible that
Bacon could have observed one of them leaving Sally’s room a half dozen times over a pe-
riod of two or three years and thus made the statement to Pierson. Leary’s attempt to per-
suade her readers that Sally’s lover for some unexplained reason had to be a full-time resident
at Monticello (versus an overnight visitor who came to Monticello from time to time over
a period of time), and thus Bacon had to be talking about Thomas Jefferson, is obviously
absurd. The clear content of Bacon’s statement was that Harriet Hemings was not Thomas
Jefferson’s child because Bacon had frequently observed another man leaving Sally’s room
early in the morning. It is obtuse to fill in the blank line with the name “Thomas Jefferson,”
pretending that Bacon might have said, essentially, “I know Tom Jefferson was not Sally’s
lover, because I often saw him slipping out of her room early in the morning.”

Ms. Leary also assures her readers that Thomas Jefferson Randolph and his sister Ellen
Randolph Coolidge could not have been telling the truth when they separately described
hearing President Jefferson snoring or singing in his bedroom at night or early in the
morning. “[B]oth implied that they would have heard any midnight visits by Sally because
their rooms were either above or beside their grandfather’s. There was no bedroom within
sound of Jefferson’s bedchamber (unless he was a thunderous snorer) and there was no room
above it.”123 One must wonder if Ms. Leary has ever been permitted to visit the upper
floors of Monticello, which are generally closed to the public because the very narrow
staircases are viewed by the fire marshal as a safety hazard. There is indeed a room above
Jefferson’s chamber where one can readily hear the voices of tour guides below as they
point out the unusual features of Jefferson’s bed.124 And in Jefferson’s day, before modern
air conditioning—when windows were normally kept open during the hot summer months,
it would presumably have been even easier for the grandchildren sleeping in the “Appen-
dix” above his chamber to hear any unusual noises coming from his bed during the night.

Albemarle County genealogist Cynthia Burton has written nearly 200 pages (65,000
words) with hundreds of footnotes meticulously rebutting Ms. Leary’s article, and I have
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no interest in duplicating that effort here.125 I highly commend it for anyone who views
the Leary article as a serious piece of scholarship.

Dr.  Thomas Jones’ “Review Essay”

The Leary article actually made few references to the Scholars Commission report. But
the special issue of the Quarterly also included an eleven-page “review essay” entitled,
“The ‘Scholars Commission’ Report on the Jefferson-Hemings Matter: An Evaluation by
Genealogical Proof Standards,” written by Professor Thomas W. Jones, which seems to con-
stitute the Society’s primary attempt to challenge our report.

According to the Gallaudet University Web site,126 Thomas W. Jones holds a B.A. in
“Mental Retardation,” an M.A. in “Education of the Multihandicapped and Deaf-Blind,”
and a Ph.D. in “Early Childhood Special Education.” Although he apparently had no spe-
cific past interest in Thomas Jefferson, he clearly has had an active extra-curricular inter-
est in genealogy and was serving as the Quarterly’s review editor at the time his review
was published.

When I learned of the special issue I immediately ordered a copy, and when it arrived I
looked eagerly to see what errors they had found in our report—knowing that errors could
still be corrected prior to submitting the manuscript to the publisher. Candidly, I came
away from reading Professor Jones’ “review” more than a little disappointed—as he did
not engage a single one of the key substantive arguments of our report. Instead, he criti-
cized us for not including a genealogist on the Commission and complained that we failed
to clarify the “genealogical question” of “Who fathered Sally Hemings’s children.”127 Again and
again, he tells his readers, “the scholars applied an inappropriate paradigm,”128 and “[i]gnor-
ing the genealogical paradigm has caused the report to fall short of genealogical standards
in crucial ways. It does not specify an appropriate objective.”129 Jones explains:

For genealogical research to be efficient and effective, it must begin with an ap-
propriate objective. Typically, the objective is to identify the parent of a given
ancestor. Such a goal frames the scope of the research, enabling the scholar to seek
relevant sources; and it provides a context for evaluating the findings.

Although established “for the purpose of reexamining the entire issue” (p. 8),
the Scholars Commission explicitly eschewed the essential genealogical objec-
tive, stating: “We were not tasked with the job of identifying the father(s) of Sally
Hemings’ children, and that has not been a primary focus of our inquiry. Our
mandate was to examine the case against Thomas Jefferson” (p. 31), a mission
the panelists viewed as “trying to prove a negative” (p. 31).

This arbitrary limit on the Commission’s purpose guaranteed a failed effort. In
narrowly focusing their inquiry, the panelists touched on — but ignored the sig-
nificance of—subsidiary genealogical questions, where additional research might
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have helped to solve the problem they were considering. These include tracing
the descendants of Beverly and Harriet Hemings. . . . 130

Mea culpa. It is true that we did not spend a lot of time trying to establish who fathered
Sally’s children, nor did we spend time speculating about whether John Wayles was Sally’s
father. Both issues may be of great interest to genealogists, but our task was to examine
the evidence pro and con about whether Thomas Jefferson fathered one or more children
by Sally Hemings. While I personally did work closely with one genealogist and received
helpful information from others, I did not — and do not — view this as primarily a mat-
ter of genealogy, which I understand to involve the tracing of generations of ancestors or
descendants of a specific individual or family. Much of Jones’ critique sounds to me like
a critique of a soccer game because the players failed to abide by the standard rules of
rugby or American football. Professor Jones is interested in genealogy, and he apparently
wishes we had spent our year doing genealogy instead of what we were commissioned to
do.

To be sure, some of the factual questions we did address might be of interest to any-
one trying to trace the genealogy of the Hemings or Woodson families and presumably
the Jefferson family as well. But our primary inquiry was confined to examining a single
alleged relationship: Did Thomas Jefferson father one or more children by Sally Hem-
ings? And for that inquiry the tools of the historian were of primary concern to us. This
is not to say that we might not have benefited from having a senior Professor of Geneal-
ogy on our panel; but, in all candor, nothing in Professor Jones’ review left me believing
he would have contributed much of value to our efforts.

Jones does concede that the Scholars Commission consisted of “an impressive panel of
distinguished academics,”131 and that “thirteen eminent scholars signed the final report.”132

But rather than challenging our conclusions on the merits, his review consists largely of
procedural comments that often are misleading if not clearly false. He tells his readers, for
example, that:

Although the Commission’s title and the credentials of its members imply that
conventional standards of scholarship have been applied, the “Final Report” of-
fers no source citations. . . . The Commission grants liberal reproduction rights
for the “Final Report,” whose lack of documentation will prevent the public from
testing its assertions; but it restricts dissemination or quoting from the docu-
mented portions of the report.”133

There are two things Jones does not mention to his readers. First, in our individual views
we discuss every issue in great detail and include more than 1,400 footnotes citing our sources
so that other scholars, as well as “the public,” may “test” our assertions. As should be ap-
parent to anyone who has read this far in this volume, the implication that we refused to
provide “source citations” and sought to compel readers simply to take our word for the
facts is not even close to a fair or accurate statement. But, of course, most of Professor
Jones’ readers will not have seen our full report.

The second terribly misleading aspect of this quotation is Jones’ suggestion that we
sought to restrict “dissemination or quoting from the documented portions of the re-
port.” For the record, as Jones well knew, we put the entire report on the Internet for
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anyone in the world to download, print, and read at their leisure. And we certainly did
not attempt to prohibit anyone from “quoting from the documented portions of the
report.” What Jones is really talking about is that we did make a distinction between the
official Final Report, which summarized the majority and minority conclusions and is
printed at the beginning this volume, and the more detailed and heavily documented
“individual views” that followed. We allowed anyone to reprint the entire “Final Re-
port” for any non-profit purpose without even bothering to ask permission. The en-
tire volume is copyrighted, but to promote wider distribution of the summary Report
(pages 3–21) we gave advance consent to reprint that part for any non-profit purpose
without any need to seek permission. The explanation for this was that we intended to
eventually publish the entire collection as a book — this book — for future reference in
libraries and for scholars and interested members of the public, and we knew that few
publishers would want to invest the resources involved in publishing a book if the en-
tire product was already in the public domain and could be published at will by any com-
petitor at any time.

It is the overwhelming practice for scholarly books to be copyrighted, and doing so
does not in the least prevent fair use “quoting” for purposes of scholarly review or rebuttal.
Professor Jones clearly understood this, as he included quotations from our individual
views in his published review. But his language misled his readers into believing we had
somehow tried to conceal our documented analysis from other scholars and the public
and sought to prevent anyone from quoting us. Both implications are absolutely false.
We strongly favor a public debate — it is our critics who have refused to debate.

Yet another absurdity in Professor Jones’ essay is his assertion that individual views
are “disavowed.” This is premised upon a disclaimer I included explaining that I had
made several changes to my own Individual Views after four other members of the
Scholars Commission had agreed to add their names as generally concurring with
those views. Thus, I wrote that they should not be held accountable for specific facts
or arguments in my final chapters. However, rather than “disavowing” responsibility,
I emphasized: “the words are mine and responsibility for the specific arguments and the
accuracy of facts is mine alone.”134 The “disclaimer” is not intended to disavow respon-
sibility, but to make it clear to the readers that if they find errors or believe a partic-
ular argument is fallacious they should blame any such problems on me individually
and not on other scholars who agreed generally with my overall views but had not
even seen all of the final changes in my lengthy statement. There is nothing even ar-
guably evasive or improper in that statement — it was a clarification of precisely who
is responsible for the words that I had written. As Harry Truman put it: “The buck
stops here!”

Professor Jones complains: “the Commission appears to have conducted very little
original investigation. It cites virtually none of the mainstays of quality genealogical re-
search, such as deeds, court records, and tax rolls from which direct, indirect, and neg-
ative evidence can be gleaned.”135 Jones does not explain how he envisions “deeds, court
records, and tax rolls” will disclose whether Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally
Hemings. In the early nineteenth century the births of slave children were not recorded
at the county courthouse, nor were slaves permitted to own real property or required to
pay taxes. We did take note of the fact that an 1870 census taker in Ohio made a marginal
notation that Madison Hemings was Thomas Jefferson’s son, but there is no evidence he

turner 22 postscript auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:56 AM  Page 387



388 20 · EDITOR’S POSTSCRIPT: ROBERT F. TURNER

136. Id. at 213.
137. A Google search of “Monte Carlo simulation” produced more than one million hits.
138. Fraser D. Neiman, Coincidence or Causal Connection: The Relationship between Thomas Jef-

ferson’s Visits to Monticello and Sally Hemings’s Conceptions, 57 William & Mary Quarterly 198,
208 (Jan. 2000).

139. Jones, The “Scholars Commission” Report at 218.
140. Jefferson to William Roscoe, Dec. 27, 1820, in 15 Writings of Thomas Jefferson 303 (Mem.

Ed., 1904).

was doing more than recording hearsay from Madison. We did, of course, discuss Thomas
Jefferson’s will at some length and make frequent use of his farm, garden, and memo-
randum books.

Professor Jones does not appear to have even read some of the sources he discusses. For
example, he notes that we dismissed the probative value of the “Monte Carlo” study con-
tained in an article in the William & Mary Quarterly, asserting that “‘the Monte Carlo
study’ is a nickname that the Commission itself gave to the article in the course of its
meeting.”136 This is absurd. The use of Monte Carlo simulations has been well established
in science and other fields for a half-century.137 Indeed, Dr. Fraser Neiman described his
methodology as a “Monte Carlo study”138 and used the term more than two dozen times
in the article in question. It is difficult to understand how Professor Jones could have
made such an error if he had bothered to even glance through the piece.

Like Ms. Leary, Professor Jones notes that the letter Ellen Randolph Coolidge sent her
husband in 1858 was “a letter Ellen explicitly penned so her husband could convince a Boston
writer that an interracial liaison was ‘morally impossible’ for her grandsire.”139 And, like
Leary, he fails to point out that the specific reference to an admission by the Carr broth-
ers of paternity for Sally’s children was contained not in the main body of the letter but
in a separate attachment which she expressly prefaced by saying it was to be held in con-
fidence by her husband. Obviously, there is always a possibility that an historical letter was
penned to mislead future historians, and that is certainly a possibility in this instance.
But it is dishonest to portray Ellen’s reference to the Carr brothers as having been explic-
itly provided for the purpose of convincing a third party of a fact when that part of the
letter is instead prefaced by instructions that the information should not be disseminated
further.

Professor Jones concludes his short essay by saying: “The Commission’s eminent schol-
ars could have applied decades of genealogical scholarship in their approach to a ge-
nealogical question. Instead, their report — rather than clarifying the question ‘Who
fathered Sally Hemings’s children’ — contributes to the plague of confusion.”

After reading his “review” of our report, I concluded that the easiest way to deal with
it would be to reprint it on our Web site (and as an annex to the book version of our re-
port) and allow each reader to examine both documents and draw their own conclusions.
This would be in keeping with Jefferson’s vision of the University of Virginia, where I
have been employed for more than two decades:

This institution will be based on the illimitable freedom of the human mind.
For here we are not afraid to follow truth wherever it may lead, nor to tolerate
any error so long as reason is left free to combat it.140

Given what I felt was the weakness of his case, I also thought it might be worthwhile to
debate Professor Jones on our points of disagreement and raised both possibilities with
him in an e-mail. His reply is instructive:

Dear Professor Turner:
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traying Jefferson as saintly or confirming the Hemings family claim to famous ancestry. Bacon clearly
admired Jefferson, but he had no obvious benefit in misrepresenting the facts as he understood them.
He was independently wealthy, living far away from Jefferson’s impoverished relatives, clearly un-
friendly to the southern cause, and also clearly respected as a man of honor. Whether his story is true
or false, objectively he appears to be among the most credible sources and the only actual “witness”
to specific activity that was likely directly related to Sally’s sexual behavior pattern.

Thank you for your interest in publishing on the Scholars Commission web site
my NGSQ review essay on the “Scholars Commission Final Report.” As with any
scholarly publication, I am happy for anyone to refer to it and to quote from it.
If the review is to be re-published in the future, however, my feeling at this time
is that I should do so myself in a suitable context. . . . 

You also referred to the position that I “seem to embrace,” asking whether I would
“be willing to take on the role of advocating the position that Thomas Jefferson
fathered one or more children by Sally Hemings in a public debate.” The answer
is unequivocally negative.141

I am tempted to make a comment about “restrictive dissemination” policies; but, in ret-
rospect, given the quality of his work, and his refusal to defend it in public debate, per-
haps Professor Jones is wiser than I had originally assumed.

The William & Mary Quarterly Review

In October 2001 the William & Mary Quarterly published an eight-page review of three
books142—not including the Scholars Commission report—that nevertheless included some
references to our work. It was written by Alexander O. Boulton, an assistant professor at
Villa Julie College in Maryland.

After discussing the Thomas Jefferson Heritage Society’s The Jefferson-Hemings Myth
and noting the subsequent report of the Scholars Commission, Professor Boulton writes:
“Together, the two publications offer a strong corrective to the early enthusiasm over a
new consensus.”143

There is very little substantive discussion of the Scholars Commission report in this
review (appropriately so, since it was not included among the volumes being exam-
ined), but Professor Boulton makes several statements that probably nevertheless war-
rant comment. For example, he finds Edmund Bacon’s statement that Jefferson could
not have been the father of Harriet II because he (Bacon) often saw another man leav-
ing her room early in the morning “implausible”144 because, Boulton believes, Bacon
was not at Monticello during the period about which he made the statement. That may,
or may not, be true — we really do not know if Bacon was visiting or doing odd jobs
at Monticello around the time Harriet II was conceived — but even if we assume his
observations were made several years later, when we know with certainty that Bacon was
the Monticello overseer, his statement is inherently among the least obviously biased145

and is the only clearly eye-witness account pertaining to the question of Sally’s monogamy.

turner 22 postscript auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:56 AM  Page 389



390 20 · EDITOR’S POSTSCRIPT: ROBERT F. TURNER

146. Boulton, The Monticello Mystery 1042.
147. See Chapter Ten of my Individual Views.
148. Boulton, The Monticello Mystery 1042.
149. See Chapter Four of my Individual Views.
150. Id.
151. See Chapter Ten of my Individual Views.
152. Boulton, The Monticello Mystery 1046.
153. See page 101.
154. For example, in another article in the special issue of the National Genealogical Society Quar-

terly discussed above, Professor Joshua D. Rothman writes: “Jefferson scholars have routinely dis-

And it really does not matter whether Bacon’s observations took place about the time
Harriet II was conceived or closer to Eston’s conception. For if the story is true, the
account strongly suggests that Sally either was not sexually involved with Thomas Jef-
ferson or else was not monogamous in such a relationship. If she was monogamous
with a man other than Thomas Jefferson, then it follows the President was not the fa-
ther of any of her children. If she was not monogamous, the foundation for much of
the case against Jefferson — which is expressly premised upon a presumption of
monogamy — crumbles.

Professor Boulton also repeats the argument that “Randolph Jefferson . . . had never
seriously been considered as a possible partner of Sally Hemings until the DNA evidence
indicated that a Jefferson was unquestionably the father of Eston.”146 That argument has
already been addressed and shown to be false (although, in fairness, there is no reason Pro-
fessor Boulton should have known that).147

Similarly, he asserts “all previous testimony has agreed that Sally Hemings was faith-
ful to the one father of all her children.”148 Unless by this he means only the highly prob-
lematic statements attributed to Madison Hemings by Samuel Wetmore in 1873,149 and
the clearly false claims of Israel Jefferson published by the same source,150 this also is in-
accurate. At best, scholars have assumed this to be true without examining the issue in
detail or making any serious finding on the issue. (If one assumes that Bacon’s statement
about the paternity of Harriet II was based upon observations he made years later, then
he may be counted among those at least assuming monogamy — but we really do not
know with any certainty when his observations were made.) Historically, most serious
Jefferson scholars seem to have dismissed the Callender allegations on the basis of what
they knew about Callender and Jefferson, and then accepted the accounts attributed to
Jeff Randolph that the Carr brothers fathered her children. But since those accounts in-
dicated that two brothers were fathers to Sally’s children,151 one cannot reasonably con-
clude that they “agreed” only a single father was involved. And this doesn’t even consider
the original Callender charge that Sally was a prostitute.

Again, we read “there was never a suggestion from any source close to Monticello that
Sally was anything other than faithful to the father of her children (whoever he may have
been).”152 First of all, it would be equally accurate to note that (save for the factual alle-
gations attributed to Madison Hemings decades after Jefferson’s death, the truth of which
he could not possibly have personally known because they occurred years before his birth)
“there was never a suggestion from any source close to Monticello that Sally was not the
‘slut as common as the pavement,’ who had ‘fifteen, or thirty’ different lovers ‘of all
colours,’” as James Callender alleged.153 I mention this not because I place the slightest cre-
dence in anything Callender wrote, but because so much of the paternity-belief scholar-
ship is premised upon the assumption that Callender was, at root, an honest journalist
who may have stretched the truth a bit at the edges.154

turner 22 postscript auto cx 3  3/17/11  10:56 AM  Page 390



REACTIONS TO THE SCHOLARS COMMISSION REPORT 391

missed Callender’s allegations out of hand, arguing that his motives and character made him and
anything he wrote entirely unbelievable. Gordon-Reed points out that his personal repugnancy and
malicious motivations — both valid reasons to view his articles with a skeptical eye — do not neces-
sarily make him a liar or absolve historians of a responsibility to examine his claims. Indeed, Callen-
der’s biographer notes that over the course of the man’s career he sometimes misinterpreted information,
but there ‘is little, if any, evidence of his purposeful invention of stories or falsification of facts.’”
Joshua D. Rothman, Can the “Character Defense” Survive?, 89(3) Jefferson-Hemings: A Special
Issue of the National Genealogical Society Q. 219, 221 (Sept. 2001). I would submit that there
is not the slightest evidence to support Callender’s libelous attacks on Sally Hemings, a woman he
had probably never even seen and about whom he seemed to know very little.

155. Boulton, The Monticello Mystery 1044.
156. Joyce Appleby, Thomas Jefferson 75 (2003).
157. Id. at 162 n.2 (citing Sally Hemings and Thomas Jefferson [Peter Onuf and Jan Lewis, eds.

1999]).

Furthermore, unless one is prepared to exclude the possibility that Sally bore children
by Thomas Jefferson, there certainly was “a suggestion from any source close to Monti-
cello that Sally was other than faithful to the father of her children,” as overseer Edmund
Bacon — the senior employee at the plantation — very clearly asserted that he had fre-
quently witnessed a man other than Thomas Jefferson leaving Sally’s room early in the morn-
ing. One simply cannot seriously contend that there is no “evidence” from the Monticello
community that Sally Hemings was not “faithful” to the father of her children if one be-
lieves that Thomas Jefferson was that father.

Then we have Professor Boulton’s allegation that “[a]ll defenders and critics of Jeffer-
son agree that Sally Hemings bore a child, perhaps named Tom, around 1790.”155 One
wonders where he gets such an idea. There is no record of a child being born to Sally Hem-
ings in 1790 in any of Jefferson’s records, and the only apparent sources for such an alle-
gation were Callender’s 1802 assertion and the Woodson claim (both now apparently
refuted by DNA testing) and the story attributed to Madison Hemings more than seven decades
later. While one cannot say with certainty that no such child was born, credible evidence
is slight and the point is certainly not accepted by “all defenders . . . of Thomas Jefferson.”

Professor Joyce Appleby

While the immediate press reaction to the issuance of our report in April 2001 was en-
couraging, the academic community response has been somewhat less so. Scholars have
not criticized our report on the merits for the most part; they have simply continued to
embrace the revisionist mythology. This is not the time to examine all of the many books
on Jefferson that have been published since 2001, but a few examples may be useful.

In 2003, UCLA Professor Joyce Appleby — former president of both the Organization
of American Historians and the American Historical Association — wrote a volume on
Thomas Jefferson for the American Presidents Series being edited by Arthur M. Schlesinger,
Jr., for Times Books. At first I thought she had made a brief reference to the Scholars
Commission, writing: “A dissenting group of scholars has challenged the idea that the
DNA findings established Jefferson as the father of Eston Hemings.”156 But the sentence
was mysteriously footnoted to a 1999 collection of essays (Sally Hemings and Thomas Jef-
ferson) by scholars who accept or assume Thomas Jefferson’s paternity.157

The short Appleby volume is well written and in many ways more respectful of Jef-
ferson than many other modern biographies. She identifies shortcomings in Jefferson’s writ-
ings and beliefs, but then adds: “If they appall us, they should also provoke our wonder
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than anyone born in the bosom of a misogynist, slave-holding aristocracy could have
dreamed of a society of equals.”158 To me, that was among many things that were truly ex-
ceptional about Thomas Jefferson, and I commend Professor Appleby for acknowledging
it at a time when it is not fashionable within the professional historical community to
praise him.

Nevertheless, the Appleby volume includes numerous troubling factual errors. For
example, she writes that some people in the past “suggested that the white father of
Sally Hemings’s children was more likely one of Jefferson’s nephews, a possibility that
has since been disproved.”159 In reality, the DNA tests said nothing about the paternity
of any of Sally Hemings’ children except Eston (and Thomas Woodson if he was, in
fact, Sally Hemings’ child). The Jefferson DNA for the tests came from descendants of
Thomas Jefferson’s cousins, but Professor Appleby asserts it was “taken from a living de-
scendant of Jefferson’s brother.”160 She adds that “there were eighteen Jefferson men in
Virginia” at the time (in fact there were more than two dozen), and claims that “only
Jefferson lived in close proximity to her”161 (ignoring Randolph and his five sons less
than twenty miles away).

It is surprising that such a distinguished scholar would make so many careless errors,
even referring at one point to Jefferson’s “apt . . . depiction of slave owners as having the
wolf by the tail!”162 Surely she has in mind Jefferson’s famous April 22, 1820, letter to
John Holmes, in which the former President describes the dilemma of slave-holders:
“[W]e have the wolf by the ears, and we can neither hold him, nor safely let him go.”163

(A copy of the original handwritten letter can be found on the Library of Congress Web
site, and it is clear that Jefferson actually wrote “ear” rather than “ears” — but the point
is not material to our discussion.164) One does not get the sense that Professor Appleby
was “out to get” Jefferson or has in any way altered her facts to make him look bad —
most of her errors are essentially benign (e.g., it is immaterial whether the DNA samples
used by Dr. Foster were taken from descendants of Randolph Jefferson or other male
members of the Jefferson family). Nevertheless, they are disturbingly careless, particularly
given the ease with which these facts could have been checked.

Christopher Hitchens

Another relatively short volume on Jefferson was published in 2005 as part of the Em-
inent Lives series by HarperCollins. Written by Christopher Hitchens, it devotes about
six pages to Sally Hemings at the end of Chapter Three. As is now common, Hitchens
assures his readers that, while in Paris, Jefferson “began an affair” with Sally that was to
“produce many children. . . .”165 Indeed, he confidently asserts that it began in 1788.166
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Some of his reasoning is in the finest traditions of Fawn Brodie and Annette Gordon-
Reed (whose 1997 book he describes as “brilliant” and “dispositive”167):

The first clue to the relationship may lie in the simple fact that Jefferson, having
met Sally and received his daughter from her in good condition, did not send her
home again (as he had planned to do with the original escort). He did not re-
quire an extra servant at the Hotel de Langeac, his well-appointed residence,
where Sally’s brother James was already on the staff, being trained as a French
chef. Possibly the latter consideration influenced him, in inviting Sally to stay
on. But nor did he exactly need a governess, since both his daughters were des-
tined for boarding school. Thus the beautiful Sally became a part of the minis-
terial household, with no specific duties.168

Given Abigail Adams’ description of a teenage Sally as requiring “more care” than eight-
year-old Polly, and the fact that the “boarding school” had quarters for servants, it is
hardly remarkable that Thomas Jefferson did not send Sally back to Monticello alone.169

There is no contemporary evidence that Sally lived with Thomas Jefferson and signifi-
cant evidence that she lived instead across town with the daughters at the Abbaye Royale
de Panthemont. Why else would classmates from the Abbaye years later make reference
to Sally in letters to Jefferson’s daughter Martha?170

Mr. Hitchens notes that “[m]ost historians until recently took the view that a sexual
liaison was literally unthinkable” because of the “revulsion that it is simply assumed that
Jefferson must have felt, either for any carnal knowledge of a slave or . . . any carnal knowl-
edge of a black woman.”171 Jefferson’s belief that blacks were less attractive than whites
was well-documented in his Notes on the State of Virginia written shortly before Sally
came to Paris, as was his outrage over the sexual exploitation of slave women by their
masters.172

At another point Hitchens informs his readers that it is “probable” that Sally Hem-
ings was literate, even though there is no evidence to support that belief and her son is
alleged to have claimed that he learned to read and write by persuading Jefferson’s grand-
children to teach him.173 Hitchens acknowledges that “[a]ll we have is the testimony of
her son Madison Hemings that she had while in Paris exacted a promise from Jefferson
to free any children she had with him as soon as they achieved adulthood. And the ‘only’
evidence for that promise is that he did indeed free them, all of them, and no other
slaves, ever.”174

This is obviously not true. There is credible but not conclusive evidence that favored
slaves Great George and his wife Ursula (both unrelated to the Hemings) were given
their freedom in 1781,175 and it is clearly established that Sally’s brothers Robert and
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than the Pike County Republican article. Callender argued in September 1802 that Jefferson’s alleged
son “Tom” was “ten or twelve years of age,” but he did not specifically allege Sally was pregnant in
Paris.

180. See Chapter Five of my Individual Views at pp. 126–27. In reality, “nine months” is but a
rough approximation of the human gestation period, which is usually closer to 266 days. Jefferson’s
records reveal that Beverly was born on April 1, 1798. Sally’s most likely conception date for Beverly
would thus have been July 9 of the previous year. The four-week conception window would have
begun about June 25, 1797, and Jefferson’s records clearly establish that he did not return to Monti-
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James were legally manumitted by Jefferson in 1794 and 1796, respectively. Further,
only two of the five slaves given their freedom in Jefferson’s will were children of Sally
Hemings.176

Then we find this language:

When they left for America, with Jefferson insisting that she [Sally] be berthed
next to him on shipboard, it has been suggested by some historians that Sally
was pregnant though the child, if there was a child, did not survive. But all her
subsequent children, duly entered into the log of Jefferson’s “farm book” at Mon-
ticello, were born exactly nine months after one of his much-punctuated so-
journs at the house. No other possible father was present at all such times, which
would seem to take care of the disgusting and unwarranted suggestion, made by
several eminent historians, that Sally Hemings might have been giving or even
selling herself to any male member of the Jefferson family.177

One wonders where to start in responding to this. Thomas Jefferson did not insist that
Sally Hemings be berthed next to him on the ship back to Virginia — he asked for a
berth for a woman servant “convenient to that of my daughters. . . .”178 Since Sally’s job
was to be their maid, that request made considerable sense. But since Martha and Maria
were also likely to be located near their father’s cabin, had Jefferson wanted to have
passionate sex with Sally on the cruise home one might have expected him to ask in-
stead that Sally’s room be located away from that of his daughters — ideally in a se-
cluded part of the ship where he could find privacy. The sole source for the report that
Sally may have been pregnant during the trip home is the very problematic 1873 Pike
County Republican article discussed in Chapter 4. I have seen no historical work mak-
ing reference to the possibility that Sally was pregnant when she returned to Monti-
cello in 1789 that did not appear to be based, directly or indirectly, upon the problematic
1873 newspaper article.179

Whatever Hitchens means by “exactly,” he is wrong. As discussed in Chapter Five of my
Individual Views, to take the example of Sally’s first son, Beverly, nine months before his
birth would have been July 1, 1797. Jefferson’s records clearly establish that he did not
arrive at Monticello for another ten days.180 That doesn’t mean he could not have fathered
Beverly Hemings, but it does demonstrate the silliness — and factual inaccuracy — of
using the word “exactly” in this context.
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Nor can anyone say with full confidence that “[n]o other possible father was present
at all such times” (as we simply don’t know the whereabouts of many of the theoretically
possible fathers in this drama) — and, far more importantly, there is no reason to assume
that there could have been but a single father. (Madison Hemings, after all, is said to have
testified that Sally’s mother gave birth to children by no fewer than four different fa-
thers.181) As for the “disgusting and unwarranted suggestion” allegedly “made by several
eminent historians,” that “Sally Hemings might have been giving or even selling herself”—
Mr. Hitchens seems ignorant of the fact that the “suggestion” that Sally Hemings was “a
slut as common as the pavement,” who had “fifteen, or thirty” different lovers, was not a
creation of “eminent historians” at all. It originated with James Thomson Callender —
the author of the 1802 newspaper article that started the rumor that President Jefferson
had fathered children with Sally Hemings. I’m unaware of a single serious Jefferson scholar
who has alleged that Sally was a prostitute. As far as I could tell, the common belief shared
by everyone on the Scholars Commission was that Sally Hemings was most likely a totally
innocent victim of Callender’s virulent racism.

Speaking of Callender, to Mr. Hitchens’ credit he observed that Callender was “a scan-
dal-mongering journalistic hack” who had “become a propagandist for Federalism.” He
added: “Callender was an alcoholic thug with a foul mind, obsessed with race and sex,”
and “a contemptible bigot who had a political agenda.”182 He got that part right, unlike
much of his discussion of the Hemings matter.

Like too many post-DNA writers, Hitchens asserts that “a detailed DNA analysis . . .
showed an excellent match between blood drawn from Jefferson’s and Hemings’s de-
scendants,” and concludes:

[T]his precise genetic compatibility entirely excludes Peter and Samuel Carr, Jef-
ferson’s nephews, upon whom his white descendants, white society more gener-
ally, and “damage-control” historians like Douglass Adair had been willing to place
such circumstantial blame or suspicion as might accrue. Circumstances, remarked
Emerson, are often persuasive as evidence—“as when you find a trout in the milk.”
But the evidence we now possess, which is to trout and milk what cream is to cof-
fee, and something rather beyond that, leaves no space for any reasonable doubt.183

The only issue about which there can be little serious doubt is that Eston Hemings was
fathered by one of the more than two dozen Jefferson men in Virginia in 1807. Only a sin-
gle Hemings descendant was linked by DNA to a Jefferson father, and if — as long be-
lieved by his own descendants and Monticello experts — Thomas Woodson was Sally
Hemings’ child, the tests proved her “1790” child could not have been fathered by any
Jefferson. As discussed in Chapter One of my Individual Views — and readily acknowl-
edged by the scientists involved—the DNA tests said nothing about the paternity of Sally’s
other children. The story passed down by Thomas Jefferson’s grandchildren that the Carr
brothers had admitted fathering children by Sally Hemings is not at all incompatible with
the 1998 DNA tests, which only addressed the paternity of Thomas Woodson and Sally’s
youngest child Eston.

* * *

On balance, while the report of the Scholars Commission released nine years ago has
certainly not ended the debate, criticism of the report on its merits has been rare and
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there seems to be a growing recognition that the case that Thomas Jefferson fathered
one or more children by Sally Hemings is far from established fact. It is not insignifi-
cant, in my view, that during this period not one of the senior scholars who once cham-
pioned the Hemings cause has been willing to engage us in public debate on the merits
of the controversy.

The mandate of the Scholars Commission was not to examine Thomas Jefferson’s
attitudes towards slavery, but merely to examine the issue of whether he fathered one
or more children by Sally Hemings. Yet, even if one accepts the view that the Callender
accusations were unfounded, it will be difficult for many to accept Jefferson as some-
one worthy of our respect and admiration unless we come to terms with the slavery
issue. Why did he own human beings as slaves? Why didn’t he grant them their freedom?
Why did he not at least free them in his will, as George Washington had done? These
are critically important questions that I believe can readily be explained. Indeed, I am
working on a short monograph designed for just that purpose. But the task of search-
ing for the truth on this topic is made more difficult by some prevailing social and po-
litical trends in the academic community. Scholars who might otherwise wish to counter
the new conventional wisdom realize that doing so could come at considerable profes-
sional risk.

Multiculturalism and Thought Reform in America

Much of the recent debate about the Jefferson-Hemings controversy has been per-
ceived as having racial overtones. Professor Gordon-Reed and some other scholars have
been quite open in their allegation that white historians who did not accept as gospel the
1873 Pike County Republican story attributed to Madison Hemings were fundamentally
“white supremacists” and are unworthy of the respect of decent people. And since Jef-
ferson himself owned slaves and — with the qualification that his tentative conclusions
might easily be explained by the conditions of slavery in which they lived,184 and that he
hoped his concerns would be proven wrong over time185 — recorded some unfavorable
observations about the intellectual capacity and work ethic of his slaves,186 the very idea
of honoring or “memorializing” him is now offensive to many honorable people. Indeed,
in recent years it has been suggested by some that Jefferson’s image ought to be removed
from Mount Rushmore.187

As my colleague David Mayer has observed in his own Individual Views,188 the legacy
of Thomas Jefferson has been caught up as well in a cultural war that is going on across
the nation and around much of the world. This reality is readily conceded by many who
have played an active role in promoting the story that Thomas Jefferson fathered chil-
dren by Sally Hemings. Discussing a 1993 conference of Jefferson scholars at the Univer-
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sity of Virginia on the occasion of Jefferson’s 250th birthday, Professor Joseph Ellis writes:
“the conference assumed the character of a public trial, with Jefferson cast in the role of
defendant.” Ellis continues:

The chief argument for the prosecution came from Paul Finkelman, a historian
then teaching at Virginia Tech, and the chief charge was hypocrisy. . . . Finkel-
man thought it was misguided — worse, it was positively sickening — to cele-
brate Jefferson as the father of freedom.

If Finkelman was the chief prosecutor, the star witness for the prosecution was
Robert Cooley, a middle-aged black man who claimed to be a direct descen-
dant of Jefferson and Sally Hemings [through their alleged first son, Thomas
Woodson]. Cooley stood up in the audience during a question-and-answer ses-
sion to offer himself as “living proof” that the story of Jefferson’s liaison with
Sally Hemings was true. No matter what the scholarly experts had concluded,
there were several generations of African-Americans living in Ohio and Illinois
who knew they had Jefferson’s blood in their veins. . . . His version of history
might not have had the hard evidence on its side, but it clearly had the politi-
cal leverage. When he sat down, the applause from the audience rang through-
out the auditorium. The Washington Post reporter covering the conference caught
the mood: “Jefferson’s defenders are on the defensive. What tough times these
are for icons.”189

Pulitzer Prize-winning historian Professor Gordon Wood, of Brown University, told the
1993 conference that “It’s been coming for a long time. Public culture is demanding this
change. . . . We should accept it and even celebrate it.”190

For many decades, the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation Chair of History at
the University of Virginia was held first by the legendary Dumas Malone, whose six-vol-
ume biography of Jefferson, Jefferson and His Time, won the Pulitzer Prize for History in
1975; and then by Merrill Peterson, who until his death in 2009 was widely regarded as
the greatest living scholar of Jefferson’s life. After Peterson retired in 1989, the chair was
filled by Peter Onuf, whom no one would call a great admirer of America’s third Presi-
dent. Onuf organized the 1993 conference. Professor Ellis writes:

Onuf suggested that Jefferson’s stock was definitely going down but that only a
few historians were willing to follow Finkelman all the way and transform Jef-
ferson from the ultimate American hero to the ultimate American villain. Schol-
ars were not quite ready to raze the Jefferson Memorial or chip his face off Mount
Rushmore. On the other hand, the mindless devotion to the mythical Jefferson
that still dominated the popular culture clearly drove serious students of Jeffer-
son to the edge of sanity. And the filio-pietistic tradition represented by Malone
and Peterson was certainly dead in the scholarly world.191

Again summarizing Onuf, Professor Ellis writes:

[Jefferson was] a large and obvious target for those ideologically inspired his-
torians and political pundits who went charging back into the American past
in search of monstrous examples of racism, sexism and patriarchy to slay, then
drag back into the present as trophies emblematic of how bad it was back then.
And he was the perfect target for such raiding parties precisely because so
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many ordinary Americans had so much invested in him. He was a contested
prize in the ongoing culture wars. If history was any kind of reliable guide,
the more wild-eyed critics were unlikely to win the war, but the growing em-
phasis on Jefferson as a slave-owning white racist had the potential to erode
his heroic reputation, as the critical judgment of scholars seeped into popu-
lar culture.192

Professor Ellis reports: “Onuf described the emerging scholarly portrait of Jefferson as ‘a
monster of self-deception’. . . . For Onuf, the multiple personalities of Jefferson were look-
ing less like different facets of a Renaissance man and more like the artful disguises of a
confidence man.”193

According to Dr. White McKenzie Wallenborn, Professor Onuf was present at a meet-
ing of the Research Committee of the Thomas Jefferson Memorial Foundation during
which a draft report was being considered. Dr. Wallenborn pointed to a particular as-
sertion and remarked to the effect that they did not have reliable evidence to prove it was
true. At this point Professor Onuf reportedly interjected: “We don’t need proof. We are
historians. We write history the way we want to.”194

In an interview with filmmaker Ken Burns, Onuf explained: “Jefferson . . . was not a
multiculturalist or somebody who celebrated diversity. He believed that diversity would
give way in the face of enlightened discourse to a common enlightened understanding.”195

But with the Sally Hemings story, historians have been able to solve the dilemma that
one of America’s most respected icons was not “politically correct” by the newest standards.
Professor Gordon Wood writes:

[Jefferson] remains a touchstone, a measure of what we Americans are or where
we are going. No figure in our history has embodied so much of our heritage
and so many of our hopes. It is not surprising therefore that he should not have
become a new symbol of our multicultural and multiracial society.196

To achieve the goals of “multiculturalism” and “diversity,” traditional rules of scholarship
are clearly being “relaxed”197 and a commitment to seeking the truth is now in conflict with
the goal of telling the people that which will make them most receptive to supposedly so-
cially desirable outcomes. Professor Annette Gordon-Reed, whose Thomas Jefferson and
Sally Hemings began the most recent debate on this issue, asserts that “Anything you don’t
want to believe you don’t have to believe.”198

Writing in the Washington Post in early 2001, historian John Ferling observed that “the
study of the stereotypical ‘dead white male’ has gone out of fashion in academe... .”199 A 2002
New York Times article about a “radical course” by the operators of George Washington’s
home at Mount Vernon to “reposition” the first President “for a new era” explained:
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“When teachers and curriculum planners and textbook authors look at the found-
ing fathers today, they see too many white males,” said David W. Saxe, a profes-
sor of education at Pennsylvania State University who studies American history
textbooks. “George Washington is dissipating from the textbooks. He’s still men-
tioned, but you don’t spend a week in February talking about him, doing plays
and reciting the farewell address. In the interest of being inclusive, material about
women and minorities is taking the place of material about the founders of our
country.”200

Sean Wilentz, the Dayton-Stockon Professor of History and Director of the American
Studies Program at Princeton University, wrote in The New Republic:

What, exactly, is stoking the contemporary rage against Jefferson? An anachro-
nistic political correctness, certainly, in which early twenty-first-century per-
sonal is the early nineteenth-century political; and an ideological disquietude
about the greatest articulator of American democracy, the burden of whose prin-
ciples might be lifted off certain shoulders if he could be shown to have been a
mountebank. Jefferson embodies the Enlightenment, which infuriates both the
religious right and the postmodernist left. Trashing Jefferson is also a sure path
to attention and fame. Until now, partisans from across the American political
spectrum sought to use Jefferson for their own purposes. Today it is fashionable
on the left and on the right to debase Jefferson, and score contemporary politi-
cal points, and pray for the best-seller lists. . . . 

At the most recent meeting of the American Historical Association, for example,
an audience of academics roared its approval when Joseph Ellis pronounced Jef-
ferson ‘the deadest white male in American history’.201

If I react more negatively than some to these new trends in scholarship, it may be be-
cause for many years my academic focus was on Leninism and the Communist world.202

I was thus very familiar with campaigns to impose social consciousness in arts, science,
and education. I recall reading (and writing) about artists being selected for distinction
not on the basis of their virtue and artistic talent but on how well they portrayed the
ruling Party’s political objectives. Ho Chi Minh once wrote: “Truth is what is benefi-
cial to the Fatherland and to the people. What is detrimental to the interests of the Fa-
therland and people is not truth.” 203 (Of course,  it was the Communist Party’s
responsibility to determine what was “beneficial” to the “Fatherland” and the “people.”)
During Stalin’s reign in the Soviet Union, artists and photographic technicians would
be tasked with copying or altering paintings or photographs to remove individuals who
had fallen out of favor with Stalin and/or insert images of newly favored Party mem-
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bers.204 Such behavior is not conducive to democratic governance, or a respect for his-
torical truth.

When in 2000 I read stories about University of Wisconsin officials altering a photograph
of students watching a football game to insert the image of an African-American student
(who had never attended a football game at the school), so the photograph could be used
on the cover of an undergraduate application document and reflect the “diversity” the of-
ficials wished to portray,205 it troubled me. I am all for having diverse student bodies and
faculties at our colleges and universities and also for efforts to make minority students feel
welcome and comfortable in this process. But when universities or other institutions con-
clude it is appropriate to alter photographs or other documents to deceive their prospec-
tive students into believing something that may not be true, where do we draw the line at
other forms of dishonesty—and what message are we giving our students when such du-
plicity becomes known? If we teach our historians that it is acceptable to rewrite or invent
history to promote a desirable social attitude, who is to be empowered to determine which
social attitudes it is permissible to deceive our students and the public about? One does not
have to be so naïve as to believe that all “facts” taught as history over the years accurately
reflect reality in order to be troubled by a pedagogy that permits the intentional falsifica-
tion of truth within our universities to promote some political end. Certainly such an ap-
proach undermines Jefferson’s belief that our universities should be premised upon “the
illimitable freedom of the human mind,” that the goal of education is “to follow truth
wherever it may lead,” and that error may be tolerated “so long as reason is left free to com-
bat it.”206 In my view, the use of universities to deceive the people is incompatible with the
concept of a free people associated in a democratic government dedicated to human free-
dom and decision by the will of the people.

Conclusion

The allegation that Thomas Jefferson fathered children by Sally Hemings began as part
of a blackmail threat by a disreputable journalist with no apparent first-hand knowledge
of the facts. His case was premised upon the theory that while U.S. Minister to France Jef-
ferson had begun a sexual relationship with Sally Hemings that produced a son named
“Tom,” and the story gained some credibility when Thomas Woodson claimed after Jef-
ferson’s death that he was in fact that child. But six DNA tests of descendants of three
sons of Thomas Woodson have established that Thomas Woodson could not have been
the son of any man carrying the Jefferson Y chromosome.

Most of Thomas Jefferson’s friends and many of his political enemies rejected the charge,
in part because it was so out of character for Jefferson and in part because the author of
the charge was well known for defaming popular political figures. Throughout most of
the past two centuries, serious Jefferson scholars have either ignored the charge altogether
or dismissed it as false. It received new life in 1974 with the publication of Fawn Brodie’s
biography, but few scholars found her speculative arguments persuasive at the time.
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The pendulum began to shift with the 1997 publication of Professor Annette Gordon-
Reed’s Thomas Jefferson and Sally Hemings, which the following year was reinforced by mis-
leading reports about DNA tests that showed Sally Hemings’ youngest son, Eston, was
probably fathered by one of the more than two dozen Jefferson males in Virginia at the
time of his conception. As discussed in my Individual Views, there are numerous inac-
curacies in the Gordon-Reed volume, and there were at least six other Jefferson males
who were likely at Monticello when Eston was conceived. For various reasons, all but one
of them may have been a more likely candidate for Eston’s paternity than the elderly Pres-
ident. The most likely candidate is probably Thomas Jefferson’s younger brother Ran-
dolph, who is documented by a slave memoir to have spent his nights at Monticello
socializing and dancing with his brother’s slaves, is reported to have fathered children by
other slaves, and is the only “suspect” who is consistent with the oral traditions passed down
by Eston’s descendants prior to the mid-1970s. For generations the story was told that
Eston was not the President’s child, but rather the child of a Jefferson “uncle” — and the
President’s brother was widely known at Monticello as “Uncle Randolph” because of his
relationship to Jefferson’s daughters.

It is my hope that our report will at minimum help to correct some of the mythology
that has grown up around this issue in recent years. The ninety-two-percent margin by
which the members of the Scholars Commission concluded that the allegation is proba-
bly false should at least give those otherwise inclined to accept the charge reason to pause,
as should the fact that the leading scholars who embraced the argument that Thomas Jef-
ferson fathered children by Sally Hemings prior to the release of our report have been
unwilling to defend that position in public debate.

Clearly, the legend of Sally Hemings has experienced major setbacks since the start of
the new millennium. Professor Gordon-Reed’s account has suffered from the disclosure
that key historical evidence she relied upon was altered to materially change its meaning.
The dilemma we encountered in trying to reconcile Professor Joseph Ellis’ distinguished
reputation as a scholar with his misstatement that the DNA tests had proven the case against
President Jefferson “beyond a reasonable doubt”207 became a bit easier for some when, two
months after our report was released, the Boston Globe disclosed that Professor Ellis had a
long history of telling falsehoods to his students, colleagues, and others.

As someone who has long admired Professor Ellis, but at the same time is persuaded that
his conclusions on the Sally Hemings issue are profoundly wrong, I take some satisfaction
from a prediction he made in an article published in the William & Mary Quarterly in Jan-
uary 2000—perhaps the zenith of what I perceive to be the Sally Hemings myth. He wrote:
“If the American past were a gambling casino, everyone who has bet against Jefferson has
eventually lost. There is no reason to believe it will be different this time.”208
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